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Preface

        

          
As in most New Zealand rural districts, busy 
Kaponga folk, working
          under the pressure of anniversary deadlines, have made some useful starts in
          sketching their local story. But lacking time, space, and easy access to
          research resources, they have left much untold and many conundrums
          unresolved. Unlike them, we have had the luxuries of working without
          deadlines, of easy access to major research libraries and archives, and of taking ample space to cover a more limited time period. This, we believe, has
          enabled us to provide the local audience with a deepened understanding of
          their settlement's origins and early development.

          
Our purpose has been much wider than this. The American historian
          
Allan Nevins was surely going too far when he asserted that the only good
          local history is that written for a national or international audience.

1 But it
          would be a strange New Zealander whose heart was not warmed by
          Nevins's contention that

          
The greatest book yet written in New Zealand, 
Herbert Guthrie-Smith's
          

Tutira: The Story of a New Zealand Sheep Station (1921), and one of the
          greatest books of its kind in the world, is the history of a single sheep station
          … it can be read with fascination by anyone from Scandinavia to
          
Argentina—for it speaks to universal experience, experience with land,
          climate, beast, bird, markets, labor, and the general human lot.

2

          
Nevins challenges the local historian to transcend the local while exploiting
          ‘the one great central vein of interest which other types of history lack’: the
          ability to come close to the plain human being and deal with ‘commingled
          characters and environment’.

3 

Tutira has been one of the inspirations underlying this present work, though its purpose and origin are very different.

          
Put simply, that origin is as the third element in a trilogy, carrying
          forward the story begun in my 

Farthest Promised Land and 
New Zealand's
            Burning. Like them, 
Settler 
Kaponga sees our settler story as (in the words
          of our subtitle) that of ‘a frontier fragment of the Western world’. The two
          earlier works each ranged widely through space, at the expense of being
          restricted to quite a limited period of time. Together they cover only a
          decade and a half. 
Settler 
Kaponga, by concentrating on one small world, is
          able to carry the story onwards through three and a half decades. But it
          


          retains breadth by seeing its characters not only as local residents but also
          as folk with deep roots in one corner or another of the Old World, vitally
          linked by commerce to that world, and constantly responding to the tides
          and eddies of Old World influence on all aspects of their lives

          
I take full responsibility as author for the text, structure and interpretation of the work, but I have asked that my wife Betty be acknowledged
          on the title page as my assistant. She has given most valuable help in a
          number of ways. 
Kaponga-born (1924), she grew up on a Palmer Road farm
          and had her primary schooling at 
Kaponga School. Therefore many of the
          folk in the text were known to her in their later life. Her local knowledge
          and contacts have been invaluable. While I was researching and writing 
New
            Zealand's Burning she carried through a massive collection of data for 
Settler
            
Kaponga, first combing all the extant files of the 

Hawera Star for
          the period, and then searching more widely. She then worked over this
          material to create a invaluable biographical index, 

Kaponga People, 1881–
            c.1920. Copies of this will be made available to Taranaki folk and the wider
          world of research scholars by being lodged in appropriate libraries. Finally,
          she has been a most useful critic of my writing, testing it for accuracy,
          balance and clarity.
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As in most New Zealand rural districts, busy 
Kaponga folk, working
          under the pressure of anniversary deadlines, have made some useful starts in
          sketching their local story. But lacking time, space, and easy access to
          research resources, they have left much untold and many conundrums
          unresolved. Unlike them, we have had the luxuries of working without
          deadlines, of easy access to major research libraries and archives, and of taking ample space to cover a more limited time period. This, we believe, has
          enabled us to provide the local audience with a deepened understanding of
          their settlement's origins and early development.

          
Our purpose has been much wider than this. The American historian
          
Allan Nevins was surely going too far when he asserted that the only good
          local history is that written for a national or international audience.

1 But it
          would be a strange New Zealander whose heart was not warmed by
          Nevins's contention that

          
The greatest book yet written in New Zealand, 
Herbert Guthrie-Smith's
          

Tutira: The Story of a New Zealand Sheep Station (1921), and one of the
          greatest books of its kind in the world, is the history of a single sheep station
          … it can be read with fascination by anyone from Scandinavia to
          
Argentina—for it speaks to universal experience, experience with land,
          climate, beast, bird, markets, labor, and the general human lot.

2

          
Nevins challenges the local historian to transcend the local while exploiting
          ‘the one great central vein of interest which other types of history lack’: the
          ability to come close to the plain human being and deal with ‘commingled
          characters and environment’.

3 

Tutira has been one of the inspirations underlying this present work, though its purpose and origin are very different.

          
Put simply, that origin is as the third element in a trilogy, carrying
          forward the story begun in my 

Farthest Promised Land and 
New Zealand's
            Burning. Like them, 
Settler 
Kaponga sees our settler story as (in the words
          of our subtitle) that of ‘a frontier fragment of the Western world’. The two
          earlier works each ranged widely through space, at the expense of being
          restricted to quite a limited period of time. Together they cover only a
          decade and a half. 
Settler 
Kaponga, by concentrating on one small world, is
          able to carry the story onwards through three and a half decades. But it
          


          retains breadth by seeing its characters not only as local residents but also
          as folk with deep roots in one corner or another of the Old World, vitally
          linked by commerce to that world, and constantly responding to the tides
          and eddies of Old World influence on all aspects of their lives

          
I take full responsibility as author for the text, structure and interpretation of the work, but I have asked that my wife Betty be acknowledged
          on the title page as my assistant. She has given most valuable help in a
          number of ways. 
Kaponga-born (1924), she grew up on a Palmer Road farm
          and had her primary schooling at 
Kaponga School. Therefore many of the
          folk in the text were known to her in their later life. Her local knowledge
          and contacts have been invaluable. While I was researching and writing 
New
            Zealand's Burning she carried through a massive collection of data for 
Settler
            
Kaponga, first combing all the extant files of the 

Hawera Star for
          the period, and then searching more widely. She then worked over this
          material to create a invaluable biographical index, 

Kaponga People, 1881–
            c.1920. Copies of this will be made available to Taranaki folk and the wider
          world of research scholars by being lodged in appropriate libraries. Finally,
          she has been a most useful critic of my writing, testing it for accuracy,
          balance and clarity.
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Some Notes for the Reader

        

          
These short forms are used for easy reference to two major sources:
          

            

              
	
Star
              
	

Hawera Star
            

            

              
	‘Our Own’
              
	A local resident recruited to provide a regular letter of local news. Standing alone, ‘Our Own’ refers to the 
Star's 
Kaponga ‘Our Own Correspondent’.
            

            

              
	Eltham [Manaia, &c] ‘Our Own’
              
	The 
Star's ‘Our Own Correspondent’ of the place named.
            

            

              
	
Star (12/7/96)


              ‘Our Own’ (1/3/06)
              
	Dates thus bracketed refer to publication date. For any event &c dated in the text even these short forms of reference will be omitted—the source will be contemporary 
Star files, where it can easily be located.
            

            

              
	
Farmer
              
	
New Zealand Farmer (
Auckland, 1882-)
            

            

              
	Other abbreviations:
              
	
            

            

              
	DP
              
	Deferred payment (on land sold by the Crown).
            

            

              
	‘Kaupokonui’
              
	The bush settlements of the Kaupokonui Survey
              District Blocks in the 1880s (see p. 
20 below).
              (
Not today's locality of this name, east of Manaia.)
            

          

        

        

        

          
Biographical material

          
For settlers prominent in our story, brief biographical summaries are 
            provided in 
Appendix 1, pp. 
347–
52. They mainly cover significant aspects 
            that do not relate to 
Kaponga and other important details that will not 
            appear in the main text. An asterisk following a name in the text informs 
            the reader of these notes.

          

Referencing. Biographical material has been collected by the usual methods 
            of genealogical research, but is not referenced. The references may be found 
            in:

          
Elizabeth (‘Betty’) Arnold, 

Kaponga People 1881-c.1920, which is lodged 
            in appropriate libraries.
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Introduction

        

          
Farewell to 
Kaponga

          
One evening in the early spring of 1909 some 150 
Kaponga settlers braved 
            heavy rain to farewell Mr and Mrs Maurice Fitzgerald*, who were about to 
            lead a family migration to the 
Waikato. They met in the 
Kaponga town hall, 
            since 1901 proudly known as the Athenaeum, and enlivened the occasion 
            with dancing, items and complimentary speeches. In his valedictory speech 
            chairman 
William Swadling* told how 
Maurice Fitzgerald and he had been 
            among 
Kaponga's first settlers, and had walked there together from 
Hawera 
            as there was no way of returning horses. How one wishes that ‘Our Own’ 
            had reported this speech more fully, and filled it out with an interview with 
            these two pioneers. They had bought their farm sections on 8 September 
            1882 amid the excitement of a government land sale, with some 700 to 800 
            others crowding the 
Hawera town hall.

          
This was the last of a series of sales, beginning in October 1880, by 
            which the government achieved its aim of quickly settling the Waimate 
            Plains, west of the 
Waingongoro River. At the sale the ‘
Kaponga Village 
            Settlement’ township sections had also been offered, without much success, 
            but several other settlers had joined Swadling and Fitzgerald in taking rural 
            sections neighbouring the village site. How informed were these folk 
            about the land they were buying? The 

New Zealand Gazette sale notice had 
            stressed that roads had been opened up to this land from the New 
            Plymouth-
Hawera railway line. ‘With the exception of a few rata,’ it 
            averred, ‘the bush consists mainly of soft woods and other light timber, and 
            can easily be cleared. The country is well-watered, and is admirably adapted 
            for conversion into grass lands.’

1 Had they checked this advertisement by 
            riding out to see the land for themselves? Had they interviewed surveyors 
            and other knowledgeable persons? As they swagged in, what did they think 
            of the roads made to ‘open up’ the land? They may well have gone by way 
            of Skeet Road, which a month or two later a correspondent to the 
Star (15/ 
            1/83) described as impassable to traffic, a mere track made by throwing the 
            felled timber to the sides, with the tree stumps still sticking up above its 
            surface and great roots running off from them in all directions. What did 
            they lug in in those first swags? How did they set about the task of
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Maurice and 
Julia Fitzgerald and family and their 
Kaponga home, c.1900. Back row (with
                  birth years): Mary '84, Nora '89, JULIA '55, Maurice jnr '99, MAURICE '56, Ellen '87,
                  James '86, Julia '91. Front row: William '93, (Whyte relative?), Alice '95


            ‘settling’? Did William work alone on his upper Palmer Road section and 
            Maurice on his on Manaia Road, just south of the township site? Or did 
            they arrange some teamwork?

          

William Swadling's farewell from 
Kaponga was quite different from 
            Fitzgerald's, for he died suddenly in June 1912. The local school closed for 
            the day of the funeral. Among the three or four hundred who gathered in 
            the 
Kaponga cemetery were many from outside the local district, including 
            almost all the members and staff of the Eltham County Council, the mayor 
            of Stratford, representatives of various dairy factories and other business 
            leaders. Swadling had been a valued leader in many south Taranaki 
            enterprises and public bodies as well as in a wide range of bodies in his own 
            township, including the Town Board, Anglican Church, Oddfellows' 
            Lodge, Dairy Company and school committee. Unlike Maurice Fitzgerald, 
            he had not had to leave the district in search of a wider world for a growing 
            clan. On his wife's death in 1906 he had been left a widower with an infant 
            daughter. While his sister, 
Elizabeth Swadling, took care of his daughter, 
            William threw himself so vigorously into public life that he came to be 
            regarded as the ‘father of 
Kaponga’.

          
There was a third way of ‘leaving’ besides migration or death—the quiet 
            withdrawal of retirement. 
Joel Prestidge* had bought his section on Manaia 
            Road, a little south of 
Maurice Fitzgerald's, in May 1881, and may have
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Maurice and 
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            begun ‘settling’ earlier than these other two. He is probably the Mr 
            Prestidge who arrived in Patea with a wife and children on the S.S. 
Wakatu 
            in November 1881. Though, like Fitzgerald, he had a large family (his first 
            wife Charlotte died in 1910, leaving seven sons and four daughters, aged 16 
            to 30), the clan managed to make their way in south Taranaki. Prestidge 
            retired from 
Kaponga farming at about the beginning of World War I. 
            Looking back on his 90th birthday in 1940, from his retirement home in 
            
Hawera, he recalled coming as a young man with his wife by ship from 
            
Nelson, bringing a wagon and horses with them. They landed at Patea and 
            trekked to the Manaia Road section. He told of losing their first home, a 
            split slab whare, by fire when burning felled bush. He ordered milled timber 
            to replace it, but the carrier would deliver only one load because his bullocks 
            had practically had to swim to get to the section. 
Prestidge averred that at 
            one stage Manaia Road deteriorated to such an extent that no one was able 
            to travel to Manaia for six months. He told how in those early days there 
            was as yet no 
Kaponga township but ‘the site was marked with the word 
            
Kaponga scrawled in charcoal upon a pukatea tree’

2.

          
Our three farewells give us brief glimpses of three 
Kaponga settler 
            careers that roughly span the years of our study. They illustrate the diversity 
            of pioneer origins. 
Prestidge had learnt his farming in Nelson, where he had 
            arrived as a child immigrant. Swadling was a recent immigrant, with a year 
            or two of colonial experience in Manawatu and Rangitikei. Fitzgerald was 
            a staunch Roman Catholic from County Kerry, 
Ireland, with five years of
            


            colonial experience in 
Canterbury. Swadling's memory of swagging in and 
            
Prestidge's reminiscences indicate how primitive and amorphous were 
            the district's beginnings, while the farewells accorded to Fitzgerald and 
            Swadling give some intimation of the complexity and substance of what was 
            achieved in the 
Kaponga district within one working lifetime, and of its 
            interweaving with the wider world. All three were successful farmers, but 
            while 
Prestidge took almost no part in public life, Fitzgerald took an active 
            part, and Swadling became a prominent local and regional leader. This study 
            examines the quality and the interplay of hundreds of diverse careers, of 
            which these three are a small sample. But something must first be said about 
            our purposes in choosing 
Kaponga's early settler years for close study and 
            about our methods of approach and the reasons for them.

        

        

          
A Personal Odyssey

          
At about the time 
Kaponga's first settlers swagged in, another young man, 
            my paternal grandfather 
Richard Arnold, crossed the hills from the Waimea 
            plains to begin carving a farm from 
Nelson's bush frontier. After a 
            childhood and youth in the bush burn landscape that resulted from his 
            endeavours I began my first extended experience of a wider world as a 
            tertiary student in 
Christchurch at the age of 17. My university studies in 
            the literature and history of 
Britain and 
Europe were an enriching 
            experience, but they left me dissatisfied in that they made little connection 
            with my bush frontier origins. I was vaguely conscious that thinking on this 
            subject was beginning in our nascent university geography departments. It 
            was, however, very much an awareness of an untold story of major 
            achievements, and of great difficulties lying in the way of identifying these 
            settlers and grasping what their experiences had been. From 1949 to 1965 
            my career path took me to the southern 
North Island, the region whose 
            settler history had been most dominated by forest clearing. Years in 
            
Napier, Stratford and 
Palmerston North convinced me that there was indeed 
            a glaring gap in the telling of our settlement story—the bush frontier experience. 
            An enriching academic year as a history research student at the 
            
University of Melbourne in 1951 gave me the skills to contribute towards 
            filling this gap. For years I awaited the opportunity.

          
In 1965 I joined the staff of 
Victoria University of Wellington and here 
            I was soon able to undertake my PhD thesis, ‘The opening of the Great 
            Bush, 1869–1881: a social history of the bush settlements of Taranaki, 
            Hawke's Bay and 
Wellington’. Having grappled with the first decade of the 
            main assault on the 
North Island bush my appetite was whetted for a deeper 
            understanding of settler origins. Fortuitously a sabbatical leave in 1972 
            enabled me to delve deeply into English sources for the backgrounds of our 
            English village immigrants of the great ‘Vogel’ inflow, resulting in my major 
            1981 book, 
The Farthest Promised Land: English Villagers, New Zealand 
              Immigrants of the 1870s. I then followed the fortunes of these settlers
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            through the ensuing decades, leading to my 1994 book 
New Zealand's 
              Burning: The Settlers' World in the Mid 1880s. While both books tackled 
            the total New Zealand settler world of their periods, they gave special 
            attention to the first two decades of the main assault on the lowland bush.

          
The interpretative bases of these two books contained several implicit 
            challenges which led to the present work. Firstly if, as I maintain, colonial 
            life indeed had three main aspects, town, country and bush, it is the bush 
            that still sadly lacks in range and depth of treatment. Secondly, I have 
            advanced ‘the village and the globe’ as a major interpretative pattern, 
            contending that ‘This settler community was essentially a village world, but 
            a village world that was responding to ideas and influences that were global 
            in the scope of their origins.’

3 If this was indeed so, I should be able to write 
            a local history that is at once enriched by the concept and in turn enriches 
            it. Both books also contain various other concepts that call for testing at the 
            local level and, equally important, following down through the decades 
            beyond the restricted periods of the first two books. 
Settler 
Kaponga is my 
            response to these challenges, and a further step in my odyssey in search of 
            understanding of the world of my personal origins.

          
But why 
Kaponga? My earlier writings have covered a range of the bush 
            settlements originating in the 1870s. These were mainly founded on what 
            quickly developed into important communication routes, some on railway 
            lines from the start, others soon reached by the railway. Many later 
            settlements did not enjoy this important advantage and it seemed appropriate 
            to choose one such venture of the 1880s, see how its founding developed 
            in the harder times of that decade, and follow it through the career span of
            


            the pioneer generation. Taranaki was the most active bush frontier of the 
            1880s and the peopling of the Waimate Plains the major settlement project 
            of the decade. What clinched the choice of locality was that my wife, Betty, 
            was 
Kaponga born and bred, her grandparents Joseph and 
Elizabeth Turner 
            having in 1913 taken a farm on lower Palmer Road that was to remain in 
            the family until 1994. This gave me a natural interest, many useful contacts 
            and a knowledgeable and active helper.

        

        

          
Boundaries: ‘Kaupokonui’ to 
Kaponga

          
What are the boundaries of our 
Settler 
Kaponga community? A simple 
            answer is that we are concerned with those folk who looked upon 
Kaponga 
            township as their local centre. But history is never too simple. As we saw 
            from Joel Prestidge's reminiscences, the township was not there for the 
            pioneers; their local centres were Manaia or Okaiawa, and they were lumped 
            in with a wider group, the ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers, the folk up in the bush 
            sections of the Kaupokonui Survey Districts. Not till towards the end of 
            the first decade was the name 
Kaponga coming into frequent use. At the 
            start we shall have to be content with much reporting covering the larger 
            Kaupokonui community, but at the personal level we are concerned with 
            those who in due course came to centre their local affairs on the rising 
            
Kaponga township.

          
We will use the term ‘
Kaponga District’ for a clearly defined area whose 
            settlers will receive our closest attention. These are those spread between 
            the farms along Mangawhero Road to the west and Palmer Road to east, 
            with northern and southern boundaries provided by the mountain and the 
            Te Roti-Opunake railway. Settlers south of the railway and along Skeet 
            Road tended to centre on Manaia and Okaiawa; those to the east of Palmer 
            Road on Eltham and its outlier Mangatoki, or on Stratford if living in the 
            northern reaches. The western boundary proved the most fluid throughout. 
            Early Rowan and Mangawhero Road settlers made their way in via Skeet 
            Road and at first tended to look south to Manaia, but when Eltham Road 
            was at last properly formed and bridged 
Kaponga won over not only them 
            but also settlers further to the west at Awatuna East and Makaka. Wherever 
            folk outside the bounds chose to centre their lives on 
Kaponga they will be 
            given their full place in our story. We will use the term ‘
Kaponga district’ 
            (i.e. without the capital ‘D’) when referring to this broader, less clearly 
            defined group.

        

        

          
Sources

          
The most valuable source for this study has been the files of the 

Hawera 
              Star. Founded in April 1880, the 
Star gave exemplary coverage of south 
            Taranaki life throughout our period. Since it sought to maintain a circulation 
            throughout the rural districts, it shared the settlers' deep interest in roads 
            and transport services. It closely followed the settlers' farming fortunes,
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Joel and Charlotte Prestidge and family, about 1902. Back row (with bith birth years): Lilian '89,
                  Arthur '80, Fanny '78, Thomas '86, Front row: Kenneth '96, Leewis '88,
                  CHARLOTTE '55, Enid '93, JOEL '50, James '99, Edward '82, Albert '92. These are the
                  founding stock of an extensive South Taranaki farming clan


            kept a careful eye on the activities of all the local bodies, and maintained 
            competent local correspondents who gave an in-depth coverage of the 
            unfolding life of all the main districts. Nevertheless, the first decade of 
            settlement was for 
Kaponga one of half-hidden years, partly because for the 
            earlier years its fortunes were reported rather vaguely as part of the wider 
            world of the ‘Kaupokonui’, but also because no files of the 
Star seem to have 
            survived for the period from the end of June 1888 to the beginning of 
            October 1891 — the crucial years of the township's meteoric rise and the 
            consequent recentring of the district's life. From October 1891 onwards the 
            
Star gave a rich coverage of 
Kaponga affairs and of their regional context. 
            The 
Star material has been extensively checked against other sources, such 
            as local and national archives, official papers and other newspapers. These 
            have largely confirmed the quality and accuracy of the 
Star material, while 
            their scattered and incomplete nature has made it clear that without the 
Star 
            an in-depth study such as this would have been impossible. Handling the 
            
Star files has also been of great value in achieving our aim of seeing the 
            
Kaponga story against its global setting. For this wider setting a combing 
            of the 

Appendices to the Journals of the House of Representatives has proved 
            particularly rewarding.

        

        
        



          
A Structured Approach

          
To gain a firm and disciplined grip on our story it has been shaped by 
            periods into three parts, each consisting of parallel sections on four major 
            topics. For each part the first chapter is ‘Time and Space’. Here we deal with 
            the changing features of the lie of the land as the settlers' programmes 
            interacted with the virgin landscape, and with the changes through time in 
            how the settlers envisaged themselves in relation to their local world and its 
            and their interaction with the wider regional, colonial, imperial and global 
            worlds. These sections share the concerns of the historical geographer in the 
            shaping of landscapes over time with a major interest of the social historian, 
            the reconstructing of the changing mental worlds of the common people. 
            These folk were structuring new local and regional worlds while engaging 
            in vigorous debate as to what the shapes of these worlds were and ought to 
            be. At the same time they were acutely aware that their economic and social 
            fortunes were inextricably intertwined with wider worlds which they made 
            considerable efforts to understand and influence. We will not grasp their 
            bush frontier experience unless we can place them firmly in time and space, 
            understanding them both as shapers of a little new world and as integral 
            citizens and active participants in western civilisation and its economy. If 
            we wish to gain a real understanding of their story we must enter with 
            sympathy into minds where deep concerns for such minutiae as the changing 
            weather jostled with anxieties about the 
London markets and the clash 
            of empires. We shall find the weather dominant in the early years, the 
            markets and the empires more to the fore as time moved on.

          
The second section in each part concerns ‘The Making of Livings’. 
            These folk moved to the 
Kaponga bush frontier because they believed that 
            they could make better livings there than in the districts they had left. We 
            must try to discern what ideas they brought with them about how they 
            would be making those livings, and how their unfolding experience 
            reshaped those ideas. The fortunes of the yeoman farm will be very much 
            at the centre of our concern throughout. The forest harvest will be of 
            considerable importance in the earlier years, while the village shopkeepers, 
            craftsmen and service industries will become of increasing importance as 
            time moves on. The third section

* in each part, on ‘The Quality of Life’, 
            will follow the settlers into their leisure time, at home and abroad, to see 
            how they enriched their lives with recreations and sports, how they made 
            holiday, how they sought meaning for their lives through church, politics 
            and intellectual debate, and how they raised and educated their children.

          
These first three sections in each part, taken together, should give a good 
            deal of insight into the ‘frontier fragment’ experience of our title. But 
            because each is focused on a particular aspect there is something they will
            


            not have adequately succeeded in giving. To get the ‘feel’ of the past we need 
            to follow significant happenings in the intricate contexts within which life 
            was actually lived. In search of this ‘feel’ the final chapter of each part 
            presents and discusses a number of seminal episodes from its period, 
            happenings that illustrate how personal idiosyncrasies and fortuitous 
            contingencies are an inevitable part of lived experience. One purpose of 
            these chapters, then, is to enrich while drawing together and illuminating 
            the concerns of the preceding three chapters.

          
But these final chapters have also been included for the purpose of 
            balance. The other chapters are particularly heavily dependent on 
Kaponga's 
            own reporters, particularly ‘Our Own’, for their material. There is an 
            element of bias in these reports due to the concern to present the community 
            in a favourable light. Our episodes will be found to draw heavily on 
            conflicts, litigation, inquests and disasters, in the reporting of which not 
            only the community's good metal, but also much of its dross, has inevitably 
            come to light. For Part 1 this chapter is particularly important and has been 
            given liberal space because these incidents are able to take us a considerable 
            way in penetrating the haze that gives this decade its half-hidden character.

          
The Epilogue, besides raising one or two more general issues, first 
            reaches onwards for a brief survey of the war years, which lie beyond our 
            stated period. These years, in which the cream of 
Kaponga's first homegrown 
            generation of young men was siphoned off to help feed the slaughter 
            fields of the northern hemisphere, have much to tell us about the quality of 
            what had been being shaped in the 
Kaponga district since 1881. They are 
            also included to illustrate how deeply this catastrophe marked the end of 
            an era, both for little 
Kaponga and for the wide world, as they faced a new 
            future after the years of devastation.

        

        

          
The Maori Dimension

          
While we have been wrestling with the settler story the 
Waitangi Tribunal 
            has been shaping and publishing its 
The Taranaki Report (1996). This 
            balanced and lucid report provides a mass of information that would have 
            been of deep interest and relevance to the 
Kaponga settlers of our story. The 
            simple fact is that they knew almost nothing of these matters, and what little 
            they did ‘know’ was riddled with prejudice and distorted with misinformation. 
            They saw themselves as the pioneer occupants of virgin soil, 
            taken in good faith from the Crown, whose rights they had no reasons to 
            doubt. To them the Pakeha settler was the dominant shaper of their region's 
            life, landscape and economy. With no Maori resident among them, and only 
            limited contact with the Maori of neighbouring settlements, most of them 
            had a very limited understanding of Maori culture. While Te Whiti's noble 
            and eloquent protests speak powerfully to us across the years, to them he 
            was merely a misguided fanatic. We may deplore their ignorance and 
            prejudice. But we are ourselves guilty of ignorance and prejudice if we do
            


            not discern why it was that they knew no better. And we will not tell their 
            story truly and honestly if we insist on forcing it into the context of our 
            current knowledge and attitudes. We are right to regret that the Crown 
            failed to ‘sell’ its Treaty of Waitangi agreement within the colony and that 
            the settler authorities repudiated the treaty as far as they dared. But while 
            most of these leaders had a very good idea of what they were doing, this 
            awareness did not extend to the common settler. We take up these matters 
            for further consideration in 
Chapter 1 and in the Epilogue.

        





      



* For the primitive world of the 1880s the second and third sections are
                combined in 
Chapter 2.
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Farewell to 
Kaponga

          
One evening in the early spring of 1909 some 150 
Kaponga settlers braved 
            heavy rain to farewell Mr and Mrs Maurice Fitzgerald*, who were about to 
            lead a family migration to the 
Waikato. They met in the 
Kaponga town hall, 
            since 1901 proudly known as the Athenaeum, and enlivened the occasion 
            with dancing, items and complimentary speeches. In his valedictory speech 
            chairman 
William Swadling* told how 
Maurice Fitzgerald and he had been 
            among 
Kaponga's first settlers, and had walked there together from 
Hawera 
            as there was no way of returning horses. How one wishes that ‘Our Own’ 
            had reported this speech more fully, and filled it out with an interview with 
            these two pioneers. They had bought their farm sections on 8 September 
            1882 amid the excitement of a government land sale, with some 700 to 800 
            others crowding the 
Hawera town hall.

          
This was the last of a series of sales, beginning in October 1880, by 
            which the government achieved its aim of quickly settling the Waimate 
            Plains, west of the 
Waingongoro River. At the sale the ‘
Kaponga Village 
            Settlement’ township sections had also been offered, without much success, 
            but several other settlers had joined Swadling and Fitzgerald in taking rural 
            sections neighbouring the village site. How informed were these folk 
            about the land they were buying? The 

New Zealand Gazette sale notice had 
            stressed that roads had been opened up to this land from the New 
            Plymouth-
Hawera railway line. ‘With the exception of a few rata,’ it 
            averred, ‘the bush consists mainly of soft woods and other light timber, and 
            can easily be cleared. The country is well-watered, and is admirably adapted 
            for conversion into grass lands.’

1 Had they checked this advertisement by 
            riding out to see the land for themselves? Had they interviewed surveyors 
            and other knowledgeable persons? As they swagged in, what did they think 
            of the roads made to ‘open up’ the land? They may well have gone by way 
            of Skeet Road, which a month or two later a correspondent to the 
Star (15/ 
            1/83) described as impassable to traffic, a mere track made by throwing the 
            felled timber to the sides, with the tree stumps still sticking up above its 
            surface and great roots running off from them in all directions. What did 
            they lug in in those first swags? How did they set about the task of
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Maurice and 
Julia Fitzgerald and family and their 
Kaponga home, c.1900. Back row (with
                  birth years): Mary '84, Nora '89, JULIA '55, Maurice jnr '99, MAURICE '56, Ellen '87,
                  James '86, Julia '91. Front row: William '93, (Whyte relative?), Alice '95


            ‘settling’? Did William work alone on his upper Palmer Road section and 
            Maurice on his on Manaia Road, just south of the township site? Or did 
            they arrange some teamwork?

          

William Swadling's farewell from 
Kaponga was quite different from 
            Fitzgerald's, for he died suddenly in June 1912. The local school closed for 
            the day of the funeral. Among the three or four hundred who gathered in 
            the 
Kaponga cemetery were many from outside the local district, including 
            almost all the members and staff of the Eltham County Council, the mayor 
            of Stratford, representatives of various dairy factories and other business 
            leaders. Swadling had been a valued leader in many south Taranaki 
            enterprises and public bodies as well as in a wide range of bodies in his own 
            township, including the Town Board, Anglican Church, Oddfellows' 
            Lodge, Dairy Company and school committee. Unlike Maurice Fitzgerald, 
            he had not had to leave the district in search of a wider world for a growing 
            clan. On his wife's death in 1906 he had been left a widower with an infant 
            daughter. While his sister, 
Elizabeth Swadling, took care of his daughter, 
            William threw himself so vigorously into public life that he came to be 
            regarded as the ‘father of 
Kaponga’.

          
There was a third way of ‘leaving’ besides migration or death—the quiet 
            withdrawal of retirement. 
Joel Prestidge* had bought his section on Manaia 
            Road, a little south of 
Maurice Fitzgerald's, in May 1881, and may have
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Maurice and 
Julia Fitzgerald in later life


            begun ‘settling’ earlier than these other two. He is probably the Mr 
            Prestidge who arrived in Patea with a wife and children on the S.S. 
Wakatu 
            in November 1881. Though, like Fitzgerald, he had a large family (his first 
            wife Charlotte died in 1910, leaving seven sons and four daughters, aged 16 
            to 30), the clan managed to make their way in south Taranaki. Prestidge 
            retired from 
Kaponga farming at about the beginning of World War I. 
            Looking back on his 90th birthday in 1940, from his retirement home in 
            
Hawera, he recalled coming as a young man with his wife by ship from 
            
Nelson, bringing a wagon and horses with them. They landed at Patea and 
            trekked to the Manaia Road section. He told of losing their first home, a 
            split slab whare, by fire when burning felled bush. He ordered milled timber 
            to replace it, but the carrier would deliver only one load because his bullocks 
            had practically had to swim to get to the section. 
Prestidge averred that at 
            one stage Manaia Road deteriorated to such an extent that no one was able 
            to travel to Manaia for six months. He told how in those early days there 
            was as yet no 
Kaponga township but ‘the site was marked with the word 
            
Kaponga scrawled in charcoal upon a pukatea tree’

2.

          
Our three farewells give us brief glimpses of three 
Kaponga settler 
            careers that roughly span the years of our study. They illustrate the diversity 
            of pioneer origins. 
Prestidge had learnt his farming in Nelson, where he had 
            arrived as a child immigrant. Swadling was a recent immigrant, with a year 
            or two of colonial experience in Manawatu and Rangitikei. Fitzgerald was 
            a staunch Roman Catholic from County Kerry, 
Ireland, with five years of
            


            colonial experience in 
Canterbury. Swadling's memory of swagging in and 
            
Prestidge's reminiscences indicate how primitive and amorphous were 
            the district's beginnings, while the farewells accorded to Fitzgerald and 
            Swadling give some intimation of the complexity and substance of what was 
            achieved in the 
Kaponga district within one working lifetime, and of its 
            interweaving with the wider world. All three were successful farmers, but 
            while 
Prestidge took almost no part in public life, Fitzgerald took an active 
            part, and Swadling became a prominent local and regional leader. This study 
            examines the quality and the interplay of hundreds of diverse careers, of 
            which these three are a small sample. But something must first be said about 
            our purposes in choosing 
Kaponga's early settler years for close study and 
            about our methods of approach and the reasons for them.
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A Personal Odyssey

          
At about the time 
Kaponga's first settlers swagged in, another young man, 
            my paternal grandfather 
Richard Arnold, crossed the hills from the Waimea 
            plains to begin carving a farm from 
Nelson's bush frontier. After a 
            childhood and youth in the bush burn landscape that resulted from his 
            endeavours I began my first extended experience of a wider world as a 
            tertiary student in 
Christchurch at the age of 17. My university studies in 
            the literature and history of 
Britain and 
Europe were an enriching 
            experience, but they left me dissatisfied in that they made little connection 
            with my bush frontier origins. I was vaguely conscious that thinking on this 
            subject was beginning in our nascent university geography departments. It 
            was, however, very much an awareness of an untold story of major 
            achievements, and of great difficulties lying in the way of identifying these 
            settlers and grasping what their experiences had been. From 1949 to 1965 
            my career path took me to the southern 
North Island, the region whose 
            settler history had been most dominated by forest clearing. Years in 
            
Napier, Stratford and 
Palmerston North convinced me that there was indeed 
            a glaring gap in the telling of our settlement story—the bush frontier experience. 
            An enriching academic year as a history research student at the 
            
University of Melbourne in 1951 gave me the skills to contribute towards 
            filling this gap. For years I awaited the opportunity.

          
In 1965 I joined the staff of 
Victoria University of Wellington and here 
            I was soon able to undertake my PhD thesis, ‘The opening of the Great 
            Bush, 1869–1881: a social history of the bush settlements of Taranaki, 
            Hawke's Bay and 
Wellington’. Having grappled with the first decade of the 
            main assault on the 
North Island bush my appetite was whetted for a deeper 
            understanding of settler origins. Fortuitously a sabbatical leave in 1972 
            enabled me to delve deeply into English sources for the backgrounds of our 
            English village immigrants of the great ‘Vogel’ inflow, resulting in my major 
            1981 book, 
The Farthest Promised Land: English Villagers, New Zealand 
              Immigrants of the 1870s. I then followed the fortunes of these settlers
            


            

[image: William and Sarah Swadling, July 1904]

William and 
Sarah Swadling, July 1904


            through the ensuing decades, leading to my 1994 book 
New Zealand's 
              Burning: The Settlers' World in the Mid 1880s. While both books tackled 
            the total New Zealand settler world of their periods, they gave special 
            attention to the first two decades of the main assault on the lowland bush.

          
The interpretative bases of these two books contained several implicit 
            challenges which led to the present work. Firstly if, as I maintain, colonial 
            life indeed had three main aspects, town, country and bush, it is the bush 
            that still sadly lacks in range and depth of treatment. Secondly, I have 
            advanced ‘the village and the globe’ as a major interpretative pattern, 
            contending that ‘This settler community was essentially a village world, but 
            a village world that was responding to ideas and influences that were global 
            in the scope of their origins.’

3 If this was indeed so, I should be able to write 
            a local history that is at once enriched by the concept and in turn enriches 
            it. Both books also contain various other concepts that call for testing at the 
            local level and, equally important, following down through the decades 
            beyond the restricted periods of the first two books. 
Settler 
Kaponga is my 
            response to these challenges, and a further step in my odyssey in search of 
            understanding of the world of my personal origins.

          
But why 
Kaponga? My earlier writings have covered a range of the bush 
            settlements originating in the 1870s. These were mainly founded on what 
            quickly developed into important communication routes, some on railway 
            lines from the start, others soon reached by the railway. Many later 
            settlements did not enjoy this important advantage and it seemed appropriate 
            to choose one such venture of the 1880s, see how its founding developed 
            in the harder times of that decade, and follow it through the career span of
            


            the pioneer generation. Taranaki was the most active bush frontier of the 
            1880s and the peopling of the Waimate Plains the major settlement project 
            of the decade. What clinched the choice of locality was that my wife, Betty, 
            was 
Kaponga born and bred, her grandparents Joseph and 
Elizabeth Turner 
            having in 1913 taken a farm on lower Palmer Road that was to remain in 
            the family until 1994. This gave me a natural interest, many useful contacts 
            and a knowledgeable and active helper.
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Boundaries: ‘Kaupokonui’ to 
Kaponga

          
What are the boundaries of our 
Settler 
Kaponga community? A simple 
            answer is that we are concerned with those folk who looked upon 
Kaponga 
            township as their local centre. But history is never too simple. As we saw 
            from Joel Prestidge's reminiscences, the township was not there for the 
            pioneers; their local centres were Manaia or Okaiawa, and they were lumped 
            in with a wider group, the ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers, the folk up in the bush 
            sections of the Kaupokonui Survey Districts. Not till towards the end of 
            the first decade was the name 
Kaponga coming into frequent use. At the 
            start we shall have to be content with much reporting covering the larger 
            Kaupokonui community, but at the personal level we are concerned with 
            those who in due course came to centre their local affairs on the rising 
            
Kaponga township.

          
We will use the term ‘
Kaponga District’ for a clearly defined area whose 
            settlers will receive our closest attention. These are those spread between 
            the farms along Mangawhero Road to the west and Palmer Road to east, 
            with northern and southern boundaries provided by the mountain and the 
            Te Roti-Opunake railway. Settlers south of the railway and along Skeet 
            Road tended to centre on Manaia and Okaiawa; those to the east of Palmer 
            Road on Eltham and its outlier Mangatoki, or on Stratford if living in the 
            northern reaches. The western boundary proved the most fluid throughout. 
            Early Rowan and Mangawhero Road settlers made their way in via Skeet 
            Road and at first tended to look south to Manaia, but when Eltham Road 
            was at last properly formed and bridged 
Kaponga won over not only them 
            but also settlers further to the west at Awatuna East and Makaka. Wherever 
            folk outside the bounds chose to centre their lives on 
Kaponga they will be 
            given their full place in our story. We will use the term ‘
Kaponga district’ 
            (i.e. without the capital ‘D’) when referring to this broader, less clearly 
            defined group.
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Sources

          
The most valuable source for this study has been the files of the 

Hawera 
              Star. Founded in April 1880, the 
Star gave exemplary coverage of south 
            Taranaki life throughout our period. Since it sought to maintain a circulation 
            throughout the rural districts, it shared the settlers' deep interest in roads 
            and transport services. It closely followed the settlers' farming fortunes,
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Joel and Charlotte Prestidge and family, about 1902. Back row (with bith birth years): Lilian '89,
                  Arthur '80, Fanny '78, Thomas '86, Front row: Kenneth '96, Leewis '88,
                  CHARLOTTE '55, Enid '93, JOEL '50, James '99, Edward '82, Albert '92. These are the
                  founding stock of an extensive South Taranaki farming clan


            kept a careful eye on the activities of all the local bodies, and maintained 
            competent local correspondents who gave an in-depth coverage of the 
            unfolding life of all the main districts. Nevertheless, the first decade of 
            settlement was for 
Kaponga one of half-hidden years, partly because for the 
            earlier years its fortunes were reported rather vaguely as part of the wider 
            world of the ‘Kaupokonui’, but also because no files of the 
Star seem to have 
            survived for the period from the end of June 1888 to the beginning of 
            October 1891 — the crucial years of the township's meteoric rise and the 
            consequent recentring of the district's life. From October 1891 onwards the 
            
Star gave a rich coverage of 
Kaponga affairs and of their regional context. 
            The 
Star material has been extensively checked against other sources, such 
            as local and national archives, official papers and other newspapers. These 
            have largely confirmed the quality and accuracy of the 
Star material, while 
            their scattered and incomplete nature has made it clear that without the 
Star 
            an in-depth study such as this would have been impossible. Handling the 
            
Star files has also been of great value in achieving our aim of seeing the 
            
Kaponga story against its global setting. For this wider setting a combing 
            of the 

Appendices to the Journals of the House of Representatives has proved 
            particularly rewarding.
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A Structured Approach

          
To gain a firm and disciplined grip on our story it has been shaped by 
            periods into three parts, each consisting of parallel sections on four major 
            topics. For each part the first chapter is ‘Time and Space’. Here we deal with 
            the changing features of the lie of the land as the settlers' programmes 
            interacted with the virgin landscape, and with the changes through time in 
            how the settlers envisaged themselves in relation to their local world and its 
            and their interaction with the wider regional, colonial, imperial and global 
            worlds. These sections share the concerns of the historical geographer in the 
            shaping of landscapes over time with a major interest of the social historian, 
            the reconstructing of the changing mental worlds of the common people. 
            These folk were structuring new local and regional worlds while engaging 
            in vigorous debate as to what the shapes of these worlds were and ought to 
            be. At the same time they were acutely aware that their economic and social 
            fortunes were inextricably intertwined with wider worlds which they made 
            considerable efforts to understand and influence. We will not grasp their 
            bush frontier experience unless we can place them firmly in time and space, 
            understanding them both as shapers of a little new world and as integral 
            citizens and active participants in western civilisation and its economy. If 
            we wish to gain a real understanding of their story we must enter with 
            sympathy into minds where deep concerns for such minutiae as the changing 
            weather jostled with anxieties about the 
London markets and the clash 
            of empires. We shall find the weather dominant in the early years, the 
            markets and the empires more to the fore as time moved on.

          
The second section in each part concerns ‘The Making of Livings’. 
            These folk moved to the 
Kaponga bush frontier because they believed that 
            they could make better livings there than in the districts they had left. We 
            must try to discern what ideas they brought with them about how they 
            would be making those livings, and how their unfolding experience 
            reshaped those ideas. The fortunes of the yeoman farm will be very much 
            at the centre of our concern throughout. The forest harvest will be of 
            considerable importance in the earlier years, while the village shopkeepers, 
            craftsmen and service industries will become of increasing importance as 
            time moves on. The third section

* in each part, on ‘The Quality of Life’, 
            will follow the settlers into their leisure time, at home and abroad, to see 
            how they enriched their lives with recreations and sports, how they made 
            holiday, how they sought meaning for their lives through church, politics 
            and intellectual debate, and how they raised and educated their children.

          
These first three sections in each part, taken together, should give a good 
            deal of insight into the ‘frontier fragment’ experience of our title. But 
            because each is focused on a particular aspect there is something they will
            


            not have adequately succeeded in giving. To get the ‘feel’ of the past we need 
            to follow significant happenings in the intricate contexts within which life 
            was actually lived. In search of this ‘feel’ the final chapter of each part 
            presents and discusses a number of seminal episodes from its period, 
            happenings that illustrate how personal idiosyncrasies and fortuitous 
            contingencies are an inevitable part of lived experience. One purpose of 
            these chapters, then, is to enrich while drawing together and illuminating 
            the concerns of the preceding three chapters.

          
But these final chapters have also been included for the purpose of 
            balance. The other chapters are particularly heavily dependent on 
Kaponga's 
            own reporters, particularly ‘Our Own’, for their material. There is an 
            element of bias in these reports due to the concern to present the community 
            in a favourable light. Our episodes will be found to draw heavily on 
            conflicts, litigation, inquests and disasters, in the reporting of which not 
            only the community's good metal, but also much of its dross, has inevitably 
            come to light. For Part 1 this chapter is particularly important and has been 
            given liberal space because these incidents are able to take us a considerable 
            way in penetrating the haze that gives this decade its half-hidden character.

          
The Epilogue, besides raising one or two more general issues, first 
            reaches onwards for a brief survey of the war years, which lie beyond our 
            stated period. These years, in which the cream of 
Kaponga's first homegrown 
            generation of young men was siphoned off to help feed the slaughter 
            fields of the northern hemisphere, have much to tell us about the quality of 
            what had been being shaped in the 
Kaponga district since 1881. They are 
            also included to illustrate how deeply this catastrophe marked the end of 
            an era, both for little 
Kaponga and for the wide world, as they faced a new 
            future after the years of devastation.
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The Maori Dimension

          
While we have been wrestling with the settler story the 
Waitangi Tribunal 
            has been shaping and publishing its 
The Taranaki Report (1996). This 
            balanced and lucid report provides a mass of information that would have 
            been of deep interest and relevance to the 
Kaponga settlers of our story. The 
            simple fact is that they knew almost nothing of these matters, and what little 
            they did ‘know’ was riddled with prejudice and distorted with misinformation. 
            They saw themselves as the pioneer occupants of virgin soil, 
            taken in good faith from the Crown, whose rights they had no reasons to 
            doubt. To them the Pakeha settler was the dominant shaper of their region's 
            life, landscape and economy. With no Maori resident among them, and only 
            limited contact with the Maori of neighbouring settlements, most of them 
            had a very limited understanding of Maori culture. While Te Whiti's noble 
            and eloquent protests speak powerfully to us across the years, to them he 
            was merely a misguided fanatic. We may deplore their ignorance and 
            prejudice. But we are ourselves guilty of ignorance and prejudice if we do
            


            not discern why it was that they knew no better. And we will not tell their 
            story truly and honestly if we insist on forcing it into the context of our 
            current knowledge and attitudes. We are right to regret that the Crown 
            failed to ‘sell’ its Treaty of Waitangi agreement within the colony and that 
            the settler authorities repudiated the treaty as far as they dared. But while 
            most of these leaders had a very good idea of what they were doing, this 
            awareness did not extend to the common settler. We take up these matters 
            for further consideration in 
Chapter 1 and in the Epilogue.
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A Cross-hatch Pattern

            
Let us imagine a bird's eye view of our district and its regional context, 
              looking northwards from high above the coast south of Manaia on a fine 
              morning at the beginning of the decade, just before settlers began to cross 
              the Waingongoro. We find a cross-hatch pattern on the land's surface 
              resulting from east-west signs of human endeavour intersecting with strong 
              geological north-south lines. The most prominent of these geological lines 
              is that created down the millennia by the southward march of volcanic 
              activity from the ancient sugar loaves at 
New Plymouth via the eroded peaks 
              of Kaitakei and Pouakai to the recent mighty volcanic dome of Taranaki-
Egmont, 
              with its southwards extension of Fantham's Peak. Of more 
              immediate consequence to the daily lives of the coming settlers are the many 
              small rivers rushing down goiges cut into the southern slopes of 
Egmont, 
              burbling quickly in shallow courses across the Waimate Plains, and joining 
              as they go to form stronger streams that have cut rather deep valleys into 
              the coastal cliffs.

            
Cross-hatching across this raking of riverbeds are three clear lines 
              resulting from human endeavour. The strongest and oldest of these, following the bush line that parallels the coast roughly 12 kilometres inland, is a 
              string of Maori villages with associated sheltered clearings for their crops. 
              To the north, a little below where the plain gives way to the mountain's 
              slopes, is ‘Hursthouse's Line’, a pack track cut through from Stratford to 
              Opunake by the surveyors as an early strategic move in the government's 
              plans to occupy the plains. Much more substantial than this track is the third 
              east-west line, the South Road across the open country paralleling the coast. 
              Opened in 1871, it has become a coach road along which the government, 
              with the assistance of the Maori chief Hone Pihama, has for years been 
              sending its mails from 
New Plymouth to 
Hawera. It has recently been 
              further upgraded in preparation for the coming of the settlers. Looking 
              more carefully at the great stretch of bush, of which the 
Kaponga settlers 
              will occupy the central portion, we see other lines, both cast-west and 
              north-south, cut by the surveyors both to facilitate their work and to form 
              the primitive beginnings of settlement roads.

            


            

              

[image: The Shaping of Kaponga's World]

The Shaping of Kaponga's World


            

            


            
On repeating our bird's eye survey over the ensuing decades we find 
              that settler endeavour has added greatly to both the north-south and the 
              east-west lines. But always the east-west lines stand out as their most 
              substantial achievements, culminating in the Te Roti-Opunake branch 
              railway, commenced at the end of our period. Since north-south roads 
              parallel to the streams were much the easiest to construct, the surveyors 
              esigned them to service the majority of sections. But seeking economic 
              prosperity and an enriched social life, the settlers have firmly linked their 
              countryside to the province's main communication backbone, the Mountain 
              Road and the 
New Plymouth-
Hawera railway, running from north to 
              south, side by side, ‘behind the mountain’. Throughout they have campaigned vigorously for the expensive east-west routeways that bridge the 
              many streams and are substantial enough to cope with arterial traffic. But 
              these are later issues. We must first consider the timing of the settlers' arrival 
              and ask what pictures of their new world were in their minds as they came.
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A Flurry of Maps

            
The colony had just experienced two decades of massive immigration. The 
              1860s gold rushes had doubled the population and the 1870s ‘Vogel’ 
              immigration drive had practically doubled it again. So the country was full 
              of relative newcomers, for whom one great attraction had been the promise 
              of easy access to land. In moving to meet this land hunger the government 
              had, particularly since the early 1870s, produced a flurry of maps. We will 
              glance through these maps, and other contemporary sources of information, 
              to see what they had been telling the folk who moved to become 
Kaponga 
              settlers.

            
From the late 1860s Taranaki maps tended to carry two strong-messages. 
              They demonstrated the government's concern to open up routeways 
              through the province, and by sketching in the bush line they emphasised 
              the large areas of the bush land, attractive to the more impecunious settler. 
              They told South Islanders of a frontier rich in opportunities for both wage 
              labour and access to reasonably priced land, a message increasingly pertinent 
              in the later 1870s as the alluvial gold fields continued to peter out, and the 
              Vogel development projects, pursued most vigorously in the south, came 
              to an end. So a moderate flow of migration developed from the south, to 
              the railway works moving south from 
New Plymouth and north from 
              
Wanganui and to the land they were opening up.

            
As depression developed in the late 1870s the government slashed its 
              development projects, except in Taranaki, where it discerned the best 
              opportunities of maintaining land sales income and meeting the land hunger. 
              Its decision to occupy the Walmate Plains and challenge Te Whiti of 
              Parihaka led to accelerating work on the Taranaki railway and the sending 
              of the surveyors onto the plains, which in turn focused the colony's 
              attention on this district as the current prime frontier of opportunity. The
              


              first survey parties crossed the Waingongoro on 29 July 1878 and by 17 
              August the 
Wanganui 
Herald's 
Hawera correspondent was writing that 
              ‘numbers of capitalists from 
Canterbury and Otago are looking over this 
              district with a view of being purchasers’.

            
Our main concern is not of course with these capitalists, whose real 
              interest will have been in the coastal open country. Evidence of strong 
              working-class interest is provided by the shortlived activities of the Waimate 
              Plains Co-operative Land Company, which flourished among 
Christchurch 
              labourers for a few months from late 1879, as a response to rising unemployment. Its offer to take over the plains from the government included an 
              undertaking to settle 8000 souls in the area, to assume responsibility for its 
              defence, and to do all the necessary public works.

1 The government rebuffed 
              the land company but its publicity may well have started the process that 
              took several of our 
Kaponga pioneers to their bush sections. As they mulled 
              over this and other publicity, many potential working-class immigrants will 
              have been weighing up the opportunities against the dangers of the Maori 
              threat. Mainly comparatively recent arrivals in the colony, with a limited 
              knowledge of its history and commonly with a complete ignorance of the 
              existence of a Treaty of Waitangi, they will probably have seen the government's plans mainly as a further step in the inevitable advance of western 
              civilisation, for the ultimate benefit of all concerned. Any among them 
              wanting light on Maori grievances and the government's proposals to meet 
              them may have been helped by the maps drawn for the 
West Coast 
              Commission, set up in January 1880 to look into the matter. These showed 
              that the Maori villages were associated with the bush line, and that it was 
              proposed to create a ‘Continuous Reserve’ of Maori land, embracing these 
              villages in a strip consisting of both open country and bush. Land was also 
              to be set aside for the two prominent south Taranaki chiefs who had been 
              working for peaceful coexistence with the Pakeha, Manaia and Hone 
              Pihama, and their people.

            
The most important publicity enlightening 
Kaponga's coming settlers 
              and the most significant maps helping them envisage the lie of the land arose 
              from the work of the surveyors and the government's advertising of its 
              results. The main land sales, extending from October 1880 to September 
              1882, were given massive publicity. ‘I never saw land, either at Home or 
              anywhere else, more extensively advertised,’ Edward Godsal, an Otakeho 
              settler, told a parliamentary committee in 1887.

2 The main sales were 
              repeatedly advertised in the 

New Zealand Gazette, with the advice that 
              lithographed plans were to be seen at any land office in the colony. To reach 
              ordinary citizens the government also advertised extensively in the press, 
              and sent copies of its ‘colored lithographic plans’ to the newspaper offices.

3 
              ‘We have received a plan of the sections on the Waimate Plains, shortly to 
              be offered for sale by auction, and anyone wishing to inspect the plan can 
              see it by calling at our office,’ the 
Hawke's Bay Weekly Courier of 24 
              September 1880 advised at the beginning of an editorial on the topic. Besides
              


              such editorials the colony's press carried news items on the sales, and 
              
Hawera land agent Thomas Foy advertised in the 
Star that he was available 
              ‘to execute COMMISSIONS for intending PURCHASERS unable to 
              attend the sale’.

            
In its report for the year ended 31 March 1883 the Crown Lands 
              Department looked back on its campaign with satisfaction:

            
The settlement of the Waimate Plains is a good illustration of the advantages 
              of first preparing the country by opening of roads through it, and then 
              offering it for selection in sections on the settlement conditions of deferred 
              payment, residence, and cultivation, alternating with sections obtainable on 
              immediate payments. In October, 188[0], the first block of 8,500 acres was 
              opened for sale; about one-third of the intervening sections were on deferred 
              payment; a few days after they were allotted the remaining sections were 
              offered for cash. Every few months since block after block has been 
              submitted for selection and sale on the same principle, and up to 31st March 
              last 360 sections, of an area of 24,328 acres, has been sold on deferred 
              payment … For cash there has been sold an area of 46,954 acres …; of 
              town and suburban lands, 526 acres …; or a total of 71,808 acres … It is 
              worthy of note that of the 360 selectors on deferred payment only eleven 
              have forfeited … The roading of the land has been kept in advance of the 
              sales … 

4

            
The report then gave statistics on the progress of settlement provided 
              by Crown Lands Ranger 
G.F. Robinson. The rural settlers had erected 122 
              dwellings for their population of 650. There were a further 460 people in 
              Manaia township and the village settlements of Okaiawa and Otakeho, with 
              94 dwellings and 30 commercial and public buildings. Also:

            
An area of 17,500 acres has been fenced into paddocks, and upwards of 5,000 
              acres of the bush behind the Continuous Reserve felled and grassed. In 
              travelling over the Waimate Plains and seeing the numerous homesteads 
              which enliven the view, the clumps of young trees already showing up at a 
              few of the homesteads, the numerous enclosures, the cattle and the sheep, the 
              flour mill at Manaia, and the wonderful progress of that place, the 
              intersection of the back bush by a complete network of cleared road-lines, 
              and settlers' clearings in progress everywhere through it, one can scarcely 
              realize that only some two years ago there was none of this, and where these 
              beautiful farms, the pride of their possessors, now add improvement to 
              improvement day by day the wild pig roamed by the hundred in undisputed 
              possession.

5

            
Let us now move back and see all this from the viewpoint of the 
              
Kaponga pioneers' developing understanding of their new world. The 
              earlier land sales were dominated by open-country land, which was avidly 
              snapped up. The bush sections were surveyed a little later, put forward more 
              slowly, and less keenly sought after. So the bush pioneers were aware that
              


              they were moving in to begin the last of three bands of settlement between 
              the coast and the mountain. Along the coast were the more affluent settlers 
              making rapid progress on their new farms, next came the Continuous 
              Reserve with its string of Maori villages, and beyond this up to the foot of 
              the mountain were their own reaches of bush. They will have come to their 
              purchase with a knowledge of Taranaki that varied from a few days to many 
              years, but even for the Taranaki-born this land had till recently lain beyond 
              the pale. The first worthwhile information on the farming potential of this 
              land will have been that gained by the surveyors and will have reached the 
              public in various ways, formal and informal, as surveying and sales proceeded. We are therefore fortunate that in his 
Reminiscences of a Taranaki 
                Surveyor 
W.H. Skinner records the work over a significant portion of our 
              district. Under the heading ‘Virgin Country of Great Promise’ he describes 
              his work over 1881–82, first laying off the land west of the Waingongoro 
              River, as far as Hastings Road, and then (pp. 
49–
50):

            
from the Skeet road to Mt Egmont Reserve, including also the area on the 
              upper Manaia road between the Rowan and Palmer roads to the Forest 
              Reserve. This was the most promising area of forest country that I had 
              encountered in Taranaki … This was also a pleasant district to work in. It 
              was easy country to lay down traverse lines, and for swagging; mobs of wild 
              cattle in good condition were plentiful and provided us with ample fresh 
              meat; and other supplies were readily obtained via the Mountain road. Taking 
              it all in all, it was the most satisfactory bush country survey we experienced 
              in Taranaki.

            
Many of our pioneers will have found the newspapers a great help in 
              picturing their new world. The 
Taranaki Herald (19/11/80) carried a 
              particularly useful contribution for intending purchasers by ‘Traveller’, an 
              anonymous north Taranaki writer who had inspected the district while 
              choosing a section on which to settle himself. Our bush settlers would have 
              been encouraged by his opinion that ‘altogether I believe the bush district 
              behind Waimate will be more valuable in the future than the open part’. He 
              was, though, impressed with the quality of the land over the greater part of 
              the plains, but commented on the south-east and west winds ‘which sweep 
              over the plains in a pitiless bitter manner’. From the Waingongoro as far as 
              Oeo he found the land covered with fern and tutu, with patches of clover 
              all through the fern, some of them nearly 50 acres in extent. Up towards 
              the Continuous Reserve he found large areas of clean cocksfoot from which 
              the Maori had harvested a good amount of seed in past years. Beyond Oeo, 
              and particularly towards Opunake, he found a marked change in soil and 
              vegetation, with the soil becoming more sandy and gravelly, and, unlike on 
              the stretch from Oeo to 
Hawera, large areas of flax. Around Opunake, he 
              reported, ‘the surface soil rests on a strata of—what is called there—iron-stone, a reddish, rusty-looking stone, which turns up in large blocks
              and lumps’. What he was noticing here were differences arising from the
              


              district's volcanic past. As we will see, this past had also left significant 
              differences within the 
Kaponga district. Our settlers will have been most 
              concerned with his comments on the bush:

            
The greater portion of the bush land is lightly timbered, so much so that 
              most of the sawn timber and fencing for Waimate must come from the bush 
              along the Mountain Road … But for bush settlers, who prefer making their 
              living by clearing and cultivating their land, to using the timber upon it, I 
              fancy the bush land behind Waimate will exactly suit them, as the bush 
              generally is very open, the wild cattle and pigs having destroyed a large 
              portion of the undergrowth…. The trees generally are small, if we except 
              the ratas and mahoes … Pines are few and far between, there being little 
              more than enough for the settlers' own wants in the way of building materials 
              and fencing…. Altogether, I think the man with only a small capital would 
              do much better on the Waimate bush land than on the Waimate open land, as 
              he would easily clear his land, and would have firewood, fencing, and shelter 
              whilst doing so. He could also fill up his spare time (and his larder) by having 
              an occasional hunt after wild cattle and pigs, both of which are in great 
              abundance.

            
‘Traveller’ was not impressed with Hursthouse's Line (i.e. Opunake 
              Road), which he thought ‘will probably be the main inland road for the 
              bush settlers on a larger portion of this district’. As yet it was ‘of a very 
              temporary nature, being only sufficient to answer as a pack track to supply 
              survey parties, &c’. He found that it rose rapidly from Stratford to the 
              Waingongoro River, after which it continued at about the same level for 
              several miles. It was cleared about 15 feet wide, wound about in the most 
              perplexing manner, and crossed the many gullies and streams on temporary 
              bridges of fern-tree and saplings, bridges just wide enough for a packhorse. 
              Nor did he have high hopes for the place it led to—Opunake—or think 
              much of its prospects as a port. When the wind blew from the south-east or 
              the south-west the bay became ‘one extent of broken water, and utterly 
              unsafe for any vessel to enter or stay there’.

            
‘Traveller’ was in effect making a survey in space on which to base 
              predictions for the coming years in time. He was right about some things. 
              The bush sections were certainly to prove a fine investment for many a man 
              of small means, largely for the reasons he gave. Opunake certainly was to 
              prove a poor bet as a port. On other matters he was partly right. The timber 
              harvest of these stretches of bush was certainly to be a limited one, but it 
              proved much better than his estimate. Clearing the bush was not unduly 
              difficult, but it proved a harder task and took longer to complete than one 
              would infer from either his comments or those in the government's 
              optimistic advertising. On some matters he was quite astray. He misread the 
              government's intentions for the Continuous Reserve, seeing it as ‘compelling future settlers on the bush land … to travel through a belt of bush 
              about two miles wide before reaching their land’. In fact the reserve was not
              


              really to be ‘continuous’ at all, but was broken up by stretches sold to 
              settlers, and from 1883 on even much that remained as ‘native land’ passed 
              into settler hands on long-term leases. His assumption that Hursthouse's 
              Line would be the main inland road for a large portion of the bush was also 
              to prove quite wrong.
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The Clearings

            
Had we taken a bird's eye view of the 
Kaponga district on a fine day each 
              autumn throughout the decade the most striking change we would have 
              observed would have been the shifting balance of clearings and wild. The 
              patterns and speed of this change were a result of a complex interplay of 
              forces. We must examine the inflow of settlers, looking both at government 
              handling of land sales and buyer responses. We must see how these settlers' 
              clearing activities were shaped both by land settlement regulations and the 
              effects of changing labour and commodities markets. We must look at the 
              seasons, especially at how their diversity of weather directly affected bush-felling and burning, and indirectly the demand for bush land. Throughout
              we seek the larger overview, leaving individual fortunes to our next chapter.

            
The first Waimate Plains bush sections were offered at the sale of 28 
              February 1881. Most lay just outside our 
Kaponga District but several were 
              on lower Palmer and Manaia roads and passed into the hands of 
Kaponga 
              pioneers, mainly on deferred payment (DP). The DP system was designed 
              to get genuine settlers of limited means onto the land, on terms of small 
              deposits followed by payments over a period of years. To deter speculators 
              the system required residence on, and development of, the sections. If more 
              than one applicant applied for a section it went to auction. Reflecting on 
              the sale, in the context of earlier sales along the Mountain Road, the 
Star 
              (2/3/81) concluded that:

            
The lesson taught by the recent sales … seems to be that bush land will sell 
              for deferred but not for immediate payments…. In respect of the Waimate 
              bush land, the arguments in favour of forcing on settlement as much as 
              possible are incontestable; the public exchequer will gain … If land be 
              offered at once, the newly cut road and survey lines will not need to be 
              recut …

            
The pattern of the offering of the bush sections was that the first put up 
              were to the south and east between Matapu and Kapuni, along Skeet Road 
              and the lower reaches of its side-roads. The offerings then moved steadily 
              westwards and northwards. The 3 October 1881 sale put a number of 
              further settlers up lower Palmer Road and along Eltham Road to the north 
              of them. The 22 December 1881 sale put three more settlers on Manaia 
              Road. There were also about half a dozen cash buyers of sections further 
              west along lower Rowan and Mangawhero roads, but this land does not 
              seem to have been occupied for some years. ‘
Kaponga Village Settlement’,
              


              and a number of adjoining rural sections, were finally put up at the large 
              sale of 8 September 1882 that ended the series, together with a good deal of 
              rural and village land elsewhere across the plains. When these folk took up 
              their land there was a sprinkle of settlers across the eastern half of the 
              
Kaponga District. But although the government had felled the township 
              sites along the Mountain Road, it did not do so for 
Kaponga. The few folk 
              who purchased township sections were quite unable to establish the place 
              as the district's centre. As the colony faced harder times the forward march 
              of settlement began to falter. In 1882 the government amended the land laws, 
              particularly to make bush settlement easier. A perpetual-lease tenure was 
              introduced and residential requirements were made less stringent to allow 
              settlers greater freedom to earn the money needed to develop their 
              properties. But in the Taranaki bush of the early 1880s it was not the land 
              laws that were the greatest discouragement to settlement but the weather.

            
Those few 
Kaponga pioneers who began their first clearings for the 
              burns of the summer of 1881–82 would have shared the general experience 
              described in a 
Star editorial of 17 May 1882:

            
We hear that a petition is likely to be forwarded to the Minister for Lands by 
              a number of bush settlers between here and Inglewood … Hardly any of 
              those who felled bush on their land last season have been able to burn it off. 
              Those who tried, and ‘singed’ the leaves and light twigs off the timber, are 
              inclined to regret that they ever set light to it.

            
The 1882 winter would have seen the first significant amount of felling 
              in the 
Kaponga District. Bush burn fortunes were patchy. The weather was 
              favourable early in the summer, and the 
Star of 7 February 1883 reported 
              many settlers in the Manaia bush having good burns, but on 10 March, after 
              a survey along these bush roads, it found that ‘as a rule the burns have not 
              been good’. In reporting on the district's roadworks for the 1882–83 season, 
              Crown Lands Ranger 
G.F. Robinson gave as one reason for their lagging 
              ‘the unusually wet season we have had since January last’.

6

            
But the worst was yet to come. The 1883 winter saw a massive assault 
              on the bush, with the 
Star of 11 October reporting an estimate that ‘from 
              400 to 500 men are now employed bushfelling in the bush between Okaiawa 
              and Otakeho’. They were working in atrocious weather. Some months later, 
              in accounting for the delays in the surveys required for his work as West 
              Coast Commissioner, 
William Fox explained that the season had seen ‘the 
              prevalence of the wettest winter weather ever remembered in the colony’. 
              Influenced by the experience that ‘last year the early burns were the good 
              ones' the settlers got most of the felling completed by mid-October.

8 It did 
              not pay off. In the 
Star of 17 January 1884 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ 
              reported that:

            
One or two attempts have been made by the over-anxious ones to burn off 
              the bush during the week. The high winds forced the fires through pretty
              


              well, yet, from the amount of timber still remaining on the ground, the 
              venture proves to have been anything but a success.

            
Not till mid-February did the weather briefly raise the settlers' hopes. 
              A survey of the situation at that point was provided by ‘Y’ in his 
Star 
              ‘Farmers' Column’ of 21 February 1884:

            
The past week has done much towards drying up the felled bush … I have 
              not yet heard of any very clean burns, but believe that from this time forward 
              fairly good fires may be looked for provided that no heavy rain should fall 
              within the next few days. Owing to the grass and rapid growth of underwood 
              and weeds among the felled bush this season, the latest felled bush will 
              probably burn the best…. Estimates of the bush felled awaiting burning 
              within Waimate riding vary from 5000 up to 6000 acres. It is possible that 
              even the latter area may be within the mark, as there are a great number of 
              small patches scattered about which hardly any one knows of except the 
              owners or immediate neighbours.

            
In the event the season proved to be disastrous. Local correspondents 
              almost always did their best to look on the bright side and present an 
              optimistic view of their district to the outside world. But the 1884 burning 
              season was too much for the 
Star's ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’. His column 
              of 18 March reported that:

            
Since Friday and Saturday's downpour the chances of anything like a burn 
              this season have become very small. Disgust and disappointment is now easily 
              discernible on many a countenance that hitherto wore a genial and hopeful 
              expression. I wonder if there ever was such a season before? No doubt at 
              times the bush has been sufficiently dry, but there has never been anything 
              like a wind—one of the main requirements to ensure a successful burn in this 
              flat and open bush. The loss is one that would be difficult to estimate, not 
              only individually, but to the district at large. I have no hesitation in saying 
              that it will throw the whole of the bush country back for a period of at least 
              five years. Verily, sir, a man's heart need be, not only as big as a stump, as one 
              of my neighbours very aptly remarked, but as big as the tree itself.

            
Faith, Hope and Charity! Three of the brightest gems in the world's 
              diadem, but unfortunately only applicable under certain circumstances. Why 
              sir, the first year we came here we had to live on faith! Then we turned to the 
              second best, and for a time were buoyed up and existed on hope. But now, 
              from present appearances, it would seem as if we were about to realise the 
              latter, in the fullest sense of the word…. Without doubt, days of toil and 
              nights of anxious waiting are plainly perceptible to all. But as for the summer 
              and winter, things have got so mixed and jumbled together that we know not 
              when or where to expect them.

            
There was not only disillusion for the pioneer settlers but a drying up 
              of the flow of new recruits to the district. Early in 1884 the government
              


              began advertising a big sale of south Taranaki bush sections in 
Hawera on 
              28 and 29 February, aimed at pushing settlement further to the north and 
              west.

9 The 
Gazette sale notice, over two pages long, listed a wide spread of 
              161 rural sections, 35 small farm allotments and 60 Village-Settlement allotments in the village settlements of Makaka and Punehu (modern Te Kiri). 
              Of the rural sections 33 were in our 
Kaponga District. Apart from five just 
              west of the township on Eltham Road these were all to the north, on 
              Opunake Road and the upper reaches of Palmer, Manaia and Rowan roads. 
              Using recent land law amendments, the man of small means was taken well 
              into account. Some rural sections were offered on attractive perpetual-lease 
              terms, and contested DP small-farm allotments were to be decided by lot 
              and not bid up at auction as in earlier sales. But all the hard work and careful 
              planning for this sale ended in an absolute debacle. Only one of the 256 
              sections was sold. The 
Star turned an almost blind eye to this calamitous 
              event. The Lands Department annual report indicates that this was more 
              than a south Taranaki problem. Two successive unusually wet seasons with 
              failed bush burns had undermined the demand for bush land throughout 
              the colony, and much that was ready for sale had been kept off the market.

10

            
The ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers faced long, anxious months as they awaited 
              a change in fortune. In the 
Star of 29 May their ‘Our Own’ noted that new 
              sowings of grass were proving very backward, but was encouraged in that 
              older clearings were rolling in feed. Two months later Okaiawa's ‘Our Own’ 
              was pleased that ‘several 
Auckland gentlemen’ were in the village arranging 
              for felling a large area of land they had bought in the district. The summer 
              began inauspiciously. On 29 December the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ wrote:

            
A sad time for the people in the bush, Mr. Editor, a sad time! Day after day 
              nothing but rain. The morning breaks with it, the day ends with it, an 
              everlasting drip, drip, drip. The branches of the huge pines are bent down 
              with it, the younger trees are weeping under it, the roads are canals, all things 
              are silent, with water everywhere. For eight days it has scarcely ceased.

            
On 8 January 1885 he described ‘the heaviest rainfall that I ever 
              witnessed outside the tropics' but on 23 January 1885 he was at last able to 
              report a spell of fine weather that had only to last a few days longer to bring 
              some good burns, while consoling himself that ‘if the wood will not burn it 
              will rot’. On 24 January he was elated:

            
Hurrah! for the good burns—our little world is jubilant. The 27th is a day. 
              that will long be remembered here as the day of the general flare-up…. the 
              fire in some cases carried the tops of the trees for over two miles. Night is 
              now settling down, and the red streamers are hung out—hundreds of them, 
              thousands of them. The bush around looks like a living forest of fire, and the 
              moon overhead, as if riding in a sea of blood…. Stout hearts and strong 
              hands are working with a will, hatless and coatless, blackened and begrimed. 
              … Beating him back in some places, and in others urging him forward. The
              


              bush must be burnt, but the homesteads, if possible, must be saved…. On! 
              On! he rushes, accomplishing in a few moments what it would take men 
              years to perform.

            
It was a great turning point in the south Taranaki bush settlement. On 
              7 March the ‘Kaupokonui’ letter told of a burn in bush felled as late as 
              Christmas:

            
I have not seen the burn, but have been told that it made a splendid sweep. A 
              great deal of last season's felling was fired on Saturday last, the fire going 
              clean through the standing thistles and making a grand clearance of the old 
              timber. This season will have done a great deal towards permanently 
              establishing the settlement of the bush. Had there followed another such as 
              last, I believe a great many would have cleared out in disgust, and wandered 
              away to fields and pastures new.

            
On 9 March he was actually pleased with an hour of heavy rain, 
              remarking that ‘it is a great relief to once more breathe the pure, fresh air, 
              after living for about a month in an atmosphere of smoke.’

            
The following season was even more favourable for bush clearance. 
              With hard times felling contracts were being let at very cheap rates over the 
              winter.

11 As 1885 closed the beginnings of the long drought of my 
New 
                Zealand's Burning were being experienced in the ‘Kaupokonui’. In mid-December its ‘Our Own’ reported burns of ‘the heaps left from previous 
              years’. On 2 January 1886 he wrote of widespread burning of the current 
              season's felling, telling how ‘a lot of persons who have been disappointed 
              in previous years … are now acting on the saying “Better be sure than 
              sorry” ‘. Looking back on the season on 13 March he told how the season's 
              weather had given two splendid chances for burns, one before the drought 
              broke, the other after. Later he told of burns continuing into April, making 
              this the ‘boss bush-burning year’ for Taranaki.

12

            
Within this broad picture of the interplay between administrators' plans 
              and the vagaries of the weather how had the occupation of our 
Kaponga 
              District been developing? Crown Lands Ranger G.F. Robinson's reports in 
              July and December 1885

13 and the March 1886 census give some help in 
              summing up. Robinson's first inspection of some DP lands in several survey 
              districts, including Kaupokonui ones, showed that all had met the 
              improvement conditions. On his second inspection of 30 holdings in the 
              Ngaere and Kaupokonui districts he was satisfied with all except one Ngaere 
              settler. Some others were behind in the area of land cleared and grassed but 
              were ahead with other improvements. Twelve settlers had their families 
              resident. In December 1885 Robinson reported on 108 DP sections in seven 
              survey districts, including Kaupokonui ones. While he again found some a 
              little behind in getting the land into grass he reported that this failure ‘has 
              occurred through the wet seasons, and from no fault of their own’. His 
              summing up applies to about 17 
Kaponga District holdings. Overall, the
              


              results were very favourable. Whereas sections inspected for the first time 
              should have had 10 per cent in grass, they actually averaged about 15 per 
              cent. Those inspected for the second time, which should have been 20 per 
              cent in grass, actually exceeded 37 per cent. Clearly the government's DP 
              regulations were holding these settlers to their task and despite the bitter 
              disappointments of the wet seasons they were making admirable progress.

            
It is not so easy to assess progress on the cash-sale land. Some purchases 
              had been for speculative rather than settlement purposes. However, information collated from various sources gives a fair idea in most cases of when 
              genuine settlement began. It seems that by the 1885–86 season at least nine 
              bachelors and five families had settled on these holdings. So the first five 
              years of settlement had seen the beginnings of about 30 farms in our District. 
              Some of the clearings were manned by bachelors in primitive whares, others 
              by families in more substantial homes.

            
By collating land sale records, family information and census 
              returns, one gets something of a picture of 
Kaponga District on census day, 
              Sunday, 28 March 1886.* The census breakdown of 
Hawera County's 
              Waimate Riding, which embraced the country from the Waingongoro to the 
              Taungatara Stream, just east of Opunake, shows only two significant population centres, Manaia town district with a population of 323 and Okaiawa 
              village with 68. 
Kaponga's name does not even appear. Opunake, Rowan 
              and Mangawhero roads are not listed, so apparently the north and west of 
              our District was still awaiting settlers. It seems that our 30-odd clearings 
              were scattered along, or near to, only three of the roads, Manaia Road with 
              perhaps 32 people on twelve clearings, Eltham Road with about 22 persons 
              on about seven clearings, and Palmer Road with about 19 residents on about 
              10 clearings. Nevertheless the settlers were widely scattered, and this would 
              seem to have arisen from their having ‘read’ the District in differing ways 
              when buying their sections. Those to the north must have seen it as the 
              
Taranaki Herald's ‘Traveller’ of November 1880 had done, as an area whose 
              main link to the outside was to be via Opunake Road, through Stratford. 
              Many of these were an interlinked group from 
Wellington province, part of 
              a northward flow deriving from the Hutt Valley's pioneer settlers, whose 
              surnames included Ellerm, Frethey, Hollard and Wilkie. Some came direct 
              from the Hutt, while others were moving on from earlier migrations, first 
              to the Wairarapa, later to the Manawatu. They were predominantly English 
              in origin and a significant number were 
Methodists. The settlers along and 
              south of Eltham Road were a more diverse group who had ‘read’ the 
              District as linked to the outside world by the South Road, through Manaia 
              and 
Hawera. A number of them may have been influenced by their vision 
              of a more distant future as there was strong buying within easy access of 
              the Neill Road railway reserve, running to the south of the planned 
              
Kaponga township. These ‘southern’ settlers contained a strong South
              


              Island element—Prestidges from Nelson, Crowleys and Fitzgeralds from 
              the 
West Coast, Stoddart from 
Dunedin. In Old World origins they were a 
              mixture of English, Irish and Scots.

            
The remaining three burning seasons of the decade, in the early months 
              of 1887, 1888 and 1889, saw substantial extension of existing clearings and 
              the beginning of a number of new ones. Hard times forced felling contract 
              prices ever lower and 1887 and 1888 had splendid burning seasons. As early 
              as 31 July 1886 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ reported 5000 acres of 
              contracts already let. Looking back on this season, a 
Star (2/5/87) bush 
              settler correspondent decided it had been perhaps the most favourable yet:

            
… the spring was ushered in with warm weather, which started the grass 
              growing; the three summer months were everything that could be wished for; 
              and a break early in February prevented an actual drought.

            
And by the winter of 1886 the flow of new settlers had revived. In the 
              
Star of 28 August the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ reported settlement ‘going 
              on apace in the back part of this block’, with most of the newcomers taking 
              their land on perpetual lease. Land on Rowan Road was beginning to be 
              taken up.

14 Over the 1887 winter, despite still lower contract prices, felling 
              by established settlers slackened somewhat

15—after several good burning 
              seasons they seem to have had almost a surfeit of grass.

16 The following year 
              saw another wonderful burning season, a great encouragement to the inflow 
              of new settlers starting further new clearings on Rowan Road and also one 
              or two along Opunake Road.

17 In 1888 this inflow accelerated as new 1887 
              land legislation came into force. This gave the purchaser the choice of taking 
              the land for cash, on DP, or on perpetual lease with right of purchase. 
              Sections were put up at fixed prices based on the land's quality, and competing applications were decided by ballot.

18 The 1888 winter saw bushfelling 
              prices at rock bottom and a very large area was cleared.

19 Late in 1888 the 
              
Star surveyed what had been achieved since settlers had crossed the 
              Waingongoro. It estimated that of the Waimate Riding's 108,000 acres of 
              bush, 35,000 acres were now felled, grassed and securely fenced. In the 
              January 1889 
Farmer, its ‘
West Coast’ correspondent suggested that this 
              understated the area felled. Since our 
Kaponga District was roughly the 
              median strip in the flow of settlement across the Riding, we can probably 
              safely say that by the end of the 1880s a good third of it was cleared.
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The Roads

            
Roads were a major concern in all new districts and especially so in the bush, 
              where roadmaking faced particular difficulties. In terrain, climate, soils, land 
              use and availability of roadmaking materials, south Taranaki faced special 
              challenges. We have seen how the process of settlement scattered the 
              
Kaponga clearings particularly widely across the district, exacerbating the 
              roaiding problem. So throughout our study we will find the roads at the
              


              centre of local politics, a subject of perennial debate, of recurrent tension, 
              and of some innovative suggestion and experimentation.

            
The very features underlying the 
Kaponga District's future prosperity— 
              its high rainfall, multiplicity of streams and fertile volcanic soils—were 
              banes for the roadmakers. The District also shared south Taranaki's general 
              lack of good road metal. So the making and maintaining of the roads 
              presented a tough series of challenges. First there was the clearing of the 
              road lines, then the mastering of the streams. Having overcome these, there 
              still remained what long seemed an unwinnable battle: the creation of a load 
              bearing surface that would not disappear in the winter mud. We will first 
              examine these practical and technical problems in more detail and then 
              probe the social and political context in which they were attacked. This 
              context of course included the initial series of heartbreaking wet seasons and 
              the deepening gloom of hard times, which limited the resources available 
              for all public projects.

            
The surveyors did the first primitive clearing of road lines, to gain access 
              for their work and make the land accessible enough to be marketed. In the 
              south Taranaki bush almost all road clearing was one chain wide.

20 Sheltered 
              by the surrounding bush from sun and winds, this felling did not dry out 
              readily and seldom resulted in a good burn. To discourage bush regrowth 
              and aid future settlers, these fellings were seeded with grass each autumn. 
              In many cases no more was done, so the pioneer settler wended his way to 
              his section through logs and stumps, with the occasional diversion around 
              the trunk of an unfelled giant rata. He often led in a house cow, which he 
              could graze on the road-line grass, but initially there was seldom enough 
              feed for the more voracious appetite of a riding horse. The way forward to 
              improve on this miserable access was not clear either to the settler or to the 
              public bodies involved. Did one manhandle the logs to the side of the 
              clearing and begin laboriously to stump a smooth pathway down the 
              middle, following the numerous roots down into the depths of the earth?

21 
              This was costly work, and though it could give a good cart track in a dry 
              summer it was likely in winter to degenerate into what one settler described 
              as ‘a model canal’ as the lowered track in the centre drained the debris 
              thrown to the sides.

22

            
In the short term public poverty meant that little was done, and this was, 
              even if unintentionally, wisdom. For the fortunes of the roads were tied up 
              with those of the settlers' clearings. When at last the good burns came, they 
              swept the roads as well as the clearings. In the meantime the trampling of 
              stock after the road-line grass, the passage of settler traffic, the scavenging 
              of the felled timber for firewood by surveyors, bushfelling gangs, settlers 
              and others, and the general processes of decay year by year broke down and 
              removed quantities of the debris. As they toughed out the early waterlogged 
              years, the settlers found wayfaring often miserable, sometimes dangerous. 
              In the winter of 1882 a settler complaining of his clearing being besieged by 
              cattle pushed into the bush by greedy open-country settlers described his
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‘The trunk of an unfelled giant rata’. For many years these trunks were a prominent landscape
                    feature, contributing significantly to the spread of bush fires. This c. 1907 photo is probably of
                    the rata trunk reputed to be the district's largest. It appears on the Department of Lands &
                    Survey One Inch to One Mile Map Series, 1944–64 (Grid ref. N119 753490, 2nd edn, May
                    1957). William Swadling and his daughter Doris mounted, Fred Swadling standing


              unenviable situation. He was marooned in the bush, with roads impassable 
              on foot. He could have travelled them by horse but had no feed for a beast. 
              Meanwhile what little feed he had was being ravaged by these intruders from 
              his wealthy neighbours. He had no case for impounding them as he had not 
              fenced. He could not fence because he had been unable to burn.

23 His letter 
              shows how dependent bush settlement was upon roading. Even after some 
              years of improvement by attrition these roads still had plenty of 
              encumbrances. The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ described some of them in 
              the 
Star of 19 February 1886:

            
Along the bush roads there are at present numerous lata trees which were 
              burnt down some time ago, and there has been no attempt made to remove 
              them. Settlers who use these roads cut a make-shift track round, and so the 
              matter rests—and so do the trees. Strangers and even residents find it rather 
              awkward, coming along in the dark, to be brought to a standstill by a forest 
              giant barring the way.

            
… I would also like to draw your attention to a common, but 
              dangerous, practice in this district. Along almost every road numbers of 
              horses are kept tethered, and some with ropes long enough to stretch three or 
              four times across the 16 ft track. Persons riding and driving in the daytime
              


              find it a difficult matter to get past, but what must it be after dark. A rider 
              comes along, and the first intimation that he gets of a horse being on the road 
              is a heels-over-head tumble.

            
Along with their struggle with the forest debris, the roadmakers 
              laboured to master the watercourses. Few motorists cruising these roads 
              today are conscious of the sturdy culverts carrying the numerous streams 
              flowing beneath them. The pioneer settlers were often only too aware of 
              their primitive culverts. With drainpipes an unaffordable luxury, wood was 
              used. Within a few years much of the timber was rotting and collapsing and 
              had to be excavated from the packed earth with which it had been covered.

24 
              It was probably to lighten this task, and with the prospect of early 
              replacement with drainpipes, that by 1886 the builders were laying them 
              -selves open to criticism for a more flimsy approach. In the 
Star of 30 
              September 1886 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ complained of the primitive 
              nature of some new culverts on Eltham Road:

            
The wooden cross pieces of the culverts are not nailed, but merely placed on 
              the top of the two side slabs. A few inches of earth on top and the culvert 
              looks all serene, but after the earth is beaten down a horse is liable to shift 
              one of the top slabs, and put a foot through. Result—broken leg …

            
Larger streams had to be forded until there were funds for bridges and not 
              many of these were undertaken in the 1880s. So the hazardous fording of 
              flooded rivers was another of the trials of the pioneers.

            
The roadmakers' long-term aim was to create a durable macadam 
              surface equal in all seasons to the demands of the settlers' steadily increasing 
              traffic. This required costly clearance of the forest debris, followed by costly 
              grading to give a cambered and elevated roadway to ensure good surface 
              drainage. What happened in the absence of these essential prerequisites for 
              good macadam surfaces was demonstrated on the most used bush roads of 
              the early years of the decade. In the 
Star of 17 May 1882 the 
Normanby 
              ‘Our Own’ reported:

            
The road to the Plains, that from Waingongoro to Manaia, and from Okaiawa 
              to the bush called Ahipaipa Road, are in a frightful state of mud, and frequent 
              stickings up in the well-puddled clay are experienced by teamsters, thus early 
              in the winter. Carters with horse teams have had to turn out their animals and 
              purchase bullocks; and settlers with spring carts have had to discard them 
              temporally [sic] and return to the primitive method of packing their necessary 
              supplies.

            
The 
Kaponga pioneers who travelled these roads to get to their sections 
              were not to know that the standard macadam programme was to prove 
              heartbreakingly difficult to apply in their district. A couple of decades later 
              the road linking their township to Manaia was being described as ‘a roadless 
              roadway’

25 and what a trip to their nearest railway station was like may be
              


              deduced from this account by ‘Rambler’ in the 
Star of 14 December 1901:

            
Anyone wishing to experience a lively ride should just take a drive in a light 
              trap from Eltham to Opunake. The game of shuttlecock will be reenacted, 
              only the difference of playthings will be painfully apparent to the 
              experimenter. Life is full of ups and downs we all admit, but the job on the 
              Eltham-Opunake road when driving is to know whether life with such 
              uncertainties is worth living.

            
But we must return to the 1880s to see how the roading challenge was 
              tackled within the social and political context of the times. An illustration 
              will help highlight some of the issues. In August 1887 Captain Anderson, a 
              recently arrived DP settler on upper Palmer Road, waited on the Waimate 
              Road Board to point out

            
… that in order to get to his section he has to go up the Duthie and then 
              come down the Palmer road, but that the Duthie road is obstructed by trees, 
              and the Palmer by a large amount of undergrowth. The Kapuni crossed the 
              Palmer below his section, and it could not be got over. (
Star, 2/9/87)

            
The board's engineer thought that a ford could be made over the Kapuni 
              for about £15, so to solve Anderson's problem the board resolved ‘that the 
              Land Board be requested to place the sum of £15, out of the £22 now 
              available for this road, to the credit of the board for this crossing’. Such 
              piecemeal decisionmaking to meet an individual's problems is frequently 
              evident in the board's minutes. Our account will need to make clear why 
              this was so, and explain the tangled interplay between Road Board, Land 
              Board and individual settler. We will also need to clarify why, if settlers 
              had first come to these northern reaches of the 
Kaponga District on the 
              assumption that they would be serviced from Stratford, Anderson was so 
              clearly seeking an outlet to the south, where the nearest centre is about five 
              miles further away from his section than was Stratford. The best way to 
              explain these matters will be to look first at the changing fortunes of the 
              east-west routes in south Taranaki's cross-hatch roading pattern.

            
These east-west routes were first mapped out by surveyors in response to 
              the government's instructions on its military strategy requirements and 
              settlement intentions. The diverse requirements led to their sketching in a 
              surfeit of these roads—five of which were to be developed, with vestiges of 
              a sixth—when practical realities would suggest that there should have been 
              a disciplined concentration on perhaps three in the first decade. For the first 
              three or four years the government supplied the bulk of the money and 
              called the tune. Thereafter the funding fell mainly on the settlers and the 
              decisionmaking on the local bodies. We will examine the fortunes of these 
              roads during the decade, beginning from the south.

            
As we have seen, the existing South Road was rapidly upgraded 
              to service the first rush of settlers onto the open country. The Armed 
              Constabulary made a significant contribution to this work and also helped
              


              considerably with 
Normanby Road, which ran partly through bush, partly 
              through open country, linking their older stronghold at 
Waihi with their 
              new redoubt at Manaia. Their involvement highlights the strategic element 
              in the early concentration on these two roads. Not much was left to be done 
              to them when, under the Roads and Bridges Construction Act 1882, they 
              were declared main roads for which the government would meet three-quarters of the cost of approved construction work. By this time on
              Normanby Road all clearing, culverting and road formation had been 
              completed and two substantial bridges built. When its main-road status was 
              removed in 1883 it was described as ‘a loop-line to the main coach-road 
              from 
Hawera to Manaia’—in other words its development had been in 
              excess of basic settlement requirements. However, in their early years the 
              ‘Kaupokonui’ bush settlers came to know it well, the most used access route 
              to their sections being by 
Normanby Road to Okaiawa and then up 
              Ahipaipa Road.

26 When, as in the winter of 1885, they found Ahipaipa Road 
              to be ‘a model canal’ and ‘a capital site for a brick works’

27 they must have 
              wished that some of the early investment lavished on the South and 
              
Normanby roads had been spread a little more fairly further into the bush. 
              Certainly the next east-west route, Skeet Road, could have done with some 
              of it. For years its main streams remained unbridged and the clearing of logs 
              and stumps westward of Ahipaipa Road did not begin till July 1888.

28

            
We now move to the three northern east-west roads, dealing first, 
              briefly, with the vestigial Neill Road and then treating Opunake and Eltham 
              roads more fully. Neill Road was on the Opunake branch railway reserve 
              which left the main line just south of Eltham. The branch line did not 
              ultimately follow this route, but as they laid it out it assumed a place of 
              considerable importance in the surveyors' minds. They made it a survey 
              block boundary along its entire length and over 1881–82 had it felled from 
              the Waingongoro to Manaia Road.

29 It appears as Neill Road for a short 
              distance near Eltham and between Manaia and Palmer roads, where it 
              created administrative problems for the Road Board, not being legally a road 
              and so not entitled to DP thirds, yet being the only access to some sections. 
              Elsewhere it provided cleared back-boundary strips for some fortunate 
              settlers on the south side of Eltham Road, to whom it was leased. Funds 
              spent on this line were in reality largely wasted in view of the desperate 
              needs elsewhere.

            
Opunake Road enjoyed an early prominence, followed by a convincin 
              downgrading. It probably assumed an undue significance in the minds of 
              the surveyors both from its strategic importance up to the time of the 
              Parihaka showdown in 1881, and also as the direct link between the 
              Waimate Plains bush and Stratford, which they would see had a secure 
              destiny as Taranaki's main inland town. It was also the most obvious route 
              to their own work in the bush from their homes in 
New Plymouth. 
              Conversely, in laying out Eltham Road they may have somewhat underestimated its long-term prospects, especially as its planned base on the
              


              railway, the Eltham village settlement, was a much less ambitious concept 
              than the already established town of Stratford. The surveyors had been 
              instructed to select village sites ‘every three or four miles along the main 
              road-lines at convenient spots in the Waimate Plains',

30 and some ambivalence in their estimates of the relative ‘main’ status of these two roads is
              suggested by their giving each a village site (Makaka and 
Kaponga) and 
              placing a third (Punehu) at their junction.

31 Opunake Road received a strong 
              boost following the passing of the Roads and Bridges Construction Act 
              1882. Claiming that when Stratford was first put on the market the government had promised to make Opunake Road, the Stratford settlers mounted 
              a strong campaign over the winter of 1882, and with local member Harry 
              Atkinson's assistance succeeded in getting it put on the first list of main 
              roads.

32 However, it received only one relatively small sum under the act 
              before being removed from the schedule in 1883.

33 Felling, culverting and 
              road formation by the Survey Department continued for another year or 
              two.

34 Once government expenditure ceased the local bodies had so little 
              money for the road's upkeep that some reaches virtually disappeared. In 
              April 1889 the 
Hawera County Council resolved to instruct its foreman to 
              have a pack track made on the stretch between the Manaia and Auroa Roads, 
              and in August 1890 a Taranaki county ratepayer complained that the stretch 
              from the Mountain Road to the county boundary was ‘quite unsafe for 
              traffic’ and ‘fit for cattle traffic only’.

35

            
Commenting on roads removed from the main-roads schedule, the 
              Surveyor-General explained that Opunake Road had been opened up ‘for 
              strategical purposes in connection with the Native difficulty’ and that ‘the 
              further opening-up of the country has made known a better line of 
              connection between Opunake and the railway-line’.

36 This, of course, was 
              Eltham Road, also on the first main-roads schedule. That it was ‘a better 
              line’ should have been evident from the start. It crossed the heart of the bush 
              country being opened up whereas Opunake Road was in poorer country 
              near its northern periphery. It provided reasonably level access from the 
              railway whereas Opunake Road had a long hard climb of some 330 feet in 
              the first five miles from Stratford. Reading between the lines, it seems that 
              by 1881, before Stratford began championing the Opunake Road, there had 
              been a quiet plumping for Eltham Road by the Survey Department. Its 
              report on Taranaki for the year to 30 June 1882 showed all bush roads being 
              felled one chain wide except for Eltham Road, which was two chains. Also, 
              in this and the next two years more was spent on Eltham Road than on any 
              other Taranaki road.

            
By the time government spending faded away in the mid-1880s Eltham 
              Road was generally accepted as the ‘main’ road through these bush districts. 
              But an immense amount of work remained for the Road Board before it 
              deserved to be called a road. Although felling and most culverting of the 
              smaller streams had been done, stumping and forming had barely begun, 
              and almost all the rivers were unbridged. So the impoverished Waimate
              


              Road Board began a long struggle first to make, and thereafter to maintain, 
              the road at a standard befitting its ‘main’ status. The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our 
              Own’ followed this slow progress. On 29 July 1885 he noted that a substantial bridge was almost completed over the Kapuni River. But the road 
              had yet to reach this bridge, for on 15 March 1886 he reported stumping 
              and forming nearly completed from Eltham township to Duthie Road—still 
              over a mile short of the Kapuni. This roading was still ungravelled, so not 
              surprisingly when winter set in he reported it

            
… in a horrible state just now, several cuttings being almost impassable… 
              it is the most important road in the district, and if a good main road were 
              made through the district, it would benefit settlers more than having a lot of 
              roads only half done. I suppose the half improved condition of roads is 
              brought about by the board trying to please everyone—by spending driblets 
              in all directions …(
Star, 30/9/86)

            
But the regime under which road boards operated made it difficult to 
              work in any other way. The Waimate board's boundaries stretched from the 
              sea to the mountain and from the Waingongoro to the Taungatara Stream, 
              near Opunake. In its early years this district provided only a limited income 
              from settlers' rates. Rather the board depended largely on the Land Act's 
              provision of one-third of the proceeds of DP sections for ‘the construction 
              of roads within, or to open up the block for the benefit of settlers’. In bush 
              districts the expenditure of their thirds was expected to be a major source 
              of DP settlers' income in their early years. They counted on winning a fair 
              share of the roadwork tenders handy to their sections. The act provided that 
              ‘the plans of proposed roads shall in all cases receive the sanction of the 
              Waste Land Boards of the district’. Under scrutiny from the settlers on one 
              side and the Waste Land Board on the other, the Road Board kept a separate 
              account for each road, and related expenditure on it to its DP thirds and 
              rates income. Of course funds had to be diverted to meet the greater usage 
              of arterial roads, but the road by road accounting allowed everyone to see 
              what was going on. The whole setup encouraged a ‘dribs and drabs’ 
              approach. We will now concentrate on how, within this context, the Road 
              Board dealt with the particular needs of the 
Kaponga District. This will add 
              the north-south Palmer, Manaia and Rowan roads to the picture.

            
In its early days the Road Board delayed spending on the bush roads, 
              having found that, without consulting it, the government was spending 
              generously on some of them. It decided that ‘it would have been foolish for 
              the board to step in and prevent them from continuing such expenditure’.

37 
              Manaia Road was on the initial main-roads schedule but the government 
              had not got far with developing it before it withdrew from active 
              involvement. This road was a headache for the Road Board as here and there 
              it caught the eastern edge of difficult ground, sticky clays overlying ‘iron-stone’ that inhibited drainage. Later geological knowledge showed that
              shifting parts of the line just a little to the east would have avoided the
              


              problem. The Road Board inherited a different problem with Palmer Road. 
              By mistake government money intended for its clearing was spent elsewhere, and work by the board left it ‘in debt’ for years, thereby at a
              disadvantage in the lobbying between roads.

38. These problems on Manaia 
              and Palmer roads concentrated traffic to the upper parts of the district on 
              Duthie Road, which continually deteriorated under the pressure. Meanwhile 
              as settlement flowed westwards the needs of Rowan Road became pressing. 
              A glance at a sample of the arrangements made for this road will give some 
              idea of the intricate interplay of local roading politics.

            
In the 1883–84 year, before it withdrew from the game, the government 
              made a moderate beginning with the felling of Rowan Road. In the spring 
              of 1886 the Road Board demonstrated its growing political sophistication 
              by authorising several of the settlers to fell and burn the roadway adjoining 
              their sections provided they felled at least two chains into their adjoining 
              lands. Over the next year or two a flow of settler requests, petitions and 
              deputations pressured the board to push on with the road and with its links 
              with the outside world. Complicating negotiations were divergences of 
              interest between settlers on the upper and lower sections of the road, and 
              the fact that they included two men of some ‘weight’, local politician 
Felix 
              McGuire, and 
Walter Stoddart, a substantial landholder on both Rowan and 
              Manaia roads who served for a time on the Road Board. In 1887 some upper 
              Rowan Road settlers persuaded the board to spend the money in credit to 
              the road on their stretch of the road and on Eltham Road. It had already 
              been generally accepted that the board should take money from the ‘side’ 
              roads for Manaia Road, the ‘main’ road linking them with the outside world. 
              These adjustments led lower Rowan Road settlers 
McGuire, Gallagher and 
              King to feel that their interests were being neglected. In November 1887 
              they waited on the board. Gallagher stated that his roading thirds amounted 
              to £80 yet only £15 had been spent on the road. 
Felix McGuire claimed he 
              had spent £1400 to get his land all in grass but could not get a single head of 
              cattle to it. He offered to pay for the work in the meantime and wait for the 
              board to repay him. The board agreed to spend £20 to start stumping and 
              ditching from Eltham Road southward. In November 1888 King was back 
              to see the board, accompanied by former board member 
Walter Stoddart. 
              Stoddart pointed out that over a mile of felled timber had yet to be cleared 
              from their section of the road and claimed that there had been more than 
              enough money to do this. The chairman reminded him that he had been one 
              of the board members who had agreed to money being taken for Manaia 
              Road, and another board member pointed out that Manaia Road had proved 
              a very expensive road to make but that doing so had benefited all the 
              district's settlers.

39

            
This brief Rowan Road survey illustrates the intricacies of the board's 
              affairs as it responded to a stream of pleading letters and received a 
              succession of mud-spattered delegations trekking down from the bush with 
              their hard-luck stories. Palmer Road, for example, where in 1887 Captain
              


              Anderson had had such problems getting to his section, still in 1888 had 
              stumping and culverting in progress along much of its length, and even some 
              felling.

40 While juggling with incessant demands for improved north-south 
              access routes through the bush, the Board staggered under its inherited 
              excess of east-west arterial routes. Its failure to find funds to bridge the 
              Kaupokonui at 
Kaponga limited the benefits from years of heavy expenditure on Eltham Road. The bulk of the growing traffic from the bush was 
              thus forced onto the already burdened South Road, which deteriorated 
              under the pressure while also facing the decay of some of its older bridges. 
              The 
Hawera County Council accordingly took a poll in 1889 for a £2000 
              loan to renew bridges and remetal, but this was voted down,

41 partly 
              through a persistent bush ratepayer wariness of being taken advantage of 
              by the more affluent open-country settlers. This undercurrent in local 
              politics deserves our brief attention.

            
In discussing Waimate Plain bush road problems the 
Yeoman of 1 June 
              1883 remarked that bush settlers were poorly represented on the Road 
              Board because few of them had the time to go to Manaia to vote. 
              Fortunately for 
Kaponga its storekeeper, 
Henry Davy,* represented it on 
              the board from 1885 to 1887. On his resignation through pressure of work 
              involved, the returning officer arranged a 
Kaponga polling place for local 
              convenience. The board's next meeting ruled this out of order, insisting that 
              Manaia be the sole polling place.

42 In the 
Star of 8 May 1888 J.W. Kenah, a 
              public-spirited and knowledgeable Mangatoki bush settler, pointed out that 
              board meetings were advertised only in the 
Star's daily issues, while many 
              bush settlers took the weekly edition. With the majority of the board's 
              members living on the plains he saw nothing to prevent them grabbing the 
              bush rates to spend in the open.
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The Nascent Township

            
It should now be clear why 
Kaponga township was so long in taking off 
              and why things began to move towards the end of the decade. The 
Kaponga 
              village settlement went on sale in September 1882 as 40 township sections 
              of a quarter acre up to one acre and nearly 40 small-farm allotments of 
              just over 3 acres up to 50 acres. Even long-term speculators saw little that 
              attracted them at this stage, so this unfelled site, difficult of access from all 
              directions, and with only a thin scatter of settlers in its vicinity, languished 
              for some years. Then it quietly began to see more life. Early on 
Henry Davy 
              started storekeeping ‘in a very small way’

43 on the northern edge of the 
              township site, and gradually his business grew to provide something of a 
              local centre. In June 1887 Davy became the township's first postmaster, with 
              mails delivered to his store twice weekly

44. In the September 1887 general 
              election, after both candidates had considered it worthwhile holding 
              meetings in 
Kaponga,

45 Davy's store was a polling place to save '30 to 40 
              electors' a ‘journey through the mud’ to Manaia,

46 and 32 actually voted
              


              there.

47 In 1887 things began moving with the township's roads, with the 
              Road Board letting the felling of the ‘village roads leading towards the 
              Kaupokonui stream’ in May.

48 In October, on receiving advice that the 
              government proposed to include the felling of 
Kaponga village in the 
              estimates, the Land Board withdrew it from sale.

49 In November the Road 
              Board agreed that the road through the town should be cleared 20 feet 
              instead of 12.

50 Presumably this was Eltham Road, whose stumping and 
              clearing must by now have been approaching the township site from the 
              east.

            
By 1888, then, the growing population west, east and north of 
Kaponga 
              would have been flowing more easily over improving road lines to the 
              village site on recurrent journeys down Manaia Road to Manaia and the 
              South Road. Two prerequisites for a township take-off were still lacking— 
              the felling of the site and the bridging of the Kaupokonui. With an 
              impecunious government dragging its feet on a vote for clearing the site, the 
              ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers prodded it with a unanimously signed petition on the 
              matter in mid-1888.

51 The government was pushing land settlement as an 
              answer to both its budget and employment problems, so the settlers had a 
              strong case. With news of new bush settlers at every Land Board meeting, 
              the 
Hawera County Council presented the government with a proposal for 
              making Eltham Road passable by wheeled traffic throughout its length. The 
              County promised to do the road formation if the government would bridge 
              the streams.

52 Meanwhile, with a large number of houses going up throughout the ‘Kaupokonui’,

53 the search for timber moved inland and in October sawmiller Robert Palmer gained Road Board permission to lay a bush
              tramline across Neill Road.

54 A visit in November by the county council 
              chairman to the local member, Prime Minister Harry Atkinson, about help 
              with Eltham Road, brought the Minister of Lands to the district with a 
              promise of a bridge over the Kaupokonui before the summer was out.

55 The 
              government kept its word with a cart bridge of 71ft 6in (main span 55ft) on 
              concrete piers. It also began clearing the township site, with the felling of 
              18 acres at the junction of Manaia and Eltham roads.

56 Others, too, were 
              moving to put the place on the map, with the 
Methodists opening 
Kaponga's 
              first church building in May 1889.

57 
Kaponga was becoming a little more 
              than a name scrawled in charcoal upon a pukatea tree.
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The Mountain

            
The 
Kaponga district owes the very nature of its existence to the peak that 
              dominates its skyline. Its weather and climate, its soils and topography, the 
              location and shapes of the landscapes its settlers crafted, are all only 
              adequately explained when the mountain is included in the picture. We leave 
              the larger story of 
Egmont's geological and human history to others, but we must say something of its place in the psyche of the 
Kaponga community 
              and of their involvement in its affairs.

            


            

              
Great things are done when men and mountains meet;


              
This is not done by jostling in the street.
            

            
So wrote 
William Blake, and the settlers' involvement with Mt 
Egmont 
              owed something to the spirit of the Romantic movement, which had turned 
              to wild landscapes to gain insight into the beauty, terror and mystery of the 
              universe. Their interest was also shaped by a probing curiosity encouraged 
              by the rising realm of science, and by a widening world of sport in which 
              mountaineering was one option. When for a time they made their settlement 
              the most convenient doorway to what was then the 
North Island's one 
              really accessible major peak, they found their enthusiasms to be widely 
              shared.

            
In their first year or two the settlers had too many other pressing 
              concerns to give much attention to Mt 
Egmont. Though the surveyors knew 
              differently, there seems to have been a common belief that a ‘treacherous 
              swamp of large dimensions and sullen aspect’ lay between them and the 
              mountain.

58 The lead in unravelling the mysteries of 
Egmont's southern 
              slopes was taken by 
Thomas Dawson, who came to Manaia in 1881 as its 
              first postmaster, bringing valuable experience of the mountain from his time 
              as telegraphist at Okato, 1873–78. Using E.J. Ellerm's farmhouse, about a 
              mile up Manaia Road from the 
Kaponga township site, as a base, he began 
              probing the southern slopes over weekends and holidays. On a Sunday in 
              March 1883 he first heard the falls that bear his name. On his way back he 
              arranged for three 
Kaponga settlers, F.W. Wilkie* and E.J. Ellerm and his 
              brother, to join the expedition that located the falls the following Easter 
              Monday.

            
The next summer with E.J. Ellerm's help he set up a base camp near the 
              falls. Over 13 and 14 April 1886 he led the first, rather foolhardy, ascent to 
              the summit from the south. The 
Star of 17 April 1886 carried a detailed 
              account by the Rev 
William Grant, a young Presbyterian minister, who was 
              one of the party of three who made the climb. Dawson had invited Grant 
              to join a party leaving Manaia on the afternoon of Monday, 12 April, 
              Dawson himself having gone up several days earlier to make a track through 
              the bush, set up a camp, and do some exploring. Arriving in Manaia around 
              midday, Grant found that the rest of the party had changed their minds. He 
              therefore went up to the mountain alone, finding out as he passed through 
              
Kaponga that Dawson had taken a party up to the lower crater (later named 
              Fantham's Peak) that day, and being warned that he could not possibly reach 
              the camp before dark. After finding the start of the track that Dawson had 
              made he decided to turn back and spent the night at 
F.W. Wilkie's whare. 
              Wilkie and Grant set out early next morning and reached Dawson's camp 
              at 8.30am. Equipped with a rope, a tomahawk for cutting steps in the ice, a 
              field glass and a knapsack of sticks to boil the billy at the summit, the three 
              began their ascent at 9.30. Grant's account has vivid pen pictures of the 
              mountain scenery and of the great panoramas of countryside which they
              


              saw through shifting clouds as they climbed. Dawson had expected to reach 
              the summit by early afternoon, but much of the climb was through snow 
              and ice and they did not get there till 4.30pm. They waited for the moon, 
              by whose light they made a cold and hazardous descent. Grant wrote:

            
Wilkie, having the rope tied to his arm, went first, I followed, and Dawson 
              came last. I was put in the centre as being liable to slip, not having my stick 
              shod. Then, feeling our way very cautiously at first, we began the descent. 
              Once, in getting over a ridge, my stick missed its hold, and away I swung, 
              but providentially the rope was there to pull me up, and I soon got righted 
              again. Shortly afterwards, and just as I had got my heel firmly jammed into 
              an ice step and was leaning back, Dawson cried out, ‘I have lost my footing!’ 
              and came down gently upon my shoulders, and soon recovered himself again. 
              These little episodes made us even more careful than we had been, but we did 
              not breathe freely until we reached the lower crater.

            
Once below the bush-line they became half lost in the darkness. 
              Eventually at 1.30am. Grant and Wilkie gave up hope of reaching the camp 
              before morning, and wet, weary and cold, being lightly clad, they lit a fire 
              and waited for dawn. But Dawson kept going, possibly because he was due 
              at his Manaia post and telegraph duties that morning, and, mistaking the 
              Kapuni for the Kaupokonui, he bypassed the camp. In due course the other 
              two found the track Dawson had made earlier, reached the camp, and were 
              thrown into some anxiety on finding Dawson had not been there. They 
              breakfasted and eventually pushed on. Grant was much relieved when 
              Dawson got into Manaia shortly after he himself did.

            
Visits to Dawson Falls and climbs of the slopes above it now became 
              very much the fashion. In March 1887 Dawson and 
F.W. Wilkie led a party 
              of about 14 on an ascent. On this trip the lower crater was named Fantham's 
              Peak after a member of the party, Fanny Fantham, who was the first woman 
              to climb to it. Five men of this party went to the summit.

59 By April 1887 
              Dawson, with the help of one or two youths, had cleared a good walking 
              track from the top of Manaia Road to the falls. Manaia's ‘Our Own’ wrote 
              on 28 April that since this was done ‘fully two hundred people from 
              
Wanganui to Opunake have visited the falls, about one-fourth of the 
              number reached the summit by this route, whilst as many more made the 
              lower crater’. Others were clearly catching Dawson's enthusiasm. In May 
              1887 the Road Board applied for a government grant ‘to open up Dawson's 
              track to Mount 
Egmont’. In June moves began for a subscription list and 
              voluntary labour to fell a few acres of bush at the falls and sow grass for a 
              horse paddock. Their success is indicated by an August 1888 Road Board 
              resolution to sow the six acres felled at Dawson Falls. For the rest of our 
              period 
Kaponga was very much ‘put on the map’ by the steady flow of New 
              Zealand and overseas visitors who made their way up Manaia Road to the 
              mountain. But Dawson's constant treks up and down the road came to an 
              end in November 1888 when his superiors decided to transfer him because
              


              the mountain was too much of a rival to his work. Three months later he 
              and a young Manaia man who had helped cut the 
Egmont track were 
              drowned in a boating accident on the 
Wanganui River.
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The Wild

            
Uncleared virgin bush dominated the 
Kaponga landscape throughout 
              the decade. Its place in the settlers' lives and minds is evident in a 
Star 
              (22/4/86) report on an ill-considered expedition that left Manaia for the 
              mountain on Friday, 16 April 1886. Two men were about to set out for 
              Dawson Falls and Fantham's Peak when two women decided to join them 
              at the last moment, delaying the start by two hours. This led to their being 
              caught by darkness before reaching the falls and becoming lost. A tent was 
              pitched for the women and the men bivouacked by a large fire. On the 
              Saturday morning they made an early start and successfully reached 
              Fantham's Peak. They then decided to do some exploring by following the 
              Kaupokonui until it struck Opunake Road. Throughout the day they 
              constantly heard wild cattle in the bush and saw ‘thousands’ of pigeons. 
              Fatigued by a 14-hour day of hard travelling they at last reached the pack 
              track and pitched their tent. They had run out of food but were able to shoot 
              a good supply of pigeons, which they roasted on spits and washed down 
              with tea brewed by the cupful in a small jam tin. They made a lazy start on 
              the Sunday, one of the party eventually setting off to fetch their horses from 
              Manaia Road. When he reached them about 3pm he discovered that every 
              man in 
Kaponga had been out since 8am searching for his party. He recalled 
              these search parties by firing his gun for 20 minutes. All then proceeded to 
              
Kaponga, where ‘refreshments were forthcoming at nearly every house’. 
              Meanwhile further search parties were already being organised in Manaia.

            
From this episode we learn several things about the ‘Kaupokonui’ wild: 
              its richness in game, especially wild cattle and pigeons; a settler fascination 
              with exploring it; and an awareness of the possibilities of accidents and of 
              getting lost, countered by mutual watchfulness and a facility for rapidly 
              assembling search parties. Hunting, exploring and occasional short searches 
              must have continually taken the settlers into the bush, with only the 
              occasional episode reaching the level of ‘news’. The ‘Kaupokonui’ bush did 
              not, in fact, prove to be particularly hazardous. The clear indications of 
              direction provided by the local topography, the wide scatter of clearings, 
              and the cross-hatch of road lines, all meant that it was not easy to get lost, 
              that one's movements were fairly well monitored, and that help was fairly 
              quickly at hand in an emergency.

            
We now turn to the wild on the individual settler's holding. Here a 
              major issue of the 1880s was backpegging. Most of the Kaupokonui bush 
              sections initially had boundary pegs only on their road frontages. When 
              Prime Minister Sir Frederick Whitaker visited 
Hawera in January 1883 this 
              was one settler concern put to him. He was told of one man who had
              


              mistakenly felled 17 acres of his neighbour's bush, for which this neighbour 
              refused to pay. Whitaker was surprised to learn that the surveyors had not 
              cut sectional lines. Harry Atkinson, who was accompanying him, explained 
              that it had been found useless to cut lines in bush land that was selling 
              slowly, as they became overgrown before the land was occupied. Whitaker 
              promised to look into the matter.

60 He probably found that the surveyors 
              were pushing on with this work as fast as their resources would allow, which 
              was just as well as DP settlers were under an obligation to make progress 
              with felling and fencing, and there were reportedly many instances of felling 
              and grassing across unmarked boundaries.

61

            
For a time the Survey Department apparently sent a surveyor and 
              chainman and expected the two settlers involved to supply the labour to cut 
              the lines, but this didn't work out very well because it meant in practice that

            
when the two settlers immediately interested had milked their cows, chopped 
              their wood, fed the pigs and calves, and done a few more odd jobs, they 
              would go off to the line-cutting, and stay there until it was time for them to 
              knock off and repeat those useful, but withal prosaic operations in the 
              evening. As a natural consequence, the time of the surveyor and his assistant 
              was terribly frittered away …

62

            
Finding that it could do the whole job more smoothly and almost as 
              cheaply without this kind of assistance, the department dispensed with it. 
              Settlers probably often continued to help, appreciating the company of the 
              surveyors and being keen to see where their boundaries lay. In September 
              1883 an accident provided a news item on one such instance. Surveyor 
              
Alfred Atkinson and chainman 
Thomas Harrison were backpegging in a 
              block between the Duthie and Palmer roads. Some of the men were chopping a large matai tree and as it fell the party took shelter under another
              large tree nearby. Unfortunately a dead limb was dislodged from this latter 
              tree and in falling it broke chainman Harrison's leg and stunned and bruised 
              settler 
Henry Downey. Harrison was carried by stretcher to Okaiawa and 
              driven from there to a doctor in 
Hawera, arriving after midnight.

63 The 
              accident may have happened deep in the bush as three months earlier 
              Downey had had only 18 acres of his 320-acre block felled.

64 Backpegging 
              did not solve all boundary problems. The surveyors' matai pegs were often 
              destroyed in the bush burns, others were knocked out by fencers putting in 
              strainer posts and driven in again ‘somewhere thereabouts’. Such 
              happenings were said to cause ‘no end of disputes’ in bush districts.

65
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The Maori Dimension

            
From this survey of the context it should now be fairly clear why the 
              
Kaponga District settlers had so little consciousness of a Maori dimension 
              to their lives. They did not displace Maori, for the back reaches of the bush 
              had not been used as a Maori resource for some decades. New farm animals
              


              and crops had provided ample food nearer to home for a population 
              diminished by the coming of the Pakeha muskets and diseases.

            
Most newcomers to 
Kaponga, whether from the Old World or 
              elsewhere in the colony, brought no knowledge of Maori. Few gained more 
              than a superficial understanding from their life in the district. As we have 
              seen, they had plenty of problems of their own, and will have left Maori 
              concerns to those affected by them, such as their neighbours to the south 
              on the Continuous Reserve. When Maori protests did reach them they were 
              expressed in the forms of an alien culture and so had little chance of 
              penetrating the strong defences of their settler prejudices. But one or two 
              of the district's settlers had grown up among Maori, with ample 
              opportunities for understanding. One such was 
W.K. Howitt,* who comes 
              into our story in Part 3 as a storekeeper and gifted ‘Our Own’ on the 
              western fringe of our district. Late in life he wrote of his early years at 
              Okato:

            
My youth was spent in a Maori district and some of the finest Maori 
              rangatiras were our nearest neighbours; their sons and daughters sat at the 
              same school desks as we sat and ran some of us hard for the highest positions 
              in the class. There was a big family of us and we got steeped in Maori lore 
              and Maori codes of honour…. Our mother, who was of Highland descent, 
              loved the native people. She fraternised with them a good deal because of 
              their likeness to her own race and clan, and when our eldest sister was born 
              (the first white child born in that locality) the Maoris … wanted to adopt her 
              into their tribe. This same sister … had as her greatest friends some of the 
              finest Maori men and women in Taranaki.

66

            
In his childhood and youth Howitt had met both Te Whiti and 
              
Titokowaru. He claims to have known 
Titokowaru ‘very well’, and as a boy 
              been ‘very familiar with Te Whiti's appearance’. He attended Te Whiti's 
              funeral in 1907.

67 Surely here was someone who would have raised his 
              neighbours' awareness of the injustices that Taranaki Maori had suffered? 
              Not so, if (as they probably do) the attitudes expressed in his two books on 
              pioneer life reflect his lifelong outlook.

            
Howitt's books are thoroughly one-sided in their justification of all that 
              the settlers had done. There is reference to the ‘devastation caused by hostile 
              Maori’

68 but complete silence on the devastations inflicted by the pakeha. 
              We are told of ‘how gallantly the Maoris fought for what they thought were 
              their rights'

69 but given no hint that they may indeed have had some right 
              on their side. Yet Te Whiti had obviously deeply influenced Howitt. He 
              wrote:

            
Te Whiti was not a blood-thirsty old rebel like many who lived within the 
              bounds of his pa…. We were drawn to him in a way that few Maoris could 
              influence us, and there is always something good in those who attract young 
              people…. He used to make men do work which women were accustomed
              


              to do, and in this, as far as the Maoris were concerned, he was a long way 
              ahead of his time. If there really were prophets among the Maoris, Te Whiti 
              was one. He was a mystic and he was a student…

70

            
But 
John Bryce's march on Parihaka is repeatedly and fulsomely 
              justified. He is presented as a gallant leader who ‘taught a misguided Maori 
              prophet the lesson he had to learn’. The march ‘clipped the wings of the 
              disturbers and dispersed them’.

71 Howitt managed to believe that Te Whiti 
              turned from pacifism to fighting speeches, threatening war, leaving the 
              government no option but to take him on. He also believed that when Fox 
              and Bell ‘came to our district to allocate a fair proportion of land to the 
              Natives … they did their work well, their one object seeming to be to do 
              full justice to the requirements of the Natives’.

72

            
We have quoted Howitt at length to show how, even with his long, close 
              and friendly association with Maori and better than average education,

73 he 
              was quite unable to rise above settler self-interest and racist prejudice. Most 
              settlers lacked Howitt's advantages; to them Maori matters would have been 
              of only marginal interest. Coming mainly from Old World backgrounds 
              where the economy and public affairs were managed by their ‘betters’, they 
              were grappling with creating a new democratic community based on a rural 
              economy meshed into international markets. From the 1880s on the yeoman 
              settler was unquestionably the main protagonist in south Taranaki, 
              dominating it by his numbers and reshaping its landscape in accordance with 
              his dreams. Much of his attention was directed abroad, searching for useful 
              agricultural innovations, scanning distant markets, monitoring rival 
              producers. In their home community 
Kaponga settlers gave infinitely more 
              thought to handling differences between English, Scottish, Irish and Swiss 
              traditions than to understanding what to them was the archaic, fading world 
              of the Maori. All this is understandable and to a large extent forgivable in 
              the context of the times. But that they misunderstood and largely ignored 
              the potent challenge that Te Whiti set ringing down the years does not 
              excuse later generations from hearing its claims and examining their merits.
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2 The Making of Livings, the Quality of Life, the 1880s

          

            
An Axeman's World

            
The ‘Kaupokonui’ district of the 1880s was an axeman's world. Axemen 
              went in with the surveyors to cut survey lines and fell access roadways. 
              Buyers of these bush sections were mainly either reasonably competent 
              axemen or men with the money to hire a felling gang. Most 
Kaponga settlers 
              chose the bush as folk of limited means taking their easiest route to farm 
              ownership. Many were DP settlers committed to payments on their section, 
              others bought for cash but had little money left for development. Their axes 
              provided these folk with much of the finance they needed. They felled and 
              cleared roadlines on government and Road Board contracts. They felled for 
              more affluent neighbours. They felled for the sawmillers. They used their 
              axes to produce firewood, posts, slabs, beams and poles for their own use 
              and for sale. To succeed as settlers they needed many skills but in the 1880s 
              none were more basic than those of the axeman. Fortunately for 
Kaponga's 
              progress, a wealth of bushman talent came in with its pioneers. Some of it 
              dated back to the Hutt Valley of the 1840s and '50s (e.g. the Ellerms, 
              Hollards, Wilkies and Fretheys), some to the gold-diggers' 1860s assault on 
              the heavily wooded 
West Coast gold-fields (e.g. Crowley, D. Fitzgerald), 
              some to the 1870s drive to open the southern 
North Island's ‘Great Bush’ 
              (e.g. Robert Gibson, William Swadling).

            
Bushman skills and techniques had improved over the years, especially 
              from the late 1870s when contract felling became common. A good axeman 
              knew how to choose and care for an axe and a crosscut saw. In his skilled 
              felling the trees lay evenly over the land, with no bare patches for the Scotch 
              thistles' succulent growth to hamper the spread of the burn. He knew 
              exactly where a tree would fall, and sped up his work with good ‘drives’— 
              rows of partly cut trees brought down by cutting right through the last in 
              the row. Where a trunk was large or badly twisted near the base he became 
              adept at cutting further up, working from a stage of pieces of wood and 
              pongas. In the later 1880s the stage gave way to the jigger-board, fixed into 
              a notch in the trunk.

1

            
Because Taranaki's climate and abundance of mahoe encouraged second 
              growth that inhibited the burn, felling was commonly delayed till about
              


              July. Clearing the ‘Kaupokonui’ provided years of work for the otherwise 
              slack months of winter and early spring. The process began with 
              underscrubbing, the cutting of all undergrowth and creepers with bill-hooks 
              and light axes, work with which women and children often helped. Properly 
              done, this formed the tinder for the burn; badly done, small growth and 
              creepers flourished in the fallen timber, resisting rather than helping the 
              burn. Next the standing bush was felled and left to dry. Opinions differed 
              over the felling of all the heavy timber. Some thought it false economy to 
              leave anything standing, others left the larger trees, especially the scatter of 
              huge hard-wooded ratas. Felled they often became waterlogged and hard 
              to dispose of, whereas standing they dried out so that they burned easily. 
              The season's felling stopped in time to allow the last cutting to dry before 
              the burn. Then, on a suitable day in late summer or early autumn came the 
              burn.

2 Cocksfoot and clover seed were broadcast sown in the ashes among 
              the stumps and logs. Over the following years ‘stumping’ and ‘logging-up’ 
              steadily cleared the remaining debris.

            
Axeman's work was dominant in the early years, but as clearings grew 
              and multiplied it gave way to an increasingly varied range of work. Those 
              who wished to continue as axemen had to follow the migrating sawmills or 
              move to new bush frontiers. We will proceed by examining in turn how 
              labouring on wages and contracts, producing for subsistence, and producing 
              for the market, contributed to the making of livings. Finally we will look at 
              what quality of life these livings provided during the 1880s.

          

          

            
Working on Wages and Contracts

            
In the early years of the decade work was plentiful and wages good, but the 
              later years saw harder times. From 1881 to the summer of 1884–85 there 
              was strong labour demand in south Taranaki, with a diversity of work at 
              good wages. The government put money into the roads and pushed the 
              railway through the difficult country between 
Hawera and Patea, 
              completing it early in 1885. Government surveys continued in our district 
              and also to open up new country east of the railway. The more affluent 
              open-country settlers also had development programmes, creating a strong 
              demand for fencers, builders, ploughmen and general labourers. Their 
              rapidly multiplying flocks of sheep and acres of grain added a strong 
              summer demand for shearers and harvesters. With work and wages 
              beginning to languish in many older established districts, south Taranaki 
              experienced a steady inflow of population. Some 
Kaponga District settlers 
              will have first come to the region in search of work and then been 
              encouraged by savings from good wages to go farming. DP land purchasers 
              and poorer cash buyers must have had a wide range of skills to offer on this 
              vibrant market and in turn taken useful experience back to their own 
              sections. In these half-hidden years it is not easy to glean the information 
              for a picture of how this complex interplay between labouring and settling
              


              worked out in terms of individual experience. One or two relevant diaries 
              or cycles of letters would be invaluable at this point. We will have to make 
              do with the available snippets of information, which are mainly on 
              bushfelling and roadmaking.

            
The 
Star of 28 September 1881 provides a salutary reminder of the 
              rougher side of this frontier life. It advocated a lock-up for Manaia because

            
… Bushmen who threaten to fight with axes, or go outside the hotel on 
              Saturday night, challenging all or any of the bystanders to fight, are not the 
              sort of rowdies which one policeman can safely conduct a mile or more to a 
              lock-up against their will. [The ‘mile or more’ was probably to the redoubt.]

            
These Saturday-night gatherings of bushmen may have included a 
              sprinkling from our district, perhaps one or two of the pioneer settlers on 
              Manaia and Palmer roads and workers from the district's first sawmill, just 
              getting under way on Charles Tait's* section on Manaia Road.

3 But the 
              rowdy element are more likely to have been itinerant workers felling roadlines for the government or cutting posts for settlers on the plains. Their
              number would have grown over the following winter with the first extensive 
              letting of felling contracts. The 
Star of 18 September 1882 drew attention 
              to its many felling advertisements and reported two-thirds of the settlers 
              with bush adjoining the plains letting contracts. The following month 
              
William Ellerm sought fellers for his section a little north of the 
Kaponga 
              township site.

4 He may not have found men to make this long trek into the 
              bush for even the government was having difficulty getting workers. In his 
              1882–83 report Crown Lands Ranger Robinson explained that roadworks 
              had lagged partly because of the very wet summer but also because most 
              available labour had been absorbed by the very large areas of bush being 
              felled in south Taranaki. He had found most quotes for work put to tender 
              ‘unreasonable’.

5 After listing the work accomplished during the year he 
              continued:

            
Nearly the whole of the above works have been done under the system of 
              small contracts, the average value of the contracts being about £90, the work, 
              in the majority of cases, being done by deferred-payment settlers, who were 
              thus afforded an opportunity of earning money wherewith to pay for their 
              lands.

6

            
Settlers complained that during the 1882 season bushfelling pricés had 
              risen from 28s to 40s or 50s per acre.

7 Not surprisingly plains farmers had 
              to offer good wages for their wheat and oats harvesting in January 1883 and 
              even so one or two complained that men were hard to get.

8

            
Over the 1883–84 and 1884–85 seasons these patterns continued but 
              with a rising tempo and with bushfelling, roadworks and timber milling 
              moving ever deeper into the bush. The transient bushfelling gangs that were 
              a feature of 
Kaponga District life throughout the 1880s have left only 
              minimal traces in the records but an interesting glimpse is provided by a
              


              letter from ‘Bush Faller’ in the 
Star of 1 March 1883. He was from near 
              Opunake but his problem cannot have been uncommon. He wrote: ‘Some 
              men like myself who have to camp on road lines with our wives and families 
              would be only too pleased to have a chance of leasing, even at a pretty high 
              rent, small blocks [of land].’ Obviously these encampments were not 
              necessarily purely male preserves and not all were satisfied with a vagrant 
              roadway setting when taking contracts in a district. The typical bush settler 
              had rather different problems. He preferred to work from home and keep 
              an eye on his own section while gaining a share of the moneys flowing out 
              to manual labour, and he wanted the public spending on roads to bring good 
              access to his own front gate. All these ends were met if he got a good 
              contract on the roads near his place. Thus in September 1884 Henry Davy 
              tendered £3 an acre to the Road Board for felling bush near his place. The 
              board countered with £2 an acre.

9 For some settlers access was as important 
              as money. In July 1883 
William Swadling waited on the Road Board, 
              offering to fell a mile of Palmer Road, clear and stump it 16 feet wide, at 
              17s per chain, and to wait up to 14 months for payment if no funds were in 
              hand. The offer was taken up.

10 The government also continued spending 
              in the district, again mainly on small contracts to nearby settlers.

11

            
These good times for labour ended in the winter of 1885, with 
              ‘Kaupokonui's’ ‘Our Own’ reporting ‘a bad look out for the “professional” 
              axeman. Everything down bar ratas is quoted at £1 10s’.

12 The following July 
              he commented that ‘when ali timber except rata is chopped for 30s per acre 
              … the storekeeper and butcher often suffer’.

13 With prices still dropping, 
              by November 1886 some small settlers felling for more affluent neighbours 
              were bringing in no more than 4s a day, with rates as low as 22s an acre being 
              reported.

14 The winters of 1887 and 1888 saw ‘peppercorn wages’ with prices 
              as low as 20s.

15 The surge of new settlement turned the tide in the spring of 
              1888; by December south Taranaki grain farmers and public bodies were 
              complaining at being unable to get work done at satisfactory rates.

16 The 
              hard years saw landless men suffer most, working long hours on contracts 
              that scarcely bought them their food. But most DP settlers had somehow 
              met their land payments. They benefited from being comfortably housed 
              and eating well from their clearings and the wild.

          

          

            
Working for Subsistence

            
‘However hard the almighty dollar is to get possession of, a man can't starve 
              if he has his piece of land, pigs and garden,’ remarked the Stratford & 
              Ngaere ‘Our Own’ on 15 October 1887. For most ‘Kaupokonui’ pioneers 
              such an outlook was not merely an option but a necessity. The purchase and 
              development of their sections demanded every penny they could get, and 
              in any case there was no market at hand to supply the daily necessities of 
              life. Moreover a subsistence approach made good sense for other reasons. 
              In the short term there was a small local outlet for produce from the
              


              clearings, as surveyors, newly arrived settlers, bushfellers and sawmill 
              workers needed the very goods subsistence farming provided. For the 
              longer term it was as yet unclear which products best suited the local 
              conditions and would find viable markets. To understand these settlers we 
              must see that to them farming options still seemed wide open. We know that 
              dairying was soon to become dominant, but as late as 1883 Patea, 
Hawera 
              and 
Normanby storekeepers were complaining of having to import most 
              of their butter. I have described elsewhere the tussle in 1880s South Taranaki 
              between differing views on farming options, suggesting that the futures 
              most settlers had in mind can be covered by the three models I label 
              ‘Lincolnshire’, ‘Kent’ and ‘West Country’.

17 Until a regional consensus 
              emerged it was sensible to test a wide range of products, in their various 
              breeds and varieties, against the local climate, soils and pests, while keeping 
              one's ears open for long-term market prospects. This most of ‘Kaupokonui’ 
              pioneers seem to have done, making a virtue out of the subsistence farming 
              necessity.

            
Settlers were encouraged in this course by their most widely read guide 
              on such matters, the 
Star. Over the early and mid-1880s it supported mixed 
              farming and criticised a local bias towards sheep and grain. Its leader of 
              7 February 1884 upheld as a model a local Kentish immigrant who 
              maintained a full range of mixed farming whatever the state of the market. 
              Each season he planted his wheat, oats and potatoes, maintained his sheep, 
              cattle and pigs, and pressed on with his dairy and orchard. His results 
              proved the wisdom of refusing to guess the short-term markets. This 
Star 
              editorial particularly recommended dairying, pig keeping and fruit growing, 
              and gave its blessing to the recently founded 
Normanby Horticultural 
              Society, whose annual show was rapidly to become a regional event, giving 
              steady encouragement to diversified farming.

            
With grass being of necessity a clearing's first crop, a house cow was 
              commonly its first livestock. The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own's’ letter of 20 
              May 1886 reported: ‘The dairying industry is in a flourishing condition in 
              this district and there are few families who do not make a considerable 
              quantity of butter weekly.’ Butter-making led inevitably to pig keeping to 
              provide an outlet for the skim milk. Competently managed, dairy and 
              piggery would within a year or two provide a year-round supply of milk, 
              butter and meat. In the late autumn of 1889 life in the 
Kaponga district must 
              have been similar to that of nearby Ngaere, from where a correspondent wrote:

            
… nights are cold, mornings colder; cows are milked and firewood chopped 
              by lantern light…. pigs are being killed by hundreds. Ngaire will soon rival 
              
Chicago for bacon. Every settler's house is decorated with flitches of streaky 
              bacon and juicy hams, and every settler's child is fed on the same, which no 
              doubt accounts for their healthy appearance.

18

            
Cropping on the clearings seems to have begun with gardening as soon
              


              as a piece of ground could be fenced away from livestock. ‘Our Own's’ letter 
              of 29 May 1884 from ‘Kaupokonui’ reported some extraordinary crops of 
              potatoes, though it was impossible to estimate the weight per acre as ‘most 
              of the crops have been stuck in in odd bits and corners between logs and 
              stumps’. He had seen one root with a 14lb crop, and also a 52lb pumpkin. 
              Carrots also did particularly well. In 1889 ‘Agricola’, a visiting 
Auckland 
              agriculturist, expressed surprise at the quantities grown. ‘With scarcely an 
              exception every homestead seemed to have the inevitable crop of carrots,’ 
              he reported, ‘the beds being large or comparatively small according to the 
              requirements of the family.’

19 He found these roots served up in a wonderful 
              variety of ways. At one house he was entertained with a ‘lovely’ carrot 
              pudding. Carrots were also being fed to pigs and other stock. The depredations of birds, especially sparrows, discouraged grain in the bush 
              subsistence economy. Beans became popular because ‘they are hardy, 
              quickly sown, easily kept clean, sparrows don't take them, and they are 
              good food for either pigs or fowls’.

20

            
On 28 July 1883 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ reported that most settlers 
              were planting fruit trees. It would of course be some years before these came 
              into bearing, but on 19 February 1886 he reported almost every settler 
              harvesting many quarts of gooseberries. On 18 September 1886 he noted 
              that ‘an enormous number of fruit trees have been planted throughout this 
              district this season’. Settlers must have gained much help from the press on 
              how to cope with their new environment. Thus in the 
Star of 11 June 1887 
              an Okaiawa resident wrote about his orchard, with news on three varieties 
              of apple, a good crop of blackcurrants and success in fruiting figs. He gave 
              a range of advice on adapting husbandry to local conditions. He noted that 
              ‘some loads of fruit trees are already being carted up towards the mountain 
              on the Ahipaipa road, so that planting has begun in the bush districts’.

            
Subsistence living of course also meant meeting housing and fuel needs 
              from one's own resources. For this, most of our settlers, with their axemen's 
              skills, were well equipped. Let us now summarise the likely subsistence 
              fortunes of a well-organised 
Kaponga settler family. They would have 
              moved from an initial primitive ponga whare to a growing slab cottage. 
              Dairy, piggery, hen house and barn would have been added as required. The 
              first year may have seen a surfeit of damper and of beef and pigeon from 
              the wild. Thereafter the variety of the diet would have grown steadily, the 
              additions (roughly in the order of appearance) being: milk, butter, potatoes 
              and other root vegetables, eggs; pork, bacon and ham; small fruits such as 
              gooseberries and blackcurrants; apples, pears, plums and other tree fruits. 
              Producing, processing and preserving these foodstuffs would have required 
              a range of skills, a basic minimum of equipment and supplies, and the 
              necessary initial livestock, seeds and plants. Families will have varied in their 
              ability to meet these requirements, and in the discipline needed to provide 
              the necessary input of labour and continuous care. Few bachelor settlers will 
              have been competent to cover more than a small part of the range.

          

          
          



            
Working for the Markets

            
Our account of wages, contract and subsistence work has sketched in the 
              context of work for the markets. In simple outline we can say that the 
              
Kaponga district had no real market problem in the first half of the 1880s, 
              the second half of the decade were years of market crisis, and by the early 
              1890s the solution was well in sight. The early 1880s had no problem 
              because the settlers were concentrating on the abundance of wages and 
              contract work. On the first small clearings families got subsistence activities 
              under way, with women and children releasing the men for the good 
              earnings off the section. Most bachelors probably shut up most of their 
              clearing for grass seed so that they too could go after these good earnings. 
              A steady flow of newcomers to this active settlement frontier meant an eager 
              market for grass seed and all types of food produce. But suddenly in the 
              mid-1880s this all changed. The generous government spending disappeared, 
              the settler inflow dwindled to a trickle, while the clearings had grown to a 
              size that made market decisions urgent. In the 
Star of 14 December 1885 
              ‘Kaupokonui's’ ‘Our Own’ gives us a feel of these times:

            
Of course your contributor G.W.'s articles on bee-keeping are eagerly read by 
              your own, but I fail to see the extraordinary benefits he points out. In this 
              colony—I might almost individualise it, this district—we suffer periodically 
              from crazes. Some new idea is wafted abroad whereby heaps of coin may be 
              amassed; frothy ideas are expressed and for a time we dream of untold 
              fortunes.

            
Besides the apiarist enthusiasm of ‘G.W.’ (Manaia's disputatious headmaster, George Wilks), ‘Our Own’ would also doubtless have had in mind
              the hop-growing movement initiated in 
Normanby in April 1883 and 
              fanning out from there to other bush districts until brought to a sudden halt 
              by gales in December 1884 and March 1885.

21

            
In brief, the district's dilemma was that all significant colonial markets 
              had been preempted by more convenient, well-established suppliers. A 
              long-term solution needed products that would return a profit after being 
              got out over primitive frontier roads and shipped around the world. Hence 
              the interest in high-value, easily transportable produce such as hops and 
              honey. Frozen beef was another possibility, but Taranaki's early frozen-meat 
              ventures quickly failed and there was little profit in sending stock to more 
              distant works. Cattle raising for the market (as distinct from dairying) was 
              of some significance in the ‘Kaupokonui’ throughout the 1880s, especially 
              for cash land buyers with large areas felled on contract. One such sent up 
              the first mob in October 1882: 22 cows with calves at foot, from the Manaia 
              saleyards.

22 DP settlers will have run some cattle, mainly by raising calves 
              from their dairy stock for sale as either beef cattle or milch cows. But 
              throughout the decade their leading market crop appears to have been grass 
              seed.

23 In the hard years of the later 1880s the main supplement to this was
              


              ‘Taranaki wool’, a fungus growing on the felled logs of their clearings, which 
              Taranaki Chinese immigrant Chew Chong was exporting to 
China. We must 
              look more closely at these two key products.

            
The grass seed crop was always a bit of a gamble. As it matured it was 
              at risk from fire, and over the short harvest season from rain. The market 
              was as hard to judge as any, depending partly on the amount of new country 
              being sown over the following season, partly on the overseas market.

24 
              There was also the choice of variety. A 
Star editorial of 18 October 1887 
              deprecated a shift over the preceding year or two from cocksfoct to rye 
              grass, pointing out that cocksfoot was the only New Zealand grass with an 
              export seed market. As prices drifted lower in the late 1880s many settlers 
              began holding much of their crop off the market.

25 Even at the lower prices 
              there were reasonable returns until the market collapsed in early 1889.

26 The 
              harvest's heavy labour demand drew on both Pakeha and Maori.

27 ‘Our 
              grass seed harvest lasts only a few weeks, but during that time all is hurry 
              and worry,’ noted the 
Farmer's 
Hawera ‘Our Own’ in March 1889. Some 
              families had the hands to harvest their crop but those that could not had 
              either to sell it or to have it reaped on terms. Standing crops sold for as much 
              as £1 and 5s an acre in 1887 and 1888, but dropped to around 13s in 1889. 
              For reaping on terms most harvesters settled for two bags out of every three 
              in 1887 and for three out of every four in 1889.

28 The grass was cut with 
              sickles, then spread on threshing sheets to be beaten out with flails and 
              supplejacks.

29 The ‘gamble’ inherent in the crop continued through the 
              various decisions the harvesters had to make, as ‘Kaupokonui's’ ‘Our Own’ 
              explained on 19 February 1886:

            
At a time when grass harvesting was in full swing, rain came, doing a deal of 
              damage to the crops which were cut, and driving the greater part of the seed 
              out of the standing stalk. Cocksfoot does not seem to have been as severely 
              affected as rape and Italian rye. The latter is a most fickle grass to harvest, as 
              there is no ‘turn of the tide’. Unless reaped on the green side, a lot is lost 
              through shaking. A great mistake was made by harvesters this season in 
              getting too far ahead with cutting and depending on the weather keeping fine 
              to finish threshing. Many believe now in threshing two days after the cutting.

            
Fungus had been a significant commodity for Taranaki bush settlers 
              since the early 1870s but until the mid-1880s ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers mainly 
              lett it to the Maori, including parties that came camping from Parihaka.

30 
              With the onset of hard times coinciding with a fungus price rise the settlers 
              turned to it eagerly.

31 The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own's’ letter of 31 July 1886 
              told of fungus picking ‘becoming an established industry’, encouraged by 
              the fact that much of the bush had been felled the right length of time for a 
              prolific yield. Picking continued widely for some years, causing friction 
              with Maori gatherers.

32 At first settlers gathered their fungus in summer and 
              cried in the sun. By 1887 they were gathering throughout the year and
              


              showing some ingenuity in the wood-fired devices they constructed for 
              drying.

33 In the autumn of 1889 the 

Auckland Weekly News's ‘Agricola’ 
              found that experts could make better money fungus gathering than at any 
              labouring jobs.

34
              There were also markets for the wood of the forest. Open-country 
              demand for fencing timber reached steadily deeper into the bush, providing 
              work for some bush settlers. Much more work was provided by the 
              sawmills, several of which operated in the 
Kaponga district in the 1880s. 
              Information on them is limited, and sometimes confusing, partly through 
              changes of location and ownership. Important in the 
Kaponga story of the 
              1880s and 1890s was Robert Palmer,* an experienced sawmiller who in 1883 
              came to take over the pioneer Manaia mill as manager and senior partner in 
              R. Palmer and Co.

35 Beginning on Charles Tait's Manaia Road section, a 
              little above Skeet Road, this mill worked its way up Manaia Road, reaching 
              the outskirts of 
Kaponga township towards the end of the decade. There 
              must have been various arrangements with settlers for mill and tramlines 
              sites, the purchase of logs, and contract and wage labour. In turn, the settlers 
              were important customers of the mill.

            
In the later 1880s 
Kaponga settlers must have felt that market industries 
              were marching towards them. They were, for example, caught up in the beekeeping movement but their enthusiasm was shortlived.

36 As they watched
              the various initiatives of the somewhat earlier settled areas to their south 
              and east they must have valued the opportunity to benefit from these 
              neighbours' experience. It spared them, for example, the false start of the 
              hop industry.

            
It will also have prepared them for the shift from a cottage-style dairy 
              industry to a factory one. Throughout the 1880s their home dairies found 
              customers mainly through the Manaia and Okaiawa storekeepers and their 
              own Henry Davy. The south Taranaki factory dairying movement began in 
              earnest in the autumn of 1883.

37 It made out a strong case against the home 
              dairies. The home product varied widely in quality, giving storekeepers the 
              onerous task of assessing and pricing each offering and customers a source 
              of constant dissatisfaction.

38 To compensate themselves storekeepers often 
              insisted on a barter approach. From other districts came reports that both 
              settlers and storekeepers were well pleased with the changes that factory 
              dairying brought to their relationship.

39 The home product's inconsistent 
              quality was also a major hindrance in the export markets. In north Taranaki, 
              and also from 1888 at Cardiff on the 
Kaponga district's own boundaries, a 
              butter-packing approach was tried to counter this problem. Settlers churned 
              their butter to the granular stage then brought it to a central depot for final 
              working and packing. But hopes that the rejection of bad offerings and 
              blending of the rest would ensure a consistent product were not fulfilled.

40 
              The 
Kaponga settlers could not ignore the cogency of the case for the new 
              dairy factories that took raw milk from the farmers, separated the cream 
              using the new centrifugal separators, and turned it into butter under
              


              hygienic conditions. Over 1885–87 they saw dairy factories established 
              nearby to their west, east and south at Opunake, 
Normanby, Manaia, 
              Otakeho and Eltham. Around 1888–89 their storekeeper, Henry Davy, 
              began his own little factory on a stream just east of the township site,

41 and 
              to their south on Skeet Road, just east of the Manaia Road intersection, 
              young William Hutchinson* had set up another on his father's farm in 
              1889.

42 The stage was set for the district's leap into factory dairying.

          

          

            
Home and Neighbourliness

            
Throughout the 1880s the quality of the district's life depended almost 
              entirely on the qualities of the individual homes on the scattered clearings. 
              No other institution had yet developed an effective presence. The characters 
              of these family and bachelor establishments depended in turn on the social 
              maturity and domestic skills of their individual members. Maintaining 
              morale and making life feel worthwhile amid the privations of the settlement's early weather-battered years must have been a real challenge. The 
              unfolding years provide good evidence that most settlers had the calibre to 
              succeed on their sections both as homemakers and as pioneer farmers, and 
              to move out over the following decades to create a rich and varied community life. There had, of course, been a tough self-selection process behind 
              their becoming frontier settlers, and for many an earlier such process in 
              deciding to emigrate. Both decisions would have involved assessing one's 
              adequacy in social skills, adaptability, toughness and ambition for the 
              demands of a challenging venture. Let us look first at how it worked out 
              for families and then for bachelors.

            
On the emerging farms the making of livings was itself an important 
              element in the quality of life. From an early age all family members shared 
              the widely varied work of the subsistence economy. The diversity of the 
              tasks, the breaking of them down into individual projects, the team aspect, 
              the home consumption of the produce—all helped make the work 
              interesting and meaningful, often not too far removed from play. In the 
              absence of schools, team sports, public entertainments, often even of near 
              neighbours, these families will have had to provide most of their own social 
              life and entertainment. They will have valued their time together at their 
              ample, if rather unsophisticated, meals. On winter evenings and in wet 
              weather parents and children will have sat together around a good log fire, 
              enjoying a yarn, a reading or a sing-song.

43 The traditional Sunday leisure 
              will also have been important. Many folk will have devoted part of it to 
              the weekly 

Egmont Star, from July 1887 available at 
Kaponga on the 
              afternoon of its Saturday publication.

44 Its 16 pages included news, stories, 
              serialised novels, farming and gardening columns, a children's column and 
              a sermon. Some will have regularly used Sunday to visit neighbours. Such 
              neighbourly sharing of home life, and the putting of personal and home 
              resources at the disposal of neighbours in times of crisis, sickness,
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              childbirth, bereavement and celebration will have contributed greatly to the 
              general quality of life.

            
The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ had a deal to say about his district's 
              bachelors. His letter of 18 September 1886 commented on the ‘startling 
              number of bachelors throughout the Kaupokonui’ living in ‘lonely looking 
              little houses built by the roadside throughout the block, some with nice 
              gardens’. He told how they could become confused as to the day of the 
              week, reporting on 17 January 1885 how one missed a fine Saturday's work 
              at his grass seed because he thought it was Sunday, and on 6 June 1887 on 
              another setting off for church on a day that wasn't Sunday. He noted that 
              Sunday was generally ‘celebrated among the bachelors in the bush by 
              cooking or visiting’.

45 Few 
Kaponga District bachelors of the 1880s will have 
              lived within easy reach of church. ‘Our Own’ also noted periodic outbursts 
              of gold fever, which must have been predominantly a bachelor phenomenon. 
              On 13 June 1884 he wrote:

            
By many the old days of the 
West Coast rushes are not forgotten. The gold 
              fever rages as fiercely as ever. In many a lowly whare and by many a camp 
              fire, with flashing eye and burning cheek, the old digger may be heard 
              recounting his experiences, and fondly calling back to mind the times when 
              fortunes in a day were lost and won.

            
This serves to remind us that besides the settler bachelors there were 
              also the work gang bachelors, felling bush, building bridges, sawmilling &c.
              


              Sunday visiting must have seen mixing not only among but also between 
              the two groups. And the old diggers' yarns will have sent some of the more 
              footloose off to the rushes across the Tasman. Most of the bachelors will 
              have been less tied to home than the family men, getting away more easily 
              to labouring jobs and in search of recreation in Manaia, Okaiawa or further 
              afield. Probably both bachelors and families made up the cases reported by 
              ‘Our Own’ on 24 November 1886 ‘where neighbours are living within a 
              mile or two of each other and not acquainted’. Yet while some failed to find 
              time to get to know their neighbours others engaged in various recreations 
              and social occasions.

          

          

            
Bush Recreations

            
Despite their primitive facilities and limited leisure the ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers 
              were by the mid-1880s arranging a variety of social occasions, mainly simple 
              home parties and dances and the occasional picnic. In the 
Star of 11 August 
              1887 a correspondent supplying ‘Notes from the Bush’ reported how a 
              successful concert and dance held at the Te Roti school

            
… acted as a stimulus to more of the same sort, and nearly every week since 
              parties of the same sort are held at the houses of some of the settlers. An 
              evening is fixed upon and a few of the young ladies and their ‘mashers’—for 
              the bush is not without the latter commodity—assemble and to the strain of 
              the violin, handled by a local fiddler, they amuse themselves for a few hours.

46

            
This cycle of get-togethers around Te Roti was probably out of the 
              reach of our district's settlers, but some of them must have been among the 
              ‘large number’ present at the party given by pioneer Mangatoki settlers 
              James and 
Elizabeth Linn of Eltham Road in mid-November 1886 
              (probably near full moon, which was on the 12th).

47 Such occasions gave 
              way in the busy summer and autumn months to the occasional picnic. Thus 
              on 4 January 1886 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ reported a monster 
              Christmas Day picnic held at the mouth of the Inaha. On 8 November 1886 
              he had news of a picnic being organised in the bush and commented on the 
              matrimonial implications of such occasions. 
              Concerts, dances and picnics provided the main opportunities for bush 
              folk to mix socially with the opposite sex in the early years. But most men 
              in this predominantly male society would have spent most of their spare 
              time on masculine sports. While the rough bush clearings were as yet quite 
              unsuitable for team sports they did see a little activity. Of bush Sundays the 
              ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ wrote on 27 August 1885:

            
… it is not an unusual sight to see a number of young fellows congregated 
              from various sections engaged (not in singing psalms) but in a good soul-stirring tug of war, jumping and other athletic pastimes.

            
Hunting was a widespread sport and the bush provided ample rewards.
              


              Pigeons were plentiful in the early years and were regularly shot for the 
              larder. The colony's game laws were democratic, rather than, as in 
Britain, 
              in the interests of the privileged. A 
Star editorial of 10 May 1887 on ‘Game 
              and Game Laws' pointed out that it was ‘the occupier of any land or his 
              appointee, 
not the landlord’ who was declared the owner of all game on the 
              land, and that the sole purpose of the act's restrictions was that ‘certain birds 
              and animals both native and imported shall be protected during an annual 
              closed season, generally speaking during those months when the birds or 
              animals are breeding’. When this restricted season ended each autumn, 
              outside sportsmen joined those from the bush, hunting particularly for 
              pheasants and native pigeons.

48 From time to time there were expeditions 
              for the larger game of ‘bush beef’. As we have seen, mountaineering was 
              another activity in which outsiders joined with bush settler enthusiasts. And 
              both outsiders and bush settlers went on Sunday afternoon rides exploring 
              the bush roads when a good summer dried them out.

49 In their turn bush 
              folk travelled outside the bush in search of recreation.

          

          

            
Outings from the Bush

            
In the early years, while their own district had so little to supplement what 
              the homes could offer, outings to nearby centres will have been highlights 
              in 
Kaponga settler life. There was a steady interaction with their adjacent 
              service townships, Manaia and Okaiawa. Their flavour in the early days we 
              will illustrate from Okaiawa. ‘Travelling Correspondent’ Frank Lawrie 
              wrote on the place in the 

Auckland Weekly News of 18 August 1883. He 
              found there a commodious hotel ‘which appears to obtain most of its 
              support from the great number of travellers and settlers constantly passing 
              to and from the bush country at the back’. Other aspects of the village/bush 
              interaction were well caught in the Okaiawa ‘Our Own’ of 19 November 1883:

            
Tradesmen's carts and picnic parties may be seen frequently going to and 
              coming from the bush, as well as riding parties. Some who have taken up land 
              in the bush are busy making new homes, and a good many emerge from these 
              to have a look round here on Saturday evenings and on Sunday.

            
Being so much further back in the bush than the folk referred to here, 
              the scattered 
Kaponga settlers will have come out much less frequently, 
              often waiting for some special occasion to make the journey worthwhile. 
              They will have been represented at all notable occasions in Manaia and 
              Okaiawa. We will choose an example or two from Manaia.

            
Manaia's races became a regional Boxing Day fixture and were drawing 
              crowds of over 1000 by the later 1880s.

50 The Easter Monday athletic sports 
              became equally popular. 
Kaponga settler G.H. McKenzie was one of the star 
              performers at these sports in 1888.

51 Four months later 
Kaponga settlers 
              must surely have been present on the wet Saturday afternoon when the
              


              long-talked-of match between Pakeha wrestling champion 
George Pearce 
              and his Maori counterpart, 
Whanga Katipu from 
Waikato, was staged in 
              Manaia. The crowd of up to 1000 included enthusiasts from as far away as 
              
Wellington. The match was ‘in Cumberland style first three falls out of five 
              to win’. Pearce, four stones lighter than his opponent and suffering from a 
              cold and a recent fall from a horse, took the first two falls but, being the 
              more experienced, eventually felled Whanga twice. Delayed by periods of 
              drenching rain the contest dragged on till the light faded and the contestants, 
              on Whanga's initiative, agreed to a draw.

52 This was an adult occasion, and 
              on the Pakeha side a male one. But both sexes, young and old, must have 
              come down from the bush for festivities such as those of Christmas Eve 
              1889 when

            
… the town was very full of people, all the shops were nicely decorated with 
              ferns, Chinese lanterns and flowers, and the goods displayed to best 
              advantage. The Band was out, and the town was pretty lively.

53

            
Further away the regional ‘capital’, 
Hawera, also had a number of 
              annual events of considerable drawing power, especially its highly successful 
              annual A & P Show, founded in 1884. 
Normanby's annual horticultural 
              show also became a regional event, drawing attendances of up to 1500 by 
              the end of the 1880s. Such was the vitality of the new bush township 
              beginning its rise on the banks of the Kaupokonui that within a very few 
              years it would be providing its own version of almost all the activities for 
              which the district's settlers trekked abroad in the 1880s.
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An Axeman's World

            
The ‘Kaupokonui’ district of the 1880s was an axeman's world. Axemen 
              went in with the surveyors to cut survey lines and fell access roadways. 
              Buyers of these bush sections were mainly either reasonably competent 
              axemen or men with the money to hire a felling gang. Most 
Kaponga settlers 
              chose the bush as folk of limited means taking their easiest route to farm 
              ownership. Many were DP settlers committed to payments on their section, 
              others bought for cash but had little money left for development. Their axes 
              provided these folk with much of the finance they needed. They felled and 
              cleared roadlines on government and Road Board contracts. They felled for 
              more affluent neighbours. They felled for the sawmillers. They used their 
              axes to produce firewood, posts, slabs, beams and poles for their own use 
              and for sale. To succeed as settlers they needed many skills but in the 1880s 
              none were more basic than those of the axeman. Fortunately for 
Kaponga's 
              progress, a wealth of bushman talent came in with its pioneers. Some of it 
              dated back to the Hutt Valley of the 1840s and '50s (e.g. the Ellerms, 
              Hollards, Wilkies and Fretheys), some to the gold-diggers' 1860s assault on 
              the heavily wooded 
West Coast gold-fields (e.g. Crowley, D. Fitzgerald), 
              some to the 1870s drive to open the southern 
North Island's ‘Great Bush’ 
              (e.g. Robert Gibson, William Swadling).

            
Bushman skills and techniques had improved over the years, especially 
              from the late 1870s when contract felling became common. A good axeman 
              knew how to choose and care for an axe and a crosscut saw. In his skilled 
              felling the trees lay evenly over the land, with no bare patches for the Scotch 
              thistles' succulent growth to hamper the spread of the burn. He knew 
              exactly where a tree would fall, and sped up his work with good ‘drives’— 
              rows of partly cut trees brought down by cutting right through the last in 
              the row. Where a trunk was large or badly twisted near the base he became 
              adept at cutting further up, working from a stage of pieces of wood and 
              pongas. In the later 1880s the stage gave way to the jigger-board, fixed into 
              a notch in the trunk.

1

            
Because Taranaki's climate and abundance of mahoe encouraged second 
              growth that inhibited the burn, felling was commonly delayed till about
              


              July. Clearing the ‘Kaupokonui’ provided years of work for the otherwise 
              slack months of winter and early spring. The process began with 
              underscrubbing, the cutting of all undergrowth and creepers with bill-hooks 
              and light axes, work with which women and children often helped. Properly 
              done, this formed the tinder for the burn; badly done, small growth and 
              creepers flourished in the fallen timber, resisting rather than helping the 
              burn. Next the standing bush was felled and left to dry. Opinions differed 
              over the felling of all the heavy timber. Some thought it false economy to 
              leave anything standing, others left the larger trees, especially the scatter of 
              huge hard-wooded ratas. Felled they often became waterlogged and hard 
              to dispose of, whereas standing they dried out so that they burned easily. 
              The season's felling stopped in time to allow the last cutting to dry before 
              the burn. Then, on a suitable day in late summer or early autumn came the 
              burn.

2 Cocksfoot and clover seed were broadcast sown in the ashes among 
              the stumps and logs. Over the following years ‘stumping’ and ‘logging-up’ 
              steadily cleared the remaining debris.

            
Axeman's work was dominant in the early years, but as clearings grew 
              and multiplied it gave way to an increasingly varied range of work. Those 
              who wished to continue as axemen had to follow the migrating sawmills or 
              move to new bush frontiers. We will proceed by examining in turn how 
              labouring on wages and contracts, producing for subsistence, and producing 
              for the market, contributed to the making of livings. Finally we will look at 
              what quality of life these livings provided during the 1880s.
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Working on Wages and Contracts

            
In the early years of the decade work was plentiful and wages good, but the 
              later years saw harder times. From 1881 to the summer of 1884–85 there 
              was strong labour demand in south Taranaki, with a diversity of work at 
              good wages. The government put money into the roads and pushed the 
              railway through the difficult country between 
Hawera and Patea, 
              completing it early in 1885. Government surveys continued in our district 
              and also to open up new country east of the railway. The more affluent 
              open-country settlers also had development programmes, creating a strong 
              demand for fencers, builders, ploughmen and general labourers. Their 
              rapidly multiplying flocks of sheep and acres of grain added a strong 
              summer demand for shearers and harvesters. With work and wages 
              beginning to languish in many older established districts, south Taranaki 
              experienced a steady inflow of population. Some 
Kaponga District settlers 
              will have first come to the region in search of work and then been 
              encouraged by savings from good wages to go farming. DP land purchasers 
              and poorer cash buyers must have had a wide range of skills to offer on this 
              vibrant market and in turn taken useful experience back to their own 
              sections. In these half-hidden years it is not easy to glean the information 
              for a picture of how this complex interplay between labouring and settling
              


              worked out in terms of individual experience. One or two relevant diaries 
              or cycles of letters would be invaluable at this point. We will have to make 
              do with the available snippets of information, which are mainly on 
              bushfelling and roadmaking.

            
The 
Star of 28 September 1881 provides a salutary reminder of the 
              rougher side of this frontier life. It advocated a lock-up for Manaia because

            
… Bushmen who threaten to fight with axes, or go outside the hotel on 
              Saturday night, challenging all or any of the bystanders to fight, are not the 
              sort of rowdies which one policeman can safely conduct a mile or more to a 
              lock-up against their will. [The ‘mile or more’ was probably to the redoubt.]

            
These Saturday-night gatherings of bushmen may have included a 
              sprinkling from our district, perhaps one or two of the pioneer settlers on 
              Manaia and Palmer roads and workers from the district's first sawmill, just 
              getting under way on Charles Tait's* section on Manaia Road.

3 But the 
              rowdy element are more likely to have been itinerant workers felling roadlines for the government or cutting posts for settlers on the plains. Their
              number would have grown over the following winter with the first extensive 
              letting of felling contracts. The 
Star of 18 September 1882 drew attention 
              to its many felling advertisements and reported two-thirds of the settlers 
              with bush adjoining the plains letting contracts. The following month 
              
William Ellerm sought fellers for his section a little north of the 
Kaponga 
              township site.

4 He may not have found men to make this long trek into the 
              bush for even the government was having difficulty getting workers. In his 
              1882–83 report Crown Lands Ranger Robinson explained that roadworks 
              had lagged partly because of the very wet summer but also because most 
              available labour had been absorbed by the very large areas of bush being 
              felled in south Taranaki. He had found most quotes for work put to tender 
              ‘unreasonable’.

5 After listing the work accomplished during the year he 
              continued:

            
Nearly the whole of the above works have been done under the system of 
              small contracts, the average value of the contracts being about £90, the work, 
              in the majority of cases, being done by deferred-payment settlers, who were 
              thus afforded an opportunity of earning money wherewith to pay for their 
              lands.

6

            
Settlers complained that during the 1882 season bushfelling pricés had 
              risen from 28s to 40s or 50s per acre.

7 Not surprisingly plains farmers had 
              to offer good wages for their wheat and oats harvesting in January 1883 and 
              even so one or two complained that men were hard to get.

8

            
Over the 1883–84 and 1884–85 seasons these patterns continued but 
              with a rising tempo and with bushfelling, roadworks and timber milling 
              moving ever deeper into the bush. The transient bushfelling gangs that were 
              a feature of 
Kaponga District life throughout the 1880s have left only 
              minimal traces in the records but an interesting glimpse is provided by a
              


              letter from ‘Bush Faller’ in the 
Star of 1 March 1883. He was from near 
              Opunake but his problem cannot have been uncommon. He wrote: ‘Some 
              men like myself who have to camp on road lines with our wives and families 
              would be only too pleased to have a chance of leasing, even at a pretty high 
              rent, small blocks [of land].’ Obviously these encampments were not 
              necessarily purely male preserves and not all were satisfied with a vagrant 
              roadway setting when taking contracts in a district. The typical bush settler 
              had rather different problems. He preferred to work from home and keep 
              an eye on his own section while gaining a share of the moneys flowing out 
              to manual labour, and he wanted the public spending on roads to bring good 
              access to his own front gate. All these ends were met if he got a good 
              contract on the roads near his place. Thus in September 1884 Henry Davy 
              tendered £3 an acre to the Road Board for felling bush near his place. The 
              board countered with £2 an acre.

9 For some settlers access was as important 
              as money. In July 1883 
William Swadling waited on the Road Board, 
              offering to fell a mile of Palmer Road, clear and stump it 16 feet wide, at 
              17s per chain, and to wait up to 14 months for payment if no funds were in 
              hand. The offer was taken up.

10 The government also continued spending 
              in the district, again mainly on small contracts to nearby settlers.

11

            
These good times for labour ended in the winter of 1885, with 
              ‘Kaupokonui's’ ‘Our Own’ reporting ‘a bad look out for the “professional” 
              axeman. Everything down bar ratas is quoted at £1 10s’.

12 The following July 
              he commented that ‘when ali timber except rata is chopped for 30s per acre 
              … the storekeeper and butcher often suffer’.

13 With prices still dropping, 
              by November 1886 some small settlers felling for more affluent neighbours 
              were bringing in no more than 4s a day, with rates as low as 22s an acre being 
              reported.

14 The winters of 1887 and 1888 saw ‘peppercorn wages’ with prices 
              as low as 20s.

15 The surge of new settlement turned the tide in the spring of 
              1888; by December south Taranaki grain farmers and public bodies were 
              complaining at being unable to get work done at satisfactory rates.

16 The 
              hard years saw landless men suffer most, working long hours on contracts 
              that scarcely bought them their food. But most DP settlers had somehow 
              met their land payments. They benefited from being comfortably housed 
              and eating well from their clearings and the wild.
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Working for Subsistence

            
‘However hard the almighty dollar is to get possession of, a man can't starve 
              if he has his piece of land, pigs and garden,’ remarked the Stratford & 
              Ngaere ‘Our Own’ on 15 October 1887. For most ‘Kaupokonui’ pioneers 
              such an outlook was not merely an option but a necessity. The purchase and 
              development of their sections demanded every penny they could get, and 
              in any case there was no market at hand to supply the daily necessities of 
              life. Moreover a subsistence approach made good sense for other reasons. 
              In the short term there was a small local outlet for produce from the
              


              clearings, as surveyors, newly arrived settlers, bushfellers and sawmill 
              workers needed the very goods subsistence farming provided. For the 
              longer term it was as yet unclear which products best suited the local 
              conditions and would find viable markets. To understand these settlers we 
              must see that to them farming options still seemed wide open. We know that 
              dairying was soon to become dominant, but as late as 1883 Patea, 
Hawera 
              and 
Normanby storekeepers were complaining of having to import most 
              of their butter. I have described elsewhere the tussle in 1880s South Taranaki 
              between differing views on farming options, suggesting that the futures 
              most settlers had in mind can be covered by the three models I label 
              ‘Lincolnshire’, ‘Kent’ and ‘West Country’.

17 Until a regional consensus 
              emerged it was sensible to test a wide range of products, in their various 
              breeds and varieties, against the local climate, soils and pests, while keeping 
              one's ears open for long-term market prospects. This most of ‘Kaupokonui’ 
              pioneers seem to have done, making a virtue out of the subsistence farming 
              necessity.

            
Settlers were encouraged in this course by their most widely read guide 
              on such matters, the 
Star. Over the early and mid-1880s it supported mixed 
              farming and criticised a local bias towards sheep and grain. Its leader of 
              7 February 1884 upheld as a model a local Kentish immigrant who 
              maintained a full range of mixed farming whatever the state of the market. 
              Each season he planted his wheat, oats and potatoes, maintained his sheep, 
              cattle and pigs, and pressed on with his dairy and orchard. His results 
              proved the wisdom of refusing to guess the short-term markets. This 
Star 
              editorial particularly recommended dairying, pig keeping and fruit growing, 
              and gave its blessing to the recently founded 
Normanby Horticultural 
              Society, whose annual show was rapidly to become a regional event, giving 
              steady encouragement to diversified farming.

            
With grass being of necessity a clearing's first crop, a house cow was 
              commonly its first livestock. The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own's’ letter of 20 
              May 1886 reported: ‘The dairying industry is in a flourishing condition in 
              this district and there are few families who do not make a considerable 
              quantity of butter weekly.’ Butter-making led inevitably to pig keeping to 
              provide an outlet for the skim milk. Competently managed, dairy and 
              piggery would within a year or two provide a year-round supply of milk, 
              butter and meat. In the late autumn of 1889 life in the 
Kaponga district must 
              have been similar to that of nearby Ngaere, from where a correspondent wrote:

            
… nights are cold, mornings colder; cows are milked and firewood chopped 
              by lantern light…. pigs are being killed by hundreds. Ngaire will soon rival 
              
Chicago for bacon. Every settler's house is decorated with flitches of streaky 
              bacon and juicy hams, and every settler's child is fed on the same, which no 
              doubt accounts for their healthy appearance.

18

            
Cropping on the clearings seems to have begun with gardening as soon
              


              as a piece of ground could be fenced away from livestock. ‘Our Own's’ letter 
              of 29 May 1884 from ‘Kaupokonui’ reported some extraordinary crops of 
              potatoes, though it was impossible to estimate the weight per acre as ‘most 
              of the crops have been stuck in in odd bits and corners between logs and 
              stumps’. He had seen one root with a 14lb crop, and also a 52lb pumpkin. 
              Carrots also did particularly well. In 1889 ‘Agricola’, a visiting 
Auckland 
              agriculturist, expressed surprise at the quantities grown. ‘With scarcely an 
              exception every homestead seemed to have the inevitable crop of carrots,’ 
              he reported, ‘the beds being large or comparatively small according to the 
              requirements of the family.’

19 He found these roots served up in a wonderful 
              variety of ways. At one house he was entertained with a ‘lovely’ carrot 
              pudding. Carrots were also being fed to pigs and other stock. The depredations of birds, especially sparrows, discouraged grain in the bush 
              subsistence economy. Beans became popular because ‘they are hardy, 
              quickly sown, easily kept clean, sparrows don't take them, and they are 
              good food for either pigs or fowls’.

20

            
On 28 July 1883 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ reported that most settlers 
              were planting fruit trees. It would of course be some years before these came 
              into bearing, but on 19 February 1886 he reported almost every settler 
              harvesting many quarts of gooseberries. On 18 September 1886 he noted 
              that ‘an enormous number of fruit trees have been planted throughout this 
              district this season’. Settlers must have gained much help from the press on 
              how to cope with their new environment. Thus in the 
Star of 11 June 1887 
              an Okaiawa resident wrote about his orchard, with news on three varieties 
              of apple, a good crop of blackcurrants and success in fruiting figs. He gave 
              a range of advice on adapting husbandry to local conditions. He noted that 
              ‘some loads of fruit trees are already being carted up towards the mountain 
              on the Ahipaipa road, so that planting has begun in the bush districts’.

            
Subsistence living of course also meant meeting housing and fuel needs 
              from one's own resources. For this, most of our settlers, with their axemen's 
              skills, were well equipped. Let us now summarise the likely subsistence 
              fortunes of a well-organised 
Kaponga settler family. They would have 
              moved from an initial primitive ponga whare to a growing slab cottage. 
              Dairy, piggery, hen house and barn would have been added as required. The 
              first year may have seen a surfeit of damper and of beef and pigeon from 
              the wild. Thereafter the variety of the diet would have grown steadily, the 
              additions (roughly in the order of appearance) being: milk, butter, potatoes 
              and other root vegetables, eggs; pork, bacon and ham; small fruits such as 
              gooseberries and blackcurrants; apples, pears, plums and other tree fruits. 
              Producing, processing and preserving these foodstuffs would have required 
              a range of skills, a basic minimum of equipment and supplies, and the 
              necessary initial livestock, seeds and plants. Families will have varied in their 
              ability to meet these requirements, and in the discipline needed to provide 
              the necessary input of labour and continuous care. Few bachelor settlers will 
              have been competent to cover more than a small part of the range.
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Working for the Markets

            
Our account of wages, contract and subsistence work has sketched in the 
              context of work for the markets. In simple outline we can say that the 
              
Kaponga district had no real market problem in the first half of the 1880s, 
              the second half of the decade were years of market crisis, and by the early 
              1890s the solution was well in sight. The early 1880s had no problem 
              because the settlers were concentrating on the abundance of wages and 
              contract work. On the first small clearings families got subsistence activities 
              under way, with women and children releasing the men for the good 
              earnings off the section. Most bachelors probably shut up most of their 
              clearing for grass seed so that they too could go after these good earnings. 
              A steady flow of newcomers to this active settlement frontier meant an eager 
              market for grass seed and all types of food produce. But suddenly in the 
              mid-1880s this all changed. The generous government spending disappeared, 
              the settler inflow dwindled to a trickle, while the clearings had grown to a 
              size that made market decisions urgent. In the 
Star of 14 December 1885 
              ‘Kaupokonui's’ ‘Our Own’ gives us a feel of these times:

            
Of course your contributor G.W.'s articles on bee-keeping are eagerly read by 
              your own, but I fail to see the extraordinary benefits he points out. In this 
              colony—I might almost individualise it, this district—we suffer periodically 
              from crazes. Some new idea is wafted abroad whereby heaps of coin may be 
              amassed; frothy ideas are expressed and for a time we dream of untold 
              fortunes.

            
Besides the apiarist enthusiasm of ‘G.W.’ (Manaia's disputatious headmaster, George Wilks), ‘Our Own’ would also doubtless have had in mind
              the hop-growing movement initiated in 
Normanby in April 1883 and 
              fanning out from there to other bush districts until brought to a sudden halt 
              by gales in December 1884 and March 1885.

21

            
In brief, the district's dilemma was that all significant colonial markets 
              had been preempted by more convenient, well-established suppliers. A 
              long-term solution needed products that would return a profit after being 
              got out over primitive frontier roads and shipped around the world. Hence 
              the interest in high-value, easily transportable produce such as hops and 
              honey. Frozen beef was another possibility, but Taranaki's early frozen-meat 
              ventures quickly failed and there was little profit in sending stock to more 
              distant works. Cattle raising for the market (as distinct from dairying) was 
              of some significance in the ‘Kaupokonui’ throughout the 1880s, especially 
              for cash land buyers with large areas felled on contract. One such sent up 
              the first mob in October 1882: 22 cows with calves at foot, from the Manaia 
              saleyards.

22 DP settlers will have run some cattle, mainly by raising calves 
              from their dairy stock for sale as either beef cattle or milch cows. But 
              throughout the decade their leading market crop appears to have been grass 
              seed.

23 In the hard years of the later 1880s the main supplement to this was
              


              ‘Taranaki wool’, a fungus growing on the felled logs of their clearings, which 
              Taranaki Chinese immigrant Chew Chong was exporting to 
China. We must 
              look more closely at these two key products.

            
The grass seed crop was always a bit of a gamble. As it matured it was 
              at risk from fire, and over the short harvest season from rain. The market 
              was as hard to judge as any, depending partly on the amount of new country 
              being sown over the following season, partly on the overseas market.

24 
              There was also the choice of variety. A 
Star editorial of 18 October 1887 
              deprecated a shift over the preceding year or two from cocksfoct to rye 
              grass, pointing out that cocksfoot was the only New Zealand grass with an 
              export seed market. As prices drifted lower in the late 1880s many settlers 
              began holding much of their crop off the market.

25 Even at the lower prices 
              there were reasonable returns until the market collapsed in early 1889.

26 The 
              harvest's heavy labour demand drew on both Pakeha and Maori.

27 ‘Our 
              grass seed harvest lasts only a few weeks, but during that time all is hurry 
              and worry,’ noted the 
Farmer's 
Hawera ‘Our Own’ in March 1889. Some 
              families had the hands to harvest their crop but those that could not had 
              either to sell it or to have it reaped on terms. Standing crops sold for as much 
              as £1 and 5s an acre in 1887 and 1888, but dropped to around 13s in 1889. 
              For reaping on terms most harvesters settled for two bags out of every three 
              in 1887 and for three out of every four in 1889.

28 The grass was cut with 
              sickles, then spread on threshing sheets to be beaten out with flails and 
              supplejacks.

29 The ‘gamble’ inherent in the crop continued through the 
              various decisions the harvesters had to make, as ‘Kaupokonui's’ ‘Our Own’ 
              explained on 19 February 1886:

            
At a time when grass harvesting was in full swing, rain came, doing a deal of 
              damage to the crops which were cut, and driving the greater part of the seed 
              out of the standing stalk. Cocksfoot does not seem to have been as severely 
              affected as rape and Italian rye. The latter is a most fickle grass to harvest, as 
              there is no ‘turn of the tide’. Unless reaped on the green side, a lot is lost 
              through shaking. A great mistake was made by harvesters this season in 
              getting too far ahead with cutting and depending on the weather keeping fine 
              to finish threshing. Many believe now in threshing two days after the cutting.

            
Fungus had been a significant commodity for Taranaki bush settlers 
              since the early 1870s but until the mid-1880s ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers mainly 
              lett it to the Maori, including parties that came camping from Parihaka.

30 
              With the onset of hard times coinciding with a fungus price rise the settlers 
              turned to it eagerly.

31 The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own's’ letter of 31 July 1886 
              told of fungus picking ‘becoming an established industry’, encouraged by 
              the fact that much of the bush had been felled the right length of time for a 
              prolific yield. Picking continued widely for some years, causing friction 
              with Maori gatherers.

32 At first settlers gathered their fungus in summer and 
              cried in the sun. By 1887 they were gathering throughout the year and
              


              showing some ingenuity in the wood-fired devices they constructed for 
              drying.

33 In the autumn of 1889 the 

Auckland Weekly News's ‘Agricola’ 
              found that experts could make better money fungus gathering than at any 
              labouring jobs.

34
              There were also markets for the wood of the forest. Open-country 
              demand for fencing timber reached steadily deeper into the bush, providing 
              work for some bush settlers. Much more work was provided by the 
              sawmills, several of which operated in the 
Kaponga district in the 1880s. 
              Information on them is limited, and sometimes confusing, partly through 
              changes of location and ownership. Important in the 
Kaponga story of the 
              1880s and 1890s was Robert Palmer,* an experienced sawmiller who in 1883 
              came to take over the pioneer Manaia mill as manager and senior partner in 
              R. Palmer and Co.

35 Beginning on Charles Tait's Manaia Road section, a 
              little above Skeet Road, this mill worked its way up Manaia Road, reaching 
              the outskirts of 
Kaponga township towards the end of the decade. There 
              must have been various arrangements with settlers for mill and tramlines 
              sites, the purchase of logs, and contract and wage labour. In turn, the settlers 
              were important customers of the mill.

            
In the later 1880s 
Kaponga settlers must have felt that market industries 
              were marching towards them. They were, for example, caught up in the beekeeping movement but their enthusiasm was shortlived.

36 As they watched
              the various initiatives of the somewhat earlier settled areas to their south 
              and east they must have valued the opportunity to benefit from these 
              neighbours' experience. It spared them, for example, the false start of the 
              hop industry.

            
It will also have prepared them for the shift from a cottage-style dairy 
              industry to a factory one. Throughout the 1880s their home dairies found 
              customers mainly through the Manaia and Okaiawa storekeepers and their 
              own Henry Davy. The south Taranaki factory dairying movement began in 
              earnest in the autumn of 1883.

37 It made out a strong case against the home 
              dairies. The home product varied widely in quality, giving storekeepers the 
              onerous task of assessing and pricing each offering and customers a source 
              of constant dissatisfaction.

38 To compensate themselves storekeepers often 
              insisted on a barter approach. From other districts came reports that both 
              settlers and storekeepers were well pleased with the changes that factory 
              dairying brought to their relationship.

39 The home product's inconsistent 
              quality was also a major hindrance in the export markets. In north Taranaki, 
              and also from 1888 at Cardiff on the 
Kaponga district's own boundaries, a 
              butter-packing approach was tried to counter this problem. Settlers churned 
              their butter to the granular stage then brought it to a central depot for final 
              working and packing. But hopes that the rejection of bad offerings and 
              blending of the rest would ensure a consistent product were not fulfilled.

40 
              The 
Kaponga settlers could not ignore the cogency of the case for the new 
              dairy factories that took raw milk from the farmers, separated the cream 
              using the new centrifugal separators, and turned it into butter under
              


              hygienic conditions. Over 1885–87 they saw dairy factories established 
              nearby to their west, east and south at Opunake, 
Normanby, Manaia, 
              Otakeho and Eltham. Around 1888–89 their storekeeper, Henry Davy, 
              began his own little factory on a stream just east of the township site,

41 and 
              to their south on Skeet Road, just east of the Manaia Road intersection, 
              young William Hutchinson* had set up another on his father's farm in 
              1889.

42 The stage was set for the district's leap into factory dairying.
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Home and Neighbourliness

            
Throughout the 1880s the quality of the district's life depended almost 
              entirely on the qualities of the individual homes on the scattered clearings. 
              No other institution had yet developed an effective presence. The characters 
              of these family and bachelor establishments depended in turn on the social 
              maturity and domestic skills of their individual members. Maintaining 
              morale and making life feel worthwhile amid the privations of the settlement's early weather-battered years must have been a real challenge. The 
              unfolding years provide good evidence that most settlers had the calibre to 
              succeed on their sections both as homemakers and as pioneer farmers, and 
              to move out over the following decades to create a rich and varied community life. There had, of course, been a tough self-selection process behind 
              their becoming frontier settlers, and for many an earlier such process in 
              deciding to emigrate. Both decisions would have involved assessing one's 
              adequacy in social skills, adaptability, toughness and ambition for the 
              demands of a challenging venture. Let us look first at how it worked out 
              for families and then for bachelors.

            
On the emerging farms the making of livings was itself an important 
              element in the quality of life. From an early age all family members shared 
              the widely varied work of the subsistence economy. The diversity of the 
              tasks, the breaking of them down into individual projects, the team aspect, 
              the home consumption of the produce—all helped make the work 
              interesting and meaningful, often not too far removed from play. In the 
              absence of schools, team sports, public entertainments, often even of near 
              neighbours, these families will have had to provide most of their own social 
              life and entertainment. They will have valued their time together at their 
              ample, if rather unsophisticated, meals. On winter evenings and in wet 
              weather parents and children will have sat together around a good log fire, 
              enjoying a yarn, a reading or a sing-song.

43 The traditional Sunday leisure 
              will also have been important. Many folk will have devoted part of it to 
              the weekly 

Egmont Star, from July 1887 available at 
Kaponga on the 
              afternoon of its Saturday publication.

44 Its 16 pages included news, stories, 
              serialised novels, farming and gardening columns, a children's column and 
              a sermon. Some will have regularly used Sunday to visit neighbours. Such 
              neighbourly sharing of home life, and the putting of personal and home 
              resources at the disposal of neighbours in times of crisis, sickness,
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              childbirth, bereavement and celebration will have contributed greatly to the 
              general quality of life.

            
The ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ had a deal to say about his district's 
              bachelors. His letter of 18 September 1886 commented on the ‘startling 
              number of bachelors throughout the Kaupokonui’ living in ‘lonely looking 
              little houses built by the roadside throughout the block, some with nice 
              gardens’. He told how they could become confused as to the day of the 
              week, reporting on 17 January 1885 how one missed a fine Saturday's work 
              at his grass seed because he thought it was Sunday, and on 6 June 1887 on 
              another setting off for church on a day that wasn't Sunday. He noted that 
              Sunday was generally ‘celebrated among the bachelors in the bush by 
              cooking or visiting’.

45 Few 
Kaponga District bachelors of the 1880s will have 
              lived within easy reach of church. ‘Our Own’ also noted periodic outbursts 
              of gold fever, which must have been predominantly a bachelor phenomenon. 
              On 13 June 1884 he wrote:

            
By many the old days of the 
West Coast rushes are not forgotten. The gold 
              fever rages as fiercely as ever. In many a lowly whare and by many a camp 
              fire, with flashing eye and burning cheek, the old digger may be heard 
              recounting his experiences, and fondly calling back to mind the times when 
              fortunes in a day were lost and won.

            
This serves to remind us that besides the settler bachelors there were 
              also the work gang bachelors, felling bush, building bridges, sawmilling &c.
              


              Sunday visiting must have seen mixing not only among but also between 
              the two groups. And the old diggers' yarns will have sent some of the more 
              footloose off to the rushes across the Tasman. Most of the bachelors will 
              have been less tied to home than the family men, getting away more easily 
              to labouring jobs and in search of recreation in Manaia, Okaiawa or further 
              afield. Probably both bachelors and families made up the cases reported by 
              ‘Our Own’ on 24 November 1886 ‘where neighbours are living within a 
              mile or two of each other and not acquainted’. Yet while some failed to find 
              time to get to know their neighbours others engaged in various recreations 
              and social occasions.
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Bush Recreations

            
Despite their primitive facilities and limited leisure the ‘Kaupokonui’ settlers 
              were by the mid-1880s arranging a variety of social occasions, mainly simple 
              home parties and dances and the occasional picnic. In the 
Star of 11 August 
              1887 a correspondent supplying ‘Notes from the Bush’ reported how a 
              successful concert and dance held at the Te Roti school

            
… acted as a stimulus to more of the same sort, and nearly every week since 
              parties of the same sort are held at the houses of some of the settlers. An 
              evening is fixed upon and a few of the young ladies and their ‘mashers’—for 
              the bush is not without the latter commodity—assemble and to the strain of 
              the violin, handled by a local fiddler, they amuse themselves for a few hours.

46

            
This cycle of get-togethers around Te Roti was probably out of the 
              reach of our district's settlers, but some of them must have been among the 
              ‘large number’ present at the party given by pioneer Mangatoki settlers 
              James and 
Elizabeth Linn of Eltham Road in mid-November 1886 
              (probably near full moon, which was on the 12th).

47 Such occasions gave 
              way in the busy summer and autumn months to the occasional picnic. Thus 
              on 4 January 1886 the ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ reported a monster 
              Christmas Day picnic held at the mouth of the Inaha. On 8 November 1886 
              he had news of a picnic being organised in the bush and commented on the 
              matrimonial implications of such occasions. 
              Concerts, dances and picnics provided the main opportunities for bush 
              folk to mix socially with the opposite sex in the early years. But most men 
              in this predominantly male society would have spent most of their spare 
              time on masculine sports. While the rough bush clearings were as yet quite 
              unsuitable for team sports they did see a little activity. Of bush Sundays the 
              ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ wrote on 27 August 1885:

            
… it is not an unusual sight to see a number of young fellows congregated 
              from various sections engaged (not in singing psalms) but in a good soul-stirring tug of war, jumping and other athletic pastimes.

            
Hunting was a widespread sport and the bush provided ample rewards.
              


              Pigeons were plentiful in the early years and were regularly shot for the 
              larder. The colony's game laws were democratic, rather than, as in 
Britain, 
              in the interests of the privileged. A 
Star editorial of 10 May 1887 on ‘Game 
              and Game Laws' pointed out that it was ‘the occupier of any land or his 
              appointee, 
not the landlord’ who was declared the owner of all game on the 
              land, and that the sole purpose of the act's restrictions was that ‘certain birds 
              and animals both native and imported shall be protected during an annual 
              closed season, generally speaking during those months when the birds or 
              animals are breeding’. When this restricted season ended each autumn, 
              outside sportsmen joined those from the bush, hunting particularly for 
              pheasants and native pigeons.

48 From time to time there were expeditions 
              for the larger game of ‘bush beef’. As we have seen, mountaineering was 
              another activity in which outsiders joined with bush settler enthusiasts. And 
              both outsiders and bush settlers went on Sunday afternoon rides exploring 
              the bush roads when a good summer dried them out.

49 In their turn bush 
              folk travelled outside the bush in search of recreation.
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Outings from the Bush

            
In the early years, while their own district had so little to supplement what 
              the homes could offer, outings to nearby centres will have been highlights 
              in 
Kaponga settler life. There was a steady interaction with their adjacent 
              service townships, Manaia and Okaiawa. Their flavour in the early days we 
              will illustrate from Okaiawa. ‘Travelling Correspondent’ Frank Lawrie 
              wrote on the place in the 

Auckland Weekly News of 18 August 1883. He 
              found there a commodious hotel ‘which appears to obtain most of its 
              support from the great number of travellers and settlers constantly passing 
              to and from the bush country at the back’. Other aspects of the village/bush 
              interaction were well caught in the Okaiawa ‘Our Own’ of 19 November 1883:

            
Tradesmen's carts and picnic parties may be seen frequently going to and 
              coming from the bush, as well as riding parties. Some who have taken up land 
              in the bush are busy making new homes, and a good many emerge from these 
              to have a look round here on Saturday evenings and on Sunday.

            
Being so much further back in the bush than the folk referred to here, 
              the scattered 
Kaponga settlers will have come out much less frequently, 
              often waiting for some special occasion to make the journey worthwhile. 
              They will have been represented at all notable occasions in Manaia and 
              Okaiawa. We will choose an example or two from Manaia.

            
Manaia's races became a regional Boxing Day fixture and were drawing 
              crowds of over 1000 by the later 1880s.

50 The Easter Monday athletic sports 
              became equally popular. 
Kaponga settler G.H. McKenzie was one of the star 
              performers at these sports in 1888.

51 Four months later 
Kaponga settlers 
              must surely have been present on the wet Saturday afternoon when the
              


              long-talked-of match between Pakeha wrestling champion 
George Pearce 
              and his Maori counterpart, 
Whanga Katipu from 
Waikato, was staged in 
              Manaia. The crowd of up to 1000 included enthusiasts from as far away as 
              
Wellington. The match was ‘in Cumberland style first three falls out of five 
              to win’. Pearce, four stones lighter than his opponent and suffering from a 
              cold and a recent fall from a horse, took the first two falls but, being the 
              more experienced, eventually felled Whanga twice. Delayed by periods of 
              drenching rain the contest dragged on till the light faded and the contestants, 
              on Whanga's initiative, agreed to a draw.

52 This was an adult occasion, and 
              on the Pakeha side a male one. But both sexes, young and old, must have 
              come down from the bush for festivities such as those of Christmas Eve 
              1889 when

            
… the town was very full of people, all the shops were nicely decorated with 
              ferns, Chinese lanterns and flowers, and the goods displayed to best 
              advantage. The Band was out, and the town was pretty lively.

53

            
Further away the regional ‘capital’, 
Hawera, also had a number of 
              annual events of considerable drawing power, especially its highly successful 
              annual A & P Show, founded in 1884. 
Normanby's annual horticultural 
              show also became a regional event, drawing attendances of up to 1500 by 
              the end of the 1880s. Such was the vitality of the new bush township 
              beginning its rise on the banks of the Kaupokonui that within a very few 
              years it would be providing its own version of almost all the activities for 
              which the district's settlers trekked abroad in the 1880s.
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The Trials of Daniel and Hannah Crowley

            
In the autumn of 1881 the five 100-acre sections along the south side of Neill 
              Road between Manaia Road and Palmer Road were bought by three settlers 
              Whose lives were to be intertwined over the following years. Stephen Kissick 
              took the one on the Manaia Road corner on DP, 
Daniel Fitzgerald* took 
              the next two for cash, and 
Daniel Crowley* took the remaining two, also 
              for cash. At about 11am on 16 January 1883 Daniel Crowley lit a burn on 
              his clearing. Shortly afterwards the wind changed, with sad consequences 
              for both Crowley himself and his neighbour, Fitzgerald.

            
According to Crowley family traditions, Daniel had gone to view the 
              Neill Road sections with 
Daniel Fitzgerald, an older man whom he first met 
              in the Shamrock boarding house in 
Hawera, and the records show that they 
              both purchased on 23 May 1881. Leaving his wife, Hannah, in 
Normanby 
              for the first six months, Crowley set about vigorously clearing and developing his sections. In November 1882 he asked the Road Board to culvert Neill 
              Road so he could drive cattle onto his land where he had grass waiting for 
              them.

1 By the time of the fire he had replaced his pioneer whare with a house 
              and established a garden. As they entered 1883 the Crowleys must have felt 
              that life was working out happily for them. They were getting well settled 
              on their section, and had a son, Cornelius, born in 1882. They had a 
              compatible neighbour in Fitzgerald, Irish and Roman Catholic like 
              themselves, and also making fine progress on his clearing. But things must 
              have looked very different after the events of 16 January. Unable to come 
              to a neighbourly agreement about the damage caused by the fire, the two 
              Daniels resorted to the law. They and four witnesses trekked to the 
Hawera 
              Magistrate's Court to put the matter before Captain Wray. His decision, 
              given a fortnight later, provided Taranaki's legal guidelines on bush burning 
              for years thereafter.

            
Fitzgerald v. Crowley was a claim ‘for £100, alleged damage done to 
              plaintiff's property adjoining the defendant's at Kaupokonui’.

2 Fitzgerald 
              himself was first called to prove the damage, which he detailed as follows:
              


              

                

                  
	Hut
                  
	
                  
	£12
                

                

                  
	Rye grass seed
                  
	120 bushels @ 5s
                  
	30
                

                

                  
	
                  
	share in 180 bushels

*
                  
	9
                

                

                  
	Grass seed
                  
	12 acres not cut @ £1
                  
	12
                

                

                  
	37 bags
                  
	
                  
	1 10s
                

                

                  
	Bridle and saddle
                  
	
                  
	5 10s
                

                

                  
	Contents of hut
                  
	(grass seed, bags, clothing, fixtures, provisions & sundries)
                  
	21 14s
                

                

                  
	Fencing
                  
	half share 14 chains @ 12s
                  
	4 4s
                

                

                  
	
                  
	half share 8 chains @ 7s
                  
	1 8s
                

                

                  
	
                  
	6 chains @ 12s
                  
	3 12s
                

              

            

            
Fitzgerald was obviously into grass seed in quite a big way. In the 
              
Wanganui 
Yeoman of 1 June 1883 its agricultural reporter told of Fitzgerald 
              having ‘done a good bit of clearing, from 50 to 60 acres having been laid 
              down’. However, this would have been just after his second burning season, 
              so it seems likely he would have had 25 to 30 acres shut up for seed in the 
              1882–83 summer. If the 300 bushels of rye grass seed in his claim refers to 
              crop he had just harvested, he must have had a heavy crop on upwards of 
              20 acres in addition to the 12 acres awaiting harvest. The grass seed lost with 
              the hut may have been about to be sown on the current burn. Over half his 
              claim was for the bulk of the season's produce from his clearing, the rest 
              was for improvements, equipment and sundries. The half share of fencing 
              will have been for the boundary fence. Under examination Fitzgerald 
              admitted that ‘several items as charged were excessive’, but even so he had 
              obviously been hard hit.

            
Near neighbour 
Maurice Fitzgerald was then called to corroborate the 
              plaintiff's evidence and, with 
Joel Prestidge and another, to prove the custom 
              as to burning.

            
The witnesses all admitted that the weather was calm in the morning, but that 
              it suddenly came on to blow a stiff breeze, and that they tried to save the 
              property; also that the customary time for burning was in February and 
              March, although the witnesses did not appear to have had any lengthened 
              experience on this coast.

            
The gist of the plaintiff's case was that Crowley had fired at an 
              unseasonable time as grass seed was still awaiting harvest, and that his 
              negligence in not using ordinary care and diligence included failure to give 
              notice to his neighbour.

            
Crowley's lawyer, 
Elliot Barton, argued in defence that as the morning was 
              calm, as was already proved, and as the wind was blowing at the time of the 
              lighting of the fire from the West, and consequently from the plaintiff's land, 
              and that had the wind not changed, there would have been no damage, that 
              the defendant was not guilty of negligence, there being no statute …
              


              compelling him to give notice. He quoted authorities to show that the 
              defendant was not liable, on the ground that the catastrophe was beyond the 
              control of the defendant, the wind having changed its course … The 
              defendant was, moreover, a heavy loser himself.

            

Daniel Crowley gave evidence that he had lit the fire four chains to the 
              rear of his house at about 11 o'clock, with the wind blowing away from the 
              house and from the road. Twenty minutes later the wind began to blow in 
              the contrary direction. He hurried to the successful defence of his house, 
              but lost an outhouse, cow-yard, garden and a crop of grass and had some 
              cattle injured, the total damage amounting to £70. 
Oliver Robinson 
              (possibly the son of Mrs Harry Robinson, who had been Hannah's midwife) 
              corroborated Crowley's account of the wind and contradicted the plaintiff's 
              witnesses both as to custom and the extent of the damage. He had offered 
              to save some of Fitzgerald's seed but Fitzgerald did not seem anxious. A 
              settler with 16 years of Taranaki experience then gave evidence that January 
              was a good month for burning and ‘that there was no custom as to notice 
              on this coast’.

            
Captain Wray would have been well aware that his decision was of 
              considerable public interest as it had widespread implications. A highly 
              regarded local leader, with a record of surveying and military service in the 
              district dating back to the 1860s, he had the experience to make a wise 
              decision in terms of local circumstances, and the standing for his decision 
              to gain ready acceptance. His judgment given on 14 March accepted the 
              defence evidence on the wind shift, and quoted case law to the effect that 
              ‘the mere act of lighting a fire would not necessarily render the lighter 
              responsible for damages, and he would be excused if the fire spread from 
              some unforeseen and superior cause, which could not have been prevented’. 
              He discussed the timing of burning at some length and there would have 
              been widespread relief at his statement that ‘As to burning so early as 
              January, there does not seem to be anything unusual in that.’ He thought 
              Crowley should have given notice to his neighbours, but noted that ‘the 
              plaintiff himself burnt early for two seasons, and gave no notice to his 
              neighbours’. The decision was in favour of the defendant, with costs. A 
              decision the other way would have inhibited bush settlement and might have 
              brought Taranaki a plague of litigation for years.

            
So the two Daniels had to set about recouping their losses by careful 
              husbandry, negotiate the replacement of their boundary fence, and 
              somehow get on with being neighbours. There would have been a strong 
              call for neighbourliness when Daniel Crowley died suddenly just under a 
              year after the fire. Crowley family tradition reports him disillusioned with 
              the Taranaki climate at the time of his death, and seriously considering 
              returning to the 
West Coast. Daniel's death followed his receiving sunstroke 
              at Manaia. He died at home on 13 January 1884, after making a will two 
              days earlier leaving everything to Hannah, and was buried in the Manaia 
              cemetery.
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Hannah was left in an unenviable position: a 30-year-old widow with 
              two infant sons and pregnant with a daughter. The farm was still an 
              immature clearing, needing a steady application of heavy labour, its recovery 
              from the fire hampered by the succession of unseasonable summers. The 
              community must have rallied to Hannah's support as she is said to have 
              continued on the clearing for a time. Then one day when she went to bring 
              her three cows in for milking they took off into the bush. She had to follow 
              them down to Kapuni before she could get them to come back. When at 
              last she got back to the cottage she found the three children asleep at the 
              door. She decided then and there that they would leave the clearing and 
              move to Manaia, where she earned some money cleaning offices. She leased 
              the farm, having to accept a horse for payment. This still left her with the 
              problems of finding a more secure living, providing for her children's future, 
              and making more satisfactory arrangements for the farm. In terms of the 
              times the obvious solution was remarriage. This she did in 1887, to her Neill. 
              Road neighbour Stephen Kissick. It was a Protestant/Roman Catholic 
              marriage, but for both this was obviously outweighed by other factors. 
              Hannah solved her problems and Stephen gained the boon of an experienced 
              bush homemaker. The children of the union were raised in the Roman 
              Catholic faith, which Stephen also joined at the last, to be laid beside 
              Hannah in the 
Kaponga cemetery.

          



* [Seems to be a 1/5 share; the other 4/5 must have belonged to the harvesters.]
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A Wild Cattle Shooting Case

            
In August 1885 Captain Wray had another opportunity to use his influence 
              and good judgment for the bush settlers' benefit. This time he did so by
              


              disclaiming any involvement with the prosecution of two 
Kaponga men for 
              the alleged unlawful shooting of wild cattle. Wray was now no longer a 
              magistrate but Commissioner of Crown Lands for Taranaki, in which 
              capacity he was the officer authorised to sell wild cattle depasturing on 
              Crown lands. This, however, he did not do, but instead tacitly consented to 
              their being freely hunted by the bush settlers. His attitude was a wise 
              acceptance of local realities.

            
When settlers occupied the Waimate Plains in 1881 they found them 
              alive with feral animals, especially pigs and cattle, which had to be removed 
              before the land could be effectively farmed. For months there was a 
              tremendous slaughter. In April 1881 one plains settler was reported to have 
              killed 303 wild pigs in a fortnight and a neighbour many more than this over 
              a longer period, while a hunting party of four shot 47 wild bulls in the first week of the month. Parties were also formed to round up mobs of wild horses bought from the Maori.

3 The plains were soon cleaned out but 
              hunting and shooting went on for years in the bush, mainly for cattle as pigs 
              and horses did not take kindly to the bush. These cattle provided a handy 
              source of meat for both surveyors and settlers, and their hides provided 
              useful supplementary income. They were also hunted because they were a 
              nuisance. The Kaupokonui ‘Our Own’ of 20 May 1886 reported most 
              settlers having lost cattle, some as many as 20, and that an expedition was 
              to scour the bush in an effort to retrieve some of them. Wild herds would 
              have been a major cause of these losses as well as being a nuisance in 
              breaking through fences and raiding pastures and crops. The settlers had a 
              clear claim to unbranded animals running wild on their own sections, but 
              they must also have felt that the wild herds ‘owed’ something for the losses 
              they caused.

            
The two 
Kaponga men whose misfortune it was to be hauled before the 
              bench of the Manaia Magistrate's Court in August 1885 were 
George 
              Melville* and 
James Hayes.* The charge was of having ‘unlawfully shot two 
              cattle, the property of the Crown, with the intent of stealing their carcasses’. 
              Sergeant Anderson of 
Hawera who prosecuted told how, from information 
              received, the police had gone to Block VI Kaupokonui (west of upper 
              Rowan Road) and there found, about two chains below the forest reserve 
              boundary, the skeletons of two cattle shot by Melville and Hayes, the flesh 
              having been taken by them. These facts were not disputed, rather defence 
              counsel Cuff of 
Hawera maintained that there was no proof the cattle 
              belonged to Her Majesty and that the whole community hunted wild cattle 
              openly, believing they had a perfect right to do so. Cuff began by saying 
              that

            
… he was shocked to think that his clients, respectable settlers, who 
              according to the evidence of the witnesses for the prosecution bore excellent 
              characters, should be placed where they were to answer a criminal charge, 
              which if proved, might subject them to 14 years imprisonment.

4

            


            
He stated that the Crown had failed to prove the cattle had been shot 
              on its land and as they were only a few paces from the forest reserve, which 
              was not Crown Land, nor was it proved that they had no reputed or 
              apparent owner. He also doubted whether larceny could be committed of 
              wild cattle as 
fera naturae as in the case of deer &c. He reported Captain 
              Wray as disclaiming anything to do with the prosecution and called 
              
Kaponga storekeeper 
Henry Davy, who

            
… gave evidence of the fact that cattle hunting was a common practice, that 
              it was a benefit to the settlers to get rid of the cattle and that he did not for 
              one moment think that the accused were guilty of any criminal act.

            
The case was remitted to the 
New Plymouth Supreme Court, where it 
              was set down for the sitting beginning on 29 October 1885. However, it 
              does not seem to have been proceeded with. One wonders who initiated the 
              complaint and why it ever reached court. The 
Yeoman's Manaia ‘Our Own’ 
              commented that ‘This is the first case of the kind ever brought, and excited 
              great interest.’ Like Fitzgerald v Crowley the outcome confirmed customs 
              and understandings already tacitly accepted in the face of the realities of 
              bush frontier life.
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The Saga of Hayes's Bull

            

James Hayes seems to have had a lightning-rod attraction for trouble. The 
              following winter he found himself at odds with his neighbours when a bull 
              of his got loose on Palmer Road. Hayes had taken a 100-acre DP section on 
              the west side of Manaia Road just-below the 
Kaponga township site in 
              September 1882. Besides meeting his DP payments he had a wife and a 
              family of six to provide for, so he supplemented his farming income by 
              taking road contracts, hunting wild cattle and gathering fungus.

            
In ‘Notes from the Bush’ of 11 August 1887 a 
Star correspondent 
              remarked that most quarrels among farming people were caused by cattle 
              trespassing and that a bull of an inquiring mind, anxious to explore some of 
              the neighbouring farms, was sufficient to put a settler on bad terms with 
              several of those about him. The exploits of Hayes's bull along Palmer Road 
              on 20 July 1886 illustrate this well. Its rampage caused trouble both on the 
              road and in at least four properties along it. A rather confusing account of 
              what happened was unfolded in cross-litigation in the Manaia Magistrate's 
              Court the following October

5.

            
It seems that Hayes was running this bull in a Palmer Road paddock 
              rented from 
R. Dingle. On 20 July 1886, as 
G.H. McKenzie and 
William 
              Hicks were driving a herd of cattle past, the bull jumped the fence and 
              joined them. It then jumped further fences into various properties and in 
              
G.H. McKenzie's it caused some damage. McKenzie advised Hayes of the 
              bull's trespass and of the damage. Hayes tendered £10 for the damage but 
              could not get his bull back as McKenzie had set off with it for the Manaia 
              pound and lost it on the way. Thereafter it was missing, though one witness
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              reported seeing it on Palmer Road on 24 July. Hayes proceeded against 
              McKenzie for the loss of the bull and McKenzie countered with a charge 
              against Hayes as the owner of a bull found wandering at large.

            
The court heard McKenzie first. A Scotsman from Ayrshire, he 
              conducted his own case, calling his own father, 
George McKenzie, and 
              
William Hicks in support. Hayes had lawyer Caplen to conduct the defence. 
              Hayes's eldest son, 19-year-old James, told of seeing the bull in his father's 
              paddock on 20 July. The magistrate decided that Hayes was not to blame 
              for the bull breaking out and dismissed the information.

            
The courrdealt with Hayes's claim for £46, detailed thus:
              

                

                  
	Loss sustained through illegal detention of bull
                  
	£11
                

                

                  
	Loss of time
                  
	5
                

                

                  
	Value of bull
                  
	30
                

              

            

            
In defence McKenzie called storekeeper Henry Davy, who valued the 
              bull at from £3 to £5, and 
Daniel Fitzgerald, who valued it at about £4. The 
              very equivocal judgment was ‘for £5 or return of bull, and £5 for loss to 
              defendant, with costs of court’. Whether the trek to the Manaia courthouse 
              brought about any reduction in local tensions one cannot say.
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John Finlay's ‘Trip to the Bush’

            
When studying a past community it is always exciting to find a report from 
              an informed and intelligent outside visitor. We are fortunate to have one 
              such for the Kaupokonui bush community of the 1880s. He is 
John Finlay 
              (c. 1855-c. 1928), who grew up in County Wicklow, Ireland, on his father's 
              farm, which had been in the family for over 200 years. Emigrating to New 
              Zealand in 1871 he farmed for 12 years near 
Timaru, being active in local 
              affairs and contributing frequently to the newspapers. In 1881 he sold out 
              and took a trip to 
California and 
Britain. Returning in 1882 he spent a year 
              or two as agricultural correspondent of the 

Timaru Herald, visiting farms 
              throughout 
Canterbury and Otago. In 1885 he moved to Taranaki, took an 
              open-country farm south of 
Hawera, and promptly became the 
Star's 
              Manutahi ‘Our Own’. It was thus as an experienced colonist, agriculturalist 
              and newspaper reporter that he reported in the 
Star of 27 October 1886 on 
              his first real contact with bush life:

            
A TRIP TO THE BUSH


              [BY OUR MANUTAHI CORRESPONDENT]


              It is a good many years since I landed in New Zealand, and yet in the interval 
              I have never until the occasion I am now writing of, spent a night in the bush. 
              I do not mean to say I never spent a night in the wild uninhabited part of our 
              colony. Far from it. I have spent months at a time camped out in what is 
              known in South 
Canterbury and other portions of New Zealand as the bush, 
              but in reality it was nothing more than rolling prairie covered with tussock 
              and cabbage trees. Very little firewood of any description could be found;
              


              what little there was being of a very indifferent nature. In fact, firewood was 
              a very important item in our weekly board bill. I have paid and received as 
              much as £4 per cord for black pine firewood, but then it must be borne in 
              mind that it had to be carted between 40 and 50 miles. On this coast bush 
              settlers would be only too glad to have it carted or burned off their sections.

            
Wishing to see the primeval forest and how it was falling before the axe 
              of our pioneer settlers, I resolved to do so when the first opportunity 
              presented itself. Not knowing many bush settlers, I thought of an old 
              acquaintance whose address I knew to be Skeet Road, but the location of the 
              aforesaid road was a mystery. ‘Somewhere in the bush near Mount 
              
Egmont’—such is my impression. However, on Saturday, October 16th, I 
              happened to be in the vicinity of Okaiawa, and thought, now here is the 
              chance of carrying out my long-cherished wish. But where did my friend 
              live? was the next question that presented itself. Meeting Mr W.A. Arnold, a 
              bush settler, I intimated to him my proposed undertaking, for to me it was 
              such. This gentleman assured me he would see me conducted to the end of 
              my destination. Just the very thing I wanted. My new found guide and I 
              adjourned to the local store and post-office: he to get his EGMONT STAR; I 
              to lay in an abundant supply of the fragrant weed, for I was candidly assured 
              bush settlers were unable to indulge in such luxuries, and if I ran short it 
              would be a matter of impossibility to buy or borrow when once in there. 
              Well, I am very happy to say I was misinformed, for during my short stay in 
              the bush, I found all in a good and prosperous position. Certainly they have 
              up-hill work to clear the bush and get it sown down to grass. When that is 
              accomplished, then they can smoke the pipe of peace and ease, watching their 
              stock increasing and fattening.

            
But I am slightly digressing, or, rather, running before my narrative. 
              Leaving Okaiawa and heading towards the standing timber, we soon found 
              ourselves ‘in the bush.’ We were on the Ahipipihi road. I hope I have spelled 
              it right. [No, you haven't, but never mind.—ED.] The first time I saw it in 
              print I nearly screwed my mouth out of shape, trying to pronounce it. The 
              nearest approach to the sound is hi pipi. Night coming on fast, it being about 
              seven o'clock in the evening, we pushed on. A smart canter of a few miles 
              over a level and partially metalled road, and we were at the residence of Mr. 
              Arnold. On the verandah Mrs. A. stood, anxiously expecting her lord and 
              master, who had been detained longer than he expected, breaking in a young 
              horse.

            
Our ablutions being hastily performed, we soon found ourselves in the 
              kitchen, where half-burned rata logs on the fire-place threw out a strong but 
              to us a pleasant heat: while the table was covered with steaming and 
              appetising viands, to which were done ample justice. From the ceiling and 
              around the walls hung, to farmers and settlers, the most profitable pictures— 
              huge sides of bacon and ham. Not wishing to start on my trip till the moon 
              should show her silvery face, I had an hour or more yet to wait, that 
              luminary not making her appearance till a little after nine o'clock. The
              


              STAR'S contents were eagerly scanned, and the principal items discussed, or, 
              at least, the ones most dear to bush settlers—viz., butter, beef, and fungus; the 
              latter making a considerable addition to the bush settler's yearly income. As 
              the evening was advancing, I began to fear my friend, with whom I was going 
              to spend the night, would have retired unless I hurried on. Mr. A's eldest boy 
              was soon on horse-back, and evidently appeared to enjoy the privilege of 
              acting as my guide.

            
As we walked, or cantered where we could, my valuable companion gave 
              me all and more information than I required. Passing a house or section I 
              would be informed who lived there, the number of stock, acreage, etc. 
              Presently we came to Te Ngutu-o-te-Manu reserve, which is fenced in, there 
              being a wooden cross erected where Major Von Tempsky was supposed to be 
              killed…. I jogged quietly along, musing over the past, and taking no notice 
              of the numerous questions of my guide, only occasionally looking askant at 
              the rising moon, which showed the dead ratas in all their blackness, as silent 
              sentinels of the forest's former greatness.

            
Presently my hack went full tilt into the Kapuni river. Whether my legs 
              were too long, my steed low, or the water high I cannot say, but a portion of 
              the cold liquid finding its way into my boots soon brought my wandering 
              mind back to things substantive. With a plunge and some splashing we soon 
              managed to make out on the other side. On rising a slight grade we came to 
              the residence of Mr Watkins. One section more and I am at my proposed 
              journey's end. A few more mud holes to be negotiated—of which there are 
              plenty—and I am safely landed at the large gate leading into the residence of 
              Mr. John Bentley, and here I parted with my little guide, who quickly 
              cantered to his home. Wishing to let the inmates know that a stranger is 
              about, I heralded my own approach by singing out ‘ship ahoy’. This, as I 
              afterwards learned, nearly sent Mrs. B. into hysterics, for she requested her 
              dear John to bolt the door and draw the blinds closer, so that no intrusive 
              person might peer through or come in.

            
Working my way round to the back yard, I presently saw a close-cropped head with mutton chop whiskers and large moustache come through
              the kitchen door. ‘Who comes there?’ was the query. ‘Why,’ he exclaimed, ‘it's 
              the Manutahi correspondent to the STAR! What on earth brings you here at 
              this untimely hour of the night? You surely have not left your lively little 
              township to seek news in this dull and monotonous out of the way place?’ 
              Having assured him such formed part of my object in view and having 
              secured my nag in the calf park—be it known there are parks in the bush as 
              well as the open—we soon found our way inside. As the good folk were to 
              retire for the night, the fire was raked, for in the bush the fire is never 
              allowed to go out. Mrs B soon had the ghreen shaugh (red embers) pulled to 
              the front, and several large logs put on, of which there is an abundant supply 
              close to the back door. Now, an American likes to feel the heat; he, therefore 
              bottles up the fire in a stove. An Englishman feels happy if he can see a fire; 
              he is to all intents and purposes content. But in this case we both saw and felt
              


              this pleasant fire, the night being very chilly; in fact, there was a slight frost. 
              It is related in Napoleon Bonaparte's memoirs that after his retreat from 
              
Russia and while basking himself before a fire in his own sitting room in 
              Paris, that he exclaimed, ‘Ah, this is better than 
Moscow!’ Well, I considered 
              it much more conducive to my comfort to sit there watching the fire glow 
              than be spluttering through the mud and the Kapuni river.

            
Here we sat chatting till the wee small hours—beyant the twal. Mr. B. is 
              breaking in a number of young cattle to the bail, and during the previous day 
              had lassoed a calf of eight or nine days of age, and had it tied in his back 
              yard. At about 2. a.m. on Sunday morning, its mother found out her 
              progeny's whereabouts, and the noise made by these brutes caused me to 
              think that old 
Egmont had burst forth, and let some of her imps loose. Mine 
              host, wishing to abate the nuisance, tied this young bovine to a stout post; 
              then pushing it through a wicketgate, not daring to venture to the stockyard, 
              decidedly declining an interview with the mother's horns. Even this 
              precaution would not permit Morpheus to soothe the writer, as the mopawks 
              made night hideous with their cries. At 5.10 a.m. mine host was about, his 
              time registering 7 a.m.—not a bad margin between bush and telegraph time. 
              No sooner had Mr. B. entered his backyard than he noticed his calfship 
              nimbly hopping over logs led by its gallant mother, who, during the night, 
              had eaten the rope through, thus liberating her offspring from durance vile. 
              During the day, three men failed to recapture that incarnate imp.

            
Now a word about Mr. Bentley may not be out of place. Born in 
              Banbury, 
Yorkshire, England (his father being an extensive weaver, employing 
              a considerable staff of hands, the subject of this sketch being clerk in his 
              father's office and this work not agreeing with him), he came out to New 
              Zealand with his pockets well-filled with the almighty dollar, and, in the 
              company with another young man, Mr. H.W. Davy, bought a good tract of 
              country at 
Kaponga. Mr. Davy now represents that district on the Waimate 
              Road Board. Mr Bentley, considering the quality of the land in that district 
              not all he desired, sold his portion to his partner, and came down to the Skeet 
              road, where he bought his present farm. About that time the land fever was 
              on, and sections there were selling up to £14 percent. Mr. B. has his section 
              nearly all felled, ring fenced, subdivided into five paddocks, comfortable 
              dwelling house, outhouses, stockyard and shed, and half an acre of garden 
              grubbed. Yet, if placed in the market, he assured me, he could not get near the 
              figure he gave for it. The Government reducing their land 100 per cent has 
              caused a fearful depreciation all round in bush farms. Mr. Bentley is going in 
              dairy farming, and as a nucleus has about a dozen cows in profit. He has a 
              supply of timber stacked on the ground waiting the carpenters' arrival to 
              erect a dairy. When the Manaia factory starts operations he is thinking of 
              sending his milk there. Sixteen months ago he added the spare rib, and is now 
              blessed with a little olive branch, which is its mother's pride and father's joy.

            
During the day, in company with Mr. Bentley, I trudged through a 
              number of sections, over stumps and logs; my companion, being used to the
              


              bush, hopped about with the greatest of ease, while in a very short time I was 
              dead beat. Not wishing to let him know my shortcomings, I used 
              occasionally to stop and admire some felled giant of the forest, but in reality 
              it was to get breathing time. In my scramblings I was pleasantly surprised to 
              see such luxuriant growth of grass, logs nearly covered, while the stock, even 
              at this season of the year, was almost rolling fat. In the afternoon a number of 
              settlers, male and female, called on mine host, horseback being their mode of 
              conveyance; vehicles are out of question on these muddy roads in winter 
              time. As the company represented 
Kaponga, Manaia, and Okaiawa, your 
              humble servant, being an outsider, could not very well join in the 
              conversation. The gentlemen talked of bushfelling, grass, beef, and fungus; 
              while the ladies were dead on butter, cheese, and children.

            
By the way, one of the ladies present said her boys' gathering of fungus 
              last season came to within a few shillings of £30. So instead of children being 
              a drag on a man in the bush they are a very great help. In 1882 the writer was 
              travelling by rail from 
Invercargill to Kingston, and in the same carriage with 
              him was a settler who appeared to be well known along the line, for at the 
              various stations he was greeted with—‘Guid morning, Jock; hoo are rabbeet-skins selling below?’ meaning in 
Invercargill, while in and around Kingston
              the settlers' first greetings were about rabbits or their skins, wife and families 
              being only of second consideration. In the Kaupokonui district fungus is the 
              staple item. Recently the following occurred:—First Settler: ‘How are things 
              in the city?’ Second Settler, just returned from 
Hawera: ‘Oh, very dull; fungus 
              is down 1d and butter only 8d to 7d per pound.’ They part, each looking to 
              see if his boots required typing, and mentally calculating their respective loss 
              through the recent fall of both staple articles.

            
For general information I found settlers on the whole well posted up, the 
              STAR being their 
multum in parvo of this world's news. If perseverance, 
              working long hours, and economy are stepping stones to competency, surely 
              our bush settlers ought to achieve that coveted position—early to rise, 
              hewing, hacking and burning all day long. The major portion of sections are 
              plainly showing the effect of this continuous struggle. A good burn is always 
              looked forward to, and if such cannot be obtained they are content. There is a 
              better supply of dead wood lying about for the growth of fungus. Some look 
              forward to the not very distant date when the plough will be able to do its 
              work. Then the settler may view his fields of golden-eared wheat and well 
              stocked paddocks, and after a hard day's toil retire under his verandah and 
              smoke his pipe in peace, taking a retrospective view of the past and many 
              hard years of uphill work he had had to accomplish this long-wished-for 
              repose. That is providing the heat of summer and the rains of winter have no 
              given him lumbago, sciatica, or rheumatism, or some morning he may wake 
              up and find his limbs not acting as heretofore. A few days illness and he joins 
              the great majority. Another takes his place, and he is soon forgotten in the 
              bustle of this world's affairs.
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For public consumption 
John Finlay presented his visit to the Bentley 
              home as the result of a spur of the moment decision to look up an old 
              acquaintance to whom his arrival was a complete surprise. In fact Finlay's 
              and Bentley's wives were sisters, both couples having married the previous 
              year. 
Emma Swadling had married Finlay and 
Alice Swadling had married 
              Bentley, and they were sisters of 
Kaponga pioneer settler William Swadling. 
              In 1883 he was followed to New Zealand by a family party consisting of 
              his mother, 55-year-old housekeeper 
Elizabeth Swadling, his younger 
              brother Frederick, and his sisters 27-year-old Emma and 21-year-old Alice, 
              both housemaids. As we have seen from Finlay's account, 
John Bentley was 
              an immigrant from 
Yorkshire who had gone into partnership with Henry 
              Davy in land at 
Kaponga. Crown land grants date their first 
Kaponga 
              purchase at 11 November 1882, so they will have known 
William Swadling 
              from the settlement's founding days.

            
What we are dealing with here it seems is a planned weekend family visit 
              with an associated community get-together. The likely scenario is that 
              Finlay arranged with the 
Star to do this article, discussed the trip with the 
              Bentleys either in person or by letter, and reached an agreement that if
              


              weather and circumstances were right he would travel on from a Saturday 
              market-day visit to 
Hawera on 16 October. A get-together of bush friends 
              of the Bentleys could then have been tentatively arranged for the Sunday 
              afternoon, the moon being right for them to make an evening journey home. 
              A strong contingent could be expected from 
Kaponga, including Alice's 
              brother 
William Swadling and John's old mate 
Henry Davy who, if he had 
              already begun storekeeping, would have been well placed to put the word 
              around. The following year Henry married Agnes Hutchinson, whose 
              family home was just along Skeet Road from the Bentleys, so the 
              Hutchinson family were probably at the gathering.
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Finlay's report illustrates various facets of Kaupokonui bush life. As a 
              grateful guest he responded with a laudatory account of bush life while not 
              glossing too much over its privations. The primitive state of the roads was 
              clear. He found Ahipaipa Road, the main access route to the block, only 
              partially metalled. Of mud holes he noted that ‘there were plenty’. He 
              summed up his moonlight ride as ‘spluttering through the mud and the 
              Kapuni river’. Next day the visitors all came on horseback because ‘vehicles 
              are out of question on these muddy roads in winter time’. He seemed 
              intrigued with the fungus trade, which he likened to the rabbit skin industry 
              he had seen in the south. He returned repeatedly to the delights of the ample 
              log fires in the settlers' kitchens. At 
W.A. Arnold's he showed us a more 
              developed farm homestead with its ‘huge sides of bacon and ham’ hanging 
              from ceiling and walls, indicating an established dairy herd and a household 
              with well-developed subsistence skills. At Bentley's he had some more 
              primitive experiences: the manner of his arrival bringing out 
Alice Bentley's 
              insecurity in her new environment; the nocturnal blaring arising from the 
              first steps towards a dairy herd; the very early awakening due to Bentley's 
              ‘bush time’ being two hours ahead of ‘telegraph time’; the timber for the 
              dairy stacked awaiting the carpenters; the tiring exertion of scrambling over 
              the logs and stumps of the clearing.

            
As a newcomer to the bush, Finlay saw rather more than he understood. 
              The evidence is there that these folk were being edged by local realities 
              firmly towards a dairying future, but Finlay's closing picture of future 
              fulfilment was of the settler smoking his pipe under his verandah looking 
              out over his fields of golden-eared wheat. There was more to Bentley's bush 
              career than is brought out in Finlay's sketch. A likely reading of it is that 
              Bentley and Davy first saw their future as evolving from their buying into 
              the ground floor of the new bush township of 
Kaponga. With the delay in 
              the appearance of the township, Davy opted for toughing it out, while 
              Bentley decided on a new strategy. Accepting the case for dairying and its 
              move to the factory system, he decided that 
Kaponga was as yet too remote 
              for the industry and so shifted to Skeet Road in the hope that initiatives for 
              a factory at nearby Manaia would come to fruition. As a fall-back position 
              he was erecting his own dairy. Whether his young bride already had dairying 
              skills, or whether she was a beginner out to learn from her Sunday afternoon
              


              lady visitors ‘dead on butter, cheese, and children’ we are not told.

            
Throughout Finlay's report there are many hints of the teamwork of 
              yeoman life, and of the importance of the particular skills that women as 
              well as men brought to wresting a livelihood from their challenging 
              environment. Mrs Arnold produced both a table ‘covered with steaming and 
              appetising viands' and the provision for the future months that hung from 
              her walls and ceilings; Mrs Bentley was the guardian of the fire that ‘is 
              never allowed to go out’. There are indications also of the contributions the 
              children were making. Finlay's ‘little guide’ on his moonlight ride took the 
              task in his stride, proving a ‘valuable companion’ who could provide ‘all and 
              more information than I required’ and making nothing of having to ride the 
              lonely journey back alone. On the Sunday afternoon Finlay heard of one 
              family's boys making the valuable contribution of nearly £30 to its budget 
              from the season's fungus gathering. There are various indications of the 
              men's work: Arnold had been breaking in a young horse, Bentley was 
              ‘breaking in a young cattle to the bail’; and he had grubbed half an acre of 
              garden; bush settler life is described as ‘hewing, hacking and burning all day 
              long’; bush settler talk was of ‘bushfelling, grass, beef, and fungus’.

            
Finlay included several boosts for the 
Star, but one judges that most 
              settlers would have considered them well deserved. It was, of course, his 
              connection with the press that made him something of a drawcard for the 
              Bentleys' Sunday afternoon gathering.
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The Chameleon House on Manaia Road

            

James Hayes had yet another brush with the law after losing his home in a 
              suspicious fire on the night of 15 September 1888. The house was on the 
              west side of Manaia Road, a little south of the 
Kaponga township. Living 
              there at the time were James, aged 44, his wife Catherine, 43, John, 21, 
              Joseph, 15, Thomas, 13, a daughter, 11, and another son, eight. Older 
              daughter, Mary, was married and living beyond Otakeho.

            
The household began to disperse early on the afternoon of Friday, 14 
              September. By late next evening the house was empty. Next morning it was 
              found burnt to the ground. Suspicions about the fire led to a thorough 
              investigation by Constable Franklin of Manaia. A fire inquest that lasted 
              ‘four long days’ began in a crowded Manaia courthouse on 3 October. 
              Evidence was heard from 27 witnesses, and Hayes's counsel had a number 
              of others whom he decided to keep back for ‘likely further legal 
              proceedings’. This enquiry throws a brief flood of light on 
Kaponga pioneer 
              circumstances and social relations—a much broader beam than our previous 
              episodes. Neither coroner nor jury were satisfied with what they heard for 
              there was a mass of contradictory evidence of such a nature that perjury was 
              clearly involved. Several witnesses told of being approached, either by 
              Hayes or on his behalf, and offered bribes to perjure themselves. The jury 
              was unable to decide on the cause of the fire. We, however, can be thankful
              


              that even witnesses telling only ‘likely stories’ were throwing light on the 
              nature of their lives. We will suggest some alternative likelihoods as we 
              proceed.
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James Hayes took the Manaia Road property on DP in September 1882 
              and at the time of the fire held 329 acres—a considerable property. In 1885 
              he erected his substantial two-storeyed house. In August 1887, while 
              involved in complicated negotiations with a Patea agent about insuring the 
              house, he met at Davy's store Charles Major, mayor of 
Hawera, in 
Kaponga 
              canvassing for 
Felix McGuire in the general election. Finding that Major was 
              agent for the Northern Insurance Company, Hayes arranged for him to see 
              the house immediately and fix the matter up. The nature and value of the 
              house became the main matter in dispute at the inquest. Before we see how 
              Major came to give the house a very unsatisfactory inspection let us look at 
              Hayes' version and the alternative one. At the inquest Hayes began his 
              account of the house with the insurance story:

            
… saw [Major] at 
Kaponga at the store; did not particularise articles of 
              furniture when making the proposal; told him there were ten rooms, and that 
              it was a two storey house shingled; the house had been erected about two 
              years before the insurance was effected; got the timber from different 
              people—from Langley Bros., Melville, Days, and some from two sawyers at 
              the Kapuni bridge; the shingles were split by me; Barlow partly built the 
              house by contract for labour only; I was to give him a clean receipt for a debt 
              he owed me (£4 10s) £12 cash, and his food whilst at work; reckon the house 
              cost me £400 in all; am not sure whether I told Major of my estimate, but I 
              told him that the size was 40ft by 28ft unpainted; building was rusticated all 
              round; there were six rooms and passage downstairs, four rooms upstairs 
              lined and papered, was all match-lined to 41/2 ft from floor; there was a 
              double chimney; every room downstairs was match-lined; Barlow did not 
              complete the gable end facing the mountain, which was only about half 
              finished; ‘Wallaby Tom’ helped me do it about a year ago; I did the whole of 
              the scrimming and papering upstairs; bought scrim and paper about five years 
              ago from Days about the time he filed; and have had them in the house ever 
              since; there were eight doors downstairs; one window upstairs for the three 
              rooms; walls downstairs were 8ft 6in, and 3ft 10 in upstairs.

            
A good idea of the alternative version is provided by the evidence of 
              
David Briggs, a young labourer who had worked for Hayes:

            
Know Hayes' house; have often been there; lived there a fortnight about 
              12 or 13 months ago; have often been in the house since then, last time about 
              7 or 8 weeks ago; was then in the three back rooms; was in bedroom talking 
              to McLean; bedroom was not lined at all; partition was of rough boards, with 
              spaces between, about 7 or 8 ft high; at ends of the room could see studs; in 
              the ceiling could see joists; boards were laid on top of them; kitchen was not 
              lined; could see studs; ceiling was similar to that of Jack's and Joe's rooms;
              


              there was a ladder made of poles leading from Joe's room upstairs; ladder was 
              not firmly fixed; was upstairs about 12 months ago; upstairs was all one room 
              containing fungus; room on left-hand side of front door was Mrs Hayes' 
              bedroom; was there about 10 weeks ago; was helping to carry in some flour 
              bought by Hayes; took all the flour, 8 or 10 cwt, into this room, and none 
              into the room on right-hand side; there was no chest of drawers in Mrs 
              Hayes' room, which was not lined; there were five rooms downstairs; no 
              windows upstairs; there was a hole at the end of the upstairs room facing the 
              bush; saw no timber stacked about the premises inside or out.

            
Hayes and his family described a well-developed two-storey dwelling, 
              match-lined, scrimmed and papered. The four upstairs rooms included the 
              bedrooms of James and Catherine and of their younger daughter, and a 
              fungus drying room. In the alternative version the upstairs was an 
              undeveloped loft reached by a rickety bush ladder and used solely for 
              storing and drying fungus. The ground floor was roughly finished and 
              unlined with few windows. George Hurley told the inquest that he had 
              inspected the house as tax valuer in 1885 and valued it then at £90. Sawmiller 
              Robert Palmer, who had last been in the house early in 1888, put its value 
              then at £140. Major's assessment as the insuring agent should help us decide 
              between these versions, but the jury commented in a rider to its verdict that 
              ‘the property was over insured, and showed great negligence on the part of 
              the agent accepting the risk’. Major gave his evidence, with lawyer Caplen 
              appearing to cross-examine on behalf of the Northern Insurance Company 
              and C. Bridge, an agent of the company, present ‘to watch the case on their 
              behalf’:

            
I was recently agent for the Northern Insurance Company; had a risk of £200 
              on the house burned, and £100 on the furniture…. do not remember the 
              amount at which Hayes valued his house and furniture at date when 
              insurance was effected, but it must have been over £200, or I would not have 
              insured it for £200; I looked in at the kitchen door, but did not go through 
              the house; the proposal produced is the one on which the first policy was 
              issued for £250 and £50; since then a policy for £200 and £100 has been issued 
              on second proposal (produced) … the ‘insurable’ value of any property 
              varies, but is usually about three fourths of the actual value; when I inspected 
              the building, I thought the cost would be about £300; did not think the 
              building was a shell; thought it would be before long finished; understood 
              that some of the rooms downstairs were lined; with reference to the furniture, 
              I accepted Hayes's word, considering that in a house of those dimensions 
              £100 worth of furniture would not go very far; I accepted his statement as to 
              value of furniture.

            
[To Mr Caplen] The first proposal was made to me during electioneering 
              times at 
Kaponga; he told me he had proposed to another company, but that 
              it was too far away, and asked me to insure his property, when returning 
              called in at Hayes' house and saw only a child; might have said to the child
              


              ‘It is getting dark, I won't get off my horse’ but do not remember saying so; 
              recollect noticing that the place was incomplete outside, but was assured that 
              it would be shortly finished; inferred from what I saw that Hayes was a 
              substantial man and the risk would be a good one; cannot say why I filled in 
              ‘iron’ instead of ‘shingle’ when describing the roof in the first proposal, think 
              it must have been because it is so usual for roofs to be of iron; did not make 
              any further inspection when making second report to company … the 
              alteration of the allocation of the amounts on the building and on the 
              furniture £250 and £50 to £200 and £100 was an error on my part; the rate 
              (15s) charged to Hayes was the rate for an iron roof…

            
[To Mr Welsh, Counsel for Hayes] I have at other times insured 
              buildings on the understanding that they were to be afterwards finished, but 
              only when satisfied of the status of the proponent and other circumstances.

            
Before examining the circumstances surrounding the fire let us draw out 
              some of the implications of what we have already presented. Major's 
              inference that Hayes was ‘a substantial man’ with whose ‘status’ he could 
              be ‘satisfied’ is borne out by other evidence. Hayes's claim at the inquest 
              that ‘at the time of the fire I owed 15s only’ was not contested. He had 
              apparently met all payments on his extensive DP land holding and done the 
              considerable improvements required. Even if we take the alternative version 
              of the quality of his house, it was a substantial achievement. As we shall see, 
              he was able to afford a bushfelling gang at work on the property at the time 
              of the fire. This is the third time we have seen Hayes involved with the law, 
              and each time he has been able to afford to be represented by counsel. The 
              history of the house and matter of the insurance show some of the 
              difficulties of doing business and getting things done on the bush frontier. 
              They also show that Hayes, coming from a labouring background, had met 
              the challenge of the transition to successful bush settler. Both building 
              timber and building skills would have been at a premium in these pioneer 
              years. Hayes had not been among the losers in the scramble. He had been 
              versatile in raising money, turning to road contracting, butchering wild 
              cattle, and fungus gathering, as well as developing a large mixed farm. He 
              had a dairy herd, and the family made butter (two churns were lost in the 
              fire). Butter-making implies pig raising and James said he had cured bacon, 
              but did it outside (hence no fire risk in smoking it). The size of his holding 
              suggests that he ran beef cattle as well as a dairy herd. He owned a horse 
              and dray as well as a riding horse. He claimed some building skills, having 
              split his own shingles and helped the carpenter with the building. He 
              claimed to have made a chest of drawers lost in the fire. He obviously 
              intended both to be, and to appear to be, a man of property. He had plans 
              for the further development of his house, having put down blocks for a 
              verandah. His wife told how they had planted about 150 trees in the month 
              before the fire, which had destroyed many of them.

            
The insurance negotiations illustrate some of the problems in doing
              


              business in a bush frontier district. Insurance companies were shy of bush 
              risks,

8 and were further discouraged by difficulties in getting to properties 
              to inspect them. Major came to grief with Hayes's business through 
              crowding it in at the fag end of a day of electioneering work. Rather than 
              make a difficult further journey to inspect the house with Hayes, he trusted 
              to his own impressions of the man and perhaps to brief assessments of his 
              local standing (possibly from storekeeper Davy?). In new districts where 
              people from diverse quarters had been promiscuously thrown together, and 
              where many were in the process of making their way up in the world, the 
              atter of assessing a man's ‘substance’ and ‘status’ was a very different affair 
              to what it had been in the Old World whence the business institutions had 
              been inherited. It would also have been easier in the more solid world in 
              and around Manaia, from which the jury was drawn, than in the amorphous 
              ‘Kaupokonui’ of 1888.

            
We must now turn to the events of the weekend of the fire and their 
              aftermath. Early in the afternoon of Friday, 14 September James Hayes left 
              home for Eltham, taking three bales and four bags of fungus in his dray. 
              Dissatisfied with the price offered locally by Newton King he was off to 
              
New Plymouth to try for something better. John went with him to bring 
              home the dray. George Moir, hotelkeeper at Eltham, confirmed that James 
              had stayed the night and caught the early train next morning. Catherine 
              Hayes's evidence continues the story:

            
My husband said he would be back on Saturday night if possible, but that if 
              he did not he would get a horse at Eltham to come home on; it was usual for 
              him to take a horse with him, but this time his horse was lame; my husband 
              told me not to leave the house, but on Saturday I went to see my daughter at 
              Otakeho, took my three children and two mattresses; left John, aged 22, and 
              Joe, aged 15, telling them to look after the place and milk the seven cows; 
              went away against his will; did not tell them to stay at home; heard my 
              daughter was ill; she was not ill, but I heard she was; the first I knew of the 
              fire was what Joe told me at Otakeho on Sunday; after telling me of the fire, 
              he said neither he nor Jack were there; I intended staying at Otakeho until 
              Tuesday or Wednesday; when I left home told the boys to set the milk or give 
              it to the calves whichever they chose.

            
James concurred that ‘on Saturday I left instructions with my wife not 
              to leave the house during my absence, she made no reply but I understood 
              that she assented’. But the Hayes' story about Catherine's intentions was 
              poorly co-ordinated:

            

Joseph Hayes, a son of 
James Hayes, corroborated the evidence respecting the 
              fungus being sent away and his mother going to Otakeho and intending to be 
              back so that he would not know she had been away; … father said he might 
              be back on Saturday, but perhaps not until Monday … don't know why 
              mother went to Otakeho.

            


            
Catherine's journey to her daughter's would have been at least 12 miles. 
              In Joseph's story she would have had to slip there and back on the Saturday. 
              This is not credible. A likely story that makes sense of several curious 
              features of both James's and Catherine's evidence is that they had planned 
              together for both to have a trip away before the full flush of the new milking 
              season tied them to home. Why did John have to make the long trip to 
              Eltham and back with the dray? Why could not James have left it in Eltham 
              for use on his trip home? Probably because Catherine would need it for her 
              expedition to Otakeho with the three younger children and two mattresses. 
              Her trip to Otakeho only makes sense if it was for several days. But James 
              doctored his family's evidence to show him making proper supervision 
              arrangements for his absence. Of his own trip he told the ‘likely’ story that 
              ‘I intended returning from 
New Plymouth on Saturday, but went to the 
              hospital to see a friend, and missed the train’.

            
John and Joseph both left the house on the Saturday evening to spend 
              the night in bushfelling camps where they had friends. Joseph told how he 
              left first:

            
… milked the cows at 4.30 on Saturday, fed the calves, and set two pans of 
              milk; then went to Peterson's camp; brother did not say he was going 
              anywhere … I took a slasher to Peterson's, riding there with Arthur Larsen; 
              have never been there before for a night; they had only been there a few days 
              at the time of the fire.

            
The location of the camp was not given. The camp boss's wife also gave evidence:

            
Mary Peterson, wife of P. Peterson: Am living about six miles from Hayes' 
              place; Joe came before tea on the night of the fire, and after went out with my 
              son, returning about an hour afterwards.

            
John went to a camp on the back of Hayes's property, and we have his 
              own, his friend 
John Briggs's and the camp boss's evidence on his movements:

            

John Hayes … said: When I left the house on Saturday, having an early tea 
              by myself, I locked the door, and put the key in my pocket; then went to 
              McLean's camp a mile away; did not take blankets.

            

John Briggs, laborer, gave evidence of having gone to Hayes' house on 
              Saturday night: … it was between 7 and 8 when I went to Hayes' on 
              Saturday evening; … The sun had gone down when I had my tea on 
              Saturday, so that it must have been after six o'clock.

            

Murdo McLean, a resident of 
Kaponga, and sometime of Waverley, said: 
              On the day of the fire was at the bush camp about a mile from Hayes' house; 
              there were also present my two sons, 
Jack Briggs and 
Jack Hayes; the two 
              latter, together with my son John, came to the camp about dusk; 
Jack Briggs 
              left the camp about 10 o'clock, the others stayed all night; am positive none 
              of us left the camp until Sunday morning about ten.

            


            

Jack Briggs worked for 
Maurice Fitzgerald, whose home was on Manaia 
              Road opposite Hayes's. In going home to bed from McLean's camp he 
              passed the Hayes's house at about 10.30 and all was well. His arrival at 
              Fitzgerald's at about this time was corroborated.

            
Storekeeper 
Henry Davy passed the Hayes place early Sunday morning 
              and found that it had been utterly destroyed. Joe was the first of the family 
              to learn of the disaster. He left Peterson's at about 8.30 or 9 and was told of 
              it on his ride home, presumably coming to milk the cows. He hurried to 
              his brother. 
Murdo McLean told how ‘
Joe Hayes came to camp, his horse 
              being covered with perspiration, and said, “the house is burnt down to the 
              ground”; he was sobbing.’

            
Joe rode out to Otakeho to tell his mother what had happened. The 
              father was the last to learn of it. John made his way to Eltham to see if he 
              could telegraph his father in 
New Plymouth, but like the trains the telegraph 
              was ‘respecting the sabbath’. When Hayes reached Eltham on the early train 
              next morning he found John waiting on the platform with the news.

            
Hayes decided to rejoin the train and proceed directly to 
Hawera to 
              make the insurance claim, taking John to provide evidence of the loss. The 
              fabrication of an inflated value for the house and contents must have been 
              worked out on the journey. The declaration of proof of loss prepared by 
              Charles Major claimed £525, or £225 over insurance. It was signed in the 
              presence of Felix McGuire. We are now entering a murky area where various 
              matters need explanation and all we have to go on are statements by the 
              unsatisfactory witnesses Hayes and Major. Why did Hayes inflate his claim? 
              Why did Major lose this insurance agency, apparently shortly after the fire? 
              Why was Hayes's house insured at the rate for an iron-roofed one? Why 
              had Major adjusted the values between house and contents when renewing 
              the policy? We will suggest one or two possible explanations of what was 
              going on, but before doing so it will help to look more closely at the 
              personalities of Hayes and Major.

            
From his experience of frontier life and the ever-changing world of farm 
              prices Hayes seems to have developed a shrewd, haggling, rather daring 
              approach in business matters. We have seen him valuing his rampaging bull 
              at £30 when local ‘experts’ would not put it above £5. With his fungus we 
              have seen him test the distant 
New Plymouth market when dissatisfied with 
              local pricing. In the valuing of his land and home more complex issues were 
              involved and shrewdness had to be tempered with a concern for status. At 
              the inquest both Hayes and Hurley commented on a conversation they had 
              had when Hurley was doing the property tax in 1885. Hayes said:

            
Mr Hurley, property-tax assessor in 1885, wanted to value the house at £400 
              or think he wanted to, as he asked me if it cost me £400; replied that it did 
              not, and that it was unfinished; he then valued it less, but I don't know at 
              what price he valued it, house was then in condition left by Barlow; Hurley's 
              words were, as nearly as I can remember, ‘What did it cost, £400?’ I said
              


              ‘£100 would be more like the value’; I thought that was a fair value, as it was 
              unfinished; didn't think it was worth much more at the time. Witness 
              corrected himself by saying his valuation at £100 was quite sufficient to pay 
              rates and taxes on.

            
Obviously while Hayes's status as a successful settler was affected by 
              what the community thought was the real value of his property, when it 
              came to paying property tax shrewdness sought a low valuation.

            
Hurley's account put a rather different complexion on the conversation:

            
Was property tax valuer in 1885; in that year valued Hayes' house, recently 
              burned, at £90; remember chaffing Hayes about valuing the house, and with 
              reference thereto said, ‘I think I shall have to value your “palace” at £400 or 
              £500.’

            
Hurley remembered making a playful dig at the status consciousness of 
              this up-and-coming settler. As a Manaia land broker, Hurley would have 
              been well aware of the endemic status anxiety of the district. But Hayes had 
              taken Hurley's ‘palace’ valuation seriously. He was happy that he had both 
              successfully talked his property tax assessment down and been given ‘a nod 
              and a wink’, which he interpreted as something like, ‘Yes, I'll be kind to you 
              on the tax matter but we both know you've got something here of 
              substantial worth, don't we?’

            

Charles Edwin Major (1859–1954) was a Jersey immigrant to New 
              Zealand, arriving in 1871. Shortly after arrival, though still only a youth, he 
              took charge of a store at the Manawatu frontier settlement of Oroua Bridge. 
              His year there gave him a sympathy for both Maori and frontier settlers. 
              He then worked in legal offices in 
Wellington and 
Gisborne, before moving 
              in 1880 to 
Hawera and setting up as a land broker and estate agent. He 
              served three terms as mayor of 
Hawera, the first being 1886–88, and was to 
              be the local MP from 1902 to 1908. He was active in many sports. He 
              showed a sympathy for the underdog in various ways, including being 
              critical of settler treatment of Maori in south Taranaki and supporting Irish 
              home rule.
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Let us return to Hayes's insurance negotiations. Surely he would have 
              haggled, perhaps citing the earlier Patea quote. Major, with his affinity for 
              both Irish and frontier settlers, would have responded sympathetically. 
              Perhaps, on Hayes's assurance that he would shortly be replacing his 
              shingles with iron, he offered him the iron-roof rate. At the inquest Hayes 
              told how Major ‘insured my house sending me a proposal form filled up 
              for signature; I altered the description of the roof from ‘iron’ to ‘shingle’. 
              and returned it.’ Hayes, of course, would not have wanted his cover 
              compromised by the agreement having incorrect information. As we have 
              seen, Major could not tell why he had filled in ‘iron’ instead of ‘shingle’, 
              but despite Hayes's alteration had charged at the iron rate. Major had been 
              caught out by the fire occurring before Hayes had achieved the practical and
              


              status advantages of an iron roof. Its absence would be apparent at the fire 
              scene, calling into question both the property valuation and Major's 
              integrity as an agent. If this was how things had gone it goes some way to 
              answering the questions we have raised.

            
It is not an uncommon experience for the historian to uncover a fact 
              that forces a reassessment of all that has gone before. The reader may share 
              something of this experience when we reveal that James Hayes was illiterate. 
              Although he told the enquiry of receiving the insurance proposal for 
              signature and changing ‘shingle’ to ‘iron’ he was later, under cross-examination, forced to explain:

            
… my boy John draws cheques on my account, and as a rule puts my mark 
              on the cheques; it is only on an odd one that I personally placed my own 
              mark on; he had my authority for doing so.

            
When Hayes was manipulative and devious he may have been seeking 
              redress for the disadvantages arising from illiteracy.

            
A second possible explanation of what went on with the insurance is 
              that the cover had lapsed. Major told the enquiry:

            
… the second proposal is signed by myself for Hayes, which is a very 
              common thing to do in such a case, as I had the premium in hand …

            
… A second policy in accordance with the second proposal has been 
              issued since the fire occurred; it is in my possession; the renewal receipt 
              (produced) signed by me, and dated 16th August, 1888, was not issued until 
              the 18th the day on which I received the money for renewal; it is true that the 
              first policy had lapsed two days previously to the date of the new proposal; I 
              invariably dated the receipts [thus] in similar cases.

            
Were John's desperation to telegraph his father on 16 September and 
              James's haste to reach Major next day due to their realising they had allowed 
              the policy to lapse? Is Major here covering over a manipulation of the 
              records to get them out of their fix? His revaluing the house at £200 then 
              makes sense—even this may have been high for a shingle-roofed rural house. 
              But we can only conjecture.

            
It fell to Constable Franklin of Manaia to investigate for the inquest. 
              Franklin had seen Manaia through its lively early days, and when he left on 
              transfer in 1890 the Taranaki 
Herald's Manaia ‘Our Own’ wrote:

            
… he has shown himself to be a very capable detective, having often 
              succeeded in getting evidence required, by the exercise of an amount of 
              patience and perseverance that would do credit to Scotland Yard.
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Franklin would soon find the evidence to point firmly away from owner 
              arson, but equally firmly towards Hayes being shifty about the property's 
              value. It also called in dispute Hayes's claim to have left £50 worth of fungus 
              in the house, twice as much as he took to 
New Plymouth.

            
The inquest opened in the Manaia courthouse at 10am on Wednesday,
              


              3 October with J.C. Yorke JP as coroner. A jury of six was called. Hayes's 
              counsel, Welsh, objected to two of them: Peter McCarthy ‘on account of a 
              considerable amount of litigation which had taken place between the 
              families of McCarthy and Hayes'; and G.A. Hurley because he was also a 
              witness. Although these objections were disallowed, Hurley asked to 
              withdraw and was replaced. Once the jury was sworn they were told that 
              their first duty was to go and see the site of the fire. The 
Taranaki Herald's 
              Manaia ‘Our Own’ recorded how a procession of five horsemen and five in 
              a buggy thereupon set out on the nine-mile journey:

            
The state of the upper Manaia Road, however, somewhat interfered with the 
              order of procession, as the occupants of the buggy found it advisable to tie 
              their horse to a fence and foot it for the last mile. On reaching the site a 
              careful inspection of the ashes took place, also of the stack of the chimney, 
              and a return was made to the township, where the enquiry was resumed at 
              2.30 p.m.

            
The court sat till midnight, hearing the evidence of the Hayes family. 
              As the four-day enquiry continued at intervals over the next 10 days it 
              became clear that the police case, conducted by Sergeant Bissett, was 
              concerned not only with finding the cause of the fire but also with 
              challenging Hayes's description and valuation of the house and its contents, 
              and with exposing his attempts at bribing witnesses to perjure themselves 
              on this matter. This latter concerned principally the family of David Briggs, 
              a Manaia carpenter. There had obviously been friendship between the Hayes 
              and Briggs families, and the Briggs knew the Hayes house intimately. The 
              Briggs boys apparently sought work in 
Kaponga, with Hayes and other 
              settlers. Their mother, Annie Briggs, was told of the fire by Joe Hayes on 
              the Sunday, probably on his way to tell his mother. The following day she 
              conveyed to Catherine Hayes her husband's willingness to help with 
              rebuilding the house. John Hayes and John Briggs seem to have been close 
              mates. Hayes was concerned when he learnt that the Briggs were being 
              called as witnesses, and when on the first day of the inquest he found the 
              way the police case was heading he obviously became very disturbed. The 
              Briggs boys claimed that he had approached them himself both before and 
              during the enquiry, and also enlisted Murdo McLean and Murdo's son John 
              to put pressure on them. He had offered money, and to Robert Briggs he 
              had also offered a quarter-acre section in 
Kaponga, adjoining one he had 
              already sold to Robert. Hayes had other friends prepared to give the 
              evidence he wanted, though most were not called. The affair must have 
              caused rifts in family friendships. While the Briggs family were rejecting 
              Hayes's approaches, mutual friends, the Melville family, were lining up with 
              the McLeans and others to oblige him. Thus Emma Melville, wife of John 
              Melville of 
Kaponga, told the enquiry that she was ‘very vexed with Briggs 
              for having taken the course he has in this case’.

            
The only person for whom a suspicion of arson was raised was John
              


              Briggs, reported by Murdo McLean as leaving his camp about 10 o'clock 
              on the Saturday night. Thomas Whyte, a brother of Mrs Maurice Fitzgerald, 
              told the enquiry:

            
Slept at Maurice Fitzgerald's house on the night of the fire; retired about 9.30, 
              and John Briggs came in about an hour afterwards and slept in the same bed 
              as I occupied.

            
Constable Franklin told how

            
… In order to find out what time it would take to travel from McLean's 
              camp to Fitzgerald's, I ran a third of the way and walked the balance, in all 
              occupying ten minutes; subsequently walked from Fitzgerald's to the camp in 
              17 minutes.

            
And John Briggs told how he

            
… once had a row with James Hayes over some oats I gave my horse whilst 
              working for him; he never forbade me to enter his house; Hayes never 
              accused me of being concerned in the fire

            
This is all that was reported on this line of thought, and clearly no one 
              thought it credible that John Briggs had fired his friend John Hayes's home.

            
The enquiry ‘filled some hundreds of folios of evidence’ but its outcome 
              satisfied almost no one. The 
Taranaki Herald's Manaia ‘Our Own’ thought 
              that most of the evidence ‘would appear to have been more suitable to a suit 
              between Mr Hayes and the Insurance Company than a coroner's inquest’. 
              The jury thought that there should be some allowance to cover their 
              expenses and the loss of four full days of time, but found there was none. 
              The coroner decided to forward the depositions to the Resident Magistrate, 
              ‘drawing his attention to the particular passages which indicated perjury or 
              subornation of perjury’ but this does not seem to have been followed up. 
              The 
Star thought that such enquiries were ‘for the public good, and must 
              tend to check incendiarism and expose any attempts at defrauding insurance 
              companies’. It had been a tedious business, but at least the district could 
              claim to have faced up to its public responsibilities.

            
We have given considerable space to this affair because it shows so many 
              aspects of 
Kaponga frontier life tied together as they were encountered in 
              the seamless web of lived experience. We have seen how such activities as 
              bushfelling contracts, the fungus trade, dairying, home building, wayfaring 
              and business arrangements fitted together in the daily round of home and 
              neighbourhood life. We have seen something of how one settler home 
              related to the flow of life surrounding it. All this has been unfolded by 
              folk who have had to trek miles to the Manaia courthouse to tell their story. 
              Fortunately the roads seemed to have improved since the time of John 
              Finlay's trip to the bush. Drays as well as riding horses were making their 
              way around quite easily. The Hayes dray transported to the courthouse not
              


              only family members but also their friends Emma Melville and Mary 
              Peterson.

            
At the enquiry James and Catherine Hayes came across as proactive in 
              using a rich range of rural skills to draw on the opportunities offered by 
              their clearing, the wild and the community. James's typical reaction to a 
              problem—take it head on—would often have been a virtue on the frontier 
              but got him into difficulties when he applied it to the law. It is perhaps 
              surprising that he had not made a head-on attack on his illiteracy. Catherine 
              came across as a capable and independent-minded woman, loyal to her 
              husband but in no way in awe of him. Probably she was illiterate like her 
              husband. The older children, who were well on the way to mastery of their 
              parents' rural skills, showed a strong sense of family loyalty, but had also 
              developed personal initiative and independence of spirit. The older boys had 
              significant possessions of their own. John lost a gun in the fire and 15-year-old Joe had his own horse. At the 1886 census the three older boys had 
              probably been returned as ‘assisting on farm’, and they must have looked 
              on the farm as an enterprise in which they had a share and a future. James 
              Hayes had been extending his land holding, probably with likely forthcoming marriages of his older boys in mind. He had recently transferred
              the 279-acre homestead block into John's name (John could not have hel 
              it until he turned 18 in 1885). This had enabled him to take the adjoining 
              50-acre block to the north—he could not have done so earlier as it would 
              have taken him beyond the 320-acre limit for DP holdings. He had also 
              bought quarter-acre sections in the township.

            
John, as the eldest, was probably the favoured heir; he had been taken 
              into his father's confidence in using his literacy to manage the chequebook 
              and likely was handling all the family's business and other documentation. 
              Probably there was a family understanding that all the young folk would 
              be ‘looked after’ in due course, though not necessarily as generously as John. 
              This may account for what came through as a streak of rebellious independence from 15-year-old Joe. Of his absence on the night of the fire he said 
              that he ‘went away from the house against orders, without much reason, 
              just for a holiday’ and remarked that ‘[I] sometimes stay away from home 
              a night or two without leave’. All the family stuck by James in his improbable description of their home. Thirteen-year-old Thomas maintained that
              he ‘did not know where his father and mother nor his sister slept; was never 
              upstairs’. Yet outsiders had been upstairs and it seems most unlikely that 
              Thomas had no involvement in the upstairs drying of the fungus he must 
              have helped to collect.

            
Even though most of Hayes's own witnesses were not called, we have 
              a surprising number of folk telling of having been in the Hayes home. Here 
              is further evidence that the ‘open home’ provided most of 
Kaponga's 
              community life. George Mackie, whose Eltham Road property abutted onto 
              Hayes's, had ‘been in Hayes' house pretty often’. Arthur Gibbs, from a little 
              further down Manaia Road, had been in the Hayes kitchen and in the back
              


              room adjoining it. Emma Melville of Melville Road had ‘slept in Hayes’ 
              house on April 7, Easter Monday, we slept in Mrs Hayes' room on the 
              floor’. Thomas Huckstep, engine-driver, living on a 27-acre section on the 
              south edge of the township site, had ‘slept in a room in which Jack Hayes 
              slept’ for about a month. Folk from further away, such as the Briggs and 
              Mary Peterson, also knew the house well. In fact, the social life of the 
              
Kaponga settlers would seem to have revolved around either their own 
              homes or ‘miles away’ Manaia, with the 
Kaponga township site contributing 
              little.

            
At the inquest a deal of discussion centred on the state of completion 
              of the gable end on the north side of the house. James Hayes referred to it 
              as ‘the gable end facing the mountain’ but David Briggs described it as ‘a 
              hole at the end of the upstairs facing the bush’. In other words, when one 
              looked towards the township site all one saw was solid bush. James had been 
              clearing southwards from his homestead site. His newly acquired 50-acre 
              section to the north was untouched, as were the ‘township’ sections beyond 
              it. Almost all conversations reported at the inquest that were not in 
Kaponga 
              settler homes took place in Manaia, many of them in and around Lewis's 
              hotel.

            
The easy intermingling between settlers and bushfelling gangs also calls 
              for comment. These ‘itinerants’ were apparently made to feel very much at 
              home. The McLeans seem to have been on the Hayes property for several 
              months and were being treated as friends of the family. Murdo had a gun 
              stored at the house for a time, and he gave John Hayes a watch of his for 
              repairs. When John Hayes went to the McLean camp for the night he did 
              not take blankets; obviously they had a bed for him. It must have been the 
              social life around the campfire that drew him. Joe Hayes went to Peterson's 
              camp for tea and to spend the night, and took a slasher with him. It seems, 
              then, to have been an ongoing relationship, involving mutual service. After 
              tea, Mary Peterson reported, Joe went out with her son. They probably 
              went hunting. Joe, we have seen, described the outing to Peterson's as ‘just 
              for a holiday’.

            
James Hayes died suddenly of a heart attack on 7 December 1890, at 
              the age of 46. Perhaps the stress of the practical and social aftermath of the 
              fire and the inquest contributed something to this. His family continued in 
              the district as successful and respected settlers through the following years.
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The Rip Van Winkle Effect

            
The 
Star of 26 and 29 November 1894 ran a two-part article, ‘The 
              Kaupokonui Block Revisited’, by a pioneer settler who had not seen the district for some years, which began:

            
When Rip Van Winkle awoke from his long sleep on the Catskill Mountains, 
              and went down to his home in the valley below, his friends did not know 
              him, nor he the people. But when I returned to the haunts of my younger 
              days, I knew the people but not the district.

            
We will return to this account shortly. First, though, we will show how 
              the historian following the 
Kaponga story in the main source, the 
Star, had 
              rather the same Rip Van Winkle experience. There is a great 33-month gap 
              in all 
Star files from 1 January 1889 to 30 September 1891. From the 
              primitive world of the Hayes fire inquest in the 1888 issues, we move to 
              those of October 1891 and find a remarkable transformation. 
Kaponga 
              now has an ‘Our Own’. In his first extant letter, published 14 October, we read:

            
The contractors for felling the balance of the township have completed their 
              work, which has added considerably to the appearance of the place. The 
              Wesleyans are to be congratulated on getting an organ for the chapel, which 
              was much needed.

            
Our feeling that things have moved somewhat in three years is enhanced 
              when we turn to 20 October and find that Palmer's sawmill has migrated 
              from Manaia Road to the corner of Eltham and Oeo roads, has been greatly 
              enlarged, and is now putting out 5000 to 6000 feet a day. Next day's issue 
              really opens our eyes. The 
Star's ‘Our Travelling Correspondent’ report 
              on 
Kaponga:

            
… a well-conducted hotel is no slight advantage to a rising township… 
              
Kaponga has grown out of my recognition. The bush in the township has all 
              been felled, and several flourishing industries have taken root since my last 
              visit. Mr Melville is running a sawmill, which ought to do well, as new men 
              are constantly coming into the district. A telephone office has been attached 
              to the Post Office…. Two new blacksmith shops occupy convenient sites, 
              Mr Vincent's on the Manaia Road and Messrs Inch and Naismith's next the
              


              hotel… the ‘duck pond’, an obstinate slough of despond lying… between 
              Mr Cullen's store and Messrs Inch and Naismith's [has] been successfully 
              drained, and that no one has been drowned in its slimy depths is an evidence 
              of the sobriety of the inhabitants. Over 40 children are now attending the 
              
Kaponga School… Mr Fitton, it is understood, has the contract to finish Mr 
              Carey's large building, which he intends, so ‘tis said, to convert into shops. 
              … In the meantime, I believe, the lively young blades of the township 
              practise ‘the buzzard lope’ in it of an evening, to the inspiring music of a 
              concertino.

            
So the stretch of solid bush encompassing the Manaia Road/Eltham 
              Road intersection has now been felled and the life of the district is being 
              recentred on the township rapidly rising on the clearing. The settlers no 
              longer have to travel long miles to find an inn or a school, to send a telegram 
              or get their horse shod, or to have a fling at the ‘buzzard lope’ to a lively 
              tune. The daily flow is not now through ‘
Kaponga’ but to 
Kaponga.

            
We return to our Rip Van Winkle of November 1894 for his perspective 
              on 
Kaponga in time and space. He pictures the pioneers' vibrant expectations, the shift in mood that saw many drift away, the new day now dawning 
              over the district and the lively township rising in its centre. He remembers

            
… those land sales! How many hungry settlers ‘ran’ one another as if they 
              were in terror lest they couldn't get enough ground to stand on….

            
The dense bush surrounding the badly burned new clearings—the roads: 
              what would settlers in the locality say if they had to plod through such roads 
              as we had?—the general rough surroundings as rugged as anyone could wish 
              for—but all these went for nothing. We laughed at our difficulties and 
              plodded on in the march of colonisation …

            
… I smile when I think back on the pictures some of us used to draw of 
              what we'd do. We'd farm (on paper) as successfully as the most demonstrative 
              could wish; some would fatten cattle, others breed them; and some would 
              keep sheep. Each and all had their ideas, some of which, it must be admitted, 
              were a bit extravagant, yet we were all sanguine of reaching the goal of 
              success. But those with the largest ideas were the soonest to give up.

            
He tries to account for the shift in mood that caused this giving up:

            
… they got tired of the life they were leading; the very look of the 
              incomplete surroundings Nature had supplied them became distasteful; the 
              very stumps looked repulsive; clearings were strewn with timber that seemed 
              as if it were going to stay for ever; the large trees left standing in the rough 
              openings looked down upon the early settler, appearing as silent witches 
              making a mute appeal to him to clear out as soon as convenient, and the 
              unspoken advice of the general surroundings was unfortunately only too 
              often acted upon….

            
… He sells his heritage for a mere song, and goes out into the world to 
              find something more elevating and enervating [sic] than wasting his life on a 
              bush section. He does not reckon the days he has already lost and could not
              


              see that there is a coming in the tide that would well reward him for the hard 
              work he had accomplished, and the privations he had undergone.

            
Seeking the basis of this tide of prosperity our Rip Van Winkle points 
              out that ‘competitive sales of Crown lands are a thing of the past’, as also 
              are the high prices the pioneers paid for ‘bushfelling, fencing, grass seed, 
              &c’.

            
To say that the district has changed would give but a faint idea of the 
              improvements made; it has been transformed from a forest into a thriving 
              district peopled by prosperous settlers. And the transformation has been 
              effected in a time so short that it makes the progression all the more 
              astounding.

            
He makes his way up Duthie Road and approaches 
Kaponga along 
              Eltham Road:

            
I cross the Kapuni river, spanned by a substantial bridge, and reach Palmer 
              road. Some distance down this road the Loan and Mercantile Company have 
              a creamery, which receives the milk from the vicinity. These creameries are a 
              great convenience to settlers in districts where the supply is insufficient to 
              warrant the erection of a factory. The milk is separated at the creamery, and 
              the cream sent daily to the main factory at Mangatoki, where the lot is 
              churned. I pass Mr McKenzie's, and see the township of 
Kaponga before me. 
              … Can this be the 
Kaponga township I knew? No. The only 
Kaponga I 
              knew existed on a Government land map, and the surface of the land was 
              covered with heavy bush. But this is 
Kaponga in reality. I know no one in the 
              place. I am a stranger in an improved land. I don't even know the big rata 
              stump at the corner of Manaia and Eltham roads, for it is gone. But I am not 
              a stranger for very long, for strolling out of the hotel after tea, I enter Mr 
              Canning's* store, and soon become acquainted with the genial proprietor. We 
              talk on many subjects (he has a rare fund of stories), and have a friendly 
              exchange of ideas. Mr Canning is an enthusiast on Mount 
Egmont (who 
              could help it living at 
Kaponga, a superb view of the great cone meeting one's 
              gaze every time he looks in its direction) …

            
[
Kaponga] is a nice little township, comprising a comfortable hotel which 
              has recently been considerably added to, two general stores, butcher's shop, a 
              couple of blacksmith's, a wheelwright, a saddler's shop, a dairy factory (or a 
              creamery in the strict sense of the term), a good sized school, a church. Then, 
              include this with a telephone and daily post service, and I think you've got 
              
Kaponga. There is a good deal of business done in the place and it has a busy 
              appearance when the milk carts go rattling past in the morning….

            
I am told that something is stirring the minds of the settlers, and is 
              creating almost as great a sensation as a rise in the price of fungus would have 
              done a few years back. There is going to be a ball. The said ball has since 
              eventuated, and I am told it was a great success. Mentioning the fact to Mr 
              Canning that 
Kaponga was without a town hall, he informed me that the
              


              upstairs of the large building opposite his premises was used for meetings and 
              entertainments. The size and importance of the district merits a larger hall 
              than the one now in use. 
Kaponga must be destined to become an important 
              township. It is the centre of a magnificent district, is a fair distance from any 
              other place, and its situation strikes everyone favorably….

            
In the morning I bid adieu to 
Kaponga and start for Manaia. I pass 
              Messrs Budge and Good's large sale yard, where successful sales are held, the 
              local market place being appreciated by settlers. Passing on I observe neat 
              homesteads all down the road, the paddocks being remarkably clear, several 
              of them having been ploughed.
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The Farms

            
Travelling down Manaia Road that morning our Rip Van Winkle saw ‘farms’ 
              rather than ‘clearings’. There will stil have been bush further back on most 
              properties, but bordering the road was a continuous band of cleared and 
              fenced land, some of which had been under the plough. Though he said 
              quite a deal about dairying, our visitor seems not fully to have appreciated 
              that the boom in this industry was the most potent cause of the remarkable 
              transformation he found. The factory dairying for the ‘Home’ (British) 
              market that had been pioneered in south Taranaki's older settled districts 
              from the mid-1880s had swept into the 
Kaponga district at the beginning of 
              the 1890s. Its coming was intertwined with the take-off of the township. If 
              our returning pioneer rather failed to catch the essence of what was 
              happening, the 
Farmer's 
Hawera correspondent got it well in his letter for 
              November 1892:

            
The boom is on in Taranaki. Milch cows are fetching fancy prices. Factories, 
              creameries, etc., are now in full swing. Water power and steam power are the 
              motive powers as yet used…. many an old steam engine from various parts 
              of New Zealand is finding its way into Taranaki province.

            
He took up the theme again in August 1893:

            
A few short years ago land and stock of all kinds were a drug on the market. 
              Now everything is on the boom, and a boom that is likely to last, not one of 
              those big gold rushes or town property booms that comes with such a rush 
              that many wise and cautious people are carried on with the stream of 
              excitement to their ultimate ruin. Here we have the gold mine in our midst, 
              and outsiders are finding out that fact. Had we not this past season many 
              
London representatives in our province purchasing our products for their 
              respective homes?

            
Budge and Good's saleyards, which our traveller saw as he left the 
              township, were largely concerned with dairy stock. Thus the forthcoming 
              fortnightly sale advertised in the 9 January 1893 
Star had 235 cattle but no 
              sheep and only three horses. Of the cattle, 97 were listed as ‘cows’, ‘spring
              


              cows' or ‘heifers’. The 142 listed as ‘steers’, ‘yearlings’, ‘weaners’, '2 yr olds’ 
              &c were probably mainly the progeny of dairy cows. As the boom got 
              under way the price of a good dairy cow quickly rose to about £8; by the 
              end of the 1890s it had edged up to £11.

1 The dominant wheeled traffic on 
              the roads will have been milk carts and the dominant livestock traffic dairy 
              cows.

            
As primitive clearings matured to become dairy farms, the harvesting 
              of fungus and grass seed declined. New Zealand's peak year for fungus was 
              1888, when 9844cwt valued at £19,204 was exported. Not much fungus 
              would grow after the timber had been down for five or six years,

2 but in the 
              
Farmer of September 1894 its 
Hawera correspondent reminded the settlers 
              that

            
… that now despised item was once our pioneers' only stand-by, and many a 
              family who can drive their carriage and pair now, can look back to their early 
              start, and really, if willing to admit the fact, attribute it to fungus.

            
In the January 1894 
Farmer this correspondent explained the grass seed 
              crop's decline:

            
COCKSFOOT. The area is limited this year. Many paddocks have become 
              too foul for seed purposes, the dairy industry too tempting and certain, while 
              cocksfoot is a fickle crop both to save and market profitably.

            
While dairying boomed around 
Kaponga, there was still a considerable 
              local bush frontier and a much more significant one accelerating in the east 
              of the province. Every spring cattle sales boomed as these districts stocked 
              their newly sown clearings. So 
Kaponga dairy farmers stopped knocking 
              their bull calves on the head and instead raised them for the market.

3 The 
              
Farmer's September 1890 
Hawera letter explained that while sheep could 
              be used for bush clearings in many other districts, this was not so in 
              Taranaki:

            
For bush land no cattle under two years old do much good until the grass has 
              obtained a firm hold and a good sole. Strong, robust cattle are best adapted 
              for a new bush ground; they tread in the roots of the grass, and harden the 
              surface of loose loamy soil of our newly-burnt bush lands. It is for this 
              reason that sheep cannot be kept on the greater part of the Taranaki bush 
              district until the grass has obtained a good bottom and the land well trodden. 
              This takes about four years.

            
The dairying boom brought new settlers, with good numbers from the 
              
South Island, many looking for developed farms. As early as July 1890 the 
              
Farmer's 
Hawera correspondent reported that in the past quarter ‘more land 
              has changed hands than ever was the case before’ and that ‘the purchases 
              are mostly made in the bush land’. In August 1891 he commented that ‘We 
              are having an influx of 
Canterbury settlers, they are going in for improved 
              bush farms. The demand for this class is beyond the supply.’ Many of these
              


              southerners would have found their farms through Charles Major's 
Hawera 
              agency. Two examples of 
Kaponga properties in his 
Star advertisements 
              were:

            
145 acres adjoining 
Kaponga, one of the best farms in the district, all in grass 
              and well improved. (9/1/93)

            
121 acres near 
Kaponga, 45 acres grassed, ring fenced, level and well watered, 
              section adjoins dairy fac. (3/4/95)

            
The strong demand and rise in land prices continued throughout the 1890s.

4

            
Since the fortunes of the district's farms depended heavily on the coming 
              of the dairy factories we will quickly sketch how this came about. (The next 
              chapter gives a fuller treatment.) We saw in 
Chapter 2 how at the end of the 
              1880s individuals such as Henry Davy and William Hutchinson set up small 
              factories to which a few neighbours could bring their milk each day. This 
              meant that instead of the laborious (and often unhygienic) practice of setting 
              each day's milk in skimming pans and making butter (usually weekly) in a 
              hand churn, the separating and churning of the cream was undertaken daily 
              by the little factory, using water power from a small stream. This turned a 
              separator to get the cream and a good-sized churn to make the butter. But 
              these little concerns had neither the capacity nor the marketing contacts and 
              expertise to handle more than a fraction of the district's potential output. 
              Clearly a larger-scale approach was needed, but it was difficult to see where 
              capital for this could be found. The 
Kaponga settlers will have seen the 
              Otakeho, Manaia and Opunake co-operative factories having to be rescued 
              from financial difficulties by the 
New Plymouth entrepreneurs Newton 
              King and J.C. George.

5 Still struggling to master their holdings and 
              hampered by the late appearance of their township, they had neither the 
              money to venture down the co-operative track nor the unity and influence 
              to seek out an outside entrepreneur. They were rescued from these dilemmas 
              when in the autumn of 1893 the 
Wanganui branch of the New Zealand Loan 
              and Mercantile Agency Co Ltd decided to enter the south Taranaki dairy 
              industry. The launching of this initiative was described thus in the 
Farmer 
              of July 1896:

            
Mr John Stevenson, the Company's manager in 
Wanganui, met the settlers on 
              several occasions, and laid before them the Company's scheme, which was to 
              provide the required capital at an agreed rate of interest, erect the necessary 
              buildings and plant, manage the undertaking, and market the produce (butter) 
              for the ordinary commission. All the other details were to be on the lines of a 
              joint stock company, with the exception that dividends were to be shared 
              solely by the settlers, in proportion to the value of the milk supplied by them. 
              For this programme a three years' guarantee of milk supply was asked and 
              given, and operations were begun.

            

Kaponga was at first suggested as a factory centre and its settlers were 
              very disappointed at the final decision for a Mangatoki factory with
              


              
Kaponga as one of a several associated creameries. But dairying was more 
              advanced around Mangatoki and the company took over an existing factory 
              there. 
Kaponga was fortunate that from the spring of 1893 all the cream it 
              could produce was separated locally, carted daily to Mangatoki, churned 
              there into butter and exported via the Eltham railway station.
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The Bush

            
In the 1890s the meteoric rise of the township and the flourishing of 
              dairying tended to push the bush into the background of public attention. 
              After all, the new bush clearings were up the back roads and fellings on 
              existing farms were on their back reaches. Yet, while other matters now 
              grabbed the headlines, the old issues of felling contract prices, the weather 
              of the burning season and the fortunes of the grass seed and fungus harvests 
              were still vital to both new recruits to the bush frontier and many struggling 
              earlier comers.

            
For the many recent arrivals the decade began well, with an excellent 
              burning season in February and March of 1890. The following winter was 
              the best for years and with contracts at competitive prices large areas were 
              felled.

6 Thereafter for several seasons neither felling nor burning flourished 
              so well. In a changing labour market bushmen became scarce and forced up 
              the felling prices. A succession of three bad burning seasons in a row, 
              reminiscent of the early 1880s, must have discouraged many a newcomer.

7 
              Yet there was little public comment, for bad burning seasons on the clearings 
              meant good dairying seasons for more established settlers. However, when 
              the 1894 summer again began with wet weather, the 
Star's 
Kaponga 
              correspondent picked up the anxiety of the frontier settlers, remarking that 
              ‘many of the sections have an accumulation of two or three years falling and 
              should another wet summer eventuate it will be extremely disheartening’.

8 
              In fact the anxieties of this and the following four summers were to be of 
              quite a different character. While the new clearings enjoyed five successive 
              good burn seasons the older settled areas came repeatedly under bush-fire 
              threat. When overpowering smoke enveloped south Taranaki on 24 February 1894, the 
Star (26/2/94) sent out a special reporter. His investigations 
              finally sent him out from Eltham towards 
Kaponga. At first he found that 
              while fire had burnt over much of the countryside little damage had been 
              done, but

            
… On the Palmer road Mr George Roots lost a considerable area of grass, 
              the fire making a clean sweep. Mrs Barton's house was saved after a deal of 
              work. This road is blocked by rata trees having fallen across it. At 
Kaponga 
              the settlers had a warm time from Wednesday until Sunday, residents being 
              up night and day guarding their property. All the township was under fire, 
              and had the wind changed on Saturday nothing could have saved the hotel 
              … Mr C. Melville's sawmill on Eltham road had a very narrow escape.

            
From Friday until Saturday the hands were using their utmost endeavours to
              


              protect it, and on Saturday night about twenty volunteers went from 
              
Kaponga, with the mill hands making about forty in all. The fire at this time 
              was particularly fierce, and what with smoke and heat the men were all soon 
              exhausted. Just when it appeared that the mill must go, welcome rain arrived, 
              and soon after it had put all chance of destruction at an end. As it is Mr 
              Melville is a pretty heavy loser. Two of his tram line bridges have been 
              destroyed, together with a portion of the tramway, also three men's cottages 
              and the cookhouse…. Mr W.J. Barleyman lost his stable on Friday … He 
              also lost his furniture. When the fire was highest the house was in great 
              danger of destruction, and Mr Barleyman decided to remove the furniture. 
              This was placed in a dray, and considering it safe he sat down, being fatigued 
              with smoke and heat. On looking up a little while afterwards he was horrified 
              to see the load in flames…. From 
Kaponga to the Skeet road the clearings 
              have been almost all burnt, though no great damage has been done, the fire 
              being confined to stumps and logs.

            
The following two summers saw good bush burns without bush-fire 
              losses,

9 but the 1896–97 summer again brought damaging bush fires. 
              Melville's 
Kaponga sawmill was again saved only after a great battle. Among 
              the settlers the main losses were along upper Palmer Road. Gabites lost all 
              his grass, his cowshed and all out-buildings, and narrowly saved his house 
              with strenuous help from neighbours. A. Coxhead's house was also in 
              danger, and he, Frethey and Prestidge had large losses in grass.

10 The 1897– 
              98 summer saw extensive bush fires in many parts of the country, and 
              
Kaponga had its share. In mid-January settlers along Rowan Road and 
              Opunake Road were put under heavy pressure but saved everything except 
              for large quantities of grass.

11 Early in April a gale set fires raging in several 
              parts of the district. Rowan Road settler 
L. McDonald, though aided by his 
              neighbours, lost his home, and 
Kaponga township was in great danger, with 
              several buildings being only narrowly saved.

12 The 1898–99 summer was 
              wet, with bad bush burns.

13

            
The bush continued to be a useful resource both for old hands and new 
              settlers. There are reports of good hunting for wild pigs, pheasants and 
              quail.

14 New settlers will have continued to look for bush work. However, 
              less bush was now being felled on contract, though from 1891 prices were 
              generally much higher than in the 1880s. Many newcomers will have been 
              helped by the sawmills providing wage labour and taking standing timber 
              in return for royalties. The timber industry boomed throughout the decade. 
              The Waimate Riding's population surged from 2417 to 3852 between the 
              1891 and 1896 censuses. Large quantities of timber went into housing the 
              many new settlers, upgrading the homes and farm buildings of the earlier 
              settlers as they prospered in the dairying boom, and building the new 
              township of 
Kaponga.

            
Let us survey the main milling enterprises. News of the damage caused 
              by the 1894 and 1897 fires shows that for years Melville had his tramways
              


              snaking around the back reaches of the farms near the township, taking 
              settlers' trees while helping meet their demand for timber. But the search 
              for good stretches of millable timber took other entrepreneurs further back 
              to the margins of settlement. After reaching the fringes of 
Kaponga 
              township in the late 1880s, pioneer miller Robert Palmer made a six-mile 
              leap to the west to fine stands of millable timber on Auroa and Oeo roads. 
              He continued to supply the 
Kaponga timber market and he and his men 
              maintained strong links with the district. Converging roads enabled his mill 
              also to serve a wide district of south-west Taranaki, between the mountain 
              and the sea. The mill was destroyed by fire in February 1896 but reopened 
              the following May.

15 In the winter of 1898 Walter Clement and H. Parkes 
              opened a sawmill on upper Rowan Road, just south of Opunake Road, and 
              it was soon a flourishing concern.

16

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

The Mountain



            
The Mountain

            
‘The 1890s were the golden age of activity and development on 
Egmont,’ 
              writes the mountain's historian, A.B. Scanlon.

17 The 
Taranaki Herald's 
              Manaia ‘Our Own’ (5/4/90) caught the spirit of the times:

            
The ascent of the mountain is all the rage here, as indeed it seems to be on 
              your side. There are now some half dozen routes; each one has supporters, 
              who claim that their route is the shortest, the easiest, and the most 
              picturesque…. ‘Meet me on the Mountain’ will soon be a matter of course 
              when the business men of the several townships surrounding it want to meet 
              to do a little business.

            

Egmont continued to fascinate the 
Kaponga settlers, and though theirs 
              was the newest and rawest of the settlements below its ramparts they played 
              a major part in moves to extend Manaia Road up through the bush to 
              Dawson Falls and to provide an accommodation house and horse paddock 
              there. These ambitious plans owed much to the initiatives of Felix McGuire, 
              who claimed that ‘as early as 1887 I brought the subject before the people 
              on the public platform at 
Hawera, Manaia, 
Kaponga and Stratford, and 
              many other centres within the provincial district’.

18 By persistent lobbying 
              he persuaded the government to divide the reserve into north, east and south 
              parts and to appoint conservators for each.

19

            
The 
Gazette of 10 October 1893 appointed conservators for ‘the 
              Management of the South 
Egmont Forest Reserve’ and defined their district 
              as lying between the Taungatara River in the west and three chains from the 
              eastern bank of the Kapuni River in the east. Two of the seven conservators 
              were 
ex officio—the district's Commissioner of Crown Lands and the chairman of the 
Hawera County Council. 
Kaponga was strongly represented in
              the remaining five. Two were residents and leaders in the 
Kaponga community: 
Frank Stephen Canning, who bought out 
Henry Davy's 
Kaponga 
              store in 1892, and Rowan farmer 
Richard Dingle,* who became the
              


              

[image: ]

Frederick William Wilkie. His appointment as a conservator while still only in his late twenties
                    was fitting recognition of a man who was arguably the most versatile and progressive leader in
                    early 
Kaponga


              conservators' first ranger in 1894. The one Manaia member was chemist 
              
R. W. Hornby, who was to open a 
Kaponga branch of his business in 1896. 
              When 
Edward Godsal of Otakeho resigned within a month or two of 
              appointment he was replaced by 
George Hurley of Manaia, whose brother 
              James Hurley was a pioneer 
Kaponga settler and butter-maker. The 
Gazette 
              notice appointing him also appointed 
Kaponga's 
F.W. Wilkie as an additiona 
              conservator.

            
With 
Kaponga providing the core of the South 
Egmont forest 
              conservators many of their meetings were held in the township. 
Kaponga 
              was to the fore in raising the funds and providing the voluntary labour that 
              turned the primitive track to Dawson Falls into a road for wheeled traffic 
              and had the Dawson Falls Hostel ready for its official opening on 28 January 
              1896, only four years after the old 
New Plymouth settlement's first 
              accommodation house on their side of the mountain, and three years ahead 
              of the third house, that on the Stratford side. We will survey how this was 
              achieved.

            
The newly appointed southern conservators got quickly onto their task, 
              with calls for parties of voluntary labour armed with slashers or axes, and 
              arrangements for tents to accommodate them. Somehow a dozen or two
              


              settlers found time in the 1894 harvest season to put a day or two's work 
              into ‘Dawson's Track’. The 
Star (24/2/94) had a report from a member of a 
              large climbing party that used the newly cut track in mid-February to get 
              by horse to Dawson Falls, camp there the night and scale the mountain next 
              day. When they got back their horses had disappeared, underlining the need 
              for a horse paddock. In March ‘Our Own’ (21/3/94) reported tourists 
              passing through daily on their way to the mountain, and remarked that it 
              was a grievous pity that more visitors did not follow 
Hawera settler Moore 
              Hunter's example and leave contributions towards development costs with 
              the conservators' chairman, 
Frank Canning. With the approach of the 
              following summer Manaia's ‘Our Own’ (23/10/94) took it upon himself to 
              prod the conservators into even more vigorous activity, based on the tapping 
              of this and all other available sources of finance:

            
Last year over a thousand climbers, principally from our own districts, made 
              their way up as far as the Falls, and many of them visited the top. Not a few 
              camped under canvas and some under the blue vault of heaven … Our 
              conservators should, a couple of months ago, have started a practical scheme 
              for meeting the wants of the ever-increasing stream of mountaineers, and have 
              taken advantage of the very first chance for getting materials ready for the 
              proposed accommodation house, which should be ready for occupation by 
              the middle of December … Had some degree of importunity been shown, a 
              vote might have been obtained from Parliament … The track wants improving, especially above the Falls, more bush land should be felled and the land 
              now in grass should be fenced … Manaia road should be improved at once 
              in view of the increased traffic … It may well be said, ‘Where is the money 
              to come from for all these works?’ … the answer should not be difficult. If 
              half a dozen gentlemen possessed of some little enthusiasm were selected to 
              canvass for subscriptions £200 could be collected between Opunake on the 
              one side and Stratford on the other without trenching upon the domains of 
              other boards. That's a large sum! Yes, but there is hardly a man or woman 
              who can't be interested in the scheme of popularising our mountain scenery 
              … Supposing that every one of the thousand climbers last year had given a 
              shilling, there's £50.

            
This correspondent showed a good knowledge of the needs, and his 
              programme for raising and spending money was very near to what 
              happened, if not at the breakneck speed he desired. Felix McGuire, though, 
              was already ahead even of this enthusiast. Returning from 
Wellington a few 
              days later he informed this gentleman, through the 
Star (29/10/94), that he 
              had succeeded in getting £100 on the estimates for the South 
Egmont Forest Road.

            
Only a few days later the 
Star (12/11/94) reported that the accommodation house was to be built of iron, 40ft by 20ft, with three compartments: a middle one for cooking and dining and the two end ones as 
              bunkrooms with accommodation for 42 people. The conservators met at
              


              Dawson Falls to select a site for the house and paddock. They also decided 
              to ask the Stratford County Council to upgrade its section of the Manaia 
              Road and empowered their ranger to employ labour and to impound all 
              cattle found in the reserve. By their next meeting in January they had a 
              volunteer prepared to design the accommodation house free of charge. They 
              resolved to call tenders immediately, closing at 
Kaponga on 8 February, and 
              also to renew their application to the Stratford County Council, which had 
              declined their request about Manaia Road.

            
Meeting monthly for the next few months they had by the end of the 
              season raised the road to the falls to dray standard so that building materials 
              could be carted in. When the tardy government grant left workmen out of 
              pocket Canning advanced the money to pay them. Hearing of feeling in 
              
Hawera that the board was a Manaia concern they arranged for 
Hawera 
              lawyer Elliott Barton to join them.

20 Over the winter they canvassed for 
              funds and when insufficient had come in by spring they organised shilling 
              concerts at five venues across south Taranaki.

21 Meeting in 
Kaponga on 22 
              November 1895 they received the good news that the horse paddock fence 
              had been completed and that builders Messrs Elliott and King of Stratford 
              would erect their ‘Mountain House’ without charge provided they sent one 
              man themselves. They drew up rules for managing the house and horse 
              paddock. Their day of fulfilment, the official opening in January 1896, left 
              them with a £50 debt to wrestle with. They began this task with a falls 
              concert and a dance of about 70 couples at 
Kaponga that evening.
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The conservators continued improving the facilities of the reserve and 
              its supervision. On each road leading to the mountain settlers were 
              appointed as rangers. Action was taken on trespassing cattle.

23 C.E. Lloyd 
              was appointed first caretaker of the Mountain House in January 1897, his 
              remuneration being two-thirds of fees collected.

24 Free 
Christchurch, New 
              
Plymouth and local newspapers were supplied to the house. With continuing government grants, local fundraising and voluntary labour the 
              conservators improved the building, its access and surroundings. Extensions 
              opened on New Year's Day 1898 increased the facilities to eight rooms. 
              Chairman Richard Dingle used the occasion to solicit help with further 
              improvements. He wanted the building lined for winter use, particularly for 
              local dairy farmers not free to come up in summer. He also launched a 
              ‘thousand shillings’ appeal to buy a piano.

25

            
A good idea of the resort's resources and its growing popularity is 
              provided by a 
Star report of 22 March 1898. W.D. Powdrell of Patea told of 
              travelling there on 23 February with a party of 39, including visitors from 
              
Dunedin, 
Timaru, 
Christchurch, 
Napier and Bulls. They had a pleasant 
              social overnight stop in Manaia, and next morning stocked up with fresh 
              meat, bread and butter in 
Kaponga. At the edge of the reserve they bought 
              fresh milk and left their vehicles and half of their horses in a paddock. Those 
              who rode up carried most of the swags. Powdrell told of Dawson's pioneer 
              work in opening up the mountain and of Richard Dingle's vigorous current
              


              leadership. He thoroughly approved of Dingle's piano appeal, commenting 
              that

            
… We missed music more than anything as the dining room and verandah 
              are suitable for dancing and most of our party could play, sing and dance; we 
              tried hard to get a musician from 
Kaponga with his accordion but failed. 
              After we had paddocked our horses and had lunch we had a look at snowclad 
Egmont with the glasses … we could distinctly see tourists on the
              descent.

            
The house consists of eight rooms and an expansive verandah. Two 
              rooms are match-lined throughout, others large and well fitted up. The bunks 
              are put up ship fashion…. An ample supply of crockery and cooking 
              utensils are provided by the Board. The house boasts of two fire places; the 
              one in the dining room is very large—just the thing for a big party. One night 
              55 slept in the house. Skittles are also provided … and had a good deal of use 
              from our party … The house is looked after by Mr C.E. Lloyd, who also 
              acts as guide…. He also keeps stores, consisting of tinned meats, fruits, 
              milk, tea, sugar, tobacco, &c., at about town prices. Horse feed can be 
              obtained at 1s a feed, and a good feed too. We were charged 8d per day for 
              the use of house, crockery, cooking utensils, &c. The track to the house is 
              well cut and looked after, and not too steep a grade for riding. I am told two 
              buggies have been up and down with safety. A spring cart and two horses had 
              preceded us, taking up grass seed, parcels of books, £5 worth of crockery 
              given by the Manaia public.

            
… Next day we were astir at 4.30 and got well away from the house at 
              5.30. Thirty-five started determined to reach the summit … that is not 
              including our good guide … We took provisions with us … Twenty-seven of 
              the party reached the top … of which 12 were ladies….

            
From this height we had a magnificent view for miles around. Mt. 
              Ruapehu, Tongariro, 
Kaponga village, Stratford, 
New Plymouth, and many 
              different homesteads could be plainly seen, although the smoke prevented us 
              seeing many places of interest. After we had lunched and carved names on 
              our alpine sticks we started our downward journey…. The main body 
              reached the house at 3 p.m…. We were all very tired…. The following day 
              a journey was made to Kendell's cascade. This is at the head of the Kapuni, 
              and very pretty it is. The scenery up this river is hard to equal anywhere in 
              New Zealand …

            
There will be good paddocks next season, as the board have fallen 10 
              acres more this season…. The water is within 20 yds of the house, and a 
              good bathing place on both sides—one for ladies, the other for gents—are 
              within reasonable distance, about 40 yds….

            
Sunday about 7 a.m., a party of eight came to the house and started for 
              the mountain. At 7.30 another dozen more arrived determined for a climb; 
              11 a.m. the chairman of the board came along, and all morning they came.

            
At 11 o'clock we started to pack our swags ready for home, and when
              


              accounts were made up, we found provisions had only cost 1s 5d per day … 
              only a quarter what the hotels charged us. At 11.30 a start was made. Going 
              down the track, two more parties, bound for the house were met.

            
Powdrell concluded that the conservators ‘appear to understand their work thoroughly’. Their success had added a vibrant note to the social and economic life of the nearby settlements, especially 
Kaponga and Manaia.
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The Roads

            
As this chapter has unfolded the reader with an ear for history will have 
              caught a growing tramp of hooves and a rising grind of wheels over gravel. 
              How were the roads coping as this battering escalated? We begin with a ‘Rip 
              Van Winkle’ return to the 1892 
Star files. These show the roads still right at 
              the centre of public concern and illustrate the basic elements in the battle 
              between the growing traffic and the efforts of roadmakers and menders. We 
              will then examine the fortunes of several of the roads during the decade and 
              conclude with some comments on the wayfarers who used the roads.

            
In the 20 February 1892 
Star Mahoe settler David Astbury wrote of his 
              concern at the state of Eltham Road between the Duthie and Palmer roads:

            
Yesterday, while driving to 
Kaponga, and going through a hole to all 
              appearances safe, I was capsized, but, fortunately, escaped with a few bruises. 
              There is no possible way of evading it, for on either side there is a dip caused 
              by a creek. Who is responsible for leaving a hole which, even when driven 
              through with caution, upsets a trap?

            
Why did this road still have such perils when so much money and effort 
              had been expended on it in the 1880s? The 
Star editorial for 9 March, on ‘Our Roads’, gave some answers:

            
The practice has obtained of laying down water worn gravel or stone partially 
              broken as road metal, and the result, both of late and in the past, has been 
              really rough, bad roads, exactly as anyone with the most rudimentary 
              knowledge of macadamising must have foreseen. The first maxim of Macadam 
              was that nothing but angular stones should be laid down, any round or half 
              round stone being recognised by him as a source of weakness and ultimate 
              injury to the road. The laying down of layers of angular stones without 
              round surfaces, the lower layers being of larger and each succeeding layer of 
              smaller angular stones, so that the top layer should not exceed one and a half 
              inches in its largest measurement, was the fundamental rule of Macadam. 
              Bury a large round stone at the bottom of 12 inches of metal, and in a year or 
              two the round stone will work to the top. The roadmaking on the Plains, 
              excepting in the places where machine-broken stone has been used, for the 
              most part has been a so-called system of macadamising with the first 
              principles of Macadam left out.

            
One could not ask for a clearer exposition of the basics of the
              


              extraordinary innovation that McAdam introduced into roadmaking in the 
              early decades of the 19th century. The essential point of this thrifty method 
              was the use of broken, angular pieces of stone, known as ‘road metal’, 
              instead of boulders and gravel. The key to the success of the macadam 
              surface was that the angular stones were much smaller than the width of the 
              common iron tire wheels. As a recent historian of roadmaking has noted:

            
A McAdam pavement could carry about 18 kg per millimetre of tire 
              width…. The strength and stiffness of the course of compacted angular 
              stones came from the structural interlocking that developed between 
              individual pieces of stone.
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But, according to the 
Star, it was not working out like this around 
              
Kaponga:

            
On the Eltham Road, east of 
Kaponga about three-quarters of a mile of hand-broken water-worn metal has lately been laid, in which a large proportion of
              the stone is half round and even on top runs from three to four inches in 
              diameter, which can never make a smooth or good road. On the Manaia road, 
              water-worn boulders from six inches to twelve inches in diameter are now 
              being laid down, some of which are being broken into three or four great 
              rough lumps, but many of the smaller boulders are being left unbroken. In 
              this instance we have no hesitation in saying that the ratepayers' money is 
              being wasted under a faulty system…. The practice has been to conceal the 
              bad workmanship and make this class of bad metalling fairly passable for a 
              few months by ‘blinding’* it with clay or gravel. Both the road and the 
              ratepayers are conveniently blinded by the practice. After a few months most 
              of the clay is blown away as dust, and the road remains a loose, rough mass 
              of rolling stones … [*‘Blinding’ is the process of covering newly made road 
              with fine material to fill interstices.]

            
The editorial then gave a local example of a correctly made macadam 
              surface:

            
… the half mile of the Main South Road, on the 
Waihi hill, near 
Hawera, 
              which stood satisfactorily an immense amount of traffic for nine years with 
              barely six inches of carefully hand-broken metal, laid on a soft and muddy 
              foundation, on the south or shady side of a narrow cutting.

            
The editor pointed to the successful roadmaking of north Taranaki, 
              where finely broken machine stone had been used for years. He warned that 
              ‘men take unkindly to … stone-napping, which has for years been the most 
              common form of low class labor’. But it was to be years before south 
              Taranaki felt it could afford stone-crushing machinery.

            
It was much easier for the 
Star's editor to expound true macadam 
              techniques than for the County Council and Road Board, facing heavy 
              demands with limited resources, to put them effectively into practice. 
              Sometimes even their efforts to act responsibly made them look ridiculous.

            


            
In the winter of 1892 the Opunake end of Eltham Road was given a costly 
              macadam surface that was then largely destroyed by a County Council 
              decision. This was to prohibit Robert Palmer from using Auroa Road as a 
              kind of canal to get his mill's timber out to the Main South Road, thus forcing him to send his output by wagon to Opunake. In the 
Star of 11 
              August, under the heading ‘Eltham Road West’, a correspondent described 
              the results:

            
The action of the County Council in stopping Messrs. Palmer and Co. 
              navigation of [Auroa Road] has excited a good deal of adverse comment here. 
              I have been told by those daily using the road that it was rather improved 
              than otherwise by the timber traffic. The apparatus (a kind of a cross between 
              a boat and a sledge) being flat bottomed, and closely boarded, helped to 
              consolidate the otherwise liquid mud, and made it better for travelling over. 
              There was only a few chains of river bed shingle on this part, and that would 
              stand a lot of the solidifying process too, without injury, as it is naturally 
              anything but cohesive. All the timber traffic now is diverted Opunake way, 
              and the consequence is, that this part of the road having only 5 inches of 
              newly laid broken stone, laid on a very soft bottom, is having a hundred 
              times more damage done to it than could possibly be done at the other end. 
              The Auroa road end cost only a few pounds as yet, while this cost about £700 
              for broken metal alone, yet our local bodies in their wisdom stop the traffic 
              over the mud to divert it over the broken metal which is fast disappearing 
              under the heavy timber traffic.

            
The Road Board's annual report, appearing in the 
Star of 6 May, showed 
              the importance of loan money in its programme: land sale thirds had 
              provided £1096 for the year and £1036 had come from rates, but there had 
              been ‘an expenditure of about £3000 in contracts on county roads in the 
              district’, principally from an Eltham Road special loan. The engineer's 
              report showed that the board had another big struggle on its hands beside 
              that of applying macadam principles:

            
An increasing item … is the cost of replacing a large number of the old 
              culverts in the bush roads. The flooding of the creeks caused by the recent 
              heavy rain falls has given a final death blow to several culverts that have been 
              threatening to collapse … These culverts were put in by the Crown Land 
              Board about 10 or 12 years ago, and, being built of green local timber and 
              shrouded from sun and air for the greater part of the time by the heavy side 
              scrub, it is not surprising that a number of them are thoroughly rotted and 
              dangerous… Where old [culverts] collapse under heavy embankments or 
              fillings, the work of taking out the old material and laying and fitting in the 
              new is not only expensive but extremely dangerous to the men engaged on 
              these jobs.

            
He recommended directing some of the board's carefully husbanded 
              reserves to purchasing drainpipes and bringing in totara timber for this
              


              work. The following November the County Council decided to try another 
              approach to this problem, a cheaper design for cement culverts, with only 
              the load-bearing arch having the standard amount of cement.
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Since Eltham Road was the one most crucial to 
Kaponga's progress we 
              will follow its fortunes through the 1890s. In 1890 the settlers between 
              Palmer Road and the Taungatara Stream carried a poll to borrow £5000, 
              which the county engineer estimated would be sufficient to form, bridge and 
              metal this whole stretch of road.

28 In due course they secured the required 
              government loans, and in the 
Star of 25 January 1892 a ‘Travelling 
              Correspondent’ reported that ‘the great Eltham road metalling contracts are 
              forging ahead and in a little time the settlers will forget that they ever 
              suffered from the effects of a bad road’. He was being far too sanguine, 
              though on 21 April he ventured to tell ‘those who have not been on Eltham 
              road west of 
Kaponga since it has been altered’ that they would be 
              ‘astonished at the fine thoroughfare it has now become’. We have seen how 
              that winter Palmer's timber wagons gave some of this new work a severe 
              mauling. But the winter's worst complaints were about earlier construction 
              between Eltham and 
Kaponga. A 
Star editorial of 3 September commented 
              on a meeting called by concerned Eltham settlers:

            
… The fearful state of the unmetalled portion of the Opunake-Eltham road 
              from the earliest setting in of wet weather has been beyond the belief of those 
              who have not seen for themselves. The traffic is heavy, and is increasing on 
              account of the numerous by-roads from newly-settled country, which branch 
              off from this arterial road and help to swell the traffic. The distance required 
              to be metalled is somewhere about five miles, starting at the Palmer road and 
              connecting with the metalling so far as carried out from the Eltham end… 
              As our casual and travelling representatives have both had experience of this 
              road in its wintery aspect of slush and vehicle wreckage, they can fully 
              appreciate … the anxiety of regular users of this road to get it metalled, as 
              well for comfortable travelling as for the opportunity a good road would 
              afford of carrying products to market, and placing them in readier touch with 
              the coming dairying boom …

            
The following January ‘Our Own’ took up the theme. ‘We have not got one 
              main road which we could call complete,’ he complained. ‘All appear to have 
              fallen short of their destination.’

            
But things were to get worse before they got better. Over Easter 1893 
              the district was hit by heavy gales and its worst floods on record, with 
              devastating effects for the roads. The mail-carrier could not get from Eltham 
              to 
Kaponga; west of 
Kaponga damage was even worse, with culverts washed 
              out and bridge approaches washed away.

29 The blow affected roading 
              finances for years, with long-term consequences for all the roads. The worst 
              damage was in the open country, where it cost nearly £2000 to repair.

30 
              Labour had to be diverted from the Eltham Road contracts, delaying 
              completion beyond the next winter.

            


            
By winter 1894 Eltham Road had been metalled throughout its length— 
              whether on genuine macadam principles time was to test. One's suspicions 
              are raised by discussion at a 
Kaponga ratepayers meeting on 5 May 1894. 
              This ‘turned on the immediate necessity of blinding the metal on the Eltham 
              road in order to preserve the work that had been done out of the loan’, and 
              ‘it was strongly pointed out that the metal was disappearing rapidly, and that 
              unless immediate action were taken the work done would be wasted’. This 
              work was got under way the following month.

31 In the August 1894 
Farmer 
              a reporter described travelling the road the previous June:

            
Beyond the Mangatoki the road to 
Kaponga ascended in grade and descended 
              in quality; you had your choice of the purgatory of newlaid and unblinded 
              metal in the middle or of the bottomless perdition of mud on either side. As 
              is at times the case, the better the soil, the deeper the mire… The road 
              between 
Kaponga and Opunake is said to be no worse than that between 
              
Kaponga and the Mangatoki, only there is more of it.

            
A 
Farmer report in February 1895, probably by the same reporter, had 
              better things to say. The metal would now have settled down, and summer 
              was the best time to be on these roads.

            
The road between Mangatoki and 
Kaponga is vastly better than it was, and is 
              now really good… Now you can bowl along with spring trap and buggy to 
              Opunake… There is every probability that the mails for Opunake will go 
              along the road from Eltham there being, it has been said, a saving of from an 
              hour and a half to two hours by so doing.

            
So the pressure on Eltham Road was now coming not only from the 
              maturing of the bush settlements but also from the capture of South Road 
              traffic.

            
Over the following years the settlers became increasingly aware of the 
              road's deficiencies. Several reports indicated that its macadamising had been 
              defective. In the 18 January 1897 
Star a ‘Travelling Correspondent’ 
              commented:

            
The Eltham road from 
Kaponga to Mangatoki, though well metalled, is not 
              very pleasant to travel on, there being a large amount of loose stones strewn 
              over the road, and something should be done to make them bind together.

            
The following June ‘Our Own’ commented that

            
… If the large boulders which are cropping up all along the Eltham Road 
              were cracked it would be safer for travellers, and show generalship and 
              economy on behalf of the Road Board or Council. As it is the money 
              expended for metalling this portion of the road is simply going to waste.

32

            
This shows some awareness of McAdam's principles, as also, about the 
              same time, does the Waimate Road Board's foreman, who reported (
Star, 
              12/6/97):

            


            
Between the Palmer road and Awatuna is in fair order with the exception of 
              about 60 chains which is getting in a rough state, large stones appearing above 
              the surface. To put it in good order about 85 chains of the road requires 
              picking up and a thin coating of metal spread over the 60 chains.

            
Eltham Road travellers had other problems besides those arising from 
              defective macadamising. In 1899, for example, ‘Our Own’, prompted by 
              continual requests from travellers, ran a campaign against a practice of the 
              road maintenance contractors. To save themselves labour they were placing 
              logs across the water tables and right up against the metal in the cuttings 
              along the road. But with rapidly increasing traffic the road could not 
              function effectively as a single-lane route, and travellers' limbs and lives 
              were being put at risk as they were forced off the road onto these 
              obstructions.

33 Another type of risk and inconvenience was created by 
              several unbridged streams, for the £5000 loan had not proved sufficient to 
              provide bridges throughout. In the late 1890s the settlers began to pressure 
              the government for funds to bridge the Mangawhero and Punehu streams.

34 
              There was to be tragedy before their campaign succeeded. The foreman's 
              report on the road at the November 1899 meeting did not bode well for the 
              coming years:

            
The traffic has increased and is steadily increasing, especially traffic that used 
              to go by way of Main South Road and is causing the road to cut through in 
              several parts… I cannot see how we are going to cope with the 
              requirements unless we overdraw into next year's rates.

35

            
The same report showed Manaia Road to be in an even worse 
              condition—‘for a great distance … in very bad repair’. For the past two 
              years the rates had been spent ‘in trying to keep the road open to traffic, by 
              doing the very worst parts’. Between Kapuni and Manaia the road menders 
              continued to be bedevilled by the stretches of gley soils over iron pan. Only 
              the most meticulous macadamising could have mastered these stretches, and 
              this they certainly had not received. We will briefly survey the road's 
              fortunes during the decade, looking first at the 
Kaponga-Manaia section 
              then at the 
Kaponga-
Egmont. Unless otherwise attributed, all information 
              and comments are from ‘Our Own’, who took a constant interest in the 
              road.

            
In the 14 October 1892 
Star ‘Our Own’ used Manaia Road to illustrate 
              the folly of using gravel instead of broken stone:

            
Parts of the Manaia road, which have been down six or seven years, are 
              breaking up in all directions, and the cost of repairing will be simply 
              enormous.

            
In 1894 and 1895 the atrocious state the road was repeatedly described.

            
… an absolute disgrace to those in charge of it. It is dangerous to strangers 
              especially after dark. (
Star, 19/6/94)

            


            
… will be impassable to wheel traffic unless something is done to it 
              soon. (
Star, 15/5/95)

            
… frequent capsizes… now happen. (
Star, 27/7/95)

            
… from Manaia to the Skeet road is a standing disgrace to both the 
              County Council and the Waimate Road Board. (
Star, 15/11/95)

            
An attack on these problems began at last in the autumn of 1896, 
              apparently using loan money.

36 In the 
Star of 26 March 1896 Eltham's ‘Our 
              Own’ reported that

            
… Along the Manaia-
Kaponga road metalling and repairing operations are in 
              full swing, and by the look of things there is a possibility of the road being in 
              fairly good order in the next 2 months.

            
But on 16 May a 
Star news item reported the road still in a wretched 
              state in places, despite considerable repairs. On 21 August 1897 Kapuni's 
              ‘Our Own’ made it clear that nothing had really changed and spelt out one 
              of the major consequences:

            
The roads here are in a frightful state … There are holes the full width of the 
              metal and in some places two feet deep … At one time Manaia tradesmen 
              had the whole of the 
Kaponga trade, now it is a terrible journey from 
              
Kaponga to Manaia and so Manaia loses the trade.

            
So the board's inability to master Manaia Road problems was one 
              element in a shift of 
Kaponga's focus from looking south to Manaia to 
              looking east to Eltham and Stratford. On 8 August 1899 ‘Our Own’ 
              described 
Kaponga as ‘fairly well off for outlets with the exception of the 
              Manaia road … it is fast approaching its primitive state’.

            
Above 
Kaponga the Manaia Road had better fortunes in the 1890s. 
              While the mountain traffic could avoid lower Manaia Road (for example by 
              using Palmer or Duthie) it all had to converge on upper Manaia Road to 
              reach Dawson Falls. The new Stratford County, formed in 1890, took over 
              this upper stretch from about a mile above 
Kaponga township, and by the 
              mid-1890s it was taking seriously the improvement of this route to Mt 
              
Egmont. When it completed forming and metalling in the autumn of 1895 
              the atrocious state of the Waimate Road Board's little section above Eltham 
              Road was spotlighted. After two years of advocacy by ‘Our Own’ and a 
              settler petition, the board at last tackled this job in April 1897.
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We will briefly summarise the fortunes of the other roads. Taking over 
              its ‘
Kaponga’ stretch of Opunake Road as little more that a pack track, the 
              new Stratford County steadily bridged, culverted, formed and metalled to 
              create a good cart road for mountain traffic and local settlers by the mid 
              -1890s.

38 With some settler self-help the Waimate Road Board succeeded in 
              keeping Palmer Road in reasonable order.

39 Rowan Road settlers were 
              unable to agree on loan matters and it remained fairly primitive, as also did 
              Mangawhero Road, where loan problems and a gap in the metal persisted into the next decade.
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We have already made clear the nature of the rising flow of traffic over 
              this network of roads. The biggest contributor was the growing dairy 
              industry. In December 1894 the 
Farmer's 
Hawera correspondent told how 
              on a recent run around 
Egmont's base he had been surprised to find that

            
… at every corner and lined along the roads were strings of springed traps, 
              drays, hand-carts, and only one wheelbarrow, each wending their way heavily 
              laden with milk to the nearest cheese and butter factory, drivers and horses 
              alike looking fat and apparently content with their lot.

            
Besides 
Kaponga's daily traffic of milk cans to the creameries and of cream 
              onwards to the Mangatoki factory, the industry's stock sales caused periodic 
              flurries of droving, and pigs fattened on the skim milk had to be carted to 
              market. We have also noted the heavy timber traffic and the summer tourist 
              flow to the mountain.

            
The township's growth generated a rising traffic. Children straggled 
              daily to school, on foot or horseback. Storekeepers and butchers made 
              their (usually weekly) rounds. There was also commercial, service and 
              recreational traffic, which our next two chapters will make apparent. There 
              were strengthening links with the outside world, particularly along Eltham 
              Road to the railway. By January 1893 there was a tri-weekly mail service to 
              Eltham. By March 1896 this had become daily and also provided a daily 
              delivery of the 
Star. From May 1899 a daily Eltham-Opunake coach service 
              traversed the district. And mingling with these major and regular flows were 
              a mix of occasional wayfarers such as grooms taking stallions on circuit, 
              travelling newspaper reporters, local and parliamentary politicians drumming up support, pedlars travelling door to door and sometimes camping 
              on the roadside.
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To end this section on a note of realism I will quote from a skit dated 
              20 June 1902 entitled ‘My first night in Taranaki’, written by Percy William 
              Allen to describe his endeavours to find the township one spring night in 
              1900. Allen was a newly arrived 19-year-old immigrant from Suffolk. He 
              had been landed on ‘one of your unmetalled roads’ ‘nicely paved with … 
              good honest Taranaki mud, in places more than knee deep’. His ‘Gamp and 
              Waterproof’ had proved no match to a Taranaki spring shower.

            
As the night was pitch Black I could no more see where I was going than the 
              man in the moon without a lantern. And to make matters worse for a New 
              Chum, there were about 150 dairies of cows (more or less) grazing on the 
              road, and to my surprise [I] kept constantly colliding with one of these 
              beautiful creatures, which almost frightened me back to the country I had just 
              left.

            
At last, covered with mud to the waist, he discerned the faint outlines of a 
              house in the first hint of morning light. He awakened the kind folk within 
              and they gave him a bed.
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The Township

            
As the vibrant centre of this district network the township developed a 
              vigorous life of its own, and provided leadership and service to life on the 
              farms, in the bush and on the mountain. We probe various aspects of this 
              community in our next two chapters; here we overview its development, 
              nature and purposes.

            
Having cleared 18 acres at the centre of the site in 1889, the government 
              completed the process in two stages over the winters of 1890 and 1891. The 
              contractors finished the task in October 1891.

43 About a quarter of the 
              township land had been unsold. Taken off the market during clearing, it sold 
              rapidly thereafter, most being taken by the end of 1893. Between 1890 and 
              1893 
Kaponga was transformed from a speculative paper township into a 
              lively settlement of homes, businesses, public institutions and utilities, and 
              farmlets. By 1899 it had at least the beginnings of most of the features and 
              amenities that its settlers desired. We must examine the influences that 
              shaped this transformation: Old World ideas on rural townships, the 
              surveyors' thinking of the late 1870s, and the geographic, social and 
              economic realities of the 1890s.

            
In terms of Old World models, 
Kaponga developed as a market, 
              industrial, service and stage-post rural town, but with the population of no 
              more than a small village. At ‘Home’ the settlers had been used to country 
              towns of about 1000 to 4000 population which

            
… through their markets and fairs, a growing variety of shops, a wide range 
              of crafts, and a few professional men … were service centres for a rural 
              hinterland of perhaps no more than three or four miles in radius. Many of 
              them had some cottage industries, and some had workshops and small 
              factories … All the country towns differed from the villages in their 
              hinterlands in that the majority of the occupied inhabitants of the latter were 
              directly involved in agriculture as farmers or labourers, and that the trades 
              and crafts in the towns were far more varied and specialised.

44

            
Though village-sized in population, with many of its inhabitants 
              directly involved in agriculture, 
Kaponga provided a rich range of ‘town’ 
              services to a district considerably larger than that of the typical English 
              country town. We must explain how it managed to do this.

            
The Crown Grant Record Map shows that the surveyors had 
              consciously laid out a township, not a village. For example, they set aside a 
              one-acre site for the town hall, which made its appearance in 1895. Most 
              English villages of the 1890s had several times 
Kaponga's population but 
              few of them were to see a village hall till well into the next century.

45 The 
              surveyors allowed generous reserves for a school, a recreation domain and 
              a cemetery, and made provision for a post office and a pound. With the 
              exception of the pound, all of these reserves were put to vigorous use within 
              a few years of the township's rise.

            


            
Meanwhile on 
Kaponga's commercial and industrial sites the settlers 
              met the processing requirements of the dairy industry, the staple of the 
              surrounding countryside; set up workshops that met much of this industry's 
              equipment and transport needs; and established a market for the district's 
              livestock. This latter the surveyors had not foreseen, so that 
Kaponga had a 
              long tussle to get stock routes for the beasts to move to and from the 
              saleyards without disturbing the main shopping centre and soiling its streets.

            
So 
Kaponga became a market town, with fortnightly stock sales by early 
              1893. By April 1895 ‘Our Own’ was explaining that Friday ‘is the sale day’, 
              the day when farmers and livestock flocked to the saleyards, the day the 
              doctor came from Eltham, and the day on which settlers thought at least 
              one bank should show up to do business. It was another three years before 
              the Bank of 
New South Wales saw things this way.

46 Sale day became part 
              of 
Kaponga's weekly rhythm. No market other than that for livestock 
              developed, but Friday became the main shopping day and the day on which 
              various professional men did a day's stint in the place. 
Kaponga also steadily 
              increased its own range of professional men who, together with its tradesmen, worked to make it an important service centre to the surrounding
              countryside.

            
Besides its industrial, market and service functions, 
Kaponga was the 
              most significant staging place on Eltham Road between Opunake on the sea 
              coast to the west and the railway to the east. It was also an important stage 
              post, and the major supply point, for visitors coming to tackle 
Egmont from 
              the south. As well, 
Kaponga aspired successfully to a place alongside south 
              Taranaki's larger centres in the region's sporting, entertainment and social 
              circuit. Its range of achievements in these areas was quite remarkable.

            
How was it that village-sized 
Kaponga tackled its town-sized job so 
              well? Partly it was that much of the district's population involved themselves 
              in the task. The various committees, teams, clubs and other institutions were 
              able to draw freely on both town and country. In both leadership and 
              membership, farmers accepted townsmen, and townsmen farmers, without 
              demur. Again, the greater part of the adult population was fit and active. 
              Few of the aged or infirm chose this demanding frontier environment. These 
              frontier settlers seem to have been self-selected for vigour and involvement.

            
We finally survey some highlights of the town's progress over the 
              decade. The opening of the school and the hotel were important early 
              events. The school opened on 22 June 1891. Its committee was 
Kaponga's 
              first formal public leadership group, a forerunner of many that were to lead 
              the community with initiative and imagination. The school building 
              immediately became a useful venue for various community activities. 
              When the Commercial Hotel opened, also in 1891, the 
Star's ‘Travelling 
              Correspondent’ commented that ‘a well-conducted hotel is no slight 
              advantage to a rising township’, as strangers and land seekers had no longer 
              to trust to chance ‘and the charity of ephemeric acquaintances’ for the care 
              of themselves and their beasts.

47 For the local population, apart from its
              


              regular trade, it was a useful venue for many activities, from inquests to 
              farewells and the banqueting of a visiting prime minister.

            
By the autumn of 1892 the 
Star's ‘Travelling Correspondent’ (21/4/92) 
              was presenting 
Kaponga as a place to be taken note of. New houses were 
              springing up ‘everywhere’, the township was now ‘quite a business place’ 
              and the businessmen were making ‘large additions’ to their buildings. The 
              
Kaponga community apparently called on this correspondent when the 
              opportunity arose of using a prestigious family event to put their township 
              on the map. Dr A.B.B. Watts (1822–93), a retired medical practitioner, had 
              been living among them for about 18 months and responding to any urgent 
              medical calls that came his way. He had had a distinguished medical career, 
              having at one time a large practice near Brighton, and had come to New 
              Zealand through the persuasions of Colonel Feilding (of the Mancheste 
              Block settlement) for the benefit of his sons. On 10 March 1892 
Kaponga's 
              ‘whole countryside seemed 
en fete’ for the celebration of the double 
              wedding of his son F.W. Watts to Mary Tait of Manaia, and his daughter 
              Mabel Watts to Edward Ellerm of 
Kaponga. 
Hawera's and Patea's Anglican 
              vicars conducted the ceremonies in ‘the 
Kaponga church’ (the Methodist 
              church, still at this stage used by other churches). The write-up of the 
              occasion in the following day's 
Star would seem to have been intended as 
              much as a boost for the local community as a tribute to a family occasion:
              

[image: ]

One of the few early township photos, c.1893: Exley's home and butchery, on the north side of


                    Eltham Road, west of Manaia Road. The delivery cart on the left seems off to service settlers


                    across the Kaupokonui. Notice the unfelled timber between Exley's and the river. The


                    mounted boy must be off on a township delivery. On this side of the street be must first pass


                    Canning's premises, a bakery and a general store, before coming to the Commercial Hotel at


                    the crossroad


            

            


            
The double ceremony took place at 11 a.m. in the 
Kaponga Church, which 
              was decorated for the occasion…. Both brides looked charming, and each 
              wore embroidered muslin and white silk dresses, with lace and tulle veils, and 
              orange blossom, Miss Watts wearing an old and magnificent veil. There were 
              six bridesmaids … who wore becoming dresses of nun's pink veiling, white 
              muslin, with tulle veils, and wreaths of orange blossoms…. When the 
              ceremonies were over in the church, which by the way was crowded, the 
              newly married couples were driven to Dr. Watts residence in two carriages of 
              four; Mr. and Mrs. F.W. Watts occupying a splendid turn out of four well 
              -matched grays, driven in capital style by Mr. Flynn, of 
Hawera. The other 
              carriage was well horsed, but the horses were not quite so well matched in 
              color. Both turns out belonged to Mr. Flynn. It was rather unfortunate that 
              for several chains before reaching Dr. Watts' house the road had been lately 
              covered with immense boulders, which both exercised the skill of the driver 
              and tried the springs of the carriages to the utmost. However, everyone 
              arrived safely at the destination, where a regal lunch awaited the guests. Fully 
              seventy people sat down to a table in a building which was specially arranged 
              for the occasion … The day, luckily, was beautiful …

48

            
The correspondent commented that such an event could not have been 
              staged in the 
Kaponga of a year or two earlier. Even in 1892 the setting must 
              have seemed decidedly incongruous, with gaunt ranks of burnt tree trunks 
              hemming in the town and the riverbed nature of the drive to the wedding 
              breakfast.

            
The spring of 1893 saw the opening of the Loan and Mercantile 
              creamery. The following autumn the first moves were made for a town hall 
              and it was opened with appropriate celebrations on 6 June 1895. When a 
              stage was added in March 1896 there was still room to seat 100 people.

49 
              The closing years of the decade saw negotiations and working bees to get 
              the recreation ground into usable condition.

50 In February 1898 the 
              
Kaponga Horticultural Society held its first annual show in the town hall. 
              This was little more than a local event, but the second show, in February 
              1899, was a highly successful regional event, opened by the local member 
              of Parliament.

51 Meanwhile there had been a steady growth in the range and 
              quality of shops, workshops and professional services. On 27 July 1899, to 
              further their common interests, the township's leaders formed The 
Kaponga 
              Settlers' Association.
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Kaponga in South Taranaki

            
The rise of the township led the settlers to rethink their mental maps of their 
              world. From a vague section of a generalised ‘Kaupokonui bush’ had 
              emerged a fairly clearly defined district, focused on the new township. This 
              new ‘identity’ had to work out appropriate relationships with neighbouring 
              districts and townships. Its settlers consulted vigorously among themselves 
              about shaping local government to better serve their interests. Apart from
              


              the northerns Stratford County strip, the district's administration was 
              divided between the 
Hawera County Council and the Waimate Road Board. 
              Various proposals to reshape these arrangements met with no success in the 
              1890s. There were, for example, moves in 1892 for a new ‘
Egmont County’ 
              largely covering the Waimate Road District; petitions and counter-petitions 
              in 1894 on scrapping the Road Board (as all others in the county had been); 
              and bush settler moves in 1895 for a new Kaupokonui Road District carved 
              out of the Waimate Road District. We will not follow all these political 
              convolutions and intricate public debates, but extract from them the main 
              public attitudes that emerged, attitudes important not only to local 
              government but also in shaping regional economic, social, recreational 
              religious and educational arrangements.

            

Kaponga settlers readily accepted 
Hawera's leadership as south 
              Taranaki's ‘capital’. This was greatly helped by their high regard for its 
              newspaper, the 

Hawera Star, a worthy ‘county’ newspaper, aware of their 
              interests and problems and judicious in its editorial judgments. 
Kaponga 
              (with all south Taranaki) took holidays for 
Hawera's great public events, 
              such as its prestigious 
Egmont A & P Show. They also increasingly looked 
              eastwards o the ‘railway’ towns of Stratford and Eltham for facilities, events 
              and leadership. On the other hand there was recurrent friction between 
              
Kaponga and the open-country settlers to their south, whose interests were 
              focused by Manaia, and a rejection of leadership from Opunake in the west. 
              The bush/open-country friction on roading persisted from the 1880s. The 
              open-country settlers felt that while they had overpaid for their land and 
              were rated on excessive valuations, the bush settlers had got their land 
              cheaply and their rating valuations were not increasing fast enough as they 
              improved their sections. So open-country settlers sought rates no higher 
              than was needed to keep their roads in order. If bush settlers wanted better 
              roads, let them borrow. The bush settlers felt that they had not had a fair 
              share of the initial government spending on roads, and suspected the board 
              of continually favouring the open country. These suspicions were fanned 
              when bush districts rates were diverted to repair the Main South Road after 
              the 1893 Easter storm. Seeking to allay these suspicions County Council 
              members met with the 
Kaponga settlers on Saturday, 5 May 1894. They 
              freely admitted that whereas ‘according to ratable value the open was 
              entitled to £4, as against £3 for the bush, for the last two years the open had 
              received £4 for every £1 the bush had had’.

            
The council's chairman explained why this had been done. After the 
              floods they had called meetings of settlers to ask for means to repair the 
              damage, but the settlers would do nothing until they knew the cost. Th 
              council had a legal obligation to keep this main road open. As neither loan 
              money nor land revenue could be shifted about it had no option but to use 
              rates money, irrespective of where it came from. This pen approach, 
              admitting to injustice enforced by necessity, seems to have had some effect. 
              Frank Canning, 
Kaponga's storekeeper, moved a motion of thanks, pointing
              


              out that an accident arising from not attending to repairs might have cost 
              council damages amounting to several years' rates. Sawmiller Robert Palmer 
              seconded the motion. But suspicions continued. Over the 1895 winter a 
              campaign was run in the bush for a new road district embracing the bush, 
              and received strong support in 
Kaponga. Deciding on the southern 
              boundary was difficult as the bush did not want to take on three east-west 
              roads (Skeet, Eltham and Opunake) to the open country's one. Nothing 
              came of this agitation.

            
Occasionally the discussions saw Opunake proposed as 
Kaponga's 
              ounty town, an idea that no one in 
Kaponga seemed to find acceptable. 
              Views attributed by a 
Star correspondent to Riverlea farmer 
George 
              Hemingway* may have had considerable support. In some rather 
              unguarded remarks at a meeting in Awatuna he was reported as saying:

            
… it would be madness on our part to ally ourselves with any portion of 
              a poverty-stricken county like Taranaki; that if we knew as much as he did of 
              the poor quality of the land and the class of people who lived in Parihaka 
              riding, we would never dream of such a thing. On the other hand, he 
              depicted the advantages of an alliance with a rich county like 
Hawera … 

52

            
It seems that some 
Kaponga settlers on the one hand resented being 
              ‘poor relations’ in respect to the Manaia district, but on the other looked 
              down on the settlers on the poorer lands to their west as their own ‘poor 
              relations’.
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Kaponga and the World

            
The settlement of New Zealand coincided with the achievement of almost 
              universal literacy in both homeland and colony. Correspondence and 
              newspapers flowed steadily between the settlers and those they had left in 
              the hearthlands, and in 1876 New Zealand was linked with the Old World 
              by cable. So down the years the colonists' memories of ‘Home’ were 
              nourished and updated by a flood of news reports, letters, journals and 
              books from the Old Country, and their children were given a deeply 
              ‘English’ education. The result was a unified colonial-homeland conscious 
              ness among the settlers, and an eagerness to recreate the best of the Old 
              World in their new land. 
Kaponga's Watts double wedding is one example 
              of this. The ‘old and magnificent veil’ worn by bride Mabel Watts was 
              doubtless an heirloom evoking memories of many past family weddings 
              whose valued features the double wedding programme endeavoured to 
              recreate. During the 1890s 
Kaponga awareness of the Old Country was 
              further enriched by a number of ‘trips home’. In 1893 settlers Fred Frethey 
              and Herbert Wilkie paid a visit to ‘the Old Country’, taking in the 
Chicago 
              World Fair on their way. Farmer John Mackie took a trip in 1895, as also 
              did the wife of Scottish settler George Hemingway and several of her 
              children. Over 1896–97 the whole Hemingway family paid a visit to
              


              Scotland. 
Kaponga's Methodist minister visited England in 1897 and on his 
              return gave ‘a graphic description’ of his trip.

53

            
An illustration of the interplay between 
Kaponga and the Old World is 
              provided by a 
Star item of 6 January 1897 in which H. White of 
Kaponga 
              was thanked for a newspaper report on the Frome Show, Somerset, and 
              copy of its catalogue. The catalogue listed 49 entries for cheeses from ‘Her 
              Majesty's dominions', among them one from the 
Hawera Co-operative 
              Dairy Company. Clearly letters had been flowing between H. White and 
              relatives and/or friends in Somerset, leading to his receiving this material, 
              which he rightly decided was of public interest. 
Hawera's entry at Frome 
              did not win a prize but the 
Star commented that it must have led some 
              Somerset dairy farmers ‘to look up their geography’.

            
Besides such nourishing of ‘Home’ bonds the colonial press had a 
              strong ‘global’ impact, in particular keeping its readers well informed on 
              overseas developments of relevance to New Zealand. We will illustrate this 
              by examples of its input into the rise of 
Kaponga dairying. How well 
              informed were 
Kaponga's settlers in 1893 when they decided to support the 
              L. & M.'s venture into factory dairying for the distant British market? A 
              perusal of the 
Star's columns shows that besides informing them of New 
              Zealand developments it carried material on the British dairy markets, the 
              various exporters competing for this market, and the problems New 
              Zealand faced in supplying it.

54 The press also told how the 
London and 
              
Manchester firm of Lovell and Christmas had set about developing vital 
              links with the Taranaki dairy industry. In 1891 it sent a representative to 
              survey the prospeets of doing business with New Zealand, and followed this 
              up by sending two representatives to open an office in 
Hawera in 1892. Our 
              
Kaponga settlers will also have wanted the latest overseas thinking on 
              dairying practive. They were fortunate that the 
Farmer not only dealt 
              extensively with market issues but also combed the world for practical 
              advice on all aspects of dairying. We know that the 
Farmer was widely read 
              around 
Kaponga for each issue listed the initials and addresses of sub 
              scriptions received. In 1893 17 
Kaponga settlers were subscribers. During 
              the year they would have read dairying material culled from many leading 
              British, American and Australian agricultural journals, including articles on 
              stock breeds, feeding, cheese and butter-making, dairy factory develop 
              ments, care of dairy utensils, and a mass of detailed advice on matters facing 
              the individual dairy farmer.
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Kaponga and New Zealand

            
From 
Kaponga's intricate interconnections with the wider world of the 
              colony we choose two for brief examination: the inflow of migrants from 
              other provinces, and parliamentary representation.

            

Kaponga's immigrants came from many quarters, but there seem to have 
              been particularly strong flows in the 1890s from rural 
Wellington and
              


              
Canterbury. Some of the 
Wellington flow was a continuation of the north 
              ward migration we noted in the 1880s, deriving from the Hutt Valley 
              pioneers. he Fretheys, Wilkies and Hollards all received further reinforce 
              ments. From the Hutt came Eli Hollard and his family in 1895, and Charles 
              Hollard and his family in 1897.

55 Both bought established farms; both 
              families were 
Methodists. Also Methodist were 
Richard Mellow* and 
              family, who migrated from 
Wellington in 1896. Mellow became a prominent 
              leader in 
Kaponga dairying, farming and sporting affairs. Another significant Hutt family migration to 
Kaponga was that of the widowed 
Catherine 
              Cleland* and her large family, about 1894.

            
The migration from 
Canterbury arose from land hunger, particularly 
              among its farmers' sons. In the 1892 Land for Settlement Bill debate a North 
              Island member said that all the land-hungry had to do was move north. In 
              reply 
Richard Meredith, Liberal MP for Ashley, told how it looked from 
              rural 
Canterbury:

            
You are denuding the 
South Island of the best of its population. You are 
              taking away those young men who have been brought up on the soil, have 
              had a thorough training, and who are in every way qualified to make the best 
              settlers. These men who are coming to the 
North Island are in possession of 
              some capital and they are bringing that capital with them. That is the class of 
              person we wish to retain in the 
South Island.

56

            
But the government could not afford to settle all these young men on 
              subdivided southern estates. In the July 1891 
Farmer its 
Hawera 
              correspondent was pleased to note ‘quite an influx of 
South Island dairymen 
              coming to this coast’, instancing a Mr Candy, who had ‘established a good 
              reputation in 
Canterbury as a first-class dairyman’. The strength of the 
              
Canterbury inflow is reflected in the fact that by 1893 storekeeper Canning 
              advertised as agent for the 
Hawera and Manaia newspapers, and for one other 
              the 
Christchurch 
Press.

57

            
Felix McGuire was the successful candidate in the February 1891 
              
Egmont by-election, following Atkinson's resignation, and continued as 
              
Kaponga's member until defeated by Major in 1902. McGuire entered the 
              House as a Liberal, but he soon broke with the party in protest at the South 
              Island orientation of its land policy.

58 
Kaponga settlers gave him growing 
              support through the 1890s, and would certainly have agreed with these 
              comments of his in the debate on the 1895 Land for Settlement Bill:

            
Sir, it has also been said … that settlers' sons in 
Canterbury cannot get land 
              in that district. Surely those young men who want to become settlers are not 
              afraid to leave their mothers' apron strings and to go to other parts of New 
              Zealand in order to get land…. Some of the 
Canterbury settlers have come 
              to Taranaki and have been very successful indeed. Surely that is the right 
              policy, and I say the Government is acting altogether wrongly in buying up 
              land in order to settle these people at their own doors.

59

            


            
McGuire emigrated from Ireland, arriving in New Zealand in 1863. He 
              had a rich variety of colonial experience, seeing active service in the land 
              wars, trying his luck on the 
West Coast gold fields, and turning his hand to 
              a variety of occupations. He was Patea member of the Taranaki Provincial 
              Council 1873–76, and 
Hawera's first mayor 1882–83.

60 He seems to have 
              taken his Rowan Road section in 1886, on his return to Taranaki from three 
              years in 
Auckland.

            
On Sunday, 20 November 1898, at McGuire's invitation, Prime Minister 
              
Richard Seddon paid a surprise visit to 
Kaponga. McGuire was doubtless 
              acting in the interests of the district and in support of his claim that his 
              constituents received as much consideration from the government as those 
              of Liberal members.

61 Despite its being Sunday Seddon was able to see the 
              co-operative factory in action, and was shown around several ‘business 
              establishments’. A hastily assembled deputation lobbied him for a post 
              office building. On the spur of the moment the Commercial Hotel put on 
              a spread that Seddon told them was ‘fit for a king’, even though he had 
              descended on them without warning.

            
In May 1899 Seddon again visited Taranaki, obviously doing som 
              advance work for the December general election. At 
Kaponga, after giving a two-and-a-half-hour speech to a crowded meeting, he receive 
              deputations asking, among other things, for further bridges on Eltham 
              Road, for improving the track to the Mountain House, and for a post office 
              and local constable for 
Kaponga. Thereafter he sat down to a splendid 
              dinner for some 60 people in the Commercial Hotel. On this occasion he 
              was not accompanied by McGuire, and 
Kaponga folk would have known 
              that his visit was aimed at unseating their local member.
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Factory Dairying

            
In the early 1890s, as they read their 
Farmer and watched factory dairying 
              develop around them, 
Kaponga's more established settlers must have been 
              quite frustrated by their growing awareness of the changing markets and 
              new technology that were creating an international trade in dairy produce. 
              The main importer was 
Britain, whose farmers could not meet the demands 
              of a steadily growing population and rising living standards. To enter this 
              market one needed to shift from home manufacture, with its dubious quality 
              control, to factory manufacture using new technologies and water or steam 
              power.

            
Dairy factories had appeared in the American state of 
New York as early
              

[image: ]

Robert Cleland (c. 1851–92) as a prosperous 
Lower Hutt grocer c. 1886, with six of his children


                    (to his left Fred, Lena and Norman; to his right Harold (mounted), Tom and Hugh). In 1893,


                    doubtless with careers for the seven sons in mind, the family settled in the Toko district,


                    Taranaki, where Robert died suddenly six months later


              


              

[image: ]

Catherine Cleland née Burt (c. 1849–1941). Concerned at Toko's poor roads, her husband


                    Robert bought a farm on upper Manaia Road, and was about to move the family there.


                    Newly widowed Catherine and her nine children carried the project through and had a major


                    input into the district's farming. On the founding of the Dairy Co-op Harold had the largest


                    shareholding


              as the 1850s. From there they spread steadily to New England and the 
              north-west, where Wisconsin emerged as the leading dairying state, with 
              over 100 cheese factories by 1870.

1 By 1865 
America had replaced Holland 
              as 
Britain's main source of cheese imports. By the 1870s 
Britain was 
              adopting American-style factory cheese making, only to have it swept aside 
              by the growing demand for liquid milk, railed in ever-increasing quantities 
              to 
London and the industrial cities.

            
In 1881 the New Zealand government showed its awareness of dairying 
              realities by offering a £500 bonus for the first satisfactory export of 25 tons 
              of butter or 50 tons of cheese ‘produced in a factory worked on the 
              American principle’.

2 Alert 
Kaponga settlers of the early 1890s would have 
              noticed that northern hemisphere dairy production lagged ever further 
              behind demand, with American exports declining due to a growing local 
              market. The development of refrigeration made the hungry British market 
              available to the southern hemisphere. A 
Star editorial of 20 July 1892 
              summed things up. 
Britain's annual butter imports were now worth £13 
              million, her cheese imports £2.5 million. New Zealand's reputation on this
              


              wide-open market was being spoiled by the dumping of ‘inferior mixed 
              butters’. Meanwhile 
Canada was establishing a good name for its cheese, a 
              remarkable farmers' co-operative movement in 
Denmark had won a fine 
              name for its factory butter, and across the Tasman Victorian farmers, with 
              state encouragement and supervision, had entered the market with great 
              success. Observant 
Kaponga folk were aware that to succeed on this market 
              New Zealand dairying must learn from its rivals. They also knew that there 
              were snags to be removed at every step from their bush clearings to the 
              British markets. Before we follow the fortunes of 
Kaponga factory dairying 
              let us look at some of those snags in the local scene.

            
In the May 1893 
Farmer the 
Hawera correspondent described how the 
              colony's reputation in 
Britain was being compromised:

            
Many of our new settlers are bachelors and do a little milking-five to fifteen 
              cows. The storekeeper's visiting days are well known, so churning is the order 
              on night or morning prior to his expected visit. The butter is placed 
              unwashed and unsalted in a milk pan on the table of the whare, with a note 
              alongside stating requirements for the next visit. Should rain set in (which 
              unfortunately, often occurs), the storekeeper's visit is put off until the 
              following week. The pan of butter in the meantime is stowed away, say under 
              a trunk or some other unsuitable place, unwashed, unsalted, and no more 
              thought about till the next churning. Eventually, the storekeeper's boy comes 
              along, takes the new and old churnings, crams the same into a flour sack, and 
              slings it with other lots into the bottom of the spring cart. Rain, mud, dust. 
              or sunshine-all are equal to the lad, or butter. Arriving at the mixing room, 
              the day's collection is pounded together, washed, sorted, put up in 
              questionable kegs, and shipped to our home consumers.

            
But even this was not the worst. In 1892 recently appointed government 
              dairy instructor 
Carl Sorensen* wrote that some Taranaki factories were ‘a 
              disgrace to the colony’.

            
Several unscrupulous shippers collect all the dairy-made butter they can lay 
              hands on at prices varying from 4d. to 7d. per pound. This is taken to what 
              they dignify by the name of a factory, placed on a butter-worker, blended 
              into a quality of uniform colour and texture, or, rather, want of texture 
              packed in nice-looking kegs or boxes, branded ‘_____ Factory Butter,’ 
              ‘Separator-made,’ or with similar false and misleading terms, whereupon it is 
              sent Home to throw disgrace on the name of New Zealand shippers, and 
              prejudice English shippers against New Zealand butter.

            
But the genuine factory producer had not only to overcome the 
              British prejudices arising from these practices. His own product might 
              well be compromised before reaching the refrigerated hold of the steamer. 
              In 1890 
Newton King, as president of the Taranaki Chamber of 
              Commerce, told a parliamentary committee of the great difficulty Taranaki 
              folk had in getting butter onto ships in 
Wellington, either by rail or coastal
              


              ships, without its being allowed to melt somewhere 
en route.

3

            
We have already seen how in the late 1880s 
Henry Davy and William 
              Hutchinson took the first steps towards 
Kaponga factory dairying by 
              acquiring separators and taking milk from a few neighbours. In the early 
              1890s several others followed their lead, though the 1889–91 gap in the 
Star 
              files makes it difficult to establish the details. Two newcomers among them 
              were able to bring important Old World experience to 
Kaponga. We noted 
              the 
Farmer's report of a Mr Candy, ‘a first-class dairyman’ among the 1891 
              ‘influx of 
South Island dairymen’ to south Taranaki. In fact four Candy 
              brothers migrated to south Taranaki at this time, and two of them, William 
              Ernest (1863-?) and Henry (1869–1963) took over sections on lower Palmer 
              Road and began 
Kaponga's first cheese-making in a little factory they 
              erected on the Kapuni River. They were sons of Charles Benjamin Candy 
              (1825-?), a Somerset farmer who emigrated to 
Canterbury in 1860. For 
              many years he was the chief prizewinner for cheese at the 
Canterbury A & 
              P Show and in 1886 won the first prize for cheese at the Colonial and Indian 
              Exhibition in 
London.

4

            
This family was distantly related to C.F. Candy (c. 1834–1917), who was 
              recruited in 1882 for Lincoln Agricultural College as an Old Country expert 
              in cheese manufacture. Some of C.F. Candy's children migrated to south 
              Taranaki and he spent his last 16 years in 
Kaponga with his daughter, Mrs 
              Kime.

5 After seven years on Palmer Road William Ernest and Henry Candy 
              sold out and returned to 
Canterbury.

6 Through them 
Kaponga dairying had 
              an early link with Somerset's cheddar cheese tradition. Through Carl 
              Sorensen it gained a similar early link with Danish butter factory tradition. 
              While a government dairy instructor Sorensen wrote a valuable report on 
              New Zealand factory dairying, emphasising what it could learn from the 
              Danish experience.

7 After less than a year he resigned to set up a small butter 
              factory powered by the Kaupokonui River. The site was on Manaia Road 
              opposite the Kapuni school, just north of Skeet Road. In June 1894 a 
Farmer 
              reporter found Sorensen using his water power to turn two De Laval 
              separators with a combined capacity of 660 gallons an hour. Sorensen 
              returned to government service in October 1895.

8

            
The sources are not altogether clear about Henry Davy's little factory, 
              on Eltham Road just east of the township, powered by the Waiokura 
              Stream. The 1891 
Star Almanac lists Davy & Falkner as proprietors and J.D. 
              Hurley as manager. However, it was commonly referred to as ‘Hurley's 
              factory’ so it is possible that Hurley was a partner as well as manager.

9 All 
              is also not clear with a venture reported in the 30 June 1892 
Star. On his 
              Manaia-Opunake Road corner property F.W. Wilkie was busy extending his sheds 
              and yards with a view to milking 100 cows over the coming season.

            
It is currently reported that Mr. J.D. Hurley intends putting up a separator 
              on Mr. Wilkie's property … to separate the milk and take the cream and 
              work it up at his factory at 
Kaponga. Mr. Hurley intends driving the
              


              separator by water power obtained from the Kaupokonui river, laid on with 
              pipes, the latter arrangement being rendered necessary through having the 
              Opunake road to cross.

            
The sources do not tell us whether this venture proceeded, and if so 
              whether Hurley acted alone or in partnership with the storekeepers. Later 
              in 1892 Hurley erected a small factory out to the west at Punehu (modern 
              Te Kiri). A further venture of 1892 was the successful founding of a factory 
              at Rowan by J. Crockett, initially for the milk of 300 cows. This venture 
              finally merged with the 
Kaponga Co-operative Dairy Factory Company in 
              1898 and became a creamery.

10 In the winter of 1894, when 
Kaponga's 
              recently acquired L & M creamery closed for the season, A.J. Craddock 
              bought a hand separator for the milk of the 60 cows on his Manaia Road 
              farm. He did not rejoin the creamery for the new season but turned to 
              cheese-making. Whether he took in any neighbours' milk is not known.

11

            
Before moving on to the large concerns let us sum up the significance 
              of this intermediate stage of small neighbourly ventures. They certainly 
              showed the district the advantages of the new technology of the centrifugal 
              separator. It saved much labour over the old pan-setting method and took 
              out all the cream instead of only three-quarters. These small entrepreneurs 
              must have benefited their suppliers financially and deepened the hunger for 
              more ambitious ventures. They will also have encouraged the necessary 
              higher standards of hygiene. They demonstrated ingenuity and initiative in 
              using the local resources of wood and fast-flowing streams to creat 
              waterwheels to run their separators. One would like to know more about 
              their co-operative arrangements with their neighbours and their marketing. 
              They probably sold to the storekeepers, giving them the problem of 
              handling the disparity between this superior product and the curious 
              mixture coming from the old-style dairies.

            
We turn now to the Loan and Mercantile's Mangatoki venture. The 
              factory's jubilee booklet gives the credit for initiating the venture to John 
              Stevenson, the L & M's 
Wanganui manager, and Mahoe farmer 
David A.L. 
              Astbury.* Astbury had seen press reports that Stevenson's firm was 
              prepared to erect or finance factories and wrote to him suggesting that 
              Mangatoki might be a suitable area. Eltham storekeeper 
C.A. Wilkinson had 
              built the Mangatoki factory in 1891. ‘Marksman’ of the 
Yeoman (7/3/91) 
              described it as ‘one of the most complete establishments of the kind I have 
              yet seen’ but unfortunately Wilkinson's backers did not fulfil their 
              guarantees, forcing him to close down. The factory passed into the hands 
              of Chew Chong, who sold to the L & M. The 
Farmer of July 1896 described 
              the new venture's beginnings under manager 
Andrew McWilliam:

            
The Mangatoki Factory, then an almost disused building, with a history of 
              vicissitudes, was purchased by the Company, together with about eight acres 
              of land and the river rights attached to it, and the newly-appointed dairy 
              manager received instructions to get everything in readiness for manufacture,
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The Somerset Connection. Charles Benjamin Candy (c.1825–1905) and Emily née Saxby


                    (c. 1827–1917) and family on their 50th wedding anniversary, 22 March 1905. William Ernest


                    (1863-?, 2nd from right, back row) and Henry C. (1869–1963, on right of front row) farmed


                    on lower Palmer Road. The oldest son, Frederick (on right of back row) farmed near Manaia


                    1891–1902. Charles Britten (2nd from left, back row) farmed at various places in south


                    Taranaki 1892–1907
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The Scandinavian connection. A de Laval centrifugal cream separator. The Dane Carl


                    Sorensen and other pioneers were using this Swedish invention of 1878 in the 
Kaponga district


                    by the late '80s and early '90s. A similar drawing, printed from a rather battered plate,


                    illustrated an advertisement in the 
NZ Farmer through the 1890s


              


              and to erect at the same time two tributary creameries on sites already 
              selected.

            
This gentleman, who we may mention is by birth a Creole of St Croix, 
              and by upbringing and education a Scot of Galloway, brought with him to his 
              task theories and experience gained in one of the most successful dairy 
              undertakings in Scotland, viz., that of the Wigtownshire Creamery Company. 
              His ideas were strictly utilitarian, and left no room for fads. He holds that 
              half the success of manufacture lies in 
cleanliness, not as the term is frequently 
              understood, but as near an approximation as possible to such an ideal as the 
              cleanliness of snow. Hence it is that in the alteration of the factory, which 
              took place in the winter of 1894, and in the erection of the tributary 
              creameries now numbering five, the architect … was required by Mr 
              McWilliam to carry out everything in such a way as to be readily accessible 
              to scrubbing brush and broom, which are ever at work, thus ensuring 
              everywhere the pure sweet atmosphere on which a high value is set.

            
On the wet winter afternoon of Friday, 30 June 1893, about 150 
              
Kaponga farmers came over muddy roads to the meeting advertised for 4pm 
              to consider the L & M's proposal of a dairy factory at 
Kaponga. Storekeeper 
              Frank Canning was elected to the chair and the L & M's John Stevenson 
              further explained the nature of the offer. After various questions were 
              satisfactorily answered the meeting gave enthusiastic and unanimous 
              support to David Astbury's motion of acceptance. A schedule of cows 
              promised was then taken, showing 550 for 
Kaponga, 50 more than at 
              Mangatoki. There was an abrupt change of mood after the L & M's 
              announcement late next evening of a change in its plans. Apparently it had 
              envisaged three factories, at Mangatoki, 
Kaponga and Punehu (Te Kiri), each 
              with associated creameries. On further thought it had decided that two 
              factories would be more economic, with 
Kaponga becoming a creamery 
              attached to the Mangatoki factory.

            
Only 80 turned up for the next 
Kaponga meeting on the matter, on 
              Friday afternoon, 14 July. Canning, as chairman, began by saying that most 
              settlers were annoyed by the creamery proposal and he knew of only one 
              who was satisfied with it. (This may have been Astbury who seems to have 
              been in close consultation with the L & M.) Canning then told of 
              correspondence he had initiated with a Herbert Chester who had offered 
              settlers near Pahiatua a better proposition than the L & M one. Chester 
              wanted more information, Canning had supplied it, and was now awaiting 
              Chester's response. (Chester represented a provision importing firm of 
              Tooley Street, 
London, which had provided most of the finance for factories 
              opened in October 1892 at Ballance and Mangatainoka.) F.W. Wilkie 
              suggested setting up a co-operative factory but the meeting did not seem 
              prepared for the expense of this. In the event Chester did not come to 
              
Kaponga's rescue and the settlers reluctantly accepted the L & M creamery.

            
The 
Kaponga creamery got under way in September 1893

12 and on 13
              


              November ‘Our Own’ reported that it already needed another separator. A 
              good account of the plant and the first season was provided by a special 
              reporter of the 
Farmer (August 1894), who visited during the winter close 
              down in June 1894.

            
The plant comprised a neat 3 ½ horse power horizontal motor and two De 
              Laval Alphas, capacity 320 gallons per hour each. I met Mr Percy Lewis, the 
              manager, … who told me operations would recommence some time in 
              August next. During the last season the maximum daily was 1,300 gallons; 
              during the next it was expected that they would be treating 2,000 gallons per 
              day. The milk of 800 cows and more had been dealt with, and more still 
              would be in the immediate future. The Kaupokonui river adjoining could 
              well furnish power enough to drive the machinery, it was true. As, however, 
              the little river was subject to quick and heavy freshets in times of great 
              rainfall, rising, indeed, three feet in the hour occasionally, the risk of races 
              carried away and consequent trouble was enough to turn the scales in favour 
              of the steam engine.

            
The five years that the 
Kaponga settlers had with the L & M creamery 
              before setting up their own co-operative factory in 1898 provided them with 
              invaluable experience, enabling them to handle their own concern with 
              wisdom and assurance. The L & M arrangement had many of the features 
              of a co-operative venture. The settlers initially had to guarantee their cows 
              for three years, but this was soon reduced to one year. The L & M's charges 
              for working expenses, interest on capital, depreciation &c were clearly set 
              out. The books were open to inspection by an elected committee of 
              suppliers. At the end of each season profits or losses were allocated to 
              suppliers on a 
pro rata basis. In its first year the L & M advanced the sum 
              of 6d per gallon, but low returns from the 
London market had to be 
              recouped from the next year's supply, so that the average payment for the 
              first two years was 3d per gallon.

            
At each annual meeting the suppliers were able to bring all aspects of 
              the concern under close scrutiny. We list here some of the questions raised 
              at the well-attended 4 August 1896 annual meeting. Was manager 
              McWilliam under enough constraint in restraining working expenses since 
              he had no pecuniary interest in the concern and was practically uncontrolled 
              by his 
Wanganui superiors? Was the extra expense of shipping to the 
              Glasgow market justified by the prices received? Would it not be cheaper 
              to ship the butter to 
Wellington from Waitara or 
New Plymouth than 
              continue railing it? Why were purchasing agents not pressured to reduce 
              their commissions?

            
The suppliers had closely studied the Midhirst Co-operative Factory's 
              annual report and pressed comparisons in various areas where it seemed to 
              have done better with expenses and with prices obtained. Following these 
              discussions Stevenson, L & M's 
Wanganui manager, undertook to recommend a reduction in their interest charge. He also accepted the immediate
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A Taranaki dairy industry waterwheel c.1910. This one drove milking machines at 
Egmont
                    village. No photos of the waterwheels of the early 
Kaponga dairy industry have been found


              setting up of an elected Board of Advice which, among other things, would 
              determine the rates of advances to suppliers, and control expenditure.

13

            
The Board of Advice consisted of six suppliers and the manager. The 
              first board had David Astbury as chairman, and three settlers representing 
              creameries within the 
Kaponga district: Geoffrey O'Sullivan (
Kaponga), 
              Robert Gibson (Riverlea) and Judge (lower Palmer Road).

14 The board 
              continued to have a good 
Kaponga representation and reported to the local 
              suppliers from time to time at meetings in the 
Kaponga town hall. The 
              board's minute book shows that it supervised the running of the concer 
              very closely.

15 It reorganised the way skim milk was weighed and returned 
              to suppliers. It had the 
Kaponga skim milk vats relocated more conveniently. It supervised arrangements for sending butter to 
Wellington. In March 
              1898 it had 
Kaponga creamery manager Lewis dismissed. By the time 
              
Kaponga settlers set up their own co-operative they had had a thorough 
              schooling in the details of dairy factory management and had a good idea 
              whom to elect to manage their affairs.

            
The movement for a co-operative got under way in mid-1897. Its basis 
              was well expressed in a letter from ‘Strathearn, 
Kaponga’, in the 
Star of 
              29 June:

            
A big majority admit that a creamery is a mistake here. In a central district, 
              and a large supply of milk, there ought to have been a factory, and a co-operative factory at that. The price paid by the Loan and Mercantile has been
              


              less than the average of the factories run on the co-operative system, and 
              owing to this three large suppliers left last season and I hear of others leaving. 
              After the close of this season, this is going to be bad for those that remain. 
              Several of the suppliers talk of starting a co-operative, and I trust they will 
              not only talk about it, but do it…. Doubts have been raised by some strong 
              supporters of the L. & M. as to the suppliers of a co-operative agreeing. I 
              think this is mere talk. I have lived a few years here, and find they get on 
              together as well as in most districts I have lived in, and the general opinion is 
              that the shares would soon be taken up.

            
What we have here is a mixture of local pride (why should flourishing 
              
Kaponga be a satellite of little Mangatoki?), self-interest (co-operatives are 
              making better payouts), and apprehension about the L & M's prospects as 
              suppliers on the fringes of its district switch to competing concerns. Doubts 
              about the settlers' ability to raise the finance and to work together are 
              dismissed as idle talk. This covers most of the issues the settlers needed to 
              weigh up. One other was put forcefully by David Astbury in the 
Star of 11 
              March 1898. He could see the co-operative movement and the L & M in a 
              head-on clash, resulting in two weak systems and a waste of capital in 
              redundant facilities. He wanted a negotiated co-operative take-over of the 
              L & M concern. But that was not how it worked out.

            
A meeting of those interested in a co-operative was held in the 
Kaponga 
              town hall at the end of February 1898 and adjourned for the collection of 
              further information.

16 When it resumed on 10 March 
William Swadling 
              reported that the canvass for cows had 900 already promised. 
F.W. Wilkie 
              and 
W.J. Barleyman* had seen the 
Hawera banks and found that favourable 
              terms were available. Mr Graves, Bank of 
New South Wales, was present 
              and addressed the meeting on banking arrangements. 
James Kowin of the 
              
London firm of Lovell and Christmas gave information ‘as to advances and 
              dealing with produce’. 
Kowin also probably recommended a combined 
              butter and cheese factory, as he is known to have considered this the best 
              proposition,

17 but the settlers would not yet have been ready to be this 
              adventurous. What gave the meeting cause to pause was the L & M's 
              attitude.

            
At the meeting, with a letter to read from L & M's 
John Stevenson, was 
              the Scottish Riverlea farmer 
George Hemingway. Glasgow-born, Stevenson 
              had come to 
Wanganui as a child in 1855 and had had a distinguished career 
              in the town's commercial and public life.

18 His long letter to the sympathetic 
              Hemingway showed that he was not going to yield his Mangatoki venture 
              easily:

            
… the gist of it was that the Company had erected substantial buildings and 
              they intended to stay. That suppliers who stood to the Company the 
              Company would stand loyally by them; that the Company would make a 
              reduction in the interest account, and the charge for working … that the 
              Company had worked up markets, and were in a position to compete with
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Kaponga Creamery of the Loan and Mercantile's Mangatoki butter factory, 1895


              advantage with either proprietary or co-operative factories, and would pay as 
              well [as] if not better than either of these concerns. They were determined not 
              to give way to anyone.

            
Nevertheless, the meeting decided to write to Stevenson ‘asking terms for 
              purchasing the 
Kaponga creamery’. Nothing came of this.

            
On Saturday evening, 2 April 1898, F.W. Wilkie chaired a meeting at 
              which Stratford solicitor W.G. Malone was present to draw up articles of 
              association of the 
Kaponga Co-operative Dairy Company. There were 21 
              founding subscribers taking a total of 730 £ shares. Among them were 
              several of the pioneers of the early 1880s: W.J. Barleyman (70 shares), 
              Maurice Fitzgerald (50), William Swadling (30) and F.W. Wilkie (25). The 
              biggest subscriber, with 140 shares, was 
Harold William Cleland* of upper 
              Manaia Road, a member of the well-to-do family from the Hutt. Other 
              more recent arrivals subscribing well were 
William Greig (50), 
Richard 
              Mellow (50) and Invalid predicate
 (40).

19 By this time 1400 cows were


              promised. Meanwhile Stevenson offered the L & M suppliers new 
              arrangements for the coming season, including a division of profits each 
              quarter. A good number signed up.

20

            
The co-op elected a directorate of F.W. Wilkie (chairman), 
H. Cleland, 
              G. O'Sullivan, 
M. Fitzgerald, 
W. McLachlan and 
W. Greig. They appointed 
              storekeeper 
George Tindle* secretary, decided that their factory would be 
              of the latest and best in style and fittings, and would make butter only at 
              the outset. From then on they moved fast to be ready for the new season.
              


              In May they accepted tenders of £565 for the erection of the factory and 
              manager's cottage and of £185 15s for a creamery and cottage at Riverlea. 
              On 9 June they selected R. Newitt of 
Normanby as manager, from 27 
              applicants.

21 The factory was built on the eastern bank of the Kaupokonui 
              on the northern edge of the township. Meanwhile the L & M's good offer 
              had won back a number, including some signatories of the guarantee for the 
              co-op.

22

            
The new venture's morale must have been boosted when 25 delegates 
              of Taranaki co-operative dairy factory companies met in the 
Kaponga town 
              hall on 26 July 1898, chaired by their own F.W. Wilkie. A wide range of 
              matters were discussed: government grading of produce, government 
              inspection of farmers' facilities, pasteurisation, shipping services to 
Britain, 
              a dairy school for factory managers and for farmers and their sons, the 
              branding of produce, the worth of the 
National Dairy Association. Present 
              by invitation and making a valuable contribution to the discussions was 
              Canadian J.B. MacEwan, who had served briefly as the government's chief 
              dairy expert in the mid-1890s.

23 He had since entered dairy merchandising 
              and had just spent three months in 
London watching the arrival of New 
              Zealand produce. His presence is another example of how, through the 
              years, 
Kaponga dairy farmers were kept constantly aware of the inter 
              national aspects of their enterprise. The day concluded with the forming of 
              a Taranaki association of co-operative dairy factories.

            
The co-operative factory opened on 2 September 1898 with a supply of 
              100 gallons. At the company's first AGM on 5 September chairman Wilkie 
              was sanguine about the coming season and reported that a good offer for 
              their first production should enable them to pay more for their butterfat 
              than their rivals. By the end of October the company ‘had a supply of 2200 
              gallons, which is daily increasing, and take in 500 gallons daily at the 
              Mangawhero Road Creamery’ (i.e. Riverlea).

24 Wilkie told the second AGM, 
              held in the town hall on 4 September 1899, that ‘the year had proved very 
              satisfactory for the whole concern and prospects were very encouraging for 
              the next season’. The question of changing to water power was discussed as 
              firewood was proving a very heavy item of expenditure. An indication of 
              the industry's place in the local economy was given by ‘Our Own’ on 22 
              November 1899:

            
Business is good and our factories are flourishing. As an instance of what the 
              dairy industry means to the district, I may mention that this month the 
              paysheet totted up to the nice little sum of £1400 for the 
Kaponga Co-op 
              suppliers. Considering that quite one-third of the cows have yet to calve, it 
              means that the increase in the supply of milk with the present favourable 
              weather and the additional quantity to be drawn, between £2000 to £3000 will 
              be paid monthly when the flush of the season is on.

            
There would also have been a significant payout to the considerable 
              minority still with the L & M.

            


            
The tussle between the co-op and the L & M forced decisions on the 
              settlers in the little centres surrounding 
Kaponga, and so helped to define 
              the boundaries of the 
Kaponga District. The outcome was that 
Kaponga 
              gained an extensive sphere of influence to its west, where the only 
              substantial rival was distant Opunake, but was hemmed in on the east and 
              south by the strong competition of Mangatoki, Eltham, Okaiawa and 
              Manaia. The co-op showed its determination to claim the west by immedi 
              ately competing with the L & M at Riverlea. In the 1898–89 season the 
              majority stayed with the L & M. The next season began with an inconclusive 
              debate in the schoolroom on a motion supporting the L & M. The Riverlea 
              ‘Our Own’ (3/10/99) described the outcome:

            
… the meeting dispersed without the motion being put, but it was practically 
              put the next morning at the respective creameries, and lost, as the following 
              will show: Eight suppliers at the L & M Creamery with a total of about 320 
              gallons, and 21 suppliers at the Co-op. with a total of about 920 gallons.

            
It must be highly gratifying to the 
Kaponga Co-op. shareholders the way 
              in which their creamery has made advancement here. Last season it started 
              with about 6 suppliers, and this season 21 suppliers. In round numbers I 
              suppose there will be a total supply of over 3000 gallons at both creameries, 
              the L & M's total being about 800 gallons and the Co-op. about 2,200 gallons 
              for the ensuing year. It was vice versa last season.

            
At Rowan it was the settlers, not the co-op, who set the pace. When 
              chairman Wilkie met them in their schoolroom on 27 June 1898 he was 
              rather reluctant about a creamery at Rowan in the meantime. He probably 
              wanted to concentrate on the contest with the L & M rather than pick off 
              Crockett's little Rowan factory at this stage. But led by James Sexton—the 
              Rowan settlers—E. Wright, Richard Dingle and Alex Finlay persisted. A 
              deputation waited on the co-op's directors, who agreed to write to Crockett 
              ‘re terms for the purchase of his factory’ and to call a meeting of their 
              suppliers on the matter. Nothing came of these moves, so the following 
              autumn the Rowan folk petitioned the co-op's shareholders for a creamery. 
              They were successful. Apparently no agreement was reached with Crockett 
              as a new creamery was erected.

25 To the east, though it will have picked off 
              some of their suppliers, the co-op made no direct challenge to the L & M's 
              two creameries on Palmer Road, Mahoe, to the north and ‘Kapuni’ to the 
              south.
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The Farms

            
While the rise of the dairy industry brought new life to the district, farm 
              life did not become simply a matter of watching the flow of milk increase 
              year by year and spending the ever-growing milk cheques. We must now 
              examine the heavy burden of the twice-daily, seven-days-a-week milking of 
              the herds. And we must note that farming was not only a matter of cows.
              


              Feeding the herds required good pastures and ample supplies of winter 
              fodder. This meant following up stumping with ploughing, cropping, and 
              resowing in improved pastures. Also the ever-increasing supply of skim 
              milk meant coping with growing numbers of pigs.

            
For most settlers the herd size was determined by the family's milking 
              capabilities and therefore varied with the family life-cycle. A few with larger 
              herds employed outside labour but the work was not popular with working 
              men. Why this was so is explained in ‘Cow Spanking in Taranaki’, reprinted 
              from the 
Sydney 
Bulletin in the 
Farmer of February 1897.

            
… Taranaki wasn't the best place in the world to carry a swag. It's too wet 
              and the roads are goat tracks…. My first job was on a place where they 
              milked 120 cows. Talk about slavery. You get up at half past three in the 
              morning, muster cows in the dark and start milking at four.

            
Milking isn't hard work! Wait till you have to milk 120 between six— 
              especially when the boss and you are the only men, the others being the 
              missus and kids. Your wrists start first, they ache worse than they would with 
              first day's shearing. Then after a day or two your hands swell, you get cramp 
              in them, in the mornings you can hardly straighten your fingers. You are 
              always pretty certain to get cowpox, likewise your nails fester…

            
Bailing up your cows is nice, too. You have to wade over your boot tops 
              in filth and drive the beggars out….

            
We would get the morning's milking done about 8.30 a.m. when one of 
              the youngsters would cart the milk off to the factory. Another half hour 
              scraping down the bails—phew. Breakfast would be about 9, and you had 
              hardly time to fill your pipe before you were hurried off to feed the calves. I 
              had about 40 of the brutes to feed….

            
When I had finished with the calves … the waggon would be back from 
              the factory, and I helped unload and feed the pigs. After that I just had a 
              minute to put on the water for washing up and it would be dinner time. 
              When dinner was over I went and washed out the big milk cans for a couple 
              of hours … At three I caught a horse and went after the cows again, 
              knocking off milking about eight.

            
In commenting on the scarcity of milking labour and the unpopularity 
              of its long hours the 
Star (20/10/99) told of a traveller calling at a farmhouse 
              at midday and after dinner hearing the farmer call out, ‘Now lads, go to bed, 
              no larking.’ This farmer had found his men worked better and were more 
              cheerful if they rested for a couple of hours after midday dinner. But on 
              most farms it was the family members who had to shoulder all the tasks 
              described by the 
Bulletin writer. Somehow they had to cope, whatever 
              vagaries of weather, health or farm mishaps they met with.

            
From time to time from 1893 onwards the 
Farmer's 
Hawera cor 
              respondent commented on the large areas of land being ploughed in the 
              bush districts.

26 This, of course, followed through from the vigorous felling 
              of some years earlier. Widespread stumping, clearing and ploughing to get
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              the land into quality permanent pastures was to continue around 
Kaponga 
              into the early decades of the new century. Little of the cropping that 
              followed ploughing was aimed at the market; rather it provided subsistence 
              for the family and fodder for the livestock. Turnips, mangolds, rape and oats 
              were grown to see the dairy herd through the winter. The oats were often 
              cut green for the cows in winter and then harvested later to provide chaff 
              for the horses. Beans were widely grown both for the household and for 
              ‘topping off pigs just before killing time’. The bean stalks provided 
              additional winter fodder for the herd. Almost every farm raised its own 
              needs in potatoes, and carrots continued to be grown as a field crop. Farm 
              orchards, planted extensively in the earlier subsistence farming years, were 
              now maturing.

27

            
With their bush swept away the settlers became increasingly aware of 
              the need for shelter from recurrent southerly gales that drove killing salt 
              spray across their orchards, gardens, crops and pastures. From 13 to 16 
              April 1895 salt spray was carried ‘fully twenty miles inland’ by a great 
              storm, longer and stronger than the oldest inhabitant had known. It left 
              pastures looking as though swept by a tremendous fire, denuded fruit trees 
              of all their leaves, and forced the abandonment of ‘all flower shows on the 
              coast’.

28 Similar storms over the following years forced the settlers to give 
              serious attention to shelter belts. The comparative abilities of various trees 
              and hedge plants to withstand the blast were widely debated. In a long 
              editorial on ‘The Shelter Problem’ the 
Star (5/6/97) told how 
Normanby
              


              nurseryman William Rowe had scoured the world in the settlers' interests, 
              and remarked:

            
So far as is known African box thorn is the best, or rather the least tender, for 
              it does not withstand it altogether. It will, however, continue green on the lea 
              side, and the plants thus have a chance to recuperate.

            
Rowe's global search turned up nothing superior to this plant, which he 
              had been stocking as a farm hedge plant since the early 1880s.

29 The 
              boxthorn hedge has become a ubiquitous feature of the south Taranaki 
              landscape.

            
As long as the dairy industry concentrated on butter the farmers had 
              little choice but to rear pigs to consume the voluminous skim milk by-product. The August 1893 
Farmer told of a ‘pig boom’ coinciding with


              south Taranaki's dairy boom. Pigs were soon part of the dairy farmer's profit 
              equation. In 1895 one 
Kaponga settler estimated that ‘with pigs his cows 
              were worth over £11 yearly to him’.

30 Bacon factories at Stratford and 
              
Hawera appointed local agents to purchase 
Kaponga's pigs.

31 Pigs are not 
              suited to droving so they were brought to market by other means. In the 
              
Star of 20 March 1897 a Rowan correspondent provided a good description:

            
The pig-raising industry is causing quite a commotion in these parts, and a 
              general exodus occurred last week of the ‘Boys who pay the rint.’ Traps, 
              brakes and so forth in great demand. One of our worthy settlers was jogging 
              along … calculating to himself the value of his by-products, when he felt a 
              sudden upheaval, and he discovered that he was ascending on the point of a 
              pig's nose … quite determinedly, and in spite of that worthy settler's efforts 
              it effected its escape for a time from the butcher's knife, and returned 
              grumbling and grunting to its now forlorn home.
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The Sawmills

            
We have seen that the district's timber industry boomed throughout the 
              1890s. It must have provided steady work for several dozen 
Kaponga men 
              and the dispersal of its output would have engaged a number more. When 
              Robert Palmer shifted his sawmill in 1892 he played his part in carrying 
              
Kaponga's influence to the west, in this case as far as Oeo Road. 
Kaponga 
              families must have been strongly represented in his workforce over the 
              following years and much of his output would have been distributed around 
              
Kaponga, where he advertised a local agent. ‘Our J.K. Casual’ provided a 
              description of the mill in the 
Star of 29 June 1892. After finding the road 
              out from Opunake in an atrocious condition he was expecting ‘a rough 
              breaking down plant and rough sawn timber’. Instead he found ‘altogether 
              a well laid out mill’, with two engines making 20 horsepower and excellent 
              arrangements for receiving and breaking down the logs, almost all of it 
              under cover. And things went far beyond rough-sawn timber:

            


            
There is planing, and tongue and grooving, rusticating, match-lining, and I 
              believe moulding machinery … A smart man too in charge. Had long and 
              varied experience, dating from the 
South Island many years ago, working up 
              to 
Wellington, then 
Wanganui with a term at the big Sash and Door and 
              Woodware Factory.

            
In mid-1897 Robert Palmer leased his Manaia Road farm and left 
              sawmilling to buy Stratford's Commercial Hotel. ‘Our Own’ treated this 
              as important local news, writing of Palmer's ‘large circle of friends here’ and 
              telling of the resounding farewell social given to him in the town hall.

32

            
Only nine days earlier the Commercial Hotel had provided a farewell 
              banquet for 
Kaponga's local sawmiller, Charles Melville, who was moving 
              to mill in 
Dannevirke. Melville had helped handsaw the timber for 
              
Kaponga's first houses, had felled some township roads for the Road Board 
              in 1887, and had milled around the township right through the building 
              boom of the 1890s, among other contracts supplying the timber for the 
              town hall. At its height his business employed at least 20 men and must have 
              been a considerable concern with its cottages, cookhouse and system of 
              tramlines.

33 It is almost certainly Melville's mill that was described in 
              storekeeper Frank Canning's 
Star adverts of April 1895. Canning, who also 
              operated as a land agent, noted that he had ‘A few good farms near 
Kaponga’ 
              and then continued:

            
A good sawmill and first-class plant—One planing T and G, &c. machine by 
              Bawl, 22 bullocks, bows, yokes, &c., &c., 2 waggons, 5 draught horses, 
              harness complete, 2 engines, 1 12 and 1 14 horse power in good order, trams, 
              jacks, winches, trucks and everything required to complete a first-class plant.

            
Melville was a keen cricketer and ‘Our Own’ (22/11/93) told how his 
              men made up time during the week so that many of them could play for 
              the 
Kaponga club on Saturday afternoons. His move from 
Kaponga was 
              probably forced by the timber cutting out. The gap he left was filled the 
              following year by the opening of Clement and Parkes' ‘Rowan Road Steam 
              Saw and Planing Mills’. They were soon advertising that they could deliver 
              to any part of the district and in any quantity ‘dressed and ordinary building 
              timber, including rusticated boards, flooring, match lining, moulding, etc’.

34
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The General Stores

            
At the end of the 1880s 
Kaponga's only shops were Henry Davy's general 
              store and John Hastie's and Walter Higginson's butcher's shops, and the 
              only workshop was that of blacksmith Walter Wilkie. As the township leapt 
              into vigorous life in the 1890s 
Kaponga was soon being served by two 
              competing general stores. Their premises expanded steadily to match the 
              district's growing population and prosperity, and they were joined by an 
              ever-increasing range of specialist shops and workshops. As the storekeepers 
              played a special role in the community's social, public and commercial life,
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Childs's coach factory, with which 
Kaponga sought to impress Seddon, was taken over in June


                    1900 by F. W. Buckingham. This is how he was shortly advertising it


              we will look at them first before dealing with the other concerns.

            
We have already seen something of Henry Davy's wide community 
              involvement, including his term on the Road Board, his service as 
Kaponga's 
              first postmaster, his lending his premises as a polling place, and his pioneer 
              butter factory. He was in partnership with John W. Falkner but Davy was 
              obviously the dominant member. In the early days the store would have 
              been the obvious place to discuss public matters and Davy the obvious 
              person to attend to public needs, both commercial and other. Thus early in 
              1892, through moving on one such need, Davy & Falkner had complicated 
              negotiations with the County Council over the unpaid bills of a bridge 
              builder who had abandoned his contracts and left the district. They had 
              procured him timber (presumably totara) from the Manawatu and also 
              provided cement for concrete piers.

35 It was at the store that early in July 
              1892 about 30 ratepayers met to pass resolutions of concern that, with most 
              of the £5000 Eltham Road loan now spent, their section of the road was still 
              in a sad state. The rise of the township brought new public institutions and 
              gathering places, but the storekeepers continued to be looked to for public 
              leadership. It was still at the stores that one continually met neighbours and 
              had informal discussions on all kinds of matters of public interest. And the
              


              storekeepers continued to be folk with wide interests and contacts. At a 
              dinner farewelling Davy on his move to Feilding in December 1892 the 
              settlers presented him with an artistic testimonial, showering praise for all 
              he had done in the interests of 
Kaponga.

36

            
Davy and Falkner were bought out by Frank Stephen Canning who 
              came with a wealth of experience in business, journalism, politics and 
              colonial life in general. Although he stayed only for three years he made a 
              major contribution to 
Kaponga's public life at a crucial stage in its development. Over his first 
Kaponga winter he chaired the meetings on the L & 
              M's dairy factory proposals. He served terms as chairman of the local school 
              committee, cricket club, mutual improvement society and Caledonian 
              sports; served on the 
Hawera County Council, the Taranaki Hospital and 
              Charitable Aid Board; and was chairman of the South 
Egmont Forest 
              Conservators Board. He seems also to have been ‘Our Own’ for these years. 
              On taking over from Davy and Falkner he advertised as a ‘General 
              Merchant’ and a ‘Qualified Valuer, Land, Estate and General Commission 
              Agent’. He certainly covered a wide field. Thus his 
Star advertisement of 
              19 April 1895 listed the ‘Post, Telegraph and Money Order Office’, ‘Suitable 
              and well-selected supplies of every country requisite’, ‘Men's Clothing, 
              Drapery, Ironmongery, Crockeryware, Boots, and other sundries too 
              numerous to mention’ and briefly detailed nine farms and two 
Kaponga 
              town sections. In July 1895 his store was enlarged by 800 square feet. The 
              
Star of 28 September 1895, in reporting Canning chairing a farewell to 
              business rival Philip Cullen, gives a glimpse into the personal side of local 
              storekeeping. After some fulsome praise of Cullen

            
… The Chairman remarked that his utterances with regard to their guest 
              were obtained by as true a test as any man could well be put to, viz., running 
              an opposition business in a small place like 
Kaponga. He had found Mr 
              Cullen more like a brother than an opponent.

            
Cullen's reply included a glance at an unexpected facet of a small-town 
              storekeeper's wide role:

            
He had known Mr Canning to sew up wounds and administer medicine on 
              many occasions in cases of emergency. If a man were in as bad a state of 
              health as Jim Smiley's famous fifteen minute nag, which always had the 
              mange or the consumption, or something of that kind, all he had to do was to 
              go to Mr Canning and get fixed up.

            
In December 1895 Canning sold out to 
J.L. Harwood,* one of his 
              employees. Harwood's change-over advertisement in the 
Star advised that 
              he was negotiating for a regular supply of ‘new lines quite original to this 
              district’, commenting that although this might appear risky ‘our lengthy and 
              varied experience in both Islands assures us that our judgment will be 
              appreciated’. To make room for the new lines there was a clearing sale of 
              some old lines, and also of saddlery, ‘which we are not going to replace’—
              


              illustrating a trend to being less of a provider of almost everything, as the 
              township's specialist shops matured. Increased business led to further 
              extensions of the premises in 1899, and at the same time Harwood 
              demonstrated that he was prospering by building a new nine-roomed 
              home.

37 Harwood became involved in many public and social organisations 
              but without Canning's flair for leadership

            

Kaponga's second general store was founded early in the decade by 
              James Cullen as a branch of his Manaia business. In June 1894 he sold the 
              
Kaponga concern to his brother Philip. Unable to get a decent turnover 
              Philip sold out in August 1895 to George Tindle of Manaia. Tindle 
              immediately advertised that ‘packing and carting to all parts of the district 
              will be continued the same as in the past’, but he also moved in several new 
              directions to gain for his Empire Stores the turnover that Philip Cullen had 
              failed to find. To cater to the district's growing prosperity he advertised in 
              November 1898 that besides basic groceries, clothing and ironmongery he 
              had a big line in linoleum and had made large purchases of Christmas 
              goods.

38 The nature of ‘Mr Tindle's stock of presents', and his catering for 
              two other markets—school prizes and the frontier settlers' grass seed 
              harvest—were described by ‘Our Own’ (Tindle?) on 20 December 1898:

            
Mr Tindle's stock of presents … may be equalled but not excelled for variety 
              or price. There are rings and brooches, albums, glove and handkerchief boxes, 
              and many other things too numberous to mention, whilst for the young folks 
              there are toys of all descriptions…. I am pleased to state that the different 
              school committees who have given the Empire Store a call have departed 
              loaded and satisfied. Mr Tindle has also, to meet the requirements of the 
              coming grass seed season, built a large store room where grass seed cleaning 
              can be carried on.

            
Tindle was prominent in 
Kaponga public affairs. He became a JP in 
              May 1898 and served as the 
Kaponga Co-operative Dairy Company's first 
              secretary. In September 1899 C.A. Wilkinson of Eltham bought out Tindle, 
              but the latter remained in 
Kaponga for a short time, putting up a new 
              building from which he operated as a commission agent. Wilkinson 
              immediately extended the premises.

39
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Other Shops and Workshops

            

Wise's Post Office Directory, which appeared biannually through the 1890s, 
              lists nearly 30 folk trying their hands at running shops or workshops in 
              
Kaponga during the decade. A handful of further names appears in the 
Star's 
              columns. Quite a number of ventures were ephemeral and others changed 
              hands quickly, so that about two-thirds of the names appear in only one 
              edition of 
Wise's. Some started as branches of businesses in the neighbouring 
              townships, at first mainly of Manaia, but later with Eltham edging out 
              Manaia. Like the stores, the shops and workshops were at first concerned
              


              with the settlers' most basic needs and then expanded steadily into less 
              essential items and on to luxuries as the district prospered. This little world 
              offered a growing range of possibilities to the resourceful jack of all trades. 
              The overall picture is of small entrepreneurs probing the possibilities of a 
              community ‘on the make’; some getting it right and quickly flourishing, a 
              few toughing it out in borderline projects, others quite quickly revising 
              their judgment and moving on to other places or other ventures. 
Table 5.1 
              summarises the data from our two sources. We will have lost some through 
              the wide meshes of 
Wise's biannual publication, though the 
Star has picked 
              up one or two of these. Several of those listed may have been employees 
              rather than principals, and one or two (e.g. of the butchers) may have 
              hawked their goods rather than opened a shop. It will be seen that the basic 
              services of butcher and blacksmith account for about half of the ventures.

            
With many farmers killing for their own needs, butchering skills were 
              widely spread, and the number of these ventures must be largely a result of 
              their moving into the trade in an opportunistic way. 
Kaponga's first two 
              butchers came from Manaia. Andrew John Hastie (
c. 1863–1958, known as 
              John) had had a varied youth in the 
Waikato and 
Auckland. His father, 
              Andrew Hastie, was a 
Waikato and Bay of Plenty pioneer who had had large 
              farming interests in various districts before coming with his family in 1881 
              to take up large holdings on the Waimate Plains. With Hastie senior in 
              Scotland purchasing horses when the ‘Battle of Hastie's Farm’ took place 
              in 1886, son John played a prominent part in that affair. 

40 This 
Kaponga 
              butchery venture was probably a short lived, opportunistic affair.

            
Walter Higginson must have been a member of the Manaia butchering 
              family of that name, and again the venture was shortlived. Thomas Exley, 
              who in due course established himself as the township's main butcher of the 
              1890s, continued farming alongside his slaughtering activities. He was 
              prominent in 
Kaponga social life, especially horse racing and dancing. In 
              1897 he unsuccessfully took W.J. Barleyman to court for slander over 
              accusations that he had sold diseased meat. In August 1898 he sold out to 
              Nairn and left 
Kaponga.

41 Captain George Calvert (
c. 1841–1930) was a 
              master mariner obviously looking for an occupation on retiring from the 
              sea.

42

            
The fortunes of the blacksmiths and wheelwrights were closely 
              intertwined with the progress of factory dairying. Once it took off there 
              was a growing traffic of horses and wagons making daily rounds between 
              farms and creameries and factories. As they prospered the settlers began 
              hitching their horses to something more respectable than a milk wagon for 
              their social excursions. The take-off was slow at first. ‘Our Own’ reported 
              on 5 July 1895 that ‘We had two smithies a short time ago; one had to close; 
              now another opens.’ Naismith seems to have gained a dominant position, 
              forcing Wilkie out just before things really took off. In mid-1895 John 
              Judson came from Opunake and took over Naismith's wheelwright section 
              as 
Kaponga's first well-qualified wheelwright. (While 
Wise's lists John

            

              


              

                
TABLE 5.1 KAPONGA SHOPS AND WORKSHOPS, THE 1890s


                  Entries in 
Wise's Post Office Directories (plus 
Star data in italics)
                

                  
	
                  
	'90–1
                  
	'92–3
                  
	'94–5
                  
	'96–7
                  
	'98–9
                  
	

Hawera Star information
                

                

                  
	
Butchers
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Hastie, John
                  
	x
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	[probably sold to Exley]
                

                

                  
	Higginson, Walter
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Exley, Thomas
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	[on same site as Hastie]
                

                

                  
	Dagnell, Thomas
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Vine, Ellis
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Watts, Alfred L.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Calvert, George W.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	Sells out to Exley '96
                

                

                  
	Nairn, L.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	Buys out Exley '98
                

                

                  
	
Blacksmiths
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Wilkie, Walter
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Naismith, James
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Edwards, Robert
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Townsend, William
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Roots, Henry
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Childs, Tom
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	‘
Kaponga Coach Factory’
                

                

                  
	MacClure, John
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
                    
Bootmakers
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Semmens, Fredk.
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	S
                  
	
                  
	Arrives '93, leaves '95
                

                

                  
	Hartnell, Geo. W.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
                    
Bakers
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Kappely, Kayton
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Yeaman, William
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Webley, William
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Drapers
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Green, T., Manaia
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Wheelwrights
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Robertson, John
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	X
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Judson, J.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	S
                  
	
                  
	Buys Naismith's Wheelwright section
                

                

                  
	
Fruiterer
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Kelland, George
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Saddlers
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Munro, John
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	McKay, W.T.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	


                

                
                

                  
	
Tinsmiths
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Benjamin, Albert
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	X
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Wallace
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Chemists
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Hornby, R.W., Manaia
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	
                  
	Sells to Baber, '97
                

                

                  
	Baber, H.
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	X
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Watchmaker
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Gilbert, L.J., Eltbam
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	S
                  
	Opens April '97
                

              

            

            
Robertson as a wheelwright this seems to have been only a sideline of his 
              building business.) In the 
Star of 2 May 1898 its ‘Travelling Reporter’ 
              described Judson's carriage factory. He remarked that ‘On entering the 
              painting and trimming shop one would fancy they were going into a carriage 
              factory of a far more pretentious town than 
Kaponga.’ Among the number 
              of vehicles receiving the finishing touches were ‘three fine double buggies, 
              built to the order of settlers in the district’.

            
However, it was 
Tom Childs* who was to become 
Kaponga's leading 
              coach-builder of the decade. Coming from a successful career as a 
              blacksmith in 
Christchurch, in July 1895 he began advertising in the 
Star, 
              under the heading ‘
Kaponga Coach Factory’, that he had taken over ‘the 
              above business opposite the 
Kaponga butchery’, was operating as a 
              ‘Horseshoer and general blacksmith’ and that he made to order and repaired 
              ‘all kinds of farming implements’. Whom he had bought from is not known. 
              In September 1898 he advertised that he had purchased Judson's coach-building stock-in-trade. The continued expansion of his premises and the
              fine products that flowed from them were a continuing theme from ‘Our 
              Own’:

            
Mr Childs informs me that he has turned out four spring drays this week, 
              and another three will be completed next week, besides one buggy and two 
              dogcarts…. Mr Childs has made extensive alterations in his establishment, 
              and has also imported the latest machinery so as to expedite the work. 
(Star, 
                5/9/98)

            
Mr T. Childs has been making some extensive additions to his 
Kaponga 
              carriage factory, having lengthened the main building by 30ft. Among the 
              numerous vehicles in different stages of manufacture were three spring milk 
              carts, and one express 13ft by 4ft 2 ½in in inside measurement of the body, 
              built to carry 18 milk cans. (
Star, 1/11/98)

            
Prime Minister Seddon was shown this 18-can vehicle at the factory on
              


              his surprise Sunday visit in November 1898. A few days later ‘Our Own’ 
              remarked:

            
One would imagine to see the show of brakes, carts, traps, and buggies that 
              Mr Childs had in front of his establishment on Friday last, that the Governor 
              was coming. (
Star, 1/12/98)

            
This pride in local vehicle craftsmanship continued into the following 
              decade before fading before the onslaught of the northern hemisphere motor 
              factories.

            
We will now look briefly at the remaining concerns. Clearly many of 
              them were shortlived. Some came too soon and failed to make headway 
              against the frugal lifestyle and self-help of settlers still getting on their feet. 
              Others were in competition with the storekeepers and probably did not 
              have the capital to upstage them. The bakers and fruiterer especially would 
              have been up against settler self-help. George Kelland put up his fruit shop 
              combined with a dwelling on the corner section opposite the hotel late in 
              1894. A 
Star item of 28 December 1894 referred to the building as ‘Mr G.T. 
              Kelland's boarding house’, so he may have gone into his fruit scheme with 
              doubts about its viability, and hence a second string to his bow. Within a 
              year or two he cashed in on the strong rise in value of his corner section 
              and moved on. Bootmakers and saddlers would have had to compete against 
              strong opposition from the stores but could hope to win out by offering 
              personal craftsmanship and repairs. Semmens was described as ‘bootmaker 
              and importer’ when he opened his new shop and dwelling in March 1893. 
              He left in April 1895, probably selling out to Hartnell, who by the end of 
              the decade was flourishing, being ‘compelled to make extensive alterations 
              to his establishment … owing to a large increase of business’.

43 Of the 
              saddlers, John Munro seems to have left no trace apart from the one reference in 
Wise's. Coming later, W.T. McKay flourished with the settlers' 
              prosperity. Describing the saddlery on Christmas Eve ‘Our Own’ (29/12/ 
              98) told how he was

            
… fairly amazed at the glittering array of harness, buckles, stirrup irons, in 
              all metals, and the thousand and one different assortment of bits. I may 
              mention that Mr McKay has moved into his new and commodious 
              premises …

            
The tinsmiths will have got much of their work from the dairy industry. 
              When Wallace began business ‘Our Own’ (20/4/99) described him as a 
              ‘general all-round plumber, tinsmith, and expert in dairy factory fittings’. 
              In the late 1890s it was becoming clear that it was Eltham, not Manaia, that 
              would cash in on 
Kaponga's prosperity, with chemist Baber of Eltham 
              buying out Hornby of Manaia in 1897, watchmaker Gilbert of Eltham 
              opening a 
Kaponga branch in April 1899, and C.A. Wilkinson taking over 
              the store from Tindle in September 1899.

44
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A Serviceable Bush Sledge.


                  
‘A Serviceable Bush Sledge’. Illustration for one of the many hints for settlers published by the 
NZ Farmer
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Two 
Kaponga workshops, c.1894. Frederick Semmens had this workshop and dwelling erected


                    in 1893. He has sublet to the Misses Young. Note the typical mode of transport of small-town


                    proprietors of this time. Semmens left 
Kaponga in 1895
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The Others

            
It remains to give a brief roundup of some of the folk who have escaped the 
              net of our main subheadings. We will take the ones we find by asking who 
              made their livings by wayfaring over these years. Among them, but leaving 
              few traces for the historian, will have been a motley collection of hawkers 
              and tinkers. At his farewell on 23 September in discussing his failure to get 
              a rewarding turnover, storekeeper Philip Cullen remarked:

            
The storekeepers were severely handicapped by travelling hawkers and 
              canvassers going from door to door daily, picking up not only the trade but 
              the ready cash, against which the storekeepers have not the slightest remedy 
              at present.

            
That some of these itinerants camped by the roadside is evident from notes 
              by the 
Star's (2/2/98) ‘Travelling Reporter’:

            
Two travelling pedlars camping on the road left a fire burning (though 
              warned by a settler) with the result that the wind soon fanned it into a blaze 
              … However, it was fortunately discovered, and with the aid of milk carts 
              and cans of water the fire was extinguished.

            
At the other end of the social scale professional men such as Dr George 
              Harrison of Eltham and 
Hawera dentist A.C. Atkinson were bowling along 
              the roads to 
Kaponga by 1897. Harrison had a surgery there, which 
              Atkinson also used each Friday for a time, but later moved to the chemist's 
              premises.

45 Also commuting along Eltham Road was J.W. Middleton 
              (Lincoln's Inn, 
London), who from 1894 on advertised as ‘Barrister and 
              Solicitor, Eltham and 
Kaponga’. Bushfellers, grass seed harvesters and farm 
              labourers seeking work continued to move through the district, though in 
              decreasing numbers as the dairy industry soaked up labour. Maintaining and 
              improving the roads themselves were the roadmen, stonebreakers and road 
              and bridge contractors—all in short supply once the good years came. And 
              making their livings from their daily grinding over these roads were 
              
Kaponga's carriers and carters. Those listed by 
Wise's during the decade 
              were G.B. Bradford, William Melville, Oliver Robinson and William 
              Vincent. In April 1894 James Hawke bought out Oliver Robinson's ‘turn-out’ and began running a regular express service between Eltham station and
              
Kaponga. By the following month he was calling his vehicle a coach and 
              running the service four days a week, delivering the 
Star on his way. Passing 
              through 
Kaponga along Eltham Road there were also the drivers of an 
              increasing schedule of coach services running further to the west. By 1897 
              there was a daily Eltham-
Kaponga-Awatuna coach. In May 1899 this 
              service began to run right through to Opunake.
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The Context

            
In 
Chapter 3 we surveyed the simple ‘home and neighbourliness’ social life 
              of the scattered, primitive early bush clearings. Home and neighbourliness 
              continued to flourish within the more centred and structured community 
              life of the 1890s. Rural neighbourliness prospered with closer settlement, 
              the replacement of bachelor whares by family homes, and the daily mixing 
              that dairying brought about at the factory or creamery. Convivial settlers 
              also mixed pleasure with business at the regular stock sales and the increasingly common clearing sales. Indeed, many attendances will have been 
              purely for pleasure. In the July 1890 
Farmer 
Normanby nurseryman 
              William Rowe is quoted criticising farmers who ‘attended the stock sales 
              until their horses went lame and their saddles became worn out’. The 
Star's 
              ‘Travelling Correspondent’ (13/6/92) described this temptation after 
              attending several sales of dairy herds on the owners' farms:

            
The sales … partook as much of the nature of a picnic as of a business 
              transaction. Such was always provided and the beef and beer have, doubtless, 
              done yeoman's service at these gatherings. John Bull, as well as Dame Nature, 
              abhors a vacuum. To sit comfortably, on a sunny afternoon, on a stock yard 
              rail, after a good dinner, smoking one's pipe next to one's particular crony, 
              whilst someone else does the work, is luxury indeed … I can assure you 
              these reunions are far superior to weddings. I not being in the dairying 
              business, felt diffident at first about intruding on their convivialities, but I 
              soon discovered that a loafer, more or less, was not noticed.

            
Not all attenders were as innocent as this correspondent. ‘Our Own’ 
              (19/10/94) reported on ‘some very tarry-fingered beings’ who, at one 
              clearing sale, were not content with ample to eat and drink but ‘coveted, 
              and pocketed, portions of the good cutlery Mr McCutchan provided for his 
              friends’.

            
‘Home’ also continued to flourish. As they prospered the settlers 
              upgraded their houses, adding to and verandahing them; the more primitive 
              saw their first coat of paint. The surroundings, too, lost their rawness as 
              gardens and trees matured.

1 Inside there must have been a steady upgrading 
              of furnishings and the appearances of some pianos. At the end of the decade
              


              the 
Star's ‘Travelling Correspondent’ (1/11/99) wrote that the appearance 
              of new buildings and the substantial additions to others had ‘architecturally 
              changed’ 
Kaponga. He gave pride of place to storekeeper Harwood's new 
              residence on Manaia Road:

            
Mr Harwood's residence is of square design, 52ft × 52ft, with verandah and 
              pediment, hip and valley roof. The building is divided into nine rooms, with 
              four fireplaces, hot and cold water being laid on. All the rooms are well 
              lighted and airy, having an 11ft stud. The painting is well done, and quite 
              artistic in its effect. Altogether the building has a handsome appearance, and 
              when the grounds are laid out will be one of the nicest little country 
              residences in Taranaki.

            
So at the turn of the century 
Kaponga's more prosperous citizens were 
              acquiring substantial homes where they could enjoy domestic life in some 
              style. But the biggest change of the 1890s had resulted from the creation of 
              public venues and other township facilities, making possible a rich variety 
              of institutions offering a wide choice of activities in a more public social life. 
              By the later 1890s the 
Kaponga settlers could not only go riding, fishing, 
              shooting and mountaineering in the countryside, but could also come into 
              town to dance, sing, learn or debate indoors or engage in sports outdoors. 
              They could borrow books from the library, shop for almost anything they 
              were likely to think of, and on a Sunday had the choice of two or three 
              church services. On the appropriate annual occasion they could test their 
              speed and stamina at the athletic sports, enter their flowers and produce in 
              the horticultural show, or their hack in the horse races. Most of these 
              ventures struggled with primitive facilities, some were false starts that failed, 
              others had their ups and downs, but together they prepared the way to make 
              
Kaponga's Edwardian years a golden age of sports and entertainments.

            
We need to account for the vision and initiative that so rapidly created 
              such a wealth of recreation options. The settlers were drawing on memories 
              of, and continuing contact with, Old World traditions. Their own Old 
              World origins were mainly working class or lower middle class, but in their 
              relatively classless new community, with its strong freeholder yeoman ideal, 
              they drew fairly freely on the whole range of British traditions. These 
              British traditions had recently gone through major transformation. An old 
              pattern of rough sports for the masses and privileged sports for the upper 
              classes had persisted into the mid-century. The lower classes enjoyed cruel 
              blood sports such as cock fighting, bull baiting and dog fights, and their 
              team sports were often of the nature of inter-parish fights where fierce local 
              patriotism was kept in check by carefully regulated local custom. Hunting, 
              shooting, game fishing and horse racing were preserves of the upper classes. 
              One great change over the Victorian Age was the curtailing of the cruel 
              blood sports. This was partly the work of a new skilled ‘labour aristocracy’ 
              that had gained a firm hold by mid-century, with a culture of respectability 
              that condemned the old rough traditions. Another great change was the
              


              creation of national sports codes, with national governing bodies regulating 
              and promoting a range of sports. Thus the Football Association was formed 
              in 1863, the Rugby Union in 1871, and the Amateur Athletics Association 
              in 1881. Leading this change were public-school men, products of a transformed English upper-class secondary education that during Victorian times
              developed a new cult of ‘manliness’ and games. A truly national English 
              sporting life had been made possible by the appearance of the rail network.

            
Our settlers drew from all levels of these British traditions. With their 
              easy access to horses, firearms, countryside and trout streams they could 
              emulate many activities of the British aristocracy. They also showed a 
              general affinity with the Old World ‘labour aristocracy’ in preferring the 
              new sports codes to the old blood sports. But adapting these sports codes 
              to their primitive colonial world was no easy task. A bush burn took time 
              to become a good playing ground. Poor roads and the constraints of the 
              milking timetable meant that it was no easy task to create a district sports 
              competition network in south Taranaki.

            
There was more to leisure, of course, than playing sports. The settlers 
              were conscious of a world where many forces (such as the extension of 
              democracy, the rise of literacy, the rising standard of living) were creating a 
              whole range of new recreational and entertainment opportunities. There 
              were all the possibilities of the reading-room, the park, the orchestra, the 
              band, the music hall, the theatre, the dancing assembly, and specialist clubs 
              and societies of all kinds to be explored. But even when we add 
Kaponga's 
              1890s experience with these possibilities to those of sport we are left with 
              great gaps in our understanding of its citizens' quality of life. For one thing, 
              the sources were mainly created by fit, adult males and tell mainly of the 
              activities of fit, adult males. A satisfying account needs to bring in women 
              and children, and also tell of provisions for hard times such as those of 
              sickness, old age, bereavement and widowhood.

            
Even for the main well-reported social and sporting events it is not easy 
              to give a succinct account set in a meaningful context. We must note that 
              each event needed to fit into both a local and a district calendar, that socials 
              were often run to raise sports funds, and that to draw visitors to major 
              sporting events it was wise and economic to have evening socials to follow. 
              Our approach will be to first follow 
Kaponga's main sports and social 
              activities through the seasons of 1898 and 1899, with some background 
              sketched in from the earlier years. To show how these activities were 
              interwoven in individual settler lives we will give running case studies of 
              the families of butcher Andrew John Hastie and farmer 
Robert Law,* and 
              of bachelor farmer F.W. Wilkie. We will next discuss the less public sports 
              and recreations, then survey the contributions of the churches, and conclude 
              by dealing at some length with the quality of life of the district's children. 
              Because of the paucity of source materials we will defer our treatment of 
              women's experience, and of how folk were provided for in their bad times, 
              to the next decade's account.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

Major Sports and Social Activities, 1898–1899





            
Major Sports and Social Activities, 1898–1899

            
As we have seen, New Year's Day 1898 saw the opening of considerable 
              extensions to the Mountain House. With its major contribution to 
              management, fundraising and labour, we can be sure that 
Kaponga was well 
              represented among the ‘considerable number of visitors’ at Dawson Falls. 
              
Kaponga's two conservator members were among the speakers, with board 
              chairman Richard Dingle paying special tribute to the ‘great amount of 
              work’ done by F.W. Wilkie. Wilkie in turn paid special tribute to ‘the 
              assistance rendered by the ladies … especially in the matter of raising 
              additional funds’. The Law family are likely to have been well represented 
              on this occasion. The following April, Robert Law attended a much less 
              pleasant mountain occasion: the inquests of two 
Hawera men who died 
              from injuries and exposure while descending from the summit. Law and his 
              friend Alfred Bulmer had climbed the mountain the same day and lunched 
              with the men at the top. The recovery of the bodies was organised from 
              
Kaponga. The mountain and the tourists flowing to it had a constant input 
              into 
Kaponga's public life.

            
One surprise of the 1898–99 summers is that the 
Star had no news of 
              
Kaponga cricket. Yet on 22 November 1893 it described a lively club led 
              by prominent citizens such as F.S. Canning, John Robertson* and J.L. 
              Harwood opening the season:

            
There was a good turnout, not only of gentlemen, but ladies also. There were 
              players from the bush camps, and most of Mr C. Melville's sawmill hands 
              who now make extra time each day to get off on Saturday afternoon. Mr C. 
              Melville was not the first to start cricket here, but he soon joined in, and on 
              Saturday he was well to the front with his cricket regalia which clearly 
              denoted he had handled the willow before.

            
The club flourished over the next two seasons, playing local Saturday 
              afternoon games on Craddock's paddock. Meanwhile the Taranaki Cricket 
              Association had been founded in March 1894, some nine months before the 
              forming of the New Zealand Cricket Council.

2 In the 1896–97 season 
              
Kaponga began playing in the association's championships with home and 
              away games against Eltham and 
Hawera. Why, then, had the club 
              disappeared by the following season? The causes, it would seem, lay both 
              at home and abroad. After its first two seasons the association became 
              moribund. South Taranaki teams made their own ad hoc arrangements for 
              1897–98. At the beginning of the next season the 
Star (5/12/98) urged local 
              players, ‘now that the question of the Cricket Association has been taken 
              up and seems likely once more to be put on satisfactory footing’, to support 
              their clubs in every possible way. But why, when the association faded, did 
              the 
Kaponga club not survive by returning to its old style of local games? 
              The answer lies in the composition of its teams. Sawmill hands formed their 
              solid core, as they could arrange to put in a long Saturday afternoon of play.

            


            
Rural settlers, on the other hand, had to leave early for the cowsheds. 
              Between seasons, in the winter of 1897, the club suffered the double blow 
              of the closure of Charles Melville's sawmill and the loss of his leadership 
              with his departure to 
Dannevirke.

            
The 1898 calendar's next major event was a horticultural show in the 
              town hall on Thursday, 3 February, ‘held in connection with the Caledonia 
              Society's Baby Show’. The 
Star advertising invited entries in a wide range 
              of farm and garden produce, dairy produce, bachelor's bread, and paintings, 
              and was over the name of ‘Fred. Gapper, Hon Sec.’. Gapper* was just 
              emerging as an invaluable local facilitator who was to serve as secretary of 
              a wide range of local clubs and committees. ‘Our Own’ (5/2/98) reported 
              that ‘the results both as regards exhibits and attendance far exceeded the 
              most sanguine anticipations of the Committee’. Both of our case study 
              families exhibited. Isabella Law won prizes for carnations and dahlias, Mrs 
              Hastie for roses, dahlias and stocks and Mr Hastie for turnips, carrots, 
              cucumbers and parsnips. Their daughter received special mention:

            
Miss R. Hastie's exhibits of painting, sketching in black and white, and 
              crayon work were really excellent. Miss Hastie is only 16 years of age and is 
              at present studying at St. Mary's Convent, Ponsonby, 
Auckland.

            
Chairing a meeting of the 
Caledonian Society later in the month, F.W. 
              Wilkie reported that though got up on the spur of the moment the show 
              had been a success. An after meeting was held to form the 
Kaponga 
              Horticultural Society with Wilkie as president, Fred Gapper as secretary-treasurer and A.J. Hastie as one of two vice-presidents. The 1899 annual
              show on 16 February was a much better prepared affair, with a catalogue 
              (printed by the 
Star office) issued in mid-January. The 411 exhibits overwhelmed the town hall's capacity and the attendance was large, with many 
              visitors coming long distances. Felix McGuire, MHR, opened proceedings. 
              The judges included William Rowe of 
Normanby and folk from Manaia, 
              Stratford, Rongotea and 
Wellington. Mr and Mrs Hastie took nearly 20 
              prizes, branching out beyond garden produce into wine, cakes and sewing. 
              Miss Law took prizes for homemade loaf and darned sock. At the society's 
              AGM in April a handsome credit balance was reported. A.J. Hastie was 
              among those thanked for donating prizes and Mrs Hastie was one of five 
              women given special mention for running the refreshment booth. The 
              society was obviously meeting a need. This community was getting on its 
              feet through self-help in fields such as gardening, baking, preserving and 
              sewing. Linking these activities to a major social occasion enhanced both 
              the fun and the standards of domestic industry.

3

            
The early weeks of 1898 also saw 
Star advertisements for the second 
              annual meeting of the 
Kaponga Racing Club, ‘To be held on the Racecourse, 
              Manaia road, on Thursday, February 17, 1898’. The meeting's careful list of 
              explicit conditions included: ‘All races to be run under the rules as adopted 
              by the District Racing Association.’ There were eight events, two being
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              district races reserved for horses that had for three clear months been in the 
              district bounded by the Skeet, Hastings and Auroa roads and the mountain 
              reserve. The meeting was the continuation of an ambitious attempt, begun 
              in 1897, to carve a place for 
Kaponga in the Taranaki racing calendar. It had 
              to compete for attention in a February calendar that included 
Hawera's 
              
Egmont Club's meeting on the 9th and 10th, 
New Plymouth's Taranaki 
              Club on the 16th and 17th, the ‘Te Namu Hack Meeting’ (near Opunake) 
              on the 23rd and the Stratford Club on the 24th and 25th. A small centre 
              might be expected to opt, like Opunake, for a ‘hacks only’ meeting—Patea 
              was advertising such for its 11 April Easter Monday meeting. A hack was 
              defined as a horse that had never won an advertised race. But, while making 
              some concession to local bush interests with its two ‘district’ races, 
Kaponga 
              was really trying for something more ambitious, even though the advertised 
              ‘Racecourse, Manaia road’ was only Charles Tait's paddock. To further 
              attract visitors it was advised that a ‘Social and Dance will be held in the 
              Town Hall in the Evening’.

            
The campaign for 
Kaponga races had begun with a ‘large and 
              enthusiastic’ meeting, chaired by A.J. Hastie, in the town hall on 13 March 
              1897. With Robert Palmer as president and the ubiquitous Fred Gapper as 
              secretary the first meeting was run in Tait's paddock on 23 April 1897. No 
              doubt, as with the Horticultural Society, the success of the second annual 
              event would be crucial in deciding the project's viability. ‘Our Own’ (19/2/ 
              98) gave an optimistic report, telling of 600 to 700 people on the ground 
              even though ‘the weather was not altogether favourable in the morning’.

            
The arrangements were well attended to, and the meeting must be considered 
              a success…. The Manaia Brass Band enlivened the day with very good 
              music. The bookies and the holders of the several games were well patronised. 
              With regard to the day's racing, the fields were large and the starts were very 
              good.

            
The social and dance in the evening, with A.J. Hastie as one of the MCs,
              


              was also judged ‘very successful’, with about 50 couples on the floor.

            
But the promoters saw things differently. The 
Star of 31 March carried 
              an ‘obituary’ to the 
Kaponga Racing Club, provided by ‘a correspondent’. 
              The committee had met at the Commercial Hotel on 24 March. With a loss 
              of about £25 to add to a loss made in 1897 they could see no future for the 
              venture.

            
With autumn the main season of balls and dances got under way. 
              Towards the ends of the months of April and May 1898, as the moon waxed 
              towards its full, there were two special occasions. The first, a plain and fancy 
              dress ball in aid of the town hall funds, with A.J. Hastie again as MC, was 
              so well attended that the organising committee decided on the spot to 
              announce a masquerade ball in a month's time, with masks supplied by the 
              committee. Despite bad weather this too was a great success. A.J. Hastie and 
              Robert Law were members of the organising committee of six and their 
              wives were on the ladies' committee. Miss B. Law was costumed as a 
              schoolgirl and Miss J. Law as a Bulgarian peasant. On both occasions ‘Our 
              Own’ made special mention of the quantity and quality of the refreshments 
              and commented that dancing was kept up till about 4 o'clock. About 10 days 
              after the masquerade ball, on 8 June, ‘Our Own’ reported the 
Kaponga 
              Assembly holding ‘their usual fortnightly meeting’ with about 50 couples 
              on the floor. This is his only 1898 reference to the assembly, but fortunately 
              he covered its 1897 meetings better. A fortnightly ‘quadrille assembly’ had 
              been established in 1895 when the town hall opened. The 1897 season ran 
              from 19 May to 15 September. It consisted of a Wednesday night event, with 
              the music provided by a pianist and a violinist. On several occasions 
              particularly successful evenings were reported; a poor evening in bad 
              weather would see ‘only 20 couples grace the floor’.

4 With further dances 
              for various special occasions, and others to raise funds for specific purposes, 
              this activity was clearly a major element in 
Kaponga's social life.

            
Rugby football, beginning to emerge as Taranaki's premier sport, first 
              got established in 
Kaponga over the 1898 winter. ‘Our Own’ (28 May) 
              reported that the week before ‘our newly formed football team made their 
              maiden effort against the Kapuni team’, the game ending in a draw. 
              Presumably the match was played on Hayes's paddock, Manaia Road, 
              where 
Kaponga won the return match on 4 June. Those interested then 
              formed a football club with a committee showing a nice balance of town 
              and country. Richard Mellow (president) Daniel Hughes* (captain) and 
              Harry Wilkie (vice-captain) were farmers, but all four vice-presidents 
              (storekeepers Harwood and Tindle, hotelkeeper Farquhar and coach-builder Childs) were townsmen. The further matches reported during the
              season were another against Kapuni, two against Cardiff and one against 
              Eltham. The season ended with a very successful football social in the town 
              hall on 31 August, opened appropriately with ‘On the Ball’ sung by builder 
              C.S. Walker. ‘Our Own’ (20/4/99) reported the club's first AGM. A.J. 
              Hastie, Robert Law and F.W. Wilkie were added to the list of 
vice-
                


                presidents. Twenty new members were enrolled, and as the ground was ‘in 
              a very rough state’ a working bee ‘of all members’ was called to get it in 
              order. Presumably this was still Hayes's paddock. The 1899 programme 
              began with a social on 28 April and concluded with a ball on 21 September, 
              both occasions being great successes socially and financially. Of a dozen 
              games played only one was lost. Opunake and Matapu had been added to 
              the list of opponents. Rugby was getting established in south Taranaki by 
              way of village selfhelp, with matches a matter of local arrangement.

            
For 
Kaponga, as for all rural south Taranaki, the great spring social event 
              was 
Hawera's two-day 
Egmont Show. The lead article in the November 
              1898 
New Zealand Country Journal explained the place of such shows in 
              colonial life:

            
There are about thirty of them held in the Colony altogether, and the wonder 
              is how there can be found time for them all…. The central show of a district 
              … is recognised as the great outing of the year for the country people, and 
              on no other occasion do they turn out in such numbers. Those who wish to 
              learn something pay an early visit to the show, but these form a small 
              proportion of the total number that are on the grounds on the ‘people's day’.

            

Kaponga was not prominent in the 
Hawera showring in these early 
              decades—its settlers had not yet made much progress in fine breeding and 
              grooming, and the long trek to the showgrounds also discouraged them 
              from bringing their animals. Nevertheless, 
Kaponga did have some presence 
              at the show of 3 and 4 November 1898. Gilbert Wilson won first prize in 
              the section for a ‘sheep and cattle dog or slut [short haired]’ and E.R. Hastie 
              served as a cattle steward. Ellen Frethey won the prize for her ‘collection of 
              home-made jam’. But 
Kaponga's most notable achievement was that of J. 
              Crockett of Rowan Road. Against stiff competition he won the 
Egmont A 
              & P Association's trophy prize for butter. This was for ‘not less than one 
              cwt butter suitable for export’. The judge who awarded the prize to the little 
              Rowan dairy factory was Kowin of the English firm of Lovell and 
              Christmas. Atrocious weather on ‘people's day’ held attendance at about 
              3000, but there must have been quite a sprinkling of 
Kaponga folk in the 
              crowd. They would have been better represented on the ‘people's day’ of 2 
              November 1899 when glorious weather brought a record attendance of over 
              5000. Possibly some or all of 
Kaponga's shops closed on ‘people's day’. 
              Certainly in 1899 its Bank of 
New South Wales branch observed the special 
              bank holiday appointed in south Taranaki for the occasion.

5

            
The year's end saw a series of occasions that had the community's 
              children particularly in mind, both to mark the end of the school year and 
              to celebrate Christmas. On 25 November the town hall was crowded when 
              William Philip, the Manaia Presbyterian minister, came ‘over a very bad 
              road’ to show his fine magic lantern views of 
London to raise funds for the 
              school library. On 22 December the hall was still more crowded (‘standing 
              room even was hard to obtain’) for the annual concert in aid of the school
              


              prizes. This was a varied programme by both children and adult performers, 
              in two parts, with the school prizegiving sandwiched between. The opening 
              piece was ‘The Bohemian Girl’ by the 
Kaponga orchestra. The little girls 
              followed with the ‘Spanish Fan Dance’. Eleven adult vocalists (six of them 
              women) provided the main body of the programme. R. McKay, conductor 
              of the orchestra, played a violin solo. A few children's items were interspersed, including the duet ‘Where are You Going to My Pretty Maid?’ by 
              Miss Bella Law and Master 
C. Wilson. The programme was not all musical; 
              the second part opened with a lively debate by 18 schoolboys on ‘Is it wrong 
              to educate our girls?’. A dance followed the concert.

            
The community further demonstrated its ability to entertain itself on 
              Christmas Eve. Folk could take time out from their shopping to join a 
              highly successful Christmas tree event in aid of the town hall funds. Under 
              F.W. Wilkie's direction a whole series of ‘labour and mental competitions’ 
              were held—wood sawing, nail driving, guessing a sheep's weight and the 
              numbers of collections of peas and nails. There was also singing, entertainment by a hornpipe dancer, and a refreshment stall. The Christmas tree 
              had to be reloaded several times with gifts for the large number of children 
              who attended. The town itself was elaborately decorated and brilliantly 
              illuminated for the occasion. Harwood's store was so well lit that it ‘looked 
              like a city establishment’. The community was relishing its prosperity 
              and business was brisk. ‘It seemed as if the population of New Zealand
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Wood-sawing contest, 
Kaponga 
Caledonian Society sports 1896. One of the contestants is


                    David Briggs (of Manaia and later 
Kaponga), Taranaki axeman champion, 1895–97. Note the


                    ‘Sunday best’ attire for this Boxing Day occasion


              


              had gathered in 
Kaponga and intended to make the money fly.’

            
Boxing Day was to have seen the concluding Christmas occasion, 
              advertised for weeks in the 
Star as ‘
Kaponga 
Caledonian Society's Sports, 
              To be held in the Domain’, but the day was so wet it was postponed to 
              Friday, 30 December. The 
Caledonian Society, founded in October 1894 
              with F.S. Canning as president, had run a very successful first meeting on 
              A.J. Craddock's paddock on New Year's Day 1895, with 600 present. With 
              Canning's departure the society languished and its second sports were not 
              held till Boxing Day 1896, this time on the domain, a 14-acre public reserve 
              on the township's southern boundary. The society had taken the Domain 
              track in hand only a few months earlier. Raising funds to improve the 
              domain became a continuing concern of the society. With A.J. Hastie as 
              president and Fred Gapper as secretary, it was in a healthy condition in 1898. 
              With proceeds from socials and dances, and from its annual sports, it had 
              stumped, cleared and ploughed several acres of the domain and progressively improved the track. The postponed fourth annual sports meeting of 
              the society, held in splendid weather, was a great success. The programme 
              included both boys' and girls' races for under 14-year-olds, the usual range 
              of adult athletic events, and several axemen's events. Music was provided 
              by a visiting company, The Blind Musicians. Robert Law took third place 
              in the ‘Old Men's Race’ for those over 40. At the successful and profitable 
              dance that followed A.J. Hastie was MC and Miss Bella Law's highland 
              lassie costume was among those noted. Dancing continued till daylight.
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Other Sports and Recreations of the 1890s

            
The more casual and individual sports and activities, such as shooting, 
              fishing and swimming, got only intermittent mention in the 
Star and 
              elsewhere. Shooting must have been a common activity but ‘Our Own’ only 
              touched on it with occasional complaints that people ‘don't bother about 
              licences' and that ‘plenty of poaching [of pheasants] is going on’.

6 In a letter 
              to the children's page of the November 1895 
Farmer Frank Hemingway of 
              Riverlea, a standard 4 pupil at 
Kaponga School, commented:

            
There are a great many cock pheasants and wild pigs about here. We often see 
              the pigs when we are looking around the cattle and then they run among the 
              green bush. There are two rivers and a creek running through our place, and 
              so we go bathing in the summer time.

            
Bathing in the district's many rivers may have been a common summer 
              activity, but one unlikely to find its way into the record apart from the rare 
              occurrence of a drowning.

7 Another little-reported sport that these rivers 
              provided was fishing. In the spring of 1894 the Acclimatisation Society 
              released 15,000 trout fry in the streams crossing Eltham Road from Eltham 
              to west of 
Kaponga.

8 By 1898 ‘Our Own’ (19/1/98) was complaining of ‘the 
              large amount of poaching for fish being done by the Maoris' and a 
Star
              


              ‘Travelling Correspondent’ (1/11/98) told of anglers ‘having a very good 
              time round 
Kaponga’. With a casual freedom that barely got into the record 
              
Kaponga's yeomen and their friends were enjoying country sports for which 
              the Old World gentry were pouring out much effort and money in the 
              breeding and defence of game.

            
From time to time ‘Our Own’ mentioned various recreational groups 
              in the township. We have noted the 
Kaponga orchestra participating in the 
              school concert of 22 December 1898. Its origins and general activities were 
              not reported. On the initiative of the Methodist minister, the Rev C. 
              Beecroft, a Literary and 
Debating Society was formed in May 1892 with 
              F.W. Wilkie as secretary. With varying success, largely dependent on the 
              weather, it sponsored evenings of public speaking, music making and 
              debating. Subjects included ‘Monarchy v Republicanism’, ‘Press v Platform’ 
              (against Okaiawa), and ‘Free Trade v Protectionism’ (against Manaia).

9 The 
              society does not appear to have developed the literary aspect of its title, and 
              its debating subjects were probably not widely appealing. This may be why 
              a group of prominent citizens, including Wilkie, Canning, Harwood and 
              John Robertson, took the initiative in forming a Mutual Improvement 
              Society in July 1893. It flourished for about a year, its most fully reported 
              occasion being an instrumental and vocal social to open its 1894 season.

10 It 
              then disappeared from the record while the more humdrum debating club 
              survived into the next decade.

            
On the wet Friday evening of 27 March 1896 a ‘Very large audience’ 
              gathered for the first performance of the newly formed 
Kaponga Dramatic 
              Club on ‘one of the most convenient stages on the coast’, just completed in 
              the town hall. Their well-received comedy was sandwiched between a 
              concert and a dance. ‘Our Own’ (11/6/96) described their next, more 
              ambitious, appearance as ‘one of the best entertainments ever witnessed in 
              the district’. Before a crowded town hall they put on a five-act comedy, 
              
Worth a Struggle. Builder John Robertson played the hero, Palmer Road 
              farmer's daughter Miss E. Coxhead the heroine, and storekeeper Harwood 
              filled the part of the rascally lawyer ‘with such dramatic effect as to call forth 
              the hoots and hisses of an appreciative audience’. The entertainment 
              concluded with a short farce, 
Brown, the Martyr. ‘Our Own’ commended 
              the club's ‘capital scenery’ and expeditious scene-changing. However, the 
              club failed to sustain this initial enthusiasm and success and faded fairly 
              quickly.

11

            
The town's other recreation options included James Hawke's billiard 
              saloon, opened in June 1895, and a chess and draughts club formed in July 
              1898.

12 There was also reading, no doubt reasonably popular in town and 
              country. On 19 June 1896 ‘Our Own’ reported rather enigmatically that ‘it 
              is understood a circulating library will shortly be started. About 250 books 
              are on the way out.’ The prime movers became apparent at a first annual 
              meeting of subscribers on 10 December. It was chaired by headmaster 
              Charles MacLean,* who was elected chairman, with a committee of builder
              


              Robertson, storekeeper Harwood, his assistant John Nicholls, and creamery 
              manager Lewis. F.W. Wilkie was prominent in the discussion. The library 
              had started in a room of Robertson's, which he now needed for his growing 
              business, so a bookcase was fixed up in the town hall. After considerable 
              debate the annual subscription was raised from 5s to 7/6. By the 1899 AGM 
              the library had 418 volumes and 50 subscribers.

13

            
But the district's most popular reading matter was probably the 
              periodicals that both entertained and kept folk up to date with the world's 
              goings on. Each weekend the 

Egmont Star, with its range of specialist pages 
              and serialised novels, was scattered across the district. The 
Farmer came 
              monthly to a good number of homes. Some folk may have come with a love 
              for 
Auckland's 
Weekly News, 
Wanganui's 
Yeoman, 
Wellington's 
New 
                Zealand Mail, or other of the colonial weeklies, and continued subscribing. 
              Each year the colony received several million overseas newspapers, and 
              
Kaponga must have had its share of such titles as the English 
Lloyd's, 
                Reynolds's and 
Illustrated 
London News, and the Australian 
Sydney 
              
Bulletin and Melbourne 
Australasian. This outpost of western civilisation 
              was well aware of how the wide world was using its leisure. 
Kaponga folk 
              probed vigorously and imaginatively for possibilities that could be adapted 
              to their frontier conditions, and clearly had many successes.
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The Churches

            
During the 1890s Saturday's 
Star carried a directory of south Taranaki 
              church services. The list for Sunday 19 February 1899 neatly summarised 
              the success of the churches in establishing a worthwhile presence in 
              
Kaponga:

            
CHURCH OF ENGLAND 11—Holy Communion; 
              CATHOLIC CHURCH Mass 9;


              PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 11—Mr Purvis; 
              METHODIST CHURCH Palmer Road, 2.30—Mr J. Clement; 
              WESLEYAN CHURCH 7.30—Mr Harwood.

            
Three of the five services were conducted by lay preachers, while the 
              Anglicans and Catholics had clergy visiting to conduct the sacrament. Only 
              the Wesleyans were meeting in their own building. The Catholics completed 
              theirs next, in May 1900, the Anglicans followed in April 1901, and the 
              Presbyterians in July 1910. This order roughly reflects the relative strengths 
              of the denominations in the district. Not only were the Wesleyans a strong 
              element in the founding population but, as elsewhere, they proved 
              particularly adaptable to frontier conditions, with their strong traditions of 
              lay involvement, lay preaching and direct personal giving. The Palmer Road 
              ‘Methodist Church’ service was a Primitive Methodist one at Mahoe 
              Despite their considerable strength in Taranaki the Primitives were not very 
              significant in 
Kaponga's story.

            


            
Clearly 
Kaponga church life suffered from these divisions, with their 
              replication of facilities and personnel. Each denomination had to wrestle 
              with recurrent redrawings of district boundaries and ever-changing arrangements for its clergy and lay preachers to circulate around their group of 
              largely struggling causes. Thus in the programme for 19 February 1899 the 
              Rev A.W.H. Compton would have been visiting (probably from Opunake) 
              to celebrate the Anglican communion and went on to take services at 
              Awatuna at 2.30pm and Opunake at 7.30pm; the priest conducting the 
              Catholic mass would have come from 
Hawera via Manaia (for a 9am mass) 
              and gone on to Eltham before returning to 
Hawera.

14 The Presbyterian lay 
              preacher, Purvis, was to be at Kapuni at 2pm and at Manaia (probably his 
              home town) at 7.30pm. This ‘circuit’ approach to filling the pulpit was 
              paralleled by close relations between each scatter of small congregations, so 
              that strong contingents travelled to support any special local occasion, 
              countering the development of any excessive localism.

            
Probably more than any other institution the church brought families 
              into close friendly relations with other families further afield with whom 
              they shared deeply valued traditions. But although most settlers coveted the 
              reassurance of familiar traditions and old remembered surroundings they 
              also wished to nurture their growing bonds of fellowship with neighbours 
              from different backgrounds. So while working to create viable relationships 
              with those of their own church in surrounding centres they also strove for 
              local harmony and gave neighbourly support to any denominational cause 
              struggling to get established in 
Kaponga. We will examine how this twofold 
              approach, and the strong need for lay leadership, contributed to 
Kaponga's 
              social life as the Wesleyans, Anglicans and Roman Catholics worked to get 
              established.

            
The competing claims of community and denomination led to some 
              ambiguity in the origins of 
Kaponga's first church building. In his 
Memories 
                of 
Kaponga (1916) the Anglican Rev O.M. Stent implies that it should have 
              been a union church. He tells how folk responded enthusiastically to a 
              challenge put by the Wesleyan Rev Robert Young when he visited 
Kaponga 
              in 1887:

            
The response Mr Young received far exceeded the most sanguine of 
              expectations. A section was obtained with the money freely subscribed. 
              Timber was forthcoming. No regard was given to the denominational 
              question. The people had a mind to the work, and so it was that in course of 
              time the little church—primarily intended for the use of all—was erected on 
              the site now occupied by the present Methodist Church…. But a reaction 
              set in, and trouble soon followed. The Building Committee, realizing that, by 
              law, the church and property had to be vested in some trust, caused it to be 
              assigned to the Methodist Trustees…. The inception for a Church emanated, 
              in the first instance, from the 
Methodists and there is not the slightest doubt 
              but that, as Christian men, and men of honour, they would always have given
              


              every facility for the church to be used for general purposes by every 
              denomination. But the Anglicans and Presbyterians were by no means 
              satisfied with this arrangement. They did not (and this was their point of 
              view) wish for Methodist hospitality…. The church should have been, as the 
              one at Mangatoki subsequently was, vested in Public Trust as a Union 
              Church.

            
The Wesleyans had a different version. The 
New Zealand Methodist of 
              3 August 1889 reported the ‘Opening of the 
Kaponga Wesleyan Church, 
              
Hawera Circuit’ with the only clergy present being two Wesleyans. That 
              the money put into the venture was predominantly Wesleyan seems likely 
              from a report by the 
Yeoman's Manaia ‘Our Own’ (1/2/90):

            
We were favoured with a visit from the Rev P.L. Cameron last Sunday, when 
              he preached in aid of the ‘General Church Fund’ of the Anglican Church. 
              Those who went to hear him in the expectation of hearing some ‘straight 
              talking’ were not disappointed, as he was very outspoken. He gave the people 
              of the Anglican Church here a pretty good keei-hauling for being, as he called 
              them, laggards, in regards to the progress of their Church on the coast. He 
              spoke very highly of the pioneer work done, and the progress made by the 
              Wesleyan Church.

            
In 1890 
Kaponga was transferred to the Opunake Wesleyan circuit. 
              Throughout the decade the 
Kaponga congregation maintained a steady 
              programme of services, annual ‘Anniversary Tea Meetings’, annual socials 
              and picnics, and soirées for occasions such as the welcoming and farewelling 
              of ministers. Step by step they improved their facilities, acquiring an organ 
              in 1891, completing the lining of the church in 1894, and erecting a vestry 
              about 1899.

15

            
Lacking the strong church planting and self-help traditions of the 
              
Methodists, the Anglicans lagged about a decade behind them. In 1892 the 
              Diocese of 
Wellington carved the Waimate Plains Parochial District ‘west 
              of the railway and south of the Mountain’ from the parish of 
Hawera. The 
              district had neither church building nor vicarage, and the only change the 
              first vicar brought for 
Kaponga was transferring worship from the 
              Methodist church, first to the new schoolroom, then to the new town hall. 
              It was the appearance of strong lay leadership that made it possible for the 
              second vicar to get things moving in 
Kaponga. Besides its lack of church 
              planting and self-help traditions settler Anglicanism was further hampered 
              by its general unwillingness to respond to the leadership of other than 
              cultured clerical gentlemen.

16 It is therefore worth our while to sketch the 
              background of the most prominent of the 
Kaponga pioneer lay leaders, 
              Alfred Samuel Hobbs.*

            
Hobbs's father was a 
Royal Navy commodore, his mother the daughter 
              of a 
Sydney judge. As a young man he had a varied pioneering career with 
              sheep ‘in the interior of Otago’ and on a South Australian cattle station. In
              


              1863 he married a well-connected young Hobart woman, and till 1877 ran 
              a Victorian cattle station, where most of their large family was born. 
              Crossing to New Zealand in 1878, Alfred farmednear 
Hawera for about 15 
              years and became a lay reader of St Mary's, 
Hawera. About 1893 the family 
              moved to a son-in-law's dairy farm on Palmer Road and he was soon playing a prominent part in getting the Anglican cause established in 
Kaponga.

17 
              Alfred's acceptability as a leader included his good social class credentials, 
              his record as a mature pioneer settler, and his long experience in church 
              affairs. So he appears as MC of building fund socials, as a member of the 
              building committee, and as an acceptable lay preacher enabling frequent and 
              regular Anglican services to be offered in 
Kaponga. In December 1914, on 
              the first anniversary of his death, a brass tablet memorialising Alfred and 
              Mary Hobbs as ‘Pioneers of this Church’ was unveiled in St Mark's.

            
Another who began long years of work for St Mark's with service on 
              the building committee was Allan Grace
* of Rowan Road, He is an example 
              of the modest, loyal contributor who makes little show in the public record.

            
Both Roman Catholicism and Presbyterianism drew strength in settler 
              New Zealand from their respective Irish and Scottish nationalisms. The 
              Catholics completed 
Kaponga's second church building in May 1990, a full 
              decade ahead of the Presbyterians, because of their relative strengths in the 
              settler inflow. The district's first mass was offered in 1891 in Daniel 
              Fitzgerald's home. Later that year masses began to be offered in the schoolroom. Services were moved from the schoolroom when the town hall
              became available.

18 A strong drive for a church building was launched in 
              January 1899.” A social and dance for the building fund, held in the town 
              hall on Easter Monday, had good support from south Taranaki Catholics 
              and local citizens of other denominations:

            
Visitors from Opunake, Awatuna, Eltham, Stratford, Okaiawa, and 
Hawera 
              were present. Holiday makers hurried back from 
New Plymouth and Patea 
              so as to participate….The Rev. Father Cahill … stated that as the priest is 
              with the people in their sorrows, he thought they should also be with them in 
              their joys and it was a pleasant thing to see people of all denominations 
              gather together and assist one another in the good work of building churches. 
              (‘Our Own’, 5/4/99)

            
Good lay leadership helped carry the project to an early conclusion. 
              Maurice Fitzgerald chaired the building committee and A.J. Hastie, helped 
              by others, was MC at the socials.
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Childhood

            
The district's children also had their lives reshaped by the emergence of the 
              township and the rise of dairying. Potent influences in this reshaping were 
              the school in the township and the multiplying milking sheds on the farms. 
              These two interests soon came into conflict. Before following the rise of the
              


              school and its conflict with the milking shed we will give a more general 
              sketch of childhood experience.

            
With their adult male emphasis our sources are thin on childhood. We 
              do, though, have one small cache of material from the children themselves. 
              During the decade 
Kaponga children wrote about 20 letters to ‘Uncle Ned's’ 
              Children's Page in the 
Farmer. Some are just a sentence or two; most have 
              the feel of being inhibited by parental censorship, and by the recipient being 
              a somewhat moralistic ‘uncle’ with children of his own. This is therefore 
              not a rich source, but still one worth probing. The letters came from 13 
              children in six homes. Three of the families (Hemingway, Smith and Taylor) 
              were Scottish in origin, and a fourth (McCutchan) had an Irish-born father 
              who may have been Scots Irish. The other two were English Anglican 
              (Hobbs) and English Wesleyan (Mellow). All but one letter (McCutchan) 
              were from the fringes of the district. So they are in no way a representative 
              sample. Probably children in and near the town had enough interests 
              without writing to Uncle Ned. The three ‘Scottish’ homes provided 16 of 
              the 20 letters. This probably reflects both the Scots' high regard for education and their openness to agricultural improvement, giving a propensity 
              to subscribe to the 
Farmer. Here are substantial portions of one letter from 
              each of these ‘Scottish’ homes:

            
DEAR UNCLE NED.–This is the first time I have written to you. We have 
              three cats and a kitten. One day one of our cats took away the kitten and 
              planted it in a hay paddock, and about ten days afterwards my father found it 
              eating a big rat. I go to school, and am in the Third Standard. We live about 
              four miles from 
Kaponga. I have two brothers. We have two hens with 
              chickens. We have had a fearful storm at 
Kaponga. It lasted three days. We go 
              to the factory with our milk. I milk seven cows night and morning. [Sends a 
              riddle.] Goodbye, Uncle Ned.—JOHN C. HEMINGWAY. 
Kaponga.

            
{I expect the cat took away the kitten, John, to save it from being teased 
              by boys, eh? You are a useful boy on a dairy farm. Write again soon.— 
              UNCLE NED.}

            
(
Farmer, June 1895)

            
DEAR UNCLE NED.—I am going to write you another letter and I am 
              going to try to continue writing. The cows are coming in fast now. On the 
              ‘Prince of Wales’ birthday I was up at half past three, and at night milked 
              fifteen cows. I have got another dear little sister now, and she is a week old 
              today. I am twelve years of age and I am in the fifth standard. Two of my 
              sisters and one of my brothers went to the Manaia sports. My brother is busy 
              making a box for birds' eggs just now. He found a thrush's nest with five eggs 
              in it. The flowers are coming out in bloom now.–JEANNIE TAYLOR. 
              Jasmine Grove, Kapuni. (
Farmer, January 1901)

            
DEAR UNCLE NED.–This is the first time I have written to you. Father 
              takes the ‘Farmer’ and I like reading the cousins' letters, that is, some of
              


              them. There is not much to write about down this way, cow-spanking being 
              the leading industry, though some coxfoot is ready to cut, but on account of 
              wet weather the yield will not be near so heavy as last year. And now I've got 
              a grievance to explain. Some time back we borrowed a stipendiary magistrate 
              from 
Auckland, who since he came here has made himself obnoxious by the 
              manner in which he speaks of the rising generations of New Zealanders, some 
              of whom have to get up before four o'clock and milk cows to help to pay his 
              salary. He ought to know better than to speak in a disrespectful, sarcastic 
              fashion of the people whom he is the hired servant of…. I must conclude 
              now with the best respect to you all.—COLONIAL BILL. Palmer Rd., 
              Okaiawa. (
Farmer, February 1899)

            
Note that all three letters mention milking, and two mention school, if 
              only to give their school standard. ‘Colonial Bill’ was William Smith, a 
              14-year-old of lower Palmer Road, who had probably left school. All three 
              letters indicate outdoor interests beyond the milking shed—the barnyard 
              (John), bird nesting and the garden (Jeannie), the cocksfoot harvest (Bill). 
              This full involvement of settler children in farm activities is reflected in other 
              letters. An older sister and brother of Jeannie's had both earlier told of a 
              fortnight spent helping their father cut grass seed (
Farmer, March 1892). 
              Another sister had described their 200-acre farm and told of their flower 
              and vegetable garden and of the orchard their father had planted, only to 
              have the trees killed by a gale (
Farmer, June 1898). Jeannie herself was to 
              tell of their 32 varieties of chrysanthemums (
Farmer, July 1901). We have 
              already noted John Hemingway's older brother Frank telling of the game 
              on their property and of going bathing in the summer. The same letter also 
              told of bushfelling and of plans to plant exotic trees as shelter belts. Bill 
              Smith tackled the 
Farmer for saying that where twin calves were a heifer 
              and a bull the heifer would never have a calf. ‘Now that is wrong, for we 
              had one that had three before we sold her.’ (
Farmer, July 1898). Two of the 
              three letters quoted reflect the farmers' general interest in the weather, with 
              John telling of a fearful three-day storm and Bill of wet weather affecting 
              the cocksfoot harvest. Several other letters tell of the weather and Jeannie's 
              sister Helen tells of great bush fires, and of taking in their burnt-out 
              neighbours (
Farmer, June 1898). Five of the letters tell of outings. Jeannie 
              tells of going to a Cantata in the Kapuni School when she was nine and of 
              a more ambitious outing when she was 12. ‘Father, Mother, Helen and I 
              went to a concert and dance on Thursday and we got home at 3 o'clock on 
              Friday morning.’ (
Farmer, July 1901). Frank Hemingway tells of the great 
              celebrations for the Town Hall opening:

            
The 
Kaponga Town Hall was opened on June 6th, and there was a plain and 
              fancy dress ball the first night for big people, and a dance the second for 
              children. The hall was nicely decorated with palms, ferns and chines 
              lanterns. All the children enjoyed themselves very much at the dance. The hall 
              was crowded both nights. (
Farmer, August 1895)

            


            
As with work, recreation boundaries between adults and children were 
              much more blurred than in later times. The separate ‘big people’ and 
              ‘children’ evenings for the town hall opening were probably forced by the 
              logistics of the numbers involved.

            
Not much is said directly about parent/child relationships. Three of the 
              letters have news of trips away by fathers. Guy Mellow's father has been to 
              the 
Palmerston North show and has brought back six little pigs (
Farmer, 
              February 1900). Frank Hemingway's father is away in 
Wanganui, with a 
              promise to bring back a game of Tiddlywinks (
Farmer, November 1895). 
              Ten-year-old Eunice, one of the middle children of the large Taylor family 
              of six girls and five boys, writes thus of her father's return from a winter 
              holiday:

            
My father has been away for a holiday about a month and he arrived back 
              home safe. Mother, Willie, Jeannie, Bertie and I went into 
Hawera on 
              Saturday 6th July and met him. He brought home a rattle, a doll, and a book 
              for my little sister, a book for Hector, a whistle for Leonard, a knife for 
              Bertie, a pinafore for Jeannie and Helen, a bit for a bridle for Willie and a pair 
              of slippers for myself. (
Farmer, September 1901)

            
The family party meeting this returning father, and his carefully selected 
              presents, suggest warm parent/child bonds. The total effect of the available 
              
Kaponga childhood material accords with the conclusions of Rosemary 
              Goodyear's oral history study of Otago childhood 1900–20. She writes:

            
Though there was no one type of family, the traditional type with distant 
              dominant father, and submissive mother, does not seem the norm … What 
              was surprising was the extent to which fathers played with their children.
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These 
Farmer letters reflect quite a range of family tones. ‘Colonial Bill’ 
              Smith may have mirrored parental views on the ‘obnoxious’ magistrate, but 
              his further letters indicate a tearaway unlikely to have submitted to parental 
              vetting. His letter complaining of inaccurate information in the 
Farmer 
              concludes: ‘I've got nothing more to growl about except that I should like 
              the yarns in the ends of the 
Farmer to have a little more adventure and a 
              little less moral in them.’ Since he had no younger brother it seems likely 
              that he himself perpetrated the following:

            
DEAR UNCLE NED.—I thought I would write to you about my elder 
              brother “Colonial Bill” who writes such fearful letters to you. I only want to 
              tell you he is just out of a lunatic show, in which he took first prize in the 
              donkey braying competition.—COLONIAL BILL JUNIOR

            
{I only hope your remarks are not prompted by envy, because you could 
              only take second prize in the same competition, my young friend. Never 
              mind, better luck next time.—UNCLE NED.} (
Farmer, December 1899)

            
There is a strong contrast in atmosphere between this home and that of 
              Guy Mellow, who writes:

            


            
I am ten years old and in the third standard…. I can ride on horseback. 
              Mother is going to take me to the mountain house in my holidays. I milk ten 
              cows. We are milking eighty six cows…. My little brother, 
Sydney, has such 
              a dear little pony. (
Farmer, February 1900)

            
We turn now to the schools in the 
Kaponga district. The 
Wanganui 
              Education Board, whose district took in 
Hawera County, ran a canny 
              administration to cope with its disadvantages under the government's 
              capitation system. The act provided for an annual parliamentary vote of £3 
              15s per child in average attendance, an approach that made things very 
              difficult for boards such as 
Wanganui, which serviced mainly country 
              districts. In brief, small schools ran at a loss. Thus a school with a roll of 40 
              and an average attendance of 80 per cent earned £120 (i.e. £3 15s × 32) a year. 
              Deducting other expenses left less than £110 for the teacher's salary, and you 
              could not get teachers for this. Smaller schools were, of course, even worse 
              propositions. Like all boards, 
Wanganui subsidised its country schools from‘ 
              ‘surpluses’ earned by larger town schools, of which it had too few. Among 
              its economy measures were pressure on settlers to subsidise salaries in small 
              schools, great care in locating schools, and an expectation that some children 
              will travel good distances. The 
Kaponga district's first school was Kapuni, 
              on Manaia Road, just north of Skeet Road. It opened in mid-1888 as an 
              aided school, which meant that the settlers had found a teacher acceptable 
              to the board and agreed to be responsible for part of the salary.

            
During 1890 
Kaponga's settlers negotiated with the board for a school 
              on the town's northern edge, on the Manaia Road Education Reserve. The 
              board required the settlers to sign a bond agreeing to make the teacher's 
              salary up to £100 a year, should attendances not entitle him to this amount 
              by the board's scale of payments. A school committee was elected, the 
              school built, and the first teacher, Charles MacLean, opened it on 22 June 
              1891. Some pupils who enrolled had been waiting for years for their first 
              chance of schooling; others who had attended school elsewhere had waited 
              up to five years for a school at 
Kaponga. Some who had been trekking down 
              to the Kapuni school transferred to 
Kaponga.

            
Charles MacLean was a young teacher from 
Auckland province, where 
              he had joined the profession in 
Dargaville in 1885, but had had most of his 
              service commuting between two small half-time schools near 
Te Aroha. His 
              early days in 
Kaponga must have been difficult for both him and his pupils. 
              He had to teach all classes from beginners to Standard 6, with a jumble of 
              ages in each class because of the diversity of past experience. The continuous 
              arrival of new pupils compounded the difficulties. Attendance was erratic. 
              Especially in winter this was excusable on account of bad weather, bad roads 
              and sickness. But when the good weather came children were kept away for 
              tasks such as grass seed cutting and hay making. The school's ‘big day’ each 
              year was the inspector's examination visit. Its results were very public, with 
              the children's passes listed in the press and the teacher's reputation
              


              depending on the overall result. The first examination was held in May 1892. 
              The report of W. H. Vereker-Bindon MA shows he had not come expecting 
              too much. Only spelling was ‘on the whole’ good, with three unusually 
              excellent cases in Standard 3, but

            
… Reading, as usual in newly opened bush schools, is a very poor subject 
              indeed. Indeed it is not too much to say that there is not a good reader in the 
              school. Owing, however, to the circumstances of the school, I have not put 
              the regulations strictly into force….

            
Mr MacLean being new to the District, I have written several examples 
              of how the work is required to be done. I also give the following hints. Pupils 
              should have been brought earlier into the school, and placed in their desks in 
              such a manner that no two pupils in the same standard were near each other. 
              All papers should have been on the desks already. Slates in S1 & S2 should 
              have been ready, clean with headings written down and blackboards should 
              have been clean.
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Mr MacLean and his pupils had a demanding task for in those days 
              primary schooling was all that most folk received. School-leavers were 
              expected to have the literacy and numeracy to learn trades, handle accounts, 
              measure farms and crops, manage their future homes, farms and businesses, 
              engage in local and national politics and so on. They should also have 
              sufficient understanding of history, science and geography to grasp their 
              place in the world, and have had some experience of music, drawing and 
              literature. 
Kaponga School pressed on with these aims, and the quality of 
              its work improved year by year. The steady build-up of shopkeepers' and 
              craftmen's families in the township must have helped, for most would have 
              come from good schools elsewhere with habits of regular attendance.

            
After having to travel two miles of muddy roads each night and 
              morning for a good part of two winters MacLean moved into the teacher's 
              residence erected next to the school. In August 1893 he had a further boost 
              when pupil Johanna King began to help him as a cadet. The 
Wanganui 
              Education Board's canny cadetship scheme had competent senior pupils 
              appointed to assist the teacher half time without pay, with the promise, if 
              they proved satisfactory, of becoming paid pupil-teachers. By 1894 Johanna 
              was a pupil-teacher on £20 a year; which meant she was teaching full time, 
              training on the job and doing extra professional studies under MacLean's 
              instruction.

            
In June 1894 the settlers at last received a pleasing inspector's report. 
              ‘Our Own’ (19/6/94) commented:

            
… from what I hear the teacher and parents have every reason to be highly 
              satisfied. The inspector, Mr Bindon, seemed to have a very happy knack of 
              getting the children into their work with a good zest in place of—as is mostly 
              usual when exams are on—being in a state of fear and trembling.

            
In fact, this was not the annual examination visit, though Bindon may
              


              have given some coaching in how to take his examinations. But so pleased 
              were the committee with his report on the visit that they sponsored a public 
              subscription for prize books for all pupils present on the occasion. The 
              school, together with many parents, assembled in the Wesleyan church for 
              this prizegiving. Having distributed the prizes, committee chairman Frank 
              Canning gave a short encouraging address. The school then gave three 
              hearty cheers for the school committee, another three for Mr and Mrs 
              MacLean, and were dismissed for a celebratory half holiday.

            
The 1894 annual examinations followed some further festivities in 
              November. On the initiative of ‘a few ladies’ a very successful settlers' 
              reunion and dance was held on Thursday evening, 15 November. Finding a 
              large amount of food left over, the company decided, in the small hours of 
              Friday morning, to invite the children and their parents to assemble at 7.30 
              on the Saturday evening, when feasting and dancing were kept up until 
              11 pm.

23 The following Thursday was examination day. In contrast to earlier 
              examination reports, this one had nothing but praise for the children's 
              classroom conduct. ‘Order, discipline, attention and behaviour really 
              excellent. Manners of pupils most pleasing.’

24 The inspector found Johanna 
              King teaching the primers and Standard 1 in the Wesleyan church down the 
              road from the school. Even so, MacLean's schoolroom was very crowded. 
              After months of badgering by the committee, the board had just let a tender 
              to more than double the school's size. Over the next three years the 
              esidence was enlarged and, with the committee finding half the funds and 
              organising working bees, a shelter shed and fencing erected and a shelter 
              belt of trees planted.

25 With so much of their own time, money and labour 
              invested in upgrading the school and its grounds, the settlers must have felt 
              that it was 
their school, not just the property of a distant bureaucracy.

            
What quality of experience did the school give the children? In its early 
              days things must have been fairly chaotic, with MacLean struggling to 
              classify his diverse intake and implement the system. Children with previous 
              schooling coming to the bare, basic new building on its undeveloped bush 
              clearing would have had some idea what to expect. There would first be a 
              quick interview and some tests to establish one's standard. Some would have 
              had the disappointment of being ‘put back’, having forgotten too much since 
              last at school. Whatever the case they would have found a wide age range in 
              their class. So, at the 1892 examination, Standard 2 pupils ranged from the 
              10 years nine months of James Hayes up to the 16 years 11 months of the 
              school's oldest pupil, George Anderson. Beginners, too, ranged widely in 
              age, with primers at the 1892 examination from five years seven months to 
              13 years 10 months. So the work got under way in the rather depressing 
              setting of unpainted walls and primitive furniture. To the board interior 
              painting was an unnecessary luxury, but each year it struggled to paint a few 
              exteriors and to replace a few shingled roofs with iron. Some, though, were 
              too far decayed to be worth attending to. 
Kaponga's children were fortunate 
              in having a new, painted school with an iron roof. The standard classes
              


              probably had the new dual desks the board was introducing throughout its 
              system. But the infants probably worked awkwardly on benches 
              throughout the decade. The 
New Zealand Journal of Education first issue 
              in March 1899 described the furniture provided for the colony's primer 
              pupils:

            
In a few schools desks are provided, but in the vast majority nothing of the 
              kind is to be seen. The greater part of the first two or three years of the 
              school life of most of our children is therefore spent perched upon seats, their 
              slates clutched in their left hands, their heads twisted on one side, one leg 
              crossed over the other, and at the same time struggling to hold on their knees, 
              beads, sticks, or other kindergarten material. What a comfort it would be to 
              these bairns if small desks were attached to the seats.

            
Gradually the school's work settled into the pattern desired by the 
              authorities. The cramped conditions, the scanty equipment, the wide range 
              of classes and the teacher's limited training all pointed the system in the 
              direction of static pupils mastering much of their learning by rote. Pupils 
              who did well with their three Rs, and enjoyed using them, must have got a 
              good deal of pleasure from their schooling, but struggling learners being 
              goaded by a teacher anxious about examination percentages will have found 
              school burdensome. Still, the place will have had something of a family 
              atmosphere, with sisters and brothers sharing the same room. There was also 
              the companionship of the playground and of the journey between home and 
              school. Over the first year the teacher shared the trials of the roads with the 
              farm children and on wet days some of his clothing may have joined their 
              coats, shoes and stockings spread out to dry before the open fire. Each year 
              there were special activities to look forward to, such as the school picnic, 
              the prizegiving, and perhaps a concert. The 1897 picnic was described by 
              ‘Our Own’ (19/3/97). On a beautiful day children, parents and friends 
              gathered in Mr Webby's paddock for races, games and feasting that lasted 
              till 6 o'clock. A dance for the older children followed in the evening. In 
              prizegiving the school followed the common 
Wanganui district practice:

            
On the subject of prizegiving this district is quite ‘old-fashioned.’ At almost 
              every school there is the grand fête day, on which the diligent and deserving 
              of the school are presented with the rewards of their excellence. It is 
              undoubtedly a memorable day to the young prize-winners. Besides the 
              benefit to the pupils, the old custom of prizegiving is the means of 
              introducing choice literature into many homes which would otherwise be bookless.

26

            
But looming over all was the annual examination day. The 
Farmer 
              children's letters show that the date was seared on their minds. ‘We will have 
              our examination on 8 May,’ wrote Charlie McCutchan (
Farmer, May 1893). 
              ‘We are going to have our examination on the first of June,’ wrote Jeannie 
              Taylor (
Farmer, July 1901), and a few weeks later her sister Eunice reported:

            


            
‘I am glad to say that we all passed our exam.’ When the examination day 
              came it was a long one, often running on till 6pm,

27 and it was followed by 
              anxious waiting to see if one's name made the pass list. Few but the better 
              scholars wrote to the 
Farmer and most made their school standard an 
              important part of their self-description.

            
We turn now to the conflict between school and milking shed, which 
              developed in the later 1890s. The 
Farmer letters show that milking was a 
              large element in many 
Kaponga children's lives. In a June 1898 letter Jeannie 
              Taylor, then a nine-year-old, told of their herd of 43 cows and wrote: ‘I hurt 
              my hand with milking.’ Presumably the work had proved to be beyond her 
              strength but, as we saw in her January 1901 letter, as a 12-year-old she had 
              been able to perform valiantly for some special occasion on ‘Prince of Wales’ 
              birthday—up at 3.30am, and at night milking 15 cows. Several 
Kaponga 
              pupils mentioned quite heavy regular milking loads. We have seen that Guy 
              Mellow (10 years, Standard 3) was milking 10 cows in a herd of 86. Looking 
              forward to the 1895–96 season, Frank Hemingway of Standard 4 was 
              expecting to milk 12 to 14 cows in a herd of about 60 (
Farmer, November 
              1995). Some of these children must have had more time in the milking shed 
              each day than at school.

            
The effects of dairy industry ‘child slavery’ on schooling in the 
              
Wanganui board's district were first brought into the open when Georg 
              Hurley of Manaia told his fellow members at their November 1897 meeting 
              of

            
… a most reprehensible practice of sweating in the dairying districts. He had 
              been informed by a teacher in one of the schools that one of the boys had to 
              get up at 4.30 in the morning, milk 16 cows, and after doing other work was 
              sent to school. The teacher said she had frequently seen the lad sitting on a 
              log asleep while the other children were playing. After school the boy had to 
              milk the same number of cows again, and then learn his lessons for school, 
              getting to bed about 10 o'clock…. the system of swearing was worse 
              because of the relationship between the victims and those who were 
              responsible for the sweating.
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This raised little immediate response. The press reported Hurley's 
              fellow members as ‘somewhat surprised’, but neither they, the 
Wanganui 
              newspaper editors, nor the public raised any protest. Only the 
Patea County 
                Press took the matter up, averring that the facts were widely known but that 
              children could expect no help from Seddonism since they did not have the 
              vote. However, at its meeting of 18 January 1898 the board accepted 
              MacLean's explanation that children overworked in dairying had caused his 
              school's poor 1897 examination results, and expressed its regret that such a 
              state of things should exist.

29

            
The following month the board's inspectors took the matter up in their 
              report on 1897, describing it as a ‘very serious obstacle’ to satisfactory 
              school progress.

            


            
At many schools in the northern portion of the district the pupils appeared 
              thoroughly tired and worn out at the very beginning of the work on the 
              examination day, and some actually fell asleep while writing. But this cannot 
              be wondered at when it is remembered that these children were up at about 
              4 a.m., milked several cows and did other farm work, and then had to wash 
              and dress, get breakfast, and ride or walk some distance to school. We have 
              come across children from six to twelve years old who milked as many cows 
              morning and afternoon as they could count years in their lives…. We often 
              sorely pitied them, but an Inspector cannot make distinctions.

30

            
At the next annual examination of 
Kaponga School, on 26–27 October 
              1898, the inspector reported that ‘a boy only 12 years old was pointed out 
              to me who milks 18 cows every morning before coming to school’.
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The government must have wondered what it could, or should, do. 
              Regulating adult working hours through labour legislation was one thing; 
              entering the amorphous, intimate world of the farming family was quite 
              another. Apparently a small investigation was decided on, leading to the 
              appearance in the June 1898 
Journal of the Department of Labour of a page 
              with a ‘Return Showing the Number of Children Engaged in Milking in 
              Nine Schools in Waimate District, Taranaki’. There were in fact 10 schools 
              in this district, and the figures show that the largest, Manaia, was the one 
              left out. How, or by whom, the investigation was conducted is not indicated. 
              A Taranaki item in the January 1898 
New Zealand Schoolmaster shows that 
              the timing must have been towards the end of 1897, at the height of the 
              milking season:

            
The chairman of the Matapu School Committee writes that his children came 
              home from school stating they had been catechised as to how they spend 
              their time at home, what time they arise in the morning, and who milks the 
              cows. A mother writes complaining of her children having the same questions 
              put to them; other parents are complaining.

            
A footnote to the table estimate that these schools had a total roll of 
              700. 
Kaponga School had a roll of 101 at its 1897 examination. Assuming 
              that 
Kaponga was in line with the overall pattern of these schools, what does 
              the return tell us? The table gives breakdowns by age groups for the number 
              of cows milked (131 pupils), and for their time of rising (116 pupils). It 
              shows that less than 7 per cent of the milkers were under 10 (over 51 per 
              cent of the pupils in the board's schools were in this age group); and that 
              just under 60 per cent of them were over 12 (26 per cent of pupils were in 
              this age group). Clearly most parents had resisted committing younger 
              children to milking. But milking did involve long hours and early rising. Of 
              the 116 tabulated, 68 were rising before 5am, and three of these were aged 
              under 10. These pupils were probably averaging about five hours a day in 
              the sheds. A footnote to the table estimates that 30 per cent of the milkers 
              were girls and suggests that 41 per cent of boys ‘at given ages’ were milking.

            


            
With its table the 
Journal made the brief comment:

            
Either from the point of view of those who wish to see the future citizens of 
              our colony grow up strong and hardy, or from the position of those who 
              wish children to bring clear minds and unrired bodies to school, the state of 
              affairs such a return reveals is most unsatisfactory.

            
It was no doubt right that parents should have been made aware that 
              they answered to public opinion in their use of child milkers. But this child 
              labour must be seen in the perspective of the economic and social realities 
              of the time. The towns, too, had their child labour, with many milk delivery 
              boys rising as early as the rural milkers.

32 The rural child milkers would in 
              general have been well fed, well housed and well clothed. They were sharing 
              in a family enterprise in which most members willingly paid the price of a 
              more hopeful future. Such work, enriched with social meaning, provides experience that contributes to the development of a sense of social worth.

            
These children's experience contrasted strongly with that of many of 
              their British contemporaries. In an official English report of 1884 Dr James 
              Crichton-Browne, a leading medical authority, found:

            
Much dullness at school was due to hunger… At a Clerkenwell board 
              school up to 40 per cent of pupils might come without breakfast. At another 
              school poverty-stricken mothers, such as charwomen and flowers-sellers, 
              would turn up on the premises during school hours, bringing morsels they 
              had been able to buy with their meagre earnings that day. He found 
              poignancy in the sight of forlorn and half-starved children in class. [The 
              following pages show that these conditions continued into the 20th century.]
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7 Episodes, the 1890s

          

            
The Drowning of Patrick O'Connor

            
On Wednesday, 30 November 1892, an inquest was held in the Commercial 
              Hotel into the death of Patrick O'Connor, whose body had been found in 
              the Otakeho River the previous day. Charles Major JP was the coroner, 
              there was a jury of six, and four settlers gave evidence. Patrick O'Connor 
              had been one of the newcomers toiling on the settlement frontier, in his case 
              on two sections at Makaka. William Slattery testified that he had had a 
              bushfelling contract with O'Connor and was living with him in his whare. 
              At about 2pm on Sunday, 27 November, O'Connor had left the whare to 
              go and look at some fires. He was expecting to return by nightfall, but did not.

            
O'Connor had, in fact, made his way eastwards along Opunake Road, 
              to its junction with Mangawhero Road. Here Daniel Hughes had a section 
              and O'Connor found him at home in his whare. Robert Dawbin was also 
              visiting Hughes and testified that he last saw O'Connor alive there at 6pm 
              on Sunday. Daniel Hughes said he had pressed O'Connor to stay the night, 
              apparently because it was raining and the rivers were rising, but O'Connor 
              was in a hurry to get home. So Hughes lent him an oilskin and he left about 
              7pm. Hughes believed O'Connor would have reached the Otakeho River 
              about dark. Slattery told of going to look for O'Connor the next morning 
              but failing to find him. On Tuesday a search party, which included Hughes, 
              Dawbin and Constable Henry Salmon, found the body in the stream, the 
              coat entangled in the roots of logs. They concluded that in crossing the 
              flooded river in the failing light O'Connor had slipped, and probably been 
              stunned, otherwise he should have been able to get out of the water. 
              Constable Salmon said that O'Connor's watch had stopped at 7.50pm. The 
              jury's verdict was ‘accidentally drowned’.

            
This straightforward little tragedy gives some glimpses into frontier 
              settler life. The Sunday day of rest has allowed O'Connor to enjoy some 
              casual social life. Having gone out to look at fires he takes the opportunity 
              to fraternise with these two neighbours. Meanwhile, however, the weather 
              has been changing. There is some poignancy in the way friendliness 
              contributes to the tragedy. His enjoyment of Hughes's company leads 
              O'Connor to stay late, while his concern for Slattery, who was expecting
              


              him back, accounts for his turning down of Hughes's neighbourly offer of 
              a bed for the night. Hughes's generosity extends to his loan of the oilskin. 
              O'Connor may have lacked experience of the rapid rise of freshes as rain 
              breaks over 
Egmont, and the early fading of the light with the rainclouds 
              may have been the final element leading to disaster.

          

          

            
‘Gunpowder's’ Bush Fire Ballad

            

              
The 
Star of 10 March 1894 devoted well over a column to a doggerel ballad 
              that appears to be a settler's off-the-cuff reaction to the fires that gave the 
              
Kaponga settlers ‘a warm time from Wednesday until Sunday’, 21–25 
              February 1894. ‘Gunpowder's’ ballad seems to be a deliberate imitation of 
              Kipling's 
Barrack-room Ballads (first published April 1892). He first 
              sketches the frontier clearing on a Saturday morning. Settler Jack and his 
              wife Jane dispatch their ‘little nipper Ben’ to the store six miles away, then 
              complete the morning's chores and are sitting down ‘a-takin' of a spell’ 
              when a bush fire rages down upon them. In telling of the tremendous fight 
              to save their house and shed Jack highlights his wife's courage:

              

                
I've heard tell o' deeds o' soldierin' an' bravery done in war


                
But a woman workin' in a bush-fire is somethin' to adore.


                
It mayn't be woman's work but one who'll help her husband guard the home


                
She is to be beloved an' loved and famed in a stirrin' Kipling poem


                
You townsmen don't know what it is hemmed in by fire an' smoke


                
An' a-beatin' out the fire by woman's hand's a very ghastly joke,


                
But one who'll do it is a martyr, an' a heroine as well


                
An' as brave as the bravest red-coat that e'er in action fell!
              

              
The poem's last words show the link with the recent bush fires: ‘Jane 
              an’ me that Saturday '94 fire we never will forget.’ We will examine the 
              earlier part of the poem before sketching briefly its further incident 
              concerning the boy Ben.

            

            

              

A Bush Fire


              (Ignited by ‘Gunpowder’)


              
The Settler's Tale

              

                
We'd about a-finished milkin', an' the time was just on ten,


                
An' I sez to Jane my wife, 'We'll send to the store our little nipper Ben,


                
We're nearly out o' sugar, an' I want a pound o' nails,


                
An' the weekly STAR besides, to read the reg'lar auction sales.'


                
'Don't forget my baccy, lad,' (I likes my pipe jus' now an' then)


                
An' he trotted off jus' joyfully, and sez, 'Dad, I'll soon be back agen.'


                
Ben 'd bin gone an hour or so—the store was six mile away—


                
An' wife and me had fed the calves, an' fixed 'em for the day.


                
We'd worked hard on that section, a-choppin', burnin' wood,


                
An' we'd a sort o' got things ship-shape, as well as what we could.


                


                
The house, it warn't much—'twas slab an' shingle top;


                
But 'twas all we could afford, for at debt we'd allers stop.


                
Our fencin' was dog-leg—not very han'som, true—


                
We hadn't the money to buy wire, an' we made the stick-fence do.


                
She helped to fix that fence up, an' in the dwellin' built the hobs,


                
An she'd allers have her hand in a-doin' little handy jobs.


                
She it was as planned the cowshed, an' me as carried 'em out,


                
An' the architect, she was handy round to see 'em fixed up stout.


                
An' them there instalments, too, at times they bothered me in a mighty way,


                
But she'd allers show me, in her style, how we'd find a means to pay.


                
An' now we'd things a kind o' straight, an' a pound or two we'd got,


                
(But we'd worked hard for it, an' we was allers on the spot);


                
An' to-day we was a-sittin' down, a-takin of a spell,


                
An' there came a sound upon us, an' both our spirits fell.


                
‘Good God, the bush is a-fire!’—our clearin' was in flames—


                
The fire had kem from that bush jus' felled by neighbor James.


                
The smoke kem down upon us, and the fire at lightnin' rate it sped,


                
An' the wind was blowin' the flames straight onter our seed-shed.


                
In it we had our cocksfoot stored, safe from wind an' rain.


                
(But we never reckoned on that fire to rob us of our gain.)


                
Jane sez to me, ‘Jack, take this bag, an' don't think o' havin' a spell,


                
An' knock the fire out, an' I'll bring you water from the well.'


                
She gev me one look an' I felt I had the power


                
To knock creation out o' sparks (even if they fell in a shower).


                
I set to work with the heart of a lion, an' pounded with that bag,


                
An' I sez to the fire, ‘You fiend, this time you've struck an awk'ard snag!'


                
She brought the water to me an' I threw it first on house, then shed;


                
Then with the drippin' bag I welted till my sight it a'most fled.


                
The fire it was all round us, ravenous without sham,


                
For it had the awful hunger of a six-foot-four hired man.


                
We worked like fury for two hours a-drivin' back the flames,


                
But they went on gleefully, a-carryin' on their fast-destroyin' games.


                
Jus' then the wind turned round, an' it drove the fire away,


                
An' it scooted down the road—it seem'd it had some debts to pay!


                
****


                
I rushed to Jane when the wind turn'd round—she was an awk'ard sight:


                
She was burnt an' singed, an' her dress it looked a second-hand pedlar's right.


                
‘We beat the fire this time,’ she said, ‘an' saved the buildin' an shed,’


                
An' my thoughts ran back to the day when she an' me was wed.


                
Our fencin' an' grass were ashes, an' all around was black,


                
An' what with smoke an' my losses, my head with pain did rack…
              

              
It is plausible to take this as based on the writer's own recent experiences, with the storyline somewhat hyped up. If so the setting is probably 
                the 
Kaponga district's northern fringe, possibly in the Mahoe area. It seems
                


                these settlers are not supplying a factory or creamery. Following a late finish 
                to milking ‘just on ten’ (though the 10 o'clock finish may owe quite a deal 
                to the rhyme with ‘Ben’) the couple feed the calves and then work on 
                clearing, with no mention of carting the milk away. The primitive pioneer 
                stage is further indicated by the dog-leg fencing and the slab and shingle 
                house. Besides the house they have a shed for their cocksfoot seed, and a 
                cowshed. Though it is not indicated, we probably should infer butter-making. Since no dairy is mentioned part of the house must have been used
                for setting the milk and churning the cream.

              
A striking feature of the ballad is Jack's deep admiration for Jane's 
                contribution to their enterprise and his acceptance of her leadership. She 
                helps with clearing, fence-building and milking. She has built the hobs in 
                the house, and no doubt uses them to set the dough out to rise for a weekly 
                baking of bread. But she also has an important management role, handling 
                the finances and designing the cowshed. When the bush fire strikes it is she 
                who gives the orders and directs the strategy. Why has this amateur poet 
                broken with the custom of seeing the world from an adult male vantage 
                point? Perhaps he has been moved by the example of Kipling's giving ‘credit 
                where credit is due’ in such 
Barrack-room Ballads poems as ‘Fuzzy-Wuzzy’ 
                and ‘Gunga Din’.

              
The poem's second incident begins with Jane suddenly remembering 
                their son:

              

                
I never'll forget her look an' words ‘God help Ben—we'll never see him more,


                
He'll be comin' home now, an be more'n half-way from the store!'


                
My headache left in a flash, an' I thought o' that poor boy


                
A-comin' home with his packages, an' allers full o' joy.


                
‘God grant he'll not be caught,' I prayed, then started down the road…
              

              
There follows a sentimental account of Jack's battle through smoke, 
                flames and falling trees hunting for his ‘darling boy’. At last he hears a 
                childish cry and finds first old Lucy the horse, who has died after falling 
                upon a rimu limb, and then:

              

                
A yard or so behind her a little bundle lay of a heap—


                
My boy—my Ben—my pride! I picked him up. He seemed asleep.
              

              
Jack carries the unconscious Ben back through the fire to their hut, 
                where Jane is waiting at the door:

              

                
An' she took Ben from me an' sez, ‘Thank God, you've saved the child!'


                
We put him on the sofa, an' softened his skin with cream


                
An' we waited, wonderin' how long he'd be, a-comin' out o' his dream.


                
He breathed so soft at first, and then it harder rose,


                
An' he opened his eyes an' sez, ‘Dad, the old mare fell on her nose,


                
I got the sugar, baccy, an' nails, an' EGMONT STAR as well,


                
An' I 'spect you'll find 'em ‘bout the place where poor old Lucy fell.'
              

              


              
So all ends happily. This vivid glimpse inside frontier life calls for a 
                number of comments. It should help to warn us that it is unwise to carry 
                the period's adult male dominance of the public record into the daily 
                experience of farm and family life. Jane, Jack and Ben interact as team 
                members on an equal footing, with deep mutual affection and loyalty, and 
                with the location of initiative and leadership emerging from the changing 
                situations, related to individual gifts and skills. We must be wary of taking 
                
a priori views on family relationships to our study of this rural world. 
                However, the story 
is told from Jack's viewpoint, and the ballad thus reflects 
                issues that were dominant in the mind of this settler father.

              
Clearly economic realities were a major concern. ‘Them instalments’ 
                that bothered him will have been the recurrent deferred payments due on 
                his land. When the fire swoops upon them Jack's most vivid simile for its 
                raging is an economic one—it is ‘ravenous’ with ‘the awful hunger of a six-foot-four hired man’. The fire battle won, his head racks with pain as he
                considers his fire losses. Through shifting to the Ben episode the ballad fails 
                to explore these losses. It does not tell us how the cows and calves fared in 
                the fire. With grass and fencing in ashes the husbandry of the section must 
                be facing a dire crisis. But the ballad's shift to Ben, and the prominent place 
                given to Jane throughout, show that family affection carries equal weight 
                with the economic struggle in this settler's mind. Of course, in terms of lived 
                reality, these two profound concerns—farm and family—are deeply 
                interwoven. Each member of the team expresses their affection for the 
                others through their commitment to the common enterprise. Thus Ben's 
                words that end the poem express both his satisfaction in a task carried 
                through under great difficulties and his affection for his father.

            

          

          

            
The Piteous Death of a Servant Girl

            
We move next to a well-developed home and farm on the fringe of 
Kaponga 
              township for the sad story of a servant girl's suicide by poisoning. This 
              episode complements the previous two by taking us inside a more well-to-do settler home. It also gives us glimpses of the more intimate side of life as 
              a rather socially isolated young woman wrestles with the dilemma of an 
              unwanted pregnancy in the context of the taboos of the time. The story in 
              brief outline is as follows.

1

            
In late November 1896 22-year-old Essie Mason took employment as 
              a housemaid with Emma and John Melville,* who farmed just west of 
              
Kaponga, on the north-west corner of the junction of the Eltham and 
              Melville roads. The household also included a boy milker, William 
              Robertson, son of an Inglewood labourer. The Melvilles' 25-year-old 
              bachelor son Bert had left the district for 
Auckland, seemingly some time 
              after Essie joined the household. Essie Mason had a brother, William Mason, 
              a settler living at Opunake. The only other of her relatives mentioned was 
              her father, on the West Australian gold fields. Around the time she came to
              


              the Melvilles' Essie became pregnant, by whom was not established. There 
              was a rumour, strongly denied by the Melvilles, that their son Bert had been 
              ‘keeping company’ with Essie. On the morning of Thursday, 22 April 1897, 
              some five months after joining the household, Essie became suddenly ill and 
              she died in agony about five hours later. The inquest jury reached the 
              conclusion that she died of self-administered poison. We will rearrange the 
              evidence so as to unfold the story in chronological order.

            
In late January Essie borrowed a horse from the Melvilles and was away 
              about seven hours. She did not say where she had been. Was she following 
              up the other party to the pregnancy? Her brother William mentioned seeing 
              her about early March, but had not seen her again until the evening before 
              her death. On 6 April Paul Peacock, manager of the 
Kaponga branch of the 
              chemist's business of R.W. Hornby of Manaia, sold Essie some ‘Death to 
              Rats' poison. He probably thought she was purchasing on her employers' 
              behalf but they denied all knowledge of the transaction. This matter did not 
              come to light at the initial meeting of the inquest. Peacock testified that 
              when she made the purchase Essie ‘appeared in best state of mind, jolly and 
              free’.

            
The picture one builds up of Essie from the inquest evidence is that she 
              was ‘a very strong healthy girl’ of ‘a determined disposition’. John Melville 
              commented that ‘she was very reserved’, but also that ‘she was always jolly’ 
              and two other witnesses commented that she was ‘in her usual spirits’ the 
              evening before her death. She was literate as she maintained a correspondence with her father. She seems to have been given a fairly free hand in her 
              work in the Melville household and her employers did not impose, nor did 
              she adopt, a servile attitude. Emma Melville became suspicious that Essie 
              was pregnant and asked her several times if this was so, but ‘she was silent 
              on the matter, and would not own to or deny it’.

            
We move now to the week of the tragedy. On the Tuesday evening 
              William Robertson, the young milker, was in the township and at the post 
              office was given two letters with ‘some swans on the stamps’ for Essie. He 
              gave them to Emma Melville, who passed them on to Essie. At the inquest 
              John Melville qualified his description of Essie as ‘always jolly’ by saying 
              that after she received these letters she ‘seemed quite changed’. Western 
              
Australia had swans on its stamps and there is a little mystery about these 
              letters. Robertson said he got the letters at Mr Harwood's, and storekeeper 
              Harwood was postmaster for some three years from February 1896. But 
              rival storekeeper George Tindle gave evidence that

            
… I do not remember any letters coming for the girl except those from 
              Coolgardie. Letters from Coolgardie usually come through my store. I think 
              there was one letter from Coolgardie came through me for deceased on 
              Tuesday. She was in my store on Tuesday night.

            
It seems that Essie received three letters from 
Western Australia that 
              day. The investigating constable produced a bundle of letters from Essie's
              


              room at the inquest, but commented that ‘they contain nothing of 
              importance’, so the ones she received that Tuesday cannot have been among 
              them.

            
The following evening (Wednesday) Essie received a visit from her 
              brother. Both the brother and John Melville gave evidence on this. Melville 
              said:

            
The last time I saw the girl was on Wednesday night, when her brother 
              [William Mason] came to see her. She said, oh! is it you? When I went inside 
              the brother was inside on the sofa. I asked him to have something to eat or 
              drink. He said no; he wanted to see someone working at the crusher. Her 
              brother went outside, and [Essie] followed him out. She came in and asked 
              me for the loan of a pound for her brother. I gave it to her, and she went out 
              again. She was gone a couple of hours. When she came in I saw there was a 
              big change in her. I said, have you been having a good gossip. She said she 
              had been talking to her brother, and said no more.

            
William Mason gave this account:

            
Saw her last alive on Wednesday night last. Saw no difference in her 
              appearance. She said she had a letter from her father from Coolgardie. I knew 
              nothing about her condition. I was talking to her for about three-quarters of 
              an hour. I left her at the gate. Did not tell me she was in trouble, but 
              appeared in her usual spirits. Left her at the gate. Noticed a far away look 
              about her eyes. I asked her if there was anything the matter. She did not 
              answer me.

            
On the Thursday morning, according to Emma Melville, Essie was up 
              early as usual, called the milk boy, and lit the fire for breakfast. ‘From my 
              bedroom,’ Emma reported:

            
I heard her in the scullery making a noise, as if stirring something in a cup. I 
              then got up and went into the kitchen. She poured out my cup of tea. She sat 
              at the end of the table, and remarked she felt sick. I said, what made you sick, 
              [Essie]? She got up and went into the garden. About a quarter of an hour 
              after I heard her retching, and I went to her bedroom and found her on the 
              floor, retching into a chamber. This was a little after 7 a.m.

            
As the retching continued Emma became increasingly suspicious that 
              Essie had taken poison, but could get no answer from her. Meanwhile John 
              Melville and the boy were busy with the milking and knew nothing of the 
              unfolding tragedy. Fortuitously Emma's 15-year-old grand-daughter, 
              Charlotte White, arrived on an errand. Emma left Essie with Charlotte and 
              went for help. It was not to her husband that she turned, but to storekeeper 
              George Tindle. Tindle reported that Emma called about 10.30am ‘in a very 
              nervous state’, asking advice about sending to Manaia for Dr Pairman. 
              Tindle asked if he could see the girl before doing so. When he saw Essie in 
              bed he detected a peculiar smell in the room. He pressed her about taking
              


              poison but she denied it. He went off to wire for Dr Pairman. Emma 
              described how Essie's ordeal ended:

            
She then knocked and asked me for some more water, and I gave it to her. 
              She drank it. She threw her arms up and screamed, ‘[Mrs Melville], I'm dying, 
              I'm dying.’ I ran out and screamed for someone to come, but no one came 
              and I went back and held her until she died. She died some two or three 
              minutes after she threw her arms over her head.

            
Tindle handed the telegram to the postmaster at about 10.55am. He also 
              called at the chemist's but found that he was away in Manaia. Neither Tindle 
              nor Emma thought of giving Essie an emetic.

            
John Melville told of knowing nothing of the crisis until after Essie's 
              death. After milking he went to the factory between 8 and 9am. When he 
              got back he found the boy at the gate ‘going for a message’. He made the 
              boy help him with the cans. At some stage the boy had had breakfast 
              without seeing Essie. John Melville must also have snatched a breakfast, 
              though this was not mentioned in the evidence. According to Tindle, after 
              unloading the cans Melville went off to get timber from the mill. The boy 
              left on his delayed errand, which apparently was a request from Emma for 
              Tindle to come, as the girl seemed to be dying. Tindle and John Melville 
              arrived back at the house at about the same time, to find that Essie was dead.

            
Dr Pairman did not get the telegram till 1pm. He set out for 
Kaponga 
              but on the journey was informed that the girl was dead and went back. 
              When the Manaia constable, Henry Salmon, got home that evening he found 
              a message about the death. Accompanied by William Mason he went to 
              inspect the body and the scene that night and concluded that the girl had 
              died in great agony. He returned next morning with Dr Pairman, who 
              conducted a post mortem, on which he gave evidence at the inquest

            
… I found all the organs of the body healthy, but the stomach was very 
              much inflamed as if there had been an irritant poison there. The inside of the 
              stomach was empty with the exception of a substance about the size of a 
              pigeon's egg resembling putty … The stomach looked like one would expect 
              to find after a dose of arsenic. All the other organs except the stomach, were 
              quite healthy. I examined the womb; there was no sign of any illegal 
              operation. There was a child there a little over five months old. I cannot say 
              what was the cause of death until the stomach is analysed.

            
The body was also examined by Dr Harrison of Eltham, who concurred 
              with Dr Pairman's evidence.

            
The inquest, with C.E. Major as coroner and a jury of six, began at the 
              Commercial Hotel at 3pm on Saturday and at 9pm adjourned until 11 May 
              to allow for the government analyst's report on the stomach contents to be 
              received. On 11 May the inquest received the analyst's report, and also the 
              evidence of chemist's assistant Peacock about the sale of the rat poison. After 
              a long consultation the jury returned the verdict that ‘Essie Mason came to
              


              her death on 22nd April by taking poison known as “Death to Rats”. They 
              added a rider:

            
The jury are of the opinion Mrs Melville might have administered an emetic 
              or called help earlier; and the jury wished to express their great dissatisfaction 
              with Wm Mason for the manner in which he gave his evidence. The jury wish 
              to refer with pleasure to the manner in which Constable Salmon worked up 
              the case and gave his evidence.

            
It may be useful first to speculate briefly on some of the enigmas of the 
              evidence. We will then discuss Essie Mason's dilemma in the context of 
              contemporary attitudes in sexual matters and follow this with comments on 
              this mature settler home and its community context in the light of the episode.

            
The jury's long consultation and the rider to their verdict suggest that 
              they either knew or suspected that the evidence did not contain the whole 
              truth and that they were convinced that William Mason had perjured 
              himself, though they were not prepared to involve themselves in making 
              that charge. They may also have been deliberately protecting George Tindle, 
              who may well have known much more than he told. The suicide seems to 
              have been precipitated by the arrival of the letters from 
Australia—John 
              Melville certainly thought this was the case. Essie must have had two (or 
              more) correspondents in 
Western Australia: one was writing to her at the 
              
Kaponga post office, another care of Tindle. I can offer only speculation on 
              these letters. From William Mason's evidence one of Essie's correspondents 
              was her father. I presume that one or both of the letters that the boy brought 
              home for her on Tuesday evening were from her father. If both were from 
              him he may have posted one, then received a ‘startling’ letter from her and 
              replied in time to catch the same mail. Having received these letters from 
              her father on ‘Tuesday evening’ Essie knew that a Western Australian mail 
              was in and hurried to Tindle's store on ‘Tuesday night’ when Tindle thought 
              there was a letter from Coolgardie ‘for deceased’. One possibility is that this 
              letter was from Essie's lover, who was also in 
Western Australia. We may 
              presume that there was no help for Essie's dilemma in any of these letters.

            
William Mason's visit on Wednesday night may also have arisen from 
              his having heard from 
Australia by the same mail. From John Melville's 
              evidence it would seem that Essie was not expecting her brother, so she 
              cannot have sent for him. Her talk with him must have merely reinforced 
              the ‘bad news’ her letters had brought. I suggest that George Tindle knew 
              more than he told. If he was distributing letters from Coolgardie through 
              his store this must have been arranged by the senders, so he must have 
              known who they were. He seems to have deliberately ‘generalised’ this 
              matter, and been ‘vague’ in that he only ‘thought’ there was a letter came 
              through him for Essie on the Tuesday. One wonders why he was not 
              interrogated on this matter. His contention that he did not know that Essie 
              was pregnant is not convincing. If, as she reported, Emma Melville thought 
              from her observations that Essie was seven or eight months pregnant, it
              


              must surely have been obvious to Tindle when Essie was in his store on 
              Tuesday evening. A village storekeeper who missed seeing such evidence 
              before his eyes, and utterly failed to pick up the gossip going the rounds, 
              would be a very unusual storekeeper indeed. Emma Melville's turning to 
              Tindle in the crisis of Thursday morning surely had some basis that did not 
              come out at the inquest.

            
The other main area of speculation concerns the Melvilles' son, 25-year-old Bert. Emma told the jury:

            
my son Bert had never to my knowledge resided in my house during the 
              time deceased was in my employment. Never saw them go up to town 
              together….There was no truth in the rumour that my son was engaged to 
              be married to deceased. I do not know my son had walked out with deceased.

            
From John Melville:

            
My son Bert was never keeping company with deceased. I never saw them 
              together. No one ever told me she was keeping company with my son Bert. 
              He was never at home alone with the girl.

            
Essie's brother gave evidence that on the Wednesday evening she told him 
              that Bert had gone to 
Auckland and that the Melvilles hadn't heard from 
              him since. Were the rumours about Bert based merely on propinquity and 
              coincidence in his move to 
Auckland, or had they firmer grounds?

            
On the far side of a revolution in attitudes relating to sex it is difficult 
              for us to imagine Essie Mason's dilemma in its context of the contemporary 
              mind. A few quotations on the state of morals from Robert Cecil's 
Life in 
                Edwardian England (
London, 1969) may help to bridge the years.

            
Fear of the flesh led to swaddling of women in clothes from throat to instep; 
              but natural desire insinuated itself and beneath the dense coverings fashion 
              emphasised the bust and the bustle … Bustles might draw attention to 
              bottoms, but the word must never be spoken. Gwen Raverat records how her 
              sister, on hearing a recitation of Cowper's 
Epitaph on a Hare, inquired, 
              ‘What's a rump?’ Silence fell on the company, but an aunt afterwards 
              explained, ‘I thought I ought to tell you that the rump is the back part of an 
              animal, but it is a word you must never, never use.’ (pp. 
157–
58)

            
… as in all ages of chivalry, a man was led to make a firm distinction 
              between ‘a pure woman’, who bore his children, and ‘a light woman’, with 
              whom sex was fun. The distinction resulted in prostitution on a grand scale, 
              (p. 
158)

            
If there was no sex education for the young … there was certainly 
              conditioning of the minds of girls. Unhappy wives often conveyed to their 
              daughters an obscure sense of resignation before Man the Beast and 
              counselled them, when they too became wives, to tolerate his love-making as 
              best they might. (p. 
161)

            
The conspiracy of silence about sex extended to the body and all its
              


              functions. In general girls fared worse than boys. If parents hid the maps and 
              protested that the world was flat, boys who were prepared to defy them 
              could go out and see for themselves. But for girls the unexplored territory 
              was peopled with demons, carefully put there—often with the best 
              intentions—not only by fathers, but by mothers, nurses, governesses and 
              school-mistresses as well. (pp. 
162–
63)

            
Essie, for reasons unknown, was without the counsel of a mother or 
              other female relative. Apparently she had no close girlfriends of her own 
              age as none was called to give evidence. A reserved girl, she had yet 
              somehow to establish contact with the opposite sex in order to ‘achieve’ 
              marriage, the one obvious way for her to move up from servant status. No 
              doubt ill-prepared for such ventures she had blundered, and found herself 
              disastrously trapped. Her refusal to admit her condition may have been 
              due to fear of losing her position and lack of any strategy for dealing with 
              such an outcome. We may wonder why the Melvilles did not take the 
              opportunity of Essie's brother's visit on the Wednesday evening to bring the 
              issue into the open and have some answer to the problem thrashed out. The 
              evidence they gave leads one to feel that the taboos were so strong that even 
              this married couple avoided talking the matter over together. In their rider 
              criticising Emma Melville's tardiness the jury had nothing to say on the 
              taboos that hampered this distraught woman. The male ‘head’ of this 
              household received no criticism, although his claim that the crisis unfolded 
              under his very nose without his being aware of it is hard to credit.

            
Essie's brother, of course, received the main condemnation. The jury 
              cannot have believed his contention that he ‘knew nothing about her 
              condition’. He told them he talked to her for about three-quarters of an 
              hour, but John Melville said she was out with him for ‘a couple of hours’. 
              He said he had asked her if she would go over to 
Australia with him and 
              that she had said she would think about it, but he did not say why they were 
              discussing such a trip. The jury were probably angry with William on two 
              counts. They must have been convinced that his conversation with his sister 
              had in fact been about her ‘condition’. And, from the viewpoint of their 
              male-dominated world, it had been William's responsibility, as the only 
              available male family member, to take charge of the situation and sort it out. 
              It would seem that Essie had taken what would, for the times, have been 
              considered the correct actions. She would know that she had forfeited all 
              claims on ‘respectable’ society. Her only hope lay in family, where authority 
              resided with the males. The hedge of taboos prevented her from discussing 
              her problem elsewhere. Having turned to her father through the post and 
              to her brother when he called, and apparently found neither sympathy nor 
              help, this tragically trapped young woman could see no alternative to the 
              desperate remedy she had been brooding on for weeks.

            
The unsatisfactory final word on this sad episode was left to a male jury 
              sitting with a male coroner. Of course there was no way in which 
Kaponga
              


              could, on its own, have begun to develop a new moral conscience and code 
              of behaviour. That Essie should have been trapped into inflicting an agonising rodent's death on herself was an obscenity. But similar obscenities were 
              occurring across the western world, and sensitive minds were beginning to 
              challenge the conventions that gave rise to them. If ‘Gunpowder's’ ballad 
              was inspired by Kipling's 
Barrack-room Ballads of 1892, Essie's tragedy 
              recalls 
Tess of the d'Urbervilles of 1893, 
Thomas Hardy's bold challenge to 
              the sexual mores of his time. In moves such as the Married Women's 
              Property Acts and the extension of the franchise to women the New 
              Zealand community had shown a capacity to move somewhat ahead of the 
              world of its origins. But the mores of a culture are deep-rooted, and at the 
              everyday level of attitudes and actions 
Kaponga shared a common world 
              with Wessex. This meant that 
Kaponga could expect to endure similar 
              tragedies, but also to be able to respond to the worldwide challenges that 
              sensitive minds were making to the destructive conventions.

            
There is a striking contrast between the close working together of 
              ‘Gunpowder's’ frontier family and the separate house and farm programmes 
              of the Melvilles. Probably for most established settlers the daily routine was 
              more like that of the Melvilles than of Jack, Jane and Ben. The work had 
              been divided into a farm routine directed by the husband and a home one 
              directed by the wife, and help had been hired for both. They were aging, 
              and both the division of labour and the buying in of help would have been 
              designed to lighten their load. Reading the everyday patterns that underlay 
              the emerging tragedy one senses an hospitable household where Essie had 
              been made to feel at home. When her brother called she could invite him 
              in, he made himself at home on the sofa, and John Melville asked him to 
              have something to eat or drink. Later when Essie and William were talking 
              out at the gate she felt quite free to drop back into the house and borrow a 
              pound from John Melville to lend to her brother. Earlier she had been lent 
              the use of a horse for the best part of a day. Emma Melville mentioned that 
              if Essie wanted any wine ‘she could help herself’. Everything points to Essie 
              having been a trusted and valued servant in a society where domestic 
              servants had a scarcity value.

            
The episode throws some light on the wider community, particularly 
              its communication networks. Apart from this incident we could easily have 
              missed the fact that a scatter of 
Kaponga men had joined the Western 
              Australian gold rush. While in the district these more rootless men will have 
              been serviced mainly by Tindle's store, which specialised in ‘packing and 
              carting to all parts of the district’. On leaving for ‘Coolgardie’ it made sense 
              for them to arrange that their mail go to Tindle rather than stay at the post 
              office. Tindle's carts and packhorses would have been able to deliver it 
              around the district, and he would know where to redirect it if their friends 
              should move either within or from the district. He may also have been 
              looking after other of their affairs. This indeed may be why Emma Melville 
              could twice get him to come the kilometre from his store to her home during
              


              the crisis. But here, as elsewhere, the pace of communication was too slow 
              to avert the tragedy. The telegram to Manaia left too late, although whether 
              Dr Pairman was at home or abroad when it arrived is not clear. Certainly 
              Manaia's Constable Salmon was abroad and news of the tragedy awaited 
              him at his home for half a day.

          

          

            
Arthur Coxhead's Thistle Milking Machine

            
By the mid-1890s a number of the more prosperous and adventurous south 
              Taranaki settlers were beginning to explore the potential of the milking 
              machine, at first apparently with little success. In the December 1894 
Farmer 
              its 
Hawera correspondent reported that ‘The milking machines recently set 
              up here have been pronounced a failure and are thrown on one side, and 
              hand labour once more applied.’ But as the machines improved they began 
              to make headway. There was therefore considerable interest when, in the 
              winter of 1897, Arthur Coxhead* of upper Palmer Road, one of the L & 
              M's larger suppliers, decided to switch to machine milking and so became 
              its pioneer in the 
Kaponga district. The Coxheads had come to the district 
              with a school-age family in the autumn of 1892. Arthur took an active part 
              in 
Kaponga social life, becoming involved in the Mutual Improvement 
              Society, the Caledonian Sports, the Horticultural Society, the Dramatic 
              Society and the rugby club. On 19 August 1901 Coxhead, his wife and 
              family were farewelled from the district with a banquet in the town hall. 
              John Robertson, chairman for the occasion, paid tribute to his fine record 
              of service to the community, noting that he had been the prime mover in 
              the erection of the town hall, had been chairman of the school committee 
              and had served on the road board.

            
Of the various milking machines appearing around the world Coxhead 
              chose the Scottish Thistle, which had been put on the British market in 
              1895.

2 In preparation for the machines Coxhead made extensive additions 
              to his sheds and acquired a six-horsepower steam engine. He also disposed 
              of his herd of about 100 cows as it was considered at the time that the 
              introduction of milking machines required young heifers that had never 
              been milked. The 
Star (16/6/97) reported that a number of settlers were 
              watching the enterprise with a view to following Coxhead's lead if it proved 
              a success. Once it was in operation the 

Hawera Morning Post reported on 
              a visit to the new plant:

            
A number of settlers, among whom were some 
Hawera townspeople, the 
              other day visited Mr Coxhead's farm at 
Kaponga to see the practical 
              application of the new Thistle milking machine. Mr Gabites, one of those 
              present, informs us that the result was a complete success–the machine used 
              to milk an unbroken heifer proved its suitableness for that difficult operation, 
              and it was noticed the machine had a soothing effect on this animal, and other 
              cows milked.

3
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Settlers like Coxhead, with the flexibility of mind to study new ways 
              of doing things and the courage to put them to the test, were invaluable in 
              speeding the development of the dairy industry. Coxhead told the 1905 
              Royal Commission on Land Settlement and Tenure:

            
Before coming to the 
North Island I spent a large part of my time in the busy 
              entre of 
Dunedin, and was mixed up with artisans and what may be termed 
              the leaders of the Trades and Labour Councils.

4

            
In 1901 he left 
Kaponga for the new pioneer frontier of the 
              Whangamomona district.
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The Drowning of Patrick O'Connor

            
On Wednesday, 30 November 1892, an inquest was held in the Commercial 
              Hotel into the death of Patrick O'Connor, whose body had been found in 
              the Otakeho River the previous day. Charles Major JP was the coroner, 
              there was a jury of six, and four settlers gave evidence. Patrick O'Connor 
              had been one of the newcomers toiling on the settlement frontier, in his case 
              on two sections at Makaka. William Slattery testified that he had had a 
              bushfelling contract with O'Connor and was living with him in his whare. 
              At about 2pm on Sunday, 27 November, O'Connor had left the whare to 
              go and look at some fires. He was expecting to return by nightfall, but did not.

            
O'Connor had, in fact, made his way eastwards along Opunake Road, 
              to its junction with Mangawhero Road. Here Daniel Hughes had a section 
              and O'Connor found him at home in his whare. Robert Dawbin was also 
              visiting Hughes and testified that he last saw O'Connor alive there at 6pm 
              on Sunday. Daniel Hughes said he had pressed O'Connor to stay the night, 
              apparently because it was raining and the rivers were rising, but O'Connor 
              was in a hurry to get home. So Hughes lent him an oilskin and he left about 
              7pm. Hughes believed O'Connor would have reached the Otakeho River 
              about dark. Slattery told of going to look for O'Connor the next morning 
              but failing to find him. On Tuesday a search party, which included Hughes, 
              Dawbin and Constable Henry Salmon, found the body in the stream, the 
              coat entangled in the roots of logs. They concluded that in crossing the 
              flooded river in the failing light O'Connor had slipped, and probably been 
              stunned, otherwise he should have been able to get out of the water. 
              Constable Salmon said that O'Connor's watch had stopped at 7.50pm. The 
              jury's verdict was ‘accidentally drowned’.

            
This straightforward little tragedy gives some glimpses into frontier 
              settler life. The Sunday day of rest has allowed O'Connor to enjoy some 
              casual social life. Having gone out to look at fires he takes the opportunity 
              to fraternise with these two neighbours. Meanwhile, however, the weather 
              has been changing. There is some poignancy in the way friendliness 
              contributes to the tragedy. His enjoyment of Hughes's company leads 
              O'Connor to stay late, while his concern for Slattery, who was expecting
              


              him back, accounts for his turning down of Hughes's neighbourly offer of 
              a bed for the night. Hughes's generosity extends to his loan of the oilskin. 
              O'Connor may have lacked experience of the rapid rise of freshes as rain 
              breaks over 
Egmont, and the early fading of the light with the rainclouds 
              may have been the final element leading to disaster.
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‘Gunpowder's’ Bush Fire Ballad

            

              
The 
Star of 10 March 1894 devoted well over a column to a doggerel ballad 
              that appears to be a settler's off-the-cuff reaction to the fires that gave the 
              
Kaponga settlers ‘a warm time from Wednesday until Sunday’, 21–25 
              February 1894. ‘Gunpowder's’ ballad seems to be a deliberate imitation of 
              Kipling's 
Barrack-room Ballads (first published April 1892). He first 
              sketches the frontier clearing on a Saturday morning. Settler Jack and his 
              wife Jane dispatch their ‘little nipper Ben’ to the store six miles away, then 
              complete the morning's chores and are sitting down ‘a-takin' of a spell’ 
              when a bush fire rages down upon them. In telling of the tremendous fight 
              to save their house and shed Jack highlights his wife's courage:

              

                
I've heard tell o' deeds o' soldierin' an' bravery done in war


                
But a woman workin' in a bush-fire is somethin' to adore.


                
It mayn't be woman's work but one who'll help her husband guard the home


                
She is to be beloved an' loved and famed in a stirrin' Kipling poem


                
You townsmen don't know what it is hemmed in by fire an' smoke


                
An' a-beatin' out the fire by woman's hand's a very ghastly joke,


                
But one who'll do it is a martyr, an' a heroine as well


                
An' as brave as the bravest red-coat that e'er in action fell!
              

              
The poem's last words show the link with the recent bush fires: ‘Jane 
              an’ me that Saturday '94 fire we never will forget.’ We will examine the 
              earlier part of the poem before sketching briefly its further incident 
              concerning the boy Ben.

            

            

              

A Bush Fire


              (Ignited by ‘Gunpowder’)


              
The Settler's Tale

              

                
We'd about a-finished milkin', an' the time was just on ten,


                
An' I sez to Jane my wife, 'We'll send to the store our little nipper Ben,


                
We're nearly out o' sugar, an' I want a pound o' nails,


                
An' the weekly STAR besides, to read the reg'lar auction sales.'


                
'Don't forget my baccy, lad,' (I likes my pipe jus' now an' then)


                
An' he trotted off jus' joyfully, and sez, 'Dad, I'll soon be back agen.'


                
Ben 'd bin gone an hour or so—the store was six mile away—


                
An' wife and me had fed the calves, an' fixed 'em for the day.


                
We'd worked hard on that section, a-choppin', burnin' wood,


                
An' we'd a sort o' got things ship-shape, as well as what we could.


                


                
The house, it warn't much—'twas slab an' shingle top;


                
But 'twas all we could afford, for at debt we'd allers stop.


                
Our fencin' was dog-leg—not very han'som, true—


                
We hadn't the money to buy wire, an' we made the stick-fence do.


                
She helped to fix that fence up, an' in the dwellin' built the hobs,


                
An she'd allers have her hand in a-doin' little handy jobs.


                
She it was as planned the cowshed, an' me as carried 'em out,


                
An' the architect, she was handy round to see 'em fixed up stout.


                
An' them there instalments, too, at times they bothered me in a mighty way,


                
But she'd allers show me, in her style, how we'd find a means to pay.


                
An' now we'd things a kind o' straight, an' a pound or two we'd got,


                
(But we'd worked hard for it, an' we was allers on the spot);


                
An' to-day we was a-sittin' down, a-takin of a spell,


                
An' there came a sound upon us, an' both our spirits fell.


                
‘Good God, the bush is a-fire!’—our clearin' was in flames—


                
The fire had kem from that bush jus' felled by neighbor James.


                
The smoke kem down upon us, and the fire at lightnin' rate it sped,


                
An' the wind was blowin' the flames straight onter our seed-shed.


                
In it we had our cocksfoot stored, safe from wind an' rain.


                
(But we never reckoned on that fire to rob us of our gain.)


                
Jane sez to me, ‘Jack, take this bag, an' don't think o' havin' a spell,


                
An' knock the fire out, an' I'll bring you water from the well.'


                
She gev me one look an' I felt I had the power


                
To knock creation out o' sparks (even if they fell in a shower).


                
I set to work with the heart of a lion, an' pounded with that bag,


                
An' I sez to the fire, ‘You fiend, this time you've struck an awk'ard snag!'


                
She brought the water to me an' I threw it first on house, then shed;


                
Then with the drippin' bag I welted till my sight it a'most fled.


                
The fire it was all round us, ravenous without sham,


                
For it had the awful hunger of a six-foot-four hired man.


                
We worked like fury for two hours a-drivin' back the flames,


                
But they went on gleefully, a-carryin' on their fast-destroyin' games.


                
Jus' then the wind turned round, an' it drove the fire away,


                
An' it scooted down the road—it seem'd it had some debts to pay!


                
****


                
I rushed to Jane when the wind turn'd round—she was an awk'ard sight:


                
She was burnt an' singed, an' her dress it looked a second-hand pedlar's right.


                
‘We beat the fire this time,’ she said, ‘an' saved the buildin' an shed,’


                
An' my thoughts ran back to the day when she an' me was wed.


                
Our fencin' an' grass were ashes, an' all around was black,


                
An' what with smoke an' my losses, my head with pain did rack…
              

              
It is plausible to take this as based on the writer's own recent experiences, with the storyline somewhat hyped up. If so the setting is probably 
                the 
Kaponga district's northern fringe, possibly in the Mahoe area. It seems
                


                these settlers are not supplying a factory or creamery. Following a late finish 
                to milking ‘just on ten’ (though the 10 o'clock finish may owe quite a deal 
                to the rhyme with ‘Ben’) the couple feed the calves and then work on 
                clearing, with no mention of carting the milk away. The primitive pioneer 
                stage is further indicated by the dog-leg fencing and the slab and shingle 
                house. Besides the house they have a shed for their cocksfoot seed, and a 
                cowshed. Though it is not indicated, we probably should infer butter-making. Since no dairy is mentioned part of the house must have been used
                for setting the milk and churning the cream.

              
A striking feature of the ballad is Jack's deep admiration for Jane's 
                contribution to their enterprise and his acceptance of her leadership. She 
                helps with clearing, fence-building and milking. She has built the hobs in 
                the house, and no doubt uses them to set the dough out to rise for a weekly 
                baking of bread. But she also has an important management role, handling 
                the finances and designing the cowshed. When the bush fire strikes it is she 
                who gives the orders and directs the strategy. Why has this amateur poet 
                broken with the custom of seeing the world from an adult male vantage 
                point? Perhaps he has been moved by the example of Kipling's giving ‘credit 
                where credit is due’ in such 
Barrack-room Ballads poems as ‘Fuzzy-Wuzzy’ 
                and ‘Gunga Din’.

              
The poem's second incident begins with Jane suddenly remembering 
                their son:

              

                
I never'll forget her look an' words ‘God help Ben—we'll never see him more,


                
He'll be comin' home now, an be more'n half-way from the store!'


                
My headache left in a flash, an' I thought o' that poor boy


                
A-comin' home with his packages, an' allers full o' joy.


                
‘God grant he'll not be caught,' I prayed, then started down the road…
              

              
There follows a sentimental account of Jack's battle through smoke, 
                flames and falling trees hunting for his ‘darling boy’. At last he hears a 
                childish cry and finds first old Lucy the horse, who has died after falling 
                upon a rimu limb, and then:

              

                
A yard or so behind her a little bundle lay of a heap—


                
My boy—my Ben—my pride! I picked him up. He seemed asleep.
              

              
Jack carries the unconscious Ben back through the fire to their hut, 
                where Jane is waiting at the door:

              

                
An' she took Ben from me an' sez, ‘Thank God, you've saved the child!'


                
We put him on the sofa, an' softened his skin with cream


                
An' we waited, wonderin' how long he'd be, a-comin' out o' his dream.


                
He breathed so soft at first, and then it harder rose,


                
An' he opened his eyes an' sez, ‘Dad, the old mare fell on her nose,


                
I got the sugar, baccy, an' nails, an' EGMONT STAR as well,


                
An' I 'spect you'll find 'em ‘bout the place where poor old Lucy fell.'
              

              


              
So all ends happily. This vivid glimpse inside frontier life calls for a 
                number of comments. It should help to warn us that it is unwise to carry 
                the period's adult male dominance of the public record into the daily 
                experience of farm and family life. Jane, Jack and Ben interact as team 
                members on an equal footing, with deep mutual affection and loyalty, and 
                with the location of initiative and leadership emerging from the changing 
                situations, related to individual gifts and skills. We must be wary of taking 
                
a priori views on family relationships to our study of this rural world. 
                However, the story 
is told from Jack's viewpoint, and the ballad thus reflects 
                issues that were dominant in the mind of this settler father.

              
Clearly economic realities were a major concern. ‘Them instalments’ 
                that bothered him will have been the recurrent deferred payments due on 
                his land. When the fire swoops upon them Jack's most vivid simile for its 
                raging is an economic one—it is ‘ravenous’ with ‘the awful hunger of a six-foot-four hired man’. The fire battle won, his head racks with pain as he
                considers his fire losses. Through shifting to the Ben episode the ballad fails 
                to explore these losses. It does not tell us how the cows and calves fared in 
                the fire. With grass and fencing in ashes the husbandry of the section must 
                be facing a dire crisis. But the ballad's shift to Ben, and the prominent place 
                given to Jane throughout, show that family affection carries equal weight 
                with the economic struggle in this settler's mind. Of course, in terms of lived 
                reality, these two profound concerns—farm and family—are deeply 
                interwoven. Each member of the team expresses their affection for the 
                others through their commitment to the common enterprise. Thus Ben's 
                words that end the poem express both his satisfaction in a task carried 
                through under great difficulties and his affection for his father.
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The Piteous Death of a Servant Girl

            
We move next to a well-developed home and farm on the fringe of 
Kaponga 
              township for the sad story of a servant girl's suicide by poisoning. This 
              episode complements the previous two by taking us inside a more well-to-do settler home. It also gives us glimpses of the more intimate side of life as 
              a rather socially isolated young woman wrestles with the dilemma of an 
              unwanted pregnancy in the context of the taboos of the time. The story in 
              brief outline is as follows.

1

            
In late November 1896 22-year-old Essie Mason took employment as 
              a housemaid with Emma and John Melville,* who farmed just west of 
              
Kaponga, on the north-west corner of the junction of the Eltham and 
              Melville roads. The household also included a boy milker, William 
              Robertson, son of an Inglewood labourer. The Melvilles' 25-year-old 
              bachelor son Bert had left the district for 
Auckland, seemingly some time 
              after Essie joined the household. Essie Mason had a brother, William Mason, 
              a settler living at Opunake. The only other of her relatives mentioned was 
              her father, on the West Australian gold fields. Around the time she came to
              


              the Melvilles' Essie became pregnant, by whom was not established. There 
              was a rumour, strongly denied by the Melvilles, that their son Bert had been 
              ‘keeping company’ with Essie. On the morning of Thursday, 22 April 1897, 
              some five months after joining the household, Essie became suddenly ill and 
              she died in agony about five hours later. The inquest jury reached the 
              conclusion that she died of self-administered poison. We will rearrange the 
              evidence so as to unfold the story in chronological order.

            
In late January Essie borrowed a horse from the Melvilles and was away 
              about seven hours. She did not say where she had been. Was she following 
              up the other party to the pregnancy? Her brother William mentioned seeing 
              her about early March, but had not seen her again until the evening before 
              her death. On 6 April Paul Peacock, manager of the 
Kaponga branch of the 
              chemist's business of R.W. Hornby of Manaia, sold Essie some ‘Death to 
              Rats' poison. He probably thought she was purchasing on her employers' 
              behalf but they denied all knowledge of the transaction. This matter did not 
              come to light at the initial meeting of the inquest. Peacock testified that 
              when she made the purchase Essie ‘appeared in best state of mind, jolly and 
              free’.

            
The picture one builds up of Essie from the inquest evidence is that she 
              was ‘a very strong healthy girl’ of ‘a determined disposition’. John Melville 
              commented that ‘she was very reserved’, but also that ‘she was always jolly’ 
              and two other witnesses commented that she was ‘in her usual spirits’ the 
              evening before her death. She was literate as she maintained a correspondence with her father. She seems to have been given a fairly free hand in her 
              work in the Melville household and her employers did not impose, nor did 
              she adopt, a servile attitude. Emma Melville became suspicious that Essie 
              was pregnant and asked her several times if this was so, but ‘she was silent 
              on the matter, and would not own to or deny it’.

            
We move now to the week of the tragedy. On the Tuesday evening 
              William Robertson, the young milker, was in the township and at the post 
              office was given two letters with ‘some swans on the stamps’ for Essie. He 
              gave them to Emma Melville, who passed them on to Essie. At the inquest 
              John Melville qualified his description of Essie as ‘always jolly’ by saying 
              that after she received these letters she ‘seemed quite changed’. Western 
              
Australia had swans on its stamps and there is a little mystery about these 
              letters. Robertson said he got the letters at Mr Harwood's, and storekeeper 
              Harwood was postmaster for some three years from February 1896. But 
              rival storekeeper George Tindle gave evidence that

            
… I do not remember any letters coming for the girl except those from 
              Coolgardie. Letters from Coolgardie usually come through my store. I think 
              there was one letter from Coolgardie came through me for deceased on 
              Tuesday. She was in my store on Tuesday night.

            
It seems that Essie received three letters from 
Western Australia that 
              day. The investigating constable produced a bundle of letters from Essie's
              


              room at the inquest, but commented that ‘they contain nothing of 
              importance’, so the ones she received that Tuesday cannot have been among 
              them.

            
The following evening (Wednesday) Essie received a visit from her 
              brother. Both the brother and John Melville gave evidence on this. Melville 
              said:

            
The last time I saw the girl was on Wednesday night, when her brother 
              [William Mason] came to see her. She said, oh! is it you? When I went inside 
              the brother was inside on the sofa. I asked him to have something to eat or 
              drink. He said no; he wanted to see someone working at the crusher. Her 
              brother went outside, and [Essie] followed him out. She came in and asked 
              me for the loan of a pound for her brother. I gave it to her, and she went out 
              again. She was gone a couple of hours. When she came in I saw there was a 
              big change in her. I said, have you been having a good gossip. She said she 
              had been talking to her brother, and said no more.

            
William Mason gave this account:

            
Saw her last alive on Wednesday night last. Saw no difference in her 
              appearance. She said she had a letter from her father from Coolgardie. I knew 
              nothing about her condition. I was talking to her for about three-quarters of 
              an hour. I left her at the gate. Did not tell me she was in trouble, but 
              appeared in her usual spirits. Left her at the gate. Noticed a far away look 
              about her eyes. I asked her if there was anything the matter. She did not 
              answer me.

            
On the Thursday morning, according to Emma Melville, Essie was up 
              early as usual, called the milk boy, and lit the fire for breakfast. ‘From my 
              bedroom,’ Emma reported:

            
I heard her in the scullery making a noise, as if stirring something in a cup. I 
              then got up and went into the kitchen. She poured out my cup of tea. She sat 
              at the end of the table, and remarked she felt sick. I said, what made you sick, 
              [Essie]? She got up and went into the garden. About a quarter of an hour 
              after I heard her retching, and I went to her bedroom and found her on the 
              floor, retching into a chamber. This was a little after 7 a.m.

            
As the retching continued Emma became increasingly suspicious that 
              Essie had taken poison, but could get no answer from her. Meanwhile John 
              Melville and the boy were busy with the milking and knew nothing of the 
              unfolding tragedy. Fortuitously Emma's 15-year-old grand-daughter, 
              Charlotte White, arrived on an errand. Emma left Essie with Charlotte and 
              went for help. It was not to her husband that she turned, but to storekeeper 
              George Tindle. Tindle reported that Emma called about 10.30am ‘in a very 
              nervous state’, asking advice about sending to Manaia for Dr Pairman. 
              Tindle asked if he could see the girl before doing so. When he saw Essie in 
              bed he detected a peculiar smell in the room. He pressed her about taking
              


              poison but she denied it. He went off to wire for Dr Pairman. Emma 
              described how Essie's ordeal ended:

            
She then knocked and asked me for some more water, and I gave it to her. 
              She drank it. She threw her arms up and screamed, ‘[Mrs Melville], I'm dying, 
              I'm dying.’ I ran out and screamed for someone to come, but no one came 
              and I went back and held her until she died. She died some two or three 
              minutes after she threw her arms over her head.

            
Tindle handed the telegram to the postmaster at about 10.55am. He also 
              called at the chemist's but found that he was away in Manaia. Neither Tindle 
              nor Emma thought of giving Essie an emetic.

            
John Melville told of knowing nothing of the crisis until after Essie's 
              death. After milking he went to the factory between 8 and 9am. When he 
              got back he found the boy at the gate ‘going for a message’. He made the 
              boy help him with the cans. At some stage the boy had had breakfast 
              without seeing Essie. John Melville must also have snatched a breakfast, 
              though this was not mentioned in the evidence. According to Tindle, after 
              unloading the cans Melville went off to get timber from the mill. The boy 
              left on his delayed errand, which apparently was a request from Emma for 
              Tindle to come, as the girl seemed to be dying. Tindle and John Melville 
              arrived back at the house at about the same time, to find that Essie was dead.

            
Dr Pairman did not get the telegram till 1pm. He set out for 
Kaponga 
              but on the journey was informed that the girl was dead and went back. 
              When the Manaia constable, Henry Salmon, got home that evening he found 
              a message about the death. Accompanied by William Mason he went to 
              inspect the body and the scene that night and concluded that the girl had 
              died in great agony. He returned next morning with Dr Pairman, who 
              conducted a post mortem, on which he gave evidence at the inquest

            
… I found all the organs of the body healthy, but the stomach was very 
              much inflamed as if there had been an irritant poison there. The inside of the 
              stomach was empty with the exception of a substance about the size of a 
              pigeon's egg resembling putty … The stomach looked like one would expect 
              to find after a dose of arsenic. All the other organs except the stomach, were 
              quite healthy. I examined the womb; there was no sign of any illegal 
              operation. There was a child there a little over five months old. I cannot say 
              what was the cause of death until the stomach is analysed.

            
The body was also examined by Dr Harrison of Eltham, who concurred 
              with Dr Pairman's evidence.

            
The inquest, with C.E. Major as coroner and a jury of six, began at the 
              Commercial Hotel at 3pm on Saturday and at 9pm adjourned until 11 May 
              to allow for the government analyst's report on the stomach contents to be 
              received. On 11 May the inquest received the analyst's report, and also the 
              evidence of chemist's assistant Peacock about the sale of the rat poison. After 
              a long consultation the jury returned the verdict that ‘Essie Mason came to
              


              her death on 22nd April by taking poison known as “Death to Rats”. They 
              added a rider:

            
The jury are of the opinion Mrs Melville might have administered an emetic 
              or called help earlier; and the jury wished to express their great dissatisfaction 
              with Wm Mason for the manner in which he gave his evidence. The jury wish 
              to refer with pleasure to the manner in which Constable Salmon worked up 
              the case and gave his evidence.

            
It may be useful first to speculate briefly on some of the enigmas of the 
              evidence. We will then discuss Essie Mason's dilemma in the context of 
              contemporary attitudes in sexual matters and follow this with comments on 
              this mature settler home and its community context in the light of the episode.

            
The jury's long consultation and the rider to their verdict suggest that 
              they either knew or suspected that the evidence did not contain the whole 
              truth and that they were convinced that William Mason had perjured 
              himself, though they were not prepared to involve themselves in making 
              that charge. They may also have been deliberately protecting George Tindle, 
              who may well have known much more than he told. The suicide seems to 
              have been precipitated by the arrival of the letters from 
Australia—John 
              Melville certainly thought this was the case. Essie must have had two (or 
              more) correspondents in 
Western Australia: one was writing to her at the 
              
Kaponga post office, another care of Tindle. I can offer only speculation on 
              these letters. From William Mason's evidence one of Essie's correspondents 
              was her father. I presume that one or both of the letters that the boy brought 
              home for her on Tuesday evening were from her father. If both were from 
              him he may have posted one, then received a ‘startling’ letter from her and 
              replied in time to catch the same mail. Having received these letters from 
              her father on ‘Tuesday evening’ Essie knew that a Western Australian mail 
              was in and hurried to Tindle's store on ‘Tuesday night’ when Tindle thought 
              there was a letter from Coolgardie ‘for deceased’. One possibility is that this 
              letter was from Essie's lover, who was also in 
Western Australia. We may 
              presume that there was no help for Essie's dilemma in any of these letters.

            
William Mason's visit on Wednesday night may also have arisen from 
              his having heard from 
Australia by the same mail. From John Melville's 
              evidence it would seem that Essie was not expecting her brother, so she 
              cannot have sent for him. Her talk with him must have merely reinforced 
              the ‘bad news’ her letters had brought. I suggest that George Tindle knew 
              more than he told. If he was distributing letters from Coolgardie through 
              his store this must have been arranged by the senders, so he must have 
              known who they were. He seems to have deliberately ‘generalised’ this 
              matter, and been ‘vague’ in that he only ‘thought’ there was a letter came 
              through him for Essie on the Tuesday. One wonders why he was not 
              interrogated on this matter. His contention that he did not know that Essie 
              was pregnant is not convincing. If, as she reported, Emma Melville thought 
              from her observations that Essie was seven or eight months pregnant, it
              


              must surely have been obvious to Tindle when Essie was in his store on 
              Tuesday evening. A village storekeeper who missed seeing such evidence 
              before his eyes, and utterly failed to pick up the gossip going the rounds, 
              would be a very unusual storekeeper indeed. Emma Melville's turning to 
              Tindle in the crisis of Thursday morning surely had some basis that did not 
              come out at the inquest.

            
The other main area of speculation concerns the Melvilles' son, 25-year-old Bert. Emma told the jury:

            
my son Bert had never to my knowledge resided in my house during the 
              time deceased was in my employment. Never saw them go up to town 
              together….There was no truth in the rumour that my son was engaged to 
              be married to deceased. I do not know my son had walked out with deceased.

            
From John Melville:

            
My son Bert was never keeping company with deceased. I never saw them 
              together. No one ever told me she was keeping company with my son Bert. 
              He was never at home alone with the girl.

            
Essie's brother gave evidence that on the Wednesday evening she told him 
              that Bert had gone to 
Auckland and that the Melvilles hadn't heard from 
              him since. Were the rumours about Bert based merely on propinquity and 
              coincidence in his move to 
Auckland, or had they firmer grounds?

            
On the far side of a revolution in attitudes relating to sex it is difficult 
              for us to imagine Essie Mason's dilemma in its context of the contemporary 
              mind. A few quotations on the state of morals from Robert Cecil's 
Life in 
                Edwardian England (
London, 1969) may help to bridge the years.

            
Fear of the flesh led to swaddling of women in clothes from throat to instep; 
              but natural desire insinuated itself and beneath the dense coverings fashion 
              emphasised the bust and the bustle … Bustles might draw attention to 
              bottoms, but the word must never be spoken. Gwen Raverat records how her 
              sister, on hearing a recitation of Cowper's 
Epitaph on a Hare, inquired, 
              ‘What's a rump?’ Silence fell on the company, but an aunt afterwards 
              explained, ‘I thought I ought to tell you that the rump is the back part of an 
              animal, but it is a word you must never, never use.’ (pp. 
157–
58)

            
… as in all ages of chivalry, a man was led to make a firm distinction 
              between ‘a pure woman’, who bore his children, and ‘a light woman’, with 
              whom sex was fun. The distinction resulted in prostitution on a grand scale, 
              (p. 
158)

            
If there was no sex education for the young … there was certainly 
              conditioning of the minds of girls. Unhappy wives often conveyed to their 
              daughters an obscure sense of resignation before Man the Beast and 
              counselled them, when they too became wives, to tolerate his love-making as 
              best they might. (p. 
161)

            
The conspiracy of silence about sex extended to the body and all its
              


              functions. In general girls fared worse than boys. If parents hid the maps and 
              protested that the world was flat, boys who were prepared to defy them 
              could go out and see for themselves. But for girls the unexplored territory 
              was peopled with demons, carefully put there—often with the best 
              intentions—not only by fathers, but by mothers, nurses, governesses and 
              school-mistresses as well. (pp. 
162–
63)

            
Essie, for reasons unknown, was without the counsel of a mother or 
              other female relative. Apparently she had no close girlfriends of her own 
              age as none was called to give evidence. A reserved girl, she had yet 
              somehow to establish contact with the opposite sex in order to ‘achieve’ 
              marriage, the one obvious way for her to move up from servant status. No 
              doubt ill-prepared for such ventures she had blundered, and found herself 
              disastrously trapped. Her refusal to admit her condition may have been 
              due to fear of losing her position and lack of any strategy for dealing with 
              such an outcome. We may wonder why the Melvilles did not take the 
              opportunity of Essie's brother's visit on the Wednesday evening to bring the 
              issue into the open and have some answer to the problem thrashed out. The 
              evidence they gave leads one to feel that the taboos were so strong that even 
              this married couple avoided talking the matter over together. In their rider 
              criticising Emma Melville's tardiness the jury had nothing to say on the 
              taboos that hampered this distraught woman. The male ‘head’ of this 
              household received no criticism, although his claim that the crisis unfolded 
              under his very nose without his being aware of it is hard to credit.

            
Essie's brother, of course, received the main condemnation. The jury 
              cannot have believed his contention that he ‘knew nothing about her 
              condition’. He told them he talked to her for about three-quarters of an 
              hour, but John Melville said she was out with him for ‘a couple of hours’. 
              He said he had asked her if she would go over to 
Australia with him and 
              that she had said she would think about it, but he did not say why they were 
              discussing such a trip. The jury were probably angry with William on two 
              counts. They must have been convinced that his conversation with his sister 
              had in fact been about her ‘condition’. And, from the viewpoint of their 
              male-dominated world, it had been William's responsibility, as the only 
              available male family member, to take charge of the situation and sort it out. 
              It would seem that Essie had taken what would, for the times, have been 
              considered the correct actions. She would know that she had forfeited all 
              claims on ‘respectable’ society. Her only hope lay in family, where authority 
              resided with the males. The hedge of taboos prevented her from discussing 
              her problem elsewhere. Having turned to her father through the post and 
              to her brother when he called, and apparently found neither sympathy nor 
              help, this tragically trapped young woman could see no alternative to the 
              desperate remedy she had been brooding on for weeks.

            
The unsatisfactory final word on this sad episode was left to a male jury 
              sitting with a male coroner. Of course there was no way in which 
Kaponga
              


              could, on its own, have begun to develop a new moral conscience and code 
              of behaviour. That Essie should have been trapped into inflicting an agonising rodent's death on herself was an obscenity. But similar obscenities were 
              occurring across the western world, and sensitive minds were beginning to 
              challenge the conventions that gave rise to them. If ‘Gunpowder's’ ballad 
              was inspired by Kipling's 
Barrack-room Ballads of 1892, Essie's tragedy 
              recalls 
Tess of the d'Urbervilles of 1893, 
Thomas Hardy's bold challenge to 
              the sexual mores of his time. In moves such as the Married Women's 
              Property Acts and the extension of the franchise to women the New 
              Zealand community had shown a capacity to move somewhat ahead of the 
              world of its origins. But the mores of a culture are deep-rooted, and at the 
              everyday level of attitudes and actions 
Kaponga shared a common world 
              with Wessex. This meant that 
Kaponga could expect to endure similar 
              tragedies, but also to be able to respond to the worldwide challenges that 
              sensitive minds were making to the destructive conventions.

            
There is a striking contrast between the close working together of 
              ‘Gunpowder's’ frontier family and the separate house and farm programmes 
              of the Melvilles. Probably for most established settlers the daily routine was 
              more like that of the Melvilles than of Jack, Jane and Ben. The work had 
              been divided into a farm routine directed by the husband and a home one 
              directed by the wife, and help had been hired for both. They were aging, 
              and both the division of labour and the buying in of help would have been 
              designed to lighten their load. Reading the everyday patterns that underlay 
              the emerging tragedy one senses an hospitable household where Essie had 
              been made to feel at home. When her brother called she could invite him 
              in, he made himself at home on the sofa, and John Melville asked him to 
              have something to eat or drink. Later when Essie and William were talking 
              out at the gate she felt quite free to drop back into the house and borrow a 
              pound from John Melville to lend to her brother. Earlier she had been lent 
              the use of a horse for the best part of a day. Emma Melville mentioned that 
              if Essie wanted any wine ‘she could help herself’. Everything points to Essie 
              having been a trusted and valued servant in a society where domestic 
              servants had a scarcity value.

            
The episode throws some light on the wider community, particularly 
              its communication networks. Apart from this incident we could easily have 
              missed the fact that a scatter of 
Kaponga men had joined the Western 
              Australian gold rush. While in the district these more rootless men will have 
              been serviced mainly by Tindle's store, which specialised in ‘packing and 
              carting to all parts of the district’. On leaving for ‘Coolgardie’ it made sense 
              for them to arrange that their mail go to Tindle rather than stay at the post 
              office. Tindle's carts and packhorses would have been able to deliver it 
              around the district, and he would know where to redirect it if their friends 
              should move either within or from the district. He may also have been 
              looking after other of their affairs. This indeed may be why Emma Melville 
              could twice get him to come the kilometre from his store to her home during
              


              the crisis. But here, as elsewhere, the pace of communication was too slow 
              to avert the tragedy. The telegram to Manaia left too late, although whether 
              Dr Pairman was at home or abroad when it arrived is not clear. Certainly 
              Manaia's Constable Salmon was abroad and news of the tragedy awaited 
              him at his home for half a day.
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Arthur Coxhead's Thistle Milking Machine

            
By the mid-1890s a number of the more prosperous and adventurous south 
              Taranaki settlers were beginning to explore the potential of the milking 
              machine, at first apparently with little success. In the December 1894 
Farmer 
              its 
Hawera correspondent reported that ‘The milking machines recently set 
              up here have been pronounced a failure and are thrown on one side, and 
              hand labour once more applied.’ But as the machines improved they began 
              to make headway. There was therefore considerable interest when, in the 
              winter of 1897, Arthur Coxhead* of upper Palmer Road, one of the L & 
              M's larger suppliers, decided to switch to machine milking and so became 
              its pioneer in the 
Kaponga district. The Coxheads had come to the district 
              with a school-age family in the autumn of 1892. Arthur took an active part 
              in 
Kaponga social life, becoming involved in the Mutual Improvement 
              Society, the Caledonian Sports, the Horticultural Society, the Dramatic 
              Society and the rugby club. On 19 August 1901 Coxhead, his wife and 
              family were farewelled from the district with a banquet in the town hall. 
              John Robertson, chairman for the occasion, paid tribute to his fine record 
              of service to the community, noting that he had been the prime mover in 
              the erection of the town hall, had been chairman of the school committee 
              and had served on the road board.

            
Of the various milking machines appearing around the world Coxhead 
              chose the Scottish Thistle, which had been put on the British market in 
              1895.

2 In preparation for the machines Coxhead made extensive additions 
              to his sheds and acquired a six-horsepower steam engine. He also disposed 
              of his herd of about 100 cows as it was considered at the time that the 
              introduction of milking machines required young heifers that had never 
              been milked. The 
Star (16/6/97) reported that a number of settlers were 
              watching the enterprise with a view to following Coxhead's lead if it proved 
              a success. Once it was in operation the 

Hawera Morning Post reported on 
              a visit to the new plant:

            
A number of settlers, among whom were some 
Hawera townspeople, the 
              other day visited Mr Coxhead's farm at 
Kaponga to see the practical 
              application of the new Thistle milking machine. Mr Gabites, one of those 
              present, informs us that the result was a complete success–the machine used 
              to milk an unbroken heifer proved its suitableness for that difficult operation, 
              and it was noticed the machine had a soothing effect on this animal, and other 
              cows milked.

3
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Thistle milking machine


            

            
Settlers like Coxhead, with the flexibility of mind to study new ways 
              of doing things and the courage to put them to the test, were invaluable in 
              speeding the development of the dairy industry. Coxhead told the 1905 
              Royal Commission on Land Settlement and Tenure:

            
Before coming to the 
North Island I spent a large part of my time in the busy 
              entre of 
Dunedin, and was mixed up with artisans and what may be termed 
              the leaders of the Trades and Labour Councils.

4

            
In 1901 he left 
Kaponga for the new pioneer frontier of the 
              Whangamomona district.
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Change and Continuity

            
Looking back we can see, with a clarity denied to the folk of the time, the 
              shaping forces that made 
Kaponga on the verge of World War I markedly 
              different from 
Kaponga of the turn of the century. Let us begin with the 
              advent of the new century. As they scanned their first 
Stars for 1901 local 
              readers would have found that neither the editor nor ‘Our Own’ mentioned 
              the advent of a new century or commented on what changes it was likely to 
              bring. The year's first leader (3 January) was about traction engines cutting 
              up the roads, and ‘Our Own's’ first letter (4 January) was full of trivia, 
              mainly about holiday season entertainments. As in any other January, 
              politics at all levels was largely in recess, all who could afford to were 
              holidaying, and rural folk were busy with the demands of high summer.

            
Meanwhile on 1 January, while premier Seddon joined the 
Sydney 
              celebrations of the coming into being of the Commonwealth of 
Australia, 
              with New Zealand outside it, in 
Wellington the Executive met to mark the 
              opening of the new century by inaugurating universal penny post. Early in 
              the month New Zealand's Sixth Contingent for the South African war went 
              into training, and they sailed on the 30th. On 22 January Queen Victoria's 
              long reign ended. The 
Star had plenty of opportunities for broad views and 
              for editorial comment on forces likely to transform both 
Kaponga and its 
              world. But its broadest discussion on the colony was an editorial on the 9th 
              on ‘The Prosperity of 1900; the Prospects for 1901’, whose theme was that 
              it had just had its most prosperous year ever, and that this prosperity looked 
              likely to continue. The most sweeping survey beyond New Zealand was on 
              the South African war on the 5th. Unaware that the war was already 
              entering a long, new guerrilla stage, this was based on the false assumption 
              that ‘the crisis is past … the Boers know they are fighting a lost cause’. The 
              
Star held that the war had shown the European nations something they had 
              little understood—that the empire was united, that the colonies contained 
              considerable reserves of power and that they were ‘so loyal, so satisfied with 
              the Imperial connection, that at a pinch they could be relied on to rally 
              round the Old Country in any difficulty which beset her’.

            
It is not difficult to see why the 
Star, and no doubt most 
Kaponga
              


              settlers, were looking for the world to go on much as of yore. Yes, 
Australia 
              might be federating, but trade went on unhindered, for the island continent 
              was in the grips of a great drought and drew heavily on New Zealand's 
              flocks, fields and market gardens to feed itself. Yes, the Old Queen may have 
              died, but what really mattered was that King Dick was still firmly at the 
              colony's helm. We, with the benefit of hindsight, can see far more in the 
              month's news. The Australian drought gave us only short-term protection 
              from the ruin that the new federal tariff was to bring to our trans-Tasman 
              export trade. On 10 June 1906 King Dick would die at the comparatively 
              young age of 61, returning from 
Australia with what proved to be an 
              unacceptable reciprocal tariff treaty. Thereafter, for various reasons, a deep 
              rift quickly developed in trans-Tasman relations. New Zealand's punt for 
              the universal penny post was a reminder that the world was growing smaller, 
              but one important message from international reactions to the South African 
              war was that it was not growing more friendly. 
Kaponga was to continue as 
              a predominantly dairying district serving the distant British market. But at 
              all levels—district, colony, Australasia, the empire, the world—this continuity was to be affected by restructurings already well under way.

            
Again the benefit of hindsight shows up a marked difference between 
              
Kaponga's Late Victorian story and its Edwardian one. Up to the turn of 
              the century it was largely one of settlers bringing skills and dreams to the 
              reshaping of a virgin landscape. The outside world left them to the task with 
              little interference. But the new century saw the outside world increasingly 
              intrude, both openly and subtly, bringing gifts but also exacting costly, and 
              eventually terrible, tribute. We will give two examples here; others will 
              emerge as the chapter proceeds. In 1900 most of 
Kaponga's transport needs, 
              in terms of vehicles, horsepower and fuel, were produced locally. By 1914 
              the shift was well under way to imported motorised vehicles, with a 
              different order of horsepower fuelled from abroad. In 1900 military involvement for 
Kaponga's young men was a purely voluntary matter. By 1914 
              compulsory military training had been in force for four years; all had 
              registered, been assigned to units, and become much better prepared to be 
              thrown against similar armies of young men burgeoning across the globe.
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The Intrusive World

            

Kaponga's reaction to the war news of 1900–02 seems to have been simple 
              and straightforward. The empire had a need and 
Kaponga shared in the 
              general pride in the achievements of New Zealand's mounted riflemen. The 
              district made its own little contribution, with Sidney Robert Palmer, son of 
              sawmiller Robert Palmer, off with the first contingent, Samuel Baird of 
              Mahoe with the seventh, and William Treanor and Walter Tait of Kapuni 
              and Harry Herbert Cleaver, son of Rowan Road settler Charles Cleaver, off 
              with the ninth. 
Kaponga shared simple-heartedly with the empire in the 
              anxieties and the victories of these years. It was not so easy to be simple 
              and straightforward about the growing international tension and threats of
              


              conflict of the following years. Suddenly the world seemed to have 
              restructured into a number of strong and increasingly belligerent empires 
              with competing ambitions. How could one know who were friends, who 
              potential enemies, or what their respective ambitions were in the South 
              
Pacific? Many New Zealanders were unhappy to see 
Samoa divided between 
              
Germany and the 
United States in 1899. Some British moves, such as the 
              Anglo-Japanese alliance of 1902, were hard to understand. If they were 
              somewhat confused about the repeated crises that developed over obscure 
              places in various corners of the globe and the unexpected shifts that 
              occurred in the pattern of alliances, the 
Kaponga settlers seem to have had 
              no questions about a policy of unswerving loyalty to 
Britain.

            
For the generation that paid the great price of World War I there were 
              two utterly convincing arguments for going the whole way with 
Britain. 
              Firstly, as far as they were concerned, they were British. Many of them had 
              been born in the Old Country. They had friends and close kin there. There 
              too, in the words of a local song of the time, was ‘Where the Auld Folk lie’.

1 
              Having as yet no depth of history, traditions or literature of their own, the 
              colonists fed their minds from the hearthland they lovingly called Home. 
              And secondly, New Zealand had only one significant trading partner, 
              
Britain. The British market was the very 
raison d'être of their colonial 
              economy. Without the British consumers and freedom of the seas the whole 
              
Kaponga enterprise would become meaningless. A blow that laid 
Britain 
              low, a rival who swept her commerce from the oceans, would concurrently 
              destroy settler 
Kaponga. Unless, of course, such a victor took 
Kaponga as 
              part of the spoils of war. So, only as part of the larger imperial world did 
              either New Zealand or 
Kaponga make sense, and only there resided the 
              strength to maintain their freedom and identity.

2

            
The new century's first conflict between major powers was the Russo-Japanese war of 1904–05. Before its outcome was decided, a 
Star (18/8/04) 
              leader on ‘Citizen Soldiers’ gave its views on New Zealand's place in 
              international affairs. This first affirmed that those who shared the benefits 
              of the empire's trade must share in its defence. It saw likely threats in the 
              continuing ambitions of the old enemy, 
Russia, and the emergence of a new 
              enemy, 
Germany. It warned that ‘mastery of the seas is but one of the 
              ambitions of the Kaiser … the second is the conquest of some of 
Britain's 
              colonies’. 
Japan's astounding land and sea victories over 
Russia gave both 
              
Australia and New Zealand something very new to think about. Here, 
              across their own 
Pacific Ocean, was a new imperial power with mastery of 
              the art of modern naval war. In pioneer settler F.W. Wilkie 
Kaponga had its 
              own emissary journeying to see what was happening in the east. Between 
              April and September 1905 his itinerary took him to the 
Philippines, Hong 
              Kong, 
China and 
Japan. He provided extensive accounts of his visit to 
Japan 
              to the 
Star (5, 13 & 23/9/05):

            
One is constantly passing transport trains laden with men and horses for the 
              front, but except in the cities that are military centres there is little to indicate
              


              that the country is involved in a war with one of the leading powers of 
              
Europe…. After the battle with the Baltic fleet it was not an unusual sight 
              to meet a train laden with wounded Japs. and Russian prisoners, the big, 
              blond dejected face of the Russian forming a strong contrast to his cheerful, 
              brown faced conqueror.

            
Wilkie attended the 
Tokyo celebrations of the great naval victory. He 
              concluded his series with a warning:

            

Japan is fairly bursting with pent-up energies, and these energies must and 
              will find an outlet. Australasia offers one of the most promising openings in 
              this direction, and it is only reasonable to expect that if we debar her subjects 
              from landing on our shores, and put up protective barriers against her 
              commerce, that she will sooner or later remonstrate, and a remonstrance from 
              a Power like 
Japan with 
China at her call will be worth seriously considering.

            
By the end of the decade 
Germany had clearly emerged as the main 
              potential enemy. With world tensions deepening there was little complaint 
              from 
Kaponga either about taxes for gifting the battle cruiser 
New Zealand 
              to the 
Royal Navy or about compulsory military training. From 1910 on, 
              young men in the Territorials had to attend regular training parades and a 
              week's annual training camp. Many 
Kaponga young men had to get to the 
              town hall for an evening's drill on finishing the evening milking after having 
              been up before 4am for the morning one.

3 Fortunately the army took some 
              account of rural needs and held winter camps for men in dairying districts.

            
The threat of war and the requirements of military preparedness were 
              the most ominous of the intrusions into 
Kaponga life, but there were 
              numerous others. Not only the military were after the town hall. Entrepreneurs sponsoring the intrusive technology of the movies came looking 
              for exclusive weekly bookings, forcing the old do-it-yourself entertainments 
              to fit as best they could around more regular and confident newcomers. A 
              somewhat similar contest between old ways and intrusive new technology 
              was bedevilling the road to Dawson Falls by the summer of 1908–09. 
              
Kaponga residents were annoyed that going up the mountain with their 
              country horses was no longer safe due to the invasion of loudly tooting 
              tourist motors. The Park Board found it had no power to deny the road to 
              motorists, so it advised locals that the only option was to familiarise their 
              horses with motor cars as quickly as possible.

4 Some industrial developments were also seen as threatening to 
Kaponga interests. One such was the 
              rise of the Red 
Federation of Labour, which led to the 1913 waterfront 
              strike. The federation was seen as an alien movement largely led by urban 
              foreigners. Its socialism had no sympathy for bush settler achievements. 
              Eager to see their hard-won dairy produce flowing freely across the wharfs, 
              most 
Kaponga settlers approved of 
William Massey's determined crushing 
              of the Red Feds.
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Admiral Togo, victor of the battle of Tsushima (27–28 May 1905), on his bridge in heavy


                    weather. One of the two pictures the Illustrated 
London News 
must have had ready as the


                    whole world watched the Russian Baltic fleet's great voyage to ‘teach the Japanese a lesson’.


                    British shipbuilders and their workers watched for they had built much of Togo's fleet,


                    including his flagship. The British navy watched for they had trained Togo and many of his


                    officers. 
Kaponga watched, wondering whether a Russian victory would mean a southward


                    march of Siberia's emerging dairy industry. And 
Kaponga's F.W. Wilkie was there to join


                    
Tokyo's Tsushima celebrations
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The Changing Township

            
In the first 14 years of the new century 
Kaponga township experienced a 
              diversity of fortunes. In the prosperous early years its social, cultural, 
              sporting and church life were invigorated by a new trend, the coming of 
              professional men as residents. But after several years of lively progress there 
              came a misfortune leading to a sharp reversal. In response the citizens 
              carried through a thorough reshaping of local management. The new order 
              wrestled successfully with the main causes of the misfortune and set the 
              place once more on the path of steady progress. We must now trace these 
              changing fortunes.

            
A big shift from being serviced by itinerants from neighbouring towns 
              to having resident professionals began in 1903. Two lively young doctors, 
              Patrick Noonan and David Maclagan,* both took up residence in 
Kaponga 
              in September. In October Eltham barrister T.B. Crump opened a 
Kaponga 
              branch office where his representative could be seen daily. In December the 
              Rev Father Thomas Haire became the town's first resident clergyman. 
              Sometime during the year 
Kaponga had its first local newspaper editor, for 
              the 

Kaponga Advocate's only extant copy, which indicates that it was
              

[image: ]


Kaponga Anglican Bible Class on the summit of Mt 
Egmont, 1908. This group was indebted


                    to Dr and Mrs Maclagan for its vitality. Back row from left: Unidentified, Arthur Cleland,


                    Tom Cleland, Unidentified, Dr Maclagan, 
Unidentified, Harry Faull, Mrs Maclagan; 
front


                    row from left: Nurse Gulley, Jacob Moller, Thora Moller, Gladys Faull, William Faull.


                  (
Names in roman are suggested identifications based on comparison with other photographs.


                    The Clelands were identified by their nephew R.B. Cleland. The photographer was probably


                    Wm St Claire, custodian of the Mountain House, but earlier a photographer.)
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Kaponga Township, 1905


              


              published Mondays and Wednesdays, is dated 29 July 1904 and numbered 
              119. So proprietor and editor Thomas List probably brought out the first 
              issue at his Eltham Road, 
Kaponga, office in late May or early June 1903. 
              On 15 June 1904 
Kaponga's second newspaper, the tri-weekly 

Kaponga 
                Mail, was launched by James Staples. The 
Mail lasted until the loss of its 
              premises by fire in November 1905. How long the 
Advocate lasted is not 
              known. Both were studiously ignored by ‘Our Own’, our general source 
              of local information. But clearly for a time 
Kaponga had both two newspapers and two doctors. If pioneer William Swadling had had his way the
              Anglicans would have had the town's second resident clergyman. When, 
              after a great deal of to-ing and fro-ing about parish boundaries, Manaia and 
              
Kaponga were joined to form a parish, Swadling offered land for a vicarage 
              in 
Kaponga, but arbitration gave the honour to Manaia. So the 
Methodists 
              had the first resident Protestant clergyman, the Rev William 
Bramwell 
              Scott,* the first minister of the newly formed 
Kaponga circuit, in April 1907.

            
The ‘coming of the professionals’ introduced several active, socially 
              gifted young couples into the district's life. The coming of the two young 
              doctors must have seemed like the start of a new epoch for 
Kaponga. Both 
              had graduated in 
Edinburgh: Noonan in 1892 and Maclagan in 1898. 
              Neither can have found enough work around 
Kaponga to keep them fully 
              occupied and both promptly became involved in a variety of community 
              affairs. The next round of annual elections saw both became vice-presidents 
              of the cricket and the athletics clubs, and members of the school and town 
              hall committees. In August 1905 Dr Noonan bought an established practice 
              in Manaia but continued to serve his 
Kaponga patients from there. Dr 
              Maclagan, the more socially gifted of the two, remained in 
Kaponga till 
              February 1911, when he left for England to enter the Anglican ministry. 
              While in 
Kaponga he and his wife both made major contributions to the 
              life of St Mark's parish, he particularly as a gifted lay preacher and choir 
              leader and she as organist and Sunday school teacher and superintendent. 
              Maclagan had good Anglican status as a nephew of the Archbishop of 
York, 
              and his broad range of talents made him widely acceptable. He was a gifted 
              vocalist and cello player and, besides contributing to various concerts, he 
              founded a successful glee club. He was an all-round sportsman. He became 
              the first president of the tennis club in 1905, the first president of the soccer 
              club in 1906, and served variously as secretary and chairman of the cricket 
              club. He was a fine rifle shot and won the rifle club's 1910 championship 
              after a thrilling shootout. He was an active supporter of the horticultural 
              society, serving from time to time as its chairman. Alice Maclagan also took 
              an interest in sport and in 1910 served as the first president of the women's 
              hockey club. Dr Tovey, who succeeded Maclagan, and his wife, shared a 
              number of the Maclagans' interests, serving as presidents of the tennis, 
              soccer and women's hockey clubs and contributing to the life of St Mark's 
              Church.

            
There were plenty of social and sporting contributions from other
              


              professionals besides the Maclagans. Peter Matheson,* who became the 
              school's second headmaster in 1904, was a keen sportsman. In 1907 he was 
              a member of a south Taranaki cricket team that went on tour to Marlborough, and after the matches he cycled through to 
Christchurch.

5 School 
              cricket and hockey flourished under his coaching, as also did school 
              concerts. He was a versatile contributor to the life of the 
Kaponga 
              Presbyterian Church. In his five years as 
Kaponga's first Methodist minister 
              William Scott made a notable contribution to the town's sporting and social 
              life. He was active in the rugby and tennis clubs, and refereed for the 
              Taranaki Rugby Union. He was active in the horticultural society, and 
              helped launch an annual Methodist spring flower show. He also founded a 
              young men's literary and recreation club. Other young professionals made 
              lesser but nevertheless significant contributions to the community.

            
As these young professionals joined the existing leadership ranks of 
              shopkeepers, tradesmen and rural settlers the township was as well led as at 
              any time in its history. From the countryside men such as William Swadling, 
              John Frethey,* F.W. Wilkie and Richard Mellow were now able, with their 
              farms developed and providing good returns, to give more time to social 
              and civic affairs. Continuing prosperity encouraged the township's commercial leaders to enlarge both their individual and civic vision. In July 1899 
              the 
Kaponga Settlers' Association was formed and over the next six years, 
              led by men such as F.W. Wilkie, John Robertson, William Swadling and 
              Philip Larritt, it prodded local bodies and government departments and 
              organised local citizens to bring about various improvements and innovations. It initiated simple practical measures such as a town noticeboard and 
              a basic bucket fire brigade. It pushed for banking, postal, telegraph, street, 
              town lighting and cemetery improvements.

            
There was much to be done, for 
Kaponga of the turn of the century 
              might be described as half a town trying to pass as a whole one—like those 
              half models of ships that give the illusion of being whole by being set against 
              a mirror. Standing at the centre of 
Kaponga, in front of the post office on 
              the south-cast corner of the Eltham Road/Manaia Road intersection, and 
              looking up and down Eltham Road and north towards the mountain, one 
              could have worked up a real enthusiasm about the progressive nature of the 
              place. On the opposite north-west corner was the substantial verandahed 
              elegance of the Commercial Hotel. Up and down Eltham Road could be 
              seen substantial shops, stores, workshops and stables, with that citizens' 
              achievement, the Athenaeum, down the street to one's right. Every weekday 
              morning school children and milk carts would be seen converging from east, 
              south and west to wend up Manaia Road to the school or the co-op factory. 
              Every Sunday there would be first the flourish of milk carts, later a flow of 
              worshippers up Manaia Road to the Wesleyan chapel or St Mark's Anglican, 
              or east along Eltham Road to the Roman Catholic church.

            
And between the facades of the north side of Eltham Road one would 
              have caught plenty of glimpses of substantial homes. So as not to be
              


              

[image: ]

Centre of 
Kaponga township, 1912. We are looking west, scanning the north side of Eltham


                    Road as it crosses Manaia Road to pass between the 
Egmont Coffee Palace and the Dominion


                    Hotel


              disillusioned one needed to take care not to look directly behind one for, as 
              ‘Our Own’ (15/8/00) remarked, what was ‘supposed to be the Post Office 
              site … at present is occupied by a dilapidated cowshed, on which some 
              facetious person has stuck an old clock’. But Settlers' Association agitation 
              and a deputation to Postmaster-General Sir 
Joseph Ward when he visited 
              the town in February 1902, got that put right by 1903, when a substantial 
              new post office, described by ‘Our Own’ as ‘a showy little building’ opened 
              for business on 18 May. Private enterprise also did its bit to enhance the 
              panorama as one looked north. In 1904 Mrs Fowler opened the 
Kaponga 
              Coffee Palace on the north-east corner across from the new post office, in 
              a fine new building erected by F.W. Wilkie. The 

Kaponga Mail's first issue 
              gave a fulsome description of this venture, telling of capacious and well-furnished sitting and dining rooms on the ground floor and of 17 bedrooms
              upstairs, and asserting that ‘we have no hesitation in saying that the 
Kaponga 
              Coffee Palace will compare favourably with most institutions of its kind in 
              the inland towns of the colony’.

            
But if as the new century opened one had stood instead on the 
              Commercial Hotel's balcony and looked south, there would have been a 
              very different story to tell. Much less had happened here since the site was 
              felled in 1889–91. The view was of public open spaces only just beginning 
              to see a little development, the recently named Victoria Park which, as ‘Our 
              Own’ (8/9/00) remarked, ‘only a short time since was one mass of timber’, 
              and the Cemetery Reserve, little used because of an impossible surveyed 
              access. Some folk had arranged for corteges to pass through private 
              property, others took their dead miles away to Manaia or elsewhere for
              


              burial. One southern development, the saleyards, had added to the township's problems, having no bypass access for the many mobs coming from
              the north, west and east. All had to pass through the Eltham Road/Manaia 
              Road intersection, fouling the streets and endangering passers-by as 
              they went.

            
It is not surprising that residents had not flocked to this half of town. 
              Here were plenty of challenges for the newly formed Settlers' Association. 
              They were helped on their way by the gazetting of a board of trustees for 
              Victoria Park in December 1899. Step by step this board developed Victoria 
              Park, raising money in various ways to stump, level and plough it, and to 
              fence the creek that lay between it and the town hall.

6 Within a few years 
              tennis courts and an asphalt cricket pitch (to beat the Taranaki mud) had 
              been developed Long wrestlings began for a bypass to the saleyards and 
              good access to the cemetery. On 10 October 1900 ‘Our Own’ reported that 
              dwellings were at last being erected on the southern side of the town; 
              Settlers' Association efforts helped speed up this development in the 
              following years. But over the decade's middle years all development was 
              overshadowed by an agonising problem in the older ‘north’. To its citizens' 
              dismay 
Kaponga found itself being shunned as a ‘plague’ town.
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Looking cast along Eltham Road, probably from the Coffee Palace balcony, 1910. The three


                    buildings are Kelly's Stables, Davies & Sargeson, plumbers, and the Town Hall. Beyond them


                    lies Victoria Park, still looking raw despite improvements. The procession coming towards us


                    seems to be led by the ubiquitous 
Kaponga Brass Band
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Shame and Response

            
When in November 1904 three cases of typhoid were reported from 
              
Kaponga to the relevant local authority, the Waimate Road Board, it 
              elegraphed the Health Department and Dr Thomas Valintine, Assistant 
              Chief Health Officer, descended urgently on the town. Valintine had 
              entegrated from England as a young man, spent a decade as a general 
              pratitioner in Inglewood and then in 1902 joined the 
Department of Health 
              (be served as its head 1920–30). It was therefore with a good understanding 
              of small-town Taranaki that on 25 November he met the Road Board to 
              report on his thorough 2 ½-day investigation. He had not been able to pin 
              down the exact source of the infection, but had found the township's 
              sanitation quite unsatisfactory and taken immediate measures to deal with 
              the worst abuses. Since he remarked that 
Kaponga ‘is not worse than smaller 
              towns in the colony’ this description must be typical of general frontier 
              conditions resulting from hasty, unregulated building and careless habits.

            
The excreta pits are a menace to public health, as they drain into the wells, 
              and the cardinal principles in dealing with the sanitation of the town are to 
              fill up all excreta pits and cess pools. One or two premises were in a bad 
              condition; and one especially was in a grossly insanitary state, there being two 
              large excreta pits and a cess pool near the well…. He had ordered the well 
              … to be filled in, and the excreta pits emptied, lime put in, and then filled in, 
              and given 24 hours' notice to complete other improvements. About 20 
              requisitions had been served on occupiers of other premises to effect 
              improvements, principally cleaning up yards and filling in excreta pits, etc. In 
              the hotel premises, new privies and closets have to be introduced, with the 
              pan system, within seven days. It will be necessary for the night soil to be 
              removed and proper receptacles placed in each closet in town…. The size of 
              the sections in town would not allow of the disposal of night soil on same … 
              it was ridiculous to crowd a lot of small buildings on small areas. In some 
              cases as many as six different places were built on a half-acre. Even if each 
              house in 
Kaponga were built on an eighth of an acre of land, they could be 
              independent of any drainage scheme, but they are too huddled together…. 
              removing the night soil … would prove a clumsy scheme in many cases, as 
              there were no rights of way at certain buildings to the rear and the soil would 
              require to be taken through the house.

7

            
Even at the new Coffee Palace drainage arrangements were unsatisfactory, ‘the sewage having become blocked up and backed under the
              building’.

            
Valintine went on to describe longer-term improvements that would put 
              the place on a sound footing. There was no town in New Zealand with more 
              natural advantages for drainage purposes. The 
Kaponga Dairy Factory 
              could supply water cheaply and 40 or 50 chains of ordinary drainpipes with 
              a good fall would deal with the most urgent drainage. He suggested that
              


              they raise a loan and strike a rate under the 1903 Public Health Act. The 
              board had full power to enact urgently needed sanitary and building by 
              laws (which he offered to draft to save expense). It should also establish a 
              rubbish reserve. In the discussion that followed one board member made 
              the important suggestion that 
Kaponga become a town district. It was 
              decided to consult an engineer on the cost of a water and drainage scheme 
              for 
Kaponga.

            
In mid-December about 50 citizens met with a Road Board deputation 
              consisting of its chairman, T. A. Bridge, and William Swadling, to hear and 
              discuss the engineer's report. His estimate for the scheme was under £900, 
              but when it emerged that the extra rates on the affected township sections 
              would meet only about a quarter of the annual interest and upkeep expenses 
              there was general opposition to the proposal. Swadling regretted that no 
              farmers were present as they would have to find most of the rate, and 
              seconded plumber Philip Larritt's motion rejecting the scheme. The one 
              strong voice for the scheme was F.W. Wilkie's. He held that no town in New 
              Zealand could get a cheaper scheme. It would make 
Kaponga a thoroughly 
              clean and up-to-date place, bring down fire insurance rates and stimulate local business.

            
At its March 1905 meeting the Waimate Road Board discussed a letter 
              from Dr Valintine saying he considered the stand taken by their northern 
              members (one of whom was William Swadling) to be unreasonable, and 
              reminding them that as the local authority responsible for 
Kaponga's 
              sanitation they had promised to render the department all assistance. He 
              now asked them to proceed without delay with a much smaller scheme 
              involving a drain down Eltham Road to the Kaupokonui from Wilkie's 
              Coffee Palace and Campbell's Commercial Hotel. Wilkie and Campbell had 
              each promised to meet one-third of the cost and he requested that the board 
              meet the remaining third, since the drain would be a public one that other 
              householders could be connected to. William Swadling said the board 
              should see that the sanitary officer compelled the two proprietors concerned 
              to pay half the cost each and made a personal attack on Wilkie for ‘crawling 
              to the Health Officer’. The board resolved to leave the matter to the new 
              town board that 
Kaponga was seeking. In the 
Star of 18 March Wilkie 
              complained of Swadling ‘attacking me in his usual malevolent manner’, and 
              absolutely denied asking any favours of the Health Department. He had 
              merely replied to a letter from Valintine, offering to pay whatever was considered fair.

            
The matter had got off to a bad start, with bad blood between two of 
              
Kaponga's most prominent pioneer citizens. It proceeded to develop as a 
              long saga of delay, misunderstanding, discord, legal and administrative 
              confusion, and conflicting interests. For nearly two years, until overwhelmed by brutal facts, 
Kaponga's citizens failed to front up to the 
              situation. Only after over seven years of confusion and delay was a water 
              and drainage system completed. The typhoid years saw none of 
Kaponga's
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              finest hours, but since the issue acted as a catalyst in the reshaping of local 
              structures and alignments we will outline developments while avoiding the 
              procedural complexities involved. An early and important outcome was the 
              setting up of the 
Kaponga Town Board. A petition ‘signed almost 
              unanimously’

8 was forwarded to the Colonial Secretary by early March 
              1905, the Town District was gazetted on 13 July and the first board elected 
              on 8 August. From a field of nine the following were successful:
              


	William Swadling, farmer
	38


	Robert Law, farmer
	33


	Frederick Gapper, storekeeper
	32


	Robert Campbell,* publican
	29


	Charles Betts,* seed merchant
	26


            

            
John Robertson, builder, attracted 19 votes and Alfred Guy, blacksmith, 10. 
              ‘Our Own’ (
Star, 9/8/05) commented that ‘the result was in some features 
              a great surprise’ and reported:

            
Afterwards the commissioners elect returned thanks, and Mr Swadling, who 
              was returned at the head of the poll, was mounted shoulder high and carried 
              round. Cheers were called for 
Kaponga, and open house was declared at the 
              hotel.

            


            
We will first look at the broad implications for local politics of the 
              appearance of the Town Board before following through its handling of the 
              sanitation issue.

            
Although the new board was to be concerned with town affairs, its 
              membership represented a good balance of town and rural interests. The 
              new century had seen the appearance of the Farmers's Union, reflecting a 
              growing feeling among farmers that they had interests to defend against 
              urban encroachments. The 
Kaponga branch, founded in 1901, became 
              moribund but was revived under F.W. Wilkie's chairmanship over late 1904 
              and early 1905.

9 In September 1905 the Settlers' Association, which had 
              encompassed both town and country interests, decided to wind up.

10 In 
              November the townsmen formed a Tradesmen's Protection Society.

11 So 
              within months of the appearance of the Town Board local voluntary community associations had restructured along town/country lines. Another 
              form of restructuring was the demise of various ad hoc local bodies with 
              the transfer of their assets and duties to the Town Board. In July 1906 it 
              took over control of the cemetery and domain.

12 In January 1909 it agreed 
              to take over the Athenaeum and the library, and in November 1912 to own 
              all property and equipment of the newly formed fire brigade.

13 This was 
              tidier than co-ordinating activities through overlapping ad hoc committees.

            
On the sanitation issue the new board imitated the stance of the Road 
              Board. Ignoring the Health Department's clear authority under the Health 
              Act it informed Valintine that it had no authority to drain private property 
              but considered that the department should get on with putting in the drain 
              at the expense of the private individuals involved. Obviously wanting to 
              avoid a public confrontation Valintine sought Road Board authorisation for 
              the Health Department to call tenders and do the work at the expense of 
              the proprietors of the buildings. After ‘a desultory conversation’ the Road 
              Board agreed to give this authority ‘subject to the road being left in good 
              repair to the satisfaction of the foreman, and all risk of accident taken by 
              the department while the sewer is being constructed’.

14 These rural ‘gentry’ 
              seem determined that their urban bureaucratic servants should know their 
              place. The Town Board met a Health Department request that it supervise 
              the laying of the pipes and this was completed in November 1905. But the 
              department would not let the Town Board off the hook as regards the 
              removal of night soil. In April 1906 it advised that its Inspector Gardiner 
              had reported thoroughly on the subject to 
Wellington and that the board 
              had a duty to minimise the evils of overcrowding to the best of its ability. 
              Inspector Gardiner waited on the board to propose that an Eltham 
              contractor whom he could recommend should provide a fortnightly service, 
              financed by a ¾d rate on the properties concerned. The board's chairman 
              complained:

            
The counties handed over to Town Boards legacies of filth and corruption 
              and he wanted to know why things were not kept clean from the beginning.
              


              It was astonishing that within a year of the formation of the Board the 
              inspector came along and said the town was reeking with filth.

15

            
It was resolved to call a public meeting on the matter. The 20 ratepayers 
              who turned up on 1 May 1906 were divided between those who thought 
              the occupiers of overcrowded sections should pay for the problem 
              themselves and those such as Dr Maclagan who asserted that ‘
Kaponga had 
              a bad name and all ratepayers should assist to clear it’. A compromise 
              motion was finally passed. Over the next month or two the board drew up 
              and adopted the needed building and sanitation by-laws and Inspector 
              Gardiner produced a list of 38 persons required to use the night soil 
              collection system, but nothing came of all this effort as the contract drew 
              no tenders.

16

            
By May 1906 the typhoid crisis was moving to a climax, with cases 
              multiplying. The source of the infection was narrowed down and 
Kaponga 
              increasingly shunned as a plague town. The Town Board became much more 
              amenable, while seeking to keep publicity on the subject to a minimum. 
              Thus the following report did not appear in the 
Star until 20 September:

            
… on May 3 the Clerk of the Town Board forwarded to the Health Officer 
              the following resolution: ‘That the Board wishes to draw the attention of the 
              Department to the unsanitary condition of the Commercial Hotel, 
Kaponga. 
              Within the last twelve months a number of cases of typhoid fever have been 
              reported to have originated at the hotel, and within the last week the Board 
              have received notice of two cases, one at the hotel and one traceable to the 
              hotel. It is respectfully requested that such immediate action will be taken as 
              will remedy the evil.’

            
To this Dr Makgill replied: ‘I visited the hotel on June 1, and am making 
              an extensive report to the Licensing Bench upon the subject. Very complete 
              alterations will be required. I have no doubt the hotel has been responsible 
              for many cases of typhoid.’

            
While this matter was under attention the Health Department wrote 
              again, suggesting that as the board had failed to establish a night soil service 
              it should tackle the water supply and drainage scheme it had earlier 
              investigated. The letter described some of the unsatisfactory situations, 
              including:

            
On section 23 [on west side of Manaia Road, south of Eltham/Manaia Road 
              corner section], which is an area of 121 ft × 66ft, are the following buildings: 
              Butcher's shop and small goods room, three stall stable, with manure heap 
              and cart shed, six-roomed dwelling, and offices (drainage into a dumb well 
              five feet from the back door), cabinetmaker's shop and workroom, dwelling 
              of four rooms, chemist's shop, workroom and dispensary. At the latter place, 
              occupied by Mr Cadman, the yard at the rear, containing washhouse, has an 
              area of 18ft × 24 ft. On this space the tenant has to dispose of night soil, 
              refuse, waste water, and the overflow from tank. In addition to the buildings
              


              on this block there are three other privies, the soil from which has to be 
              disposed of on the section. Without going into detail I may say that all the 
              buildings on Eltham Road, towards the Kaupokonui stream, are in little, if 
              any, better condition.

17

            
The board gave the letter a sympathetic hearing and decided to investigate 
              the matter further.

            
By September ‘Our Own’ (10/9/06) was expressing the township's deep 
              frustration at the inaction of the Health Department and the 
Hawera 
              Licensing Committee on the matter of the hotel:

            
Mr Northcott (the licensee) told the Licensing committee last Friday that he 
              had been in the hotel only six months and in that time nine cases of typhoid 
              fever had been reported. And this state of things has been going on for years. 
              and yet the house is not condemned yet. From the business people's point of 
              view the matter is very serious. The last month or so the business people have 
              been complaining of the slackness in trade and it is a common sight to see the bankers and auctioneers carrying their lunch when in 
Kaponga on business, 
              and for a very good reason.

            
Some commercial travellers visiting the town preferred sitting on a fence 
              and eating sixpence worth of biscuits to lunching at the hotel,

18 and Awatuna 
              East's ‘Our Own’ (27/9/06) reported travellers from 
Hawera picnicking in 
              the country rather than lunching in 
Kaponga. The townsfolk agitated for 
              the hotel to be condemned, but Dr Makgill had decided that the building 
              itself was not the problem, as he explained in a letter of 18 September to the 
              Licensing Bench:

            
I cannot condemn the building in terms of section 11 of the Public Health 
              Amendment Act, 1903, as I do not believe the building has any direct 
              influence on the outbreaks of typhoid. I regard the source of infection as 
              arising in the insanitary surroundings—the polluted soil, which I find has 
              been dug up out of infected cesspits and spread about to manure the garden, 
              d from the milk, which was stored till recently in a place exposed to 
              infection, carried by dust and flies from this soil. The old man who cleans the 
              privies and milks also must be regarded with suspicion. This I pointed out to 
              the present licensee on June 1, but I am informed that he has made no 
              alteration, and the old man still does the milking etc.

19

            
Several factors frustrated the development of a consensus. Northcott, 
              the new licensee, seems to have taken some time to grasp the realities of the 
              situation. The hotel building had a formidable defender in the person of the 
              Public Trustee, acting for the child beneficiaries under the will of Gallagher, 
              the late owner. When Northcott at last came to terms with the situation he 
              asked for a temporary licence as he had found a suitable building to go to, 
              but there was a delay as the chairman ‘thought’ they had no power to grant 
              such a licence. The townsfolk must have been torn between the urge to
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              shout their frustration to high heaven and awareness that publicity only 
              harmed their town's reputation further.

20 
              Eventually everyone managed to come to agreement. The hotel was not 
              condemned but it was to be pulled down, the section thoroughly disinfected 
              and a new building erected. Northcott got his temporary licence. The 
              Health Department supervised an extremely thorough digging over and 
              liming of the ground, burning of rubbish, and treatment of all cesspits 
              discovered with large quantities of perchloride solution.

21 By early January 
              1907 larrikins had broken most of the unoccupied hotel's windows and on 
              the evening of 18 January 1907 it was burnt to the ground. There was only 
              a light breeze at the time and showers later in the night. All neighbouring 
              buildings were saved.

22 The police were unable to establish the cause of the 
              fire. The section lay fallow until May 1907, when a far superior new building 
              was got under way. It was christened the Dominion Hotel when the 
              proclamation declaring New Zealand a dominion was read from the balcony 
              on 26 September 1907, and it was opened to the public on Thursday, 31 
              October.

23

            
So out of the two-year typhoid ordeal 
Kaponga gained a new hotel and 
              the benefits of town board local government. Modern sanitation took much
              


              longer to accomplish. The Town Board was now willing to proceed with 
              the full water supply and drainage scheme and on 1 June 1908, after hearing 
              the District Health Officer put the case strongly, a ratepayers' meeting 
              pledged its support. Nothing happened because the cost was nearly £3000 
              and 
Treasury could at that time only legally lend £600 to a town board.

24 
              When in 1911 this restriction no longer applied, the scheme was updated 
              and on 27 June received the support of a ratepayers' meeting described as 
              ‘remarkable for its unanimity and for the complete absence of hostile 
              criticism’.

25 Matters were greatly helped by Eltham having successfully 
              introduced a similar scheme. A tender was let in February 1912 and the 
              project virtually complete by the following August.

26

            
The biennial elections for the Town Board were keenly contested, there 
              usually being about nine candidates for the five positions. A good 
              proportion of ratepayers cast their votes. Guided by its solicitor through 
              the intricacies of being a subsidiary at the lowest end of the local government hierarchy, the board schemed for income wherever it was to be found, 
              and pushed on with its programme of improvements, keeping a careful eye 
              on its succession of ‘foremen’. Often the foreman had only his own labour 
              to ‘oversee’, cleaning out the drains, logging the undeveloped streets, 
              patching the developed ones. But from time to time larger projects were 
              brought to fruition. An early one was the completion early in 1906 of proper 
              access to the cemetery. When the following May William Swadling's wife 
              died at the age of 36, a procession of about 200 mourners was able to make 
              its way to the burial by the new road. A cquiring the money and purchasing 
              the land for the stock route took longer, but it was opened in an unfinished 
              state in November 1908 and all stock were required to use it.

27 Better street 
              lighting, asphalted pavements and improved playing fields were other areas 
              of satisfying progress.
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Kaponga in South Taranaki

            
The census of 15 October 1916, taken just after the end of our period, made 
              special efforts to assign the population to localities, classified as the four 
              main metropolitan ones, the nine more important secondary ones, nearly 
              80 other boroughs, 65 town districts and many hundreds of small centres. 
              For the first time we are able to see what centres South Taranaki's people 
              considered they belonged to—very useful information when we come to 
              consider 
Kaponga's immediate district. First, though, we must consider how 
              South Taranaki was being shaped. The three main players competing to 
              draw the regional boundaries (with their 1916 populations) were the 
              boroughs of 
Hawera (3375), Stratford (2713) and Eltham (1711). Below 
              these were the town districts of Manaia (606), Opunake (459) and 
Kaponga 
              (397).

            
At this time town districts of over 500 population could become 
              independent of their county and control the whole of their revenue, and this
              


              Manaia had done. 
Kaponga and Opunake remained subordinate to their 
              counties in various matters. Over these years 
Kaponga settlers were 
              repeatedly forced to consider what shapes the maps of their regional world 
              should take. A ‘subordinate’ town district was not in a strong position, so 
              it was generally others who raised the issues, mooting new counties, 
              proposing alternative routes for the Opunake branch railway, and presenting plans for various parish, sporting and other boundaries. In response 
              
Kaponga residents deliberated on where their own best interests lay and 
              used whatever influence they had on the outcomes. We will not follow these 
              intricate debates but endeavour to clarify the broad issues involved.

            
The new century began with Opunake campaigning for a new county 
              carved from the broad reaches of the 
Hawera and Taranaki counties. In 1905 
              a strong agitation began to raise the Waimate Road Board district to county 
              status, with Manaia as its county town. Eltham countered by moving to 
              protect its interest in the country to its west along Eltham Road. These 
              stirrings led first to Opunake's new 
Egmont County in 1902, then Eltham 
              County in 1906 and Waimate West County in 1908. 
Kaponga had little 
              interest in 
Egmont County which was sponsored partly to strengthen 
              Opunake's voice in contending for its harbour and branch railway. 
              
Kaponga's dairy factory used 
New Plymouth as its port, so the Settlers' 
              Association bluntly told the Opunake Chamber of Commerce in May 1901 
              that it did not want to be in the proposed Opunake harbour district. As for 
              the railway, Opunake had little interest in 
Kaponga's concern for the route 
              to pass through or near their town.

            

Kaponga was much more involved when early in June 1905 Eltham and 
              Manaia began campaigning for their new counties. The Waimate County 
              proposals were vigorously debated at a meeting in 
Kaponga on 9 June. The 
              
Kaponga settlers indicated that the kind of Waimate county that would 
              interest them was one that included Mangatoki and went right up to the 
              mountain reserve (i.e. taking back a little corner from Stratford County). 
              This would give a good area of country to support Eltham Road, which 
              
Kaponga used ‘for their thousands of cattle monthly and their tons of 
              butter’, and it should have a central county town, which for the area being 
              proposed would ideally be 
Kaponga. Probably most present agreed with 
              Maurice Fitzgerald's fervent statement that ‘they were not going to crawl 
              to Manaia’. These 
Kaponga pipe dreams faded as the big elephants of Manaia 
              and Eltham began trampling the ground between them. The debate showed 
              that the Waimate Road Board's northern reaches did not wish to be in 
              Manaia's new county, and this put the proposition on hold for a time. Many 
              
Kaponga settlers signed a petition against the formation of both the 
              proposed new counties, but there was no doubt that 
Kaponga's main 
              sympathies had long since shifted from Manaia to Eltham.

28 The Eltham 
              ‘Our Own’ (5/11/06) told how the success of the Eltham County Bill and 
              the rebuff to Manaia were explained by their own Hon Walter Carncross, 
              Legislative Councillor and proprietor of the 
Eltham Argus:

            


            
… all the details and plans of the area proposed for inclusion in the new 
              county had been placed in such splendid order … that the Chairman of the 
              Bills Committee expressed his gratification …. The bill had passed through 
              on its merits …. In dealing with the Waimate County Bill, in which some of 
              the territory overlapped a portion of that contained in the Eltham County 
              Bill, the Bills Committee came to the conclusion that those interested in the Waimate Bill had selected a small area of very choice land, well roaded, and 
              with no back country to it, out of which they wished to form a new county. 
              The Committee considered that the Waimate people were acting in a selfish 
              manner, and not in the best interests of the whole district.

            
For a time Eltham County successfully opposed Manaia's ‘selfish’ new 
              county becasue it would have left them with grievances, but the measure 
              proceeded when these differences were ironed out in July 1908. Earlier the 
              strength of feelings involved became evident when William Swadling lost 
              his bid for a 
Hawera County Council seat in the November 1905 biennial 
              election, a campaign being directed against him for his opposition to the Waimate county.

29 He and Maurice Fitzgerald were elected unopposed as 
              the Eltham County Council's first two 
Kaponga Riding members. These 
              changes left the 
Kaponga settlers straddled across the three counties of 
              Eltham, Stratford and Waimate West. But fortunately they were linked in 
              Eltham County with Mangatoki, Riverlea and Awatuna East, with whom 
              they shared their interest in the vital arterial Eltham Road.

            
All the South Taranaki local bodies supported a branch railway to 
              Opunake to relieve their arterial roads of the heavy drubbing they were 
              taking. But there were strong differences regarding the route. 
Hawera, 
              Eltham and Stratford all wanted to be near the junction, and various railway 
              leagues were formed to push local cases. 
Kaponga settlers consistently 
              favoured the Stratford-Opunake route as the one that would bring the line 
              closest to them.

30 An unanswerable case for the route to leave the main line 
              near Te Roti had been finalised by the Public Works engineers in July 1907 
              and was made public in September 1908.

31 This choice was reaffirmed by 
              the Western Taranaki Railway Commission of 1912, but to please everyone 
              it recommended that the line encircle the mountain by linking Opunake 
              with 
New Plymouth via Okato, and include a branch line from Kapuni to 
              
Kaponga, eventually to be extended to both Stratford and Manaia.

32 These 
              grandiose extras never saw the light of day, but after years of agitation the 
              first sod of the Te Roti-Opunake line was cut in May 1914.
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Kaponga's District

            
In introducing its long list of small centres with at least 100 inhabitants the 
              1916 census report (p. 
20) commented that:

            
In a country such as New Zealand, which is still largely in the development 
              stage, villages and townships occupy a comparatively much more important 
              position than is the case in older countries.

            


            
This assigning of the population to localities gives us a clear picture of 
              
Kaponga and its circle of little satellite ‘villages’. With a population of 397 
              in the town district and a further 304 in its vicinity, 
Kaponga was quite a 
              strong little rural centre. Besides these 700 perhaps as many again in the 
              satellite villages looked to 
Kaponga for many of their needs. The villages to 
              the north and west—Rowan, Makaka, Riverlea and Awatuna East—were 
              particularly dependent on 
Kaponga. Dawson Falls Mountain House also 
              drew considerable support from 
Kaponga, its closest significant centre, 
              though the typhoid scare did temporary damage to the link. To the south 
              
Kaponga vied with Manaia for the attention of Kapuni and to the north-east there was competition from Stratford for Mahoe. Rather than detail the
              histories of these villages as they acquired their own group of facilities— 
              such as school, dairy factory, store, post office, hall—we look briefly at little 
              Rowan, which was particularly dependent on 
Kaponga. We then go to all 
              the villages for a smorgasbord of interactions with 
Kaponga township down 
              the years, and follow this with glimpses of 
Kaponga's continued involvement with 
Egmont and the Mountain House. We conclude by discussing 
              some ways in which the surrounding countryside was changing over these 
              years.

            
While deeply involved with 
Kaponga, Rowan folk worked for an 
              identity of their own. In the 21 November 1896 
Star a local settler offered 
              to be a correspondent, remarking that ‘a number of your subscribers in this 
              part has expressed a desire that the doings, both social and political, that 
              occur here should be recorded in your valuable paper’. He then gave a 
              general impression of the settlement:

            
A few years ago our district was altogether unknown, but today, we have 
              almost every convenience—post office, store, dairy factory, school, and a 
              good metalled road. We have also a flourishing mutual improvement class, 
              and in connection with the class, we held a very successful concert last Friday. 
              A splendid programme of 24 items was provided…

            
Probably this concert owed something to 
Kaponga support. Moving on to 
              1913 we have several explicit mentions of 
Kaponga input to Rowan events. 
              Friday evening, 11 March, saw an opening ball in the new Rowan hall, 
              erected in 11 days by 
Kaponga carpenters ‘Messrs Briggs, Melville and Son’, 
              helped by local settlers. Rowan's ‘Our Own’ reported a strong 
Kaponga 
              input into the occasion:

            
… as free brakes were run by Mr 
Alf. King and Mr B. Williams, the 
              
Kaponga residents turned out in full force. Dancing commenced shortly after 
              8 p.m., and eighty graced the floor, dancing to splendid music supplied by the 
              
Kaponga Elite Orchestra, composed of five instruments…. Mr Hill publicly 
              thanked … the business people of 
Kaponga and surrounding district for their 
              financial support, the donations amounting to something over £50.

            
This was followed shortly by the seventh annual meeting of the Rowan
              


              Sports Club, with a record attendance of ‘residents and visitors from the 
              surrounding districts' and ‘a fine programme was rendered by the 
Kaponga 
              Brass Band throughout the day’. The dance in the evening was again to 
              music supplied by the 
Kaponga Elite Orchestra.

33 For a ‘long night dance’ 
              held in the hall the following June a coach was run from 
Kaponga to Rowan. 
              The 
Kaponga orchestra again supplied the music for a crowded fancy 
              dress ball in September. Visitors from neighbouring settlements, including 
              
Kaponga, arrived on a drag supplied by 
Kaponga contractor Alfred King 
              and on the Eltham-Opunake Carrying Co's motor lorry.

34 These socials 
              were aimed at raising funds to pay off the new hall. Clearly a good deal of 
              this money came from 
Kaponga. The converse input of Rowan settlers into 
              the political, social, sporting and church life of 
Kaponga is too complex to 
              chronicle.

            
We next cast our net widely over the years for interactions with all 
              the villages. When in June 1902 the 
Kaponga Social and Literary Club 
              established a ping pong group they first tried their wings by travelling for 
              a friendly match with the Rowan club, who shortly afterwards returned the 
              visit.

35 The arrival of the two doctors in 
Kaponga in 1903 led to joint 
              campaigns by them and the villages for telegraph connections with 
              
Kaponga, to make medical help quickly available in emergencies. On 1 
              August 1906 a meeting called in 
Kaponga by William Swadling and Maurice 
              Fitzgerald to consider the proposed Waimate North county was poorly 
              attended. They had made the mistake of overlooking a great counter-attraction at Kapuni—a Farmers' Union social. The Awatuna East dairy
              factory's young men workers organised a successful dance on 25 January 
              1907. Visitors ‘from all parts’ must have included a good 
Kaponga 
              contingent. At Kapuni's first annual sports meeting in March 1908 several 
              
Kaponga residents were prominent among the competitors.

36 The 
Kaponga 
              Brass Band's ambitious tour of the district over the 1908 winter was 
              heralded thus by ‘Our Own’ (22/6/08):

            
It is the intention of the band to give Sunday concerts in different parts of the 
              district, starting next Sunday with Riverlea, the following Sunday Rowan, and 
              soon including the following townships in its tour: Mahoe, Mangatoki, 
              Kapuni and Awatuna.

            
Reports from village ‘Our Owns’ over the next three months show that 
              this plan, with the addition of Auroa, was successfully completed. A Rowan 
              school concert on 8 September 1911 was enriched by performances by 
              visiting 
Kaponga and Mangatoki school children. A great patriotic social ‘to 
              help the war fund’ packed Riverlea hall on 19 August 1914. The 
Kaponga 
              Brass Band provided patriotic tunes, leading 
Kaponga settlers unable to 
              attend telegraphed apologies, and 
Kaponga's Patriotic Fund gained £26.

            

Kaponga continued its close links with the south of what became in 
              1900 the 
Egmont National Park. Year by year saw further extensions and 
              improvements at Dawson Falls Mountain House, upgrading of the access
              


              road, and growing numbers of visitors. The house had 1084 visitors in the 
              1902–03 season; by the 1910s the annual numbers had grown to over 3000.

37 
              To show how this thriving resort interacted with 
Kaponga we will look at 
              some aspects of three seasons—those of 1904–05, 1909–10 and 1911–12.

            
On his election as chairman of the South 
Egmont Committee on 19 
              October 1904 F.W. Wilkie told the committee that he had recently been up 
              to the house and that he believed improvements made to the road would 
              allow light vehicles to get within a mile of it by Christmas. It was decided 
              to open the house for the season on 1 November, with W.H. St Clair as 
              manager. St Clair had been a photographer at Kapuni before first taking 
              charge at Dawson Falls the previous season.

38 By June 1905 he had bought 
              a house in 
Kaponga to live in over the closed winter season. Noting the 
              growing popularity of the mountain the 
Hawera Chamber of Commerce 
              began successful negotiations in November 1904 for a local firm to run a 
              weekly coach service to Dawson Falls. The 
Star had a full account of the 
              inaugural run by two coaches on 16 December, with a party of 28, ‘fully 
              representative of the commercial interests of the district’. They left 
Hawera 
              with bugle blowing; we pick them up as they approach 
Kaponga:

            
Along Palmer Road there is a fine stretch of ‘God's own country’. On clear 
              days with snow capped 
Egmont standing majestically in the background the 
              scene is delightful, while the well formed road admits of fast travelling. As 
              progress was made the mountain assumed different shapes, and showed 
              altered forms…. at 5 minutes past 12, after travelling only 2 hours 45 
              minutes, including the numerous stoppages, the party arrived at 
Kaponga. 
              Here a halt was called and the horses were led to the stables. Dinner was had 
              at the Coffee Palace, and at the conclusion Mr Wilkie took the opportunity to 
              thank the 
Hawera Chamber of Commerce for the action it had taken in 
              connection with the coach service … After dinner, time dragged somewhat 
              until the member for the district started a standing jump competition. The 
              athletes of the crowd soon got to work, and the footpaths were scored with 
              marks denoting the distance of each leap. While the excitement was high a 
              coach containing some cricketers happened along, one of whom registered 8ft 
              2in as his effort, and the others then put on their coats. There was another 
              line up for more photographs, the party by this time being fairly used to the 
              operation.

            
At 1.45 
Kaponga was left behind, and the distance to the passable road 
              was soon reached. Four miles to walk!

            
Throughout the season ‘Our Own’ repeatedly reported ‘crowds of 
              people’ passing through to the mountain. A typical report is that of 20 
              February:

            
There are still very large parties going every day to the mountain. Today no 
              less than four large drags and a number of traps and horsemen went through 
              coming from all round Opunake, Manaia, Okaiawa and Eltham.

            


            
From time to time the 
Star printed lists of visitors to Dawson Falls. They 
              consistently show the majority coming from south Taranaki (including a 
              good number from 
Kaponga), but also significant numbers from all over 
              New Zealand and a sprinkling from overseas. Many of the the 1904–05 
              season's 2608 visitors will have benefited 
Kaponga businesses as they passed 
              through. 
Kaponga's resources were also called on in emergencies. When 
              custodian St Clair fell and broke his leg while putting in a ceiling at the 
              Mountain House in May 1905 it was Dr Noonan who rode up to his aid 
              and arranged for him to be moved down to the 
Kaponga Coffee Palace. He 
              was carried by stretcher the first part of the way, by roadmen upgrading the 
              track and workers from Clement's sawmill.
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The 1909–10 season had a mountain rescue in which 
Kaponga was 
              deeply involved. On Thursday afternoon, 24 February 1910, an urgent 
              message sought a 
Kaponga search party for three climbers lost since the 
              previous evening. The missing were from Opunake: Gordon, a photographer, and two young women named O'Brien and Looney. Dr Maclagan 
              found volunteers and two parties began scouring the mountain before 
              nightfall. However, the successful party was a third one, which set out from 
              the house about 4 o'clock next morning. It consisted of 
Kaponga farmers 
              Bert Law, Jim Kissick and Jerry Crowley, butcher George Trower, and the 
              recently appointed new manager at Dawson Falls, H. Graham. Bert Law 
              provided an account of the rescue to the 
Star:

            
We started up the river in the face of a terrific gale and torrents of rain; the 
              roar of the river and the scream of the wind amongst the rocks only adding 
              to the dreariness of the morning. None but those who faced the mountain 
              that morning could have any idea of the fury of the gale—every gust cut the 
              face like a whip lash, and the rain, driven by the wind, felt like a charge of 
              shot. Some of the very exposed places had to be crossed on our hands and 
              knees, it being impossible to stand up against the storm. I don't think the 
              most sanguine of the party when they felt the fury of the elements had the 
              slightest hope of finding the lost ones alive. We battled along up the river for 
              about a mile and a half, but as the channel was getting narrow, and the water 
              was bringing down great slides of gravel and rocks, we left the river bed and 
              struck out towards the Stratford track. Just about this time Jerry Crowley 
              met with an accident which partly disabled him from climbing. A large rock 
              fell and struck him on the knee and foot. After this we had to travel much 
              slower, but Jerry stuck to it like a Briton. As we got higher up the mountain 
              the storm seemed to increase, and we were just thinking of turning back 
              when we heard faint cooeys in answer to our shouts. This spurred us on, 
              especially as when we got nearer we recognised a woman's voice. We hurried 
              forward and found Mr Gordon lying in a shallow watercourse, where he had 
              crawled for a drink of water. We found the girls a little higher up the ridge, 
              sheltered only by a small rock. So fierce was the gale that when we stood the 
              girls up till they could gain the use of their benumbed limbs, it took three of
              


              us to hold one of them…. Without any delay we started to retrace our steps, 
              Jerry Crowley assisting Miss O'Brien and Mr Gordon, while Jim Kissick and 
              myself carried Miss Looney. It was with great difficulty that we got them 
              down into the bed of the Kapuni, at times having to pass them down from 
              one to the other over steep rocks.

            
Making very slow progress owing to the weak condition of Miss 
              Looney, at about 6 o'clock they were overtaken by another search party of 
              seven, those who had made it from a party of 14 that had set out to fight 
              their way over Fantham's Peak in the teeth of the gale. These were five 
              
Kaponga men—Allan Bates, Len Baigent, 
Alf King, Fred Guy and Tom 
              Sargeson—and two brothers of Miss Looney. Taking turns to carry Miss 
              Looney on their backs, it took them two more hours to make their way 
              down to the house.

            
Our final look at Dawson Falls, on St Patrick's Day, Monday, 18 March 
              1912, shows how with improved access and facilities it was now an 
              appropriate venue for a day's mass outing from 
Kaponga. The town took a 
              full holiday for a monster picnic at the falls arranged by the 
Kaponga 
              Oddfellows' Lodge. Competing attractions cut their ‘monster’ back a little, 
              but about 70 members and friends made their way to the Mountain House 
              on two large brakes and numerous other vehicles. A charge of 5s for the 
              day covered drag fare, toll and refreshments. The 
Kaponga band ‘enlivened 
              the proceedings considerably’ and also contested a nine-aside tug-of-war 
              with the lodge. The lodge won, but was taken down in turn when it 
              challenged all comers. Various other games were played and the visitors also 
              inspected a range of recent improvements. Additions included a fine 20ft 
              by 24ft dining room, a ladies' sitting room, extra bedrooms, a main entrance 
              hall and a 7ft verandah round two sides of the house. Furnishings, manufactured by 
Kaponga cabinetmaker Edward Dilly, included innovative 
              locally designed dining room chairs ‘revolving, with hollow back, iron 
              braced, nicely upholstered seats in red leather, set on a pillar, supported by 
              four claws’. Spartan days at the resort were now clearly a thing of the past.

            
On their outing some lodge picnickers may well have mused on how 
              farms and homesteads had changed over the years. The homesteads were 
              reflecting the prosperity of the dairy industry. Each autumn, as milking 
              slackened, many farmers turned their attention to home improvement. 
              Among the maturing shelter trees, orchards and shrubberies it would be 
              seen that rooms and verandahs had been added on, and that shingles had 
              been giving way to roofing iron.

40 Across the farms, plantations and hedges 
              were maturing. As early as 1900 this growth had made many trig stations 
              practically useless for sighting to or from, and the surveyors were 
              establishing a series of standard traverses properly marked by iron tubes 
              along some main roads between 
Hawera and Opunake.

41 Discerning eyes 
              would have noted signs of a problem that was to plague the farmers' 
              future—the spread of weeds. Ragwort and Californian thistle were first
              


              reported as worrying the farmers and attracting the attention of noxious 
              weed inspectors in 1905–06. By 1909 ‘acres of ragwort’ were to be seen on 
              stretches of the Rowan and Manaia roads. In April 1910 Eltham county 
              councillors were discussing blackberry as a widespread problem in their 
              county and it was said to be spreading all round the 
Kaponga district.

42 With 
              both progress and problems marking the unfolding years should 
Kaponga 
              still be looked on as a bush frontier district? As they battled the bush fires 
              that swept large areas in the summers of 1904, 1907, 1908 and 1910 the 
              settlers must have felt they were still close enough to the pioneer frontier. 
              When Prime Minister Ward visited on 27 January 1911 they pointed out to 
              him that they still had a good deal of land covered with timber. The arduous 
              work of stumping and logging up continued both in township and 
              countryside right through our period.

43 But the settlers' most constant 
              reminder that they had not yet ‘arrived’ was probably their continuing battle 
              to create durable roads.
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The Roads and Transport

            
As south Taranaki entered the new century its roading problems seemed as 
              intractable as ever. The more the dairying industry flourished the more its 
              transport vehicles cut the roads to pieces. For years public life was 
              dominated by endless debates as to what could and should be done, who 
              should do it, and where the money was to come from. After meeting the 
              demands of newly settled districts central government could offer only 
              limited financial help to these older and obviously prospering districts. In 
              recognition of Taranaki's special problems, due to its deep rich loam soils 
              and its scarcity of stone and gravel, a branch railway was built from 
              Waipuku to the mountain to bring down metal for local body roads as well 
              as for railway ballast.

44 But the main burden of developing strategies, 
              deciding priorities and finding the money was left to local bodies. Their 
              roading efforts for the years 1900–14 seem to fall into three periods: in the 
              earlier years they were engrossed with the redrawing of county boundaries 
              and did little more than hold their own; from 1907 to 1910, as the new 
              counties took over, new possibilities in transport methods, road construction and the raising of finance were explored and several of them implemented; over the years 1911 to 1914 mastery of the problems at last began 
              to be achieved, with the fortuitous coincidence of new roadmaking 
              techniques and adequate funds to implement them. It was 
Kaponga's good 
              fortune that these new developments were pioneered by Eltham County 
              and applied early to the arterial route crucial to its prosperity, Eltham Road. 
              We will first analyse the problems facing the new Eltham County in 1907 
              and then deal with the two periods 1907–10 and 1911–14. We conclude with 
              a look at wayfaring on Eltham Road throughout the period.

            
A 
Star editorial of 2 November 1905 summarised the south Taranaki 
              roading problem. It was suffering from the breakdown of the road loans
              


              scheme. The legislation had assumed that metalled roads would last about 
              24 years with a nominal cost for repairs, and so indeed they did in districts 
              with ordinary agricultural traffic and good metal. But South Taranaki's dairy 
              industry created a ‘heavy, continuous, intense’ traffic in a district without 
              good metal. Long before loans were repaid, roads needed massive 
              reconstruction for which no new loans could be raised. So the land was 
              loaded with heavy rates. The 1912 Western Taranaki Railway Commission 
              found that these often averaged from 4s to 6s an acre and remarked that 
              ‘This high rate, which amounts to a considerable rent, is required solely for 
              the maintenance of the roads.’ But though paying high rates the settlers did 
              not enjoy good roads. How the situation looked to an outsider was 
              described by the 
Star's Okaiawa ‘Our Own’ (13/8/06):

            
A gentleman hailing from South 
Canterbury paid a flying visit to this district 
              last week. He expressed himself as very favourably impressed with the quality 
              of our soil, ‘but’, he added, ‘were you to offer me the best farm in the district 
              for nothing on condition that I lived upon it, I would not take it.’ ‘Why?’ 
              was the query. ‘Well, look at your roads,’ was the answer. ‘Where I live I 
              often put my horse in the gig and drive a distance of 42 miles and back home 
              again the same day, and think nothing of it, but half that distance would be a 
              big undertaking in these parts.’ And he was right.

            
From January 1907 
Kaponga's roading fortunes largely depended on 
              how wisely the new Eltham County Council administered its two western 
              ridings of 
Kaponga and Mangatoki. It had grim experiences from the 
              previous winter to spur it to some hard thinking. At two local body 
              meetings in July 1906 the problems were highlighted. After a month of 
              continuous wet weather, the 
Hawera County Council had been warned by 
              its gifted engineer, Fred Basham, that had the rain continued for another 
              week most of their roads would have been beyond repairing.

45 Over these 
              same weeks the Waimate Road Board had somehow kept its section of 
              Eltham Road in working order, but only at the expense of neglecting other 
              less vital roads. Its July meeting heard hard words about Opunake Road 
              being ‘robbed’ but the majority agreed with the chairman that ‘it was better 
              for them to have one good road than two bogs’.

46 The realities facing the 
              county were that even with constant care and vigilance it could expect its 
              macadam roads repeatedly to teeter on the brink of collapse. In the 
Kaponga 
              Riding the daily needs of the factory traffic required that the first priority 
              go to Eltham Road and the second to its feeder roads. All other claims had 
              to be relegated to third place.

            
With these unpromising prospects it is not surprising that minds 
              began questing for alternatives to macadam roads. The first possibility to 
              be given widespread attention was electric tramways. This perhaps owed 
              something to the modern wonders seen by settlers who visited the 1906–07 
              
Christchurch Exhibition. Over the winter of 1907 the idea of adapting 
              this modern urban transport technology to Taranaki rural needs suddenly
              


              caught on. A 
Star editorial of 10 June 1907 described the excitement:

            
To say that general interest is taken in the projected electric tramways 
              question would be rather an inadequate description of public feeling. It 
              would be truer to say that parts of the district are ‘sizzling’ with excitement. 
              Especially is this so in Eltham and along portion of the Eltham road. 
Hawera 
              and Plains people say less, but they too are pretty keen.

            
Two schemes were actively discussed: 
Hawera to Manaia, and Eltham 
              to Opunake. The latter included a general lighting and power scheme for 
              Eltham and the country between it and Opunake. ‘Our Own’ (4/6/07) 
              reported keen discussion around 
Kaponga, animated by the dreadful state 
              of Eltham Road, which looked likely to become impassable. It is easy to 
              see how attractive the tramway proposition must have seemed. Instead of 
              the district's heavy rainfall being a transport negative, constantly undoing 
              the macadam road surfaces, it would be turned into a positive as 
Egmont's 
              rivers were harnessed for electric power. Just as tramlines had fitted into 
              existing city streets they could fit into the existing Eltham Road, providing 
              a transport surface impervious to the weather. The excitement and discussion continued for six months as the local bodies combined to commission a 
Wellington engineer to investigate. Engineer Black's report, made 
              public in December 1907, outlined a scheme costing about £120,000, which 
              he calculated would run at a profit.

47 But his report's realism removed much 
              of the glitter that had surrounded the proposal. Contrary to common 
              opinion the 
Egmont rivers were not suitable for generating electricity 
              because they could not be engineered to provide storage capacity, so the 
              power would have to come from coal. It would be ‘financially impracticable’ 
              to provide power to settlers along the route. Settlers also began to realise 
              that the scheme would not solve all road problems, for the tramway could 
              not service individual farms. It seemed too that 
Egmont County and 
              Opunake would not support a scheme likely to undermine their case for a 
              branch railway. After blazing for six months, the idea flickered on for a few 
              more months and then died away.

            
But the problem remained. Fortunately Fred Basham, who had now 
              become Eltham County's first engineer, continued the search for an 
              alternative to the ineffectual macadam approach. In the spring of 1908 he 
              teamed up with Mangatoki farmer Jacob Marx and Eltham storekeeper C. A. 
              Wilkinson to form the Basham Concrete Block Highway Co Ltd, which 
              under an agreement with the County Council laid down 30 chains of patent 
              concrete block roadway on Eltham Road. There was much initial 
              satisfaction with the new surface and considerable interest throughout 
              Taranaki but the experiment cannot have had long-term success as it soon 
              disappeared from the news columns.

48 Basham's next attempt was a return 
              to the tramway approach. On 13 August 1910 he put to the council a 
              proposal for an Eltham-Auroa tramway using the ‘automotrice’, a vehicle 
              in successful operation in 
Europe that generated its own electricity with a
              


              petrol motor. This scheme too failed to win acceptance as a cost-effective 
              answer, but Basham continued his quest undeterred.

            
Meanwhile the County Council pressed on with the more humdrum 
              matter of finding money to throw at the problem. In February 1908, to get 
              through traffic to pay its share of the South Road's upkeep, the 
Hawera 
              County Council had established tollgates at Inaha and Okaiawa. This 
              diverted traffic to Eltham Road, so Eltham County followed suit, collecting 
              tolls at a gate just east of Eltham and another at Riverlea, from 1 January 
              1909. Thenceforward for years 
Kaponga settlers tolerated this cumbersome, 
              old-fashioned feature on their main access road, to ensure that through 
              travellers contributed to the cost of the road. But still more money was 
              needed so in 1910 the county moved to take advantage of more liberal 
              government provisions for local body loans. On 2 August 1910 Basham, the 
              council's engineer, outlined the loan proposals to 
Kaponga Riding 
              ratepayers. After a good airing they were well supported by both town and 
              rural ratepayers and a poll the following December produced a similar 
              result.

49

            
The issue now became not money but finding some way of spending it 
              more effectively. Motorists, now becoming common, had their own 
              particular complaints. During a drought in February 1911 a 
Star travelling 
              reporter found that the good parts of the district's roads were outnumbered 
              by the bad parts and that the latter were heartbreaking.

50 He singled out a 
              number, including Eltham Road, as being in a very bad state. Motorists 
              could travel safely at no more than 10 miles an hour due to the terrible 
              bugbear of loose metal, of which the roads seemed have almost enough to 
              remetal them. Desperate to be ready for winter battles against the mud, the 
              roadmakers had created a summer hazard. A more effective approach than 
              merely piling on more metal had to be found. At last in 1912 Basham's 
              search for a solution took him in the right direction and within a year or 
              two his tarring experiments had provided the accepted answer.

            
In 
Britain, from the 1820s, there had been some use of tar, first on 
              heavily trafficked footpaths and then on urban streets—with variable 
              results. Some use of tar as a blinder on existing rural macadam roads then 
              followed, and late in the century the term ‘tarmacadam’, later shortened to 
              ‘tarmac’, came into use. In the summer of 1911–12 Basham made trials of 
              the use of tar and oil on the roads, and reported results to the County 
              Council meeting of 9 March. The oil, he decided, was useless except as a 
              dust palliative. ‘The method of applying tar to roads which is known as “tar 
              sealing”,’ he advised the council, ‘is too expensive to be considered.’ But he 
              was very hopeful about his tar-spraying experiment. Using primitive 
              methods, without any special equipment, he had treated four chains of road 
              and reported:

            
… the tar has stood for two months of the most trying period of the year 
              and still looks quite good. The road shows a good skin, and there is no dust
              


              and no loose stone. Before advising you further on this matter I should like 
              an opportunity of inspecting a machine at work and seeing the nature of the 
              work done. There is a machine working in 
Wellington and another in 
              Palmerston.

            
What Basham was seeking was a cost-effective way of adapting 
              techniques already in use in some New Zealand urban settings to the special 
              needs of rural South Taranaki. His mind may have been turned in this 
              direction by some earlier local urban use of asphalting and tarsealing. From 
              1902 some 
Kaponga businesses had arranged to have the footpaths in front 
              of their premises asphalted, and the Victoria Park cricket pitch was asphalted 
              in 1904.

51 More importantly, C. A. Wilkinson had seen tarsealed streets when 
              visiting the US in 1902 and had persuaded the Eltham Borough Council to 
              become New Zealand pioneers of this practice in 1906. On 13 April 1912 
              Basham reported his ongoing investigations to the County Council, 
              advising that experience in other countries suggested that tarring would pay 
              on some local roads. He produced calculations showing that the Mangatoki 
              section of Eltham Road, costing £727 10s yearly to maintain, could be given 
              the tar-spraying treatment for £644 and thereafter would cost about £380 a 
              year to maintain. The council boldly authorised their chairman and engineer 
              to proceed with purchasing a tar-spraying machine. Basham introduced the 
              new techniques with great care, collecting all the information he could from 
              overseas and steadily building up a fund of local experience. By the end of 
              1912 the 
Star had decided that something historic was taking place and on 
              19 December it ran an editorial headed ‘Roading Problems Solution’.

            
County Councils in Taranaki have long been face to face with a grave and 
              persistent difficulty in connection with the public roads, but it now looks as 
              though Mr F. Basham, the Eltham County Engineer, were on the eve of 
              solving the problem. At his instance, the County some time ago agreed to a 
              method of treating the roads by means of specially tested and analysed tar 
              and at Saturday's meeting of the Council Mr Basham reported that the 
              sprayer, which has been bought for the purpose, was expected to reach 
              
Wellington at the end of the month, and would probably be at work before 
              the end of January. It is expected to be able to give roads already made, and 
              still smooth and unbroken on the surface, such a spraying with specially 
              prepared tar, that the surface will become impervious to rain, with the result 
              that roads which hitherto have lasted only a year or two will last three or 
              four years perhaps longer. Mr Basham has thoroughly studied the subject, 
              and he and his Council believe that the plan they have in hand will, with a 
              surface that will carry off rainwater, protect the under-work of the roads, and 
              thus add to their endurance and lessen the cost of their maintenance. The 
              scheme is full of promise and all Taranaki, indeed the whole Dominion, will 
              await the result with particular interest. But Mr Basham has carried his 
              studies in the science of roadmaking still further. In connection with new 
              formation he has, we understand, come to the conclusion that the lowest
              


              layer of metal should be of a given average size, and that when a section is 
              finished it should be sprayed first from one side and then from the other, so 
              as to ensure the thorough permeation of the layer, and its complete 
              coagulation. Then the idea is to treat another layer of smaller sized metal in 
              the same way, with the same ends in view, and so to have all the metal 
              thoroughly compacted with the tar, and, with a surface that would have a 
              certain yielding elasticity and yet be practically as waterproof as steel. Thus 
              Mr Basham and the Eltham County Council have really a most important 
              undertaking in hand. Given tar of the right quality, and an unyielding bottom 
              and under-formation, Mr Basham's scheme should result in roads which will 
              last practically for a lifetime, certainly so in comparison with roads as now 
              made, for the bed and hearting would be immovable, and the surface would 
              be such as to prevent water from entering and disintegrating the formation. It 
              will be a great triumph for Taranaki and a gain for the whole Dominion if it 
              succeeds, and, as we have said, it is full of the fairest promise. The prospect in 
              this connection is made all the clearer by the fact that the scheme which Mr 
              Basham has worked out independently has also been worked out in the same 
              way by Mr Johnson, the Municipal Engineer at Point Grey, Vancouver, 
              British Columbia.

            
On 13 March 1913 the council members inspected the results of 12 
              months of tar-spraying work and unanimously endorsed the programme. 
              The tar was obtained from the 
Wanganui gasworks and carefully prepared 
              by Basham. In April 1913 Basham gave a paper to the New Zealand local 
              government engineers' annual conference, telling how he had surface-sprayed 10 miles of carefully prepared existing macadam road and had laid
              down half a mile of new formation with the tarseal method described in the 
              
Star editorial quoted above.

52 The Rangitikei County Council had its 
              engineer investigate the use of tar on roads and his report in December 1913 
              had high praise for Basham's achievements, describing Eltham Road as ‘the 
              best rural main road in the Dominion’.

53 In 1914 the 
Wanganui County 
              Council sent a committee to investigate these Eltham County developments. 
              On 3 July it reported to them that even 
Wanganui town did not have a street 
              as good as these rural roads. Furthermore:

            
Mr Basham … gave the Committee some startling figures. The rate that had 
              been levied in the past was as high as 3d, and the roads were villainous. 
              Under the new system the rate was 1 ½d, and the ratepayers had first-class 
              roads. This was no small achievement… in a country lying near Mount 
              
Egmont and subject to continual wet. The machinery used was not over-expensive. The committee estimated the cost of plant at something like £2000,
              including a road roller, motor lorry, tar sprinkler, crusher, and everything 
              necessary.

            
By 1914, then, 
Kaponga settlers had good reason to congratulate 
              themselves on their link with Eltham County. Not only was Eltham Road
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              snow the best rural road in New Zealand, but all of Eltham County's section 
              of Manaia Road had also been tarred. There was just the little hitch that 
              these wonderful modern roads lay behind an archaic rampart of tollgates.
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Wayfaring on Eltham Road

            
We conclude with some impressions of the wayfarers whose daily traffic 
              through the 
Kaponga district tested the work of the builders and 
              maintainers of Eltham Road. Prominent among them was Danish immigrant 
              ‘Bill’ Moller,* who in January 1902 sold his farm at Makaka and bought out 
              the 
Kaponga carrying business of George Bradford,

54 becoming a prominent 
              Eltham Road carrier. Moller was an athletic man, over six foot tall, with a 
              great love of horses and facility in handling them. The daily carriage of 
              Opunake's dairy produce on the long haul to the railway at Eltham became 
              the bedrock of his business. Since the butter could not be transported in the 
              heat of the day, the wagons left Opunake at sunset for 
Kaponga, where they 
              stood overnight and before dawn were taken on to Eltham station. Because 
              of their size they were facetiously treated as ships by the railway workers, 
              who chalked on their sides such graffiti as ‘The S.S. 
Takapuna will sail this 
              day’. In the daylight hours the wagons were available for all kinds of less 
              perishable freight. They were hauled by six-horse teams harnessed three 
              abreast and Moller took great pride in having each team well matched in 
              colour and size. Throughout his 10-year ownership of this business he made 
              his home in 
Kaponga. Over these years there were never fewer than three 
              of his children attending 
Kaponga School, and each year he provided one
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              of his big wagons free of charge to take a load of children in well-decked 
              splendour to the school picnic.

55

            
While Moller made a specialty of the long Opunake-Eltham haul there 
              were other carriers meeting the needs of the various centres along the road. 
              In his tramway report of 1907 Black estimated the annual traffic on the 
              Eltham Road at 13,750 tons, which he broke down as follows:


              

                

                  
	Tons per annum
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Eltham to and from Opunake
                  
	4250
                

                

                  
	Eltham to and from Auroa Rd
                  
	3000
                

                

                  
	Eltham to and from 
Kaponga
                  
	4000
                

                

                  
	Eltham to and from Mangatoki
                  
	2500
                

              


            
Clearly most of this traffic was either servicing or passing through 
              
Kaponga, the major node on the route. Its daily movements went on largely 
              unreported unless they met with mishaps. We take up two of these 
              connected with 
Kaponga's dairy industry. One day in January 1904 the daily 
              output of the Mangatoki Co-op's 
Kaponga creamery came to grief, giving 
              rise to this news item:

            
The place where the 
Kaponga waggon capsized is easily found. If the wind is 
              in the right direction the perfume of the rotten cream is discernible a hundred 
              yards away. Even the bicycles shy clear at the odour. Hundreds of minahs 
              have a daily feast of the unusual tucker. But Oh! that smell.
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On 2 January 1906 a more tragic accident affected a day's output of the 
              
Kaponga Co-op. Robert Bartlett of Palmer Road had the contract for 
              carting the butter to the railway and his driver this day was William Irving,
              


              a Scottish bachelor of about 70 years. While driving between 
Kaponga and 
              Duthie Road at about 6am the wagon's axle broke, throwing Irving to the 
              road and burying him in boxes of butter. A passing stranger came to his aid 
              and Dr Maclagan was called but he died an hour or so later.

            
In the mid months of each year the contract carriers for the dairy 
              factories had a few months of respite, but the mail coaches had to endeavour 
              to keep to their timetables even through trying winter months. Schedules 
              changed down the years with population growth and altered train 
              movements. A new timetable commencing on 1 January 1910 had these 
              times for the daily Eltham-Opunake mail coach:


              

                

                  
	Leave Eltham 6.45am.
                  
	Leave Opunake 12.45pm.
                

                

                  
	Leave 
Kaponga 8.05am.
                  
	Leave 
Kaponga 3.30pm.
                

                

                  
	Arrive Opunake 10.45am.
                  
	Arrive Eltham 4.45pm.
                

              


            
Another coach left 
Kaponga daily at 6.50am to reach Eltham at 8.05am 
              On the return journey, which left Eltham at 7.45pm and reached 
Kaponga 
              at 9pm, it delivered the 
Star. The quality of the coach services was a matter 
              of continuing interest. On 23 December 1903 Eltham's ‘Our Own’ proudly 
              described the local workmanship in the overhauling and renovating of the 
              Eltham-Opunake coach, including special spring cushions, no doubt a boon 
              on this route. In August 1904 the mail coach was disabled in a mishap at Te 
              Kiri on a bitter night with four inches of snow. When the contractors 
              nevertheless met their continuing schedules they received high praise from 
              Awatuna East's ‘Our Own’ (8/8/04). On 25 April 1906 the same correspondent noted that the coach now passed each morning and evening lit
              up with ‘two splendid acetylene burners … a vast improvement on the old 
              system of lighting’. But on 14 December 1906 he also noted that dignity was 
              not allowed to get in the way of service:

            
So busy are the carriers just now that they are not able to undertake all the 
              work required of them, and it is quite a common thing to see the Royal Mail 
              Coach drive along filled with milk cans which have been made in Eltham and 
              which the farmers can not do without at this busy time of the year.

            
For the period 1904–09 this Awatuna East ‘Our Own’ was a particularly 
              gifted one, being storekeeper William K. Howitt.* Mishaps and holdups 
              were common on the stretch of road that he observed, due to the number 
              of substantial streams that were unbridged or poorly bridged, so that all 
              heavy traffic was forced to cross by fording. The unbridged Awatuna Stream 
              was a major annoyance, cutting the Awatuna settlement in two and forcing 
              Awatuna East firmly into 
Kaponga's ambit. Howitt took a special interest 
              in wayfarers passing through and in their misfortunes with this stream. We 
              will draw on some of his comments, both to illustrate wayfaring on the 
              western edge of 
Kaponga's district and to draw attention to traffic that had 
              mostly either already come through 
Kaponga or was on its way there.

            
Howitt's most frequent complaint (e.g. 9/9/07, 4/2/08) was of timber
              


              wagons from the Te Kiri mill getting stuck in the Awatuna. Repeatedly they 
              blocked the ford for up to four hours, and had settlers not piled in and 
              helped the holdups would have been longer. Once a serious accident was 
              narrowly averted when the front part of one of these wagons came away 
              and the horses were frightened. The driver managed to steady them. Again 
              it took hours to get the waggon and timber out of the stream (1/9/08). Other 
              wagons also came to grief. Once one of Moller's wagons loaded with three 
              tons of goods had a big smash-up in the stream and had to be dragged to 
              the local blacksmith's shop for repairs (1/10/08). With these complaints 
              Howitt repeatedly appealed for a bridge to allow ordinary traffic to keep 
              moving while the ford was blocked by these stranded monsters.

            
The cattle regularly fording the stream caused no comment but Howitt 
              noted when large flocks of sheep passed through. Thus in February 1906 
              there was great inconvenience when drovers getting 1100 sheep across 
              blocked the ford for two and a half hours at a time when milk carts were 
              coming to the factory. Local tradesmen joined the drovers to speed up the 
              work (20/2/06). Again in October 1907 it took 10 men and boys four hours 
              to get 700 sheep through the stream. Some were drowned and traffic was 
              seriously impeded. This flock had already passed through 
Kaponga on its 
              way from 
Palmerston North to a Pungarehu property (5 & 11/10/07).

            
In wet weather the ford was dangerous; in the dry it was repellent. 
              Coming to the ford after travelling the dusty roads, weary, thirsty horses 
              found the stream a sad delusion due to pollution by the dairy industry (4/ 
              3/09). As Howitt wrote (23/3/09):

            
The old mountain would be ashamed of the Awatuna steam if she could see it 
              five or six miles away from the deep ravine whence it springs. It comes into 
              life the essence of purity and grace, and then glides down into civilisation till 
              it becomes at Awatuna ford a filthy crossing filled with the refuse of the cow-yard and the dairy factory, and is a place where hardly any animal will drink.

            
We will use Howitt's comments on the ford to introduce our final 
              topic—the appearance and multiplying of motor vehicles on Eltham Road. 
              In April 1908 the ford had him wrestling with the language of this new 
              technology:

            
A motor car got stuck in the Awatuna stream for over an hour one day last 
              week. The water was running rather high that day, and as the car tried to dash 
              through it the water reached the driving gear and cooled off the driving 
              power, with the result above stated. (28/4/08)

            
In the drought of the following March he remarked that ‘the Awatuna 
              ford is a cause of great trouble to motor-car drivers, who frequently come 
              to grief in its slimy waters' (23/3/09). Probably the first motor car to 
              frequent 
Kaponga was that of its visiting dentist, ‘Kickapoo’ Hunter, from 
              about April 1903. But as late as August 1905 Howitt mentioned that ‘the 
              motor cars have not made their appearance yet’ at Awatuna East, owing to
              


              the two unbridged streams between there and 
Kaponga (14/8/05). In 
              February 1906 he reported a considerate motorist, Stewart of Opunake, 
              passing through ‘on his motor car’. Stewart stopped his vehicle some 
              distance away and came to warn owners of unattended horses at Howitt's 
              store that he was passing with his car (14/2/06).

            
By 1908 motors were an established feature of Eltham Road. In May 
              the 
Kaponga Town Board gave permission to chemist and watchmaker T.C. 
              Cadman ‘to erect a galvanised iron motor-car shed adjoining his premises’.

57 
              In October it was the depredations of the Opunake Sawmilling Company's 
              motor wagon on its section of Eltham Road that first led the Eltham County 
              Council to give serious consideration to tollgates.

58 A few weeks later ‘Our 
              Own’ reported a 
New Plymouth motor party breezing through 
Kaponga 
              in the process of motoring around 
Egmont within the day.

59

            
Commercial travellers were prominent in the early motor traffic on 
              Eltham Road. On 10 February 1909 ‘Our Own’ reported:

            
to-day (Tuesday) there [were] no less than eight representatives of wholesale 
              houses in town, their mode of conveyance being by motor. 
Kaponga streets 
              certainly looked up-to-date with four motor cars lined up in front of the business places.

            
By the end of our period the advantage of motor lorries over horses and 
              wagons was becoming apparent. Engineer Basham became a strong advocate 
              of the advantages of motor lorries for roadworks.

60 And with the 
              transformation of the roads by tarsealing speeding became a problem. One 
              night in October 1913 Riverlea's ‘Our Own’ (14/10/13) was angered when 
              driving his gig to 
Kaponga by the ‘criminal carelessness or laziness’ of no 
              fewer than three motorcyclists who passed him ‘travelling probably at thirty 
              miles or more an hour’, not one of whom carried a light. In March 1914 the 
              
Kaponga Town Board decided to write to a local carrier about the menace 
              to the town of the excessive speed of their motor lorry.

61 But not all carriers 
              were a problem. In October 1914 the Eltham County Council engineer 
              described the 
Egmont Carrying Co's drivers as very experienced men who 
              did everything in their power to nurse the roads.
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The Dairy Industry

            
The dairy industry was now the established heart of the making of 
Kaponga 
              livings. Season by season saw new records in gallons of milk delivered to 
              the factory, and in the daily output of boxes of butter and, from 1907, of 
              cheeses. Shopkeepers were delighted with the steady rise in monthly 
              payouts, which were spent largely on their premises. Over these 15 years 
              the co-op's annual milk intake rose by over 60 per cent from around 14 
              million gallons to over 23 million.

1 Farmers were conscious that their 
              industry was forging ahead throughout the country, becoming a weighty 
              element in its economy. In 1900 butter and cheese earned about one-thirteenth of New Zealand's export income; by 1914 the figure neared one-fifth. In 1900 New Zealand supplied 4.85 per cent of British butter imports 
              in 1914, 8.98 per cent; in 1900, 3.05 per cent of the cheese imports, in 1914, 
              an impressive 30.5 per cent. The 
Kaponga district reflected almost all 
              significant national trends, such as growing dairy cow numbers and milk 
              production, a marked shift from butter to cheese production, and a move 
              from proprietary to co-operative factories. In the 1900–01 season New 
              Zealand had 372,416 dairy cows; in 1914–15 there were 725,403. Measured 
              by butterfat content, milk production increased by 130 per cent between 
              the 1901–02 and 1914–15 seasons. In the 1899–1900 season Taranaki was the 
              leading butter province with 41.75 per cent of production, but only third in 
              cheese production; in the 1914–15 season it was first in cheese with 47.96 
              per cent, but only third in butter. In 1900 some 42 per cent of the country's 
              dairy factories were co-operatives; in 1914, 72 per cent.

2 To show how 
              
Kaponga fitted into the burgeoning national industry we first survey the 
              various local concerns and then concentrate on the dominant one, the 
              
Kaponga co-op.

            
As Map 9.1 shows, three groups of factories served 
Kaponga settlers: to 
              the south those of T.L. Joll; to the east, but with a foothold in 
Kaponga itself, 
              those of the Mangatoki Co-operative Dairy Co; and dominating the 
              district's centre those of the 
Kaponga co-op. Thomas Langdon Joll (c. 1859– 
              1908) first came to south Taranaki as a pioneer road contractor, then 
              purchased the store at Okaiawa and started a small butter factory there. He 
              became increasingly involved in the dairy industry, founding creameries to
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              supply his Okaiawa factory and financing men onto farms to become his 
              suppliers. His generosity to settlers and good business judgment made him 
              a powerful competitor to the neighbouring co-operative. In 1906 he built a 
              cheese factory at Kapuni and in 1907 began replacing all his creameries with 
              cheese factories at a cost of about £10,000. When visiting 
Wellington in April 
              1908 Joll died following a traffic accident in Lambton Quay. His widow was 
              able to negotiate with his suppliers for the concern to become a co-operative 
              under the title of the T.L. Joll Co-operative Dairy Company. By September 
              1909 all the former creameries had become dual butter/cheese factories.

3 The 
              Mangatoki Co-operative Dairy Co took over the L & M concern in 1900. 
              Suppliers of its Lower Palmer Road creamery (confusingly called ‘Kapuni’) 
              did not want to go co-operative and T.L. Joll took it over (renaming it 
              Palmer Road). The Mangatoki co-op does not seem to have moved into 
              cheese production until 1912.

4 To the west the Awatuna settlers maintained 
              their independent co-operative factory. Let us now follow the 
Kaponga co-op's fortunes in more detail, while bearing in mind that a significant
              minority of 
Kaponga settlers looked on Mangatoki, Okaiawa or Awatuna 
              as their dairy industry centre.

            
Co-operative dairy factory directors filled a difficult role under intense 
              public scrutiny. 
Kaponga co-op directors, like all members, were share-
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Palmer Road (‘Kapuni’) Creamery of the Loan and Mercantile's Mangatoki butter factory,


                        c. 1900. The settlers, from left, are: George Roots, Julius Lindgren, Fred Hollard, George 

Smith, Con Crowley, Willie Watkins, Syd Clark (all of Palmer Road). The creamery employee 

on the receiving stand is unknown


                holders
 and suppliers, taking their milk along daily. The day-by-day 
              mingling at the factory gave the directors continuous feedback on reactions 
              to their decisions and any other developments. In few other industries were 
              shareholders so intimately involved or directors under such constant 
              scrutiny. Operating thus in a glass case, and in a young industry still shaping 
              its methods and traditions, the directors had to manage the purchase of the 
              raw material, its manufacture into dairy products, and their sale and 
              transport to the other side of the world. All went out under the brand name 
              of ‘
Kaponga’,

5 which was only fitting as all basic decisions affecting quality 
              and disposal were made by this small group of 
Kaponga men. They watched 
              the world, to keep up with changing technology and to decide marketing 
              strategy in the context of global competition. They kept an eye on the New 
              Zealand scene, responding to moves to organise and regulate the industry 
              coming both from within its own ranks and from the government and its 
              young 
Department of Agriculture. They also watched the local region for 
              neighbouring rivals wooing their suppliers and local bodies making 
              decisions on matters vital to their interests. Each September their stewardship was scrutinised by a well-attended annual meeting.

            
Early on the directors had to make some basic ‘infrastructure’ decisions 
              about packaging and transport. Against south Taranaki dairying's general 
              consensus, which opted for Patea as its local port, they chose New
              


              
Plymouth, probably influenced by its long-term prospects as an overseas 
              port and Moturoa's coolstores. A coolstore agreement was among their 
              earliest decisions and within a year or two they inspected Moturoa's facilities 
              and become shareholders in the concern.

6 To ensure a reliable supply of 
              packaging they combined with many other Taranaki dairy companies as 
              shareholders in the 
Egmont Box Company.

7

            
Pressure from cost-conscious shareholders probably hastened the shift 
              from steam to water power. Questioned at the first AGM, chairman Wilkie 
              said that the directorate did not at present contemplate water power to drive 
              the refrigerator. At the 1899 AGM he himself raised the issue, remarking 
              that firewood had proved a very heavy item, and it was decided to get 
              estimates on changing to water power.

8 A year later water power 
              was adopted. ‘Our Own’ (17/10/00) reported that this had been forced by 
              problems in firewood supply due to labour scarcity and decay in the 
              available logs. In feeding their hearth and furnace fires the townsfolk must 
              have cleared their town's vicinity of logs.

            
In 1907 the directors faltered in handling the introduction of cheese 
              manufacture. The 1905–06 season saw butter factories throughout Taranaki, 
              including the 
Kaponga co-op, losing suppliers to cheese factories offering 
              better payouts. T.L. Joll's plan to build five cheese factories aroused vigorous 
              debate among the co-op's shareholders early in 1907.

9 At a special meeting 
              on 12 March co-op chairman R.T.B. Mellow put forward the proposition 
              of installing dual plant and gave £5740 as the estimated cost of putting in 
              cheese factories at their three sites. He said he would vote for the proposal 
              provided shareholders agreed to sign a new ‘joint and several’, but did not 
              give a strong lead, suggesting that labour would be more difficult to find 
              than the money, as the three plants would require 30 men. His seconder, 
              Geoffrey O'Sullivan, supported the proposal vigorously, saying they would 
              lose out to strong rivals if they did not move. Maurice Fitzgerald also gave 
              strong support, giving figures comparing his dairying income with that of a 
              neighbour supplying a cheese factory. Chairman Mellow then expressed 
              agreement with Fitzgerald and told of an offer to erect a cheese factory near 
              his own property if he would guarantee 300 cows. With the matter thus put 
              fairly starkly to them the 40 shareholders present decided to adjourn for a 
              fortnight, many suppliers having been unable to attend due to bush fires 
              raging around Riverlea.

            
The adjourned meeting was also poorly attended—only about 50 
              present from 120 shareholders of whom about 80 were suppliers. Mellow's 
              opening again lacked a strong commitment; he was ‘prepared to go the way 
              the majority went’. He probably felt that as chairman he should maintain 
              a measure of impartiality. From a resolution of the adjourned meeting 
              Wyborn, secretary of Inaha's Riverdale Company, was present and 
              addressed the meeting. He quoted their factory's payouts over the period 
              1894–1907 to show the advantages gained from a dual plant. He answered 
              several difficulties raised by opponents of the proposal, explaining that
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Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co's cheese factory, 1909. On the left the covered way with two


                    receiving stages, next the making room, and on the right the cool curing room


              

[image: Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co's cheese factory, 1909. Inside view of the two receiving stages]
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              buyers were in the field early enough to enable companies to know which 
              product to manufacture, and giving his estimate of the difference in value 
              between skim milk and whey for feed purposes. Cheese required three times 
              as many hands as butter and they might be difficult to get if there were a 
              widespread shift to cheese.

            
A motion to erect cheese plants was moved by Robert Gibson, who 
              estimated that cheese would have brought them at least £5277 more the 
              previous season. Richardson, a shareholder supplying a cheese factory, 
              painted a grim picture of a declining number of suppliers paying dearly for 
              the manufacture of their butter if they refused to move to a dual plant. A 
              Mr White stated that in December he had supplied a butter factory, in 
              January a cheese one, and with 100lb less milk had received £38 more. 
              Several others spoke in favour of the cheese venture but leading settlers 
              William Swadling and E. Wright of Rowan spoke against it. The motion was 
              lost on a show of hands. There was immediate dissatisfaction with this 
              result, with rumours that Fitzgerald had resigned his directorship. A few 
              days later ‘Our Own’ (2/4/07) reported that very few were satisfied with 
              the outcome, that four directors including the chairman had resigned, and 
              that another meeting was being called to reconsider the whole matter.

            
Mellow opened this meeting on 11 April by expressing strong support 
              for cheese plants. It had been widely felt that had a ballot been taken at the 
              previous meeting the motion would have passed. The company had already 
              lost further suppliers. Wright continued his opposition, stating that ‘all our 
              neighbours, including Stratford and Eltham, had rejected the proposal to 
              install dual plants’. His points were given specific answers by other speakers. 
              Dealing with what must have been a common concern, settler Gamlin said 
              that he had supplied a cheese factory for three seasons and got on very well 
              with whey, especially for pigs, though it was not as good as skim milk for 
              calves. Swadling now expressed his position as ‘quite in favour of going with 
              the majority’. On a show of hands there were 26 for, seven against. Wright 
              asked for a ballot. Based on shareholdings this gave 154 for, 47 against. 
              Clearly there had been a good core of supporters for cheese from the start, 
              including most of the directors, but it had taken weeks of debate to bring a 
              wavering majority to see the proposal as something more likely than a 
              daring and expensive gamble.

            
The directors implemented the decision swiftly. While new buildings 
              were being planned, by mid-May cheese-making was already under way in 
              existing premises at both 
Kaponga and Riverlea. When 
Kaponga's new 
              cheese factory adjoining the butter factory was completed ‘Our Own’ (21/ 
              11/07) reported that ‘it is believed to be the most up-to-date factory in the 
              Dominion’:

            
The building consists of making room 85ft 6in × 26ft 4in, and will take nine 
              vats. Cool curing room, 87ft × 31ft 2in, will take a hundred tons of cheese (or 
              about 3000 odd cheeses), has 28 tiers of shelves. Packing room, 36ft × 24ft.
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Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co's cheese factory, 1909. Inside the cool-curing room


            

            
Box room, 24ft × 24ft. Drying room, 31ft 2in × 8ft. Covered way, 64ft × 14ft, 
              has two receiving stages. Three small rooms, namely, starter, wash-up and 
              storerooms, each 12ft 3in × 4ft 6in…. As to the timber, the framing 
              throughout is heart of rimu (seasoned), lining all seasoned kauri, floors in box 
              and packing rooms seasoned heart of matai. Cool curing room outside walls 
              are covered with 6 × 1 T. and G. dressed seasoned heart of kauri, covered over 
              the whole with two-ply insulating paper. All walls surrounding the room are 
              insulated. The floors in making, curing and drying rooms are of concrete 
              thickness.

            
Riverlea's cheese factory had been completed some months earlier. 
              Cream from Rowan continued to be carted to the 
Kaponga butter factory 
              until its cheese factory was completed in December.

10

            
The move to dual plants added a new dimension to one of the directors' 
              most demanding decision-making tasks: negotiating the sale of their 
              produce. It was now not only a question of when to sell (i.e. should they 
              commit only the current month's output or enter a longer commitment?) 
              and where to sell (i.e. locally in response to buyer offers or in 
London, 
              having consigned it for auction there?) but also of deciding whether 
              prospects looked better for butter or cheese. We will now consider how they 
              handled this task down through the years. At the first AGM (5/9/98), three 
              days after production had begun, chairman Wilkie was able to report that 
              they
              


              … had received an offer for their butter that would enable them to pay more 
              for their butter fat than any other company that had as yet proclaimed its 
              price, for the first part of the season. After that they would be guided by the 
              markets.

            
The minute book shows that as early as 7 July the 8 ½d offer of 
              Reimann Bros (probably a British firm) had been accepted, and also that 
              once this agreement ran out sales were for a time made on a monthly basis. 
              For example on 28 February 1899 the offer of British firm Pearson and 
              Rutter of 8d per pound for the March butter was accepted, and on 21 March 
              agreement was reached with 
New Plymouth's Newton King for 300 boxes 
              of the April output. For some idea of how the continuing game between 
              sellers and buyers was played let us go on Wednesday, 30 April 1902, to 
              
Kaponga's Commercial Hotel where Gray, Pearson and Rutter's New 
              Zealand agent, has brought Pearson, a principal of the firm visiting New 
              Zealand, to be entertained by the co-op's directors. We pick up Pearson's 
              response to the toast of the day at the point where he is referring to

            
… the beneficial effect of the Government brand. The public had a guarantee 
              of good faith in the brand. It was not so in 
Australia, whence they sent their 
              butter home unbranded by the Government. Speaking of prices last year, he 
              said they topped the market, and although he hoped the same price would 
              rule this year, circumstances at present did not look so rosy. Of course, last 
              year 
Australia's output was 40 per cent less than previous years; that gave us 
              start. Our natural advantages stood us in good stead. The 
Argentine, he 
              considered, would prove a great competitor, also in the near future South 
              
Africa…. On the selling New Zealand butter as Irish butter he said there 
              was not much of that kind of thing done. For one thing Ireland produced 
              eight times as much butter as New Zealand, and it took ten weeks for our 
              produce to be placed in the consumer's hands, which of course told against it 
              when placed beside the fresh article.

            
From this we see that the task facing the directors was to shape up an 
              equation that took account of such elements as the growing reputation of 
              New Zealand butter in 
Britain, the consequences of production fluctuations 
              such as those created by Australian droughts, and the effect of rising new 
              competing producers, and come up with a prediction of the state of the 
              British market in a month or two's time. If they got it right there were bigger 
              payouts for suppliers and new suppliers won over from less astute or lucky 
              neighbouring concerns, if wrong, the reverse was the case. But how were 
              they to cut through buyer propaganda to discern the truth? And how could 
              they circumvent the playing off of one producer against another? For about 
              a year, beginning in the spring of 1904, they and about a dozen other 
              Taranaki producers had high hopes of an initiative of the 
Hawera Chamber 
              of Commerce. This was the setting up of a Dairy Produce Exchange in 
              
Hawera. At the initial meeting on the morning of 8 September 65 people
              


              assembled in the 
Hawera Council Chambers, including representatives of 
              eight firms of buyers and of factories as far north as Uruti and as far south 
              as Waverley. 
Kaponga was represented by its chairman, Mellow, and 
              Maurice Fitzgerald. Although Fitzgerald said he could not understand how 
              the exchange would work as he thought the exchanges in Britian acted 
              between the dealer and the consumer, the motion to set up the Taranaki and 
              
West Coast Dairy Produce Exchange was carried unanimously. The meeting 
              adjourned while a committee drafted rules for the exchange and these were 
              approved when it reassembled in the afternoon. What a 
Star editorial (25/ 
              3/05) called the Exchange's ‘first practical step’ was taken at its meeting of 
              23 March 1905. The editorial described it thus:

            
There was a representative gathering of factory delegates, and a determination 
              was arrived at to consign the April butter to the 
London market unless 10d 
              per 1b. can be obtained for it on outright sale. When the establishment of the 
              Exchange was first proposed certain directors of factories appeared to view 
              the suggestion with some suspicion because of the fact that it was the ‘buyers’ 
              who were advocating it. But the first actual move on the part of members is 
              one which gives consideration to only one community—the producers. At 
              once the real purpose of the Exchange, from the producers' point of view, is 
              disclosed, and the decision arrived at should have the effect of immediately 
              stimulating interest in the operation of the Exchange. On the other hand 
              there can be no doubt that its existence will save buyers large amounts of 
              time and money.

            
The editor then reported a move for a similar institution in Stratford. 
              
Hawera delegates would attend to recommend uniform action and the 
              convenience of 
Hawera as its centre. A 
Star editorial of 29 April reported 
              that all members who stood out for the agreed 10d a pound had obtained it. 
              It then answered a criticism ‘in some of our contemporaries’ that the 
              exchange lacked definiteness of idea, arguing that ‘experience will crystallise 
              tentativeness into set rules’.

            
From its initiation by the Chamber of Commerce and reports of early 
              producer suspicion it seems that the move for an exchange came from the 
              buyers. Their aim would have been to save themselves much correspondence and lessen the trekking along muddy roads to confer with the widely 
              scattered directors. The buyers too may have been behind the growth of 
              criticism of the exchange, which they must have felt was developing wrong 
              ideas, becoming the instrument for a producers' ring, and not what they had 
              hoped for, a platform for a concerted presentation of a buyers' view of the 
              realities governing prices on the British market. Although they did not 
              realise it at the time, the producers sealed the exchange's fate at the meeting 
              of 11 May 1905. Representatives of 11 companies, including Mellow of 
              
Kaponga, were present. They met first without the buyers' representatives. 
              Emboldened by the success of their combined action on the April output 
              they set the May price at 11d. This was based very largely on their reading
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Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co directors with manager and secretary, 1910 or 1911. Standing: A. V.


                    Tait, G. B. Hill, J. B. Bennie (secretary), C. Farley (manager). Seated: A. McEwan, C. Bates, W.


                    Swadling (chairman), R. Gibson, G. Hollard


              of the local scene. They thought the May butter would be the last of the 
              season available for export, with local consumption of about 10,000 boxes 
              a week absorbing production over the winter. The buyers' representatives 
              (four firms) were called in to receive the decision, but only five producers 
              would guarantee a definite number of boxes at the offering price, with a total 
              of only 1500, of which 
Kaponga offered 350. Buyer dissatisfaction was 
              hinted at by Robertson of J.B. McEwan and Co., who wanted ‘properly 
              recognised regulations' drawn up to govern the sales. He also suggested that

            
… an estimate of the amount to be sold should be forwarded to the buyers a 
              week previous to the meeting. Then they could come prepared with the limits 
              which they would be prepared to offer. If there was a farthing between the 
              limits they could split the difference, and the business could be done at the 
              exchange instead of by telegraph afterwards. At present the buyers came to 
              the exchange for information.

            
Next day the 
Star reported that at least one buyer thought the producers 
              had no chance of getting the price asked for, particularly as a great many 
              factories were not represented. The 
Star thought that these factories would 
              stand by the exchange's price and that with ‘a few good months like the past 
              one’ they would be joining up. The 
Star could not have been more wrong.

            


            
When the exchange reassembled on 1 June it was clear that the May output 
              had not been taken up at the price demanded. Thus Mellow and Fitzgerald 
              of 
Kaponga reported that they had 550 boxes of May butter unsold. The 
              producers' debate showed strong differences of opinion, but Spratt of 
              
Hawera who contended that ‘if the producers sat tight they would come 
              off all right’ found little support. It was finally decided that ‘the May butter 
              be sold at the discretion of factories and that 10 ½d be the price for June’. 
              The three buyers' representatives present were then admitted. Clearly local 
              demand had not absorbed as much as expected, for seven producers offered 
              a total of 1350 June boxes to the buyers (200 by 
Kaponga). When Barleyman 
              of Kaupokonui said his company would not guarantee its offer of 200 boxes, 
              buyer Griffiths expressed displeasure, saying they could not buy imaginary 
              quantities. He gave an instance of selling 200 boxes on an estimate and then 
              getting only 100 of them.

            
The last news of the exchange was of its AGM on 4 August 1905. When 
              arrangements for the new season came up it fell to Mellow of 
Kaponga to 
              convey the buyers' message that they did not want a meeting, preferring to 
              meet the sellers at the factories. A major defect in the exchange approach 
              became apparent when one member said that they could not bring the 
              whole Board of Directors to 
Hawera’. Clearly some boards would not trust 
              delegates with full bargaining powers. The final arrangement for the new 
              season was to appoint a committee to draw up an itinerary for buyers to 
              visit sellers. It was hoped that the many factories that had not joined the 
              exchange would accept this amount of leadership from the 14 that had. The 
              movement's high hopes had proved to be unfounded. Even had all Taranaki 
              factories joined it was quite unrealistic to think they could have operated as 
              a ring deciding their price on a world market.

            
The lesson for 
Kaponga's directors was that they were on their own 
              when selling and must depend on their own wits in playing the market. 
              Over the following years they showed considerable nerve. For the 1906–07 
              season, on a sellers' market, they were able to negotiate record prices with 
              the local buyers.

11 At the AGM on 2 September 1907 chairman Mellow 
              suggested consigning their output rather than selling to local agents. 
              Encouragement for this probably came from the appointment of Charles 
              Mackie, formerly secretary of the Eltham Dairy Company, as the National 
              Dairy Association's 
London representative. Mackie's reply to a request for 
              advice on whether butter or cheese offered the better prospects for the 1907– 
              08 season was read to the meeting. He advised that most dealers had lost on 
              butter last season and would be very careful in the new one. On the other 
              hand increased cheese production due to good prices might bring its price 
              down. His news on cheese production, stocks and imports included specific 
              infornation on 
New South Wales and 
Canada. At the beginning of the 
              1908–09 season the directors took the plunge. After meeting with a number 
              of buyers they decided to consign the season's output. Uncertain of the 
              outcome they kept payouts lower than their neighbours, leading by
              


              December 1908 to some strain on supplier loyalty. Their reward was to 
              report to the 1909 AGM on the most successful season to date.

12 Over the 
              following years they showed considerable acumen in playing the changes 
              on both the butter versus cheese issue and the sales to agents versus consigning one. Thus the 1912 AGM was told of some intricate negotiations, in 
              which the 
Kaponga co-op had come to different conclusions from its neighbours and been proved right. They had held to their judgment even when 
              some shareholders ‘ordered’ them to accept an offer that the outcome 
              showed would have lost over £7000. Their good judgment was confirmed 
              when at the end of the meeting

            
Mr Turner, representing Lonsdale's of 
London, was invited to address the 
              meeting. He did so briefly and mainly on the question of consignment and 
              selling. Some factories, he said, did the wrong thing every year—sold when 
              they should have consigned, and consigned when they should have sold. 
              
Kaponga had done the right thing for the last three years, and their directors 
              could not have done better if they had had the best advice in the world.

13

            
His one criticism was that the previous year 
Kaponga had lost £1500 
              through making butter until the end of October in order to raise £1000 
              worth of calves. The directors would, of course, have been more aware than 
              was Turner that it was wise to pay some heed to the desires of their 
              suppliers.

            
The following season, during the 1913 waterfront strike, the directors 
              had occasion to show how forthright they could be in decisionmaking. 
              Judging that there was a falling market in 
London they were anxious to get 
              as much away as possible on the 
Athenic, sailing from 
Wellington. With the 
              strike, their usual coastal consignment via 
New Plymouth would not have 
              made the deadline. Their gamble on more than recouping the heavy expense 
              of railing from Eltham to 
Wellington paid off. Their 
Athenic cheese realised 
              68s in 
London; by the following boat it would have brought only 64s.

14

            
Our illustrations (pp. 
245 & 
248) serve to introduce the final area of 
              significant decisionmaking to be considered—the appointment and management of staff. The first shows the directors associating themselves with their 
              two key servants, their secretary and the 
Kaponga factory manager, and with 
              cups and trophies won by the quality of their work. The second shows the 
              remaining members of the 
Kaponga factory team dressed in their Sunday 
              best for what they seem to consider an important occasion. These 
              photographs strongly suggest that staff relations were viewed as being at 
              two levels, with the secretary and the managers of the three factories as 
              mature persons ranked on a par with the directors, and the other staff as 
              mainly younger men and ranked more lowly. Our photographs were 
              probably taken late in 1910.

15 The directors' photo appeared with an article 
              on the 
Kaponga co-op in a 
Star supplement of 7 June 1912 for the Dominion 
              Dairy Show being held in 
Hawera. This show was a winter event first held 
              in July 1910 and run by the South Taranaki Winter Show Company, initiated
              


              

[image: ]

Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co, 
Kaponga factory staff, c.1911. Standing: W. Faull, H. Faull, —?,


                  —?. Seated: T. Souness, W. Rawcliffe, H. Briggs, —?. Of those named, all were killed on


                  active service in World War I except H. Briggs, who was seriously wounded


              

[image: Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co, Rowan factory staff, 1910 or 1911. George Dempsey, on the left, was killed at Gallipoli in 1915]

Kaponga Co-op Dairy Co, Rowan factory staff, 1910 or 1911. George Dempsey, on the left,


                  was killed at 
Gallipoli in 1915


              


              by the 
Hawera Chamber of Commerce. Besides the 10 employees in these 
              two photos there were another dozen at the Riverlea and Rowan factories.

            
In the final analysis the co-op's success depended on the quality of the 
              work of these 22 men. Yet we have almost no information on the company's 
              labour relations or on how it went about making its key appointments. 
              From the general success of the enterprise, the steady flow of show awards, 
              and the lack of any news of friction, we are probably right to infer that these 
              matters were prudently handled. Yet we also know of real problems in 
              bringing dairy factory labour conditions into line with the general require 
              ments of the Liberal government's labour legislation. A feel of the labour 
              issues facing the 
Kaponga co-op through the years was given in a paper on 
              ‘Labour and Dairying’

16 read in 1901 to a dairy conference in Palmerston 
              North by Walter Wright, Secretary of the Factory Managers' Association 
              (Factory Butter and Cheese Makers' Association). Wright was to have a 
              distinguished career in the industry. He contended that

            
… the labourer is not fairly treated. Consider for the moment the length of 
              his working days and the number of them; seven days a week with no 
              relaxation…. And then, as soon as the flush of the season is over, he is paid 
              off…. Ask any factory manager what is the physical and mental state of his 
              men, say in December, January and February, and he will tell you that the 
              men are not capable of doing justice to their work … you work the heart 
              and soul out of the men seven days of the week. And eight hours a day? Oh, 
              dear, no; double this in some instances, and you will be nearer the mark. 
              Gentlemen, I will tell you that hundreds of pounds are lost annually by this 
              very reason; just when you want your labourer's best efforts he fails you, and 
              that abused nature can do no more.

            
Wright recommended employing enough labour to roster each man a 
              weekly day off and keep working hours within reason, and compensating 
              for long summer hours with a four-day week in winter. He also attacked as 
              reprehensible the practice of requiring applicants to state salary required. 
              Employers should decide what they were prepared to pay and then get the 
              best man available for that amount. By aiming to underpay they were 
              driving the best men out of the industry, to their own loss. The main 
              industrial issues raised by Wright were dealt with in an agreement thrashed 
              out between the employers and the Taranaki Dairy Industrial Union over 
              the winter of 1907, and in the national award that was developed shortly 
              afterwards.

17

            
Wright's paper and the following discussion show that the factory 
              manager was considered the key figure in the whole enterprise, including 
              its labour relations. Wright gave a good summary of what the co-op's 
              directors would have been looking for in their managers:

            
He must be a butter and checsemakcr, thoroughly understanding the minutest 
              detail of that work; must have a knowledge of engineering, plumbing,
              


              carpentry, tinsmithing, bookkeeping, and he must also be a man of tact to 
              enable him to deal with the number of patrons that he is called into touch 
              with daily, to say nothing of dealing with the number of his assistants that his 
              business requires.

            
At the beginning of each day the manager faced his most sensitive 
              duty—supervising the receipt of milk on the receiving stages, overseeing the 
              recording of quantities and taking of samples for butterfat tests, and 
              maintaining discipline over the quality of the milk supplied. Using tactics 
              ranging from tactful suggestions to stern rejection of unsatisfactory milk, 
              he could have a major influence on the quality of the intake. But handled 
              ineptly this task could soon put him at odds with the suppliers, who as 
              shareholders saw him as an employee. Throughout the day he had to lead 
              his staff, setting standards for the manufacture of a high-quality product. If 
              he had the directors' confidence he would have the men he needed and by 
              expert leadership could ensure that their hours and conditions were 
              acceptable.

            
The evidence suggests that the 
Kaponga co-op chose good managers, 
              who in turn selected good assistants and handled them well. From its 
              founding till the end of the 1913–14 season the main factory had two 
              managers: Raymond Newitt till 1907 and Christopher Farley from 1907 to 
              1914. Under both the steady winning of show awards must have been a great 
              boost to staff morale. Perhaps the most notable such achievement was the 
              winning, in the first year it was competed for, of the 
Auckland A & P 
              Association's ‘beautiful massive silver challenge shield’. This was awarded 
              on the average grade of the company's cheese for the season together with 
              its exhibits for the show.

18 Our p. 
245 photo must have been occasioned by 
              this win of September 1910 and have been taken before the shield's return 
              for the next show. Other indications of 
Kaponga's high standing include the 
              winning of good managerships elsewhere by its staff,

19 and its choice by the 
              
Department of Agriculture's Dairy Division for successful whey-butter 
              experiments over the two seasons 1909–11.
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Dairying prospered over these years as a steadily growing worldwide 
              demand for both fresh milk and dairy products continually outstripped the 
              supply. While new producers, such as Argentina and Siberia, entered the 
              market, growing home demands cut into the exports of older northern 
              hemisphere producers, and some, such as 
Germany, became substantial 
              importers. Telling a 1912 parliamentary commission of these developments, 
              David Cuddie, director of the Dairy Division, mentioned that New 
              Zealanders had also become increasingly generous consumers. While he had 
              no accurate figures for this home consumption he thought that for butter it 
              might involve more than a third of production.
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Kaponga's settlers prospered with the industry, and with a seemingly
              


              assured future they had both the incentive and the means to invest in 
              upgrading all aspects of their farms. In this they were enlightened, goaded 
              and encouraged by the 
Department of Agriculture's very active Dairy 
              Division, by A & P and other shows, by agricultural journalism, and by 
              increasingly stringent government regulation of their industry. Of course 
              they also met with various difficulties and challenges, not the least of which 
              was the daily manning of their milking sheds to cope with their growing 
              herds. We will see how they handled this challenge as we first give a general 
              survey of their progress, and then examine how they faced up to several 
              other difficulties and challenges.

            
Some idea of the range of improvements that could follow initial 
              clearing and stocking was given in 1901 in ‘Notes from a Bush District’ by 
              a 
Star (6/2/01) correspondent apparently resident in the 
Kaponga 
              district:

            
It is strange how particular herds of cows will vary…. I hear of one dairy 
              farmer who last month from 31 cows took £39. Another who is milking on 
              shares took £92 from 72 cows. Another who supplies the Rowan creamery, I 
              am informed, is sending close on 40 lb of milk per cow, and has a 3.9 test. 
              There is no doubt that winter feeding has a lot to do with the output of the 
              season, and it is a pleasant fact to notice the amount of hay that has been 
              saved this summer, also the increasing number of really good cowsheds that 
              are being erected from one end of the district to the other, also the large 
              amount of resowing that is being done and artificial manuring.

            
Steady improvement of herds, cowsheds, pastures, provision of winter 
              feed and the application of fertilisers is also mentioned in other 
              contemporary reports, including those of the 
Hawera subdivision of the 
              
Department of Agriculture. In its 1900 report we read that owners of dairy 
              herds ‘are paying more attention to constitution, culling, breeding, &c’, a and 
              in 1902 that continuing improvement is leading to ‘the poor inbred brute, 
              commonly known as the “free boarder” being absent from most herds’. The 
              1903 report tells of ‘a decided improvement in the class of shed and 
              surroundings throughout the district’ and draws attention to a boom in pig 
              farming.

22

            
A significant rise in the district's pig numbers had already been noted 
              in the 1900 report and accounted for by ‘the inducement given by the 
              erection of several large bacon-factories’. The 
Star (30/5/01) reported pig 
              rearing to be growing, especially between 
Kaponga and Eltham, and that it 
              was ‘nothing unusual for buyers to take away 140 to 150 baconers from 
              
Kaponga in one day’. This growth was driven by a general rise in New 
              Zealand living standards, giving a higher consumption of pork and bacon. 
              On the farms it became more profitable to raise pigs than calves, and more 
              attention was being given to their breeding and feeding.

23 Between 1901 and 
              1906 Taranaki pig numbers more than doubled from 20,000 to 44,000 and 
              bacon factories increased from four to seven. By mid-1906 five firms 
              competed vigorously for 
Kaponga's pigs, for slaughter in both Taranaki and
              


              
Wellington.

24 Before the year's end there was also access to the 
London 
              market. It was Newton King who told the 
Star (6/11/06) of this:

            
… I look for a much reduced supply of calves on account of the export 
              market opening up for pigs, which latter is going to be a splendid thing for 
              the district, for Borthwick's say they are prepared to take as many pigs as can 
              be supplied … If frozen pork will meet with as good a demand as the 
              exporters claim it means a fortune to the dairy farmer.

            
So the bacon factories now competed with 
Kaponga's John Hollard, 
              advertised by Borthwick's as one of three rural agents for pigs for their 
              Waitara works.

25 By 1907 New Zealand's frozen pork exports had doubled. 
              They then fell off, probably due to the shift to cheese.

            
This rush to pigs had various repercussions, some of the ‘nuisance’ 
              variety. In 1907 the 
Kaponga Tradesmen's Association complained to the 
              Town Board of a 
Christchurch Meat Company plan for a pig-receiving yard 
              facing the main street near the town.

26 In 1910 the District Health Inspector 
              asked for, and gained the support of, the Eltham County Council for the 
              regulation of the location of pigsties on account of

            
… a practice prevalent in the county of settlers building pig-styes [sic] on 
              portions of their own sections abutting on to public roads…. the practice 
              was capable of giving rise to considerable nuisance from bad smells arising 
              from the pig-styes, and the barrels of skim-milk, etc., stored near by. It was 
              generally agreed that within a hundred feet of a dwelling-house or road was 
              the minimum of proximity that should be allowed.
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It is easy to see how this practice would have arisen. Sties beside the 
              road would be convenient for dropping off the skim milk from the factory, 
              and for sending off pigs for sale. Meeting these new county requirements 
              would often have forced one well away from the road.

            
In his 1906 chat with the 
Star Newton King mentioned hides as another 
              source of farm income beside those from milk and pigs. Formerly farmers 
              had largely ignored these as there was little demand for them but now the 
              hide and skin market had ‘grown rapidly into a big thing of great value to 
              the farmers’. The rise in pig rearing had added a flood of calf skins to the 
              market. The Agriculture Department's 1908 report for the region—now 
              referred to as the 
West Coast (
North Island) District—reported 75,000 calf 
              skins sold during the year, up from 60,000 the previous year, and (no doubt 
              with a concern for herd replacements) remarked that ‘this “slaughter of the 
              innocents” must in time be felt’.

            
On the farmers' increasing difficulty in finding milkers the Labour 
              Department's reports concurred with those of the Agriculture Department. 
              These the 1901 general survey of the labour market mentioned ‘great 
              differulty in getting young men and lads for dairy tarming’ and in 1903 the 
              
Hawera office reported that ‘men for milking are very scarce’. The April 
              1903 
Farmer, in reporting a farewell to a Manaia settler, told of two speakers
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              agreeing that ‘the dairy industry was pushing the old settlers out, especially 
              those who had no families to do the milking’. But a pungent letter in the 
              
Star (31/12/04) indicates that even some with children had real problems. 
              At a conference a farmer had remarked that ‘the only way to make a success 
              of the dairying industry is to marry early and bring up a family’ and the 
              writer responded:

            
I am sorry to have to take exception to ‘Farmer's’ remarks, but one can do all 
              he advocates, but will he get his cows milked? … I am sorry to say, that 
              from the day a lad leaves school the parents have lost control. If we cheek 
              them or try to correct them it's ‘I'm off.’ I was speaking to a farmer the other 
              day who has six sons. He said, ‘I have to let them do as they like. I dare not 
              say a word, or they would be off and leave me with 80 or 90 cows to milk 
              myself.’ … This has happened, and men and women have to work all hours 
              because their lads of 17 or 18 years have left them in the lurch. And the 
              reason they go is that they have only to open any paper at this time of year 
              and they find, ‘Wanted, a milker; wages, 25s per week.’

            
Any overuse of the more amenable younger children seems to have been 
              largely kept in check by the recurrent raising of the ‘child slavery’ 
              accusation.

28 In the first decade of the new century 
Kaponga's farmers 
              increasingly tried three solutions to their milker problem: milking machines, 
              Swiss immigrant labour, and sharemilking.

            


            
‘Our Own’ first mentioned milking machines in the 
Kaponga district 
              on 6 March 1907. These pioneers had the experience of several well-established fanners near 
Hawera to guide them. In February 1906 the 
Star
              ran seven articles on “The Milking Industry’, two of them devoted to the 
              success of these 
Hawera users of machines. Describing these men's ‘wild 
              enthusiasm’ for their machines the writer quoted the experience of D. 
              Buchanan of Tokaora, who had installed two machines run by a four-horse 
              powerengine:
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Recently he had the misfortune to have a child fall ill with the result that he 
              was deprived of Mrs Buchanan's assistance. That left him alone in the shed 
              with sixty-two cows to deal with. Under other circumstances he would have 
              been in a fix indeed but with the aid of machinery he is able to cope with the 
              work and turn his herd out, properly milked, in two hours and a half. His 
              own words are: ‘I never expected to be so pleased with them; the machines 
              have exceeded my wildest hopes.’ Mr Buchanan pointed out that to do the 
              work now being done three men at 25s per week and keep would have had to 
              be employed … ‘When I say that the plant cost £190,’ said Mr Buchanan, 
              ‘you can figure it out for yourself. I reckon the machines are worth three 
              pounds a week to me.’
29

            
A detailed description was given of milking time at Gane's shed at 
              
Normanby, where a family team of five put through 125 cows in one hour 
              50 minutes:

            
One boy brings the cows in, bails and leg-ropes them and when the forty are 
              snugly established in their stalls turns to and does a little stripping. There are 
              four machines, two attached to each bucket, and an attendant is required for 
              each pair. The pulsators are deftly attached to the teats, and there they hang 
              drawing the fluid in an uninterrupted stream into the receptacle. Beyond 
              being fastened, the machine requires very little attention. But very little time 
              is allowed the attendants to chat to the visitor…. The machines keep them 
              going at top speed, putting the pulsators on, taking them off, emptying the 
              milk to the buckets and rushing it to the receptacles outside the shed…. 
              Almost before one realises it the workers have got to the end of the row of 
              contented kine.
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He went on to describe how the two rows of 20 bails each were filled 
              with successive intakes of cows, down which the two machine attendants 
              moved followed by two strippers. He found the cows much more contented 
              than when hand-milked, and back into the fields an hour earlier, having bee 
              milked at a faster rate than a cow a minute.

            
A good number of 
Kaponga settlers must have installed machines for 
              the 1907–08 season for by January W.K. Howitt, Awatuna East's perceptive 
              ‘Our Own’ (18/1/08), was writing of their impact on the appearance of the 
              countryside:

            
Milking machines run by water power are getting very numerous, and the big 
              water wheels driven by a plentiful supply of water give the country a more 
              interesting appearance, and make many a new chum—and many an old chum 
              too—think of the land where ‘the auld folk lie’.

            
Howitt, it seems, saw similarities between the relics of the water-powered days of the early Industrial Revolution that he had seen on a visit
              ‘Home’ and what was developing around him at Awatuna East. We have no 
              such comments from elsewhere in the district, but probably big waterwheels
              


              were common around 
Kaponga in the early machine milking days, 
              providing a cheap source of power until the farmers could afford the more 
              reliable, but more expensive, internal combustion engines. The shift to 
              milking machines was on the one hand hastened by generous credit terms 
              offered by the competing manufacturers,

31 and on the other retarded by 
              widespread reports of their disastrous effects on milk quality. It took real 
              diligence to keep the early machines thoroughly clean. Improvements in the 
              machines and a drive, led by the Dairy Division, for the highest levels of 
              hygiene in their use, eventually mastered this problem.

32 By 1913 there were 
              over 4000 machines, and 
Kaponga must have had a good number.

            
But milking-shed labour was still needed, by both those who hurried 
              into machines and those who did not. The 
Star of 3 February 1906 carried 
              the welcome news of some recently arrived Swiss milkers:

            
Exactly how many there are is hard to state in the absence of any official 
              records, but round about 
Kaponga in particular there are not a few. These 
              men have taken positions in the sheds, and from the information we have are 
              good milkers. They are clean in habits and thoroughly reliable, treat the 
              animals under their care well, and generally live a quiet and retired life. They 
              seldom visit the township near by … These immigrants are, generally, well 
              educated and read considerably—mostly in German…. The men are quick 
              to pick up the language of their adopted country, and some who were first 
              arrivals now read English with ease. During the course of conversation with 
              one who had arrived a short time previously a representative of the STAR 
              gathered that some of the immigrants had money, but all were prepared to 
              take positions until they got into the ways of the country, when in all 
              probability they would try to secure farms for themselves … Asked why he 
              had come out to the colony the Swiss stated he had friends out here, but did 
              not know what had induced them to come here. He stated that others were 
              coming.

            
Census returns show that after declining slowly in the 1890s the 
              country's Swiss-born grew by 40 per cent to 464 between 1901 and 1906, 
              largely through a doubling of the number in Taranaki from 94 to 188. By 
              1911, with a further increase to 247, Taranaki had almost half the dominion's 
              Swiss-born. Other immigrants were arriving in New Zealand over these 
              years; for example from 
Australia, on account of hard times there, and from 
              
Britain, encouraged by a renewal from 1904 of some New Zealand 
              government assistance to approved applicants. A few of these came to the 
              
Kaponga district, but the welcome, unexpected Swiss seem to have been the 
              largest influx, and they made 
Kaponga their provincial centre.
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References to sharemilking began to appear in the 
Star in the early 
              1900s. The New Zealand origins of the system are unclear.

34 It could not, of 
              course, become common until farms were well established enough, and 
              dairying prosperous enough, to provide a living for the sharemilker and a
              


              reasonable return for the owner. An article on the decline of Victoria's dairy 
              industry reprinted from the 

Auckland Weekly News in the 
Star of 19 
              February 1902 commented that ‘Perhaps family labour and the system of 
              milking on shares have saved the New Zealand dairy industry from the 
              misfortune which has fallen on Victoria.’ It is in casual references such as 
              this, in advertisements by owners and sharemilkers, and in court 
              proceedings and newspaper correspondence arising from disagreements, 
              that the rise of the practice is made evident.

35 A 
Star series on ‘Our Staple 
              Industries' shows that by 1910 a period of sharemilking was seen as a regular 
              stage in the journey from learner milker to freehold dairy farmer.
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We must see how 
Kaponga's farmers handled various other issues and 
              challenges. In May 1901 they met to consider forming a local branch of the 
              recently launched New Zealand Farmers' Union. After much discussion the 
              motion to form a branch was carried by a majority of one. A week or two 
              later the 
Kaponga branch called the Riverlea farmers together to consider 
              forming a branch. Initially they dodged the challenge, deciding, against 
              
Kaponga advice, to join 
Kaponga. As 
Kaponga expected, their attendances 
              were poor, so it renewed the pressure and a branch was finally formed in 
              November 1901. The 1902 a branch was formed at Rowan. After some early 
              enthusiasm all three branches wilted, but with occasional stirrings of 
              renewed interest. In his doctoral study of the union Tom Brooking comments that ‘Apathy of rank and file members and the general indifference 
              of the wider farming community were problems which continued to plague 
              the NZFU.’

37 We need to account briefly for both the appearance of the 
              
Kaponga, as elsewhere, doubtless owed much to farmers feeling increasingly 
              hassled, used and imposed upon by bureaucrats, middlemen and financial 
              institutions. Inspectors of the Departments of Agriculture and Health were 
              now coming to the farms and enforcing the culling of diseased animals and 
              the resiting or upgrading of sties and sheds. Where would this interference 
              end? Dairy farmers also feared that labour legislation would be applied to 
              the industry's disadvantage, to meet growing criticism of the untimely 
              milking hours and the effects of seven-day-a-week manning of both sheds 
              and factories. But 
Kaponga's settlers were already campaigning for their 
              needs and expressing their discontent through their industry's various 
              institutions and through local and national politics. They must have found 
              the NZFU an added imposition, cutting into limited time and energy that 
              might well be spent enjoying some of the social and cultural opportunities 
              that prosperity was bringing.

            
Over these years the 1913 waterfront strike was undoubtedly the most 
              dramatic outside challenge to the interests of 
Kaponga farmers. They would 
              have received the appeal from J.G. Wilson, NZFU president, for volunteers 
              to register at their nearest NZFU branch, either to man the 
Wellington 
              wharves, or (for men with horses) to act as special constables. He pointed 
              out:

            


            
Your industry is seriously threatened by the strike… If this goes on we shall 
              have no coal for our factories. Many thousands of pounds' worth of your 
              butter are in the store in 
Wellington unable to be shipped. Hundreds of tons 
              are arriving every day in the store. If there is no coal the work will be 
              stopped, the butter perish, and the fruit of your industry will be lost.
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Volunteers went to 
Wellington from various parts of south Taranaki but 
              it is not known to what extent 
Kaponga was involved. However, in her 
              family history 
Blank Cheque to Life (p. 
226) Marie Cleland tells how 
              Awatuna East farmer, Ralph Farquhar, responded to the call:

            
They need mounted men, Sarah! Peter's an excellent horse—and with the 
              sharemilkers, I'm free to go—it's my duty to go.’…

            
Ralph bade them goodbye and with his mount joined others en route to 
              
Wellington … nor felt Ralph any qualms other than the regretful pressure of 
              circumstances which made this action necessary.

            
When he returned it was near Christmas. He was full of praise for his 
              mount, Peter, whose performance, he said, had been magnificent. He had little 
              else to say. His batten [sic] with its leather wrist-strap Sarah made use of for 
              pounding the washing and lifting it from the copper.

            
This probably typifies the feeling of the majority of farmers—they would 
              not meekly submit to seeing their hard-earned produce lie rotting, but they 
              took no pleasure in having to act against their fellow countrymen.

            
In the 1904–05 season, just as the town began battling typhoid, the 
              farmers became involved in a not dissimilar battle against the virus disease 
              of blackleg among their calves. The disease was apparently introduced 
              around 1890 in bone dust from 
India, used to fertilise turnips on a farm near 
              Waitara, and from there it gradually spread in north Taranaki. Its presence 
              caused a high mortality among calves aged from three to five months. 
              Fortunately a vaccination against the disease was available.

39 When it 
              suddenly swept across south Taranaki in the spring of 1904 the government 
              acted quickly, imposing a strict quarantine over the whole province and 
              south as far as 
Wanganui, requiring the burning of all dead animals without 
              delay, and getting a free vaccination programme under way. There was some 
              initial farmer protest, and some again in 1906 when there was trouble with 
              a faulty supply of vaccine,

40 but the general picture was of good administration by the 
Department of Agriculture and co-operation by the settlers. 
              Within a year or two it was well under control. However its rapid spread 
              across South Taranaki must have been one of the causes of the sudden move 
              to slaughter young calves and switch to raising pigs.

            
Finally we look at challenges arising from booming land prices. Most 
              
Kaponga pioneer settlers had paid a £1 an acre for their virgin land. By the 
              time the co-op started in 1898 the going rate for developed land was £10 an 
              acre, and by 1912 this had risen to about £50.

41 Of course by this time virgin 
              blocks were very much a thing of the past. These changes had great
              


              economic and social implications. If he thought only of himself many a 
              settler could retire as a wealthy man. But if a family operated as a clan, 
              aiming to see a number of sons established on farms, it faced a real challenge. 
              Some clans opted to stay in the district, helping the next generation to make 
              their way up, with sharemilking as a common strategy. Others opted to sell 
              up and move as a clan to a fresh start on a new settlement frontiers, most 
              commonly in eastern Taranaki or the 
Waikato. Whatever the tactic, the 
              result was much moving about. Awatuna East's ‘Our Own’ (16/7/08) had 
              these wry comments on the general winter shift of 1908:

            
… loads of furniture from other parts can be seen passing along the road 
              almost daily. If the people make a rise each time they shift some of them 
              ought to be pretty well off by now. Too much shifting, however, is not good, 
              and very often the rise is a Dutchman's one.

            
In a 1913 contribution to the 
Star (26/7/13) 
Hawera farmer and dairying 
              leader J.B. Murdoch also had reservations on the matter

            
This shifting population is a deterrent to the progress of the district, as not 
              sufficient interest is taken by the temporary farmers in any movement of a 
              lasting nature to help the district along. It also checks the social life in so far 
              as one does not know his neighbour in many cases long enough to get well 
              acquainted.
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Professionals and Public Servants

            
We have already seen the impact that the coming of resident professionals 
              had on the district. We must now show that this was but one element in a 
              much wider and more pervasive shift the community was undergoing, 
              arising both from the maturing of the settlement and from the direction in 
              which western civilisation was developing. 
Kaponga's first listing in 
Wise's 
                Post Office Directory in 1890 has 45 of the 50 residents as ‘settler’, and the 
              word ‘farmer’ does not appear. The 1904 list of 96 residents has only 34 
              settlers, but 30 farmers, and the remaining 32 follow a wide variety of 
              callings. The 1890 list reflects a settlement at the 
Robinson Crusoe stage, 
              with settlers doing whatever has to be done, however crudely, to bring 
              civilisation to the wilderness—roadmaking, sawmilling, bush carpentry, 
              carrying, storekeeping, whatever. The 1904 list reflects a maturing community (shall we say a 
Middlemarch stage) in which specialists are now 
              getting things done ‘properly’, allowing the occupiers of rural sections to 
              concentrate on being real farmers. But something else is happening too: a 
              worldwide transformation moving on from the 
Middlemarch stage. To 
              provide quality dairy produce to a far distant market the district has had to 
              join a new modern world which, in the words of Harold Perkin

            
… is the consequence of a myriad human activities which have only one 
              thing in common: they are increasingly diverse, increasingly skilled—in a
              


              word, increasingly professional. The twentieth is not, 
pace Franklin D. 
              Roosevelt, the century of the common man but of the uncommon and 
              increasingly professional expert.
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As the countryside filled up and land prices rocketed it became very 
              clear that many of the young people growing up on the bush farms and in 
              the township could not expect to find their futures as farmers, rural 
              tradesmen or shopkeepers. Fortuitously, new employment outlets were 
              multiplying, drawing on a very different ideal to the yeoman one on which 
              the district was founded. The yeoman ideal, based on the acquisition and 
              mastery of land, saw enterprising workers making their way up ‘farming 
              ladders' to freeholder status by ‘honest toil’, creating family enterprises 
              whose standing was determined by the peer judgment of the local community. The new professional ideal was based not on property at all, but on 
              trained expertise giving human capital. This expertise had to be suitably 
              certified so as to make it transferable from place to place. (Thus Drs Noonan 
              and Maclagan had entry to a world market through their 
Edinburgh 
              degrees.) Its status was much more individualistic than that of the yeoman, 
              being based on personal accomplishment rather than family enterprise. This 
              was determined by a wider world judging the career one built up, either by 
              establishing a successful ‘practice’, or by being selected for promotions on 
              merit, which was largely determined by one's ‘credentials’.

            
To grasp much of what was going on in our district from the mid-1890s 
              on, we must understand that this process reached down to a very low level. 
              Not only doctors and lawyers but the humblest applicants to the civil 
              service, the railways and the post office had to meet credential requirements. 
              Thus, under the Civil Service Reform Act 1886, no person could be 
              appointed permanently in the civil service to a position in defence, the police 
              or as a prison officer ‘unless he has passed an examination equivalent to that 
              of the Fourth Standard of Education’. This public service approach was 
              widely copied in the private sector. So 
Kaponga young folk seeking careers 
              outside of farming had very limited prospects unless they passed Standard 
              4; much better ones if they passed Standard 6. If they had civil service 
              ambitions they could try their fortunes in the Junior Civil Service 
              Examination. Set up under the 1886 act, this examination was intentionally 
              set at a level to which senior primary school pupils could aspire. It was 
              deliberately designed to give country equal chances with city in manning 
              the public service, and to eliminate ‘jobbery’ in cadetship appointments by 
              requiring that they be offered automatically in the order in which successful 
              candidates in the exam had been ranked.

            
Parallel with the rise of professionals and of the need for credentials 
              came the growth of bureaucracies, with the central government as their most 
              notable sponsor. The settlers were quite happy to depend upon the state for 
              a wide range of services from railways, a savings bank, telegraph and public 
              schools to agricultural guidance and labour bureaux. To manage these
              


              nationwide activities and recruit and deploy the professional skills they 
              needed, bureaucratic structures were put in place. Bureaucracies are characterised by hierarchy and centralisation, with lines of authority operating 
              under codes of laws and regulations. Their growth inevitably led to some 
              friction with the 
Kaponga rural world, where folk were used to sorting 
              things out in face-to-face discussion, by means of mutual understandings 
              rather than rigid rules. Of course the original shape of the settlers' world 
              had been decided by surveyor professionals directed by a bureaucracy, but 
              for years thereafter they had been left largely to themselves and to the local 
              bodies that they themselves manned. But now it was their own prosperity, 
              their quest for its further development, the need to solve local problems, 
              and the appetite for modern conveniences and luxuries that brought 
              professional services among them, together with the associated bureaucracies. Especially from the mid-1890s these new realities had manifold 
              implications for the making of 
Kaponga livings. We will look at some of 
              the ways in which they worked out in two areas. We will turn first to the 
              state schools, looking at them not from the viewpoint of pupil experience, 
              as in 
Chapter 6, but as places where staff made their livings and pupils gained 
              credentials vital for their future careers. We will also look at some of the 
              consequences for 
Kaponga of government initiatives in technical education 
              in the early years of the 20th century. We will then look more briefly at how 
              health professionals served the district, operating mainly under individual 
              and local initiatives.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

The Role of Schools



            
The Role of Schools

            
Each year the 
Education Department's annual report provided a detailed list 
              of the staffing of all the public schools in the previous December. We will 
              use 
Table 9.1, showing the staff of the schools serving the 
Kaponga area as 
              reported in December 1897, as our starting point. They belong to two 
              education board districts, as the 
Wanganui board's boundaries took in the 
              
Hawera County. We will then see how senior pupils made their way into 
              the teaching profession, follow this with a discussion of what making a 
              living in teaching was like for head and sole teachers, and then look at some 
              important new educational developments of the early years of the new 
              century.

            
When we relate the attendance figures of 
Table 9.1 to its expenditure 
              columns we find that under the capitation system (explained in 
Chapter 6) 
              all of these schools were running at a loss. With an average attendance of 
              71, 
Kaponga school would have earned £266 5s for the year, but the 
              expenditure columns add up to £300 11s. In the 1897 year 
Kaponga school 
              had earned rather less than 90 per cent of its costs, Kapuni a little less than 
              80 per cent, and Rowan Road only around 59 per cent. Not only were all 
              these schools steadily losing money but the district was continually asking 
              the boards for more school space to cope with its growing population.

            


              

                
TABLE 9.1: Schools of the 
Kaponga District, end of 1897
                

                  
	
Schools
                  
	
Teachers
                  
	
Position
                    

†
                  
	
Salary
                  
	
Attend
                    

*
                  
	
Capitation Maintenance
                  
	
Expenditure Buildings, &c
                  
	
Salaries
                  
	
Other
                

                

                  
	

Wanganui Board
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	£
                  
	
                  
	£
                  
	£
                  
	£
                  
	£
                

                

                  
	
Kaponga
                  
	Charles MacLean
                  
	HM
                  
	193
                  
	71
                  
	266.25
                  
	262.6
                  
	16.8
                  
	21.2
                

                

                  
	
                  
	Johanna King
                  
	FP
                  
	40
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
                  
	Frank Raikes
                  
	MP
                  
	39
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Kapuni
                  
	Frances J. Davis
                  
	HF
                  
	143.75
                  
	66
                  
	247.5
                  
	203.9
                  
	14.3
                  
	92.2
                

                

                  
	
                  
	Una W. Powle
                  
	FP
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	
Taranaki Board
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Palmer Rd
                  
	W.M. Saunders
                  
	M
                  
	111.5
                  
	27
                  
	101.25
                  
	119.25
                  
	12.8
                  
	….
                

                

                  
	(i.e Mahoe)
                  
	Mrs Denham
                  
	S
                  
	10
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Rowan Rd
                  
	R.E. Dowling
                  
	M
                  
	108.5
                  
	21
                  
	78.75
                  
	121.9
                  
	11.3
                  
	….
                

              

            


            
The boards' problem of getting adequate staffing for as little money as 
              possible was solved largely by their manipulation of the pupil-teacher 
              system. This was the practice, inherited from England, of recruiting most 
              of the teaching staff from the upper primary school via pupil-teacher 
              apprenticeships, to be trained on the job by the head teacher, and prepared 
              for teacher's certificate exams run by the department. Since they were paid 
              only apprentice wages, pupil-teachers represented cheap labour, so the 
              boards loaded their systems with far more pupil-teachers than could 
              possibly find positions as trained teachers. They could do this because the 
              takers were mainly girls, for whom few other ‘professional’ callings were 
              available, and most of whom were looking for a short-term career before 
              marriage. The result was a steady ‘feminisation’ of the teaching profession. 
              There were only 64 women teachers to every 100 men in 1878, but numbers 
              were equal by the mid-1890s and had moved up to 173 per 100 men by 1914. 
              The small number of boys taking pupil-teacherships were less exploited. 
              Their apprentice pay was somewhat more generous, and if they qualified 
              the profession's top positions were reserved for them by popular prejudice.

            
To keep its schools well manned probably no board in the country 
              manipulated the social and economic realities more ruthlessly than 
              
Wanganui. 
Table 9.1 fails to indicate one of its shrewdest strategies, the use 
              of unpaid cadets who taught half-time in the hope of eventual appointments 
              as pupil-teachers. The practice was begun in the later 1880s and by 1897 the 
              board reported that it had 40 such positions. Cadets were being appointed 
              at 14, with some younger pupils working as monitresses to establish a claim 
              to a cadetship. Cadets remained on the roll and so earned capitation payments for the board. Using the 1897 staff lists as a starting point, and adding 
              information gleaned elsewhere on cadetships, let us see how some of the 
              local youth made their way into teaching.

43 Johanna King, daughter of 
              Rowan Road settler Andrew King, was well established as Charles 
              MacLean's right-hand support in wrestling with his school of around 100 
              pupils.

44 There are indications that she had been a cadet before appointment 
              as a pupil-teacher back in 1894. Another pupil teacher, Fred Gabites, from 
              a Palmer Road farming family, joined the staff at the beginning of 1897. In 
              May the board informed him there was no 
Hawera vacancy for him, but in 
              August they sent him there.

45 Gabites was replaced by Frederick Raikes, 
              cadet at Okaiawa, now beginning his pupil-teachership. He was probably 
              the son of one of the two Okaiawa farmers with that surname. He was still 
              listed at the school in December 1898 and at Kapuni in December 1899, and 
              seems to have gone on to a successful teaching career.

            
At its meeting of 14 June 1897 the board made two cadetship appointments that were to affect 
Kaponga School. Thomas Farr was appointed to 
              
Kaponga, but apparently did not cope as he failed in the examination a few 
              months later and disappears from the record. Mabel Hilles, probably the 
              daughter of Manaia settler W.M. Hilles, was appointed cadet at Manaia. By 
              1898 she had begun a pupil-teachership there and in September 1900 she was
              


              transferred to 
Kaponga. The 
Star (7/2/02) reported that at their end-of-year 
              concert in 1901 the scholars and parents presented her with a handsome gold 
              brooch. She must have been leaving for the assistant's position at Riverlea, 
              where she is recorded for the next two Decembers. She was better treated 
              than Johanna King had been a year or two earlier. The December 1898 returns 
              show Johanna to have gained her teacher's certificate, but she was still on a 
              pupil teacher's salary of £52 10s in December 1899. She had written to the 
              board and been informed ‘that there is no vacancy for a junior assistant’. 
              This employment of fully qualified staff as ‘ex-pupil-teachers’ was another 
              way that the board exploited young women to the benefit of its school 
              system. Fortunately for Johanna she had by 1900 won an assistant's position 
              at Eltham. From 1902–05 the returns show her at Mangatoki on a salary of 
              £100. She was back as an assistant at 
Kaponga in the Decembers of 1911 and 
              1912, having returned from a position at Makowhai, near Sanson. In June 
              1913 she moved to the wider world of 
Palmerston North to a position at 
              College Street, a school with seven teachers and six pupil-teachers.
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We round out our examples with Jeremiah Crowley, a young man who 
              finally opted for farming after a successful beginning as a pupil-teacher. 
              Jeremiah, a son of the widowed Hannah, attended the Kapuni School, 
              probably from his stepfather's Neill Road farm, passing Standard 6 in 1897. 
              He became a cadet at Kapuni—the board minutes of 13 March 1899 show 
              them writing to inform him that ‘he will be promoted in his turn’. In 
              November 1899 he was appointed a pupil-teacher at Kapuni School. The 
              
Star of 2 July 1900 reported him at Riverlea, gaining a good pass in his pupil-teacher's exam. It must have been shortly thereafter that he began his
              successful farming career.

            
Much of this exploitation of young entrants to teaching ceased in 1902 
              when the government implemented a national salary and staffing schedule 
              and took over direct responsibility for its funding. However, ‘on-the-job’ 
              pupil-teacher training continued to be the main way of entering teaching. 
              Over the 15 years 1900–14 some 10 young people appear as pupil-teachers 
              in the December staff listings of the 
Kaponga district schools. Thus these 
              schools made a significant contribution to first providing credentials to, and 
              then training, new entrants to the profession. In looking at pupil-teachership 
              we have seen some significant ways in which credentialled ‘professional’ 
              jobs differed from farming. They were managed by bureaucratic structures 
              not by informal family discussions. Staff moved to meet the system's needs; 
              trainees under direction to meet short-term needs, trained staff by applying 
              for ‘vacancies’ to meet more permanent needs. What a farmer was up to at 
              any time could usually be readily understood by his neighbours in terms of 
              local circumstances. But to understand what a teaching ‘professional’ was 
              up to you had to grasp his profession's code and the wider world of its 
              bureaucratic control. The ‘credentialling’ role these schools were playing for 
              entry to the ever-widening range of occupations in both public and private 
              sectors is too complex to survey. However, our pupil-teacher examples have
              


              given a good feel of how it all differed from the simpler settler world.

            
Not only the children looked forward anxiously to the annual examination day, for the teachers' reputations and careers were also at stake. 
              Everyone did their best to put the inspector in a good mood. Looking back 
              in 1958 to his 1906–14 schooling at Awatuna, an old boy recalled:

            
Inspector's Day was the event of the year. The inspector arrived by horse and 
              buggy and two boys were detailed to unharness the horse and paddock it. We 
              all turned out in our Sunday best, looking as intelligent as possible.
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When Inspector James Milne arrived one October morning for the 1897 
              examination of 
Kaponga School he found that 90 of the roll of 101 were 
              present. Headmaster MacLean would have been pleased that all but one of 
              the absentees were from the junior pupil-teacher's primer class of 31, which 
              was not examined. He must have held high hopes for the day. The school 
              was now past its difficult early years. He himself had prepared the 46 senior 
              scholars for the day's trials. The competent Johanna King had taught the 24 
              being presented in Standards 1 and 2. He was to be bitterly disappointed. 
              In the senior classes 21, including the cadet, were failed. However, in 
              Standards 1 and 2 all but one passed. In his report the inspector provided 
              this brief assessment of the year's work:

            
Altogether the school has passed a very poor examination. Much of the work 
              was very ‘sloppy and careless’ giving evidence of poor training and a want of 
              thoroughness in the teaching. Reading has been well taught.
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Within the atmosphere of the time these results would have been 
              perused avidly by all interested in the school and its teachers. MacLean 
              would know that the 69 per cent pass rate compared badly with the board 
              district's average (82.3 per cent for 1897) and also with his own school's 72 
              per cent of two years earlier. He would also have read Milne's comments as 
              fixing the blame squarely on his own shoulders, seeing the remark that 
              ‘reading has been well taught’ as implying a comparison between the results 
              of Johanna's work and his. He must have felt that the whole judgment was 
              unjust. It was not poor teaching on his part but the rampant intrusion of 
              the rising dairy industry into his pupils' lives that was spoiling their 
              schoolwork. Johanna's superior results came from pupils as yet too young 
              for the slavery of the milking shed. MacLean put his concern to the board. 
              Its minutes of 18 January 1898

49 record its response:

            


Kaponga. Teacher's explanation re examination results and explaining how the 
              children are overworked at dairy work. Resolved that the letter be received 
              and regret be expressed that such a state of things should exist.

            
Unfortunately MacLean misread the resolution's intention and the 
              board had to write to him again explaining that it ‘was not in any way a 
              reflection upon him, but that ‘the “state of things” referred to was the 
              excessive strain put upon the children by the milking duties’.
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At its May 1898 meeting the board had before it ‘Mr C. MacLean's 
              application for removal’. MacLean must have felt deserving of consideration 
              for his hard work in establishing the school and then wrestling with the 
              competition of dairying. He was told he would be considered when there 
              was a suitable opening, and received a similar reply when he applied again 
              in November 1899. Meanwhile he had received another blow when the 
              opening of Riverlea School at the beginning of 1897 reduced 
Kaponga's roll 
              and accordingly his salary (it dropped from £193 in 1897 to £163 13s in 
              1899). He must have known that the board would have difficulty placing 
              him elsewhere since ‘credential-minded’ committees would insist on 
              applicants/with better records in examination percentages. In the end he 
              escaped from 
Kaponga in June 1904 by accepting a position under the 
              
Auckland Education Board.

            
MacLean's replacement was a younger man from the Manawatu-Rangitikei district, Peter Matheson, probably in his late twenties. Matheson 
              came from the headmastership of Mangaonoho, on the main-trunk line 
              north of Hunterville, where he had taught around 50 pupils with the 
              assistance of a pupil-teacher. Mangaonoho had enjoyed a few boom years 
              of railway construction and sawmilling but by 1904 it must have been clear 
              that the school would decline as the district settled down to sheep farming. 
              The move to 
Kaponga must have seemed a worthwhile promotion. The 
              school had an attendance half as large again as Mangaonoho's, a rising roll, 
              and the assistant was a fully trained teacher, not a pupil-teacher. It was in a 
              maturing township in a rising and prosperous district. Matheson probably 
              envisaged (rightly) that for the next few years his status and salary would 
              grow with the school.

            
Within a year or two 
Kaponga was a three-teacher, three-roomed 
              school. Matheson's salary had jumped from around £170 to £190 on his 
              move from Mangaonoho and rose steadily to £240 in 1911 through the 
              growth of 
Kaponga's roll. Matheson later reported that when he was 
              appointed to 
Kaponga the chief inspector had told him he was going to a 
              difficult school.

51 He probably felt that this was a challenge to show his real 
              capabilities as a teacher. What he would not have been told, or realised, was 
              that he was walking into a trap from which the previous teacher had just 
              gladly escaped. He was going to a school where the best of teaching could 
              not get results to match those of schools not handicapped by the effects of 
              dairying. And without those results he would be unable to win the longer-term promotion he must have hoped for, to a larger school in one of the
              more important centres.

            
At the end of his first week at 
Kaponga Matheson recorded his 
              impression in the log book: ‘I find the children very slow and unresponsive. 
              They do not move about in a bright and smart manner.’ But within a short 
              time he had completely changed the school's tone, largely by sharing his 
              enthusiasm for sport with the children on the playground. The school's 1951 
              diamond jubilee booklet (p. [19]) recorded that
              


              Mr. Matheson and Miss Henn … found time not only to teach the three R's 
              but to encourage the outdoor sports of the school. This could be called the 
              ‘Golden Era’ of sports in the district—school cricket, football, soccer and 
              hockey—Mr. Matheson encouraged them all—we remember how he 
              constantly came to play with us at playtime and after lunch—his cork-handled cricket bat—the ball just glided away from it—and his cork-handled
              hockey stick—what a contrast to our bush and willow hockey sticks—and 
              the results.

            
The writer proceeded to recount 
Kaponga's golden age of sport, which 
              we will survey in our next chapter. While there was a little local criticism of 
              Matheson's ‘obsession’ with sport, most parents seem to have agreed with 
              his contention that it had a positive effect on the children's class work.

52 In 
              July 1913 the 
Wanganui Education Board's chairman, secretary and chief 
              inspector made a motor tour of their south Taranaki schools. After 
              inspecting 
Kaponga's grounds and buildings the chairman addressed the 
              children and granted them a half holiday. He was a little nonplused to find 
              that a number would have preferred to stay at school.

53 But these pupils' 
              high regard for what went on at school was not reflected in the inspectors' 
              report on their annual visit of 7 October 1913. When he received this 
              Matheson wrote in the log book on 26 October:

            
I received the report from the inspectors. That which could be reported on 
              adversely was reported on! but all work of good quality was 
not mentioned. 
              This is most disheartening and unsatisfactory to a teacher while it can not fail 
              to give 
all who read it the impression that the school is in an extremely 
              unsatisfactory state. I maintain that all things taken into consideration the 
              school is in as good a state of efficiency as reasonable men could desire. I 
              know that I have put in a strenuous year and have done the work of two 
              teachers. I should like to get a little credit for some of the work I have done 
              and the energy I have expended.

            
Matheson resigned forthwith, finishing duties on 7 November. He left 
              the profession, initially to work for an Opunake carrying firm. It was a sad 
              end to years of dedicated teaching service.

            
The relieving headmaster who filled in between Matheson's departure 
              and the arrival of his successor was Frederick Davie, who had entered 
              teaching as the new Makaka School's first teacher in May 1909. Until the 
              government took over direct responsibility for salaries in 1902 the 
Wanganui 
              board had been very wary about opening small schools such as this. Even 
              though they were no longer a major threat to a board's financial position, 
              keeping them staffed must have been a recurrent problem. It would seem 
              that the board had had no applicants for the new Makaka School when 
              educated English immigrant Fred Davie enquired about a position. He spent 
              a Saturday being interviewed by three inspectors and sitting an examination, 
              and shortly thereafter received a telegram from the secretary: ‘Please arrange
              


              open Makaka School, Taranaki, Monday next, May 10th. Meantime attend 
              Silverhope to observe methods.’ Davie had arrived in New Zealand in 1907 
              with a background of work as a draughtsman and shift engineer in electricity 
              works in Southampton, and had spent a varied first year or two in the 
              Rangitikei district—bushfelling, packing stores, milking, bush carpentering 
              &c. After two days learning a little from Miss Grant at Silverhope School 
              he made his way to Makaka by the weekend. Fifty years later he provided 
              this account of how he opened the school:

            
Visiting the school I found it about as ready for the opening as I was; for, 
              believe it or not, my two days at Silverhope were the only time I had been in 
              any school since leaving my own! It was certainly a school building, but there 
              were no books, blackboards, chalks, registers, timetable, schemes of work or 
              any back records that would guide me. BUT there were some lovely brand 
              new desks and the windows had been cleaned! … The great day arrived. 
              May 10th, 1909, broke fine and a line of expectant prospective pupils faced a 
              rather wondering teacher. On some paper I had brought I made the job of 
              enrolling them last out rather well, and spent the morning till play-time in a 
              drawing-out cross-check kind of conversation; explaining the school's 
              predicament—NOT MINE!—and led them by common consent to agree that 
              the most sensible thing to do seeing that they had their own school books 
              with them, but which would not be used in a 
Wanganui Board's school, was 
              to carry on using the timetable they had been used to just as if they were still 
              at Awatuna School [which was a Taranaki Board one]. I asked for their very 
              best work and supervised it most carefully, honouring senior pupils with 
              many leading questions, which were eagerly answered and competitively 
              discussed. This went on for several days, and little did they think they were 
              teaching ME school methods; so that when the books and gear arrived later 
              we were able to go almost full speed ahead.

            
I well remember one of the fill-in stunts of that period, when I took the 
              pupils en masse along the road asking from the juniors to find something 
              interesting to talk or write about, while the seniors were measuring a 3000ft. 
              base line along the Auroa Road with a borrowed surveyor's tape. From the 
              ends of the base each senior pupil took angle readings with a rather crude 
              anglemeter quadrant to the top of Mt. 
Egmont, and back at school we did a 
              little simple triangulation to arrive at the approximate height of Makaka 
              above sea-level by subtracting from the known height of the mountain. Out 
              of the letters written by the class to the Lands & Survey Department they 
              selected the best, and just how much of a fluke was it to find we were only 
              13ft. out?

            
By the next week 
Wanganui must have been having second thoughts, for 
              who should come along much to my relief but Mr. Braik the then Chief 
              Inspector. He seemed rather pleased, I am glad to say, and, of course, gave me 
              lots of much needed advice and information, and on leaving asked me to send 
              in a copy of our triangulations.
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Inspector Braik's pleasure at how his gamble on Davie was paying out 
              was reported back to Makaka and duly passed on by the Awatuna East ‘Our 
              Own’ (
Star, 16/8/09). Davie spent only 11 months at Makaka, qualified for 
              his teacher's certificate in his first year, married and made a honeymoon trip 
              to England. His spell as 
Kaponga's relieving headmaster followed his return. 
              After six years' teaching he shifted to the 
Auckland district and began '40 
              years of commercial life’.
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In Davie we have a promising recruit to teaching who eventually took 
              his talents elsewhere. In manning the district's one-room schools the boards 
              channelled several interesting individuals to the district. Two who contrasted 
              strongly with Davie were experienced, trained teachers with some 
              personality handicaps who were forced to this settlement frontier by their 
              failure to ‘make it’ elsewhere. One of them was sent in 1892 by the Taranaki 
              board to open the new Rowan School with an average attendance of 16 
              pupils. Unlike the 
Wanganui board (which firmly disciplined its system to 
              get strong, centrally located schools) the Taranaki board had impoverished 
              itself by allowing small, weak schools to multiply in its rural districts. At 
              Rowan it could offer an annual salary of only £88 (less than most labourers 
              were earning) yet it was able to appoint George Everiss, a 50-year-old, 
              experienced, highly qualified teacher to the position. Only 14 years earlier 
              Everiss had opened the new Mount Cook Boys' School in 
Wellington, on a 
              salary of £360 (the board's second-best-paid teacher). How had he risen so 
              high and sunk so low?

            
Everiss had arrived in 
Canterbury in December 1871, having been 
              schoolmaster to the assisted immigrants on the 
Zealandia. He came with 
              the prestige of having been trained at the British and Foreign School 
              Society's Borough Road Training Institution in 
London, and with the 
              advantage of being ‘tall, dark and of military figure’.

56 After teaching in both 
              
Canterbury and Victoria he came to 
Wellington with excellent testimonials 
              and was eagerly welcomed by Inspector Robert Lee, the architect of the 
              
Wellington Education Board's system. But Everiss had a professional defect 
              in a sectarian outlook related to his 
Plymouth Brethren beliefs. This had 
              forced his resignation from Mount Cook School in 1879. Reduced to taking 
              a position with the Taranaki board, in 1882 he opened the new school at 
              Ngaere, a bush district with a strong Brethren element. Here his sectarian 
              outlook soon led to friction, forcing the board to move him in mid-1886.

            
A not dissimilar career, but with a different professional defect, was that 
              of Samuel Turkington, who served the Taranaki board as headmaster of 
              Mahoe School 1905–10. He had emigrated from Ireland to New Zealand in 
              1882. A good education in Ireland, years of teaching for the 
Wellington 
              Education Board and two years at 
Dunedin Training College could not 
              counter the defect of a contentious spirit. At Mahoe this led to his taking 
              an unsuccessful slander prosecution against a neighbour in 1909. While he 
              was away over the following summer vacation his beehives were destroyed 
              in an explosion that was heard four miles away at Rowan.
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To get an overview of the staffing of these schools we will summarise 
              the picture given by the annual December listings for the 15 years 1900–14, 
              leaving out the pupil-teacherships (which we have seen were filled mainly 
              by girls from families in the region). We find that men, drawn from far and 
              wide, filled the main headmasterships. Thus 
Kaponga had a headmaster 
              throughout and Kapuni in all but one year. Riverlea provides an exception 
              with a headmistress for six of the 15 years. But Mahoe, which began as a 
              well-attended sole-charge school and became a two-teacher one from 1906, 
              was headed by men throughout. Rowan, however, where the attendance 
              figure never rose above 29, had a male teacher for only two of the 15 years. 
              After Fred Davie's year there, Makaka was staffed by women for the 
              remaining five years to 1914—its highest attendance figure was 15. All 
              assistant positions in these schools were held by women. Overall, women 
              filled 69 places in these lists and men 57. The 57 men were paid far more 
              than the 69 women, but without these salaries they could not have been 
              drawn to the district. On the other hand, at the salaries offered, the sole-charge schools and assistant positions could not have been kept filled
              without the steady inflow of women, drawn mainly from south Taranaki 
              families.

          

                      


† HM: Headmaster HF: Headmistress M: Male Sole teacher F: Female Sole teacher


                  MP: Male pupil-teacher FP: Female pupil-teacher S: Sewing teacher

                    


                      


* Average attendances, third quarter.


                  
N.B. Many of Kapuni's pupils were from outside the 
Kaponga District.
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Technical Education

            
The 20th century opened with New Zealand education experiencing 
              widespread reform as the vision of George Hogben, the new head of the 
              
Education Department, coincided with government ability and willingness 
              to finance new developments. It was mainly from the new beginnings in 
              technical education that the 
Kaponga district benefited directly. The Manual 
              and Technical Instruction Acts of 1900 and 1902 offered education boards 
              wide scope for new developments both with their existing pupils and with 
              new classes formed with young people and adults. Especially after its 
              appointment in 1905 of a new chief inspector, George Braik, the 
Wanganui 
              Education Board seized these opportunities enthusiastically. Braik had a 
              vision, in which he was apparently well supported by the board, of using 
              these new acts to redirect education in his rural districts. He maintained that 
              ‘we live in a new age, confronted by an entirely new set of problems’ and 
              was particularly keen to see worthwhile agricultural instruction at rural 
              grassroots level.

58 There were also more conventional courses, which must 
              have helped many rural folk to make their way into the urban world.

            
To get things started at 
Kaponga, in May 1906 Braik arranged to come 
              with Arthur Varney, director of the 
Wanganui Technical School, for an 
              evening with the school committee. 
Kaponga responded to this prompting. 
              Evening classes were set up at the school—bookkeeping taught by John 
              Bennie, secretary to the dairy company, and arithmetic and English taught 
              by headmaster Matheson. At the town hall a dressmaking class was taught 
              by Miss Young, an itinerant instructor. But with the typhoid crisis at its
              


              height the timing was inauspicious and the evening classes did not flourish. 
              Also, Bennie and Matheson were probably overcommitted; they had 
              demanding jobs and already had many public and social commitments.

            
There was more success when itinerant instructors came with courses 
              more directly related to rural life. The board's technical work was organised 
              into three districts, with the northern one made up largely of south Taranaki. 
              Its first director was Robert Browne, a dairying expert. In 1907 he gave 
              courses in 19 schools. ‘Our Own’ (7/6/07) reported that at 
Kaponga great 
              interest was taken by both boys and girls, that herd testing was a prominent 
              element in the course, and that some boys were planning to visit the 
              
Palmerston North show under the charge of Browne and their headmaster. 
              Other commitments prevented Browne continuing the classes in 1908, but 
              he had given sufficient instruction to Matheson for him to continue the 
              work.

59

            
Meanwhile another of Braik's initiatives was having an effect at the 
              school. This was the appointment in 1905 of the country's first itinerant 
              instructor in primary school agriculture and nature study. He was James 
              Grant, ‘an experienced teacher with an intimate knowledge of plant and insect 
              life’.

60 One of his particular responsibilities was to encourage the improvement of school grounds. His work intermeshed with Robert Browne's, whose 
              report on 1909 gave 
Kaponga as a good example of what might be done ‘to 
              improve the appearance of grounds by planting shrubs and trees and making 
              lawns’.

61 So great was the interest in this work that two further instructors 
              had to be provided to assist Grant, the bulk of their salaries being provided 
              by public subscription.

62 The report on 1914 explained that the aim was to 
              show children how to improve the surroundings of their own homes and to 
              this end they learnt to look after hedges, shrubberies, orchards, lawns, flower 
              borders and vegetable gardens.
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By 1910 Robert Browne could claim that ‘we have at last got a solid hold 
              on the farming community’. In his ambitious aim of launching ‘a forward 
              movement in rural instruction’ among the farmers

64 he had found by 
              experience that night courses and the teaching of ‘general agriculture’ were 
              not the way to go. But the farmers gave good support to day courses in 
              ‘special’ rural work such as wool classing, veterinary science, beekeeping 
              and orchard work. Beekeeping courses held in 
Hawera drew students from 
              as far away as 
Kaponga.

65 Veterinary courses were run in 
Kaponga in 1911 
              and 1912.

66 Towards the end of our period Braik arranged for the board to 
              free Browne for the innovative strategy of taking his courses right out onto 
              the farms. Farmers formed-themselves into classes, paying a small fee, and 
              for an additional fee could have further advice from Browne throughout the 
              year. In 1914 the 
Star (5/9/14) sent a reporter to Kapuni to accompany 
              Browne on one day of this work.

            
He had four farms to visit that day, and on each the procedure was the same. 
              ‘The farmer had prepared a sub-divisional plan of his property, and with this
              


              Mr Browne visits each paddock, and notes the condition of the pasture. If 
              top-dressing be required, he advises the best manures to put on each section, 
              and advises, also, on the best methods of putting in crops and the most 
              suitable mixtures and the methods of sowing down pastures…. On more 
              than one occasion he commented very strongly on the practice of ploughing 
              in a partly worn-out pasture (with a view to bringing on a new one) where a 
              little judicious top-dressing would secure better results almost immediately 
              than could possibly be secured until three or four years after the laying down 
              of a new pasture.

            
In the evening Browne gave a final address at Kapuni, illustrating his 
              remarks with samples of pasture that he had collected during the day. Of 
              the farmers who had arranged to receive Browne's advice over a longer 
              period it was claimed that ‘in every case the capacity of the farms has been 
              more than doubled, while the cost of treatment—top-dressing, &c.—has 
              been reduced’.

67 During 1914 Browne spent a week on this work in each of 
              eight districts, one of which was 
Kaponga. Here, as commonly elsewhere, 
              the course aroused such interest that a farmers' club was formed, which 
              Browne then visited monthly to deliver a lecture. This work also 
              intermeshed with that of the 
Department of Agriculture. From time to time 
              over these years 
Kaponga's ‘Our Own’ reported visits by parties of local 
              settlers to its experimental and demonstration farm at Moumahaki, near 
              Waverley.

68 Browne used this farm for field days with some of his courses, 
              as also did the senior agriculture classes of the district high schools now 
              being established in the region. The April 1913 
Journal of Agriculture carried 
              an article on rural education in the 
Wanganui Education Board's northern 
              district. Paying a tribute to Braik following his death in 1914, the board's 
              annual report featured his innovations in rural education and listed the wide 
              range of local bodies, public institutions and private individuals who had 
              encouraged the work with substantial contributions. 
Kaponga's settlers had 
              contributed both through their farmers' union branch and as Eltham county 
              ratepayers.

69 Having received a blow with the passing of Braik, the work 
              was crushed shortly thereafter by the coming of war.

            
The (mainly evening) classes for 
Kaponga young people and adults had 
              revived for a time. The establishment of a technical school in Eltham 
              provided a base from which specialist teachers could itinerate. In 1910 
              
Kaponga had a total of 131 enrolments in courses in dressmaking, millinery, 
              bookkeeping, shorthand, art, woodcarving, English and arithmetic. These 
              classes faded away when the new Reform government reduced the 
              capitation payments, leaving insufficient to pay for the over-night 
              accommodation of the itinerant teachers.
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Health Professionals

            
Early in the new century 
Kaponga residents began campaigning for 
              something more for their township than occasional surgery hours from
              


              visiting Eltham or Manaia doctors. A well-attended Settlers' Association 
              meeting on 16 July 1902 resolved on a deputation to interview Dr Wake and 
              suggest he become a ‘residential doctor’. ‘C.H. Wake, M.R.C.S., England, 
              L.R.C.P., 
London’ had been advertising for some time that he had come 
              from 11 years of practising in 
London and was available for consultation 
              daily in Eltham and for an hour on Friday afternoons in 
Kaponga. Eltham's 
              Dr Cedric A. Harrison, with the same qualifications as Wake, had been 
              providing itinerant services to 
Kaponga since at least 1895.

71 
Kaponga 
              residents must have felt that they deserved a resident doctor before Eltham 
              had two of them. The question for Wake, and also for Harrison, who must 
              have noted this move, would have been the financial viability of such a 
              practice. It was in fact Harrison who decided it was time to move, and 
              recruited Dr Maclagan as a partner, to reside in 
Kaponga. We have seen that 
              another doctor, Noonan, had also judged 
Kaponga ripe for a viable practice, 
              and arrived almost simultaneously. For almost two years the two men tested 
              a market with room for only one practice. Looking back nearly 60 years 
              later Maclagan wrote that ‘we soon found that there was not enough for us 
              both, and we came to an amicable agreement whereby [Dr Noonan] was 
              able to purchase Dr Good's practice in Manaia’.

72

            
But in the meantime the community received a first-class service as the 
              two men vied for their attention. They gave vigorous support to moves for 
              telegraph extensions, so that their services could be on call in emergencies. 
              When Dr Noonan gained Road Board permission to erect a lamppost 
              outside his place Dr Maclagan immediately followed suit. Both developed 
              generous programmes of visits around the district. Maclagan's, as advertised 
              in the first issue of the 

Kaponga Mail in June 1904, included weekly visits 
              to the stores at Awatuna, Te Kiri, Kapuni, Auroa and Awatuna East. As well 
              he was available daily in his surgery, where Dr Harrison could also be 
              consulted every Friday from 2 to 8pm. Awatuna East's ‘Our Own’ (28/11/ 
              04) reported that in visiting their district two or three times a week Dr 
              Noonan was not only attending to medical needs but also brightening the 
              settlers' lives by distributing magazines.

            
The partnership between Harrison and Maclagan seems to have been a 
              short-term arrangement to get Maclagan established. Probably Maclagan 
              went out on his own about the time Noonan left. Sometime in 1906 he 
              became surgeon to the Oddfellows' Lodge formed in 
Kaponga late in 1903. 
              As such he had to provide medical services to lodge members on a 
per capita 
              contract basis unrelated to the number of visits or consultations. ‘Private’ 
              patients, on the other hand, paid according to the amount of attention they 
              sought. A lodge appointment gave a doctor some regular guaranteed income 
              but the profession had some reservations on the matter and the mixing of 
              lodge and private patients could cause friction in the practice.

73 On 
              farewelling Maclagan in February 1911 the lodge secretary remarked on the 
              good feeling between the lodge and its surgeon, and Maclagan in replying 
              explained it by his having ‘always endeavoured to extend the same treatment
              


              to lodge and private patients alike’. At the same meeting the lodge welcomed 
              Maclagan's successor, Dr Arthur Tovey, as its new surgeon. Apparently 
              Maclagan was passing on quite a prosperous practice.

            
On moving to Manaia in 1905 Dr Noonan declined a farewell, ‘seeing 
              that he had not altogether severed his connection with 
Kaponga’. No doubt 
              many of his Roman Catholic patients were staying with him. He provides 
              a good illustration of how a career was developed in his profession, making 
              a series of shifts to ever-larger centres and no doubt more lucrative practices. 
              A frontier district like 
Kaponga could expect to be served by young doctors 
              gaining their first experience in their calling, with a view to moving on. Thus 
              in 1915 Dr Tovey also sold his practice, to Dr W.F. Buist, and moved to 
              England.

            
The doctors who served 
Kaponga conducted themselves at all times with 
              the professional restraint and decorum of the code of the rising new higher 
              professions. Associated with the rise of these professions in public 
              recognition and status was a clear distinguishing of themselves and their 
              systems of remuneration from business men and the profit motive, and the 
              forming of professional institutions that sought state regulation to exclude 
              quacks and charlatans.

74 Even at the height of their competition Drs Noonan 
              and Maclagan maintained a united professional front, avoiding overt 
              competitive advertising or mutual criticism. But when we turn to 
Kaponga's 
              dental services over these years we enter a different world: the hustling, 
              bustling world of the competitive ‘Kickapoo’. From 1900 on 
Kaponga's 
              settlers learnt of their dentist's visits from breezy adverts in the 
Star, such as

            

              
KICKAPOO


              
Will visit as follows:


              
Eltham open daily


              

Kaponga every Friday


              
Stratford Office open all the time


              
Manaia, first and third Thursdays


              
Patea, second and fourth Tuesdays


              
Waverley, second and fourth Mondays. (
Star, 2/1/02, 25/9/03)
            

            
Dr Samuel Benton Hunter was born at Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, 
              in 1859, and educated in the US, where he qualified at the 
Boston Dental 
              College in 1881 and graduated in medicine from the University of Ohio in 
              1887. He came to New Zealand in 1899 as a travelling agent for the 
              Kickapoo Medicine Company, but left to found his dental ‘business’, based 
              on Stratford, in 1900. The general nature of this concern and its competitive, 
              touting flavour can be gathered from these extracts from a 
Star (3/4/05) 
              advert for the 
Hawera Dental Chambers of McBreartt and Hunter:

            
The Place for High-Class Dentistry at MODERATE FEES.

            
The Largest Staff, the Largest Practice in New Zealand. The only Firm 
              employing Ten Qualified Dentists.

            


            
We are the only Firm administering gas by our own Patent Process.

            
Bad-fitting Plates of other Dentists remodelled on our own models at a small 
              cost.

            
The advert concludes by listing the firm's other branches, offering daily 
              service at Stratford, Eltham, Patea and 
Wanganui and weekly visits to 
              
Kaponga, Waverley and Manaia. 
Kaponga, along with the rest of the region, 
              was enlivened by the doings of the pace-setting Kickapoo. In May 1903 
              Manaia's ‘Our Own’ (2/5/03) reported:

            
On Thursday Dr Hunter ‘The Kickapoo’ whizzed into town in great style 
              with his new automobile. A few minutes after his arrival, a large group 
              gathered round the machine, eagerly scanning same.

            
Before the year was out 
Star readers would learn of his motoring from 
              
Hawera to Patea in 1 hour 20 minutes, and of his having to run the machine 
              into a ditch on Hastings Road when the driving chain broke.

            
From time to time other dentists set up in 
Kaponga. 
Wise's Directory 
              lists Thomas Lonergan 1908–09, Charles Hodgkinson 1911 and Harry 
              Reynolds 1913–14. Hunter was listed under his ‘Kickapoo’ nickname during 
              1908–09, as ‘Samuel B.’ in 1910, and as a partner with H.E. Clarke from 
              1911. It must have been to beat off this competition that he took on a 
              partner. In 1910 he began advertising in the 
Star (e.g. 1/11/10) as ‘Hunter & 
              Clarke’, advising:

            
We wish to impress it upon our patrons that 
Kaponga Surgery is open every 
              day and under the management of a competent Dental Surgeon. Mr Hunter 
              visits the branch every Friday. Teeth extracted by our own non-poisonous 
              painless methods. Guaranteed absolutely painless.

            
He must have been an irritant to his professional competitors, who seem to 
              have studiously kept the professional code. It was probably on their 
              initiative that in January 1904 he was brought before the Magistrate's Court 
              for what must have been some technical breach of the Dentists Act.

75 He 
              had no difficulty registering under the new, stricter, Dentists Act 1904, 
              passed some nine months later.

            
Around the turn of the century there was a range of legislation 
              tightening up the state supervision of health workers. Besides this new 
              Dentists Act there were the Public Health Act 1900 which established the 
              Department of Public Health; the Nurses Registration Act 1901; and the 
              Midwives Act 1904. The overall effect of these measures was to bring health 
              care firmly under state supervision, with the training, credentialling and 
              registering of nurses now as carefully supervised as that of doctors and 
              dentists. The legislation had to be carefully framed to allow life to go on 
              unhindered in frontier districts such as 
Kaponga. Here nursing and 
              midwifery were largely matters of domestic and neighbourly care based on 
              folk wisdom and amateur experience.

            


            


TABLE 9.2 NEW TYPES OF SHOPS AND WORKSHOPS, 1900–14


                  Entries in 
Wise's Post Office Directories (indicated by X); plus 

Hawera Star data (S)

	
	'04
	'05
	'06–7
	'08
	'09
	'10
	'11
	'12
	'13
	'14


	
Hairdresser
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Foreman, Edwd
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X


	Blackstock, W.J.
	
	
	
	S
	X
	X
	X
	
	
	


	
Coffee Palace
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Fowler, Mrs M.
	S
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Birchall, Miss A.
	
	
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Jacka, Mrs E.A.
	
	
	
	
	X
	X
	
	
	
	


	Buckthought, Mrs M
	
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	
	
	


	
Photographer
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	St Clair, Wm H.
	
	X
	X
	X
	X
	
	
	X
	
	


	Drumm, Thos
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	
	


	
Dressmaker
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	
Young, Miss (S 1902)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Harris, Miss
	
	
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Lonargon, A.
	
	
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Jones, C.
	
	
	
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Berridge, Miss N.
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	
	
	
	


	Jane, Mrs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	X
	


	
Seedsman
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Betts, Chas.
	
	
	
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X




	
Cabinetmaker
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Brotheridge, T.H.
	
	
	
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X


	Dilly, E.
	
	
	S
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	


	Harding, Philip (ex Dilly)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	S
	X
	


	
Jeweller
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Crawford, C.S.
	
	
	
	X
	X
	X
	
	
	
	


	Hyde, Chas.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	X
	
	


	
Boot store
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Emson, S. mgr
	
	
	
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	


	
Tailor
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	
O'Keefe, P.J. (S 1902)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Johnson, F. (Tailoress)
	
	
	
	X
	X
	
	
	
	
	


	Lewis, Saml
	
	
	S
	X
	
	
	
	
	
	


	King, Chas (ex Lewis)
	
	
	
	S
	X
	X
	
	
	
	


	Clarke, J. Hamlet
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	S
	
	X


	
Stationer
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Pearce, Miss M.
	
	
	
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X
	X


	
Plumber
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Davies, N.C. & Sargeson, O
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	X
	X
	X
	


	
Milliner
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


	Fish, Miss C.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	X
	
	
	


NOTE: No new types were listed in Wise's for the years 1900–03.
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The Others

            
We will deal only briefly with the remaining occupations. The largest group 
              were the keepers of the shops and workshops of the township. 
Table 9.2 is 
              designed to show how their variety increased over these years, with the 
              growing affluence and sophistication of the district. Settlers increasingly 
              patronised services that in earlier years most of them would have forgone, 
              or produced (often crudely) by domestic endeavour. From November 1905 
              these business folk worked formally together in their Tradesmen's Association to protect and further their interests, campaigning for improved 
              amenities, arranging about holidays and closing times, setting agreed limits 
              to their contributions to subscription lists &c. They were happy with the 
              way the old problem of credit had faded away with the coming of regular 
              dairying cheques and in 1914 were considering making 
Kaponga a ‘cash 
              only’ town.

76

            
The other considerable groups were the sawmill workers and the 
              wayfarers. The sawmill workers were declining in numbers and forced to 
              seek their logs ever further up in the broken country of 
Egmont's lower 
              slopes. Since they could no longer come near meeting the district's needs, 
              carriers were bringing a growing flow of 
Auckland timber across from the 
              railway.

77 As we have seen, these carriers had plenty of other work as they 
              faced the transition to motor transport. And the livings to be made along 
              the roads by tinkers and hawkers, roadworkers and drovers, were better 
              than ever over these good years.
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A Golden Age?

            
By the mid-20th century many Britons looked back on the Edwardian age 
              as a glorious summer that was followed by the long winter of two world 
              wars and a world depression. 
Kaponga residents of that vintage may well 
              also have looked back from mid-century and felt that these had been the 
              sunshine years. Had not their pioneer parents then reaped a prosperous 
              reward for their earlier hardships? Had not they themselves enjoyed a youth 
              of reasonable comfort in a confident, maturing community, enriched with a 
              vibrant social and sporting round? With the long years since marred by 
              war and depression, and their district's commercial self-sufficiency and 
              independent spirit drained away as markets and decisionmaking shifted to 
              regional and national centres, nostalgia must have given the Edwardian years 
              the glow of a golden age.

            
The sources indeed show them as years of kaleidoscopic richness in 
              community life. A wide range of sports flourished; diverse social and 
              entertainment occasions competed for the use of the town hall; the several 
              churches, the lodge hall and the school made their varied offerings. Homes, 
              shops, library, farms, and the Mountain House all from time to time had 
              their community occasions. It was a considerable achievement that a 
              population of little over a thousand kept up such a varied programme in what 
              was still a fairly primitive world. In assessing their achievement we 
              will first discuss whether this was indeed a golden age for community sports 
              and recreations, and then consider the quality of life that women and girls 
              experienced both at home and abroad.

            
For sport and recreation we take a close look at the year from April 1908 
              to April 1909, by which time all three of the sports-minded ‘professionals’ 
              introduced in Chapters 8 and 9 (Maclagan, Matheson and Scott) were having 
              an impact. We set these 12 months within a more general survey of the years 
              before and after.
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Sport 1900–08

            
The 1900–01 summer saw a valiant, and finally successful, drive to revive 
              cricket in 
Kaponga. A new club was formed and joined the Taranaki 
              association. There were many disappointments, as when in February 1901
              


              neither 
Normanby's nor 
Hawera's Star clubs kept their fixtures in 
Kaponga, 
              or 19 December 1901 when 
Kaponga reached 
Normanby by 2pm on their 
              Thursday half-holiday only to find no home team there to play them. The 
              
Kaponga team were encouraged by the fact that, ‘though cricket is stagnant 
              in South Taranaki’,

1 when they did play they tended to win. They worked 
              hard at a match pitch on the domain and a practice pitch in town and found 
              money for a good supply of equipment.

2 But the revived club's second 
              AGM in September 1902 morale was wilting. After long discussion they 
              decided not to join the association for the season, ‘owing mainly to not 
              having a suitable ground for Cup matches, and also the difficulty of securing 
              full teams to play in matches', but to keep the club alive by playing a few 
              local matches.

3 The club indeed refused to die. Aware that its primitive 
              grounds were not very acceptable to its neighbours it found the money for 
              an asphalt pitch in Victoria Park for the beginning of the 1904–05 season 
              and rejoined the association. It continued to meet most of south Taranaki's 
              other clubs on at least equal terms. Signs of vigour at the September 1905 
              AGM were the making of better arrangements for second eleven matches, 
              and offers of timber for a players' shed on the grounds from Charles Betts 
              and from another member to build it.

4

            
The 
Kaponga club's revival seems to have been brought about largely 
              by township residents. From the players listed for a friendly married versus 
              single men's match on a Thursday afternoon in February 1904 it seems that 
              town players outnumbered country ones by at least three to one. It was, 
              then, the growth of the township, compensating for the loss of the sawmill 
              workers who had been the backbone of the first club, that made the revival 
              possible. It was the presence of a number of gifted and/or dedicated players 
              among them that enabled them to persist to become a successful club. Thus 
              though Dr Maclagan seems not to have been a gifted player he was dedicated 
              to the game, appearing regularly in team lists and serving as secretary or 
              president of the club as required. When in May 1905 the club was short of 
              cash to topdress the ground it was Maclagan who came forward with a loan. 
              Schoolmaster Matheson, on the other hand, was both dedicated and gifted. 
              His enthusiasm and coaching had an impact on schoolboy cricket and this 
              must soon have been helping to raise the level of the 
Kaponga team. In 
              January 1907 he and Charles Betts were members of a south Taranaki team 
              that toured to 
Marlborough. Only the previous month ‘Billy’ Cole, a late 
              member of the 
Kaponga club, had made ‘a magnificent stand’ in an 
              interprovincial match between Taranaki and 
Marlborough.
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Like the cricket club, the 
Kaponga Rugby Club joined its provincial 
              association in 1900, only to wilt and decide to withdraw in 1902. There the 
              similarity ends, for when the rugby club sought to rejoin the union it met 
              with a firm rebuff that was repeated year after year. In the rebound of the 
              fifth rejection a small group of local soccer enthusiasts persuaded a number 
              of their friends to change codes. Meeting with warm support from a 
              provincial soccer association struggling for a viable presence in south
              


              Taranaki, the club quickly became established and had no trouble surviving 
              the rugby club's reinstatement the following season. The two codes then 
              flourished side by side in the district for a decade.

            
With Charles Betts as its main advocate, the 
Kaponga Rugby Club had 
              applied for two years for admission to the Taranaki union and had been 
              successful at the beginning of the 1900 season, with a generous istrict, 
              bounded by Duthie, Skeet and Auroa roads. It had early successes in the 
              competition and probably developed an inflated idea of its abilities. 
              Commenting on a win over Okaiawa's 'strong and sterling team’ in May 
              ‘Our Own’ suggested that 
Kaponga would possibly have been holding the 
              cup had they been admitted the previous season.

6 They were beaten 11–0 
              by 
Hawera at 
Kaponga on 2 June, but the 
Star had good words for them, 
              remarking that ‘for 
Kaponga Dan Hughes was a tower of strength at five-eighth, while the forwards, though green, played a hard, grafting game’. On
              16 June, again on Victoria Park, 
Kaponga's junior team held 
Hawera's 
              juniors to a draw. On Saturday 7 July the 
Kaponga seniors played their first 
              game on 
Hawera's Bayly Park, against the 
Hawera seniors. The team list 
              shows that they came predominantly from the farms rather than 
Kaponga 
              township. The 
Star (9/7/00) gave an extended account of the game resulting 
              from these new colours ('the fashionable khaki and red’) appearing in 
              
Hawera. A very even first half ended 3–0, 
Hawera having points from a try. 
              But 
Kaponga, who were playing some juniors as substitutes, were overwhelmed in the second half, the final score being 24–0. The 
Star noted four


              very good players in 
Kaponga's very uneven team.

            
But 
Kaponga apparently lacked the leadership to lift their game. In the 
              1901 season more care went into holding a ball, monthly assemblies and an 
              end of season social, than into meeting obligations on the sporting field. 
              Through the absence of players (apparently mainly taking holidays away) 
              match after match had to be forfeited. Only 20 members turned up for the 
              AGM on 14 March 1902, and it was decided to wind up the club with a 
              social.
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It soon became clear, however, that many in the district were keen to 
              play rugby. While year after year Charles Betts sought the reinstatement of 
              a 
Kaponga district, various local games were organised. Both in 1904 and 
              1905 several games were played between 
Kaponga and Riverlea teams. In 
              July 1905 a lively game, refereed by Jeremiah Crowley, was played on 
              Victoria Park between the boarders of the Coffee Palace and a team of 
              tradesmen, ending in a draw. Attempts were made to find ways of working 
              in with the Manaia or Okaiawa clubs. For example in April 1905 Betts saw 
              the union with a petition signed by 46 
Kaponga and Okaiawa players asking 
              (unsuccessfully) that the Okaiawa district be extended westward to Rowan 
              Road, to include 
Kaponga. Beginning with a well-attended meeting in the 
              Commercial Hotel in March 1906, Betts spearheaded a fifth approach to the 
              union for reinstatement. 
Kaponga's case was put more strongly than ever, 
              the club even forwarding a post-dated cheque for £10, to be cashed by the
              


              union if it forfeited two senior match fixtures. This approach, which was 
              strongly opposed by the Manaia and Okaiawa delegates, was also unsuccessful. ‘Our Own’ (19/4/06) now reported the first murmurs of a
              possible player switch to soccer.
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The soccer move was initiated by plumber Philip Larritt. About 25 
              interested people met in his shop on Saturday evening, 21 April 1906, and 
              after outlining what had happened with the rugby union he put the case, 
              reported by ‘Our Own’, 23/4/06:

            
Now in the district there were some eight or twelve Association players, and 
              he did not see any reason why a strong club should not be formed. The 
              soccer game was getting a strong hold in Taranaki. A letter was read from the 
              Secretary of the 
Hawera Association Club, stating that a club had been 
              formed in that town and in Eltham, and trusting 
Kaponga could put a team in 
              the field also. He offered to give any information, etc., required by the club.

            
On the motion of Kelly of the livery and bait stables, seconded by 
              shopkeeper Allen, it was decided to form a soccer club in 
Kaponga and 22 
              folk joined on the spot. From the start townsfolk predominated. The 
              following Thursday the club adopted the 
Hawera club's rules, Dr Maclagan 
              was elected president, with an impressive list of 10 vice-presidents, and 
              publican Northcott presented the club with a ball. Colours of red and black 
              jerseys and stockings and white pants were adopted, and the first practice 
              set down for the following Thursday. This first practice, a match between 
              A and B teams, saw many of the new chums penalised for handling the ball, 
              and was watched with some excitement by the 
Kaponga half-holiday crowd. 
              From its start soccer staked a claim to this convenient Thursday afternoon 
              slot at Victoria Park, leaving the ground free for rugby on Saturday 
              afternoons. Friendly games against Eltham and 
Hawera teams followed in 
              July and August, one on Victoria Park on 26 July against 
Hawera juniors 
              resulting in a 1-all draw. But the great event of the 
Kaponga club's early days 
              was its hosting of an interprovincial game on 4 September 1906.

            
The appearance of 
Kaponga's soccer club must have been a godsend to 
              the struggling provincial association, and it could not have come at a better 
              time for it was Taranaki's turn to host the annual interprovincial tournament 
              for the Brown Shield. There was probably some strategy in playing both 
              the first and final matches of the tournament in south Taranaki. That the 
              code was struggling even to mount a realistic annual tournament was evident 
              at the opening match at 
Hawera on 23 August. This was between Taranaki 
              and a motley team of players from the Ruahine, 
Dannevirke, Palmerston 
              North and Feilding districts. Some of the visitors' team hadn't been able to 
              get away to keep this engagement and they could proceed only by enrolling 
              four locals as substitutes. But the visitors' weakness enabled Taranaki to 
              encourage its new 
Kaponga club by using its Dr Maclagan and David Kelly. 
              Maclagan scored one of the goals for Taranaki's 5–1 win. Shield-holders 
              
Wellington then defeated 
Auckland in a game at 
New Plymouth and
              


              
Wellington went on to defeat Taranaki in the final played at Eltham on 
              Saturday, 1 September. It was a pretty limited programme for a national 
              tournament, but a further match had already been arranged for the 
              
Auckland team, designed to encourage the new venture at 
Kaponga.

            
A public meeting was held in 
Kaponga on 13 August to plan for the 
              great occasion of a Taranaki v 
Auckland match on Tuesday, 4 September. It 
              was chaired by Dr Maclagan who, drawing on his Scottish background, 
              probably played a key role in guiding arrangements. A recent historian, 
              tracing the emergence of the code in the latter half of the 19th century, 
              wrote:

            
The role of Scotland in the establishing, but more particularly in the 
              promotion, of association football was paramount…. In the promotion of 
              the game abroad Scots were present in numbers out of proportion to their 
              population.
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The 
Kaponga Tradesmen's Association agreed to businesses closing 
              between 3pm and 5pm for the match. Committees and a working bee 
              prepared for and managed the occasion. Victoria Park was fenced with scrim 
              for the afternoon so that an admission charge could be made. Seating was 
              provided. The band's offer to play at the park was accepted, and a grande 
              evening social was arranged for the visitors after the game.

10 After all the 
              hard work it was unfortunate that a very wet day spoiled the attendance. 
              The 
Star (5/9/06) reported the game in detail, finding the teams quite evenly
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              matched, though 
Auckland won 3–1. Maclagan had a big day, scoring 
              Taranaki's one goal and presiding at the well-attended social. Mrs Maclagan 
              headed the ladies' committee, which provided the supper.

            
At the AGM in March 1907 Maclagan was again elected president, with 
              stables proprietor David Kelly as team captain. The club had a good season, 
              winning some of its games against both Eltham and 
Hawera. In August 
              David Kelly played for Taranaki at the Brown Shield tournament in 
              
Auckland.

            
We return to the fortunes of 
Kaponga rugby. At the beginning of 
              the 1906 season Manaia's Waimate Club went some way towards meeting 
              
Kaponga's needs by deciding to field a junior team consisting solely of 
              
Kaponga boys who would have all their practices in 
Kaponga. At its AGM 
              in April it was clear that the 
Kaponga club was determined to soldier on. 
              With blacksmith and wheelwright Alfred Guy as chairman, it arranged games 
              between teams of its own players, and gave full support to its Waimate B 
              team, even running a very successful rugby ball in their honour on 30 August. 
              Emerging as winners of the southern division, 
Kaponga's Waimate B team 
              travelled to 
New Plymouth on 26 September to play the northern winners, 
              
New Plymouth's Tukapa team. The game ended in a 6-all draw but Tukapa 
              won 6–3 when they travelled to 
Kaponga for the return match.

            
The good reputation won for 
Kaponga by this Waimate B team and the 
              soccer rivalry led the Taranaki Rugby Union to move on its request for a 
              district, sending a deputation to meet with Manaia, Okaiawa and 
Kaponga 
              delegates at 
Kaponga on 2 March 1907. A general desire to settle the matter 
              soon led to agreement on all details except 
Kaponga's eastern boundary, for 
              which the Kapuni River was originally proposed (giving 
Kaponga both sides 
              of Palmer Road from Skeet Road north). Okaiawa objected that this would 
              deprive them of their valued Crowley brothers (then farming on the eastern 
              side of the road, just north of the dairy factory). A solution was finally 
              thrashed out whereby Okaiawa retained the eastern side of Palmer Road 
              from Skeet Road to the railway reserve, thus keeping the Crowleys. On 
              Saturday, 20 April 1907, about 40 
Kaponga players donned their new 
              jerseys, once more members of the district union, and began a stiff 
              programme of practices for the new season. They soon found that the way 
              to the top would not be easy, but at least they ended the season with a good 
              reputation for keeping engagements.
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While 
Kaponga cricket, rugby and soccer were wrestling with getting 
              launched into their respective provincial competitions, the sports of 
              shooting and tennis successively made their appearance. However, before 
              sketching these developments we must look at the community sports days 
              on the domain, undoubtedly this period's most popular sporting occasions. 
              Most years saw two such days—one in summer, one in autumn. Always 
              success was at the weather's mercy, they were variously sponsored, and their 
              regular appearance was something of a recurrent miracle.

            
April 1900 saw the first Easter Monday sports meeting, designed to
              


              enliven what had ‘previously … proved a dull day for the folk in 
Kaponga’. 
              Evidently it was also proving a dull day elsewhere, for ‘Our Own’ (19/4/ 
              00) told of visitors ‘from Eltham, 
Normanby, 
Hawera, Manaia, and along 
              the coast as far as Rahotu and Opunake’. The ‘varied and amusing’ 
              programme included five horse, nine athletic and two chopping events. One 
              visitor commented that he found the Novices' Chop and the Sailor Race 
              more amusing than anything he'd seen at the circus. The Sailor Race, in 
              which riders sat face to tail bareback on their horses, was rerun after all nine 
              entrants ran off the course from the first start. The mixture of such farce 
              with genuine contests of skill and endurance gave a good many settlers and 
              their sons (women and girls were not catered for on this occasion) a chance 
              to participate while providing all comers with spectacle, simple amusement 
              and a social occasion.

            
But a successful day required some months of planning and preparation 
              by an appropriately gifted committee. A suitable date had to be chosen, 
              grounds and other bookings made, and a programme sensitive to changing 
              interests and circumstances agreed on and advertised. (For example horse 
              events would not have been appropriate in 1900 had the recent attempt to 
              found a local racing club succeeded.) An efficient secretary was essential, to 
              handle advertising, receive entries (with their fees towards prize money), 
              arrange for handicapping, starting and judging, and generally see that all 
              participant and spectator needs were taken care of. Visitors expected an 
              evening entertainment to follow, so someone had to mount a concert and/ 
              or social and/or dance in the town hall.

            
We have seen how the 
Kaponga 
Caledonian Society pioneered a sports 
              day in the Scottish tradition on New Year's Day 1895. Year by year it did. 
              good work in improving the grounds. But with few Scots in the 
Kaponga 
              district it faltered and then failed, holding its last sports on Boxing Day 
              1900, with a fairly conventional athletics programme, including a girls' race, 
              three cycling events, but no horse ones. A significant new feature was music 
              from the recently formed 
Kaponga Brass Band. Its playing between events 
              enlivened sports days from this time on. The following two years the 
              
Caledonian Society failed to get sufficient support for Boxing Day sports, 
              and on each occasion the band moved in as sponsor, motivated partly by its 
              need for funds, but no doubt also seeing an ideal opportunity to display its 
              talents. The band had the advantage over the Caledonians of meeting 
              regularly through the year, and so did not have first to resurrect its member 
              ship before trying to mount the event. Sports days survived over these years 
              largely because several other organisations also needed to raise funds. The 
              Easter Monday Sports of 1901, 1902 and 1903 were run by ad hoc 
              committees set up to benefit either the Domain Board (established in 1900) 
              or the town hall committee.

            
March 1904 saw the 
Kaponga Athletics Club formed, with an 
              impressive list of patrons. Their 1904 and 1905 autumn sports days were 
              not on Easter Mondays but on the Thursday (with early closing as well as
              


              half-holiday). Programmes were not very venturesome but went beyond 
              athletics to include cycling, chopping, sawing, Highland fling, Highland 
              music and Irish jig. Both years the weather was bad and after making a loss 
              in 1905 the club faded from the scene. Yet even on 1905′s unpleasant gusty 
              day those present seem to have enjoyed themselves:

            
Picnic parties were numerous, several of the hollows outside the course being 
              selected as camping grounds. Others, when the dinner hour came, repaired to 
              the luncheon booth, where Mr Fowler, of the Coffee Palace, did excellento 
              business. The spread was one of the best that has been supplied in the district. 
              During the afternoon the 
Kaponga Band turned out in full force and rendered 
              a splendid programme which went a long way towards making the afternoon 
              enjoyable. (
Star, 31/3/05)

            
With the athletics club's demise the ‘Athenaeum Institute’ sponsored 
              autumn sports days in 1906 and 1907 (now back to Easter Monday), in aid 
              of hall funds. Cashing in on the rising interest in football, the programmes 
              included seven-a-side tournaments, a dribbling race and place kicking. There 
              were also horse events, for which, after the 1906 sports, peace had to be 
              made with the New Zealand Trotting Association, the committee having 
              failed to arrange a clearance.
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There was no sports day in the summer of 1903, but the following 
              summer the Athenaeum Institute, having lost the autumn slot to the new 
              athletics club, ran a ‘Novelty Sports Meeting’ on Thursday, 12 January 1905. 
              There was good variety of horse events, including jumping tilting at the ring 
              and rescuing a comrade. As ‘most of the animals had never seen a day's 
              training’ the starters had a difficult day. Similar programmes were run in 
              1906 when the newly formed tennis club revived the Boxing Day sports in 
              the interest of its funds, and in 1907 when the Oddfellows sponsored a 
              sports day on Thursday, 5 December.

            
In 1900 the impetus for forming a rifle club was provided by the South 
              African war and government concern to foster such clubs as a defence 
              measure. A meeting following a Settlers' Association meeting on 4 Julyh 
              decided on a club but it was a long road to the opening match. Ad hoc 
              committees negotiated with the government and sought a range, and on 19 
              November 1900 the club formed under government regulations with a range 
              site off upper Rowan Road. The committee began clearing and developing 
              the range, and news of government acceptance of the club came through by 
              February 1901. The membership of over 20 then waited weary months for 
              the rifles they were purchasing from the government. These finally arrived 
              in December 1902 and the opening match was held on Saturday, 3 January 
              1903, when about 100 ‘ladies and gentlemen’ gathered at the range. The 
              honour of the first shot went to Mrs H.S. Wilkie, the club captain's wife, 
              who ‘successfully hit a bull's eye’, and a married v singles match was held, 
              with ‘the ladies providing afternoon tea’. The club made steady progress, 
              with members donating medals and trophies for local competition, matches
              


              against other clubs, especially Eltham, and an annual social each winter. The 
              club first ventured ‘abroad’ in January 1908, sending A.H. Guy,* Stan 
              Hollard and Fred Gapper to the 
Trentham championship meeting.
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Dr Maclagan seems to have been involved in all new sporting ventures 
              of these years. Besides his part in the launching of soccer he was very active 
              in the rifle club, shooting regularly and well, donating a gold medal in 
              September 1905, and presiding at the 10 August 1906 meeting that elected 
              him as the club's third captain. When on 5 October 1905 some 30 ‘ladies 
              and gentlemen’ decided to form a tennis club, it was Maclagan whom they 
              elected president, with Alice Maclagan as secretary and treasurer. Modern 
              tennis was a creation of the last quarter of the 19th century, when lawn play 
              became possible with the appearance of rubber balls with a good bounce. It 
              was boosted by the Prince of Wales taking it up and was a popular game in 
              New Zealand by the time he became king. It appealed especially to those 
              seeking a courtly game for both sexes. The 
Kaponga club early decided that 
              their climate called for an asphalt court, and successfully negotiated for the 
              ground behind the Athenaeum. Working bees began the arduous task of 
              stumping this area in October 1905, but it was not ready for levelling by a 
              contractor until December 1906 and does not seem to have been used until 
              the following summer. Meanwhile the club had raised funds by such 
              activities as a fancy dress cricket match and sponsoring the 1905 Boxing Day 
              sports. They had also been playing amongst themselves and against 
              Awatuna, no doubt on home lawns.
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Sports and Recreation, April 1908 to April 1909

            
We now look in some detail at the rich tapestry created by the activities of 
              one winter sports season, the following summer season, and the range of 
              other recreations offered during the year. Timetabling a complex 
              programme, arranging the travel and providing the necessary venues and 
              equipment made heavy demands on this little community's limited pool of 
              talents, funds and facilities. Folk differing in national, religious, economic 
              and social interests and backgrounds had somehow to reach agreement on 
              allocating resources and shaping a local programme that fitted into the 
              regional one. We must be alert for planning constraints, for social differences 
              in the clientele of the various activities, and for the manner in which conflicts 
              were resolved. Over the winter one major crisis was to develop. Its 
              resolution, and the reasonable harmony that was in general maintained, 
              seems to have owed much to several key leaders who made good use of their 
              public standing and strategic placing among the various groups. To grasp 
              some of the dynamics involved we will give special attention to Dr 
              Maclagan, the Rev 
Bramwell Scott and A. H. Guy throughout the year, and 
              headmaster Peter Matheson over the summer season.

            
One obvious constraint, that Victoria Park had only a single playing 
              field for team games, had to be related to another constraint, the local and
              


              regional weekly calendar. Saturday afternoon was the favoured time for 
              sporting fixtures, with the two regional half-holidays of Wednesday and 
              Thursday afternoon as the other main options. (Sunday sport was quite 
              outlawed.) Thursday was the half-holiday for 
Kaponga, Eltham, Stratford 
              and 
New Plymouth; Wednesday for Manaia, 
Normanby, 
Hawera, Patea and 
              Opunake. One could expect a good supporting crowd for a home game on 
              a town's half-holiday. Getting free on a work day to play on a rival's ground 
              for their half-holiday may have had its problems, but the strength of local 
              loyalty seems to have smoothed away most difficulties. It was not easy for 
              
Kaponga teams to meet commitments at more distant venues. It was difficult 
              to make a timely appearance in 
Hawera on 
Kaponga's half-holiday, and a 
              round trip for a game in Patea was apparently not possible within the one 
              day.

            
On 30 March 1908 
Kaponga's rugby management committee met, 
              chaired by the new club president, the Rev 
Bramwell Scott (taking over 
              from Peter Matheson), to begin their planning for the season. 
Kaponga's 
              'one ground’ constraint was on the agenda in the form of a letter from the 
              local soccer management committee advising that they had asked the 
              trustees for Victoria Park to play a 
Wellington team on Saturday, 18 April. 
              This placed the rugby committee in a quandary as their union had not yet 
              announced when the season's competition would start and they knew it was 
              absolutely opposed to clubs making representations on the drafting of 
              fixtures. Believing that they had a prior claim to the ground on Saturday 
              afternoons they resolved, after long discussion, to reply to the soccer club 
              that this action was a breach of etiquette, and that all the rugby club could 
              offer was to request its union to schedule only one match at 
Kaponga on 
              this date, so the two clubs could play successive games. In the event the 
              rugby season did not begin till 25 April.

            
The short period of uncertainty should surely have been handled with 
              a little quiet diplomacy but instead the opening of the local winter sports 
              season was marred by an angry clash in the 
Star's correspondence columns 
              between Charles Betts and rugby club secretary Charles Crawford. 
              Crawford, watchmaker, jeweller and optician, had come to 
Kaponga only a 
              year or two earlier, and had been appointed 
Kaponga's town clerk only the 
              previous month. He was also the current ‘Our Own’ and so it was he who 
              had rushed news of a soccer/rugby clash to the 
Star. Part of the feeling 
              apparent in Betts's response seems to be that of an ‘old hand’ angry at a 
              newcomer throwing his weight around in apparent ignorance of local 
              history and sensibilities. But there was more to it than that. That there were 
              two minds about the establishing of the rival codes in 
Kaponga is shown 
              by Betts's first letter:

            
Will you kindly allow me … to assist to clear the 'slur’ which has been cast 
              upon the 
Kaponga Association Football Club by your correspondent … It 
              appears to many that your correspondent, with the assistance of one or two
              


              others, is trying to do his utmost to injure Soccer in this district…. as for 
              the prior right of the ground on Saturday, the resolution of the Board 
              extended only over last season. I may say also, in conclusion, that I have done 
              my utmost for Rugby in 
Kaponga, as well as in other places, and still hope to 
              do more … If ‘Your Own’ will take the trouble to look into things a little 
              more he will see plainly that the 
Kaponga Rugby Club owes the existence of 
              its district to the Association football. (
Star, 2/4/08)

            
In replying, Crawford belittled Betts's assertions, concluding with the 
              remark that ‘his name does not figure as a member of the Rugby Committee 
              this season’. This led to Betts enlightening the public that Crawford was the 
              rugby club's secretary and that he (Betts) had been a rugby union delegate 
              for many years both for 
Kaponga and Okaiawa, and accusing Crawford of 
              causing friction between rugby and soccer the previous season. Crawford 
              determinedly ignored Betts's long struggle to get 
Kaponga rugby on the 
              map, maintaining that 
Kaponga's rugby and soccer teams had both started 
              in 1906 and that he (Crawford) had been rugby secretary since the club was 
              formed. It was perhaps fortunate for the rugby club that Crawford asked 
              to be replaced as secretary at its next AGM.

            
Over April 1908 most of the social and sporting features of a 
Kaponga 
              winter made their appearance. Freed from the milking sheds, farming folk 
              flocked to the playing fields and the dance floors, and attended socials to 
              farewell settlers whose moves or retirements followed the close of the 
              dairying season. While winter set the settlers free from their farms, 
              townsfolk were rather more ‘at home’ at this season. Weekly euchre parties 
              got under way, various groups held their AGMs, and spade-work was 
              undertaken by various organisations. The dancing season began, apparently 
              a little prematurely, with a rather poorly attended ball in the Athenaeum on 
              31 March. Perhaps it suffered from the competition of a well-attended 
              Rowan social farewelling three settlers.

            
Two activities that went on all year round were the brass band and the 
              rifle club. On Saturday evening, 4 April, the band showed a special readiness 
              for winter when it gave a programme from the hotel balcony illuminated 
              by two recently acquired gas acetylene ‘lamps or torches’—‘a great 
              improvement on the old style of kerosene torches' but perhaps one not quite 
              so welcome to the young boys who had enjoyed the honour of holding the 
              old torches for the band.

15 The rifle club had a shoot against Eltham in mid-April and a shoot for their president's trophy on Easter Monday, the 20th. 
              On Thursday evening, 9 April, the Horticultural Society held its AGM, and 
              the Oddfellows held their first euchre evening of the season in their hall. 
              That they were catering for both town and country, and male and female, is 
              evident from the night's two prizewinners, Miss D. Briggs from the town 
              and Rowan Road farmer George Hill. On the 14th the rugby management 
              committee made further arrangements for the new season. In the interests 
              of its widely scattered players it arranged for Thursday evening practices
              


              week about in the 
Kaponga and Riverlea halls. The cricket club's shed in 
              the park would be hired for the season. Entertaining of visiting teams would 
              be limited to those who intended to return the compliment. A team was 
              picked for the Easter Monday tournament at Eltham.

            
Easter Saturday afternoon, the 18th, must have seen the soccer match 
              
Kaponga v 
Wellington Diamonds, but although ‘Our Own’, Charles 
              Crawford, had earlier reported that 
Kaponga shops would close for two 
              hours for the match, he did not dignify the occasion with an account of the 
              game in his column. What had brought this 
Wellington club team so far 
              afield is not recorded. (Perhaps their Easter expedition included a visit to 
              Dawson Falls Mountain House.) Also over Easter Taranaki soccer's district 
              union held its AGM in Eltham, with Charles Bates and baker Francis Oliver 
              as 
Kaponga's delegates. Maclagan was one of three doctors in the four vice-presidents elected. Of the six affiliated clubs four (
Hawera, Eltham,
              
Kaponga and Auroa—which joined halfway through the 1907 season) were 
              in south Taranaki, and the newly formed Stratford club was on the north/ 
              south border so Eltham was nominated the provincial headquarters.

            
A few days at the turn of the month saw valued community leader John 
              Frethey farewelled and evidence of the rising star of the Rev 
Bramwell Scott. 
              On Tuesday afternoon, the 28th, headmaster Matheson took the school's 
              upper classes to Frethey's upper Manaia Road home to farewell their 
              departing school committee chairman. The following evening 150–200 
              settlers arrived at the Athenaeum to the music of the band for a farewell 
              social to the Fretheys on their retirement to 
New Plymouth. Speaking for 
              the Methodist Church, Scott said that the Fretheys ‘had been his right hand’. 
              Others made it clear that besides the school and the church, they would be 
              missed for their contributions to sporting, horticultural, civic and social 
              affairs.

            
In a surprising number of areas it was to be the Scotts who took up the 
              load being laid down by the Fretheys. That very evening (29 April) Scott's 
              apologies and offer of support were received at a meeting in the Oddfellows' 
              Hall. This was a meeting of men, A.H. Guy, the band committee's chairman, 
              presiding, to follow up a move already begun by the women, to help the 
              band by holding ‘a monster bazaar and fancy fair in aid of an instrument 
              fund’. The meeting agreed that the band, which had so far been financed by 
              its own members, merited their solid support in fundraising for urgently 
              needed new instruments. So intensive bazaar preparations, including weekly 
              women's working bees in the Oddfellows' Hall, were a significant feature 
              of this 
Kaponga winter.

            
Saturday, 2 May, was a big day for 
Bramwell Scott in his role as rugby 
              enthusiast. Not only was the first senior ‘home’ match of his club 
              presidency being played, but he also appeared for the first time as a 
              competition referee, having been nominated by his club and accepted by the 
              referees' association. He was in charge of the third-grade game between 
              Waimate (i.e. Manaia) and 
Kaponga. Waimate started shorthanded and had
              


              to be filled out with 
Kaponga boys, and 
Kaponga won 11–0. Victoria Park's 
              main game on this beautifully fine Saturday afternoon was an exciting nil-all draw between the 
Kaponga seniors and ‘the redoubtable Waimate’,
              written up at length in Monday's 
Star. 
Kaponga was captained by 
              F. Eggleton of Rowan, and A.H. Guy was in the team. This start to 
              
Kaponga's 1908 rugby season was only seemingly auspicious as the senior 
              game was shortly awarded, on protest, to Waimate.

16 A period of ill-feeling 
              and poor behaviour, which over the next few weeks was to see 
Kaponga sink 
              to a humiliating nadir, probably had its beginnings in the events of this 
              afternoon. It says much for the leadership of Scott and other 
Kaponga 
              worthies that the club extricated itself from the abyss before the year was 
              out.

            
On 13 May the ‘Southern Division’ soccer competition got under way, 
              with 
Kaponga, 
Hawera and Auroa each fielding two teams and Eltham one. 
              Eight games, seven of them on Wednesdays or Thursdays, were scheduled 
              up to the end of the month. Unlike for rugby, the press gave the games little 
              notice, but there were good words for 
Kaponga in a report of a 2–1 victory 
              over Eltham at Eltham on 16 May. On Thursday, 14 May, the Pihama Rifle 
              Club visited for a shooting match at 
Kaponga. With no team names listed it 
              is not known whether Maclagan competed in either the soccer or shooting, 
              but he certainly was involved as a performer in a ‘Grand Concert and 
              Dance’ in aid of the band, held in the Athenaeum on the evening of 21 May. 
              William Swadling presided and added to the contributions of individuals 
              and of the band by playing phonograph selections. On 26 May Maclagan 
              chaired the tennis club's AGM and was re-elected president. Mrs Maclagan 
              was relieved of her secretary/treasurership but continued on the committee, 
              which 
Bramwell Scott joined as a new member. Reports showed that 
              levelling and making an asphalt court had cost £46, half of it borrowed. 
              Business included organising a working bee and planning the opening of the 
              court. The Awatuna club was to be invited to send a team for this event and 
              a concert and dance were planned for the evening.

            
Before we follow the rugby club's debacle it will be useful to sketch the 
              social setting. Rugby first appeared in New Zealand in the 1870s, soon 
              outdistanced the other football codes, and was established as the colony's 
              most popular game and the predominant winter sport by the 1890s. The 
              basis of its triumph and its social significance in the New Zealand context 
              are ably traced and discussed in 
Jock Phillips's 
A Man's Country?

17 The 
              game was well suited to the wet climate and could be played with a 
              minimum of equipment on rough rural paddocks. In its early days it had a 
              bad name as a ‘rough-and-tumble hoodlum amusement’ associated with 
              filthy language and carousing. But civilised by referees enforcing improved 
              rules that made more room for skill and less for sheer bullocking, it won its 
              way as an activity that fitted the values of a pioneer male culture. Rugby 
              spread through the English public schools because ‘They wanted a “manly” 
              education tempered by civilising restraints.’ As Phillips points out, ‘This was
              


              exactly the mix of concerns that helps explain the receptivity of New 
              Zealand society to rugby football in the nineteenth century.’

            
New Zealand rugby received a tremendous boost from the victorious 
              1905 tour of the 
British Isles. Taranaki had six players in the team, including 
              J.M. O'Sullivan of Okaiawa, W.S. Glenn of Waimate, F.T. Glasgow of 
              Eltham, and James Hunter of 
Hawera, one of the stars of the tour. Hunter 
              captained the very successful 1907 tour to 
Australia. This team also included 
              O'Sullivan, and 
Hawera's J.T.H. Colman. These were days of glory for 
              Taranaki rugby. It is easy to see why 
Kaponga was so desperate to get in on 
              the action in which neighbouring districts were winning national and 
              international fame, and why, once in, its teams had to face tough 
              competition. Team lists published in the early weeks of the 1908 season give 
              the names of 46 players in 
Kaponga's three competition teams. Of the 32 
              whose homes can be located with fair confidence, 27 lived on the farms. In 
              contrast, of the 25 players listed for soccer games, 12 are known to have been 
              townsfolk and only two country. By moving to soccer these players had not 
              only reduced the pool from which good rugby teams could be drawn, but 
              had also siphoned off almost all the potential town players, the ones best 
              placed to get regularly to practices, to fill last-minute gaps in teams, and to 
              help with administrative matters. 
Kaponga rugby supporters could not have 
              been blamed for feeling that soccer was sabotaging their cause.

            
We will now follow the 
Kaponga senior rugby team through to their 
              crisis. On Saturday 16 May they put on a creditable performance against 
              the 
Hawera seniors at 
Hawera. With a strong wind blowing the 
Hawera 
              team elected to play the first half against the wind. At first ‘
Kaponga's big 
              lot of forwards' were able to concentrate the play in 
Hawera territory, but 
              experience soon told. ‘The 
Hawera backs threw the ball about, Hunter 
              appearing at his best,’ according to the report in the 
Star (18/5/08). Though 
              ‘for a spell 
Kaponga shook things up’ they failed to make good the 
              advantage of the wind. ‘The 
Hawera backs continued to make the play, and 
              passed the ball about with more or less success.’ By half-time 
Kaponga had 
              not scored; 
Hawera had two tries. In the second half 
Kaponga put on a 
              much better performance. Twice they broke away and looked like scoring, 
              but the 
Hawera backs were too good for them. It was 
Hawera that made 
              the only further score:

            
Within five minutes of time Hunter, who had been playing a sterling game, 
              demonstrated that he was still capable of the ‘corkscrew’ runs that made him 
              famous in England by running clean through a team of strong tacklers.

            
The reporter admired 
Kaponga's spirit but found them lacking in skill.

            
The 
Kaponga team played up, especially in the second spell, in really fine 
              form. There are one or two well-known players in the forwards, but generally 
              it may be said that the team lacks cleverness, although it may be proud of the 
              vim which characterises practically all the players. Guy was the leader.

            


            
So the final score was 
Hawera 9, 
Kaponga 0.

            
The following Saturday, 23 May, was the 
Kaponga team's ‘Black 
              Saturday’. The game was against Okaiawa, at 
Kaponga. 
Kaponga do not 
              seem to have taken Okaiawa as seriously as they ought. They were playing 
              one of their thirds as a substitute and one of their players took his place on 
              the field about 10 minutes late. Within two minutes of the start Okaiawa 
              scored a try from a forward rush led by J.M. O'Sullivan and Jeremiah 
              Crowley. The scene rapidly became ugly. The referee was neither prompt 
              nor firm in his decisions. The teams' jerseys were similar, which confused 
              him, and he made some unfortunate decisions. He had had an earlier 
              connection with the Okaiawa club, and this led both 
Kaponga spectators 
              and players to believe he was being unfair. They made their feelings loudly 
              known. Following its usual Monday report on the game the 
Star carried 
              another on the Thursday, by its occasional commentator ‘Scrum’. He gave 
              details of one of the more unfortunate incidents.

            
… about half-way through the second half Eggleton was ordered off for 
              threatening to strike an opponent. Eggleton had been playing a splendid game 
              and this undoubtedly caused the visitors to give him extra attention. When he 
              was unnecessarily knocked down, the ball being about a dozen yards away, 
              he was naturally irritated, and held his fist up to the offender. The referee at 
              once ordered Eggleton off the field; but in justice the Okaiawa man who 
              caused the trouble should also have been sent off. Neither the game nor the 
              players were under control, and the language to be heard was decidedly un-English. (
Star, 28/5/08)

            

Kaponga succeeded in equalising the score with a drop-kicked goal, but 
              they left the field embittered.

            
At the next meeting of the Taranaki union's management committee, the 
              referee appeared to support his reporting of 
Kaponga's A.H. Guy, match 
              player and management committee member, ‘for using disparaging remarks 
              prior to and after the match’. He gave evidence that

            
… He cautioned Guy for appealing too frequently during the game. After 
              the match he went into the bathroom and heard Guy complaining that he had 
              been unfair and should never have been allowed to take the game, as he had 
              been connected with the Okaiawa Club. Guy continued to make disparaging 
              remarks after he had spoken to him. (
Star, 12/6/08)

            
Okaiawa players O'Sullivan and Crowley appeared with supporting 
              evidence. Guy had questioned the referee's fairness before the game, and had 
              continued to make disparaging remarks about him in his presence after the 
              game, even after O'Sullivan asked him to stop. After lengthy discussion the 
              meeting expressed its displeasure at Guy's action and desired him to resign 
              from the committee. It backed up the referee's caution to Crowley for 
              swearing. It resolved to inform the 
Kaponga club that ‘a repetition of the 
              conduct of the spectators at the 
Kaponga-Okaiawa match will lead to the
              


              disqualification of the ground’. One can understand why the referee, 
              O'Sullivan and Crowley took the matter seriously and why the committee 
              responded so strongly. For Taranaki rugby to continue to flourish and hold 
              its place in public esteem, games would have to be firmly under the control 
              of referees. There were acceptable ways of responding to unsatisfactory 
              refereeing, but public abuse and the threat of mob rule were not among 
              them. The decisions were a humiliation for both 
Kaponga and its rugby 
              club, but they showed their metal by re-establishing their reputations by 
              the end of the season.

            
Meanwhile there was much to be proud of in 
Kaponga's other sporting 
              and recreational activities. Sunday by Sunday the band continued its tour of 
              the surrounding settlements, while committees and working bees pressed on 
              with mounting the grand bazaar in its aid. This great occasion came at last: 
              three days (20–22 August) of trading, treasure hunts, sideshows, drawing of 
              raffles and other entertainment, including contributions by the Eltham and 
              Manaia bands. A total of £179 11 5d was raised. Diverse groups added to the 
              winter round of dances and socials. A Catholic social and dance on 24 June 
              was ‘perhaps the most delightful and successful function of its kind held in 
              
Kaponga for years’. Next evening a dance associated with the Oddfellows' 
              weekly euchre party was also well attended. On 9 July there were plenty of 
              
Kaponga visitors at Riverlea's Farmers' Union social. In very wet weather 
              on 16 July the bachelors' ball drew a moderate attendance to the Athenaeum. 
              When the ladies responded with their ball on 5 August they too struck an 
              ‘exceedingly rough night’, but nevertheless drew a large attendance.

            
The rugby ball on 2 September saw 52 couples on the floor. It competed 
              with a well-attended smoke concert at the Oddfellows' Hall to farewell 
              Norman Eccleston, bandmaster, lodge secretary, cricketer and soccer player. 
              Those giving valedictory speeches included A.H. Guy and Dr Maclagan. 
              There were other farewell occasions, the Methodist Sunday school concert 
              and anniversary on the weekend 10–12 July, and on 23 July the tennis club's 
              great day, the opening of its court. 
Kaponga won the competition with 
              Awatuna six sets to two. 
Bramwell Scott and the Maclagans were strong 
              contributors to 
Kaponga's win, and the Maclagans both sang in the evening 
              concert. But the tennis club had had strong competition for public attention 
              this Thursday afternoon. On the school's rugby ground the local boys 
              defeated a Stratford XV 21–6 in ‘a well-fought game’, and on Victoria Park 
              the Auroa soccer team had a 4-1 victory over 
Kaponga B. Overall 
Kaponga 
              soccer had a satisfactory season. The 
Star of 21 July showed 
Kaponga A as 
              leading in south Taranaki, having won five and drawn one of its seven 
              games. But this was deceptive: 
Hawera was close behind, had as yet only 
              played six games, and went on to win the south Taranaki competition.

            
At the end of May the points table for southern division senior rugby 
              ran Waimate 7, 
Hawera 6, Patea 5, 
Kaponga 1, Okaiawa 1. 
Kaponga's 
              humiliation had further depths yet to plumb. On Saturday 6 June their 
              senior team was comprehensively defeated 40–0 by Waimate on their
              


              Manaia ground, and Eggleton, probably their best player, received a knee 
              injury that was expected to sideline him for the rest of the season. Meanwhile back at 
Kaponga Waimate II defeated 
Kaponga II 11–3. On 13 June 
              
Kaponga II lost 0–3 to Patea II in a ‘tired feeling’ game in which both sides 
              fielded only 13 men. On 20 June 
Kaponga seniors forfeited a game 
              scheduled against Patea at Patea, and a 
Hawera II v 
Kaponga II match set 
              down for 1pm at 
Hawera was abandoned as the first 
Kaponga player did 
              not turn up till 3pm. A short scratch game of assorted players was played 
              instead.

            
The following Saturday, 27 June, 
Kaponga began to claw their way back, 
              with an 8–0 win over the 
Hawera seniors on Victoria Park. A test against 
              the Anglo-Welsh visitors was being played that day in 
Wellington, in 
              atrocious mud, and 
Hawera's key man, Hunter, was in the New Zealand 
              team. 
Hawera played substitutes for several others who were probably in 
              
Wellington to see the test. But 
Kaponga was also without its best man, 
              Eggleton, and played six substitutes. On a fine afternoon, with the ground 
              soggy from a week of heavy rain, 
Kaponga won the toss and elected to play 
              downhill on their somewhat sloping ground. In the first half they scored 
              two tries, one converted, and they were able to grimly hold the 
Hawera 
              team at bay throughout the second half. The day brought further 
              encouragement, with Okaiawa II forfeiting to 
Kaponga II, and 
Hawera III 
              v 
Kaponga III at 
Hawera ending in a 3-all draw.

            
A crucial game for 
Kaponga's reinstatement in public esteem will have 
              been the senior match against Okaiawa played at Okaiawa on 11 July. Not 
              only was there the feeling from their last game and its aftermath to be 
              overcome, but an Okaiawa win would put 
Kaponga at the bottom of the 
              points table for the southern division, while a 
Kaponga win or a draw would 
              put Okaiawa there. It was a hard, fast game in which ‘both sides came within 
              an ace of scoring on several occasions', ending in a nil-all draw. But the 
              crucial words in Monday's 
Star report (13/7/08) were its last phrases: ‘… 
              there was an entire absence of anything objectionable and the best of feeling 
              prevailed throughout’. One can imagine that this outcome owed a good deal 
              to activities of community leaders such as club president 
Bramwell Scott, 
              previous president (now vice-president) Peter Matheson, Dr Maclagan (also 
              a vice-president), and club captain A.H. Guy (an able and responsible public 
              leader despite his blunders of 23 May). But perhaps 
Kaponga was still 
              showing a little resentment when it ignored the rugby union's request that 
              it close its shops on Wednesday, 15 July, for the Taranaki v Anglo-Welsh 
              match in 
New Plymouth, which Taranaki won 5–0.

            

Kaponga players enjoyed two further rugby outings before being tied 
              down by the new milking season. Many of them will have been among the 
              600 spectators at Manaia who watched Waimate defeat the northern division 
              winners 20–0 on 30 July; and on 15 August the club's season ended 
              pleasantly with a 
Kaponga XV travelling to Mangatoki for an invitation 
              game, which they won 11–9.

            


            
With the passing of winter there was a tendency for town and country 
              to go their separate ways. Only three or four rugby players were involved 
              in summer sports teams. By contrast, about 10 soccer players joined the 
              cricket teams and two or three played tennis. Spring and summer saw one 
              notable area of town/country co-operation—horticulture. In the opening 
              week of September the 
Methodists held their second annual spring flower 
              show, the band enlivening its first evening. Of the 48 places in the prize list, 
              rural settler Charles Hollard and his wife took 17, Riverlea farmer Robert 
              Gibson* took 10 and 
Bramwell Scott and his wife took eight. The versatile 
              Scotts were keen gardeners; Gibson went on to win New Zealand fame as 
              a daffodil grower, and 
Kaponga's Hollard Gardens are today an important 
              south Taranaki tourist feature. The only significant non-Methodist exhibitor 
              in 1908 was an Anglican, the wife of builder C.S. Walker.

            
But the ecumenically minded Scott was working to broaden the show's 
              appeal beyond a few Methodist families, enlisting the support of headmaster 
              Matheson, a Presbyterian, who brought the school to visit the show as 
              guests of the school committee. Scott told the children that he and Matheson 
              were donating special children's prizes for the next year's show. The 
              following Monday saw the AGM of the 
Kaponga Horticultural and General 
              Produce Society, of which Dr Maclagan continued as president, with 
              
Bramwell Scott and Peter Matheson on the committee. Its 12th annual show 
              on 9 March 1909 was a great success. A record number of entries overwhelmed the committee, and the show opened late as they struggled to pack


              exhibits into the Athenaeum and a supplementary marquee. Town and 
              country were both well represented in the wideranging display of farm and 
              garden produce, honey, preserves, pickles, dairy produce, bread, cakes, cut 
              flowers, sewing, needlework, craftwork, handwriting &c. The first contest 
              for a silver cup, presented by ‘Kickapoo’ Hunter for the largest number of 
              points at the show, was a marathon battle across a range of sections between 
              the Anglican Mrs C.S. Walker (139 points) and Mrs 
Bramwell Scott (124).

            
The cricket season began with a practice match on Thursday afternoon, 
              24 September. Charles Betts was having a year off from the captaincy, with 
              butcher's assistant G. Trower taking his place, but it was Betts who 
              represented the club at the association's AGM in 
Hawera on 5 October, and 
              was put onto the three-man selection committee. The affiliated teams 
              (
Hawera, Manaia, 
Kaponga, Eltham and Toko) proceeded to play out a low-key competition over the summer. Typically scores were low. The games
              were or afternoons only and were often ended by fading light or by the 
              visiting team having to leave for home. The winner was the one with most 
              runs at stumps so the toss often decided the match. 
Kaponga residents would 
              have been pleased that their team won about half its games, but no one either 
              on or off the field seems to have taken the competition aspect seriously. 
              Rather, matches were friendly social occasions, without the tension of the 
              fiercely fought rugby competition. Maclagan and Betts played regularly this 
              season, and Matheson appears in three of the published team lists.

            


            
There was a low-key flavour to various other summer activities. A 
              Catholic social on 24 September was not well attended. The Caledonian 
              Society showed a little life with a poorly attended concert of songs, reels, 
              step-dances and sketches on 30 October, in aid of funds. The Oddfellows 
              held an athletics sports day (also poorly attended) on King's Birthday, 9 
              November. And on 6 November the Athenaeum and library AGM failed 
              for the fourth time to achieve a quorum, so through ‘Our Own’ Peter 
              Matheson made known his intention of resigning as secretary/treasurer, 
              published the financial reports of the two institutions, and began moves for 
              their transfer to the Town Board. Fortunately the school gave Matheson 
              more encouragement. Its annual picnic and prizegiving, well attended in 
              pleasant weather on Thursday 17 December, was a great success. It began 
              at 11 am on the school grounds, of which ‘Our Own’ wrote

            
… the 
Kaponga school grounds are among the most up-to-date in New 
              Zealand, and include football ground and a fine grass tennis court and three 
              croquet lawns, all of which are tastefully surrounded with flower gardens, 
              which at the present time are in full bloom and make a beautiful spot in 
              which to pass away a few hours. In a great measure the master (Mr 
              Matheson) is responsible for the school possessing these fine grounds …

            
Besides the picnic and presentation of prizes, parents watched the 
              children enjoy tennis, croquet, races, skipping, lolly scrambles &c, with the 
              
Kaponga Brass Band enlivening the occasion. This was indeed a busy 
              afternoon for the weekly half-holiday. The cricket team began playing 
              
Hawera in a championship match on 
Hawera's Bayly Park at about 2.45pm. 
              
Kaponga batted first, scoring 71, to which 
Hawera replied with only 43. At 
              the end of their second innings 
Kaponga led by 77 and with only about 20 
              minutes left their win looked secure. But 
Hawera went on a scoring spree 
              and by stumps at 6.30 had reached 115 for only two wickets, in reply to 
              
Kaponga's total of 120—a championship win to 
Kaponga but a moral 
              victory to 
Hawera. Meanwhile on 
Kaponga's Victoria Park the rifle club 
              held its annual parade with the army's Sergeant-Major Dodd present. The 
              date may have been chosen so that parents and children could move on from 
              the prizegiving to watch the parade.

            
So the busy summer months were enriched by various recreations. It 
              was a good year for fish in the rivers.

18 The band played around the 
              township each weekend. Many 
Kaponga folk would have enjoyed Eltham's 
              famous two-day Axeman's Carnival just after Christmas. The tennis club 
              held a local tournament and visited the Opunake club. Opunake returned 
              the visit on Saturday, 21 February. Maclagan, Matheson and Scott were 
              prominent among the local players. Gray, Opunake's headmaster and a 
              tennis enthusiast, also brought a school team to play the local children. 
              
Kaponga players did quite well but Opunake won at both levels.

            
In terms of glory for 
Kaponga this year's champions were the rifle club.
              


              All through the year they pressed on with their weekly Thursday and 
              Saturday practices, their various local competitions, and matches against the 
              Eltham, Pihama, Stratford and Mangorei clubs. This persistence and 
              dedication paid off with their six-man team at the 
Trentham National 
              Championship meeting in March. In the five-men-a-side match 
Kaponga 
              put up riflemen A.H. Guy, D.W. Maclagan, S. Hollard, D. Roots and F. 
              Gapper, and finished 13th out of the 47 teams. Both Guy and Roots secured 
              places in the first 50 to shoot off for the King's Prize championship, in which 
              Guy took fourth place. Roots and Maclagan each won several prizes, but 
              the greatest prize brought home was the coveted Union S.S. Cup won by 
              A.H. Guy. A large crowd met the returning team at the post office corner. 
              The band, playing ‘The Conquering Hero’, joyfully acknowledged Guy as 
              their chairman. William Swadling read a citizens' address of welcome ‘To 
              Rifleman Guy and the other members of the 
Kaponga Rifle Club who have 
              at the 1909 
Trentham Rifle Association competitions so ably upheld the 
              standards of their club’. Guy suitably replied to this and other speeches, and 
              amid cheers was shouldered and carried to his home. He had more than 
              atoned for the winter's Black Saturday.

19
              

[image: ]


Kaponga soccer team, Taranaki championship winners, 1909. Standing: C. E. Betts (referee),


                    J. Law, J. Bowie, M. Bates, T. Winters, H. Barnsley, A. Melville (secretary). Seated: F. Bertie


                    (manager), J. Sweatmore, T. Preece (captain), D. Kelly, J. Beeby, E. Foreman (selector). In


                    front: H. Faull, N. Nicholls
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Days of Glory, 1909–14

            
We now sketch the years down to the outbreak of war, concentrating on 
              new developments and further ‘days of glory’. The 1909 winter ended with 
              one such day, the soccer team's winning of the Taranaki championship (
Star, 
              30/8/09). Their path to victory was poorly recorded in the press, but ‘Our 
              Own's’ (13/9/07) report of the celebration social tells us:

            
In referring to this year's performance [Club President, Dr Maclagan] stated 
              that the A team had scored 35 goals against 5 goals. In the last four matches 
              20 goals were scored, and not one goal against them. Each of the team was 
              presented with a photograph.

            
Several other of these ‘days of glory’ came from the appearance of a new 
              sport, hockey. Peter Matheson was a hockey enthusiast and encouraged the 
              game at the school as one that both girls and boys could play. As early as 5 
              August 1905 the 
Kaponga School girls played a Saturday hockey match 
              against an Okaiawa team on Victoria Park. A Ladies' Hockey Club was 
              formed at a meeting in the school on 27 April 1910, with Mrs Maclagan as 
              president and Peter Matheson as a vice-president and also on the three-man 
              selection committee. The club went through the usual process of raising 
              funds by concerts &c, and building its strength by steady practice. At its
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Kaponga's Atahua Te Kaha Hockey Club team, Taranaki ladies' championship winners, 1912.


                    Standing: I. Swadling, J. Melville, A. Symes, M. Hartley, E. King. Seated: R. Whitcombe,


                    A. Law (captain), G. Faull, N. Signal. In front: G. Wills, N. Wills


              


              first AGM on 31 March 1911 only women were elected vice-presidents (Mrs 
              Matheson being one) and Peter Matheson was the only man on the selection 
              committee of four. In 1912 the 
Kaponga team won the Taranaki women's 
              hockey competition. A complimentary social had already been arranged for 
              the soccer team, which had again won its Taranaki championship, so this 
              was now extended to include the Ladies' Hockey Club, and a memorable 
              evening was spent celebrating 
Kaponga's holding of the soccer cup and the 
              women's hockey shield.

20 On 12 September 1912 
Kaponga rugby had a little 
              boost when John Kissick played for Taranaki, which defeated 
Canterbury 
              7–0 at Stratford.

            
The rifle club had already given 
Kaponga another day of glory on 9 
              March 1911, when 23-year-old rifleman Douglas Roots won the 
Trentham 
              championship and brought home the Ballinger Belt, which had been to 
              Taranaki only once before, back in 1880. Roots was welcomed home in the 
              Athenaeum where the congratulatory speakers included A. H. Guy, 
              
Bramwell Scott, William Swadling and the Hon W.C. Carncross, MLC. 
              Both Guy and Scott (who claimed Guy as one of his flock) made a feature 
              of an incident in the final shoot of the contest. Another competitor put a 
              bullseye on Roots's target, which he would have been quite at liberty to 
              claim. Though under strong challenge Roots ‘honourably refused’ this advantage. 
              Roots joined the New Zealand team to shoot at Bisley later in 
              the year and won further honours at 
Trentham over the next year or two.

            
There was considerable jubilation in the ‘Little Mountain Town’, ‘Our 
              Own’ (13/9/13) reported, when in September 1913 local cyclist T.J. 
              Sheppard won the round-the-mountain race against strong New Zealand 
              and Australian competition. A public reception in the Athenaeum was 
              enlivened with appropriate music from the band and speeches by Charles 
              Betts, who was on the committee controlling the race; the county foreman, 
              who was Sheppard's boss; and A.H. Guy, now Town Board chairman, who

            
… referred incidentally to the list of triumphs which had been pulled off in 
              recent years by 
Kaponga residents, individually and collectively—no mean 
              record for the size of the community, and possibly without parallel in the 
              Dominion. In addition to the valuable prizes Sheppard brought home with 
              him, he was the recipient of a handsome gold medal, suitably inscribed, 
              indicating 
Kaponga's appreciation of his win.

            
The women's hockey team continued to earn recognition. In 1913 it had 
              four players in the Taranaki team, and 
Kaponga were joint runners-up in a 
              new departure for Taranaki, a ladies' hockey tournament at the end of the 
              season. In 1914 
Kaponga won the cup for this tournament.

21 Meanwhile 
              
Kaponga's men had also taken up hockey and by 1914 were in contention 
              for the district championship. A play-off between 
Kaponga and 
Hawera at 
              
Kaponga on 2 September ‘resulted in one of the most exciting and strenuous 
              games ever witnessed on the local ground’. At full time the score was 3-all. 
              In four further spells of 10 minutes and two of five minutes neither team
              


              could score, so a further play-off was agreed to at 
Hawera on 10 September. 
              Again there was a draw (2-all) at full time. When neither team could score 
              in a 20-minute extension they decided to share the championship.

            
Meanwhile in the premier sport of rugby 
Kaponga had been going 
              through hard times. At the 1909 AGM Okaiawa club representatives 
              attended to ask that Okaiawa be allowed to throw in its lot with 
Kaponga. 
              This was agreed to, and Jeremiah Crowley captained the 
Kaponga A team 
              for a fairly satisfying year. But in 1910 Okaiawa resumed its own club, 
              which flourished under Crowley's captainship, winning the Taranaki 
              championship in 1911. The 
Kaponga club's morale was then low for several 
              years and it had financial difficulties. By 1914 it was making a comeback 
              and on 13 July as runner-up made Manaia fight hard for the championship. 
              But 
Kaponga rugby's great days still lay in the future.
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Women and Girls in Edwardian 
Kaponga

            
Our period coincides with the worldwide women's movement of the late 
              19th and early 20th centuries, which saw New Zealand women lead the 
              world by gaining the franchise in 1893. The late 20th-century revival of the 
              feminist movement has seen the advent of a new women's history, aimed 
              both at removing the neglect of women's contribution and developing a 
              feminist perspective on the past. It includes a search for the reasons why 
              the earlier feminist movement faltered and died away. Two potent models 
              have been used by many recent women's historians: a public-private model, 
              which sees men dominating the public sphere and women confined to the 
              private domestic world; and a separate-cultures model, which sees men and 
              women developing two equally rich but different parallel cultures. In this 
              present study we have repeatedly observed that our sources were created 
              mainly by adult males, who focused on male interests, and if reporting 
              women's activities did so from a male perspective. Lacking any substantial 
              women's diaries or personal letters, we cannot hope to contribute 
              significantly to the understanding of women's private sphere or of the 
              feminine culture.

            
It would be easy to depict Edwardian 
Kaponga as dominated by a 
              chauvinistic male culture. All local body representatives were male, all 
              members of the Settlers' and the Tradesmen's Protection Associations were 
              men, men dominated the playing fields and the male game of rugby was the 
              major sport. The position of ‘Our Own’, 
Kaponga's main purveyor of infor 
              mation on public life, was held by a man throughout. These correspondents 
              commonly showed women in a purely supportive role in a male world, 
              doing the hack work from the ancillary position of a subordinate women's 
              committee, providing the refreshments, supporting from the sidelines. The 
              sideline support to which they gave pride of place was the tumultuous male 
              glory of the 
Kaponga Brass Band.

            
Yet I believe this picture would be substantially false. A truer picture
              


              would show 
Kaponga women's considerable success in following up the 
              gaining of the franchise with a deliberate pressure at local level to gain a 
              share of the control of the aspects of life they considered significant to their 
              sex. Furthermore, no local male programme continued to flourish once it 
              came under the cloud of female disapproval. We will first present evidence 
              for this picture from a careful reading between the lines of male reportage. 
              In the next section we put this aspect of Edwardian 
Kaponga in the context 
              of the interplay between world influences and frontier conditions and also 
              sketch the wider picture of women's place over the period of our study.

            
In the Edwardian years probably the most potent instrument of the 
              
Kaponga community's self-expression was the Horticultural Society's 
              annual show. It catered for men and women on pretty equal terms, with 
              both men and women competing in the cut flowers section, men dominating 
              the farm and garden produce and fruit sections, and women the flower 
              arrangement, cooking, preserves, and sewing and fancy work sections. We 
              will outline the salient features of the society's development as a preliminary 
              to examining some striking developments in women's involvement in its 
              management. We have already seen that when the society was formed on 25 
              February 1898 men took all the executive positions. However, ‘a strong 
              committee of ladies and gentlemen was formed’. Over the years the scope 
              and prestige of the show steadily grew. In 1900 a poultry section was added, 
              in 1902 a marquee was provided for the displays of visiting nurserymen, and 
              from 1905 the show's widening scope was acknowledged by a title change 
              to 
Kaponga Horticultural and General Produce Show. Year by year the 
              show was opened by the local member of Parliament. The number of 
              outside visitors grew, with some distinguished personages among them, such 
              as ‘His Grace Archbishop Redwood’ in 1903, and ‘the Hon C.H. Mills 
              and party’ in 1905. In 1906, besides displays by the local seedsman and by 
              nurserymen from as far away as 
New Plymouth, local businessmen 
              mounted displays as diverse as bicycles and harness. ‘Our Own’ (2/3/06) 
              reported:

            
Comment was general as to the large crowd in town for the flower show. Mr 
              J. Bullock's livery stable was taxed to its utmost, and there were two or three 
              lines of vehicles in the street outside.

            
The show continued to grow from strength to strength. The record 460 
              entries of 1906 had more than doubled to 954 entries in 1910. New features 
              were added, such as a children's milk-testing competition. In 1907 it was 
              noted that ‘many of the prize winners, contrary to the usual custom, came 
              from the vicinity of 
Kaponga’.

22 This, of course reflects the history of the 
              district, with many of the farm homesteads having a 10-year start on the 
              town sections.

            
Let us now explore women/men relationships in the development and 
              management of the Horticultural Society. Apart from the fact that men 
              continued to hold all the executive positions we have no information on
              


              committee composition over the first few years. However, in late January 
              1900 a planning meeting for the forthcoming show appointed a ladies' 
              committee ‘so that the minor details which were overlooked last year’ could 
              be attended to. These shows required a great deal of detailed work to 
              receive, record, judge and display exhibits; to steward, entertain, and provide 
              refreshments on show day; and to clear up afterwards. There is no doubt 
              that male executive members put in a tremendous amount of work, but the 
              setting up of the women's committee may well have resulted from some 
              things not being up to standard to a woman's housekeeping eye. That the 
              show's growth was creating plenty of work is suggested by the appointment 
              of a Ladies' Committee of 24 and a Gentlemen's Committee of 31 at the 
              AGM on 25 September 1901. On 24 January 1902 seven women were 
              among the 15 stewards appointed for the forthcoming show. Year by year 
              at the meeting following the show the ‘ladies’ received fulsome votes of 
              thanks for their work in stewarding and providing refreshments. But 
              between the lines one senses the women's growing concern at their 
              relegation to a purely supportive role while the men monopolised the main 
              decisionmaking. For example, the crucial catalogue committee (which 
              finalised the shape and terms of the show) consisted in 1902 of five men and 
              in 1903 of three men. One senses some stirring from the women in the rather 
              brief report on the AGM of 21 September 1904 that
              

[image: ]


Kaponga Horticultural and General Produce Society's Autumn Show, 1909. We are looking


                    towards the stage of the Town Hall. The acetylene gas lighting installed in 1905 was a great


                    improvement for occasions such as this


            

            
… Messrs Frethey, Walker, Dr Maclagan, and Mesdames Frethey, Walker and
              


              Maclagan were appointed a Catalogue Committee. The General Committee is 
              to be the same as last year, with the addition of Mesdames Shore, Towler, 
              Mathewson, Needham, and Mr Snell.

            
So the catalogue committee now consists of three married couples. The 
              women are no longer confined to an indirect input to decisions on their 
              sections of the show, but are equally represented in the decisionmaking. Yet 
              any carry-over of male/female tension to this committee is likely to have 
              been restrained by its ‘married couple’ character. This outcome, and the 
              strengthening of women's representation on the general committee, have the 
              look of a prudent response to some strong feminist pressure.

            
But the women were apparently not yet satisfied. ‘Our Own’ reported 
              that at the next AGM, on 17 November 1905, there were about 20 present, 
              which was apparently a rather large number (numbers were given on only 
              two other occasions: nine in 1906 and 11 in 1907). Rather ominously ‘Our 
              Own’ continued: ‘Included among those present was a fair number of 
              ladies.’ He does not say whether they were in the majority. The list of 
              officers elected begins with the usual male president and vice-presidents, but 
              then continues with the quite unprecedented ‘general committee, all 
              members of the society, and the following ladies:’. The names of 64 women 
              are then listed. There is no corresponding list of men. The list concludes 
              with ‘executive committee, president, vice-president, Messrs McKay, 
              Frethey, Cowern and their wives’. Obviously some kind of gender sorting 
              out was going on, but ‘Our Own’ refrained from any explanation of his 
              rather cryptic report. At the following AGM (29 September 1906) there 
              were five women and four men present. Election results list no ‘general 
              committee’. For the executive committee six women's names are listed, 
              followed by 12 men's. Whatever had been going on, it clearly ended with 
              women firmly represented at executive level. The ‘ladies' committee’ as a 
              separate entity became a thing of the past—though undoubtedly working 
              parties of women would have continued to undertake various tasks. But 
              from 1904 on women had firmly insisted that they were to be deciders as 
              well as supporters. The 1904 date may have some significance, for in that 
              year a supper room and kitchen were added to the Athenaeum. Perhaps the 
              women, in reaction to the prospect of an ever-growing role as ‘providers’, 
              felt the time was ripe to stake their claim to also be ‘deciders’. The men seem 
              to have got the message. A suggestions committee set up after the 1908 show 
              consisted of two women and three men. The AGM of 7 September 1908 
              elected an executive committee of nine women and 11 men.

            
The 
Kaponga Horticultural Society flourished because it met the needs, 
              and gained and retained the support, of a large number of both women and 
              men. But it must have been more significant in the lives of the women than 
              the men. Men had many ways of displaying their accomplishments—the 
              stock sales, the view over their farms, their milk output and cheques, their 
              deeds on the sports fields, and their speeches in the public forums. For the
              


              women the show will have been the major opportunity to publicly display 
              their skills and accomplishments. When from 1902 on the 
Star began giving 
              a comprehensive impression of the show it was mainly women who were 
              picked out for special note. Year by year, until she and her husband retired 
              to 
New Plymouth in 1908, it was Ellen Frethey, a prominent Methodist, 
              who was the dominant exhibitor, with Mrs C.S. Walker, a prominent 
              Anglican, as her main competitor. The only man who continuously gave 
              them some solid competition was Robert Gibson. But the prize lists show 
              plenty of other women strongly committed in particular sections. To take 
              an example, the 1909 list (
Star, 10/3/09) shows women well represented in 
              all nine sections, whereas men were only well represented in four. There 
              were 745 entries, of which 321 won placings on the list; of these women took 
              222, men only 99. Fifty-five women's and girls' names appear in the list, but 
              only 35 men's and boys’. (With 424 unsuccessful entries there would, of 
              course, have been unlisted competitors.) Even in the children's milk-testing 
              section the girls had, as usual, competed on pretty well equal terms with 
              the boys.

            
We have already noted the great contest for ‘Kickapoo’ Hunter's new 
              cup at this show. This ran across most sections as minister's wife Alice Scott, 
              taking over the Methodist baton from Ellen Frethey, fought it out with 
              Anglican stalwart Mrs C.S. Walker. By the rules for the cup it became the 
              property of the ‘exhibitor who wins twice in succession or three times at 
              intervals’. The battle was renewed with a vengeance at the 1910 show to 
              which the two women each submitted over 100 entries. By once again 
              winning, Mrs Walker secured the cup.

            
We now move on to a more cursory survey of how women maintained 
              or extended their position in various other areas of 
Kaponga public life. We 
              have already seen them asserting their right to a share of the use of the 
              playing fields, particularly for hockey in which they were soon having major 
              successes. Not only did they win good male support for their venture (their 
              first fundraising concert and dance, on 1 September 1910, was a great 
              success), but they also saw the men follow them into the game. The 
Star 
              (7/9/10) reported that a match between a team of men dressed in skirts and 
              the women's team (allowed two extra players) was to be played on 
              Thursday, 8 September 1910. By April 1911 a men's hockey club had come 
              into being. Over Easter weekend a working bee of 30 of its members levelled 
              and stumped an area of the school ground that the school committee had 
              lent them for matches and practice. By 1912 the southern end of Victoria 
              Park was being developed as a hockey field.

23 It was probably the fact that 
              the women's and men's teams could practise against each other that made a 
              third male winter sport feasible in 
Kaponga, and arrangements made for 
              playing fields avoided any conflict with the other codes. The two clubs 
              flourished together, running successful joint hockey balls and keeping their 
              accounts in credit.

24

            
There is an interesting contrast with rugby's fortunes. The rugby ball
              


              of 1908 turned in quite a heavy loss, it lapsed in 1909, and when revived on 
              a fine September evening in 1910 ‘Our Own’ reported an ‘extremely 
              enjoyable evening’ for ‘all who had the good fortune to be present’, which 
              amounted to a pointed omission of any reference to the attendance.

25 For 
              several years from 1909 the club had difficulty in balancing its books. This 
              may well have been partly due to losing the confidence and support of 
              
Kaponga's women. A decline in athletic sports over this period may also be 
              related to a loss of female support—an athletics concert on 30 October 1908 
              was poorly attended. Women may have resented the poor provision of 
              events for them in the programmes. On the other hand tennis, which 
              provided well for both sexes, flourished. There is little information on other 
              women's summer sports activities. They must, however, have played some 
              cricket for ‘Our Own’ (7/4/05) reported ‘a very enjoyable return match’ 
              played on the park by the ladies with the gentlemen, which ended in a tie, 
              both sides scoring
60. There may also have been some croquet, carried over 
              from the school grounds to the home lawns.

            
While hockey balls flourished and rugby balls had mixed fortunes, 
              another type of ball enjoyed a general success—the bachelors', to which the 
              single women responded with the ladies' return ball. The ladies' ball of late 
              April 1904 was described as ‘about the best that has been held here for some 
              time’.

            
The M's.C. were Misses J. Winters, E. Fitzgerald, and J. Kissick, who were 
              loudly praised for the manner in which they carried out their duties, and 
              according to those present at this function the gentlemen M's.C. run a very 
              poor second to these three women.

            
Women were showing their organising and directing skills in the smaller 
              centres also. Thus at Rowan on 3 September 1909 they held a highly 
              successful concert and dance to raise funds for a croquet set for the school.

            
Another venture that flourished for a time by winning both male and 
              female support was the 
Kaponga Literary and Social Club, founded on 4 
              February 1902 with F.W. Wilkie as president and a committee of equal 
              numbers of men and women. Over the next three years it sponsored a varied 
              programme of debates, ping pong tournaments and socials that were strong 
              on indoor pursuits such as cards, quoits, chess, and parlour games, and on 
              musical items.

26 The club seems to have faded through the competition of a 
              growing flow of visiting entertainers, and the rise of more specialised groups 
              such as a debating club with a strongly male orientation,

27 Miss Wilkinson's 
              dancing classes,

28 and Dr Maclagan's glee club. Under Maclagan's guidance 
              the 
Glee Club seems to have developed into the 
Orchestral Society. It was 
              apparently a mixed group from the start and on Maclagan's departure was 
              taken over by Miss Robinson, a music teacher.

29 The rise of the orchestra 
              broke the band's male monopoly of the provision of musical support for 
              public occasions. Thus, when in 1910 the Horticultural Society took over 
              the spring flower show from the 
Methodists, it was the orchestra and not
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Kaponga
Orchestral Society, 1912. Standing: Maurice Bates (bass), Rex Cook (violin),


                    Alexander Ward (violin), Tom Brotheridge (flute), Hugh McCarthy (cornet), Percy Allen


                    (trombone, Hon. Sec.). Seated: (violinists & conductress): Florrie Signal, Charles King, Ivy


                    Robinson, Vida Robinson (conductress), Gwendoline Thoumine, Wilfred Morris, Mary Power.


                    In front: Herbert Briggs (violin), Beatrice Bates (piano)


              the band that provided the evening's music.

30 The band, of course, had wide 
              support because of its readiness to grace community occasions of any kind. 
              We have already seen the women initiating a ‘monster bazaar and fancy fair’ 
              in aid of its instrument fund in April 1908, and calling on the men to follow 
              up with a committee in their support.

            
We conclude our survey of the more prominent place women were 
              taking in 
Kaponga life in Edwardian times with a glance at the crossroads 
              at the town's centre. On one corner was the hotel, whose bar of course 
              continued to be a male preserve. But across the street the fine new post 
              office, opened in May 1903, was under female management over these years, 
              for the succession of postmasters was broken by a succession of 
              postmistresses from May 1899 until October 1912. And in May 1904 F.W. 
              Wilkie's fine new 
Kaponga. Coffee Palace opened across Manaia Road from 
              the hotel, with a succession of women lessees maintaining an alternative 
              venue to the hotel bar, a place where women could meet with their friends 
              of either sex without the divisive presence of liquor. Here, for example, 
              ladies from St Mark's congregation met with their bishop and his party 
              when he passed through on 13 January 1906. And while the hotel continued 
              to be the venue for the all-male juries called together for inquests, it was to 
              the Coffee Palace that the doctors had the more fortunate victims of
              


              misadventure brought. Thus when in May 1905 Mountain House custodian 
              W.H. St Clair fell and fractured his leg, Dr Noonan had him brought to the 
              feminine care of the Coffee Palace.
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Women, the Frontier and the World

            
We must now set our probing of women's place in Edwardian 
Kaponga into 
              a wider context of time and place. We begin with a brief look at local 
              statistics. Although census returns were not collated in a particularly helpful 
              way until 1916 they do make clear a significant female presence in the 
              district from the beginning of settlement, but a male predominance 
              throughout. Thus the 1886 and 1891 censuses show males outnumbering 
              females by roughly three to two in the Waimate Road District, of which 
              the 
Kaponga area was a substantial part. Over the longer run the figures for 
              Manaia Road (which runs from Manaia's northern boundary to the 
              mountain) are probably as good a sample as any. Whereas these also show 
              the male/female ratio as roughly three to two in 1886 and 1891, in the next 
              four censuses, to 1911, female numbers fluctuate around 45 per cent. From 
              1906 we have the 
Kaponga Town District returns, where the female/male 
              figures are, respectively: 1906: 144/134; 1911: 185/199; 1916: 194/203.

31 It 
              should be noted that in early autumn, when most of these censuses were 
              taken, 
Kaponga's male population would have been at a low ebb. There was 
              a general outflow to the open country through summer to early autumn, 
              first for the shearing, then the harvesting and threshing. The censuses fail to 
              capture either of the district's two main seasonal inflows, the brief cocksfoot 
              harvest one in January, and the more sustained bushfelling one, getting 
              under way in May and lasting through the winter months.

            
These figures confirm that families were an important element of the 
              initial settlement flow. Almost all the females of the earlier years will have 
              been wives and daughters in the homesteads on the clearings. The surplus 
              of men will have been found mainly in the whares of bachelor settlers, 
              sawmill workers, roadmakers &c, and will have been augmented by the 
              seasonal influx of itinerant bushfellers and cocksfoot harvesters. When the 
              township appears it has a balanced sex ratio, partly because some men were 
              being drawn away for farm, road and sawmilling work, and partly because 
              there were some work openings in the town for single women from outside. 
              Right through our period the district would have had a marked surplus of 
              bachelors, many of them seeking wives. Any healthy, personable young 
              woman would have felt strong pressure to marry.

            
We have already built up a pretty comprehensive picture of both the 
              work and leisure of our people. Using this as a background we now examine 
              how women's lives were being shaped by traditions emanating both from 
              the local and colonial scene and the Old World. For simplicity we will 
              concentrate on the three main traditions involved: the ‘colonial helpmeet’, 
              the ‘leisured lady’, and the ‘emancipated woman’. All three are essentially
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Elizabeth Smith née Sinclair by her Palmer Road fireside. She brought spinning and knitting


                    skills from the Shetland Islands. She knitted wool from sheep on the Smith farm into shawls


                    for families settled between her home and Neill Road. Betty Arnold has inherited her family's


                    shawl and it has been used at the baptisms of some of our grandchildren


              middle-class models, for though a significant proportion of our folk came 
              from working-class backgrounds, most moved up to reasonably affluent 
              freeholder station and so achieved middle-class status.

            
The colonial helpmeet was the woman who, by a heavy investment of 
              her labour and skills into the farm or small business and by running a very 
              self-sufficient domestic economy, assisted her under-capitalised husband to 
              make his way up in the world. This model had roots going back to 
              mediaeval times and the earlier colonial experience of New England. The 
              leisured lady had become a dominant model for the increasingly affluent 
              middle class of Victorian England. Her leisure was a status symbol of the 
              menfolk of her class—they would consider themselves failures if she were 
              ever reduced to working for income. What these men looked for in their 
              brides was not an intellectual or practical education, but accomplishments 
              (music, ‘deportment’, dancing, embroidery, a little facility in French &c). 
              Coming home each day from their battles in the world of work, these men 
              looked for relaxation in the sheltered nests established by their protected 
              wives. The emancipated woman was a reaction against the purposelessness 
              of the ‘leisured lady’ model. Feminist ideas of sexual equality arose in the 
              urbane, intellectual, liberal circles of 
Europe and 
America, and from the 
              mid-19th century onwards women following this model made some 
              progress in gaining access to the kind of education hitherto reserved for
              


              men, a foothold in some of the professions, and a limited access to public 
              affairs. In most areas, though, it was easier to make such progress in New 
              Zealand than in England.

            
One reason why things worked out differently in New Zealand was that 
              colonial women enjoyed much more freedom than their English counterparts. English social custom, heavily influenced by parental concern to
              maintain social status, provided for the careful chaperoning of daughters. 
              The eagerness with which many young Englishwomen embraced the bicycle 
              when safe, cheap models became available in the 1890s owed not a little to 
              their desire to escape such cramping supervision. As David Rubinstein 
              comments in an article on cycling in the 1890s:

            
… cycling helped women to liberate themselves by defeating conservative 
              opinion. It was in the 1890s that writers and journalists drew attention to the 
              New Woman, the direct ancestor of the liberated woman of our own day. 
              Independent in speech and action, the New Woman insisted on freedom from 
              the trammels of convention, and the bicycle was her symbol. The ageing 
              writer Mrs Eliza Lynn Linton, the best known of the anti-feminists of the 
              day, made quite clear her main objection to cycling by girls in an article 
              written in 1896: ‘Chief of all dangers attending this new development of 
              feminine freedom is the intoxication which comes with unfettered liberty.’

32

            

Kaponga's women, however, did not have to wait for the bicycle to achieve 
              this liberty, and indeed on their district's primitive roads they did not take 
              readily to it. But from the beginning they had had the choice freedom of 
              easy access to riding horses. In the 1880s New Zealanders were six times as 
              well provided with horses as Britons (one for every three people in New 
              Zealand; one for every 18 in 
Britain).

33 At the 1911 census Eltham County 
              had a little better than one horse for every two people. Most 
Kaponga 
              women learnt to ride as children. Many girls indeed had years of riding in 
              getting their schooling. In our episodes we have seen a group of women 
              among the party that gathered by horseback to meet John Finlay at 
              Bentley's in October 1886; we have seen Catherine Hayes, in her husband's 
              absence, set out with her three younger children in the dray to visit her 
              married daughter at Otakeho; and we have seen that Essie Mason had only 
              to ask to get the use of one of her employer's riding horses for the day. Few 
              Englishwomen had this casual access to horses.

            
A good idea of the relaxed freedom of New Zealand women's use of 
              horses is provided by a 
Star (21/3/14) reprint from an English newspaper. 
              A Miss Shaw, recently back from some months in New Zealand, joined a 
              discussion on the respective merits of cross and side-saddles. She reported 
              that in New Zealand

            
the great majority ride cross-saddle, and personally, out there I am convinced 
              it is best, as it makes one more independent, and one has a chance of getting 
              on again if one falls off…. New Zealand … must be the jolliest country in
              


              the world to ride in. In the first place, the scenery is glorious; in the second 
              place, we looked after our horses ourselves, which is much more fun. The 
              first day after I arrived I was commanded to go into a paddock apparently 
              miles in extent to catch a horse to whom I had not been introduced, and put 
              him in the dog cart. I had never harnessed a horse in my life, but was not 
              going to confess my ignorance, so I meekly went and obeyed, and with much 
              luck and hard thinking duly produced a horse and trap so fastened together 
              that they did not come apart…. There is not much real grooming done. 
              When one's horse had rolled in a deeper mud-hole than usual we took them 
              down to the river, divested them of their saddles and ourselves of clothing 
              and rode them into a deep hole where they could swim a few yards before 
              touching bottom again. It is a thrilling moment when they are first carried off 
              their feet and the cold water ripples round one's waist. Afterwards there is a 
              gallop on the bank to warm ourselves.

            
Sometimes I was sent to the forge, riding one horse and leading two 
              others…. The blacksmith used to talk with me with great learning on 
              matters ‘horsey’ whilst I waited. I found I needed all my wits not to disgrace 
              my country, for, of course, everyone knew I was a young lady ‘from Home’. 
              Once we rode for two whole days and had many adventures. There were four 
              of us, and our costumes were varied. My companions wore blouses and 
              divided skirts, with slouch hats adorned with gaudy scarves. I was 
Hyde Park 
              all over, except my head, which was swathed gypsy fashion in a silk 
              handkerchief. It was therefore not surprising that we were taken for a troupe 
              of circus riders by two small boys in a village we passed through …

            
Miss Shaw's account shows how, when thrown into the labour-hungry 
              colonial rural environment, an active young woman could quickly become 
              a useful addition to the workforce. Miss Shaw obviously enjoyed the 
              challenge of fending for herself and relished the independence she gained 
              by successfully meeting it. The tone of her writing suggests why the 
              ‘colonial helpmeet’ label sounds a little inappropriate for 
Kaponga rural 
              relationships. Rather than being a case of major players and underling 
              helpers it was one of family teams—men and women, girls and boys— 
              collaborating in the mutual enterprise of wresting a good living from a 
              demanding environment. They were deeply conscious of their continuous 
              battle against nature but often little conscious of subordination among 
              themselves. In his investigation of dairy farming life in the 1930s W.T. Doig 
              found that ‘the wife is in many cases as much a business partner as she is a 
              homemaker’.

34 This had been even more true of the 
Kaponga of an earlier 
              period. Before the coming of the factories domestic manufacture by the 
              women had complemented milk production by the men. When factory 
              dairying brought growing herds a labour force of both sexes was needed, 
              with girls often taking up the task at an early age. And far more than in the 
              1930s, girls and women had worked alongside men and boys in the 
              subsistence enterprise that provided their homes throughout the year with
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‘
London Fashions’ from the November 1895
NZ Farmer. 
Each month's Farmer 
brought


                    several drawings such as these to 
Kaponga. They must have been obtained from an English


                    source. There were plenty of other sources of fashion news


              fruit and honey, eggs and vegetables, bacon and bottled preserves. Rather 
              than finding all this onerous, many families carried their subsistence skills 
              over into flower garden and shrubbery, and made the annual show an 
              occasion of glorying in both ‘bread and roses’.

            
But when the success of the enterprise brought a growing prosperity, 
              some began to respond to the ‘leisured lady’ model constantly commended 
              in publications from ‘Home’ and even in the ladies' pages of the 
Star and 
              the 
Farmer. We have seen that a discontented son could easily leave the 
              home team to milk elsewhere. This was not so easy for daughters, but many 
              parents must have found it wise to humour them by some ‘leisured lady’ 
              concessions, such as fashionable dress, feminine accomplishments, and a 
              little leisure in which to enjoy these. Various editions of 
Wise's Post Office 
                Directory show that from the mid-1900s 
Kaponga's shops were moving to 
              meet this demand. ‘Dressmaker’ is first listed in 1906, with Miss Harris and 
              A. Lonargon; followed by C. Jones in 1908, Miss N. Berridge in 1910 and 
              Mrs Jane in 1912. Ada Kime appears as the first female draper in 1908, 
              followed by Miss A. Bentley in 1909; and four women draper's assistants 
              were listed between 1909 and 1911. The first milliner was Miss C. Fish in 
              1911. Music teachers Misses I. and V. Robinson were listed from 1912. ‘Our 
              Own’ provides some more detailed information. Miss V. Robinson had been 
              teaching music as early as 1905 and her mother had begun running a 
              dressmaking department in the 
Egmont drapery in 1901.

35 Miss Wilkinson,
              


              unlisted by 
Wise's, had begun dancing classes in the winter of 1903.

36

            
Some married women adapted features of the ‘leisured lady’ tradition 
              to their frontier homes. Looking back in 1984 on her Edwardian childhood 
              in 
Kaponga Winifred Davies (1904–) recalled how her mother

            
… enjoyed entertaining other ladies in the district. These were the days of ‘at 
              homes' and because there were no telephones for arranging these social 
              events, each lady had a special ‘at home’ day for her neighbours to call and on 
              that day everything in and outside the house was spot cleaned

            
Davies describes how she and a number of her friends used to play houses 
              under the school-ground pine trees. They outlined their houses with rows 
              of pine needles and with their lunches would ‘visit each other's houses and 
              play ladies to our heart's content’.

37

            
But for neither young nor old could the lifestyle of the leisured lady be 
              carried very far in 
Kaponga. At ‘Home’, though only among those who 
              enjoyed the ample leisure made possible by a team of servants, it was a game 
              full of elaborate rituals.

38 In New Zealand even the wealthy had great trouble 
              finding and keeping servants. In 
Kaponga, where servants were a rarity, the 
              ‘lady’ game must have meant an added burden of work to create brief 
              episodes of pretended leisured lifestyle. And the young lady dressed 
à la 
                mode must have found getting about the place a bit of a problem.

            
So it was principally the ‘emancipated woman’ tradition that was 
              bringing change in Edwardian 
Kaponga. New Zealand, especially in the 
              1890s, had shown an unusual readiness to adopt progressive liberal 
              principles, and the emancipation of women had been one of them. 
Kaponga 
              District had six signatories to the franchise petition and there were five from 
              just outside the District.

39 Thereafter, up to the war, women maintained a 
              steady pressure to gain themselves a fuller place in the district's public life. 
              Caroline Daley's valuable close study of the gender history of Taradale over 
              this period gives us an example of a district that seems to have marked time 
              once the vote was won.

40 Perhaps 
Kaponga's more progressive spirit owed 
              something to the ethos of dairying, but until we have a range of studies such 
              as Daley's it will not be possible to make firm generalisations. It is, however, 
              possible to discern a number of forces working for emancipation in 
              
Kaponga.

            
As with the gaining of the national franchise, male support was crucial, 
              and here 
Kaponga women were fortunate in some of their local leaders. A 
              key figure was the bachelor farmer F.W. Wilkie, who appeared from time to 
              time in support of female emancipation. When a prohibition meeting 
              gathered in the town hall in May 1899 Wilkie chaired it, telling the 150 folk 
              present that he was a prohibitionist but not a faddist. His provision of the 
              Coffee Palace was therefore based on conviction. His founding presidency 
              of the Literary and Social Club and long-term support of the Horticultural 
              Society, even though not himself an exhibitor, are other examples of his 
              fostering of activities open to both men and women.

            


            
It was particularly propitious for 
Kaponga feminism that headmaster 
              Peter Matheson drew on the Scottish tradition of co-education. While at 
              Taradale improved recognition of female sport was being frustrated by 
              headmasterly male chauvinism,

41 at 
Kaponga Matheson was actively working for equality on the school's sports grounds. As a mother of young


              children Helen Matheson was not particularly active in public life, but she 
              did help found the women's hockey club. Over the Edwardian years the 
              three younger professional couples, the Mathesons, Maclagans and Scotts, 
              gave a strong and united lead in many aspects of local public life. In doing 
              so the Maclagans and Scotts in particular modelled for the community how 
              a married couple could lead an egalitarian life, supporting each other and 
              their friends in public life as well as at home. It was Alice Maclagan who 
              made a third with Matheson and his gifted assistant Miss Henn in coaching 
              the school for its annual concert in May 1905. Dr Maclagan had joined the 
              school committee in 1904 and served there until at least 1909. All three men 
              and Alice Maclagan were actively involved in the founding and running of 
              the tennis club. Alice Maclagan was founding president of the women's 
              hockey club whose origins owed so much to Matheson. Being childless, 
              Alice Maclagan would have been more free for public involvement than 
              Helen Matheson or Alice Scott. The Maclagans were deeply involved 
              together in the life of St Mark's. Dr Maclagan served repeatedly as a hard-working president of the Horticultural Society and his wife was an active
              member of its committee. Horticulture was, of course, a deep interest of the 
              Scotts, and we have seen how Matheson moved in to encourage Scott with 
              his Methodist spring flower show. As a busy minister's wife and mother 
              Alice Scott would not have been able to operate as such a spirited 
              competitor in the shows without a very supportive husband.

            
Good models of husbands supporting their wives in public activities can 
              also be found among the settlers. Thus Ellen Frethey and Mrs Walker could 
              scarcely have been such potent competitors at the horticultural shows 
              without good backing from their husbands. A more general support from 
              the whole family would have been required in sport. In the context of the 
              family work team, and the difficulties of winter travel, sacrifices will always 
              have been involved in releasing sports team members, and getting them to 
              their practices, and through the winter mud to the scattered fields of south 
              Taranaki for the provincial competitions. The new feature of the Edwardian 
              years was that this was now not just a matter of mothers and sisters 
              supporting their men, but also of fathers and brothers making sacrifices for 
              the young women.

            
Besides the egalitarian spirit of the rural work team and the propitious 
              presence of good models among its professional and settler leaders, what 
              else in 
Kaponga life was helpful to the quest for equality? The environment 
              was not particularly encouraging for career women, but the quality of the 
              local women teachers, postmistresses, and the small group of business-women may have helped some young women not to consider marriage the
              


              only meaningful female career. 
Kaponga's most active church was the 
              Methodist, at this time the major denomination most encouraging of 
              women's leadership. Scottish traditions were more sympathetic to feminism 
              than English ones, and while the Scottish element was weak in 
Kaponga, 
              with Matheson it was present in a crucial position. A moderate influx of 
              mainly working-class Lancashire immigrants over the Edwardian years 
              may also have been significant (surnames include Alty, Hey, Parkinson, 
              Rawcliffe, Riley, Turner). In her study of early 20th-century Lancashire 
              working-class women Elizabeth Roberts found that they knew their worth 
              and did not feel subordinate to men.

42 These egalitarian sentiments will have 
              persisted as they worked their way up to middle-class rank in their new 
              setting.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

11 Episodes, the Edwardian Years





          

11 Episodes, the Edwardian Years

          

            
A Mail Coach Disaster

            
Around 6am on Friday, 14 August 1903, 30-year-old Thomas Kidd drove 
              his four-horse mail coach out of Opunake on his four-hour daily run to 
              Eltham to connect with the morning train to 
Hawera. Kidd, who had grown 
              up on his 
Edinburgh-born father's ‘Willowbank’ farm at Hope, Nelson, had 
              come north a year or two earlier and bought out this run, established in May 
              1899 when a government vote for the bridging of the dangerous Punehu 
              River had made such a service feasible. There were still plenty of potentially 
              dangerous fords over lesser streams, especially on the western end of the 
              route, but ‘progress’ called for a certain amount of risk-taking. Kidd quickly 
              became a popular local identity with a reputation as a first-class hand with 
              horses. The little business must have been doing reasonably well as he was 
              about to be married
              

[image: Tom Kidd's Eltham—Opunake Coach]

Tom Kidd's Eltham—Opunake Coach


            

            


            
Heavy, warm rain had been falling during the night, and streams were 
              running high, perhaps with snow water adding to the rainfall. Mailbags 
              multiplied as Kidd called at each settlement, but he left Riverlea for 
Kaponga 
              with only one passenger, Charles Hansen, who had joined at Te Kiri. 
              Hansen had considerable experience with teams on this stretch of road, but 
              with heavy rain still falling chose to stay inside with his luggage rather than 
              join Kidd on the box. Running late (it was due in 
Kaponga by 8.40am), the 
              coach reached the west bank of the Mangawhero Stream about 9am. The 
              stream was bank high. On the opposite side were two settlers, Thomas 
              Davidson and Michael Lawson, on their way to the factory with their milk. 
              Finding the Mangawhero unfordable, they were about to unload their cans 
              of milk and carry them across the suspension footbridge. Seeing the coach 
              they crossed to the other side and joined passenger Hansen in trying to 
              dissuade Kidd from attempting the ford. ‘Our Own’ later interviewed them.

            
The passenger and Messrs Lawson and Davidson … tried hard to persuade 
              Tom ‘not to tackle her as she was running too high.’…. But it was no use, 
              Tom remarking, ‘he was bound to get over somehow.’ On forcing his horses 
              into the stream, it was noticed by Messrs Lawson and Davidson that the 
              leaders swerved off and down stream, anxious to turn round apparently and 
              get out. But by splendid ribbon work, and free use of the whip Tom got his 
              leaders into place again, but the two polers, following their leaders, had also 
              swerved off the track a bit, dragging either one or both off wheels over some 
              rough big boulders that lined the narrow roadway through the creek bed and 
              here for a few brief seconds Messrs Davidson and Lawson say it was splendid 
              to see how the gallant horses hung to their traces, although little beyond their 
              heads could be seen above water, and had the wheels not been jammed as 
              they were, all would have gone well enough, and the coach got over safely.

            
What happened next can be pieced together from these men's more 
              considered account at the inquest and a 
Star interview with experienced 
              teamster Hansen, in Eltham. Seeing that the horses were in trouble, Hansen 
              shouted to Kidd from the footbridge to turn back and he would run around 
              and try to catch the horses' heads. But it was too late for this. The upstream 
              poler was washed off his feet and, coming against the other poler, knocked 
              it down. The lead horses responded by heading downstream. Michael 
              Lawson told the inquest what happened next:

            
The coach seemed to rise slowly out of the water on one side. I knew it was 
              going to capsize, and I sang out to the deceased, ‘Tom, jump for your life.’ 
              The deceased then put the whip and the reins out of his hand, and his foot on 
              the side of the coach as it rose up, and jumped into the river up stream, and 
              well away from the coach. But he was immediately washed down again, 
              amongst the wheels of the coach and the horses, and disappeared from sight, 
              and the coach then capsized. I at once crossed the foot bridge and jumped off 
              it, and ran to the west bank of the stream…. Deccased then came up, and
              


              went down stream hanging on to the front of the coach… Then something 
              seemed to hold the coach for a moment or two, and then it went to pieces. 
              Deceased disappeared again for a few feet, and when he appeared this time he 
              was holding on to the tail of one of the horses … He then came to the first 
              bend of the river, the current is very rapid here and the coach and horses, 
              with the deceased, all seemed to jumble up, and deceased disappeared again. I 
              never saw him afterwards.

            
As the river almost doubled back on itself here, Lawson and Davidson, 
              now joined by others, rushed across the narrow neck of land, confidently 
              expecting to be able to haul Kidd out as he was carried past them. But they 
              got no sight of him.

            
Michael Lawson seems to have taken charge of the emergency, sending 
              a somewhat dazed Hansen off post haste to 
Kaponga to raise the alarm, wire 
              the police, and get people to watch the Mangawhero and the Kaupokonui, 
              which it joined about seven miles further downstream. A small group of 
              
Kaponga townsfolk, headed by Charles Betts and William Mellow, set off 
              on horses and bicycles and joined the immediate search of a mile or two of 
              both banks of the stream. They recovered two of the horses, the top carriage 
              of the coach and seven of the mailbags, but found no sign of Kidd. The 
              police constables from Opunake, Manaia and Eltham hurried to the scene 
              to organise a more thorough and extensive search. The directing of the 
              continuing search next day devolved on the Opunake constable, Thomas 
              Hickman. Hickman's long service in the district had included the successful 
              implementation of John Ballance's ‘one policeman policy’ at Parihaka and 
              the building of strong bonds with the settlers along Eltham Road as he 
              moved among them on census, factory legislation, and other business. The 
              searchers eventually found and recovered the body about three miles below 
              the ford.

            
The body was taken to 
Kaponga's Commercial Hotel, and the aftermath 
              of the tragedy included the inquest held there the next day, a large funeral 
              in Eltham, and a vigorous continuation of the ongoing campaign for the 
              bridging of the Mangawhero. F.W. Wilkie, the acting coroner, had smartly 
              fired off a telegram to the Minister for Public Works and at the inquest he 
              read out the reply, expressing sympathy and giving assurance of prompt 
              arrangements to remove the danger of the Mangawhero crossing. The jury 
              brought in the obvious verdict, with a rider drawing attention to the 
              ‘absolute necessity of a bridge’. The funeral drew folk from all over Taranaki 
              to join Kidd's three brothers, who had travelled up from the south, and the 
              cortège of about 50 vehicles was reported to be ‘one of the largest ever seen 
              in Eltham’.

            
This accident had a deep and immediate impact on the district. A 
              drinking fountain in Kidd's memory was erected in Eltham's Taumata Park 
              and local histories record the tragedy. Both the event and the public reaction 
              to it are worth probing for the light they throw on the mind of the time.
              


              Why was Tom so determined, despite the dissuasions of the onlookers, that 
              ‘he was bound to get over somehow’? When the Mangawhero crossing was 
              examined after the flood a big scour hole and a large boulder that had been 
              brought down by the fresh were found, though neither was in a position to 
              have caused the accident. But these were likely dangers that Kidd must have 
              expected as he decided to go ahead. Lawson reported having seen him cross 
              once before with the stream quite as high. Probably pride in his reputation 
              for horsemanship and in maintaining his schedule under difficulties were 
              elements in his decision. But there may also have been an element not so 
              evident to our modern minds—the mystique of the faithful servant of the 
              Royal Mail. This has perhaps never been better expressed than in Rudyard 
              Kipling's The Overland Mail’:

            Is the torrent in spate? He must ford it or swim.



            Has the rain wrecked the road? He must climb by the cliff.



            Does the tempest cry ‘halt’? What are tempests to him?



            The service admits not a ‘but’ or an ‘if’.



            While the breath's in his mouth, he must bear without fail,



            In the Name of the Empress, the Overland Mail.

            
The wide contemporary vogue of Kipling's verse among the common 
              people shows that he was striking deep chords of current popular thought 
              and feeling. This honouring of the faithful mail carrier had several strands— 
              the thankfulness of exiles and immigrants for the link with ‘Home’, pride 
              in the far-flung imperial endeavour of which the postal service was a close-to-home example, and awareness that the success of it all depended on the
              costly, often dangerous, toil of a multitude of dedicated workers. Kidd's 
              decision to drive into the dangerous stream belongs to a time before the 
              Great War had dampened the commitment to Empire, raising doubts about 
              the competence of its leaders and the wisdom of unquestioning self-sacrifice 
              at their bidding.

            
The attendance at the funeral was remarkable for a young man and a 
              recent arrival in the district. But a coachman was a public figure, the Eltham 
              Road route would have made him widely known, and he had met his tragic 
              death ‘on public service’. The district would also have been reinforcing the 
              point that the Mangawhero must be bridged. There may have been a little 
              guilt among the mourners, for the government had for a year or two been 
              prepared to find half the cost, provided the local bodies found the other half. 
              The matter had been on the agenda of the latest meeting of the Waimatc 
              Road Board, put there by stirring by the Riverlea branch of the Farmers' 
              Union. The holdup was in deciding the contributions of the various affected 
              local bodies. The tragedy broke the impasse. The 
Kaponga firm of 
              Robertson and Cave had begun work on the bridge by March 1904 and it 
              was opened by a Minister of the Crown on 8 August 1904, with copious 
              speeches and a banquet.

          

          
          



            
A Fury of Gale, Fire and Cloudburst

            
The Opunake-Eltham coach service was again disrupted on Friday, 18 
              March 1904, when the greater part of the route between Opunake and 
              
Kaponga was swept by bush fires brought raging through by a furious gale. 
              On 14 August 1903 there had been one man's tragedy, of which news went 
              out quickly by rider and telegraph line, so that the 
Star got the gist of the 
              story to its readers that evening. From before daylight on Friday, 18 March 
              1904, it was everyone's story over a great swathe of country stretching for 
              about 15 miles on either side of Eltham Road, with further outbreaks to the 
              north of Opunake as far as Pungarehu. But that evening's
              
Star seemed


              scarcely aware of the drama, the only mention being two short paragraphs 
              from ‘Our Own’ and three lines from Te Kiri's ‘Our Own’. Settlers fighting 
              for their lives and property in blinding smoke had no time to dispatch 
              reports, and in any case telegraph news was being blacked out by the fire 
              bringing down the lines along Eltham Road. Even next day the
              
Star had


              only three short paragraphs of sketchy reports. But on Monday, 21 March, 
              the extent of the disaster was unfolded under a tier of headlines:

            
FRIDAY'S GALE


              EXTENSIVE BUSH FIRES


              ABOUT 100,000 ACRES AFFECTED


              GREAT DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY


              EXCITING EXPERIENCES


              A PHENOMENAL RAINFALL


              (By Our Special Reporter)

            
The rush of fire, the violence of the gale, the density of the smoke, and the 
              suffocating atmosphere that prevailed on Friday last, will cause the day to be 
              long remembered. Many settlers over a wide extent of countryside were 
              compelled to neglect their daily milking to fight the flames that threatened 
              wholesale destruction as they were forced along at a terrific pace by a furious 
              gale.

            
The conflagration did not spread from one starting point. The fire that 
              wrought so much havoc at Lower Rowan road (
Kaponga) came from a 
              different quarter to that which proved so terrible in the upper portion of that 
              thoroughfare. Again there was no connection between the outbreak to the 
              north of Opunake—about Rahotu and Pungarehu—and that which had its 
              source in the Mountain Reserve. All that was required was an ember in an old 
              rata log. This the wind would fan into a terrific blast, and spread the red-hot 
              ashes broadcast to further the work of desolation.

            
We will concentrate our attention on the eastern end of the scene, where 
              the fires swept across a large part of the western stretch of 
Kaponga's 
              district. The cause of the disaster was a ‘furious northerly gale’, which 
              started on the Thursday and continued until late on Friday, culminating in 
              a cloudburst. The gale must have had a north-easterly inclination as the fires
              


              originating on Rowan Road spread from there towards Opunake, not 
              eastwards towards 
Kaponga. One needs to take account of the flow of 
              settlement to make sense of the location of the fires. The whole district will 
              have been swept by the gale, but no fires were reported around 
Kaponga or 
              to its east, whereas, as we saw in 
Chapter 4, the bush fires of the 1890s swept 
              repeatedly along Palmer Road, and also at times threatened the township 
              itself. In these older settled areas stumping and logging-up were now well 
              advanced, and much of the land will have been in mature pasture. But in 
              the later settled west of the district the autumn days will have seen a great 
              deal of chopping, blasting and burning of stumps and logs, including the 
              firing of the dry, standing skeleton of many a great rata. It was these vestiges 
              of the forest that the gale whipped into roaring flames and spread abroad 
              both through the dry grass and by means of fragments whirled through the 
              air. Under the heading ‘A Terrible Day’ the reporter told how milkers rising 
              before dawn on the Friday found something more urgent than their milking 
              to attend to:

            
Towards the mountain could be seen huge pine trees flaring like giant torches 
              and giving off strips of blazing material that were hurled tremendous 
              distances by the hurricane. Now and then these merciless messengers would 
              light on other pines or on some huge grub-punctured rata, whose 
              innumerable flues would greedily suck up the flames, and these in turn blazed 
              up, only to be dissolved by the rushing wind and carried on to make fresh 
              fiery conquests. As the morning advanced the flames swept on, enveloping 
              the farms in quick succession with heavy suffocating smoke. An organised 
              attempt to check the conflagration was out of the question; the only thing 
              that remained was for each to save his own homestead if possible.

            
Families quickly formed themselves into bucket brigades, and all 
              available water supplies were soon taxed to the utmost. The fire fighters acted 
              strictly on the defensive. As the smoke thickened it was impossible to see at a 
              greater distance than a few yards, and houses had to be regularly and 
              carefully reconnoitred to extinguish as soon as they fell the sparks that 
              dropped like hail. When a shed, a fence, or a haystack was seen to catch the 
              brigades rushed to the place, and the incipient conflagration was suppressed. 
              Temporarily blinded by the heat and smoke, the victors retired to press their 
              aching eyeballs and prepare for a defence in another direction. The horror of 
              the situation was increased by the dreadful uncertainty as to how one's 
              neighbours were faring. Throughout the long day until late in the afternoon 
              there was no period of rest from the anxious task.

            
We will illustrate the day's long struggle with some of the happenings 
              along Rowan Road and at Riverlea. The strength of the gale can be seen in 
              the way in which the flames outwitted the defence strategies that had 
              developed over the years. To protect their homes many settlers surrounded 
              them with a couple of chains of ploughed land, planted with potatoes, 
              winter root crops &c. Allan Grace and W. J. Barleyman were two Rowan
              


              Road settlers who had taken this precaution. But Grace found that this day 
              a ploughed paddock seven chains wide was no protection. Thousands of 
              coals of living fire were swept right across it to set fire to the fences beyond. 
              Barleyman's defences included a four-acre crop of rape, then four inches 
              high. Every plant was blown out by the roots. Meanwhile the gale strewed 
              the defensive zone with inflammable materials, hay, shingles torn from shed 
              roofs, rubbish from the wild. After long hours of successful struggle 
              Barleyman began taking serious losses around 2pm.

            
There was no burning tree within seven chains of the house, but big sparks 
              fell in showers, and the wind with cyclonic force drove scorching pellets with 
              destructive force against all the buildings. In the midst of it all a fiery flake of 
              rotten rimu was lodged close by. Mr Barleyman turned for a bucket of water, 
              but at that moment a sudden gust of wind swished the devilish torch beneath 
              his new and very fine house. Not to be defeated without another effort, Mr 
              Barleyman seized a flour-bag, and crawling below the building promptly 
              smothered the dangerous blaze. Just then Mrs Barleyman called out that the 
              haystacks were going, and before anything could be done 35 tons of hay was 
              doomed. Then the stable and cowsheds caught alight, and the buildings, 
              which contained a quantity of grass seeds, harness, tools, etc., were soon 
              levelled to the ground. To say nothing of about 50 acres of grass, the value of 
              the property that was burnt was about £400.

            
Other losses along the road included firewood and fencing by Grace 
              and haystacks by Doyle and Voullaire. When a valuable haystack in one of 
              Voullaire's paddocks came under threat, with the water supply exhausted, 
              Voullaire and Allan Grace were able to save it with a dowsing of skim 
              milk—an expedient also reported on elsewhere. In upper Rowan Road D. 
              Stringer began taking losses about 3pm, with a recently erected double loft 
              shed, 15 tons of oaten and clover hay, outhouses, tools, fencing, and a milk 
              cart going up in flames. His house and another shed were frequently 
              menaced, but he managed to save them. Throughout the fire district settlers 
              took similar losses of sheds, haystacks and fencing. Several whares were also 
              lost, but it appears that all substantial homes were successfully defended. 
              Beside the struggles on the farms there were stern battles for other establishments, such as Parkes and Brooker's sawmill at Awatuna, a creamery on


              Skeet Road and the social hall at Te Kiri.

            
Early on women and children, and others not able to fight the flames, 
              abandoned their threatened homes for safer shelter, with bedding and 
              valuables (some stowed in milk cans) loaded onto their vehicles. A few made 
              their way to 
Kaponga. Others took refuge at Riverlea, in the dairy factory 
              and in W. K. Howitt's store, with caches of valuables stored in Walker's new 
              blacksmith's shop. With the defenders wilting with exhaustion and
              everything becoming increasingly desiccated by the fiery gale, there could well 
              have been a second flood of refugees from burnt-out homesteads had not
              


              everything been dramatically changed late in the afternoon by the sudden 
              cloudburst.

            
The face of the country was entirely changed by the deluge. In a few minutes 
              the metalled roads had angry streams rushing along either side… Streamlets 
              became creeks, creeks rivers, and rivers rushing torrents. In the paddocks 
              hundreds of miniature lakes were formed, into which burning logs fell with 
              wild hisses. Never before in the memory of settlers had such a downpour 
              occurred. The Kapuni river, subject though it be to sudden freshes, is 
              generally an innocent enough stream, but on Friday night it whirled along 
              violently as if daring the wayfarer to effect a crossing by its fords. Kelly's 
              Creek rose three feet higher than it had ever been known to do before, and 
              was for a time an insuperable bar to vehicular traffic along the
              Eltham-Opunake road. The Mangawhero river became choked with logs at the 
              crossing where Mr Kidd lost his life, and the coachdriver was compelled to 
              leave the conveyance on the Opunake side and bring the mails across on 
              horseback. Elliott's creek rose rapidly and acquiring torrential force washed 
              the Skeet road bridge away bodily, leaving the wreck heaped up against the 
              bank several chains away. Having escaped the fire the country appeared on 
              the verge of being flooded, but, the flames being extinguished, the rain ceased 
              as suddenly as it began.

            
Worn out by their endeavours some of the defenders now made their 
              way into 
Kaponga as drenched refugees. Others took news of the successful 
              defence of their homes to the women and children now bedding down in 
              the Riverlea store and factory. As night fell the fires gave way only slowly 
              to the deluge.

            
… the country bore a striking resemblance to a huge city when gaily 
              illuminated on some festive occasion; looked at by those the fire encircled, the 
              spectacle was awe-inspiring. Thousands of trees, each a living coal from its 
              base to the top, stood out glowing against an inky sky. One after another of 
              these forest giants would fall with a tremendous crash, while from its ruins 
              myriads of sparks would rise upwards and disappear in black space. Only 
              gradually did the tropical rain gain the mastery over the giant embers— 
              towards dawn on Saturday morning …

            
This episode highlights the fact that into the 20th century our district 
              remained ‘bush’ and ‘frontier’. After March 1904 there were still years of 
              bush fires ahead. In mid-March 1907 the settlers of Rowan Road and 
              Riverlea were again hard pressed by wind-driven bush fires that raged for 
              several days before finally burning out. Beginning on 9 February 1908 a 
              ‘fierce and destructive’ bush fire raged for about 10 days through a strip of 
              country along and south of Opunake Road, beginning north of Awatuna 
              and spreading eastward through Makaka and Rowan to reach the upper 
              Manaia Road (i.e. somewhat to the north of the March 1904 blaze). In his 
              first letter for 1910 ‘Our Own’ told of a heavy downpour on New Year's 
              Eve morning putting a damper on bush fires that had been devastating ‘the
              


              country between us and the mountain, very close to the town’. On 2 April 
              1913 Rowan's ‘Our Own’ reported gales spreading bush fires in the district, 
              the hall in danger, heavy losses of haystacks, and C. Hill's milking shed and 
              plant destroyed. ‘The bush’ still differed from the coastal open country in 
              vital ways. For decades now the homes and gardens, pastures and crops, 
              flocks and herds of these southern neighbours had been sheltered from the 
              recurrent gales by their shelter belts of trees and well-established boxthorn 
              hedges. And when a summer or autumn turned dry their worries were trivial 
              compared with those of ‘the bush’.

          

          

            
A Swiss Tragedy

            
The quiet, hard-working, law-abiding presence of the Swiss immigrant 
              milkers was proving such a godsend to the district that when a fatal quarrel 
              occurred between two of them on the evening of Saturday, 30 June 1906, it 
              was met with real shock, almost incredulity.

1 The inquest and the trials that 
              followed throw some light on the lives and circumstances of this community 
              of recent arrivals.

            
Karl Schicker, the accused in the trials, was born at Zug, 
Switzerland, 
              on 29 June 1880. He arrived in New Zealand around the turn of the century 
              and at the time of the incident was working for William Martin on lower 
              Palmer Road. Six miles away, on the farm of G.B. Hill, Rowan Road, lived 
              three other Swiss immigrants: Albert Ulrich, his sister Annie, and their 
              lodger John Rollins, the victim in the case. Schicker became the sweetheart 
              of Annie, they became engaged, and he made the 12-mile round trip to see 
              his francèe twice each week. But John Rollins also developed an affection 
              for Annie with the result that, according to her brother, there had been bad 
              feeling between Schicker and Rollins for two years before the tragedy.

            
Rollins was a heavily built, muscular man, and several witnesses, 
              including relatives and friends, agreed that he was very quick-tempered. It 
              was therefore a real problem for this little community when Rollins began 
              making wild death threats against the much more lightly built Schicker. 
              There were one or two earlier short fights between the two, in which 
              Schicker compensated for his slight build by grabbing some kind of a 
              cudgel. Eventually Rollins's anger became so deep that Annie Ulrich wrote 
              to Schicker asking him to stop away for a few days as Rollins was 
              threatening that either he or Schicker would have to die. So Schicker stayed 
              away. Then Rollins came to see him in the middle of the night to ask why 
              he did not come to the Ulrichs' any more. Schicker told him of the letter he 
              had had from Annie. Rollins wanted Schicker to resume his visits because, 
              he said, ‘If you don't come up, Annie will go away.’ Schicker complied. 
              Unfortunately Rollins's anger and threats continued. To escape from the 
              situation Annie broke off her engagement to Schicker and left for 
              
Switzerland about six weeks before the tragedy.

            
It is clear even from this brief outline that the situation developed
              


              largely as a result of the immigrant position of this small Swiss community. 
              The intensity of the rivalry between Schicker and Rollins must have owed 
              a good deal to the strong sex imbalance, with only 53 Swiss females in 
              Taranaki to 135 males. Furthermore, had a similar situation arisen in the 
              Swiss homeland setting, all three protagonists would have had mature 
              counsellors, whether parents, relatives, friends or community figures, to 
              whom they could have turned, or who would have initiated individual or 
              community responses to meet the situation. In Taranaki no such help was 
              available; even at the Roman Catholic church, to which most of them seem 
              to have belonged, they would still have felt themselves aliens speaking a 
              foreign tongue, rather than insiders able easily to seek understanding and 
              help. One envisages that in the hearthland Rollins's situation as the Ulrichs' 
              lodger would have been quickly ended. Why no such move was made on 
              Rowan Road is not clear, but it is easy to envisage the difficulties relating to 
              the employment contract with G.B. Hill, the need to maintain a united front 
              
vis-à-vis the wider community, and the likelihood of repercussions should 
              forthright action be taken against the volatile Rollins. Annie's stopping of 
              Schicker's visits by a letter, rather than in face-to-face discussion, gives some 
              indication of how tricky she felt the situation to be.

            
Witnesses told of the prolonged tension between the two men, with 
              accounts of two earlier fights as well as the final one. From all this comes a 
              picture of a scatter of mainly unmarried labouring Swiss, as yet little 
              involved socially with the wider community, and therefore heavily 
              dependent on each other for companionship in leisure hours. At the 
              Magistrate's Court Jacob Gaecal, who had known Schicker in 
Switzerland, 
              and was working for settler Perry of Mangatoki, told of events on the last 
              Sunday of 1905. After meeting at the 
Kaponga Roman Catholic church, he 
              and Rollins, a cousin whom he had got to know only since coming to New 
              Zealand, had gone out to the Ulrichs' place on Rowan Road. On arrival, as 
              he was tying up his horse at the gate while Rollins went in ahead, he heard 
              a row and saw Schicker, Annie Ulrich and Pinseck come out of the house. 
              Although it was dark he could see that Rollins and Schicker were involved 
              in a fight. Rollins called for Gaecal's help but he did not go in. The fight 
              lasted about three minutes. Gaecal told the court:

            
Schicker had the best of the fight and afterwards told Rollins that he could 
              have killed him if he wanted to. Rollins said then, ‘I am not frightened of 
              you, Charlie.’ Charlie Schicker then held up a poker and said, ‘Come on, and 
              I will knock you down.’ From that time on Schicker and Rollins were 
              enemies.

            
[To Mr Wake, counsel for Schicker] … Rollins … was a very quick 
              tempered man. Going home that night after the quarrel Rollins said to 
              witness, I will buy a revolver and shoot Charlie.’ He was a much bigger man 
              than Schicker. Rollins afterwards told witness that he (Rollins) started the 
              fight that night.

            


            
Giving evidence on his own behalf at the Supreme Court trial, Schicker told 
              of another, apparently later, incident.

            
One Sunday night in 
Kaponga he heard Rollins was looking for him to kill 
              him…. He had hardly been there five minutes, when they heard ‘someone 
              coming up like mad.’ He and Miss Ulrich went out to see who it was. Rollins 
              jumped off his horse and rushed at witness, Pensech [another Swiss]

2 getting 
              between them. Rollins kicked Pensech, and then the two got Rollins on the 
              ground. Goessi came up from the gate. They went in, and Rollins started to 
              threaten. Thinking that both Rollins and Goessi were going to tackle him, he 
              seized a piece of iron to defend himself. He told Rollins there was nothing to 
              prevent him coming into the house if he would only behave himself. They all 
              spent the evening together amicably.

            
On the afternoon of Saturday, 30 June, Rollins and Albert Ulrich rode 
              in from Rowan Road to 
Kaponga. They left their horses at a 
Kaponga stable 
              and set out to walk to Prestidge's place, about a mile and a half from town. 
              From his whare on Daniel Fitzgerald's place Joseph Steiner, another Swiss, 
              saw them walking by on this moonlit evening. He went out and persuaded 
              them to come and help him finish his tasks for Fitzgerald so that they could 
              all go into the township together. Coming back from these chores past 
              Fitzgerald's house, between 7 and 8pm, they saw Schicker come in at the 
              front gate and go towards Steiner's whare. Steiner and Ulrich both shook 
              hands with Schicker but Rollins and Schicker did not speak to each other. 
              Schicker had an axe handle in his hand. Steiner and Ulrich went into the 
              whare while Schicker and Rollins stayed outside. Steiner came out again to 
              show Schicker and Rollins a postcard he had received and found them 
              talking about postcards that Rollins had received and claimed were in 
              Schicker's handwriting but Schicker denied this. Rollins had burned the 
              cards as soon as he received them. What the various cards contained is not 
              reported, but it makes good sense to infer that Annie Ulrich had sent cards 
              to hei 
Kaponga friends while on her voyage home. As he turned to lock his 
              whare Steiner heard the two getting into a loud dispute, each calling the 
              other a liar. Turning back he saw Rollins falling to the ground. It was Albert 
              Ulrich who witnessed the fatal blow. Rollins had just accused Schicker of 
              making ‘a very offensive remark’ about Annie Ulrich in the hotel and 
              Schicker then said, ‘If you say that again you are a liar, and I will hit you 
              with this axe handle.’ On Rollins repeating the statement Schicker lifted the 
              axe handle with both hands, Rollins moved towards him, and was struck 
              on the head and knocked down on his hands and knees. He got up again, 
              said a few words, walked a short distance, and then fell down again and 
              began shaking. Ulrich and Schicker carried him inside the whare.

            
Rollins did not regain consciousness. Schicker proposed that he should 
              go for a doctor but the others persuaded him not to as they thought there 
              was no danger. Eventually, after about two hours, Schicker went, but there 
              was further delay as he had to wait for half an hour for Dr Maclagan.

            


            
Arriving at about 11pm, Maclagan found the victim unconscious, paralysed 
              in all his limbs, and with troubled breathing and a rapid, irregular pulse. 
              Nothing could be done and he died shortly after. In his post mortem 
              examination Maclagan found that death was due to pressure on the brain of 
              a clot of blood under a depressed fracture. Schicker waited at Maclagan's 
              surgery to be taken into custody by the Eltham constable.

            
At the inquest in the Commercial Hotel on the Monday afternoon the 
              jury returned a verdict of unlawful killing, but added a rider expressing the 
              opinion that Schicker had struck the blow ‘in defending himself in a 
              quarrel’. At the conclusion of the Magistrate's Court hearing in Eltham on 
              10 July 1906 Schicker was committed to stand trial in the Supreme Court. 
              Bail was fixed at £100 on his own recognisance, and two sureties of £200 
              each were forthcoming. At the 
New Plymouth Supreme Court on 25 
              September the grand jury reduced the charge from murder to manslaughter. 
              Schicker's defence was led by 
New Plymouth's leading barrister, Oliver 
              Samuel. Schicker gave detailed evidence in his own defence and said that he 
              thought the Crown witnesses had told the truth. In describing his situation 
              he said

            
‘I was always frightened about him. I thought he would knock me down and 
              kill me. I only wanted to stop him.’ He did not think he could have escaped 
              Rollins. ‘I was in dread of my life at the time, and my only reason for striking 
              was to keep him from seizing me, and doing me some great hurt.’

            
The 
Taranaki News reported that ‘His Honor summed up lucidly and 
              favourably to the prisoner’, and the jury did not take long to bring in its 
              verdict of ‘not guilty’.

            
Schicker went on to a career as a dairy farmer in the 
Kaponga district. 
              He apparently did not seek to renew his relationship with Annie. He made 
              a trip home to 
Switzerland in 1911 and it was probably then that he married 
              his wife, Mathilde. This tragic story from his early life gives us some insight 
              into the tensions of this small alien immigrant community. There were to 
              be added tensions a few years later when their new homeland became 
              embroiled in the Great War against the empire that spoke their mother 
              tongue. But their qualities as settlers and citizens saw them through the hard 
              years and quickly gained them full acceptance as neighbours and friends.

          

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

A Mail Coach Disaster



            
A Mail Coach Disaster

            
Around 6am on Friday, 14 August 1903, 30-year-old Thomas Kidd drove 
              his four-horse mail coach out of Opunake on his four-hour daily run to 
              Eltham to connect with the morning train to 
Hawera. Kidd, who had grown 
              up on his 
Edinburgh-born father's ‘Willowbank’ farm at Hope, Nelson, had 
              come north a year or two earlier and bought out this run, established in May 
              1899 when a government vote for the bridging of the dangerous Punehu 
              River had made such a service feasible. There were still plenty of potentially 
              dangerous fords over lesser streams, especially on the western end of the 
              route, but ‘progress’ called for a certain amount of risk-taking. Kidd quickly 
              became a popular local identity with a reputation as a first-class hand with 
              horses. The little business must have been doing reasonably well as he was 
              about to be married
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Heavy, warm rain had been falling during the night, and streams were 
              running high, perhaps with snow water adding to the rainfall. Mailbags 
              multiplied as Kidd called at each settlement, but he left Riverlea for 
Kaponga 
              with only one passenger, Charles Hansen, who had joined at Te Kiri. 
              Hansen had considerable experience with teams on this stretch of road, but 
              with heavy rain still falling chose to stay inside with his luggage rather than 
              join Kidd on the box. Running late (it was due in 
Kaponga by 8.40am), the 
              coach reached the west bank of the Mangawhero Stream about 9am. The 
              stream was bank high. On the opposite side were two settlers, Thomas 
              Davidson and Michael Lawson, on their way to the factory with their milk. 
              Finding the Mangawhero unfordable, they were about to unload their cans 
              of milk and carry them across the suspension footbridge. Seeing the coach 
              they crossed to the other side and joined passenger Hansen in trying to 
              dissuade Kidd from attempting the ford. ‘Our Own’ later interviewed them.

            
The passenger and Messrs Lawson and Davidson … tried hard to persuade 
              Tom ‘not to tackle her as she was running too high.’…. But it was no use, 
              Tom remarking, ‘he was bound to get over somehow.’ On forcing his horses 
              into the stream, it was noticed by Messrs Lawson and Davidson that the 
              leaders swerved off and down stream, anxious to turn round apparently and 
              get out. But by splendid ribbon work, and free use of the whip Tom got his 
              leaders into place again, but the two polers, following their leaders, had also 
              swerved off the track a bit, dragging either one or both off wheels over some 
              rough big boulders that lined the narrow roadway through the creek bed and 
              here for a few brief seconds Messrs Davidson and Lawson say it was splendid 
              to see how the gallant horses hung to their traces, although little beyond their 
              heads could be seen above water, and had the wheels not been jammed as 
              they were, all would have gone well enough, and the coach got over safely.

            
What happened next can be pieced together from these men's more 
              considered account at the inquest and a 
Star interview with experienced 
              teamster Hansen, in Eltham. Seeing that the horses were in trouble, Hansen 
              shouted to Kidd from the footbridge to turn back and he would run around 
              and try to catch the horses' heads. But it was too late for this. The upstream 
              poler was washed off his feet and, coming against the other poler, knocked 
              it down. The lead horses responded by heading downstream. Michael 
              Lawson told the inquest what happened next:

            
The coach seemed to rise slowly out of the water on one side. I knew it was 
              going to capsize, and I sang out to the deceased, ‘Tom, jump for your life.’ 
              The deceased then put the whip and the reins out of his hand, and his foot on 
              the side of the coach as it rose up, and jumped into the river up stream, and 
              well away from the coach. But he was immediately washed down again, 
              amongst the wheels of the coach and the horses, and disappeared from sight, 
              and the coach then capsized. I at once crossed the foot bridge and jumped off 
              it, and ran to the west bank of the stream…. Deccased then came up, and
              


              went down stream hanging on to the front of the coach… Then something 
              seemed to hold the coach for a moment or two, and then it went to pieces. 
              Deceased disappeared again for a few feet, and when he appeared this time he 
              was holding on to the tail of one of the horses … He then came to the first 
              bend of the river, the current is very rapid here and the coach and horses, 
              with the deceased, all seemed to jumble up, and deceased disappeared again. I 
              never saw him afterwards.

            
As the river almost doubled back on itself here, Lawson and Davidson, 
              now joined by others, rushed across the narrow neck of land, confidently 
              expecting to be able to haul Kidd out as he was carried past them. But they 
              got no sight of him.

            
Michael Lawson seems to have taken charge of the emergency, sending 
              a somewhat dazed Hansen off post haste to 
Kaponga to raise the alarm, wire 
              the police, and get people to watch the Mangawhero and the Kaupokonui, 
              which it joined about seven miles further downstream. A small group of 
              
Kaponga townsfolk, headed by Charles Betts and William Mellow, set off 
              on horses and bicycles and joined the immediate search of a mile or two of 
              both banks of the stream. They recovered two of the horses, the top carriage 
              of the coach and seven of the mailbags, but found no sign of Kidd. The 
              police constables from Opunake, Manaia and Eltham hurried to the scene 
              to organise a more thorough and extensive search. The directing of the 
              continuing search next day devolved on the Opunake constable, Thomas 
              Hickman. Hickman's long service in the district had included the successful 
              implementation of John Ballance's ‘one policeman policy’ at Parihaka and 
              the building of strong bonds with the settlers along Eltham Road as he 
              moved among them on census, factory legislation, and other business. The 
              searchers eventually found and recovered the body about three miles below 
              the ford.

            
The body was taken to 
Kaponga's Commercial Hotel, and the aftermath 
              of the tragedy included the inquest held there the next day, a large funeral 
              in Eltham, and a vigorous continuation of the ongoing campaign for the 
              bridging of the Mangawhero. F.W. Wilkie, the acting coroner, had smartly 
              fired off a telegram to the Minister for Public Works and at the inquest he 
              read out the reply, expressing sympathy and giving assurance of prompt 
              arrangements to remove the danger of the Mangawhero crossing. The jury 
              brought in the obvious verdict, with a rider drawing attention to the 
              ‘absolute necessity of a bridge’. The funeral drew folk from all over Taranaki 
              to join Kidd's three brothers, who had travelled up from the south, and the 
              cortège of about 50 vehicles was reported to be ‘one of the largest ever seen 
              in Eltham’.

            
This accident had a deep and immediate impact on the district. A 
              drinking fountain in Kidd's memory was erected in Eltham's Taumata Park 
              and local histories record the tragedy. Both the event and the public reaction 
              to it are worth probing for the light they throw on the mind of the time.
              


              Why was Tom so determined, despite the dissuasions of the onlookers, that 
              ‘he was bound to get over somehow’? When the Mangawhero crossing was 
              examined after the flood a big scour hole and a large boulder that had been 
              brought down by the fresh were found, though neither was in a position to 
              have caused the accident. But these were likely dangers that Kidd must have 
              expected as he decided to go ahead. Lawson reported having seen him cross 
              once before with the stream quite as high. Probably pride in his reputation 
              for horsemanship and in maintaining his schedule under difficulties were 
              elements in his decision. But there may also have been an element not so 
              evident to our modern minds—the mystique of the faithful servant of the 
              Royal Mail. This has perhaps never been better expressed than in Rudyard 
              Kipling's The Overland Mail’:

            Is the torrent in spate? He must ford it or swim.



            Has the rain wrecked the road? He must climb by the cliff.



            Does the tempest cry ‘halt’? What are tempests to him?



            The service admits not a ‘but’ or an ‘if’.



            While the breath's in his mouth, he must bear without fail,



            In the Name of the Empress, the Overland Mail.

            
The wide contemporary vogue of Kipling's verse among the common 
              people shows that he was striking deep chords of current popular thought 
              and feeling. This honouring of the faithful mail carrier had several strands— 
              the thankfulness of exiles and immigrants for the link with ‘Home’, pride 
              in the far-flung imperial endeavour of which the postal service was a close-to-home example, and awareness that the success of it all depended on the
              costly, often dangerous, toil of a multitude of dedicated workers. Kidd's 
              decision to drive into the dangerous stream belongs to a time before the 
              Great War had dampened the commitment to Empire, raising doubts about 
              the competence of its leaders and the wisdom of unquestioning self-sacrifice 
              at their bidding.

            
The attendance at the funeral was remarkable for a young man and a 
              recent arrival in the district. But a coachman was a public figure, the Eltham 
              Road route would have made him widely known, and he had met his tragic 
              death ‘on public service’. The district would also have been reinforcing the 
              point that the Mangawhero must be bridged. There may have been a little 
              guilt among the mourners, for the government had for a year or two been 
              prepared to find half the cost, provided the local bodies found the other half. 
              The matter had been on the agenda of the latest meeting of the Waimatc 
              Road Board, put there by stirring by the Riverlea branch of the Farmers' 
              Union. The holdup was in deciding the contributions of the various affected 
              local bodies. The tragedy broke the impasse. The 
Kaponga firm of 
              Robertson and Cave had begun work on the bridge by March 1904 and it 
              was opened by a Minister of the Crown on 8 August 1904, with copious 
              speeches and a banquet.
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A Fury of Gale, Fire and Cloudburst

            
The Opunake-Eltham coach service was again disrupted on Friday, 18 
              March 1904, when the greater part of the route between Opunake and 
              
Kaponga was swept by bush fires brought raging through by a furious gale. 
              On 14 August 1903 there had been one man's tragedy, of which news went 
              out quickly by rider and telegraph line, so that the 
Star got the gist of the 
              story to its readers that evening. From before daylight on Friday, 18 March 
              1904, it was everyone's story over a great swathe of country stretching for 
              about 15 miles on either side of Eltham Road, with further outbreaks to the 
              north of Opunake as far as Pungarehu. But that evening's
              
Star seemed


              scarcely aware of the drama, the only mention being two short paragraphs 
              from ‘Our Own’ and three lines from Te Kiri's ‘Our Own’. Settlers fighting 
              for their lives and property in blinding smoke had no time to dispatch 
              reports, and in any case telegraph news was being blacked out by the fire 
              bringing down the lines along Eltham Road. Even next day the
              
Star had


              only three short paragraphs of sketchy reports. But on Monday, 21 March, 
              the extent of the disaster was unfolded under a tier of headlines:

            
FRIDAY'S GALE


              EXTENSIVE BUSH FIRES


              ABOUT 100,000 ACRES AFFECTED


              GREAT DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY


              EXCITING EXPERIENCES


              A PHENOMENAL RAINFALL


              (By Our Special Reporter)

            
The rush of fire, the violence of the gale, the density of the smoke, and the 
              suffocating atmosphere that prevailed on Friday last, will cause the day to be 
              long remembered. Many settlers over a wide extent of countryside were 
              compelled to neglect their daily milking to fight the flames that threatened 
              wholesale destruction as they were forced along at a terrific pace by a furious 
              gale.

            
The conflagration did not spread from one starting point. The fire that 
              wrought so much havoc at Lower Rowan road (
Kaponga) came from a 
              different quarter to that which proved so terrible in the upper portion of that 
              thoroughfare. Again there was no connection between the outbreak to the 
              north of Opunake—about Rahotu and Pungarehu—and that which had its 
              source in the Mountain Reserve. All that was required was an ember in an old 
              rata log. This the wind would fan into a terrific blast, and spread the red-hot 
              ashes broadcast to further the work of desolation.

            
We will concentrate our attention on the eastern end of the scene, where 
              the fires swept across a large part of the western stretch of 
Kaponga's 
              district. The cause of the disaster was a ‘furious northerly gale’, which 
              started on the Thursday and continued until late on Friday, culminating in 
              a cloudburst. The gale must have had a north-easterly inclination as the fires
              


              originating on Rowan Road spread from there towards Opunake, not 
              eastwards towards 
Kaponga. One needs to take account of the flow of 
              settlement to make sense of the location of the fires. The whole district will 
              have been swept by the gale, but no fires were reported around 
Kaponga or 
              to its east, whereas, as we saw in 
Chapter 4, the bush fires of the 1890s swept 
              repeatedly along Palmer Road, and also at times threatened the township 
              itself. In these older settled areas stumping and logging-up were now well 
              advanced, and much of the land will have been in mature pasture. But in 
              the later settled west of the district the autumn days will have seen a great 
              deal of chopping, blasting and burning of stumps and logs, including the 
              firing of the dry, standing skeleton of many a great rata. It was these vestiges 
              of the forest that the gale whipped into roaring flames and spread abroad 
              both through the dry grass and by means of fragments whirled through the 
              air. Under the heading ‘A Terrible Day’ the reporter told how milkers rising 
              before dawn on the Friday found something more urgent than their milking 
              to attend to:

            
Towards the mountain could be seen huge pine trees flaring like giant torches 
              and giving off strips of blazing material that were hurled tremendous 
              distances by the hurricane. Now and then these merciless messengers would 
              light on other pines or on some huge grub-punctured rata, whose 
              innumerable flues would greedily suck up the flames, and these in turn blazed 
              up, only to be dissolved by the rushing wind and carried on to make fresh 
              fiery conquests. As the morning advanced the flames swept on, enveloping 
              the farms in quick succession with heavy suffocating smoke. An organised 
              attempt to check the conflagration was out of the question; the only thing 
              that remained was for each to save his own homestead if possible.

            
Families quickly formed themselves into bucket brigades, and all 
              available water supplies were soon taxed to the utmost. The fire fighters acted 
              strictly on the defensive. As the smoke thickened it was impossible to see at a 
              greater distance than a few yards, and houses had to be regularly and 
              carefully reconnoitred to extinguish as soon as they fell the sparks that 
              dropped like hail. When a shed, a fence, or a haystack was seen to catch the 
              brigades rushed to the place, and the incipient conflagration was suppressed. 
              Temporarily blinded by the heat and smoke, the victors retired to press their 
              aching eyeballs and prepare for a defence in another direction. The horror of 
              the situation was increased by the dreadful uncertainty as to how one's 
              neighbours were faring. Throughout the long day until late in the afternoon 
              there was no period of rest from the anxious task.

            
We will illustrate the day's long struggle with some of the happenings 
              along Rowan Road and at Riverlea. The strength of the gale can be seen in 
              the way in which the flames outwitted the defence strategies that had 
              developed over the years. To protect their homes many settlers surrounded 
              them with a couple of chains of ploughed land, planted with potatoes, 
              winter root crops &c. Allan Grace and W. J. Barleyman were two Rowan
              


              Road settlers who had taken this precaution. But Grace found that this day 
              a ploughed paddock seven chains wide was no protection. Thousands of 
              coals of living fire were swept right across it to set fire to the fences beyond. 
              Barleyman's defences included a four-acre crop of rape, then four inches 
              high. Every plant was blown out by the roots. Meanwhile the gale strewed 
              the defensive zone with inflammable materials, hay, shingles torn from shed 
              roofs, rubbish from the wild. After long hours of successful struggle 
              Barleyman began taking serious losses around 2pm.

            
There was no burning tree within seven chains of the house, but big sparks 
              fell in showers, and the wind with cyclonic force drove scorching pellets with 
              destructive force against all the buildings. In the midst of it all a fiery flake of 
              rotten rimu was lodged close by. Mr Barleyman turned for a bucket of water, 
              but at that moment a sudden gust of wind swished the devilish torch beneath 
              his new and very fine house. Not to be defeated without another effort, Mr 
              Barleyman seized a flour-bag, and crawling below the building promptly 
              smothered the dangerous blaze. Just then Mrs Barleyman called out that the 
              haystacks were going, and before anything could be done 35 tons of hay was 
              doomed. Then the stable and cowsheds caught alight, and the buildings, 
              which contained a quantity of grass seeds, harness, tools, etc., were soon 
              levelled to the ground. To say nothing of about 50 acres of grass, the value of 
              the property that was burnt was about £400.

            
Other losses along the road included firewood and fencing by Grace 
              and haystacks by Doyle and Voullaire. When a valuable haystack in one of 
              Voullaire's paddocks came under threat, with the water supply exhausted, 
              Voullaire and Allan Grace were able to save it with a dowsing of skim 
              milk—an expedient also reported on elsewhere. In upper Rowan Road D. 
              Stringer began taking losses about 3pm, with a recently erected double loft 
              shed, 15 tons of oaten and clover hay, outhouses, tools, fencing, and a milk 
              cart going up in flames. His house and another shed were frequently 
              menaced, but he managed to save them. Throughout the fire district settlers 
              took similar losses of sheds, haystacks and fencing. Several whares were also 
              lost, but it appears that all substantial homes were successfully defended. 
              Beside the struggles on the farms there were stern battles for other establishments, such as Parkes and Brooker's sawmill at Awatuna, a creamery on


              Skeet Road and the social hall at Te Kiri.

            
Early on women and children, and others not able to fight the flames, 
              abandoned their threatened homes for safer shelter, with bedding and 
              valuables (some stowed in milk cans) loaded onto their vehicles. A few made 
              their way to 
Kaponga. Others took refuge at Riverlea, in the dairy factory 
              and in W. K. Howitt's store, with caches of valuables stored in Walker's new 
              blacksmith's shop. With the defenders wilting with exhaustion and
              everything becoming increasingly desiccated by the fiery gale, there could well 
              have been a second flood of refugees from burnt-out homesteads had not
              


              everything been dramatically changed late in the afternoon by the sudden 
              cloudburst.

            
The face of the country was entirely changed by the deluge. In a few minutes 
              the metalled roads had angry streams rushing along either side… Streamlets 
              became creeks, creeks rivers, and rivers rushing torrents. In the paddocks 
              hundreds of miniature lakes were formed, into which burning logs fell with 
              wild hisses. Never before in the memory of settlers had such a downpour 
              occurred. The Kapuni river, subject though it be to sudden freshes, is 
              generally an innocent enough stream, but on Friday night it whirled along 
              violently as if daring the wayfarer to effect a crossing by its fords. Kelly's 
              Creek rose three feet higher than it had ever been known to do before, and 
              was for a time an insuperable bar to vehicular traffic along the
              Eltham-Opunake road. The Mangawhero river became choked with logs at the 
              crossing where Mr Kidd lost his life, and the coachdriver was compelled to 
              leave the conveyance on the Opunake side and bring the mails across on 
              horseback. Elliott's creek rose rapidly and acquiring torrential force washed 
              the Skeet road bridge away bodily, leaving the wreck heaped up against the 
              bank several chains away. Having escaped the fire the country appeared on 
              the verge of being flooded, but, the flames being extinguished, the rain ceased 
              as suddenly as it began.

            
Worn out by their endeavours some of the defenders now made their 
              way into 
Kaponga as drenched refugees. Others took news of the successful 
              defence of their homes to the women and children now bedding down in 
              the Riverlea store and factory. As night fell the fires gave way only slowly 
              to the deluge.

            
… the country bore a striking resemblance to a huge city when gaily 
              illuminated on some festive occasion; looked at by those the fire encircled, the 
              spectacle was awe-inspiring. Thousands of trees, each a living coal from its 
              base to the top, stood out glowing against an inky sky. One after another of 
              these forest giants would fall with a tremendous crash, while from its ruins 
              myriads of sparks would rise upwards and disappear in black space. Only 
              gradually did the tropical rain gain the mastery over the giant embers— 
              towards dawn on Saturday morning …

            
This episode highlights the fact that into the 20th century our district 
              remained ‘bush’ and ‘frontier’. After March 1904 there were still years of 
              bush fires ahead. In mid-March 1907 the settlers of Rowan Road and 
              Riverlea were again hard pressed by wind-driven bush fires that raged for 
              several days before finally burning out. Beginning on 9 February 1908 a 
              ‘fierce and destructive’ bush fire raged for about 10 days through a strip of 
              country along and south of Opunake Road, beginning north of Awatuna 
              and spreading eastward through Makaka and Rowan to reach the upper 
              Manaia Road (i.e. somewhat to the north of the March 1904 blaze). In his 
              first letter for 1910 ‘Our Own’ told of a heavy downpour on New Year's 
              Eve morning putting a damper on bush fires that had been devastating ‘the
              


              country between us and the mountain, very close to the town’. On 2 April 
              1913 Rowan's ‘Our Own’ reported gales spreading bush fires in the district, 
              the hall in danger, heavy losses of haystacks, and C. Hill's milking shed and 
              plant destroyed. ‘The bush’ still differed from the coastal open country in 
              vital ways. For decades now the homes and gardens, pastures and crops, 
              flocks and herds of these southern neighbours had been sheltered from the 
              recurrent gales by their shelter belts of trees and well-established boxthorn 
              hedges. And when a summer or autumn turned dry their worries were trivial 
              compared with those of ‘the bush’.
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A Swiss Tragedy

            
The quiet, hard-working, law-abiding presence of the Swiss immigrant 
              milkers was proving such a godsend to the district that when a fatal quarrel 
              occurred between two of them on the evening of Saturday, 30 June 1906, it 
              was met with real shock, almost incredulity.

1 The inquest and the trials that 
              followed throw some light on the lives and circumstances of this community 
              of recent arrivals.

            
Karl Schicker, the accused in the trials, was born at Zug, 
Switzerland, 
              on 29 June 1880. He arrived in New Zealand around the turn of the century 
              and at the time of the incident was working for William Martin on lower 
              Palmer Road. Six miles away, on the farm of G.B. Hill, Rowan Road, lived 
              three other Swiss immigrants: Albert Ulrich, his sister Annie, and their 
              lodger John Rollins, the victim in the case. Schicker became the sweetheart 
              of Annie, they became engaged, and he made the 12-mile round trip to see 
              his francèe twice each week. But John Rollins also developed an affection 
              for Annie with the result that, according to her brother, there had been bad 
              feeling between Schicker and Rollins for two years before the tragedy.

            
Rollins was a heavily built, muscular man, and several witnesses, 
              including relatives and friends, agreed that he was very quick-tempered. It 
              was therefore a real problem for this little community when Rollins began 
              making wild death threats against the much more lightly built Schicker. 
              There were one or two earlier short fights between the two, in which 
              Schicker compensated for his slight build by grabbing some kind of a 
              cudgel. Eventually Rollins's anger became so deep that Annie Ulrich wrote 
              to Schicker asking him to stop away for a few days as Rollins was 
              threatening that either he or Schicker would have to die. So Schicker stayed 
              away. Then Rollins came to see him in the middle of the night to ask why 
              he did not come to the Ulrichs' any more. Schicker told him of the letter he 
              had had from Annie. Rollins wanted Schicker to resume his visits because, 
              he said, ‘If you don't come up, Annie will go away.’ Schicker complied. 
              Unfortunately Rollins's anger and threats continued. To escape from the 
              situation Annie broke off her engagement to Schicker and left for 
              
Switzerland about six weeks before the tragedy.

            
It is clear even from this brief outline that the situation developed
              


              largely as a result of the immigrant position of this small Swiss community. 
              The intensity of the rivalry between Schicker and Rollins must have owed 
              a good deal to the strong sex imbalance, with only 53 Swiss females in 
              Taranaki to 135 males. Furthermore, had a similar situation arisen in the 
              Swiss homeland setting, all three protagonists would have had mature 
              counsellors, whether parents, relatives, friends or community figures, to 
              whom they could have turned, or who would have initiated individual or 
              community responses to meet the situation. In Taranaki no such help was 
              available; even at the Roman Catholic church, to which most of them seem 
              to have belonged, they would still have felt themselves aliens speaking a 
              foreign tongue, rather than insiders able easily to seek understanding and 
              help. One envisages that in the hearthland Rollins's situation as the Ulrichs' 
              lodger would have been quickly ended. Why no such move was made on 
              Rowan Road is not clear, but it is easy to envisage the difficulties relating to 
              the employment contract with G.B. Hill, the need to maintain a united front 
              
vis-à-vis the wider community, and the likelihood of repercussions should 
              forthright action be taken against the volatile Rollins. Annie's stopping of 
              Schicker's visits by a letter, rather than in face-to-face discussion, gives some 
              indication of how tricky she felt the situation to be.

            
Witnesses told of the prolonged tension between the two men, with 
              accounts of two earlier fights as well as the final one. From all this comes a 
              picture of a scatter of mainly unmarried labouring Swiss, as yet little 
              involved socially with the wider community, and therefore heavily 
              dependent on each other for companionship in leisure hours. At the 
              Magistrate's Court Jacob Gaecal, who had known Schicker in 
Switzerland, 
              and was working for settler Perry of Mangatoki, told of events on the last 
              Sunday of 1905. After meeting at the 
Kaponga Roman Catholic church, he 
              and Rollins, a cousin whom he had got to know only since coming to New 
              Zealand, had gone out to the Ulrichs' place on Rowan Road. On arrival, as 
              he was tying up his horse at the gate while Rollins went in ahead, he heard 
              a row and saw Schicker, Annie Ulrich and Pinseck come out of the house. 
              Although it was dark he could see that Rollins and Schicker were involved 
              in a fight. Rollins called for Gaecal's help but he did not go in. The fight 
              lasted about three minutes. Gaecal told the court:

            
Schicker had the best of the fight and afterwards told Rollins that he could 
              have killed him if he wanted to. Rollins said then, ‘I am not frightened of 
              you, Charlie.’ Charlie Schicker then held up a poker and said, ‘Come on, and 
              I will knock you down.’ From that time on Schicker and Rollins were 
              enemies.

            
[To Mr Wake, counsel for Schicker] … Rollins … was a very quick 
              tempered man. Going home that night after the quarrel Rollins said to 
              witness, I will buy a revolver and shoot Charlie.’ He was a much bigger man 
              than Schicker. Rollins afterwards told witness that he (Rollins) started the 
              fight that night.

            


            
Giving evidence on his own behalf at the Supreme Court trial, Schicker told 
              of another, apparently later, incident.

            
One Sunday night in 
Kaponga he heard Rollins was looking for him to kill 
              him…. He had hardly been there five minutes, when they heard ‘someone 
              coming up like mad.’ He and Miss Ulrich went out to see who it was. Rollins 
              jumped off his horse and rushed at witness, Pensech [another Swiss]

2 getting 
              between them. Rollins kicked Pensech, and then the two got Rollins on the 
              ground. Goessi came up from the gate. They went in, and Rollins started to 
              threaten. Thinking that both Rollins and Goessi were going to tackle him, he 
              seized a piece of iron to defend himself. He told Rollins there was nothing to 
              prevent him coming into the house if he would only behave himself. They all 
              spent the evening together amicably.

            
On the afternoon of Saturday, 30 June, Rollins and Albert Ulrich rode 
              in from Rowan Road to 
Kaponga. They left their horses at a 
Kaponga stable 
              and set out to walk to Prestidge's place, about a mile and a half from town. 
              From his whare on Daniel Fitzgerald's place Joseph Steiner, another Swiss, 
              saw them walking by on this moonlit evening. He went out and persuaded 
              them to come and help him finish his tasks for Fitzgerald so that they could 
              all go into the township together. Coming back from these chores past 
              Fitzgerald's house, between 7 and 8pm, they saw Schicker come in at the 
              front gate and go towards Steiner's whare. Steiner and Ulrich both shook 
              hands with Schicker but Rollins and Schicker did not speak to each other. 
              Schicker had an axe handle in his hand. Steiner and Ulrich went into the 
              whare while Schicker and Rollins stayed outside. Steiner came out again to 
              show Schicker and Rollins a postcard he had received and found them 
              talking about postcards that Rollins had received and claimed were in 
              Schicker's handwriting but Schicker denied this. Rollins had burned the 
              cards as soon as he received them. What the various cards contained is not 
              reported, but it makes good sense to infer that Annie Ulrich had sent cards 
              to hei 
Kaponga friends while on her voyage home. As he turned to lock his 
              whare Steiner heard the two getting into a loud dispute, each calling the 
              other a liar. Turning back he saw Rollins falling to the ground. It was Albert 
              Ulrich who witnessed the fatal blow. Rollins had just accused Schicker of 
              making ‘a very offensive remark’ about Annie Ulrich in the hotel and 
              Schicker then said, ‘If you say that again you are a liar, and I will hit you 
              with this axe handle.’ On Rollins repeating the statement Schicker lifted the 
              axe handle with both hands, Rollins moved towards him, and was struck 
              on the head and knocked down on his hands and knees. He got up again, 
              said a few words, walked a short distance, and then fell down again and 
              began shaking. Ulrich and Schicker carried him inside the whare.

            
Rollins did not regain consciousness. Schicker proposed that he should 
              go for a doctor but the others persuaded him not to as they thought there 
              was no danger. Eventually, after about two hours, Schicker went, but there 
              was further delay as he had to wait for half an hour for Dr Maclagan.

            


            
Arriving at about 11pm, Maclagan found the victim unconscious, paralysed 
              in all his limbs, and with troubled breathing and a rapid, irregular pulse. 
              Nothing could be done and he died shortly after. In his post mortem 
              examination Maclagan found that death was due to pressure on the brain of 
              a clot of blood under a depressed fracture. Schicker waited at Maclagan's 
              surgery to be taken into custody by the Eltham constable.

            
At the inquest in the Commercial Hotel on the Monday afternoon the 
              jury returned a verdict of unlawful killing, but added a rider expressing the 
              opinion that Schicker had struck the blow ‘in defending himself in a 
              quarrel’. At the conclusion of the Magistrate's Court hearing in Eltham on 
              10 July 1906 Schicker was committed to stand trial in the Supreme Court. 
              Bail was fixed at £100 on his own recognisance, and two sureties of £200 
              each were forthcoming. At the 
New Plymouth Supreme Court on 25 
              September the grand jury reduced the charge from murder to manslaughter. 
              Schicker's defence was led by 
New Plymouth's leading barrister, Oliver 
              Samuel. Schicker gave detailed evidence in his own defence and said that he 
              thought the Crown witnesses had told the truth. In describing his situation 
              he said

            
‘I was always frightened about him. I thought he would knock me down and 
              kill me. I only wanted to stop him.’ He did not think he could have escaped 
              Rollins. ‘I was in dread of my life at the time, and my only reason for striking 
              was to keep him from seizing me, and doing me some great hurt.’

            
The 
Taranaki News reported that ‘His Honor summed up lucidly and 
              favourably to the prisoner’, and the jury did not take long to bring in its 
              verdict of ‘not guilty’.

            
Schicker went on to a career as a dairy farmer in the 
Kaponga district. 
              He apparently did not seek to renew his relationship with Annie. He made 
              a trip home to 
Switzerland in 1911 and it was probably then that he married 
              his wife, Mathilde. This tragic story from his early life gives us some insight 
              into the tensions of this small alien immigrant community. There were to 
              be added tensions a few years later when their new homeland became 
              embroiled in the Great War against the empire that spoke their mother 
              tongue. But their qualities as settlers and citizens saw them through the hard 
              years and quickly gained them full acceptance as neighbours and friends.
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A Missing Final Act?

          

Kaponga's story over the period 1881–1920 is like a four-act play from 
            which most of the final act has been rudely ripped away. The first three 
            chapters fall neatly into the decades, with the 1880s half hidden in the bush, 
            the 1890s seeing the sudden emergence and rise of the township, and the 
            1900s marked by professionalism, modernising, and progress on remaining 
            deep problems such as township sanitation and rural roads. The story seems 
            to be heading for the 1910s as the decade of fulfilment, with ‘The Frontier 
            Fades Away’ or ‘Settler to Farmer’ as appropriate headings. The word 
            ‘settler’ with its sense of new beginnings and a Robinson Crusoe ‘jack of all 
            trades' existence had certainly been steadily giving way to the more solid 
            established word ‘farmer’. But with the violent intrusion of a world war 
            
Kaponga faltered in its progress from a frontier to a mature community in 
            a mature countryside. At the end of its first four decades a grief-wracked 
            community, in a countryside grown increasingly untidy from under-manning, gave no thought to any festival of ‘arrival’. Instead it celebrated a
            too-costly victory, the cessation of the killing, and the return of its 
            decimated fighting men.

          
We have chosen 1914 as the concluding date for this study because the 
            grim happenings of 1914–18 had such revolutionary economic, social, 
            political and intellectual consequences, at all levels from global to local, that 
            they are better dealt with as the beginnings of a new age than as the end of 
            an old one. However, in this chapter we will take some account of the years 
            1914–19. We will first discuss the kind of war most 
Kaponga folk were 
            expecting in August 1914, sketch the kind of war they actually got, probe 
            what 
Kaponga contributed to life on active service, and what immediate 
            impact the war had on the 
Kaponga district. We will then consider how 
            things might have developed without this rude interruption. We will also 
            glance at another possible age, lost decades earlier, whose tragic deletion has 
            been forcibly drawn to our attention as we write.

          

Kaponga would have shared in the general expectation that this would 
            be a short, victorious war. As 
Christopher Pugsley puts it, the departure of 
            the main body of the NZEF in October 1914

          


          
… was more like the start of an international tour by an All Black team 
            rather than soldiers embarking for a war. Young New Zealanders flocked to 
            join the Expeditionary Force, fearful that the war and the adventure it offered 
            would be over before Christmas.

1

          
After all, the most recent major conflict had been the short Russo-Japanese war and the last major European conflict had been the short 
            Franco-Prussian war of 1870–71. The emergence of settler 
Kaponga had 
            coincided with the burgeoning in popular literature and journalism of a 
            glorifying of war, a pride in the empire and a confidence in the superiority 
            of the British ‘race’ and institutions. Through school and Sunday school 
            prizes, school readers and from 1907 the 

School Journal, the books in the 
            township library, the serials and stories in their weekly newspapers, and the 
            writings of a new breed of war correspondents who glamorised the succession of minor conflicts of the period, young and old of 
Kaponga would
            have built up a picture of war that ill-prepared them for the experience they 
            were to go through. War was depicted as ‘a glorified form of big-game 
            hunting—the highest form of sport’.

2 One approached a battle as an 
            adventure, a chance to demonstrate one's manliness.

          
Over the first half of Victoria's reign service in the ranks of the army 
            had a bad reputation and colonies had been regarded rather as a nuisance 
            than as a source of pride. But popular literature and the experience of the 
            South African war had been changing all that. Steadily the empire became 
            a source of great pride and to volunteer to fight in its defence became 
            admirable. So, when the call of the Great War came, men flocked to the 
            colours in their millions from every corner of the empire, to form the first 
            mass armies the British people had ever known. The result was a bitter 
            calamity, in which 
Kaponga shared deeply, for these great armies appeared 
            at a time when military technology had recently perfected the art of mass 
            killing. So these years saw ‘the worst tragedy that has ever happened to 
            Pakeha New Zealanders', ‘a national trauma’, ‘a whole generation [giving] 
            its most creative energies on a senseless slaughter’.

3

          
Not till the appearance of the 
Gallipoli casualty lists, when the war was 
            10 months old, did these realities begin to break in on the 
Kaponga community. The landing provided the first two names for the 30 on the 
Kaponga


            war memorial. Irving Blackstock was killed on 26 April, the first of 11 
            members the 
Kaponga Oddfellows were to lose of 33 sent to the front.

4 
            Howard Newton, a recent immigrant to 
Kaponga from Richmond, Nelson, 
            was the 
Kaponga Rugby Club's first casualty, dying of wounds back in 
            
Egypt on 2 May. There were two further 
Kaponga dead from New 
            Zealand's great day of costly glory at Chunuk Bair on 8 August—J.C. 
            Howie of Riverlea, who had left from several years as wagoner for the co-op factory, and G.D. Dempsey. Besides the grief for their own dead,
            
Kaponga would have been hard hit by the loss of friends and acquaintances 
            from neighbouring communities. Especially they would have mourned for
            


            W.G. Malone of Stratford. It was he who had drawn up the articles of 
            association for their dairy co-op, and, following the introduction of 
            compulsory military training in 1911, many young 
Kaponga men would 
            have got to know and respect him as the commanding officer of the 11th 
            Regiment (Taranaki Rifles). Many in 
Kaponga would also have been 
            shocked by the death at 
Gallipoli, barely three weeks after Chunuk Bair, of 
            the Rev William Grant, one of the party of three who in 1886 had first 
            conquered Mt 
Egmont from the 
Kaponga side. He had left his 
Gisborne 
            parish to serve as a chaplain and was shot by a Turkish patrol while attending to Turkish wounded. But these losses, and the flow of broken men who


            began to trickle back home, were but a curtain-raiser. Far more 
Kaponga 
            dreams were to be trampled on the killing fields of 
France.
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The 
Kaponga Contribution to Life on Active Service

          
One the positive side, the war provided rich experiences of comradeship and 
            courage, deepened the country's self-awareness, and gave it a new confidence in the quality of its citizens and its way of life. New Zealanders had


            good reason to feel that through their young men they had demonstrated at 
            
Gallipoli and confirmed in 
France that in loyalty to a great cause, in 
            organising ability, and above all in military virtues, they could hold their 
            own with the world's best. They had cause for pride in the fact that at the 
            war's end their division was the strongest in quantity and quality in the 
            British armies in 
France. And these armies in turn had cause for pride in 
            that ‘the unmilitary amateur British outlasted friend and foe alike’ so that 
            the war, in the end, ‘was chiefly won on the ground by a huge crowd of 
            young Britons who never wanted to be soldiers’.

5

          
The armies of their French, Russian and Italian allies tumbled into large-scale 
            mutiny or military collapse in 1917. By the following autumn the resistance 
            of 
Germany's allies was disintegrating and the great German army itself, the 
            engine of the war, was cracking under the strain. Yet the British and 
            Dominion forces kept going, withstood the mightiest blows that the German 
            army could deliver in spring 1918 and took the leading part in the great war-winning offensives that autumn.

6

          
Whence did these Britons draw their strength and tenacity? In 
            particular, whence came the staying power that enabled the New Zealanders 
            to stand out among them? In his 
Troop Morale and Popular Culture in the 
              British and Dominion Armies 1914–1918 J.G. Fuller has thrown light on this 
            matter from a scholarly analysis of over a hundred ‘trench newspapers’ 
            produced by the front-line soldiers themselves.

7 His conclusion is that these 
            men were able to maintain their morale in the face of appalling conditions 
            in the trenches and unprecedented slaughter in battle because they ‘carried 
            over from civilian life many institutions and attitudes which helped them 
            to adjust to, and to humanise, the new world in which they found themselves’. 
              


            Drawing on a wide base of support in the ranks ‘a great network of 
            entertainments paralleling those at home existed behind the lines’. This 
            spontaneous growth of stopgap institutions to foster sports, concerts, 
            excursions, popular journalism and other entertainments seems to have 
            enhanced the periods of rest and recreation and played an important part in 
            upholding morale. The home background also shaped the way the men 
            approached their soldiering. Fuller writes:

          
The historian of the New Zealand Division contrasted the keen awareness 
            shown by its men with ‘the boyish insouciance of the English soldier’. At 
            home, wrote an officer of the division, education for all ‘nurtures the seed of 
            independence’, so that all feel fit for leadership: consequently, in the field, the 
            men in the ranks exhibit ‘a native inquisitiveness … they seem to want to 
            know all about their surroundings, and to have the intelligence to grasp the 
            situation. A certain mental restlessness will not leave them content with only 
            sufficient information to carry out their duties; they find out more.’

          
It is not difficult to see how well 
Kaponga's little world would have 
            prepared its servicemen for their time of testing. The vigorous local social 
            and sporting life, the shared responsibility of the family farm, the do-it-yourself frontier approach to all kinds of problems from roading the 
            Taranaki mud to selling on a world market, together made an almost ideal 
            preparation for 
Gallipoli, the 
Somme, 
Flanders and the rest.
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The War's Impact on 
Kaponga

          

            
We introduce our survey of the war's impact on the district with some 
            specific personal examples. One home that was hard hit was Elizabeth Ann 
            Foreman's. Her two sons by her first marriage, William Thomas Faull 
            (‘Willie’) and Henry James Faull (‘Harry’), were farewelled for overseas 
            service in the winter of 1915. They had first appeared on the 
Kaponga 
            School roll in the Standard 1 class in 1902, and completed their schooling 
            there, always in the same class. In their final year, 1907, when their school's 
            cricket team defeated that of the Eltham, the latter arranged to borrow the 
            two Faull boys for a match they were about to play against 
New Plymouth. 
            On leaving school they worked at the co-op factory. Before 7am on Friday, 
            28 May 1915, the 
Kaponga firebell rang to assemble residents to farewell 
            six volunteers leaving with the 
7th Reinforcements. Willie Faull was one of 
            four members of the soccer team leaving with this group. The township, and 
            hence the soccer club, was over-represented among the early volunteers. It 
            was evidently much easier to give notice to a town employer than to detach 
            oneself from a family farm team where the herd size was matched to the 
            workforce. Harry was farewelled as one of another party leaving 
Kaponga 
            at the end of August. In November ‘Our Own’ (12/11/15) reported that Mrs 
            Foreman had had a letter from 
Egypt from one of her sons, ‘a great favourite
            


            here’ (presumably Willie), with news that he was about to leave for 
            
Gallipoli. ‘Our Own's’ next Faull news (15/8/16) was that

            
… Mrs Foreman has just received another batch of letters from her two boys 
            in 
France. So far they have got through without a scratch and are very bright 
            in their writing, always giving their mother the bright side of life. I happen to 
            be one of the fortunate ones who is privileged to read the boys' letters, and 
            am always delighted to know they are well.

            
But, in common with countless mothers around the globe, Mrs 
            Foreman will have been living in apprehension of the ominous telegraph 
            boy's knock. Nothing will have prepared her for the news she received in 
            October 1916, as the telegrams went out for the 7000 casualties (1560 dead) 
            of the New Zealand Division's 23 days in the muddy horrors of the 
Somme. 
            ‘A Correspondent’ (16/10/16) filed this report:

          

          

            

The Toll of War

            
The death of Private H.J. Faull, who was killed in action in 
France, has cast a 
              gloom over the whole district. Private Harry Faull was one of those genial, 
              clean straight lads who endeared himself to everyone. His clean life and his 
              love of home and mother was a great feature in Harry, and his parents have 
              the sympathy of a very large circle of friends. Private H. Faull always took a 
              keen interest in the affairs of this township, and was always a willing helper 
              in everything. He was associated with the band and fire brigade, and with 
              hockey, soccer, cricket and tennis in a most creditable manner. He will also be 
              much missed as a worker in the Anglican Church.

            
Private W. Ford, who was killed at the same time as Private Faull, was an 
              uncle of the latter. He was a great favourite in the Eltham district, and was a 
              brother of Mrs Foreman.

            
Privates W. Faull and F. Ford have both been wounded and are in 
              hospital, and I understand doing well. This will gave some idea of what some 
              mothers and sisters have to go through—a son and a brother killed and a son 
              and a brother wounded in one battle.

            
Mrs Foreman received more kindly news by a more pleasant route early 
              in December. 
Kaponga's ‘A Correspondent’ (9/12/16) again:

            
We can well imagine the pleasure it must have given Private Faull, on his 
              arrival at Southampton, to find himself cared for and attended to by his old 
              friend, Dr Maclagan. In a letter received by the Rev. O.M. Stent this week, Dr 
              Maclagan states: ‘I have actually come across one of our most devoted lads, 
              Willie Faull. He is at present in the hospital at 
Brockenhurst. He was 
              wounded in the shoulder, and a piece of shrapnel was still in it when I last 
              attended him. But he is almost all right again, and will shortly be leaving us. 
              Please tell his mother and all his friends that there is absolutely nothing to 
              worry about. What a splendid, upright fellow he has developed into, and he is 
              a lad to be proud of.’

            


            
But ‘Our Own’ a year later (5/11/17) told of deep gloom over the 
              district at the news that Willie Faull had been killed in action at Passchendaele, and later (30/11/17) reported the memorial service in St Mark's on 
              the afternoon of Sunday, 25 November.

            
In addition to the many friends who were present, the members of the 
              Oddfellows' Lodge, headed by the 
Kaponga Band, of both of which 
              institutions deceased was an enthusiastic member, paraded and attended at the 
              church…. At the conclusion of the service the Last Post was sounded by 
              Bandmaster Woods. The bell of the Fire Brigade, of which deceased was also 
              a member, was tolled throughout the service.

            
Active, gifted young men like the Faull brothers were widely missed and 
              mourned. Willie's death also came at a dark time for his old workplace, the 
              co-op factory. Also killed in the 
Passchendaele battle was a son of the 
              manager, R.T. Souness, who had already lost another son in action only 
              three months earlier. And the news that Willie had fallen coincided with the 
              death of factory secretary and much-loved local leader John Bennie. Bennie 
              had gone to 
Wellington to meet his soldier son returning invalided from the 
              front, and there caught a chill that led to his death.

            
We turn from the sorrows of one 
Kaponga family to the impact of the 
              war on the small community of Riverlea, returned as having 134 inhabitants 
              at the 1916 census. We do this particularly to consider what truth there is in 
              the not uncommon view that the stay-at-homes had no idea of the grim 
              realities of the front. As we have seen, Riverlea was hit early with the loss 
              of James Howie at Chunuk Bair. Thereafter almost all the main afflictions 
              of active service could be illustrated from the Riverlea ‘Our Own's’ news 
              of men from, or connected with, the district. There were plenty of woundings. Arthur Griffin, a local farmer with a large family, won the Military
              Medal but became a prisoner of war in 
Germany. At least six men were 
              reported killed in action. Here is a typical report:

          

          

            

Pro Patria

            
It was with great regret that Riverlea people heard of the death in action of 
              Corporal Norman Raglan Knight. Corporal Knight lived here for some years, 
              during which time he was employed in the local factory, and during his 
              residence here made himself very popular with all who knew him. He was a 
              prominent member of the 
Kaponga Association Football Club and a keen 
              sport generally. Always a hard player, he evidently carried his dash with him 
              to 
France for during the great fighting in 
Flanders last year he was awarded 
              the Military Medal for gallantry in the field. Corp. Knight's parents, and 
              sisters and brother, who lived here for some time, and his wife, who was a 
              Riverlea lady, have the sincere and heartfelt sympathy of the people of this 
              district. (
Star, 4/5/18)

            


            
What chance had family members, relatives and friends back in Riverlea 
              of grasping the grim realities of experience that led to this culmination? 
              Surely they could not have done so from the carefully manipulated war 
              news, the censored letters home from the front, or the traditional 
              condolences from commanding officers? On the other hand, is it possible 
              that this massive body of experience could somehow be sanitised so that a 
              home public desperate to understand it could be kept in ignorance? The 
              presence of returned wounded in the Riverlea community would surely 
              have made this impossible. As early as November 1915 Private Burgess of 
              
Kaponga had returned wounded; he addressed 
Kaponga School on the first 
              Anzac Day in 1916. In August 1917 Gunner Franks of Riverlea returned 
              wounded having lost an arm. In March 1918 Riverlea welcomed home 
              Private Finnigan and Sergeant John Gardner. Gardner had been wounded 
              at 
Gallipoli, had had a spell sick in hospital in 
France, and died on 26 
              November 1918 of influenza. Two more Riverlea men, Frank Silby and 
              Edward Quinn, were welcomed home in June 1918.

8 The 
Star of 26 
              November 1918, reporting Quinn's death in the influenza epidemic, told 
              that

            
… He was an orphan boy who had lived with the Malone family of Riverlea. 
              Enlisting shortly after the outbreak of war, he got away with the Thirteenths, 
              and saw a long period of service. He had been wounded twice, gassed once, 
              and buried once during a bombardment. The last occasion was a miraculous 
              escape from death.

9

            
Clearly Quinn must have been prepared to talk about his experiences. 
              Even by inquiring only of their own district's returned wounded, the settlers 
              of this little outlying hamlet in the far reaches of the empire would have had 
              little difficulty in filling out the picture. Relating it all to their own battle 
              with the Taranaki mud, and the mishaps of their pioneering experience in 
              hunting, bushfelling, sawmilling and stump blasting, they were probably 
              much better able to visualise the western front than were the civilians of 
              Kent, within the sound of the guns.

            
Also, as Phillips, Boyack and Malone have shown us in their 
The Great 
                Adventure, there was some pretty frank reporting from New Zealand 
              servicemen, who had plenty of opportunities of circumventing the censors. 
              They quote (p. 
147) Leonard Hart writing home after the New Zealand 
              Division's most terrible day, at 
Passchendaele on 12 October 1917:

            
… our commander has since told us that no troops in the world could 
              possibly have taken the ridge under similar circumstances. Some ‘terrible 
              blunder’ has been made. Someone is responsible for that barbed wire not 
              having been broken up by our artillery. Someone is responsible for the 
              opening of our barrage in the midst of us instead of 150 yards ahead of us. 
              Someone else is responsible for those machine gun emplacement being left 
              practically intact, but the papers will all report another glorious success, and 
              no one except those who actually took part in it will know any different.

            


            
The editor of the 
Star must have had to fight his own war-weariness as 
              he sat down to write his leader for 23 October 1917. He had another of the 
              long 
Passchendaele casualty lists to print in the usual place, at the end of 
              the ‘Personal Items’ column. He had news items on the desperation of the 
              dairy industry as conscription, which had gone into effect in November 
              1916, bled away its already sadly depleted manpower. One column covered 
              a sitting of the Military Service Board, in progress in 
Hawera, at which the 
              dairy factories had told of the deterioration of their products as skilled men 
              were drained away. For many months his pages had carried news of this 
              deepening concern. In February, under the heading ‘Cheese or Men’, they 
              had told of a representative meeting of farmers called by the 
Egmont A & 
              P Association to consider the situation. From then on, as the farmers 
              steadily organised themselves to support key men in their appeals, and to 
              help run the farms of men in the forces, the government made it clear that 
              while in 
Britain food production was a national priority, in New Zealand 
              ‘men’ for overseas service came before ‘cheese’. The 
Kaponga Dairy Co 
              learnt this in May. Having already lost 20 men to the military it appealed 
              for its working manager and his first assistant, but was turned down.

10

            
A fortnight later 
Kaponga farmer Bernard Cleland told the board how 
              his family had been affected. A single man of 32, he was running 550 
              purebred Romney sheep on the 515-acre farm he owned in partnership with 
              his brother Arthur, who was in camp. Two other brothers had also been 
              called up, so he was leasing the 122 acres owned by brother Tom and looking after the 141-acre farm of a third brother. He lived with his widowed


              mother on her 192 acres on Manaia Road. The hard-headed board decided 
              against collapsing the entire affairs of the clan and spared Bernard. Before 
              the year was out his brother Tom had won the Military Medal in 
France 
              and early in 1918 was invalided home.

11 The burden on 
Kaponga's women 
              was also steadily growing and they were showing signs of wilting. ‘Our 
              Own’ (14/7/17) quoted the president of the Ladies' 
Red Cross Guild telling 
              the AGM that assistance from lady workers ‘had not been as hearty of late 
              as could have been wished and the circumstances warranted’.

            
It must have been with some idea of countering this growing war-weariness that the editor headed his leader ‘New Zealand's Sacrifice’ and
              referred to ‘the long casualty list received during the last few days’. He 
              reminded readers that ‘nearly a hundred thousand of the finest men to be 
              found anywhere in the world’ had sacrificed prospects and abandoned 
              homes and social ties to fight for ‘those things which are dearer to the British 
              mind than even life itself’. They go to battlefields that ‘hold in store most 
              frightful sights’. ‘The frightfulness of war,’ he commented, ‘could have no 
              attraction for any sane person’. Referring to the cable messages on the recent 
              action he remarked that ‘there appears to have been an unfortunate lack of 
              unity between the infantry and the artillery’ with the result that ‘our men 
              … suffered very heavily from the fire of the enemy's machine-guns’. In his 
              concluding comments he seemed mainly concerned with the morale of the
              


              district's women, remarking that ‘[Man] lacks the keen sense of loss when 
              death takes a son or a friend; but with women the case is different. Their 
              finer natures feel more keenly death's separation.’

            
For another long year conscription further savaged the district's 
              workforce as it moved on from single men to husbands and fathers. And 
              these were the months in which 
Kaponga was most deeply stunned with 
              grief. Nearly half of its war dead fell in 1918. At home in the year's closing 
              months the influenza epidemic struck further sickening blows. With its 
              doctor, W.E. Buist, himself a flu victim in 
Hawera Hospital the district 
              somehow struggled through what must surely have been its lowest hours. 
              Even the throbbing heart of the district's dairy industry, the co-op factory, 
              was brought to its knees. Dying on successive days of this ‘black November’ 
              were two of its employees, the young men Walker from Riverlea.

12 At the 
              AGM on 8 September 1919 chairman A. V. Tait told how hard the company 
              had been hit:

            
The whole of the staff was down, and it is believed that this company was the 
              only one that had to close down any of its factories. As a result, at the height 
              of the season a large quantity of milk was lost to the company altogether, and 
              what was left of a whole month's supply had to be sent to the Mangatoki 
              Dairy Company to be made into butter.

            
The amount of milk dealt with was down nearly one-fifth on the previous 
              season, and this together with the extra expenses of the epidemic, includ 
              ing paying full wages to sick men, had a savage effect on the year's 
              payout.
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We introduce our survey of the war's impact on the district with some 
            specific personal examples. One home that was hard hit was Elizabeth Ann 
            Foreman's. Her two sons by her first marriage, William Thomas Faull 
            (‘Willie’) and Henry James Faull (‘Harry’), were farewelled for overseas 
            service in the winter of 1915. They had first appeared on the 
Kaponga 
            School roll in the Standard 1 class in 1902, and completed their schooling 
            there, always in the same class. In their final year, 1907, when their school's 
            cricket team defeated that of the Eltham, the latter arranged to borrow the 
            two Faull boys for a match they were about to play against 
New Plymouth. 
            On leaving school they worked at the co-op factory. Before 7am on Friday, 
            28 May 1915, the 
Kaponga firebell rang to assemble residents to farewell 
            six volunteers leaving with the 
7th Reinforcements. Willie Faull was one of 
            four members of the soccer team leaving with this group. The township, and 
            hence the soccer club, was over-represented among the early volunteers. It 
            was evidently much easier to give notice to a town employer than to detach 
            oneself from a family farm team where the herd size was matched to the 
            workforce. Harry was farewelled as one of another party leaving 
Kaponga 
            at the end of August. In November ‘Our Own’ (12/11/15) reported that Mrs 
            Foreman had had a letter from 
Egypt from one of her sons, ‘a great favourite
            


            here’ (presumably Willie), with news that he was about to leave for 
            
Gallipoli. ‘Our Own's’ next Faull news (15/8/16) was that

            
… Mrs Foreman has just received another batch of letters from her two boys 
            in 
France. So far they have got through without a scratch and are very bright 
            in their writing, always giving their mother the bright side of life. I happen to 
            be one of the fortunate ones who is privileged to read the boys' letters, and 
            am always delighted to know they are well.

            
But, in common with countless mothers around the globe, Mrs 
            Foreman will have been living in apprehension of the ominous telegraph 
            boy's knock. Nothing will have prepared her for the news she received in 
            October 1916, as the telegrams went out for the 7000 casualties (1560 dead) 
            of the New Zealand Division's 23 days in the muddy horrors of the 
Somme. 
            ‘A Correspondent’ (16/10/16) filed this report:
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The Toll of War

            
The death of Private H.J. Faull, who was killed in action in 
France, has cast a 
              gloom over the whole district. Private Harry Faull was one of those genial, 
              clean straight lads who endeared himself to everyone. His clean life and his 
              love of home and mother was a great feature in Harry, and his parents have 
              the sympathy of a very large circle of friends. Private H. Faull always took a 
              keen interest in the affairs of this township, and was always a willing helper 
              in everything. He was associated with the band and fire brigade, and with 
              hockey, soccer, cricket and tennis in a most creditable manner. He will also be 
              much missed as a worker in the Anglican Church.

            
Private W. Ford, who was killed at the same time as Private Faull, was an 
              uncle of the latter. He was a great favourite in the Eltham district, and was a 
              brother of Mrs Foreman.

            
Privates W. Faull and F. Ford have both been wounded and are in 
              hospital, and I understand doing well. This will gave some idea of what some 
              mothers and sisters have to go through—a son and a brother killed and a son 
              and a brother wounded in one battle.

            
Mrs Foreman received more kindly news by a more pleasant route early 
              in December. 
Kaponga's ‘A Correspondent’ (9/12/16) again:

            
We can well imagine the pleasure it must have given Private Faull, on his 
              arrival at Southampton, to find himself cared for and attended to by his old 
              friend, Dr Maclagan. In a letter received by the Rev. O.M. Stent this week, Dr 
              Maclagan states: ‘I have actually come across one of our most devoted lads, 
              Willie Faull. He is at present in the hospital at 
Brockenhurst. He was 
              wounded in the shoulder, and a piece of shrapnel was still in it when I last 
              attended him. But he is almost all right again, and will shortly be leaving us. 
              Please tell his mother and all his friends that there is absolutely nothing to 
              worry about. What a splendid, upright fellow he has developed into, and he is 
              a lad to be proud of.’

            


            
But ‘Our Own’ a year later (5/11/17) told of deep gloom over the 
              district at the news that Willie Faull had been killed in action at Passchendaele, and later (30/11/17) reported the memorial service in St Mark's on 
              the afternoon of Sunday, 25 November.

            
In addition to the many friends who were present, the members of the 
              Oddfellows' Lodge, headed by the 
Kaponga Band, of both of which 
              institutions deceased was an enthusiastic member, paraded and attended at the 
              church…. At the conclusion of the service the Last Post was sounded by 
              Bandmaster Woods. The bell of the Fire Brigade, of which deceased was also 
              a member, was tolled throughout the service.

            
Active, gifted young men like the Faull brothers were widely missed and 
              mourned. Willie's death also came at a dark time for his old workplace, the 
              co-op factory. Also killed in the 
Passchendaele battle was a son of the 
              manager, R.T. Souness, who had already lost another son in action only 
              three months earlier. And the news that Willie had fallen coincided with the 
              death of factory secretary and much-loved local leader John Bennie. Bennie 
              had gone to 
Wellington to meet his soldier son returning invalided from the 
              front, and there caught a chill that led to his death.

            
We turn from the sorrows of one 
Kaponga family to the impact of the 
              war on the small community of Riverlea, returned as having 134 inhabitants 
              at the 1916 census. We do this particularly to consider what truth there is in 
              the not uncommon view that the stay-at-homes had no idea of the grim 
              realities of the front. As we have seen, Riverlea was hit early with the loss 
              of James Howie at Chunuk Bair. Thereafter almost all the main afflictions 
              of active service could be illustrated from the Riverlea ‘Our Own's’ news 
              of men from, or connected with, the district. There were plenty of woundings. Arthur Griffin, a local farmer with a large family, won the Military
              Medal but became a prisoner of war in 
Germany. At least six men were 
              reported killed in action. Here is a typical report:
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Pro Patria

            
It was with great regret that Riverlea people heard of the death in action of 
              Corporal Norman Raglan Knight. Corporal Knight lived here for some years, 
              during which time he was employed in the local factory, and during his 
              residence here made himself very popular with all who knew him. He was a 
              prominent member of the 
Kaponga Association Football Club and a keen 
              sport generally. Always a hard player, he evidently carried his dash with him 
              to 
France for during the great fighting in 
Flanders last year he was awarded 
              the Military Medal for gallantry in the field. Corp. Knight's parents, and 
              sisters and brother, who lived here for some time, and his wife, who was a 
              Riverlea lady, have the sincere and heartfelt sympathy of the people of this 
              district. (
Star, 4/5/18)

            


            
What chance had family members, relatives and friends back in Riverlea 
              of grasping the grim realities of experience that led to this culmination? 
              Surely they could not have done so from the carefully manipulated war 
              news, the censored letters home from the front, or the traditional 
              condolences from commanding officers? On the other hand, is it possible 
              that this massive body of experience could somehow be sanitised so that a 
              home public desperate to understand it could be kept in ignorance? The 
              presence of returned wounded in the Riverlea community would surely 
              have made this impossible. As early as November 1915 Private Burgess of 
              
Kaponga had returned wounded; he addressed 
Kaponga School on the first 
              Anzac Day in 1916. In August 1917 Gunner Franks of Riverlea returned 
              wounded having lost an arm. In March 1918 Riverlea welcomed home 
              Private Finnigan and Sergeant John Gardner. Gardner had been wounded 
              at 
Gallipoli, had had a spell sick in hospital in 
France, and died on 26 
              November 1918 of influenza. Two more Riverlea men, Frank Silby and 
              Edward Quinn, were welcomed home in June 1918.

8 The 
Star of 26 
              November 1918, reporting Quinn's death in the influenza epidemic, told 
              that

            
… He was an orphan boy who had lived with the Malone family of Riverlea. 
              Enlisting shortly after the outbreak of war, he got away with the Thirteenths, 
              and saw a long period of service. He had been wounded twice, gassed once, 
              and buried once during a bombardment. The last occasion was a miraculous 
              escape from death.

9

            
Clearly Quinn must have been prepared to talk about his experiences. 
              Even by inquiring only of their own district's returned wounded, the settlers 
              of this little outlying hamlet in the far reaches of the empire would have had 
              little difficulty in filling out the picture. Relating it all to their own battle 
              with the Taranaki mud, and the mishaps of their pioneering experience in 
              hunting, bushfelling, sawmilling and stump blasting, they were probably 
              much better able to visualise the western front than were the civilians of 
              Kent, within the sound of the guns.

            
Also, as Phillips, Boyack and Malone have shown us in their 
The Great 
                Adventure, there was some pretty frank reporting from New Zealand 
              servicemen, who had plenty of opportunities of circumventing the censors. 
              They quote (p. 
147) Leonard Hart writing home after the New Zealand 
              Division's most terrible day, at 
Passchendaele on 12 October 1917:

            
… our commander has since told us that no troops in the world could 
              possibly have taken the ridge under similar circumstances. Some ‘terrible 
              blunder’ has been made. Someone is responsible for that barbed wire not 
              having been broken up by our artillery. Someone is responsible for the 
              opening of our barrage in the midst of us instead of 150 yards ahead of us. 
              Someone else is responsible for those machine gun emplacement being left 
              practically intact, but the papers will all report another glorious success, and 
              no one except those who actually took part in it will know any different.

            


            
The editor of the 
Star must have had to fight his own war-weariness as 
              he sat down to write his leader for 23 October 1917. He had another of the 
              long 
Passchendaele casualty lists to print in the usual place, at the end of 
              the ‘Personal Items’ column. He had news items on the desperation of the 
              dairy industry as conscription, which had gone into effect in November 
              1916, bled away its already sadly depleted manpower. One column covered 
              a sitting of the Military Service Board, in progress in 
Hawera, at which the 
              dairy factories had told of the deterioration of their products as skilled men 
              were drained away. For many months his pages had carried news of this 
              deepening concern. In February, under the heading ‘Cheese or Men’, they 
              had told of a representative meeting of farmers called by the 
Egmont A & 
              P Association to consider the situation. From then on, as the farmers 
              steadily organised themselves to support key men in their appeals, and to 
              help run the farms of men in the forces, the government made it clear that 
              while in 
Britain food production was a national priority, in New Zealand 
              ‘men’ for overseas service came before ‘cheese’. The 
Kaponga Dairy Co 
              learnt this in May. Having already lost 20 men to the military it appealed 
              for its working manager and his first assistant, but was turned down.

10

            
A fortnight later 
Kaponga farmer Bernard Cleland told the board how 
              his family had been affected. A single man of 32, he was running 550 
              purebred Romney sheep on the 515-acre farm he owned in partnership with 
              his brother Arthur, who was in camp. Two other brothers had also been 
              called up, so he was leasing the 122 acres owned by brother Tom and looking after the 141-acre farm of a third brother. He lived with his widowed


              mother on her 192 acres on Manaia Road. The hard-headed board decided 
              against collapsing the entire affairs of the clan and spared Bernard. Before 
              the year was out his brother Tom had won the Military Medal in 
France 
              and early in 1918 was invalided home.

11 The burden on 
Kaponga's women 
              was also steadily growing and they were showing signs of wilting. ‘Our 
              Own’ (14/7/17) quoted the president of the Ladies' 
Red Cross Guild telling 
              the AGM that assistance from lady workers ‘had not been as hearty of late 
              as could have been wished and the circumstances warranted’.

            
It must have been with some idea of countering this growing war-weariness that the editor headed his leader ‘New Zealand's Sacrifice’ and
              referred to ‘the long casualty list received during the last few days’. He 
              reminded readers that ‘nearly a hundred thousand of the finest men to be 
              found anywhere in the world’ had sacrificed prospects and abandoned 
              homes and social ties to fight for ‘those things which are dearer to the British 
              mind than even life itself’. They go to battlefields that ‘hold in store most 
              frightful sights’. ‘The frightfulness of war,’ he commented, ‘could have no 
              attraction for any sane person’. Referring to the cable messages on the recent 
              action he remarked that ‘there appears to have been an unfortunate lack of 
              unity between the infantry and the artillery’ with the result that ‘our men 
              … suffered very heavily from the fire of the enemy's machine-guns’. In his 
              concluding comments he seemed mainly concerned with the morale of the
              


              district's women, remarking that ‘[Man] lacks the keen sense of loss when 
              death takes a son or a friend; but with women the case is different. Their 
              finer natures feel more keenly death's separation.’

            
For another long year conscription further savaged the district's 
              workforce as it moved on from single men to husbands and fathers. And 
              these were the months in which 
Kaponga was most deeply stunned with 
              grief. Nearly half of its war dead fell in 1918. At home in the year's closing 
              months the influenza epidemic struck further sickening blows. With its 
              doctor, W.E. Buist, himself a flu victim in 
Hawera Hospital the district 
              somehow struggled through what must surely have been its lowest hours. 
              Even the throbbing heart of the district's dairy industry, the co-op factory, 
              was brought to its knees. Dying on successive days of this ‘black November’ 
              were two of its employees, the young men Walker from Riverlea.

12 At the 
              AGM on 8 September 1919 chairman A. V. Tait told how hard the company 
              had been hit:

            
The whole of the staff was down, and it is believed that this company was the 
              only one that had to close down any of its factories. As a result, at the height 
              of the season a large quantity of milk was lost to the company altogether, and 
              what was left of a whole month's supply had to be sent to the Mangatoki 
              Dairy Company to be made into butter.

            
The amount of milk dealt with was down nearly one-fifth on the previous 
              season, and this together with the extra expenses of the epidemic, includ 
              ing paying full wages to sick men, had a savage effect on the year's 
              payout.
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Lament for a Lost Age

          
Had there been no world war, or only the short victorious war of their early 
            hopes, the folk of 
Kaponga might well have turned their thoughts at the end 
            of the decade to choosing a suitable anniversary date to celebrate their local 
            achievements and there might well have been some debate about what date 
            to choose. As we have seen, the first settlers moved quietly in over the 
            closing months of 1881, the township itself was put on sale in 1882 but 
            remained a paper township for years, and the school opened in June 1891. 
            Long years later 
Kaponga chose to celebrate its centenary of settlement in 
            1982 and its centenary of schooling in 1991. Sixty years earlier the idea of 
            commemorating 40 years of settlement or 30 years of schooling with the 
            surviving founder settlers does not seem to have occurred to anyone. 
            Instead, the great celebration of these years was a sharing with the empire 
            in a great ‘Victory Day’ on 19 July 1919. The 
Star (21/7/19) covered this 
            worldwide story at length.

          
Saturday will go down to history as ‘The Day’, as far as the children of 
            
Kaponga and surrounding districts are concerned. From 10 in the morning
            


            the fun and entertainment continued without a break until they were escorted 
            home to bed after seeing the bonfire and pictures, at 11.30 p.m. Shortly 
            before 10 lorries conveying the children from Riverlea, Awatuna, Rowan and 
            Makaka arrived at the Kaupokonui bridge, whence they were played up to 
            the 
Kaponga school by the Band. Here the procession was marshalled … 
            Just as [it] was about to move off, considerable amusement was caused by the 
            antics of the Darktown Fire Brigade, which galloped up to take its part in the 
            proceedings.

          
The motley procession set out for the town hall, headed by a Mexican 
            cowboy leading a band of painted Red Indians, followed by the 
Kaponga 
            Brass Band playing marches and patriotic airs. Next in succession were the 
            tank arranged by Newton King's 
Kaponga staff, an ambulance wagon with 
            patients and nurses, the Darktown Fire Brigade, a man-of-war drawn by 
            eight small Jack Tars, a piper to rejuvenate the Scots, tableaux in which each 
            of the district's schools represented one of the Allied nations, the 
Kaponga 
            Fire Brigade, decorated cars, and, bringing up the rear, hundreds of children 
            in fancy dress. At the town hall there were appropriate speeches and 
            ceremonies for the crowd of about 2000. The day was filled out with movies, 
            prizegivings and dancing in the hall, feasting in adjoining marquees, a fancy 
            dress football match and a torchlight procession.

          
With this cosmopolitan programme 
Kaponga shared in the worldwide 
            relief that the killing had ended. The long process of getting the ‘boys’ of 
            the first home-grown generation back from foreign fields was now well on 
            its way. They and their fallen comrades took the place of honour on this 
            occasion, not their settler pioneer parents. It was not the time to celebrate 
            the whole community's achievements in the humbler victories of peace. One 
            can imagine the objections any suggestion of a local anniversary celebration 
            would have met. With town and countryside bedraggled from the long years 
            of struggle the local scene was best kept in the background. Blackberry, 
            ragwort and other weeds that had got away must be tackled,

13 hedges 
            brought back under control, shabby buildings painted. Also the long 
            process of stumping and logging-up had faltered badly while the wealth of 
            
Kaponga and the muscles of its prime youth had been expended in lacing 
            and pock-marking far-distant fields with trenches, dugouts and shell holes. 
            So the Great War robbed the pioneers of any festival of recognition in the 
            early 1920s and its economic consequences were to rob them of any jubilee 
            in the early 1930s.

          
If the 1910s had not been marred by war, what fruition might 
Kaponga 
            have had to celebrate by the early 1920s? We have seen how, by the end of 
            1912, Fred Basham's tarsealing experiments had effectively solved the 
            formerly intractable road surfacing problem. In 1917 the 
Star (19/4/17) 
            printed the impressions of an old settler revisiting the district. He recorded 
            how, travelling from Eltham through 
Kaponga to visit his former home 
            district of Auroa

          


          
… I got the surprise of my life when I found that I was gliding along on 
            what seemed an indiarubber road, and a country road at that, for a distance of 
            about sixteen miles. But I found that the Eltham road was by no means the 
            only one that was laid down like it, as the Skeet road and Main South road 
            and a great many by-roads were just as good.

          
Even the war had not altogether halted the progress of the tarseal; a 
            decade of peace would surely have seen the district thoroughly networked 
            with these luxury roads. Over them would have flowed an increasing 
            volume of motor traffic, including lorries with timber and cement, and 
            perhaps even tarseal products, to upgrade the farm track networks and 
            milking sheds, and rescue daily life there too from the scourge of mud.

          
At the outbreak of war 
Kaponga was about to let contracts for a dam 
            and hydro-generation plant to supply the township with electricity. The 
            power was finally switched on in May 1916.

14 Had these been years of peace 
            electric power might well have spread widely across the countryside, easing 
            burdens in rural homes and powering a multiplying number of machines in 
            the milking sheds. With technology easing many rural tasks, time and 
            energy would have been released to speed up the clearing of the remaining 
            ugly vestiges of the bush burns. One can envisage a rapidly mellowing farm 
            landscape of neat pastures, maturing copses, well-trimmed hedges and 
            inviting homes and gardens, served by a thriving township.

          
The human story of the next decade also would have been very different 
            had not war slashed savagely across its continuity. While many did not 
            return from the killing fields, others, broken or unsettled by war, failed to 
            carry on local clan traditions. Some, like Jeremiah Crowley, having been 
            forced to sell their farms when called up, pursued careers elsewhere on their 
            return. The loss of an only son could take a whole family away. Palmer Road 
            farmer and Eltham county councillor David Black is a good example of this. 
            As a loyal citizen he responded, in the years before conscription, to 
            government urging that local bodies foster recruiting. As a result his only 
            son, Len, was hurried into volunteering by an anonymous white feather. 
            Helped by his three daughters David Black carried on his farm while 
            continuing to shoulder burdens in local affairs. In July 1918 Len Black was 
            killed in action in 
France. With no son to inherit, David sold the farm in 
            1919 and the family returned to 
Canterbury from whence they had come. 
            Thus, while Len's sisters maintained a lifelong interest in 
Kaponga, their 
            ongoing story was built into 
Christchurch networks.

          
The story of Samuel Signal, wheelwright in the township, is probably a 
            parallel one. His only son, William, was killed in 
France in October 1918. 
            Following the war Samuel sold his 
Kaponga business and the family 
            (including several daughters) followed an older married daughter to the 
            
Waikato.

15 There were, of course, other potent causes of a massive change 
            over in the district's farm ownership in the unsettled years following the 
            war. And the slashing of continuity extended into other spheres. 
Kaponga
            


            soccer, for example, did not resume for some years after 1918—too many 
            of its key enthusiasts had fallen in foreign fields.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

Two Worlds of ‘Tribalism’ and Parihaka's Lost Age



          
Two Worlds of ‘Tribalism’ and Parihaka's Lost Age

          
In June 1916 the 
Star carried a vigorous correspondence on the ‘problem’ 
            of the Swiss in Taranaki. It began with a letter from ‘A Britisher’, printed 
            under the heading ‘The Enemy Within Our Gate’. After commenting on 
            the great sacrifices so many of the country's young men had already 
            willingly made, and the recent introduction of compulsory service, 
            ‘Britisher’ continued:

          
This new law applies only to British subjects, and the consequence will be 
            that the farm lands will in many instances, and the artisan employment also, 
            pass into the hands of Swiss, or as I prefer to call them, aliens. They (the 
            Swiss) are becoming by far too numerous, and unless steps are taken to 
            prevent it, will ere a few years oust the British—who by national right and by 
            right of present-day conquest or preservation own the country-and become 
            firmly implanted in our nation and indelibly stamped in national affairs.

          
‘Britisher’ went on to express his concern at the way Swiss lived like 
            paupers to pile up money to buy up the best dairying land, and at the way 
            many well-to-do farmers were leasing their farms to them ‘at such 
            exorbitant rentals as to debar the New Zealander’. His punchlines concerned the attitude of these ‘aliens’ to the current conflict:

          
We educate alien people's children, and they are safeguarded and protected by 
            all our laws, and yet from time to time some of these same people hold 
            festivals and celebrations on the receipt of an enemy victory…. I need only 
            recall a very few occasions on which sprees have taken place in honor of the 
            occasion; the overthrow of 
Serbia, the Dardenelles withdrawal, the surrender 
            of General Townsend, and, most lately, the death of the Secretary of State for 
            War (Lord Kitchener).

          
‘A Britisher’ may well have been from 
Kaponga, the centre of Taranaki's 
            Swiss population. In any case the debate he initiated helped remind the 
            district's settlers that at least the French and Italian speaking Swiss were 
            friendly neutrals, and that a number of New Zealand Swiss were away on 
            active service. One striking aspect of the correspondence, and of the 
            editorial it occasioned, is the firm conviction by all involved of the 
            superiority of British traditions and of British settlers' absolute right to the 
            Taranaki lands through, as ‘Britisher’ put it, ‘present-day conquest or 
            preservation’. The thought does not seem to have occurred to anyone that 
            there might be some Maori rights involved, or that claiming Taranaki by 
            right of conquest was inconsistent with vilifying the Kaiser for seeking 
            similar rights elsewhere. Of course the actual occasion of New Zealand's 
            involvement in the war was 
Britain's fidelity to the Great Power guarantees
            


            to 
Belgium. New Zealanders were proud to share with 
Britain in her moral 
            high ground, for which the German Chancellor accused her of ‘going to war 
            over a scrap of paper’. But as 
Kaponga's first settlers moved onto their lands 
            in the spring of 1881, had not a New Zealand army marched a few miles 
            away to crush Parihaka, in contempt of another ‘scrap of paper’, the Treaty 
            of Waitangi?

          
Writing in 1996, with the 
Waitangi Tribunal's 
The Taranaki Report/ 
              Kaupapa Tuatahi fresh off the press, it is impossible to ignore the sadness 
            of Parihaka's lost age. All that Parihaka was asking for was the right, firmly 
            enshrined in the treaty, of continuing its remarkable success in adapting new 
            European ideas and technology to Maori social structures and values. As 
            the 
Taranaki Report puts it:

          
Parihaka is symbolic of autonomy—of the right of indigenous peoples to 
            maintain their society on their own terms and to develop, from mutual 
            respect, a peaceful relationship with the Government. That, in our view, is the 
            autonomy and relationship that Te Whiti of Parihaka sought to achieve. 
            Autonomy, under his direction, was synonmous with prosperity and peace. 
            (p. 
199)

          
Parihaka flourished by successfully marrying western civilisation and 
            Maori culture, and by fostering the growth of a pan-tribal community in 
            the region as the best way of repairing the ravages of the 1860s and facing 
            the uncertain future. But the settlers, conceited about their own ‘tribal’ 
            superiority, treated all this as an unacceptable threat to their own ‘rightful’ 
            dominance. In his definitive study of official attitudes towards the Maori 
            people in the 19th century, Alan Ward concludes that

          
… the colonisation of New Zealand, notwithstanding the Treaty of Waitangi 
            and humanitarian idealism, was substantially an imperial subjugation of a 
            native people, for the benefit of the conquering race in which the notions of 
            white supremacy and racial prejudice, familiar in other examples of 
            nineteenth-century European imperialism were very much in evidence.

16

          
These ‘notions of white supremacy and racial prejudice’ were what 
            shaped the underlying assumptions of ‘Britisher’ and his fellow corres 
            pondents, even while a devastating critique of such ideas was being provided 
            by the ghastly outworkings of European tribalism on the northern 
            battlefields. That man of peace, Te Whiti, had seen their folly years before.

          
A quarter of a century ago I wrote of the irony of that day in November 
            1881 when

          
Behind ‘honest John’ Bryce on his white horse came his troops, many of 
            them men but recently escaped from the servitude of the English countryside 
            … The down-trodden labourers who had crossed the oceans in search of a 
            plot of land to call their own and a fair reward for the sweat of their brows, 
            had so soon assumed the role of oppressors themselves…. The Parihaka
            


            affair was already heavy with irony before Te Whiti, that master of irony, sent 
            the singing children to meet the invaders and welcomed his foes with bread. 
            Men who had given their fervent ‘amens’ to Joseph Arch's stirring protests 
            helped to raze Parihaka, despoil the well-tended crops in the surrounding 
            fields and disperse the visiting tribesmen.

17

          
So our 
Kaponga settler story lies between the savaging of two dreams. 
            There is cause for honesty and humility here, but also for pride. Today both 
            Maori and Pakeha can respond to the vision of Parihaka as it shines brighter 
            with the passing years, and both can acknowledge the wisdom of the settler 
            determination that neither the world nor the south 
Pacific should be 
            reshaped in terms of the Kaiser's brand of German imperialism.
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The Maori Dimension

          
A Maori dimension to the 
Kaponga settler story has had little mention as 
            our story has unfolded because the sources provided too little material for 
            an ongoing treatment. The 
Kaponga settlers did not displace a Maori 
            population, for their bush lands had not been used as a Maori resource for 
            some decades. The land came to the settlers from the Crown, and few gave 
            thought to how the Crown had come by it. Most had had only a sparse 
            education, so their grasp of British history was limited, their knowledge of 
            New Zealand's past even more sketchy. They would have known little or 
            nothing of the Treaty of Waitangi, the origins of the New Zealand wars, or 
            the land confiscations. Their political and legal leaders treated the treaty as 
            ‘a simple nullity’

18 and had every reason to mask the dubious treatment 
            meted out to Taranaki Maori. Maori protest, expressed in the forms of an 
            alien culture, failed to penetrate the strong defences of settler prejudice.Y

          
Yet there were Maori inputs into 
Kaponga life. According to the 
            ‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’ the district's first active fungus gatherers were 
            Maori, leading to settler concern about trespass, later to rivalry for the crop, 
            and finally to at least one court case.

19 This was a friction mainly of the 
            1880s. As the settlement matured it began drawing on Maori labour for a 
            number of tasks, especially the weeding of crops, particularly carrots, and 
            the harvesting of cocksfoot.

20 This labour tended to come as a camping 
            community, and could involve considerable interaction with the local 
            settlers. Thus ‘Our Own’ (20/2/05) reported:

          
A large number of Maoris are camped on the outskirts of the town, grass 
            seeding etc. The Maori wahines are doing a large trade in ferns, kits, etc, 
            taking anything in exchange in the shape of ‘old’ clothes. Tonight they held a 
            poi dance at the encampment, a large number of townspeople going down to 
            see it.

          

Kaponga settlers would also be aware that Maori were successful 
            farmers in neighbouring districts. The 
Farmer's 
West Coast report of 
            February 1889 told of the well-kept fields of potatoes, wheat and oats of
            


            the Maori pa on Hastings Road, and Manaia's ‘Our Own’ (21/3/90) 
            reported that

          
… A very marked feature of the quantity of cropping in this district is the 
            large area put in by the Maoris. Just behind Manaia they have, besides 
            knocking out a number of stacks with their own horse-power machine, given 
            employment for a week to one of the largest steam threshers in the district. 
            The sight of a steam thresher owned by white men working for the Maoris is 
            unusual, and shows they are not wanting in enterprise. They already have 
            their own reapers and binders, and one of them told me to-day they should 
            buy a ‘teamer’ next year.

          
A further way in which 
Kaponga folk encountered Maori was through 
            sport. Thus in rugby over these years almost any game they played against 
            Manaia, Okaiawa or Patea teams would have seen them pitted against some 
            Maori players. They may also have met Maori at various other sporting and 
            social occasions. Maori and Pakeha are reported to have mingled at a Maori 
            dance at Okaiawa in April 1913,

21 and on 23 April 1914 a Maori team was 
            one of the six competing in the tug-of-war at the 
Kaponga athletic sports. 
            They won two rounds, but were unfortunate to be caught unprepared by 
            the ‘go’ in the final.
            

[image: Three-year-old Rona Chapman and her father, the Rev William Bramwell Scott, c.1910]

Three-year-old Rona Chapman and her father, the Rev William 
Bramwell Scott, c.1910


          

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Settler Kaponga 1881–1914 — A Frontier Fragment of the Western World

Belonging





          
Belonging

          
On 29 September 1993 we were privileged to interview Mrs Rona 
            Chapman

22 about her years in Edwardian 
Kaponga. She went there in April 
            1907 as the infant daughter of the Rev 
Bramwell Scott and his wife Alice 
            and left in April 1912 as a five-year-old with several months of schooling 
            behind her. The well-cherished early memories that she shared with us 
            showed clearly that their 
Kaponga years had been a high point in her 
            parents' experience—years of fulfilment and a deep ‘belonging’. They went 
            there in their early thirties, to 
Bramwell's first placement as a Methodist 
            circuit minister after six years as a home missionary. As the gifted first 
            minister of a new circuit he built strong bonds both with his congregation 
            and the wider community. Indeed our conversation with Rona showed that 
            the experience of these years gave all three members of this little family 
            friendships that they nurtured down the years, and a feeling that they would 
            always belong to the 
Kaponga story.

          
This study has convinced me that such life-long attachment resulting 
            from deep community involvement was the common experience of folk 
            who spent any length of time in settler 
Kaponga. We will conclude this 
            study by exploring some aspects of this deep sense of belonging. As an 
            historian seeking to get thoroughly to grips with the sources it soon became 
            clear to me that to ‘read’ what was going on one needed an awareness of 
            the depth of the intermingling of lives in this settler world. This meant 
            cultivating one's own ‘belonging’ as an observer of this vanished world. In 
            this I was greatly helped by my wife Betty's sense of belonging to 
Kaponga. 
            This is where she was born,

23 grew up and was schooled, and now, too, 
            where for her ‘the Auld Folk lie’. We have taken our children there down 
            the years to the family farm on lower Palmer Road and watched them spend 
            many happy summer hours in the favourite spots of her childhood along 
            the Kapuni River, which her grandparents

24 first saw when they took the 
            farm in 1913. With her 

Kaponga People as a resource tool and her constant 
            input as a consultant I have been able to become in some measure an 
            ‘insider’ of settler 
Kaponga.

          
In looking for some way of expressing the feel of this close-knit world 
            I came across Ken Dempsey's 
Smalltown.

25 Dempsey, a sociologist at La 
            Trobe University in 
Australia, made a 15-year study, beginning in the early 
            1970s, of a fairly prosperous farming district in north-west Victoria. His 
            methods, using a small team of assistants, included participant observation 
            with much systematic interviewing and a series of sociological surveys. 
            Although he was dealing with a different time period, and a community in 
            a different country with about three times the population of Edwardian 
            
Kaponga, the following quotations from his description of ‘belonging’ aptly 
            describe my understanding of settler 
Kaponga:

          
… most social ties and day-to-day activities of most members are bounded 
            by the immediate locality: work, play, shopping religious, kinship and
            


            friendship activity are all conducted in the one small physical setting. (p. 
7)

          
… walking or driving [folk] take their time moving around the town. 
            Drivers raise their hands in friendly gestures of recognition as they pass one 
            another. Walkers exchange greetings and … often stop to swap news or 
            gossip. (p. 
17)

          
[Locals] reason that in their community people's lives are public; their 
            position and worth are known. Pretence and masquerade cannot be sustained. 
            These characteristics promote honesty, fair play and personal integrity…. a 
            majority believe that they do not count the cost when fellow community 
            members are in difficulties. (pp. 
32–
33)

          
… many people who are neighbours also belong to the same 
            organizations, purchase their goods at the same shops, send their children to 
            the same schools, attend the same church to worship, play sport together and 
            so forth. So the same people keep coming across one another in a variety of 
            institutional contexts. (p. 
95)

          
… there [are] many parts to play and few players to perform them … 
            Living [here] is in some senses, akin to being a member of an amateur 
            theatrical group. Because of a shortage of performers the man selling tickets 
            also works the spotlights and sells drinks at interval… (p. 
98)

          
One can say of these descriptions, ‘Yes, that is true of settler 
Kaponga 
            from the 1890s on, only more so.’ In their smaller and more primitive world 
            
Kaponga folk were even more closely bonded. They, for example, had but 
            one pub, Smalltown had six; 
Kaponga had only one school system, 
            Smalltown had both a government and a Catholic one, and so on. Also, 
            neither the automobile nor the audio-visual media had as yet seriously 
            ‘diluted’ 
Kaponga's local provisions and initiatives.

          
Much of the outworking of this closely bonded ‘belonging’ has been 
            evident as our story unfolded, but several aspects call for comment before 
            we conclude. For instance the historian senses that some individuals had an 
            influence in this small world far beyond their appearance in the public 
            record. An example would be Robert Gibson who, from increasing deaf 
            ness, appears less and less in public discussions, but whom one senses to 
            have had considerable influence on many decisions. One senses, too, antip 
            athies that were perennially present but usually controlled by the overruling 
            spirit of mutual belonging. One such, affecting two of the community's 
            most prominent leaders, was between F.W. Wilkie with his liberal, modernising outlook and the markedly conservative William Swadling. As we have


            given a number of examples of Wilkie's outlook but little that shows 
            Swadling's romantic conservatism, we will illustrate it from the remin 
            iscences of Winifred Davies. When she was a girl of nine her family took 
            over Swadling's farm following his death. She writes of him:

          
He was a traditional English farmer and had planted cowslips and primroses, 
            buttercups and daisies and bluebells through the little stand of native bush on 
            the farm. There was a cottage just behind the homestead most likely built to
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Nurse Mary Ann Gullery with the first male baby born at her 
Kaponga nursing home, c. 1908


            accommodate a typical farm worker (English of course)…. There were a 
            number of things that were different about that farm. One was the cowshed 
            which had been built after the style of the English sheds where they have to 
            house their stock in winter. Bails along both sides well back from the walls, 
            with room in front for feed boxes and water tubs. Upstairs was a large airy 
            attie with space at the sides so that hay or meal or whatever could be forked 
            or fed into the feed boxes below. There was room to house about forty cows 
            I think. It was definitely not a mod. cowshed by New Zealand standards, 
            even in those days.

26

          
We have seen the bitter clash between Swadling and Wilkie in 1905 
            during the typhoid crisis. It is obvious that the community valued both men 
            and was able to use their diverse visions and leadership talents. This would 
            have required some tact and skill from all involved.

          
That Swadling was not averse to all modern developments is shown by 
            his adopting the new gramophone. 
Kaponga will have been prompted to 
            consider the gramophone by its popularity in another world of belonging 
            beginning to flourish in the Old World, that of suburbia. 
Kaponga 
            belonging will have taken some of its style and colour from this developing 
            world of the English middle class, described thus by Ronald Pearsall in his 
            
Edwardian Life and Leisure:

          


          
Suburban cultural life was replete with operatic and dramatic societies, 
            madrigal singing, and folk song; suburban sports were golf, cricket and tennis. 
            The suburbanites adored the gramophone and phonograph … The more 
            class-conscious changed for dinner … The houses were too small to boast a 
            billiards room, and apart from card games the favourite indoor sport was 
            ping-pong, yet to be christened table-tennis.

27

          
One's insider's feeling for settler 
Kaponga is, of course, not without its 
            blind spots. We have seen how deficient our sources are in enlightening us 
            about women's lives. So I have not been able to meet a strong wish of my 
            Betty's that we should have a good treatment of midwives and childbirth. 
            We know the names of eight women who acted as midwives, but little about 
            their work.

28 We know that around the turn of the century Nurse Mary Ann 
            Gullery opened a nursing home in 
Kaponga and that many of the births 
            over the following years took place there. Nurse Gullery did not register as 
            a midwife when this became a requirement in 1904, but she continued her 
            home in association with the local doctors. We know that the Gullery clan's 
            New Zealand story began in Picton, from where there were migrations to 
            
Wanganui and south Taranaki. We do not know how Mary Ann fits into 
            this migration story, nor anything of of her earlier and later career. With this 
            confession of ignorance we will let her strong caring face speak for itself as 
            the close to this book.
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Appendix 1


          Biographical Notes

        

Astbury, David Abbot Lyon (1865–1952). B. 
Edinburgh; assisted immig. 
          (nominated), arriv. Nelson July 1876 with his widowed mother, a school-mistress from 
Edinburgh; family shifted to Manawatu where he mar. 
Mary
            née Roberts of 
Palmerston North; took land at Mahoe 1888, moved to 
          Eltham Rd 1912; served 12 years on Stratford County Council; stood 
          unsuccessfully for Parliament several times.

        

Barleyman, Willoughby John (c. 1861–1912). B. 
Blenheim; ed. Nelson 
          College; worked briefly for Customs Dept, then at his father's large flaxmill 
          interests in the Manawatu; on sale of these mills family moved to Taranaki 
          and he bought his Rowan Rd section in Dec. 1881; mar. 1887 
Catherine 
            (‘Kate’) née Somers (c 1870–1955), b. County Kerry, arriv. NZ 1883.

        


Betts, Charles Edward (1868–1947). B. Brighton, Kent; arriv. 
Canterbury 
          April 1874, assisted immig. by 
Rakaia; educ. & farmed experience in 
          
Canterbury; farming at Okaiawa before starting seed business at 
Kaponga 
          1900; later a 
Kaponga garage owner; mar. 1908 
Hilda Habgood née Hollard 
          (1882–1963).

        


Campbell, Robert Henry. B. Ireland; arriv. NZ 1870; farming and farm 
          contracting in 
Canterbury; to Parihaka 1882 with govt contract to convey 
          troops and Maori prisoners; conducted hotels in 
Greymouth, 
Hawera, 
          Woodville & 
New Plymouth; took over Commercial Hotel, 
Kaponga, Aug. 
          1903; left 
Kaponga mid-1906; wife 
Florrie (?-1904).

        


Canning, Frank Stephen (c. 1841–1921). Arriv. 
Dunedin 1858; Otago career 
          included carpentery, journalism and business ventures, also active in public 
          affairs; to 
Kaponga 1892, shifted to 
Normanby 1895; mar. 
Jessie née 
            McMaster of Saddle Hill; survived by 12 children.

        

Childs, Thomas (1865-?). B. 
London; arriv. NZ 1876 with parents in 
          
Christchurch; entered govt telegraph service, then joined his brother at 
          blacksmithing; two years in 
Sydney; returned and took over his brother's
          


          
Christchurch business; sold out and moved to 
Kaponga; sold his 
Kaponga 
          business on acquiring the Albion Hotel, Patea; later owned Palmerston 
          North's Commercial Hotel.

        

Cleland, Catherine née Burt (c. 1849–1941). Widow of Robert Cleland 
          (c. 1851–1893). In 1893 Robert, a well-to-do 
Lower Hutt grocer, led a family 
          migration to Taranaki, intending to farm at Toko. He soon decided to shift 
          to 
Kaponga on account of the poor roads to Toko, but died suddenly before 
          making the move. Catherine then led her family of two daughters and seven 
          sons, the oldest being Harold (
q.v.), to take possession of the farm on Upper 
          Manaia Road. She saw all of her sons established on farms, six in Taranaki, 
          one in the 
Waikato. She herself continued farming on Palmer Rd.

        


Cleland, Harold William (c. 1873-?). Came from 
Lower Hutt c. 1894 with 
          his widowed mother Catherine Cleland (
q.v.); mar. 1905 
Vida Maud née 
            Anderson (c. 1884-?); after farming on Opunake Rd he took a farm on 
          Gordon Rd, Toko.

        


Coxhead, Arthur. Came with wife and family from 
Dunedin to Taranaki 
          in 1891; took up his Palmer Rd property May 1892; moved to Tahora near 
          Whangamomona 1901; member Taranaki Land Board 1913–16; moved to 
          the 
Waikato 1916.

        

Crowley, Daniel (c. 1851–84) and 
Hannah née Bourke (c. 1853–1930). Both 
          b. County Cork; Daniel to Otago and 
West Coast gold fields; met Hannah 
          at Reefton; mar. 
Wanganui, 1881.

        

Davy, Henry Whitworth (?-1942). Bought 
Kaponga land 1882–84 in 
          partnership with 
Yorkshire immig. J.H. Bentley, whom he bought out a year 
          or two later; mar. 
Agnes née Hutchinson of Skeet Rd, Kapuni, Aug. 1887; 
          left 
Kaponga for Feilding Dec. 1892; back at Kapuni as a storekeeper by 
          1902; by 1910 a grain and coal merchant, first in 
Hawera and by 1920 in 
          
Wanganui; later a grocer's assistant in 
New Plymouth.

        

Dingle, Richard (1851–1930). B. 
New Plymouth; mounted volunteer in the 
          land wars; contracting near 
Hawera in 1870s; ‘father of Methodism’ in 
          
Hawera early 1880s; took land on Waimate Plains; moved to Rowan 1888; 
          to Stratford 1900; wife 
Hannah.

        


Fitzgerald, Daniel (1835–1922). B. Rossmore, County 
Tipperary; at 19 
          years to Ballarat gold fields, then to NZ gold fields, first Otago, then West 
          Coast; mar. 1889 
Mary née Power (1854–1938), b. Bansha, County 
          
Tipperary, who came to NZ aged 14; 
Kaponga district's first RC mass 
          celebrated in their home; in 1894 moved from Neill Rd to a farm in 
          
Kaponga; bought more land on Palmer Rd in 1900.

        


        


Fitzgerald, Maurice (1856–1941). B. Rathmore, County Kerry; arriv. 
          
Canterbury by 
Hereford 1878 as a 21-year-old assisted immig. farm 
          labourer; met at Rangiora his future wife 
Julia Patricia née Whyte (1855–1932), b. Kyle, Cloughjordon, County 
Tipperary and arriv. NZ 1877 by 
          
Cardigan Castle; mar. 
Hawera Jan. 1883. In the 
Waikato the family settled at Mangaiti.

        


Frethey, John Henry (1866–1932). B. 
Lower Hutt, educated there and 
          brought up to farming; to 
Kaponga 1886 when his father, Thomas Frethey, 
          bought land there; mar. 
Ellen Maude née Hollard; sold his farm 1908 and 
          moved to 
New Plymouth, where he and Ellen established private gardens 
          at Frankleigh Park.

        


Gapper, Frederick John Ernest (1868-?). B. Nelson; had business 
          experience in Nelson district and for five years in 
Sydney; came to 
Kaponga 
          c. 1894; worked first as a storeman; mar. 
Lillian née Mellow, daughter of 
          R.T.B. Mellow; 1904 bought W. Gruar's store; emig. to 
Sydney 1909.

        


Gibson, Robert (1849–1931). B. 
Edinburgh, Scotland; served gardener's 
          apprenticeship on several Scottish and English estates; mar. 
Barbara née 
            Wilson 1876; arriv. NZ 1878, Barbara followed 1882; farmed 20 miles up 
          
Wanganui River for about seven years, then moved to Riverlea. Left a 
          bequest of £5000 and a farm property to the Methodist Church for a boys' 
          orphanage in south Taranaki.

        


Grace, Allan (1860–1932). Arriv. NZ from England as an infant 1860; lived 
          successively in 
Wellington and near Sanson, where his father was an original 
          settler of the Sandon Small Settlement Block; took his land on Rowan Rd 
          c. 1890; mar. 
Annie Eliza née 
Fairhall of Wakefield, Nelson; office-holder 
          (synodsman, warden, lay reader) of St Mark's 1897–1925; retired to New 
          
Plymouth 1925, where he was active at St Mary's.

        


Guy, Alfred Henry (c. 1878–1965). B. 
Normanby; ed. Opunake and New 
          
Plymouth; worked as blacksmith in 
Dunedin, 
Canterbury, 
Wellington, Opunake, Otakeho, 
Hawera; bought 
Kaponga smithy and wheelwright business 
          in 1902; mar. 
Mabel née Pepperell; made a JP 1911; left 
Kaponga 1920.

        

Harwood, J.L. To 
Kaponga c. 1893, probably from Otago; left 
Kaponga 
          1902 for Stratford, where he was in business for some years; later a grocer 
          in Picton; from c. 1922 till mid-1930s a grocer in the Square, Palmerston 
          North; wife 
Mary.

        


Hayes, James (c. 1844–1890). Arriv. 
Wellington Apr. 1874 by 
Euterpe, 
          assisted immig. general labourer from County Carlow, with wife 
Catherine 
            née Curran (c. 1845) and three children (Mary 9, Joseph 8, John 7).

        


        


Hemingway, George. From Scotland; active in local affairs; family returned 
          to Scotland 1899; George revisited 
Kaponga1911; wife Jessie.

        


Hobbs, Alfred Samuel (1831–1913). B. Swan Port, 
Tasmania, third son of 
          Commodore James Hobbs; mar. 1863 
Mary Ann Lura née Low (1839– 
          1912) of Hobart, b. 
London, daughter of first principal of Boys' School, 
          Hobart; farmed in Victoria till 1877, then emig. to NZ; had a native lease at 
          Meremere, east of 
Hawera, before moving to Palmer Rd c. 1893.

        

Howitt, William King (1868–1956). B. Okato, son of a military settler; 
          family moved to Patea where he learned baker's trade with his father; 14-month trip to Scotland and England c. 1889, again to Scotland in late 1890s; 
          postmaster, Cromar, Aberdeenshire, 1899 and Cromar town councillor 
          1900–03; mar. 
Jessie Skinner née Souter 1897; had store and bakery at 
          Awatuna East 1904–9; to 
Auckland 1909, where he served on local bodies, 
          inc. Hospital Board 1920–41; published three books (see 
Bibliography).

        


Hughes, Daniel J. (1845–1916). B. County 
Tipperary; emig. to Victoria 
          c. 1861; crossed to 
West Coast gold fields; moved to 
Wanganui, then Patea; 
          took part in war with 
Titokowaru; mar. 
Miss Ward at Patea in 1868; 10 
          children.

        

Hutchinson, William Seward (1831–95). B. Windermere, Westmorland; 
          mar. 1857 
Mary née Mounsey (1838–1904) of Windermere; arriv. 
Auckland 
          by 
British Empire Feb. 1880; took land to farm near Mercer, it proved so 
          worthless that he turned to teaching the local school; after five years moved 
          to 
New Plymouth and then to 
Kaponga, having learnt of the quality of the 
          land from their surveyor son 
Robert, who was with H.M. Skeet's survey 
          party in the district. Though the family had stronger links with Kapuni than 
          
Kaponga their daughter 
Agnes married H.W. Davy (
q.v.) and their inventive 
          sons 
William and 
George Fell contributed widely to south Taranaki 
          through their skills in technology.

        

Law, Robert (c. 1858–1934). B. Scurdague, Scotland; arriv. NZ 1881 with his 
          wife 
Isabella née McDonald (c. 1859–1932); settled at Waverley and later at 
          
Hawera where he owned land by 1882; to 
Kaponga 1894; a supplier of the 
          Mangatoki Dairy Co, of which he was a director for 25 years.

        

Maclagan, David Whiteside, MB, ChB (Edin.), MRCP (Edin.) (1875-?). B. 
          Leith; ed. 
Edinburgh Academy; Feb. 1911 left 
Kaponga for England, where 
          he trained for the Anglican ministry, ordained in 1913; served in RAMC 
          1915–19; Vicar of St George's, Claines, Worcester from 1928 till retirement 
          in 1946; Rural Dean of Worcester 1937–44; wife 
Alice Mary.

        


        

MacLean, Charles (1854–1936). B. Nova Scotia; emig. to Waiapu 1855; 
          trader in vessels in south seas; took to teaching after a mast accident; moved 
          to Waitoa School, 
Te Aroha 1904; retired from Waitoa 1921; d. 
Auckland; 
          wife 
Isabella.

        

Matheson, Peter. Pupil-teacher at Waitotara in 1892; Nov. 1913 left 
          
Kaponga to work with an Opunake carrying company; 1921 farming near 
          Hamilton; wife 
Helen Janet.

        

Mellow, Richard Thomas Best (c. 1850–1923) and 
Hannah née Earp 
          (c. 1857–1929). Farmed for years in Hutt Valley; 1896 moved to 
Kaponga, 
          where they spent rest of their lives; 13 children.

        

Melville, George (c. 1845–1919). Arriv. NZ Aug. 1874 by 
Strathnaver, 
          assisted immig, pit sawyer from Middlesex; mar. 
Johanna née Bolger 1887; 
          nominated other family members to NZ.

        


Melville, John (c. 1840–1899) and 
Sarah Emma (c. 1841–1905). John arriv. 
          NZ 1883 by 
Westland, assisted immig, carpenter from Middlesex, with wife 
          and three of their 22 children (Herbert 11, Emma 10, Ada 6); one daughter 
          stayed in England; over time most of the others emigrated to New Zealand, 
          initially to 
Kaponga district.

        


Moller, Wilhelm Wiggo (1864–1953). B. 
Denmark; arriv. NZ 1884; varied 
          career H.B. & N. Wairarapa, inc. bush settler and carrier; mar. 
Helen 
            Dorothea née Jepson 1889; to south Taranaki c. 1899; farmed at Makaka for 
          a year or two, then became carrier; sold carrying business and went farming 
          at Otakeho 1912; later farmed at Okato and Rawhitiroa; retired to Eltham 
          c. 1947.

        


Palmer, Robert. Before coming to south Taranaki had had 20 years' 
          sawmilling experience, Hokitika and the Manawatu; left sawmilling in 1897 
          to take over Commercial Hotel, Stratford.

        


Prestidge, Joel (c. 1850–1941). B. Morton Pinkey, Northamptonshire; arriv. 
          Nelson as five-year-old; worked with his father at Moutere; mar. 
Charlotte 
            Gibbs (1855–1910) at Wakefield 1876; moved to Taranaki. He remarried in 
          1915 to 
Mabel Jane Glen (1884–1965) and ran a small farmlet in 
Hawera; 
          five children. On his 90th birthday Joel had 68 grandchildren and 18 great-grandchildren.

        

Robertson, John. Came to 
Kaponga c. 1893; mar. 
Emily née Crabbe Feb. 
          1897; moved to 
Gisborne 1908; lived in 
Wanganui from c. 1913 to his death 
          in March 1922.

        


        

Scott, William 
Bramwell (1873–1935). B. 
Thames; Methodist Home 
          Missionary 1901–07, at Waitekauri, 
Amberley and Havelock; mar. Apr. 1903 
          
Alice May née Noakes (1875–1964); ordained 1911; church appointments 
          after 
Kaponga were Aramoho 1912–15, Springston 1915–18, chaplain with 
          Exped. Force 1918–19, 
Kaiapoi 1920–25, Cargill Rd 
Dunedin 1925–29, 
          Waimate 1929–32, 
Wellington South 1932 to his death in Mar. 1935.

        


Sorensen, Carl W. B. 
Denmark; introd. Danish dairying methods and 
          appliances to NZ; in govt employ 1891–92; left to run a dairy factory on 
          Manaia Rd, 1893–95; resumed govt employ 1895–98.

        


Swadling, William (1859–1912). B. Bix, Oxfordshire; arriv. 
Wellington 1879 
          farm labourer assisted immig. by the 
Hudson; worked in Manawatu and 
          Rangitikei before settling at 
Kaponga; mother 
Elizabeth Swadling, sisters 
          
Emma and 
Alice and brother 
Frederick followed him to Taranaki as assisted 
          immig. in 1883; mar. 
Sarah Geraldine née Limbrick of Awatuna Dec. 1894.

        


Tait, Charles (?-1910), (known as ‘Scope’ Tait). B. 
London; to 
Australia 
          1845, a time at the Bendigo diggings; arriv. NZ 1857, Nelson and 
West Coast 
          diggings; took land 
Hawera c. 1870; to Manaia c 1881, sawmilling three years 
          then farming; mar. widow 

Elizabeth Mary Massana; seven sons, one 
          daughter.

        


Tindle, George (c. 1864–1934). To NZ by 
Tainui 1887; JP from 1898; left 
          
Kaponga c. 1900 to be auctioneer in Opunake, county clerk at Manaia, then 
          secretary of Taranaki Co-op Dairy Co; spent his last 25 years in Hamilton; 
          wife 
Agnes.

        


Wilkie, Frederick William (1865–1958). Son of John and Elizabeth Wilkie 
          of 
Greytown and later 
New Plymouth; at 16 left the 
Greytown home to go 
          shearing; to 
Kaponga by 1883; 1916 moved to 
Rotorua, having bought land 
          at Ohiwa Harbour; mar. 1920 
Beatrice Maud Chong (daughter. of Chew 
          Chong); president 
Rotorua Golf Club 20 years.
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Appendix 2


          Population Estimates for the 
Kaponga District, 1886–1916

        

          
(Note that we have defined the 
Kaponga District as bounded by the farms 
          along the Mangawhero Road to the west and the Palmer Road to the east, 
          with northern and southern boundaries provided by Mt 
Egmont and the 
          Te Roti—Opunake railway.)

          
Not until 1916 did the census assign the population to localities. In earlier 
          census reports the only local figures are those for roads, broken down only 
          by county boundaries. As most of our District's roads also ran far beyond 
          its boundaries, these figures are of very limited use to us. The approach 
          taken here is first to estimate the population at the time of the 23 March 
          1886 census by building up a person-by-person list of folk known to have 
          settled there by that date; next to endeavour to deduce the population at 
          the 1916 census by manipulating its ‘locality’ figures; and finally to suggest 
          a means of arriving at some estimates between these two dates.

        

        

          
(1) Population in March 1886

          
By collating information from many sources it has been established that the 
            following are likely to have been residing in the District at the 1886 census:

          

Bachelors on DP sections: Robert & 
William Coxhead; W. Dingle; E.J., 
            W.A. & L.C. Ellerm; J. Kearin & brother; 
Stephen Kissick; 
John Mackie; G. 
            Sullivan; William & Frederick Swadling; 
Thomas Tapp; G. Wilson. (Total 15)

          

Bachelors on cash-sale sections: H.W. Davy; Daniel Fitzgerald; Harry & 
            
George Parkes; 
George Roots; F.W. Wilkie; Thomas Frethey Jnr; John & 
            Frederick Frethey. (Total 9)

          

Married couples and families on DP sections: Maurice & Julia Fitzgerald; 
            James & Catherine Hayes & family (7); George Hanna McKenzie, wife, two 
            sons & a daughter (5); Charles Tait, wife & six children. (8); 
William Ure, 
            wife & two children (4). (Total 26)

          

Married couples and families on cash-sale sections: George & Amelia 
            Barton & two children (4); John & 
Sarah Emma Melville & clan (10); Joel 
            Prestidge, wife & four children (6); Robert & Elizabeth Smith & two 
            children (4). (Total 24)

          


          

Folk not connected with land purchases. 
Alfred Muir; Harry Robinson, 
            wife & two children; 
Oliver L. Robinson, wife & three children. (Total 10)

          
From a fairly conservative use of a fairly wide-meshed net, this gives a 
            total of 84 people. No bridge-building contracts were under way at the time, 
            nor was it either grass seed harvest or bushfelling season, so there would 
            have been few itinerant workers about. But there could have been some, 
            either house building for settlers, or on small specialised contracts for the 
            Road Board (such as putting in culverts—less specialised work would have 
            been taken by local settlers). Allowing for a few such itinerants and for such 
            possibilities as that we have missed one or two settlers, that some cash 
            buyers may have made arrangements that put men on their land, and that 
            some settlers may have had relatives with them of whom we have no 
            knowledge, it is probably safe to raise our population figure to, say, 95.

        

        

          
(2) Population at census of 15 October 1916

          
Deducing our District's population involves some manipulating of the 
            figures for outlying localities. Undoubtedly within our defined District are 
            
Kaponga town district, 397; 
Kaponga (vicinity), 304; and Rowan, 98. A 
            family or two of Riverlea's 134 in the Eltham County will have been outside 
            our District, to the west along Eltham Road so we will reduce the figure to 
            120. All Riverlea's 35 Waimate West folk will have been within the 
            boundaries. Kapuni's figures show 49 in Eltham County and 399 in Waimate 
            West. Many of these will have been on the lower sections of Mangawhero, 
            Rowan and Palmer roads, and on Manaia Road between Kapuni and 
            
Kaponga, and so come within the District. (For these folk we treat Kapuni 
            as an outlier of 
Kaponga, for those on or south of Skeet Road as an outlier 
            of Manaia.) We will take one-third of these figures, i.e. 149, as belonging to 
            
Kaponga District. We have a similar situation with Mahoe (22 in Eltham 
            County, 176 in Stratford County). We estimate that half of these would be 
            folk on upper Palmer Road and on Opunake Road west of Mahoe, and so 
            credit our District with 99. This gives a total of 1202.

        

        

          
(3) Filling in the years between 1886 and 1916

          
After exploring various possibilities, the one viable way of getting some 
            population estimates for dates between 1886 and 1916 has proved to be 
            extrapolating from polling booth returns at general elections. We will not 
            go into all the intricacies involved in checking out this approach, but outline 
            the method as applied to one example.

        

        

          
General Election of 10 December 1914

          
The returns for the relevant booths were: 
Kaponga, 330; Riverlea, 114; 
            Rowan, 48; Mahoe, 89; Kapuni, 177. Taking one-third of the Kapuni figures 
            and half of the Mahoe ones as belonging to our District, this gives us 595
            


            votes. Votes in the 
Egmont electorate totalled 5618, which represented 47.94 
            per cent of its 1911 population of 11,718. Treating the 
Kaponga District as 
            a true sample of the electorate, and for simplicity treating the two small 
            Stratford electorate booths of Rowan and Mahoe as if they were in 
Egmont, 
            we come up with a population figure of 1241 for our District. This is close 
            enough to our 1202 figure for the 1916 census to suggest that this approach 
            is a reasonable way of getting rough estimates of the population. Similarly, 
            when the approach was applied to the general election of 26 September 1887 
            it gave a 
Kaponga District figure of 126. This seems very reasonable in 
            relation to our March 1886 ‘round-up’ estimate of 95, when a further 18 
            months of immigration and natural growth is taken into account.

          
An examination of the available information from the various general 
            elections shows that some cannot be used for this purpose. Thus at the 
            election of 25 November 1902 the booth at little Riverlea took 231 votes 
            whereas 
Kaponga's booth took only 80. Obviously there was some unusual 
            activity at Riverlea that day, though there is nothing in the press to indicate 
            what it was. However, it may well have drawn many voters there from 
            outside our District, so this election must be discarded for our purposes. 
            The information for the 7 December 1911 general election is vitiated by the 
            fact that no records can be traced for the Mahoe and Rowan booths. 
            However, suitable figures for the mid-1890s and 1900s are available so we 
            can roughly track the population at 10-year intervals as follows:


            

              

                
	1886 (March)
                
	95
              

              

                
	1896 (based on 4 Dec. gen. elect.)
                
	647
              

              

                
	1905 (based on 6 Dec. gen. elect.)
                
	975
              

              

                
	1916 (based on 15 Oct. census)
                
	1277
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(Note that we have defined the 
Kaponga District as bounded by the farms 
          along the Mangawhero Road to the west and the Palmer Road to the east, 
          with northern and southern boundaries provided by Mt 
Egmont and the 
          Te Roti—Opunake railway.)

          
Not until 1916 did the census assign the population to localities. In earlier 
          census reports the only local figures are those for roads, broken down only 
          by county boundaries. As most of our District's roads also ran far beyond 
          its boundaries, these figures are of very limited use to us. The approach 
          taken here is first to estimate the population at the time of the 23 March 
          1886 census by building up a person-by-person list of folk known to have 
          settled there by that date; next to endeavour to deduce the population at 
          the 1916 census by manipulating its ‘locality’ figures; and finally to suggest 
          a means of arriving at some estimates between these two dates.
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(1) Population in March 1886

          
By collating information from many sources it has been established that the 
            following are likely to have been residing in the District at the 1886 census:

          

Bachelors on DP sections: Robert & 
William Coxhead; W. Dingle; E.J., 
            W.A. & L.C. Ellerm; J. Kearin & brother; 
Stephen Kissick; 
John Mackie; G. 
            Sullivan; William & Frederick Swadling; 
Thomas Tapp; G. Wilson. (Total 15)

          

Bachelors on cash-sale sections: H.W. Davy; Daniel Fitzgerald; Harry & 
            
George Parkes; 
George Roots; F.W. Wilkie; Thomas Frethey Jnr; John & 
            Frederick Frethey. (Total 9)

          

Married couples and families on DP sections: Maurice & Julia Fitzgerald; 
            James & Catherine Hayes & family (7); George Hanna McKenzie, wife, two 
            sons & a daughter (5); Charles Tait, wife & six children. (8); 
William Ure, 
            wife & two children (4). (Total 26)

          

Married couples and families on cash-sale sections: George & Amelia 
            Barton & two children (4); John & 
Sarah Emma Melville & clan (10); Joel 
            Prestidge, wife & four children (6); Robert & Elizabeth Smith & two 
            children (4). (Total 24)

          


          

Folk not connected with land purchases. 
Alfred Muir; Harry Robinson, 
            wife & two children; 
Oliver L. Robinson, wife & three children. (Total 10)

          
From a fairly conservative use of a fairly wide-meshed net, this gives a 
            total of 84 people. No bridge-building contracts were under way at the time, 
            nor was it either grass seed harvest or bushfelling season, so there would 
            have been few itinerant workers about. But there could have been some, 
            either house building for settlers, or on small specialised contracts for the 
            Road Board (such as putting in culverts—less specialised work would have 
            been taken by local settlers). Allowing for a few such itinerants and for such 
            possibilities as that we have missed one or two settlers, that some cash 
            buyers may have made arrangements that put men on their land, and that 
            some settlers may have had relatives with them of whom we have no 
            knowledge, it is probably safe to raise our population figure to, say, 95.
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(2) Population at census of 15 October 1916

          
Deducing our District's population involves some manipulating of the 
            figures for outlying localities. Undoubtedly within our defined District are 
            
Kaponga town district, 397; 
Kaponga (vicinity), 304; and Rowan, 98. A 
            family or two of Riverlea's 134 in the Eltham County will have been outside 
            our District, to the west along Eltham Road so we will reduce the figure to 
            120. All Riverlea's 35 Waimate West folk will have been within the 
            boundaries. Kapuni's figures show 49 in Eltham County and 399 in Waimate 
            West. Many of these will have been on the lower sections of Mangawhero, 
            Rowan and Palmer roads, and on Manaia Road between Kapuni and 
            
Kaponga, and so come within the District. (For these folk we treat Kapuni 
            as an outlier of 
Kaponga, for those on or south of Skeet Road as an outlier 
            of Manaia.) We will take one-third of these figures, i.e. 149, as belonging to 
            
Kaponga District. We have a similar situation with Mahoe (22 in Eltham 
            County, 176 in Stratford County). We estimate that half of these would be 
            folk on upper Palmer Road and on Opunake Road west of Mahoe, and so 
            credit our District with 99. This gives a total of 1202.
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(3) Filling in the years between 1886 and 1916

          
After exploring various possibilities, the one viable way of getting some 
            population estimates for dates between 1886 and 1916 has proved to be 
            extrapolating from polling booth returns at general elections. We will not 
            go into all the intricacies involved in checking out this approach, but outline 
            the method as applied to one example.
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General Election of 10 December 1914

          
The returns for the relevant booths were: 
Kaponga, 330; Riverlea, 114; 
            Rowan, 48; Mahoe, 89; Kapuni, 177. Taking one-third of the Kapuni figures 
            and half of the Mahoe ones as belonging to our District, this gives us 595
            


            votes. Votes in the 
Egmont electorate totalled 5618, which represented 47.94 
            per cent of its 1911 population of 11,718. Treating the 
Kaponga District as 
            a true sample of the electorate, and for simplicity treating the two small 
            Stratford electorate booths of Rowan and Mahoe as if they were in 
Egmont, 
            we come up with a population figure of 1241 for our District. This is close 
            enough to our 1202 figure for the 1916 census to suggest that this approach 
            is a reasonable way of getting rough estimates of the population. Similarly, 
            when the approach was applied to the general election of 26 September 1887 
            it gave a 
Kaponga District figure of 126. This seems very reasonable in 
            relation to our March 1886 ‘round-up’ estimate of 95, when a further 18 
            months of immigration and natural growth is taken into account.

          
An examination of the available information from the various general 
            elections shows that some cannot be used for this purpose. Thus at the 
            election of 25 November 1902 the booth at little Riverlea took 231 votes 
            whereas 
Kaponga's booth took only 80. Obviously there was some unusual 
            activity at Riverlea that day, though there is nothing in the press to indicate 
            what it was. However, it may well have drawn many voters there from 
            outside our District, so this election must be discarded for our purposes. 
            The information for the 7 December 1911 general election is vitiated by the 
            fact that no records can be traced for the Mahoe and Rowan booths. 
            However, suitable figures for the mid-1890s and 1900s are available so we 
            can roughly track the population at 10-year intervals as follows:


            

              

                
	1886 (March)
                
	95
              

              

                
	1896 (based on 4 Dec. gen. elect.)
                
	647
              

              

                
	1905 (based on 6 Dec. gen. elect.)
                
	975
              

              

                
	1916 (based on 15 Oct. census)
                
	1277
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Appendix 3


          Office-holders in Main Community Institutions

        

          

Road Board and County Councils

          
As with most of our local bodies, those of South Taranaki have yet to enjoy 
            the ‘luxury’ of resources for the preservation, secure storage and 
            professional arrangement of archives. These notes on 
Kaponga District local 
            body membership are therefore the best that can be put together from our 
            newspaper and directory searches. For its first quarter century the 
Kaponga 
            District's main local body concern was to get a fair deal from the Waimate 
            Road Board, which came into existence on 18 May 1883. Kapongas first 
            storekeeper did noble service in the early years. When he resigned-
Kaponga 
            briefly lost any representation—the board's district was not divided into 
            ridings, and in the by-election 
Kaponga's E.J. Ellerm lost out to a candidate 
            from elsewhere. However Ellerm succeeded at the next election, there being 
            only five nominations for the five vacancies.


            

              
(1) 
Kaponga residents elected to the Waimate Road Board
              

                
	
                
	
Membership dates
              

              

                
	Henry Whitworth Davy
                
	May 1885-July 1887
              

              

                
	Edward John Ellerm
                
	May 1888-c. 1891
              

              

                
	W.A. McCutchan
                
	c.1891–?
              

              

                
	Coxhead (Arthur?)
                
	May 1894–?
              

              

                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	c.1896-April 1904
              

              

                
	Robert Gibson
                
	June 1904–April 1905
              

              

                
	William Swadling
                
	June 1904-c.1905
              

              

                
	Maurice Fitzgerald
                
	May 1905–1906
              

            

          


            

              
(2) 
Kaponga residents elected to the 
Hawera County Council
              

                
	
                
	
Membership dates
              

              

                
	E.J. Ellerm
                
	c.1890-Dec. 1892
              

              

                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	c.1897-c.1900
              

            


            

              
(3) 
Kaponga residents elected to 
Kaponga Riding of the Eltham County Council (Eltham County formed 1906)
              

                
	
                
	
Membership dates
              

              

                
	William Swadling
                
	1906-June 1912 (death)
              

              

                
	Maurice Fitzgerald
                
	1906–09
              

              

                
	William O'Neill
                
	1909–14
              

              

                
	A. Voullaire
                
	1909–11
              

              

                
	David Black
                
	1912–?1917
              

            

        

        

          

Kaponga School

          
The 1891 
Star Almanac gives the 
Kaponga School Committee as L.J. Adams 
            (chair), W. Ellerm, C. Bates, J. Mackie, C. Adamson, J. Frethey, W.A. 
            McCutchan. This was probably the founding committee. The school opened 
            on 22 June 1891. Committees were elected biannually in the April of odd-numbered years.


            

              

                
	
Committee Chair
                
	
Committee Secretaries
                
	
Head Teachers
              

              

                
	L.J. Adams
                
	
                
	Charles MacLean
              

              

                
	(to c.April 1891,


                  left the district)
                
	
                
	(1891–1904)
              

              

                
	E.J. Ellerm
                
	H.W. Davy
                
	
              

              

                
	(1891-Dec 1893,


                  left the district)
                
	(?1892-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	F.S. Canning
                
	W. McCutchan
                
	
              

              

                
	(1894–96)
                
	(?1894–95)
                
	
              

              

                
	J. Mackie
                
	G.W. Calvert
                
	
              

              

                
	(1896–97)
                
	(1895-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	G. Hemingway


                  (1897–98)
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	W. Greig
                
	D.A. Poole
                
	
              

              

                
	(1898–1900)
                
	(?1896-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	J. Robertson
                
	T. Childs
                
	Peter Matheson
              

              

                
	(1900–06)
                
	(?1899-?)
                
	(1904–13)
              

              

                
	J.H. Frethey
                
	J. Mackie
                
	
              

              

                
	(1906–08)
                
	(?1901-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	W. Swadling
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	George Lyall
              

              

                
	(1908-June 1912, death)
                
	(?1904–12-?)
                
	(1914–22)
              

              

                
	G. Death (1913–14-?)
                
	
                
	
              

            

          


            

              
A few sample committees through the years
              

                
	
Year
                
	
Chair
                
	
Secretary
                
	
Members
              

              

                
	1892
                
	E.J. Ellerm
                
	H.W. Davy
                
	T.R. Exley, C. Bates, J. Mackie,


                  T Frethey, J.H. Frethey,


                  W.A. McCutchan
              

              

                
	1895
                
	F.S. Canning
                
	G.W. Calvert
                
	A.J. Hastie, E.R. Hastie,


                  M. Fitzgerald, J. McClure,


                  B. Bulmer
              

              

                
	1899
                
	W. Greig
                
	T. Childs
                
	R. Law, C. Bates, L. May,


                  J.H. Frethey, G. O'Sullivan
              

              

                
	1904
                
	J. Robertson
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	Dr Noonan, Dr Maclagan,


                  J. King, F. Gapper, D. Anderson
              

              

                
	1908
                
	W. Swadling
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	Dr Maclagan, G. Death,


                  S. Signal, A. Adlam, A. Grace
              

              

                
	1912
                
	W. Swadling
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	C. Farley, E. Mills, S. Signal,


                  A. Adlam, A.E. King
              

            


          
(For other years see Elizabeth (‘Betty’) Arnold, 

Kaponga People 1881– 
              c. 1920)

        

        

          

Kaponga Settlers' Association (Formed 27 July 1899)

          
The 
Kaponga Settlers' Association filled the need for a pressure group able 
            to agitate on diverse needs. Its leaders were prominent in the settlement's 
            various ad hoc groups (e.g. Domain Board, Victoria Park Trustees, Town 
            Hall Committee, Library Committee). The association led the successful 
            campaign for the Town Board, which replaced it and in due course absorbed 
            the ad hoc groups.


            

              

                
	
Year
                
	
President
                
	
Executive
              

              

                
	1899
                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	J. Robertson (Vice-Pres.), A.J. Hastie,


                  J.L. Harwood, G. Tindle, H. McLauchlan,


                  F. Gapper (Sec.)
              

              

                
	1900
                
	J. Robertson
                
	W. Swadling (Vice-Pres.), J. Mackie, C. Walker,


                  A.J. Herbert, J. Gibson, J.L. Harwood,


                  F. Cowern, J.H. Frethey, F. Gapper (Sec.)
              

              

                
	1903
                
	J. Robertson
                
	W. Swadling (Vice-Pres.), P. Larritt, E. Mills,


                  J. Gibson, F. Oliver (Sec.),
              

              

                
	1903
                
	J. Robertson
                
	W. Swadling (Vice-Pres.), F. Oliver (Sec.),


                  (others not reported)
              

              

                
	1905
                
	J. Robertson
                
	C.E. Betts (Vice-Pres.), F.M. Fowler (Sec.),


                  (others not reported)
              

            

          


          
(The Association resolved to wind up at a meeting chaired by Dr Maclagan 
            in September 1905. All papers were to be handed to P. Larritt, who was to 
            destroy them after six months.)

        

        

          

Kaponga Town Board


            

              

                
	
Year
                
	
Chairman
                
	
Members
                
	
Clerk
              

              

                
	1905–06
                
	W. Swadling
                
	R. Law (resigned Dec '05),


                  R.H. Campbell,


                  F.J. Gapper,


                  C.E. Betts
                
	J. Staples
              

              

                
	1906–08
                
	W. Swadling
                
	F.J. Gapper,


                  C.E. Betts,


                  A.H. Guy,


                  L.H. Baigent
                
	C.S. Crawford


                  (Mar '08-)
              

              

                
	1908–10
                
	F.J. Gapper


                  (-May '09)


                  A.H. Guy


                  (May '09-)
                
	W. Swadling,


                  C.E. Betts,


                  A.H. Guy,


                  G. Death,


                  E. Mills (June '09-)
                
	C.S. Crawford


                  N. Eccleston


                  (Nov '09-)


                  R.G. Cook


                  (Dec '09-)
              

              

                
	1910–12
                
	A.H. Guy
                
	G. Death,


                  W. Swadling (-June '12),


                  C.E. Betts,


                  A. Melville,


                  A. Adlam (-Feb '11),


                  E. Mills (Apr '11-)
                
	R.G. Cook
              

              

                
	1912–14
                
	A.H. Guy
                
	R.W. Allen,


                  G. Death,


                  C.E. Betts,


                  R. Law
                
	R.G. Cook
              

              

                
	1914
                
	C.E. Betts
                
	A.H. Guy,


                  R.W. Allen,


                  G. Death,


                  R. Law
                
	R.G. Cook
              

            

        

        

          

Chairmen of Kaponga Co-operative Dairy Co Ltd


            

              

                
	
                
	
Dates
              

              

                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	1898–99
              

              

                
	Richard Dingle
                
	1899–1900
              

              

                
	R.T.B. Mellow
                
	1900–07
              

              

                
	Maurice Fitzgerald
                
	1907–09
              

              

                
	William Swadling
                
	1909–12
              

              

                
	George Hollard
                
	1912–14
              

              

                
	W.A. O'Neill
                
	1914–16
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Road Board and County Councils

          
As with most of our local bodies, those of South Taranaki have yet to enjoy 
            the ‘luxury’ of resources for the preservation, secure storage and 
            professional arrangement of archives. These notes on 
Kaponga District local 
            body membership are therefore the best that can be put together from our 
            newspaper and directory searches. For its first quarter century the 
Kaponga 
            District's main local body concern was to get a fair deal from the Waimate 
            Road Board, which came into existence on 18 May 1883. Kapongas first 
            storekeeper did noble service in the early years. When he resigned-
Kaponga 
            briefly lost any representation—the board's district was not divided into 
            ridings, and in the by-election 
Kaponga's E.J. Ellerm lost out to a candidate 
            from elsewhere. However Ellerm succeeded at the next election, there being 
            only five nominations for the five vacancies.


            

              
(1) 
Kaponga residents elected to the Waimate Road Board
              

                
	
                
	
Membership dates
              

              

                
	Henry Whitworth Davy
                
	May 1885-July 1887
              

              

                
	Edward John Ellerm
                
	May 1888-c. 1891
              

              

                
	W.A. McCutchan
                
	c.1891–?
              

              

                
	Coxhead (Arthur?)
                
	May 1894–?
              

              

                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	c.1896-April 1904
              

              

                
	Robert Gibson
                
	June 1904–April 1905
              

              

                
	William Swadling
                
	June 1904-c.1905
              

              

                
	Maurice Fitzgerald
                
	May 1905–1906
              

            

          


            

              
(2) 
Kaponga residents elected to the 
Hawera County Council
              

                
	
                
	
Membership dates
              

              

                
	E.J. Ellerm
                
	c.1890-Dec. 1892
              

              

                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	c.1897-c.1900
              

            


            

              
(3) 
Kaponga residents elected to 
Kaponga Riding of the Eltham County Council (Eltham County formed 1906)
              

                
	
                
	
Membership dates
              

              

                
	William Swadling
                
	1906-June 1912 (death)
              

              

                
	Maurice Fitzgerald
                
	1906–09
              

              

                
	William O'Neill
                
	1909–14
              

              

                
	A. Voullaire
                
	1909–11
              

              

                
	David Black
                
	1912–?1917
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Kaponga School

          
The 1891 
Star Almanac gives the 
Kaponga School Committee as L.J. Adams 
            (chair), W. Ellerm, C. Bates, J. Mackie, C. Adamson, J. Frethey, W.A. 
            McCutchan. This was probably the founding committee. The school opened 
            on 22 June 1891. Committees were elected biannually in the April of odd-numbered years.


            

              

                
	
Committee Chair
                
	
Committee Secretaries
                
	
Head Teachers
              

              

                
	L.J. Adams
                
	
                
	Charles MacLean
              

              

                
	(to c.April 1891,


                  left the district)
                
	
                
	(1891–1904)
              

              

                
	E.J. Ellerm
                
	H.W. Davy
                
	
              

              

                
	(1891-Dec 1893,


                  left the district)
                
	(?1892-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	F.S. Canning
                
	W. McCutchan
                
	
              

              

                
	(1894–96)
                
	(?1894–95)
                
	
              

              

                
	J. Mackie
                
	G.W. Calvert
                
	
              

              

                
	(1896–97)
                
	(1895-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	G. Hemingway


                  (1897–98)
                
	
                
	
              

              

                
	W. Greig
                
	D.A. Poole
                
	
              

              

                
	(1898–1900)
                
	(?1896-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	J. Robertson
                
	T. Childs
                
	Peter Matheson
              

              

                
	(1900–06)
                
	(?1899-?)
                
	(1904–13)
              

              

                
	J.H. Frethey
                
	J. Mackie
                
	
              

              

                
	(1906–08)
                
	(?1901-?)
                
	
              

              

                
	W. Swadling
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	George Lyall
              

              

                
	(1908-June 1912, death)
                
	(?1904–12-?)
                
	(1914–22)
              

              

                
	G. Death (1913–14-?)
                
	
                
	
              

            

          


            

              
A few sample committees through the years
              

                
	
Year
                
	
Chair
                
	
Secretary
                
	
Members
              

              

                
	1892
                
	E.J. Ellerm
                
	H.W. Davy
                
	T.R. Exley, C. Bates, J. Mackie,


                  T Frethey, J.H. Frethey,


                  W.A. McCutchan
              

              

                
	1895
                
	F.S. Canning
                
	G.W. Calvert
                
	A.J. Hastie, E.R. Hastie,


                  M. Fitzgerald, J. McClure,


                  B. Bulmer
              

              

                
	1899
                
	W. Greig
                
	T. Childs
                
	R. Law, C. Bates, L. May,


                  J.H. Frethey, G. O'Sullivan
              

              

                
	1904
                
	J. Robertson
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	Dr Noonan, Dr Maclagan,


                  J. King, F. Gapper, D. Anderson
              

              

                
	1908
                
	W. Swadling
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	Dr Maclagan, G. Death,


                  S. Signal, A. Adlam, A. Grace
              

              

                
	1912
                
	W. Swadling
                
	J.B. Bennie
                
	C. Farley, E. Mills, S. Signal,


                  A. Adlam, A.E. King
              

            


          
(For other years see Elizabeth (‘Betty’) Arnold, 

Kaponga People 1881– 
              c. 1920)
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Kaponga Settlers' Association (Formed 27 July 1899)

          
The 
Kaponga Settlers' Association filled the need for a pressure group able 
            to agitate on diverse needs. Its leaders were prominent in the settlement's 
            various ad hoc groups (e.g. Domain Board, Victoria Park Trustees, Town 
            Hall Committee, Library Committee). The association led the successful 
            campaign for the Town Board, which replaced it and in due course absorbed 
            the ad hoc groups.


            

              

                
	
Year
                
	
President
                
	
Executive
              

              

                
	1899
                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	J. Robertson (Vice-Pres.), A.J. Hastie,


                  J.L. Harwood, G. Tindle, H. McLauchlan,


                  F. Gapper (Sec.)
              

              

                
	1900
                
	J. Robertson
                
	W. Swadling (Vice-Pres.), J. Mackie, C. Walker,


                  A.J. Herbert, J. Gibson, J.L. Harwood,


                  F. Cowern, J.H. Frethey, F. Gapper (Sec.)
              

              

                
	1903
                
	J. Robertson
                
	W. Swadling (Vice-Pres.), P. Larritt, E. Mills,


                  J. Gibson, F. Oliver (Sec.),
              

              

                
	1903
                
	J. Robertson
                
	W. Swadling (Vice-Pres.), F. Oliver (Sec.),


                  (others not reported)
              

              

                
	1905
                
	J. Robertson
                
	C.E. Betts (Vice-Pres.), F.M. Fowler (Sec.),


                  (others not reported)
              

            

          


          
(The Association resolved to wind up at a meeting chaired by Dr Maclagan 
            in September 1905. All papers were to be handed to P. Larritt, who was to 
            destroy them after six months.)
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Kaponga Town Board


            

              

                
	
Year
                
	
Chairman
                
	
Members
                
	
Clerk
              

              

                
	1905–06
                
	W. Swadling
                
	R. Law (resigned Dec '05),


                  R.H. Campbell,


                  F.J. Gapper,


                  C.E. Betts
                
	J. Staples
              

              

                
	1906–08
                
	W. Swadling
                
	F.J. Gapper,


                  C.E. Betts,


                  A.H. Guy,


                  L.H. Baigent
                
	C.S. Crawford


                  (Mar '08-)
              

              

                
	1908–10
                
	F.J. Gapper


                  (-May '09)


                  A.H. Guy


                  (May '09-)
                
	W. Swadling,


                  C.E. Betts,


                  A.H. Guy,


                  G. Death,


                  E. Mills (June '09-)
                
	C.S. Crawford


                  N. Eccleston


                  (Nov '09-)


                  R.G. Cook


                  (Dec '09-)
              

              

                
	1910–12
                
	A.H. Guy
                
	G. Death,


                  W. Swadling (-June '12),


                  C.E. Betts,


                  A. Melville,


                  A. Adlam (-Feb '11),


                  E. Mills (Apr '11-)
                
	R.G. Cook
              

              

                
	1912–14
                
	A.H. Guy
                
	R.W. Allen,


                  G. Death,


                  C.E. Betts,


                  R. Law
                
	R.G. Cook
              

              

                
	1914
                
	C.E. Betts
                
	A.H. Guy,


                  R.W. Allen,


                  G. Death,


                  R. Law
                
	R.G. Cook
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Chairmen of Kaponga Co-operative Dairy Co Ltd


            

              

                
	
                
	
Dates
              

              

                
	F.W. Wilkie
                
	1898–99
              

              

                
	Richard Dingle
                
	1899–1900
              

              

                
	R.T.B. Mellow
                
	1900–07
              

              

                
	Maurice Fitzgerald
                
	1907–09
              

              

                
	William Swadling
                
	1909–12
              

              

                
	George Hollard
                
	1912–14
              

              

                
	W.A. O'Neill
                
	1914–16
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Notes & References

        

          
Abbreviations


            

              

                
	
AJHR
                
	

Appendices to the Journals of the House of Representatives
              

              

                
	
AWN
                
	

Auckland Weekly News
              

              

                
	
CNZ
                
	
Cyclopaedia of New Zealand
              

              

                
	
Farmer
                
	
New Zealand Farmer (
Auckland)
              

              

                
	
NZG
                
	

New Zealand Government Gazette
              

              

                
	
NZJH
                
	

New Zealand Journal of History
              

              

                
	
NZPD
                
	
New Zealand 
Parliamentary Debates
              

              

                
	
Star
                
	

Hawera Star
              

              

                
	
TH
                
	
Taranaki Herald
              

              

                
	
TDN
                
	
Taranaki Daily News
              

              

                
	
Y
                
	
Yeoman (
Wanganui)
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            1 Time and Space, the 1880s

          

            
1. 
Rollo Arnold, 
The Farthest Promised Land, 
Wellington, 1981, p. 264, for an outline of this movement.

          

          

            
2. 
AJHR, 1887, Sess. II, 1–7, p. 13.

          

          

            
3. See e.g. 
Press (
Christchurch), 27/9/80, p. 1.

          

          

            
4. 
AJHR, 1883, C-1, p. 2.

          

          

            
5. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
6. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37.

          

          

            
7. 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. I, A-5B, p. 1.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 18/10/83 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘OurOwn’).

          

          

            
9. 
NZG, 1884, pp. 61–63.

          

          

            
10. 
AJHR, 1884, Sess.I, C-1, p. 2.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 3/7/85. (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘OurOwn’).

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 6/4/86.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 16/7/85, 10/12/85.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 2/10/86.

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 27/8/87, 12/10/87, 29/11/87, 29/12/87.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 11/8/87.

          

          

            
17. 
Star, 2/9/87, 3/12/87 for Rowan Road; land grant dates for Opunake Road.

          

          

            
18. 
AJHR, 1888, C-1, p. 1.

          

          

            
19. 
Y, 18/8/88 (Manaia ‘OurOwn’); 

Egmont Star 3/11/88, Supplement p. 1, & 29/12/88, p. 15.

          

          

            
20. See e.g. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 15/1/83 (Letter headed ‘Skeet Road’); 
Star, 31/12/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 3/7/85 & 29/7/85 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          


          

            
23. 
Star, 23/8/82.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 31/12/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 10/8/1900.

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 30/7/83. 
NZG, 1884, p. 574 (Ahipaipa Road delared a main road).

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 3/7/85.

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 21/7/88.

          

          

            
29. 
AJHR, 1882, C-3, p. 25.

          

          

            
30. 
AJHR, 1880, C-2, p. 3.

          

          

            
31. See map with 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. I, A-5B.

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 31/5/82, 2/8/82 & 22/9/82.

          

          

            
33. 
AJHR, 1883, I-9, p. 4.

          

          

            
34. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37; 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. II, C-1, p. 61.

          

          

            
35. Minutes, 
Hawera County Council, 17/4/89, MS, South Taranaki District Council, 
Hawera; 
TH, 5/8/90.

          

          

            
36. 
AJHR, 1883, I-9, p. 4.

          

          

            
37. 
Star, 31/7/82.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 19/10/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 2/10/86, 2/9/87, 3/12/87, 1/12/88.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 27/6/88 & 3/4/88; 

Egmont Star, 4/8/88.

          

          

            
41. 
Y, 19/10/89 (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
42. 
Star, 17/8/87, 2/9/87.

          

          

            
43. ‘Our Own’, 7/12/92.

          

          

            
44. 
Y, 23/9/87, (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
45. 
Star, 13/9/87, 22/9/87.

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 26/7/87.

          

          

            
47. 
Star, 27/7/87.

          

          

            
48. 
Star, 27/5/87.

          

          

            
49. 
Star, 5/10/87.

          

          

            
50. 
Star, 3/12/87.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 29/6/88.

          

          

            
52. 

Egmont Star, 25/8/88; 22/9/88 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
53. 

Egmont Star, 22/9/88 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
54. 

Egmont Star, 6/10/88.

          

          

            
55. 

Egmont Star, 17/11/88, 22/12/88.

          

          

            
56. 
AJHR, 1889, C-1A, p. 22.

          

          

            
57. 
NZ Methodist, 33/8/89.

          

          

            
58. 
Star, 29/1/84 (letter from F. Hursthouse); 

Egmont Star, 7/3/96, p. 18.

          

          

            
59. A.B. Scanlon, 

Egmont/The Story of a Mountain, 
Wellington, 1961, pp. 61–63.

          

          

            
60. 
Star, 13/1/83.

          

          

            
61. 
Star, 9/9/84 (Stratford & Ngaire ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
62. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
63. 
Star, 14/9/83.

          

          

            
64. 
Y, 1/6/83, p. 5.

          

          

            
65. 
Star, 15/11/84 (Okaiawa ‘Our Own’); 19/2/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
66. W.K. Howitt, 
A Pioneer Looks Back Again, 
Auckland, 1947, p. 157.

          

          

            
67. W.K. Howitt, 
A Pioneer Looks Back, 
Auckland, 1945, pp. 62, 86, 88–89.

          

          

            
68. 
Ibid., p. 45.

          

          

            
69. Howitt, 
A Pioneer Looks Back Again, p. 244.

          

          

            
70. Howitt, 
A Pioneer Looks Back, pp. 86–87.

          

          

            
71. Howitt, 
A Pioneer Looks Back Again, pp. 92, 65.

          

          

            
72. Howitt, 
A Pioneer Looks Back, p. 90.

          

          

            
73. 
Ibid., pp. 194–95 (the ‘finishing’ of his education in Scotland).

          

        

        

          
2 The Making of Livings, the Quality of Life, the 1880s

          

            
1. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, 
Wellington, 1994, p. 28.

          

          

            
2. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 27/8/81, 17/9/81.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 12/10/82.

          

          

            
5. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 1/10/83.

          

          

            
7. 
Star, 13/1/83.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 23/1/83.

          

          

            
9. 
Star, 30/9/84.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 28/7/83.

          

          

            
11. 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. II, C-1, pp. 60–61.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 3/7/85.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 31/7/86.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 16 & 24/11/86. (All prices are for all trees except ratas.)

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 27/8/87, 29/11/87, 22/9/88.

          

          

            
16. 

Egmont Star, 3/11/88; 
Y, 29/12/88 (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
17. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, pp. 268–77.

          

          

            
18. 
AWN, 1/6/89, p. 23.

          

          

            
19. 
AWN, 11/5/89, p. 8.

          

          

            
20. 
AWN, 16/11/89, p. 22.

          

          

            
21. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, pp. 271–72.

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 7/10/82.

          

          

            
23. 
Farmer, Dec. 1889, p. 498.

          

          

            
24. 
Feilding Star, 27/3/84, p. [2]; 
Star, 18/10/87 (editorial).

          

          

            
25. 
AWN, 9/3/89, p. 22 & 110/8/89, p. 22 (both under ‘Eltham’); 
Farmer, Feb. '89, p. 49.

          

          

            
26. 
TH, 2/4/89 (Stratford ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 8/2/88; 
AWN, 9/3/89, p. 22 (under ‘Eltham’).

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 29/11/87; 
Farmer, Feb. '89, p. 49.

          

          

            
29. 
AWN, 13/4/89, p. 22.

          

          

            
30. 

Egmont Star, 14/2/85; 
Star, 29/7/85.

          

          


          

            
31. 
Star, 15/6/86.

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 30/9/86, 8/11/86, 29/12/87; 
Y, 18/8/88 (Manaia Specials).

          

          

            
33. 
Rollo Arnold, ‘The opening of the Great Bush, 1869–1891’, PhD thesis, VUW, 1971, p. 448; 
Star, 6/6/87.

          

          

            
34. 
AWN, 27/4/89, p. 8.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 19/10/83.

          

          

            
36. 
Farmer, July 1890, p. 269.

          

          

            
37. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, pp. 272–77.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 18/12/83 (editorial).

          

          

            
39. 

Egmont Star, 18/8/88, p. 7.

          

          

            
40. 
Farmer, Oct. 1890, p. 401; 
AWN, 27/4/89, p. 8.

          

          

            
41. D.A. Waldegrave, 
Family Album/Mounsey-Hutchison (1740–1974), 
Paeroa, 1974, p. 13; 
Farmer, May 1891, pp. 207–08.

          

          

            
42. 
Ibid, p. 11.

          

          

            
43. H.E. Combs, 
Growing up in the Forty Mile Bush, Hamilton, 1951, pp. 34–36, gives a good description of this.

          

          

            
44. 
Star, 29/7/87.

          

          

            
45. 
Star, 27/8/85, 6/6/87.

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 4/1/88 for another example.

          

          

            
47. 
Star, 24/11/86.

          

          

            
48. 
Star, 2 & 29/5/84, 15/6/86.

          

          

            
49. 
Star, 1/11/87 (‘Notes from the Bush’).

          

          

            
50. 
Y, 14/1/87, p. 13, 18/1/90, p. 7.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 3/4/88.

          

          

            
52. 
Y, 4/8/88.

          

          

            
53. 
Y, 18/1/90, p. 7.

          

        

        

          
3 Episodes, the 1880s

          

            
1. 
Star, 29/11/82.

          

          

            
2. The account that follows is drawn from the 
Star, 2/3/83.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 13/4/81, 16/4/81, 21/9/81.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 2/9/85.

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 15/10/86.

          

          

            
6. Waldegrave, 
op. cit., p. 12.

          

          

            
7. The account that follows is a collation of information from reports in 

Egmont Star, 13/10/88, p. 7, 20/10/88, p. 7; 
TH, 5, 18, & 19/10/88.

          

          

            
8. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, pp. 67, 242.

          

          

            
9. 
CNZ, VI, p. 224; Charles Edwin Major, ‘Seventy years of life in New Zealand’, MS 188, 
Auckland Institute and Museum.

          

          

            
10. 
TH, 21/3/90.

          

        

        

          
Part Two


            The 1890s: Centring on a Township


            4 Time and Space, the 1890s

          

            
1. 
Star, 21/9/93, 20/12/99.

          

          

            
2. 
Star, 20/6/01.

          

          

            
3. 
Farmer, Aug. 1891, p. 335.

          

          

            
4. See e.g. 
Star, 11/7/99.

          

          

            
5. H.G. Philpott, 
A History of the New Zealand Dairy Industry 1840–1935, 
Wellington, 1937, p. 67.

          

          

            
6. 
TH, 7/2/90, 21/3/90 (Manaia ‘Our Own’); 
Farmer, Oct. 1890, p. 411.

          

          

            
7. 
Farmer, Apr. 1891, p. 207, Jan. 1892, p. 27.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 6/1/94.

          

          

            
9. 
Farmer, Apr. 1895, p. 134, Apr. 1896, pp. 136, 143.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 21/12/96, 18/1/97.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 17 & 19/1/98.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 4, 7 & 8/4/98.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 19/1/99, 17/3/99.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 26/4/95; Waldegrave, 
Family Album, pp. 14–15.

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 29/6/92, 1/9/92 (advt.), 26/2/96, 23/5/96.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 10/8/98, 9/5/99.

          

          

            
17. A. B. Scanlon, 

Egmont The Story of a Mountain, 
Wellington, 1961, p. 68.

          

          

            
18. 
Star, 29/10/94.

          

          

            
19. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
20. 
Star, 6/3/95, 3/4/95.

          

          

            
21. 
Ibid. & 31/7/95, 15/11/95.

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 29/11/95, 29/2/96.

          

          

            
23. 

Egmont Star, 27/11/97, p. 11.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 9/1/97.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 5/1/98.

          

          

            
26. M.
G. Lay, 
Ways of the World: A History of the World's Roads and of the Vehicles that Used them, 
New Brunswick, New Jersey, 1992, p. 77.

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 24/11/92.

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 11/7/93.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 16/3/93; 
Farmer, July 1893, p. 270.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 7/5/94.

          

          

            
31. 
Ibid., & 19/6/94.

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 29/6/97.

          

          

            
33. 
Star, 19/1/99, 18/4/99, 9/5/99.

          

          

            
34. 
Star, 16/9/98.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 11/11/99.

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 22/4/95.

          

          

            
37. 
Star, 8/4/95, 27/12/95, 6/8/96, 3/9/96, 21/4/97.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 17/4/91, 21/4/92 (‘Around and About’).

          

          


          

            
39. 
Star, 9/10/96.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 19/6/94, 10/9/94, 14/4/98, 12/12/02.

          

          

            
41. 
Star, 7/1/93, 15/3/96, 22/5/99, 20/10/94 (advt), 2/2/98 (‘Notes by the Way’).

          

          

            
42. Percy William Allen, ‘To the Editor of the 
Kaponga Buster. My first night in Taranaki’, MS in possession of S.T. Allen, Stratford. Beginning as a grocer's assistant, Allen's 
Kaponga career included owning a garage and carrying business. He was active in the town's public life and became a JP.

          

          

            
43. 
TH, 2/7/90 (advt); 
Star, 14/10/91.

          

          

            
44. C.W. Chalkin, ‘Country Towns’, in G.E. Mingay, ed., 
The Rural Idyll, 
London, 1989, p. 38.

          

          

            
45. H.E. Bracey, 
English Rural Life, 
London, 1959, pp. 160–64.

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 26/4/95, 14 & 21/3/98.

          

          

            
47. 
Star, 21/10/91.

          

          

            
48. 
Star, 11/3/92.

          

          

            
49. 
Star, 3/4/94, 5 & 14/6/95, 1/4/96.

          

          

            
50. 
Star, 18/1/97, 2/2/97, 26/7/99.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 5/2/98, 17/2/99.

          

          

            
52. 
Star, 5/11/94.

          

          

            
53. 
Star, 6/11/94, 8/4/95, 19/2/97, 19/3/97, 7/4/98.

          

          

            
54. E.g. 
Star, 20/7/92 (two editorials).

          

          

            
55. 
Star, 19/4/95, 29/6/97; 
Kaponga School, 
Log Book, 29/3/95.

          

          

            
56. 
NZPD, 77, 87.

          

          

            
57. E.g. 
Star, 11/1/93.

          

          

            
58. 
David Hamer, 
The New Zealand Liberals, 
Auckland, 1988, p. 98.

          

          

            
59. 
NZPD, 91, 100.

          

          

            
60. 
Star, 1/5/13.

          

          

            
61. 
NZPD, 91, 100.

          

          

            
62. 
Star, 25/5/99.

          

        

        

          
5 The Making of Livings, the 1890s

          

            
1. Fred A. Shannon, 
The Farmer's Last Frontier: Agriculture, 1860–1897, 
New York, 1945, p. 256.

          

          

            
2. 
NZG, 18/5/81 (won by Edendale).

          

          

            
3. 
AJHR, 1890, I-6A, p. 15.

          

          

            
4. 
CNZ, III, p. 668.

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 14/6/17 for his obituary.

          

          

            
6. 
CNZ, III, pp. 743, 746.

          

          

            
7. 
AJHR, 1892, C-2, pp. 25–27.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 2/12/92; H.G. Philpott, 
A History of the New Zealand Dairy Industry, 1840–1935, 
Wellington, 1937, pp. 77 & 94.

          

          

            
9. 
Farmer, July 1890, p. 269; 
Star, 21/10/91.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 2/4/92, 11/3/93, 10/8/98, 26/7/99.

          

          

            
11. 
Farmer, Aug. 1894, p. 285; 
Star, 15/1/21 94.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 21/9/93.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 5/8/96.

          

          

            
14. 
Ibid.; The Mangatoki Co-operative Dairy Company Ltd Jubilee: 1900–1950, p. 2.

          

          

            
15. ‘Mangatoki Co-op Dairy Co. Ltd [sic]: Minute Books: 1896–1900’, MS, 
Massey University Library, 
Palmerston North.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 1/3/98.

          

          

            
17. 
Star, 8/4/98 (Mangawhero ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
18. 
CNZ, I, pp. 1368–69.

          

          

            
19. ‘Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
Kaponga Co-operative Dairy Company Ltd’, 
Kaponga Co-op. Dairy Company Ltd. Records, MS, 
Massey University Library, 
Palmerston North.

          

          

            
20. 
Star, 18/4/98.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 3/5/98; 
Kaponga Dairy Co Ltd, [Extracts from the company's minutes], MS 213/0, Taranaki Museum, 
New Plymouth.

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 30/6/98.

          

          

            
23. Philpott, 
op. cit., p. 89.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 1/11/98.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 10/8/98, 25/4/99, 9/5/99, 26/7/99.

          

          

            
26. See e.g. 
Farmer, Sept. 1893, p. 337.

          

          

            
27. 
Farmer, Sept. 1893, p. 337, Feb. 1895, p. 60; 
Star, 30/10/95 & 13/1/97 (Farm & Dairy).

          

          

            
28. 
Farmer, May 1895, p. 176.

          

          

            
29. 
Y, 1/6/83, p. 5, 10/8/83, p. 4.

          

          

            
30. 
Farmer, June 1895, p. 226.

          

          

            
31. 
Star, 29/9/99 (‘Our Own’), 1/12/98 (Advt).

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 5, 12 & 24/6/97.

          

          

            
33. 
Star, 19/6/97, 27/5/87, 27/7/95, 26/2/94.

          

          

            
34. See e.g., 
Star, 5/7/99.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 13/2/92, 11/4/92.

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 7/12/92.

          

          

            
37. 
Star, 24/7/99, 1/11/99.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 5/8/95, 28/9/95, 25/11/98.

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 19/9/99, 1/11/99.

          

          

            
40. 
Y, 1/1/81, p. 11; 

Waikato Times, 2/10/58. The ‘Battle’ was a notable Maori settler clash and is well described in Arnold Pickmere, 
In Thy Toil Rejoice: The Story of J.J. Patterson, [np.], 1990, pp. 90–97.

          

          

            
41. 
Star, 10/8/98, 5/9/98.

          

          

            
42. 
Star, 25/4/99.

          

          

            
43. 

Auckland Star, 31/7/1930 (Obituary).

          

          

            
44. The Misses Young's workshop of our illustration is not listed in 
Table 5.1
              


              because it does not ccur either in 
Wise's or the 
Star. The concern must have been shortlived.

          

          

            
45. 
Star, 9/1/97,13/2/97 (advts).

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 9/4/94, 7/5/94, 20/3/97 (advt), 22/5/99.

          

        

        

          
6 The Quality of Life, the 1890s

          

            
1. 
Star, 25/1/92; 
Farmer, Sept. 1893, p. 337, Feb, 1895, p. 226.

          

          

            
2. J.S. Tullett, 
The Industrious Heart: A History of 
New Plymouth, 
New Plymouth, 1981, p. 235.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 1/3/98, 25/11/98, 13/4/99.

          

          

            
4. See e.g. 
Star, 26/5/97, 5/6/97; 

Egmont Star, 24/7/97.

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 25/10/99.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 19/6/94, 26/4/95.

          

          

            
7. See e.g. 
Star, 11/12/09.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 2/10/94.

          

          

            
9. 
Star, 6/5/92, 26/5/92, 30/6/92, 20/7/92, 14/10/92.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 7/7/93, 20/4/94.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 15/10/96 seems to be the last report of it.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 14/6/95, 15/6/98, 8/7/98.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 3/9/99.

          

          

            
14. John C. Hosie, 
Centennial History of Manaia and Manaia School, 1882–1982, Manaia, 1982, p. 49.

          

          

            
15. William Morley, 
The History of Methodism in New Zealand, 
Wellington, 1990, p. 302; 
Star, 14/10/91, 7/4/94.

          

          

            
16. See 
Rollo Arnold, ‘The Patterns of Denominationalism in Later Victorian New Zealand’, in C. Nichol and J. Veitch, eds, 
Religion in New Zealand, 
Wellington, 1980, pp. 76–110.

          

          

            
17. O.M. Stent, 
Memories of 
Kaponga, 
Wellington, [1916], p. 10.

          

          

            
18. Patrick S. Crowley, 
St Patrick's Convent Jubilee 1921–1971: Early History of the Church in 
Kaponga, [Eltham, 1972].

          

          

            
19. 
Star, 19/1/99.

          

          

            
20. 
Star, 17/3/99, 5/4/99, 9/8/99, 23/8/00.

          

          

            
21. Rosemary K. Goodyear, ‘Black Boots and Pinafores: Childhood in Otago 1900–1920’, MA thesis, 
University of Otago, 1992.

          

          

            
22. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1892, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
23. 
Star, 23/11/94.

          

          

            
24. Inspector's report, 
Kaponga School, 22/11/94, 
Wanganui Education Board, Minute Book 1894, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
25. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1894; 
Star, 15/11/94, 8/4/95, 16/9/96, 3/11/96, 31/3/97, 24/6/97.

          

          

            
26. 
New Zealand Schoolmaster, January 1896, p. 82 (
Wanganui correspondent).

          

          

            
27. 
AJHR, 1890, E-1B, p. 5; 
AJHR, 1891, E-1B, p. 6.

          

          

            
28. 
Y, 13/11/97, p. 7.

          

          

            
29. 
Wanganui Education Board, Minute Book, 1898, ABDV/W3571/99, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
30. 
AJHR, 1898, E-1B, p. 18.

          

          

            
31. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1898.

          

          

            
32. Colin McGeorge, ‘School Attendance and Child Labour 1890–1914’, 
Historical News, No. 46, May 1983, p. 18.

          

          

            
33. Lionel Rose, 
The Erosion of Childhood, 
London, 1991, p. 147.

          

        

        

          
7 Episodes, the 1890s

          

            
1. This account is based on the initial inquest meeting as reported in 
Star, 26/4/97 and the adjourned meeting as reported in 
Opunake Times 14/5/97.

          

          

            
2. H. G. Philpott, 
A History of the New Zealand Dairy Industry, 1840–1935, 
Wellington, 1937, p. 87.

          

          

            
3. Reprinted in 
Patea & County Press, 13/8/97.

          

          

            
4. 
AJHR, 1905, C-4, p. 1082.

          

        

        

          
Part Three


            1900–14: Trials and Triumphs


            8 Time and Space, 1900–14

          

            
1. 
Star, 7/1/07 has the text, as sung at the 
Hawera 
Caledonian Society's New Year's Eve concert, and notes telling of its 
Hawera origins.

          

          

            
2. Anthony Cooper, ‘The Australian Historiography of the First World War: Who is Deluded?’, 
Australian Journal of Politics and History, 40, 1, 1993, pp. 16–35, for a pertinent discussion of this matter.

          

          

            
3. On this see 
Star, 11/11/11 (letter ‘A Grave Question’).

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 18 & 27/1/09.

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 26/1/07.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 7/1/01, 5/3/01, 2, 22 & 29/4/01, 23/7/01.

          

          

            
7. 
Star, 26/11/04.

          

          


          

            
8. 
Star, 5/3/05.

          

          

            
9. 
Star, 25/10/04, 23/3/05.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 6/9/05.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 10/10/05.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 18/7/06.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 21/1/09, 22/9/11, 29/11/12.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 12/9/05.

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 19/4/06.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 19/6/06, 25/6/06 (advt), 29/6/06.

          

          

            
17. 
Star, 22/8/06.

          

          

            
18. 
Star, 20/9/06.

          

          

            
19. 
Star, 18/10/06.

          

          

            
20. 
Star, 10 & 22/9/06.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 22/9/06, 26/10/06.

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 9 & 19/1/07.

          

          

            
23. 
Star, 13/5/07, 28/9/07, 24/10/07.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 22/11/06, 19/12/06, 2/6/08.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 28/6/11.

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 10/7/12, 31/8/12.

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 30/11/08.

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 4/9/06 (editorial), 6/9/06.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 16/7/08, 30/11/05.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 1 & 16/8/06.

          

          

            
31. 
AJHR, 1908, D-10.

          

          

            
32. 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, D-8.

          

          

            
33. 
Star, 11/3/13.

          

          

            
34. 
Star, 23/6/13, 10/9/13.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 14 & 24/6/02.

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 26/3/08.

          

          

            
37. 
AJHR, 1903, H-2, p. 17; 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, D-8, p. 5.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 19/11/03, 20/10/04.

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 8/5/05.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 5/4/09 (Awatuna East ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
41. 
AJHR, 1900, C-1, p. 35.

          

          

            
42. 
Star, 23/3/05, 10/4/05, 13/2/06, 10 & 26/2/09, 11/4/10, 20/10/10.

          

          

            
43. See e.g. 
Star, 24/9/06 & 13/7/07 (both Awatuna East ‘Our Own’), 21/1/09 & 26/2/12 (both Town Board), 15/1/12 (Eltham Co. Co.).

          

          

            
44. 
AJHR, 1903, D-1, pp. iv, ix.

          

          

            
45. 
Star, 23/7/06.

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 11/7/06.

          

          

            
47. 
Star, 9/12/07.

          

          

            
48. 
Star, 18/8/08, 14/9/08, 17 & 30/11/09.

          

          

            
49. 
Star, 14/12/10.

          

          

            
50. 
Star, 20/2/11.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 31/10/02, 10/10/04, 18/10/06, 28/10/07.

          

          

            
52. 
Star, 10 & 14/3/13, 11/4/13.

          

          

            
53. 
Star, 7/1/14.

          

          

            
54. 
Star, 14/1/02.

          

          

            
55. Bill Jamieson, 
Mollers: A Family Business, 
New Plymouth, 1982, esp. pp. 6–15; 
Star, 8/3/09.

          

          

            
56. 
Eltham Argus, 23/1/04.

          

          

            
57. 
Star, 20/5/08.

          

          

            
58. 
Star, 12/10/08.

          

          

            
59. 
Star, 2/12/08.

          

          

            
60. 
Star, 8/7/14.

          

          

            
61. 
Star, 19/3/14.

          

          

            
62. 
Star, 12/10/14.

          

        

        

          
9 The Making of Livings, 1900–14

          

            
1. 
Star, 7/9/01, 8/9/14.

          

          

            
2. H. G. Philpott, 
A History of the New Zealand Dairy Industry, 1840–1935, 
Wellington, 1937, pp.376–403.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 26/2/07, 22/4/08, 1/5/08, 13/9/09.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 14/5/12 (advt).

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 29/3/05.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 23/3/01; 
Kaponga Dairy Co Ltd, minutes, 7/7/98.

          

          

            
7. 
Star, 17/8/06; 
Kaponga Dairy Co Ltd, minutes, 9/12/02; ‘
Egmont Box Co: Minute Book 1906–1914’, MS, 
Massey University Library, 
Palmerston North.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 8/9/98, 8/9/99.

          

          

            
9. 
Star, 26/2/07.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 21/11/07, 10/12/07.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 13/8/06, 3/9/07.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 22/12/08, 7/9/09.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 3/9/12.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 8/9/14.

          

          

            
15. Following the 
Auckland A & P shield win mentioned below.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 30/7/01.

          

          

            
17. 
Star, 25/6/07, 27/7/07, 
AJHR, 1908, H-11, p. 65.

          

          

            
18. 
Star, 24/9/10.

          

          

            
19. See e.g. 
Star, 16/12/05, 1/8/07.

          

          

            
20. Philpott, 
op. cit., pp. 131, 133.

          

          

            
21. 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, H-18, pp. 397–99.

          

          

            
22. 
Department of Agriculture, 
Report, 1900, p. 84; 1902, p. 41; 1903, p. 128.

          

          

            
23. 
Ibid., 1903, p. 129; 
Star, 29/10/00 (‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 3/5/06 (‘Our Own’), 25/6/06 (advts); 
AJHR, 1905, 1–12B, p. 11.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 17/12/06 (advt).

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 19/11/07.

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 14/3/10.

          

          

            
28. See e.g. 
Star, 30/7/01, 6/1/05, 21/2/06, 20 & 22/10/06, 26/11/07, 8/10/08.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 24/2/06.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 23/2/06.

          

          

            
31. 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, H-18, p. 262.

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 12/12/08 (editorial); 
Department of Agriculture, 
Reports, 1908-, 
passim.

          

          

            
33. A Swiss Club has flourished in 
Kaponga since 1952 as a focal point for Taranaki's Swiss.

          

          


          

            
34. Philpott, 
op. cit., p. 65.

          

          

            
35. See e.g. 
Star, 20/6/01 (Farm & Dairy), 12/5/03 (advt), 5/3/05 (Correspondence), 2/3/06 & 10/5/06 (court case), 15/7/09 & 23/1/08 (court case).

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 14/11/10.

          

          

            
37. T.W.H. Brooking, ‘Agrarian Businessmen Organise’, PhD thesis, 
University of Otago, 1978, p. 325.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 1/11/13.

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 22/6/04; 
Department of Agriculture, 
Report, 1903, pp. 307–12.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 7/10/04, 23/2/06; 
Department of Agriculture, 
Report, 1905, pp. 171–73.

          

          

            
41. 
Star, 7/10/04 Supplement.

          

          

            
42. Harold Perkins, 
The Rise of Professional Society: England Since 1880, 
London, 1989, p. 2.

          

          

            
43. References may be found in Betty Arnold, 

Kaponga People. A fuller discussion may be found in 
Rollo Arnold, ‘Women in the New Zealand Teaching Profession, 1877–1920’, in R. Openshaw and D. McKenzie, eds, 

Reinterpreting the Educational Past, 
Wellington, 1987.

          

          

            
44. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1897, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington. This gives the 
Kaponga roll on the 1897 examination day as 101.

          

          

            
45. 
Manawatu 
Evening Standard, 6/1/1966; 
Turakina: The Centenary of a Country School, [1959], p. 42. (He ended his career in 1935 after 15 years as headmaster of Turakina School.)

          

          

            
46. On her death in November 1968 she was buried in the family plot in 
Kaponga cemetery.

          

          

            
47. 
Awatuna School & District: Centennial Celebrations 1893–1993, 1993, p. 23.

          

          

            
48. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1897, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
49. 
Wanganui Education Board, Minute Books, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
50. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 4/6/11.

          

          

            
52. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
53. 
Star, 10/7/13.

          

          

            
54. 
Makaka School 1909–1959: Souvenir Booklet, [1959].

          

          

            
55. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
56. 

Amberley School Jubilee 1879–1948.

          

          

            
57. 
CNZ, I, p. 847; 
Star, 16, 18, 21 & 24/9/09, 24/2/10.

          

          

            
58. 
AJHR, 1911, E-5, p. x; 
AJHR, 1915, E-5, p. 34.

          

          

            
59. 
AJHR, 1909, E-5, p. 41.

          

          

            
60. 
AJHR, 1906, E-5, p. 24.

          

          

            
61. 
AJHR, 1910, E-5, p. 45.

          

          

            
62. 
AJHR, 1915, E-5, p. 34.

          

          

            
63. 
Ibid., p. 36.

          

          

            
64. 
AJHR, 1911, E-5, p. x.

          

          

            
65. 
Ibid.; AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, E-12, pp. 465–66.

          

          

            
66. 
Star, 1/11/11, 23/7/12.

          

          

            
67. 
AJHR, 1915, E-5, p. 35.

          

          

            
68. See e.g. 
Star, 25/6/06, 27/5/07.

          

          

            
69. 
AJHR, 1915, E-1, pp. 34–36.

          

          

            
70. 
Star, 26/1/10; 
AJHR, 1913, E-5, pp. 46–47.

          

          

            
71. 
Star, 12/8/02 (advt), 11/12/95 (‘News & Notes').

          

          

            
72. D.W. Maclagan to Mrs C.J. Brooks, 6/8/1962, MS 127 Waldegrave, Taranaki Museum, 
New Plymouth.

          

          

            
73. On this see P.H.J.H. Gosden, 
Self-help: Voluntary Associations in the 19th Century, 
London, 1973, pp. 112–13.

          

          

            
74. Harold Perkins, 
The Rise of Professional Society: England Since 1880, 
London, 1989, pp. 428–29.

          

          

            
75. 
Eltham Argus, 28/1/04, 11/2/04.

          

          

            
76. 
Star, 19/3/14.

          

          

            
77. 
Star, 12/8/07.

          

        

        

          
10 The Quality of Life, 1900–14

          

            
1. 
Star, 5/3/01.

          

          

            
2. 
Star, 12/8/01, 28/9/01.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 13/9/02.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 12/9/05.

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 26/2/04, 28/5/05, 29/12/04.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 31/5/00.

          

          

            
7. 
Star, 2 & 6/4/01, 6/5/01, 15/7/01, 18/3/02.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 2/4/03, 16/3/04, 8/4/04, 1 & 15/8/04, 6/4/05, 17/7/05, 7 & 8/8/05, 28/3/06, 14, 18 & 19/4/06.

          

          

            
9. Bill Murray, 
Football: A History of the World Game, 
Aldershot, England, 1994, p. 19.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 14 & 16/8/06, 3/9/06.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 26/2/07, 4 & 11/3/07, 7 & 8/4/07, 6/5/07.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 25/4/06.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 28/10/02, 16/12/02, 25/6/03, 1/7/05, 4/3/08.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 23 & 27/10/05, 5/5/06, 17/12/06, 23/3/07.

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 6/4/08; 
TDN, 3/7/57.

          

          


          

            
16. 
Star, 28/5/08 (no reason is given).

          

          

            
17. 
Jock Phillips, 
A Man's Country? The Image of the Pakeba Male—A History, 
Auckland, 1987, 
Chapter 3 (the quotations following are from here).

          

          

            
18. 
Star, 30/11/08, 11/1/09.

          

          

            
19. 
Star, 12 & 22/3/09, 27/4/09.

          

          

            
20. 
Star, 31/8/12.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 26/8/13, 12/9/13, 3/9/14.

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 8/3/07.

          

          

            
23. 
Star, 28/3/12.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 22/3/13, 28/4/13, 19/8/13, 10/3/14, 28/7/14.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 5/4/09, 14 & 17/9/10.

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 17/2/02, 3/3/02, 1/4/02, 14/6/02, 12/8/02, 2/4/03, 11/5/04.

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 6/8/03, 7/6/05, 1/7/05.

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 25/6/03.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 5/11/11, 1/6/12.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 23/9/10.

          

          

            
31. ‘
Kaponga’ is listed in the 1891 and 1901 returns (but not in 1896) but the figures obviously refer only to the minority who did not live on either Eltham or Manaia roads:

          

          

            
32. David Rubinstein, ‘Cycling Eighty Years Ago’, 
History Today, 28, 2, Aug. 1978, pp. 544–47.

          

          

            
33. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, pp. 214–15.

          

          

            
34. W.T. Doig, 
A Survey of Standards of Life of New Zealand Dairy-farmers, 
Wellington, 1940, p. 20.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 7/1/01, 23/10/05.

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 25/6/03.

          

          

            
37. Winifred Davies, ‘I remember, I remember, the house where I was born’, MS 202, Taranaki Museum.

          

          

            
38. Carole Dyhouse, 
Girls Growing up in Late Victorian and Edwardian England, 
London, 1981, pp. 24–26.

          

          

            
39. The 
Kaponga signatories were: Rose Blaymires, Alice J. Frethey, Barbara Gibson, Martha Gibson, Cecilia Hay, Emilie Mackie. Signatories on the fringes of the 
Kaponga district were: Jeannie Candy, Elizabeth E. Luscombe, and Mary Watkins of Kapuni; Jane Henry of Duthie Road; Ann Burgess of Awatuna.

          

          

            
40. Caroline Daley, ‘Gender in the Community: A Study of the Women and Men of the Taradale Area, 1886–1930’, PhD thesis, VUW, 1992.

          

          

            
41. Ibid., pp. 88–89.

          

          

            
42. Elizabeth Roberts, 
A Woman's Place: An Oral History of Working-Class Women 1890–1940, 
Oxford, 1984, esp. pp. 110–21, 203.

          

        

        

          
11 Episodes, the Edwardian Years

          

            
1. 
Eltham Argus, 3/7/06.

          

          

            
2. The spellings ‘Pinseck’ and ‘Pensech’ both appear in the newspaper reports.

          

        

        

          

Epilogue Afterwards, and other Perspectives

          

            
1. 
Christopher Pugsley, 
On the Fringe of Hell: New Zealanders and Military Discipline in the First World War, 
Auckland, 1991, p. 9.

          

          

            
2. W.J. Reader, 
At Duty's Call: A Study in Obsolete Patriotism, 
Manchester, 1988, p. 34.

          

          

            
3. 
Jock Phillips, Nicholas Boyack & E.P. Malone, eds., 
The Great Adventure: New Zealand Soldiers Describe the First World War, 
Wellington 1988, p. 1.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 22/9/19.

          

          

            
5. J.B. Priestley, 
Margin Released, 
London, 1962, pp. 130, 137.

          

          

            
6. J.G. Fuller, 
Troop Morale and Popular Culture in the British and Dominion Armies 1914–1919, 
Oxford, 1990, pp. 1–2.

          

          

            
7. The quotations that follow are all from Fuller, 
Troop Morale, p. 175.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 30/8/17, 23/3/18, 11/6/18, 26/11/18 (Gardner death notice).

          

          

            
9. Alice née McEneaney (?-1933) was the widow of Thomas Malone, who died in 1899. Besides her care for her own family of seven she was noted for the great help she gave to the poor, the sick and the orphaned.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 5/5/17, 3/9/17.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 21/5/17, 2/1/18; Hugh Cleland, ‘[Letters to] Lily’, 1917–19, MS 2340, 
Alexander Turnbull Library, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 21/11/18.

          

          

            
13. See e.g. 
NZ Journal of Agriculture, 8,2, 1917, p. 343; 
AJHR, 1919, 1–12, pp. 198–99.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 26/1/15, 24/2/15, 22/7/15, 31/5/16.

          

          

            
15. 
Matamata County Mail, 20/1/75 (obituary of M. Bates).

          

          

            
16. Alan Ward, 
A Show of Justice: Racial ‘Amalgamation’ in Nineteenth Century New Zealand, 
Auckland, 1973, p. 308.

          

          

            
17. 
Rollo Arnold, ‘Opening of the Great Bush’, pp. 691–92.

          

          


          

            
18. Chief Justice Prendergast's term in 
Wi Parata v Bishop of 
Wellington (1877).

          

          

            
19. 
Star, 29/7/85, 30/9/86, 8/11/86, 29/12/87; 
Y, 18/8/88 (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
20. 
Star,20/2/06 (Awatuna East ‘Our Own’), 6/1/10; The following from MS 127 Waldegrave, Taranaki Museum, 
New Plymouth: Note added by L. Watkins to ‘A Short Account of Mary Watkins' Voyage…, 1879’; Owen Wilson, ‘The Hobbs and Wilson families’; Letter from Miss Alice Black.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 28/4/13.

          

          

            
22. At her home at 5 Donald Crescent, Karori, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
23. As Elizabeth Burrows on 2 April 1924.

          

          

            
24. Joseph Turner (1867–1942) and Elizabeth née Eastwood (1868–1965).

          

          

            
25. Ken Dempsey, 
Smalltown: A Study of Social Inequality, Cohesion and Belonging, Melbourne, 1990.

          

          

            
26. Winifred Davies, ‘I remember, I remember, the house where I was born’, MS 202, Taranaki Museum.

          

          

            
27. Ronald Pearsall, 
Edwardian Life and Leisure, Newton Abbot, 1973, pp. 85–86.

          

          

            
28. The names we have found (see ‘
Kaponga People’ for details) are: Charlotte Mary Anderson, 
Kaponga, Riverlea and Auroa (wife of David); Selina Bulst, Riverlea (wife of Julius); Nurse Mary Ann Gullery, 
Kaponga; Sarah Emma Melville, 
Kaponga (wife of John); Rosina Melville, 
Kaponga (wife of Alexander); Mrs Harry Robinson, 
Kaponga; May Rutland, Rowan; Mrs Sparks, 
Kaponga. The only one of these registered under the Midwives Registration Act 1904 was Charlotte Anderson.
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AJHR
                
	

Appendices to the Journals of the House of Representatives
              

              

                
	
AWN
                
	

Auckland Weekly News
              

              

                
	
CNZ
                
	
Cyclopaedia of New Zealand
              

              

                
	
Farmer
                
	
New Zealand Farmer (
Auckland)
              

              

                
	
NZG
                
	

New Zealand Government Gazette
              

              

                
	
NZJH
                
	

New Zealand Journal of History
              

              

                
	
NZPD
                
	
New Zealand 
Parliamentary Debates
              

              

                
	
Star
                
	

Hawera Star
              

              

                
	
TH
                
	
Taranaki Herald
              

              

                
	
TDN
                
	
Taranaki Daily News
              

              

                
	
Y
                
	
Yeoman (
Wanganui)
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Preface

          

            
1. Allan Nevins, 
Allan Nevins on History: Compiled and Introduced by Ray Allen Billington, 
New York, 1975, p. 128.

          

          

            
2. 
Ibid., p. 124.

          

          

            
3. 
Ibid., p. 127.
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Introduction

          

            
1. 
NZG, 1881, p. 419, and repeated pp. 437, 469, 510.

          

          

            
2. 
TDN, 27/1/1940.

          

          

            
3. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, 
Wellington, 1994, p. 118.
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Part One


            The 1880s: A Scatter of Clearings


            1 Time and Space, the 1880s

          

            
1. 
Rollo Arnold, 
The Farthest Promised Land, 
Wellington, 1981, p. 264, for an outline of this movement.

          

          

            
2. 
AJHR, 1887, Sess. II, 1–7, p. 13.

          

          

            
3. See e.g. 
Press (
Christchurch), 27/9/80, p. 1.

          

          

            
4. 
AJHR, 1883, C-1, p. 2.

          

          

            
5. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
6. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37.

          

          

            
7. 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. I, A-5B, p. 1.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 18/10/83 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘OurOwn’).

          

          

            
9. 
NZG, 1884, pp. 61–63.

          

          

            
10. 
AJHR, 1884, Sess.I, C-1, p. 2.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 3/7/85. (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘OurOwn’).

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 6/4/86.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 16/7/85, 10/12/85.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 2/10/86.

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 27/8/87, 12/10/87, 29/11/87, 29/12/87.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 11/8/87.

          

          

            
17. 
Star, 2/9/87, 3/12/87 for Rowan Road; land grant dates for Opunake Road.

          

          

            
18. 
AJHR, 1888, C-1, p. 1.

          

          

            
19. 
Y, 18/8/88 (Manaia ‘OurOwn’); 

Egmont Star 3/11/88, Supplement p. 1, & 29/12/88, p. 15.

          

          

            
20. See e.g. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 15/1/83 (Letter headed ‘Skeet Road’); 
Star, 31/12/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 3/7/85 & 29/7/85 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          


          

            
23. 
Star, 23/8/82.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 31/12/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 10/8/1900.

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 30/7/83. 
NZG, 1884, p. 574 (Ahipaipa Road delared a main road).

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 3/7/85.

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 21/7/88.

          

          

            
29. 
AJHR, 1882, C-3, p. 25.

          

          

            
30. 
AJHR, 1880, C-2, p. 3.

          

          

            
31. See map with 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. I, A-5B.

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 31/5/82, 2/8/82 & 22/9/82.

          

          

            
33. 
AJHR, 1883, I-9, p. 4.

          

          

            
34. 
AJHR, 1883, C-2, p. 37; 
AJHR, 1884, Sess. II, C-1, p. 61.

          

          

            
35. Minutes, 
Hawera County Council, 17/4/89, MS, South Taranaki District Council, 
Hawera; 
TH, 5/8/90.

          

          

            
36. 
AJHR, 1883, I-9, p. 4.

          

          

            
37. 
Star, 31/7/82.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 19/10/86 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 2/10/86, 2/9/87, 3/12/87, 1/12/88.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 27/6/88 & 3/4/88; 

Egmont Star, 4/8/88.

          

          

            
41. 
Y, 19/10/89 (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
42. 
Star, 17/8/87, 2/9/87.

          

          

            
43. ‘Our Own’, 7/12/92.

          

          

            
44. 
Y, 23/9/87, (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
45. 
Star, 13/9/87, 22/9/87.

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 26/7/87.

          

          

            
47. 
Star, 27/7/87.

          

          

            
48. 
Star, 27/5/87.

          

          

            
49. 
Star, 5/10/87.

          

          

            
50. 
Star, 3/12/87.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 29/6/88.

          

          

            
52. 

Egmont Star, 25/8/88; 22/9/88 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
53. 

Egmont Star, 22/9/88 (‘Kaupokonui’ ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
54. 

Egmont Star, 6/10/88.

          

          

            
55. 

Egmont Star, 17/11/88, 22/12/88.
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28. 
Star, 4/9/06 (editorial), 6/9/06.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 16/7/08, 30/11/05.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 1 & 16/8/06.

          

          

            
31. 
AJHR, 1908, D-10.

          

          

            
32. 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, D-8.

          

          

            
33. 
Star, 11/3/13.

          

          

            
34. 
Star, 23/6/13, 10/9/13.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 14 & 24/6/02.

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 26/3/08.

          

          

            
37. 
AJHR, 1903, H-2, p. 17; 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, D-8, p. 5.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 19/11/03, 20/10/04.

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 8/5/05.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 5/4/09 (Awatuna East ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
41. 
AJHR, 1900, C-1, p. 35.

          

          

            
42. 
Star, 23/3/05, 10/4/05, 13/2/06, 10 & 26/2/09, 11/4/10, 20/10/10.

          

          

            
43. See e.g. 
Star, 24/9/06 & 13/7/07 (both Awatuna East ‘Our Own’), 21/1/09 & 26/2/12 (both Town Board), 15/1/12 (Eltham Co. Co.).

          

          

            
44. 
AJHR, 1903, D-1, pp. iv, ix.

          

          

            
45. 
Star, 23/7/06.

          

          

            
46. 
Star, 11/7/06.

          

          

            
47. 
Star, 9/12/07.

          

          

            
48. 
Star, 18/8/08, 14/9/08, 17 & 30/11/09.

          

          

            
49. 
Star, 14/12/10.

          

          

            
50. 
Star, 20/2/11.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 31/10/02, 10/10/04, 18/10/06, 28/10/07.

          

          

            
52. 
Star, 10 & 14/3/13, 11/4/13.

          

          

            
53. 
Star, 7/1/14.

          

          

            
54. 
Star, 14/1/02.

          

          

            
55. Bill Jamieson, 
Mollers: A Family Business, 
New Plymouth, 1982, esp. pp. 6–15; 
Star, 8/3/09.

          

          

            
56. 
Eltham Argus, 23/1/04.

          

          

            
57. 
Star, 20/5/08.

          

          

            
58. 
Star, 12/10/08.

          

          

            
59. 
Star, 2/12/08.

          

          

            
60. 
Star, 8/7/14.

          

          

            
61. 
Star, 19/3/14.

          

          

            
62. 
Star, 12/10/14.
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9 The Making of Livings, 1900–14

          

            
1. 
Star, 7/9/01, 8/9/14.

          

          

            
2. H. G. Philpott, 
A History of the New Zealand Dairy Industry, 1840–1935, 
Wellington, 1937, pp.376–403.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 26/2/07, 22/4/08, 1/5/08, 13/9/09.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 14/5/12 (advt).

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 29/3/05.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 23/3/01; 
Kaponga Dairy Co Ltd, minutes, 7/7/98.

          

          

            
7. 
Star, 17/8/06; 
Kaponga Dairy Co Ltd, minutes, 9/12/02; ‘
Egmont Box Co: Minute Book 1906–1914’, MS, 
Massey University Library, 
Palmerston North.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 8/9/98, 8/9/99.

          

          

            
9. 
Star, 26/2/07.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 21/11/07, 10/12/07.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 13/8/06, 3/9/07.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 22/12/08, 7/9/09.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 3/9/12.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 8/9/14.

          

          

            
15. Following the 
Auckland A & P shield win mentioned below.

          

          

            
16. 
Star, 30/7/01.

          

          

            
17. 
Star, 25/6/07, 27/7/07, 
AJHR, 1908, H-11, p. 65.

          

          

            
18. 
Star, 24/9/10.

          

          

            
19. See e.g. 
Star, 16/12/05, 1/8/07.

          

          

            
20. Philpott, 
op. cit., pp. 131, 133.

          

          

            
21. 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, H-18, pp. 397–99.

          

          

            
22. 
Department of Agriculture, 
Report, 1900, p. 84; 1902, p. 41; 1903, p. 128.

          

          

            
23. 
Ibid., 1903, p. 129; 
Star, 29/10/00 (‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 3/5/06 (‘Our Own’), 25/6/06 (advts); 
AJHR, 1905, 1–12B, p. 11.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 17/12/06 (advt).

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 19/11/07.

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 14/3/10.

          

          

            
28. See e.g. 
Star, 30/7/01, 6/1/05, 21/2/06, 20 & 22/10/06, 26/11/07, 8/10/08.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 24/2/06.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 23/2/06.

          

          

            
31. 
AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, H-18, p. 262.

          

          

            
32. 
Star, 12/12/08 (editorial); 
Department of Agriculture, 
Reports, 1908-, 
passim.

          

          

            
33. A Swiss Club has flourished in 
Kaponga since 1952 as a focal point for Taranaki's Swiss.

          

          


          

            
34. Philpott, 
op. cit., p. 65.

          

          

            
35. See e.g. 
Star, 20/6/01 (Farm & Dairy), 12/5/03 (advt), 5/3/05 (Correspondence), 2/3/06 & 10/5/06 (court case), 15/7/09 & 23/1/08 (court case).

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 14/11/10.

          

          

            
37. T.W.H. Brooking, ‘Agrarian Businessmen Organise’, PhD thesis, 
University of Otago, 1978, p. 325.

          

          

            
38. 
Star, 1/11/13.

          

          

            
39. 
Star, 22/6/04; 
Department of Agriculture, 
Report, 1903, pp. 307–12.

          

          

            
40. 
Star, 7/10/04, 23/2/06; 
Department of Agriculture, 
Report, 1905, pp. 171–73.

          

          

            
41. 
Star, 7/10/04 Supplement.

          

          

            
42. Harold Perkins, 
The Rise of Professional Society: England Since 1880, 
London, 1989, p. 2.

          

          

            
43. References may be found in Betty Arnold, 

Kaponga People. A fuller discussion may be found in 
Rollo Arnold, ‘Women in the New Zealand Teaching Profession, 1877–1920’, in R. Openshaw and D. McKenzie, eds, 

Reinterpreting the Educational Past, 
Wellington, 1987.

          

          

            
44. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1897, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington. This gives the 
Kaponga roll on the 1897 examination day as 101.

          

          

            
45. 
Manawatu 
Evening Standard, 6/1/1966; 
Turakina: The Centenary of a Country School, [1959], p. 42. (He ended his career in 1935 after 15 years as headmaster of Turakina School.)

          

          

            
46. On her death in November 1968 she was buried in the family plot in 
Kaponga cemetery.

          

          

            
47. 
Awatuna School & District: Centennial Celebrations 1893–1993, 1993, p. 23.

          

          

            
48. 
Wanganui Education Board, School Rolls 1897, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
49. 
Wanganui Education Board, Minute Books, ABDV/W3571, 
National Archives of New Zealand, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
50. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
51. 
Star, 4/6/11.

          

          

            
52. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
53. 
Star, 10/7/13.

          

          

            
54. 
Makaka School 1909–1959: Souvenir Booklet, [1959].

          

          

            
55. 
Ibid.

          

          

            
56. 

Amberley School Jubilee 1879–1948.

          

          

            
57. 
CNZ, I, p. 847; 
Star, 16, 18, 21 & 24/9/09, 24/2/10.

          

          

            
58. 
AJHR, 1911, E-5, p. x; 
AJHR, 1915, E-5, p. 34.

          

          

            
59. 
AJHR, 1909, E-5, p. 41.

          

          

            
60. 
AJHR, 1906, E-5, p. 24.

          

          

            
61. 
AJHR, 1910, E-5, p. 45.

          

          

            
62. 
AJHR, 1915, E-5, p. 34.

          

          

            
63. 
Ibid., p. 36.

          

          

            
64. 
AJHR, 1911, E-5, p. x.

          

          

            
65. 
Ibid.; AJHR, 1912, Sess. II, E-12, pp. 465–66.

          

          

            
66. 
Star, 1/11/11, 23/7/12.

          

          

            
67. 
AJHR, 1915, E-5, p. 35.

          

          

            
68. See e.g. 
Star, 25/6/06, 27/5/07.

          

          

            
69. 
AJHR, 1915, E-1, pp. 34–36.

          

          

            
70. 
Star, 26/1/10; 
AJHR, 1913, E-5, pp. 46–47.

          

          

            
71. 
Star, 12/8/02 (advt), 11/12/95 (‘News & Notes').

          

          

            
72. D.W. Maclagan to Mrs C.J. Brooks, 6/8/1962, MS 127 Waldegrave, Taranaki Museum, 
New Plymouth.

          

          

            
73. On this see P.H.J.H. Gosden, 
Self-help: Voluntary Associations in the 19th Century, 
London, 1973, pp. 112–13.

          

          

            
74. Harold Perkins, 
The Rise of Professional Society: England Since 1880, 
London, 1989, pp. 428–29.

          

          

            
75. 
Eltham Argus, 28/1/04, 11/2/04.

          

          

            
76. 
Star, 19/3/14.

          

          

            
77. 
Star, 12/8/07.
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10 The Quality of Life, 1900–14

          

            
1. 
Star, 5/3/01.

          

          

            
2. 
Star, 12/8/01, 28/9/01.

          

          

            
3. 
Star, 13/9/02.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 12/9/05.

          

          

            
5. 
Star, 26/2/04, 28/5/05, 29/12/04.

          

          

            
6. 
Star, 31/5/00.

          

          

            
7. 
Star, 2 & 6/4/01, 6/5/01, 15/7/01, 18/3/02.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 2/4/03, 16/3/04, 8/4/04, 1 & 15/8/04, 6/4/05, 17/7/05, 7 & 8/8/05, 28/3/06, 14, 18 & 19/4/06.

          

          

            
9. Bill Murray, 
Football: A History of the World Game, 
Aldershot, England, 1994, p. 19.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 14 & 16/8/06, 3/9/06.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 26/2/07, 4 & 11/3/07, 7 & 8/4/07, 6/5/07.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 25/4/06.

          

          

            
13. 
Star, 28/10/02, 16/12/02, 25/6/03, 1/7/05, 4/3/08.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 23 & 27/10/05, 5/5/06, 17/12/06, 23/3/07.

          

          

            
15. 
Star, 6/4/08; 
TDN, 3/7/57.

          

          


          

            
16. 
Star, 28/5/08 (no reason is given).

          

          

            
17. 
Jock Phillips, 
A Man's Country? The Image of the Pakeba Male—A History, 
Auckland, 1987, 
Chapter 3 (the quotations following are from here).

          

          

            
18. 
Star, 30/11/08, 11/1/09.

          

          

            
19. 
Star, 12 & 22/3/09, 27/4/09.

          

          

            
20. 
Star, 31/8/12.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 26/8/13, 12/9/13, 3/9/14.

          

          

            
22. 
Star, 8/3/07.

          

          

            
23. 
Star, 28/3/12.

          

          

            
24. 
Star, 22/3/13, 28/4/13, 19/8/13, 10/3/14, 28/7/14.

          

          

            
25. 
Star, 5/4/09, 14 & 17/9/10.

          

          

            
26. 
Star, 17/2/02, 3/3/02, 1/4/02, 14/6/02, 12/8/02, 2/4/03, 11/5/04.

          

          

            
27. 
Star, 6/8/03, 7/6/05, 1/7/05.

          

          

            
28. 
Star, 25/6/03.

          

          

            
29. 
Star, 5/11/11, 1/6/12.

          

          

            
30. 
Star, 23/9/10.

          

          

            
31. ‘
Kaponga’ is listed in the 1891 and 1901 returns (but not in 1896) but the figures obviously refer only to the minority who did not live on either Eltham or Manaia roads:

          

          

            
32. David Rubinstein, ‘Cycling Eighty Years Ago’, 
History Today, 28, 2, Aug. 1978, pp. 544–47.

          

          

            
33. 
Rollo Arnold, 
New Zealand's Burning, pp. 214–15.

          

          

            
34. W.T. Doig, 
A Survey of Standards of Life of New Zealand Dairy-farmers, 
Wellington, 1940, p. 20.

          

          

            
35. 
Star, 7/1/01, 23/10/05.

          

          

            
36. 
Star, 25/6/03.

          

          

            
37. Winifred Davies, ‘I remember, I remember, the house where I was born’, MS 202, Taranaki Museum.

          

          

            
38. Carole Dyhouse, 
Girls Growing up in Late Victorian and Edwardian England, 
London, 1981, pp. 24–26.

          

          

            
39. The 
Kaponga signatories were: Rose Blaymires, Alice J. Frethey, Barbara Gibson, Martha Gibson, Cecilia Hay, Emilie Mackie. Signatories on the fringes of the 
Kaponga district were: Jeannie Candy, Elizabeth E. Luscombe, and Mary Watkins of Kapuni; Jane Henry of Duthie Road; Ann Burgess of Awatuna.

          

          

            
40. Caroline Daley, ‘Gender in the Community: A Study of the Women and Men of the Taradale Area, 1886–1930’, PhD thesis, VUW, 1992.

          

          

            
41. Ibid., pp. 88–89.

          

          

            
42. Elizabeth Roberts, 
A Woman's Place: An Oral History of Working-Class Women 1890–1940, 
Oxford, 1984, esp. pp. 110–21, 203.
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11 Episodes, the Edwardian Years

          

            
1. 
Eltham Argus, 3/7/06.

          

          

            
2. The spellings ‘Pinseck’ and ‘Pensech’ both appear in the newspaper reports.
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Epilogue Afterwards, and other Perspectives

          

            
1. 
Christopher Pugsley, 
On the Fringe of Hell: New Zealanders and Military Discipline in the First World War, 
Auckland, 1991, p. 9.

          

          

            
2. W.J. Reader, 
At Duty's Call: A Study in Obsolete Patriotism, 
Manchester, 1988, p. 34.

          

          

            
3. 
Jock Phillips, Nicholas Boyack & E.P. Malone, eds., 
The Great Adventure: New Zealand Soldiers Describe the First World War, 
Wellington 1988, p. 1.

          

          

            
4. 
Star, 22/9/19.

          

          

            
5. J.B. Priestley, 
Margin Released, 
London, 1962, pp. 130, 137.

          

          

            
6. J.G. Fuller, 
Troop Morale and Popular Culture in the British and Dominion Armies 1914–1919, 
Oxford, 1990, pp. 1–2.

          

          

            
7. The quotations that follow are all from Fuller, 
Troop Morale, p. 175.

          

          

            
8. 
Star, 30/8/17, 23/3/18, 11/6/18, 26/11/18 (Gardner death notice).

          

          

            
9. Alice née McEneaney (?-1933) was the widow of Thomas Malone, who died in 1899. Besides her care for her own family of seven she was noted for the great help she gave to the poor, the sick and the orphaned.

          

          

            
10. 
Star, 5/5/17, 3/9/17.

          

          

            
11. 
Star, 21/5/17, 2/1/18; Hugh Cleland, ‘[Letters to] Lily’, 1917–19, MS 2340, 
Alexander Turnbull Library, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
12. 
Star, 21/11/18.

          

          

            
13. See e.g. 
NZ Journal of Agriculture, 8,2, 1917, p. 343; 
AJHR, 1919, 1–12, pp. 198–99.

          

          

            
14. 
Star, 26/1/15, 24/2/15, 22/7/15, 31/5/16.

          

          

            
15. 
Matamata County Mail, 20/1/75 (obituary of M. Bates).

          

          

            
16. Alan Ward, 
A Show of Justice: Racial ‘Amalgamation’ in Nineteenth Century New Zealand, 
Auckland, 1973, p. 308.

          

          

            
17. 
Rollo Arnold, ‘Opening of the Great Bush’, pp. 691–92.

          

          


          

            
18. Chief Justice Prendergast's term in 
Wi Parata v Bishop of 
Wellington (1877).

          

          

            
19. 
Star, 29/7/85, 30/9/86, 8/11/86, 29/12/87; 
Y, 18/8/88 (Manaia ‘Our Own’).

          

          

            
20. 
Star,20/2/06 (Awatuna East ‘Our Own’), 6/1/10; The following from MS 127 Waldegrave, Taranaki Museum, 
New Plymouth: Note added by L. Watkins to ‘A Short Account of Mary Watkins' Voyage…, 1879’; Owen Wilson, ‘The Hobbs and Wilson families’; Letter from Miss Alice Black.

          

          

            
21. 
Star, 28/4/13.

          

          

            
22. At her home at 5 Donald Crescent, Karori, 
Wellington.

          

          

            
23. As Elizabeth Burrows on 2 April 1924.

          

          

            
24. Joseph Turner (1867–1942) and Elizabeth née Eastwood (1868–1965).

          

          

            
25. Ken Dempsey, 
Smalltown: A Study of Social Inequality, Cohesion and Belonging, Melbourne, 1990.

          

          

            
26. Winifred Davies, ‘I remember, I remember, the house where I was born’, MS 202, Taranaki Museum.

          

          

            
27. Ronald Pearsall, 
Edwardian Life and Leisure, Newton Abbot, 1973, pp. 85–86.

          

          

            
28. The names we have found (see ‘
Kaponga People’ for details) are: Charlotte Mary Anderson, 
Kaponga, Riverlea and Auroa (wife of David); Selina Bulst, Riverlea (wife of Julius); Nurse Mary Ann Gullery, 
Kaponga; Sarah Emma Melville, 
Kaponga (wife of John); Rosina Melville, 
Kaponga (wife of Alexander); Mrs Harry Robinson, 
Kaponga; May Rutland, Rowan; Mrs Sparks, 
Kaponga. The only one of these registered under the Midwives Registration Act 1904 was Charlotte Anderson.
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